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Prologue

By July 1918, the First World War had raged for nearly four years. Private First Class Adolf Hitler of the 16th Bavarian Reserve Infantry Regiment had served in it almost from the very beginning. He had seen the German Reich defy the mighty coalition consisting of the Entente empires Britain, France and Russia as well as a number of smaller powers. Towards the end of the previous year, one of them – the Tsarist Empire – had been brought to its knees by a combination of military defeat and revolution. In the meantime, however, the Reich had provoked the antagonism of another and even more formidable power: the United States.

Germany was now in a race to smash France and drive Britain back across the Channel before American troops could arrive in force. At first, her efforts were crowned with success. German armies surged forward along the western front. Adolf Hitler marched with them, only to witness the moment at which the tide began to turn during the Second Battle of the Marne.

Fresh, numerous and driven by an enthusiasm which compensated for their lack of experience, the Americans burst among the exhausted Bavarian reservists. They had a shattering effect on the morale of Hitler’s comrades and left an enduring impression on the man himself. He encountered at least two of these new enemies directly. On 17 July 1918, the brigade adjutant, Fritz Wiedemann, wrote that ‘Private First Class Hitler dropped off two American prisoners (taken by R[eserve Regiment] 16) at the headquarters of 12 Royal Bavarian Infantry Brigade.’1

Who these men were and what Hitler made of the incident at the time are not recorded. We do know, however, how he later interpreted what became a seminal moment in his life and thus in the history of the twentieth century.

Hitler was convinced that these ‘doughboys’ were the descendants of German emigrants, lost to the Fatherland for lack of ‘living space’ to feed them, who had returned as avengers in the ranks of an unstoppable enemy army. In subsequent speeches, he repeatedly came back to the moment ‘in the mid-summer of 1918, when the first American soldiers appeared on the battlefields of France, well-grown men, men of our own blood, whom we had deported for centuries, who were now ready to grind the motherland itself into the mud’.2

This, then, is where it all began: the preoccupation with Germany’s demographic weakness, for which Lebensraum in the east was ultimately to become the only remedy; the respect for and fear of the ‘Anglo-Saxon’ powers with their apparently infinite spatial, demographic, natural and economic resources; and the determination to avoid another racial civil war between Anglo-Saxon and Teuton – incited by ‘world Jewry’ – if possible or to survive it should a renewed contest prove unavoidable.




Introduction

Just over twenty years ago, a German reviewer counted more than 120,000 books and articles on Hitler and the Third Reich,1 a figure which has increased substantially since. The best of the biographies have reflected their times and scholarly trends. Alan Bullock’s pioneering Hitler: A Study in Tyranny, written just nine years after 1945 and at the height of the Cold War, saw him as an exemplar of the ‘Age of Unenlightened Despotism’, but also as an ‘opportunist entirely without principle’.2 Intentionally or not, this interpretation chimed with the wider intellectual context of totalitarianism theory, and the more local propensity of his colleague A. J. P. Taylor to privilege happenstance and contingency over deeper patterns of explanation. Two decades later, Joachim Fest wrote a celebrated biography which was more literary than scholarly, but admired by many professional historians. It was the first large-scale imaginative attempt to explain how a man like Hitler could gain and keep power in an economically advanced and culturally sophisticated country such as Germany.3 This was a milestone in the history of the Federal Republic, and the culmination of thirty years of research and soul-searching. Fest’s biography was thus as much a book about Germans as it was about Hitler.

It took another twenty years for the next ‘classic’ biography to appear. The two volumes by Ian Kershaw, which remain the standard work, reflected the considerable quantity of research done on the Nazi dictatorship over the previous decades, especially the ‘turn’ towards social history, and the long debate between ‘intentionalists’, who drew a more or less straight line from pragmatic statements in the 1920s to the end of Hitler’s career, and ‘structuralists’, who emphasized institutional rivalries and dynamics.4 Fest had been criticized for abstracting Hitler too much from his surroundings.5 Kershaw’s Hitler, by contrast, was highly contextualized. He undertook to ‘focus not upon the personality of Hitler’, but on the ‘character of his power’, which required him to ‘look in the first instance to others, not to Hitler himself’.6 Kershaw’s biography also took account of the ‘voluntarist’ turn, by which historians increasingly stressed the active collaboration of the population in Nazi initiatives. The enduring power of institutions and groupings was recognized, and individual agency was restored to historical actors, both great and small.7 The ‘myth’ surrounding the Führer was shown to be as much constructed by others as his own confection.8 Kershaw’s Hitler did not control everything, because he did not need to: the principal players ‘worked towards the Führer’ on their own initiative.9 His power rested not so much on his own demonic energy, as on the cooperation of the German elites and the population at large. Hitler was cut down to size, though he still remained highly visible.

Since then, there have been further biographies and specialist studies.10 Volker Ullrich particularly emphasizes Hitler’s personality.11 Shortly afterwards, Peter Longerich has crowned a long engagement with the history of the Third Reich with his own interpretation, which took into account many of the detailed studies that have appeared since the appearance of Kershaw’s two volumes.12 He showed Hitler to be much more than a mere ‘catalyser’ of pre-existing forces in German society and a much more dominant figure than the ‘structuralist’ view had allowed. At around the same time, Wolfram Pyta’s book, though not strictly speaking a biography, showed how the ‘cultural’ turn in historical studies could provide new insights into Hitler’s self-fashioning as a ‘genius’ and the ‘performative’ nature of his rule.13 Most recently, Hans-Ulrich Thamer’s short biography has reminded us once again of the importance of violence and seduction in Hitler’s relationship with the German people.14

There are many respects in which the author’s own offering cannot compete with this field. It can obviously never be the first major work on its subject, nor will it be the last word. It does not aspire to the literary flair of Joachim Fest, the scale and depth of Ian Kershaw, Peter Longerich’s profound understanding of the Nazi domestic system, the theoretical sophistication of Wolfram Pyta, or the psychological penetration of Volker Ullrich. Nor does this biography try to reinvent the wheel. It takes account of but does not attempt to synthesize the vast recent specialized research on the Third Reich more generally.15 It cannot explain the profound connection that Hitler had with the German people.16 Instead, this is a book not about the Hitler they voted for, but the Hitler they got. It is not about what he ‘achieved’, but about what he intended. Finally, Hitler’s personality and private life remain elusive throughout, though facets of them – some unexpected – will emerge. That said, while the author cannot provide the ‘whole’ Hitler himself, he hopes to show that our picture of him has hitherto been seriously incomplete.

This biography makes three big and interrelated new claims. First, that Hitler’s principal preoccupation throughout his career was Anglo-America and global capitalism, rather than the Soviet Union and Bolshevism. Secondly, that Hitler’s view of the German Volk – even when purged of Jews and other ‘undesirables’ – was highly ambivalent, reflecting a sense of inferiority by comparison with the ‘Anglo-Saxons’. Thirdly, that we have – for very understandable reasons – focused too much on Hitler’s murderous ‘negative eugenics’ against the Jews and other ‘undesirables’ and not enough on what he regarded as his ‘positive eugenics’, which were designed to ‘elevate’ the German people to the level of their British and American rivals.17 All this means that we have missed the extent to which Hitler was locked in a worldwide struggle not just with ‘world Jewry’ but with the ‘Anglo-Saxons’. The author’s ambition here is not merely ‘additive’, the provision of a new dimension to an existing framework. Rather, he wishes his work to be understood as ‘substitutive’. If the claims therein are sustainable, then Hitler’s biography, and perhaps the history of the Third Reich more generally, need to be fundamentally rethought.

This biography therefore breaks with much of the prevailing view, or views, on Hitler. He did not place the German people on a racial pedestal, but was consumed throughout by fear of their enduring fragility. Hitler did not believe that the United States had been crippled by the Wall Street Crash, and it remained a central factor in his thinking from the early 1920s onwards. The book also rebuts the tenacious belief that the principal driver of Hitler’s world view, and source of his virulent anti-Semitism, was fear of the Soviet Union or Bolshevism. It consequently does not accept the centrality, for him, of the eastern front in the Second World War. The book does not see a meaningful ‘conceptual pluralism’ in any area of Nazi domestic or foreign policy which really mattered to Hitler. Hitler was not a prisoner of any force in German society, of competing power centres. If German government was often in a state of ‘polycratic chaos’, this was certainly not the result of any conscious attempt on the dictator’s part to ‘divide and rule’. That said, none of the works cited are totally without either value or error, and this book inevitably concurs with scholars of the Third Reich on some issues and parts company on others. This is reflected in the notes, where the literature is generally cited when in explicit agreement, while errors are usually corrected only by implication.

The author, in fact, draws heavily on the work of others. He has been inspired by some recent general historiographical trends. First, the ‘transnational’ turn has provided a new framework for German history, in which events there are understood as part of broader European and even global processes.18 The subfield of Histoire Croisée offered a particularly valuable stimulus for understanding the enduring German–American entanglement which shaped so much of Hitler’s thinking and career.19 Secondly, ‘globalization’: the Hitler of this biography was, for all his specificity, a product of global forces.20 He fits well into recent work on world capitalism.21 Thirdly, the ‘environmental turn’ enables us to see Hitler as primarily a Malthusian, a politician of scarcity.22 Fourthly, recent studies of global governance, especially the Anglo-American cartel which emerged in the early twentieth century, sharpened the author’s perception of Hitler’s revolt against this order.23

Fifthly, historical studies of migration and race, especially those on Anglo-American settler colonialism, and research into the international politics of race, in particular the stress on the ‘Anglo-Saxon hegemons’, have provided a context for thinking about Hitler’s world view.24 In this sense, Germany can be seen, and was seen by contemporary Germans – including Hitler – as both colonizing and colonized; it was not clear to which side of the ‘global colour line’ it really belonged. The Reich was the ‘replenisher’, not the ‘replenished’,25 the ‘fertilizer’ – to use Hitler’s own phrase – not the fertilized. Conversely, as Aimé Césaire pointed out back in the mid-1950s, Hitler’s imperial project in Europe inverted the traditional racial order by reducing many white men to an inferior status usually reserved for people of colour.26 Sixthly, the ‘spatial turn’ in the historical literature helps us to understand how Germany, having transitioned from the traditional Reich into a nation, was now reconceived once again as an empire on a global scale.27 Finally, the ‘temporal turn’ in historical studies prompted the author to pay particular attention to time, timing and – especially – timelines in Hitler’s thinking.28 The expansion and contraction of time in his mind will emerge as a crucial variable.

More specifically, it will be clear from the text that the author is greatly indebted to the many works on Nazi Germany that have appeared over the past twenty years.29 Mark Mazower has provided a framework for understanding the Third Reich as a European empire in Europe.30 Tim Snyder has stressed the ‘environmental’ dimension to Hitler’s thinking. Adam Tooze has shown the extent to which the United States needs to be understood as the principal reference point for the Third Reich from the start, but especially after the wartime battle for production commenced.31 The American dimension to twentieth-century German history more generally has been well described by Mary Nolan, Philipp Gassert, and Stefan Kühl.32 Johann Chapoutot has reminded us of the enduring importance of ideas in the Nazi project,33 and Lars Lüdicke has recalled to mind the astonishing consistency of thought on key issues over twenty-five years.34

This biography has also benefited from the numerous new studies on particular periods or aspects of Hitler’s life. Dirk Bavendamm put Hitler’s youth under the microscope; Brigitte Hamann re-examined Hitler’s time in Vienna, showing that there was no evidence for any anti-Semitic sentiment on his part during those years.35 Instead, as Anton Joachimsthaler demonstrated, Hitler’s ‘path’ really began in Munich.36 Thomas Weber has illuminated Hitler’s experiences during the First World War. Othmar Plöckinger and Thomas Weber took a much closer look at Hitler’s crucial years in Munich immediately after the war. Plöckinger also wrote a detailed analysis of the gestation and legacy of Mein Kampf.37 Despina Stratigakos examined Hitler’s domestic architectural preferences and activities, a hitherto neglected subject.38 Anna Maria Sigmund was the first to examine the complicated ménage à trois between Hitler, his niece Geli Raubal and his chauffeur Emil Maurice.39 Heike Görtemaker wrote the first satisfactory account of his relationship with Eva Braun.40 Timothy Ryback provided an insight into Hitler’s reading habits, while Bill Niven examined his cinematic preferences.41 Fritz Redlich subjected Hitler to serious psychiatric analysis,42 Johannes Hürter examined Hitler’s relationship wth his senior military commanders,43 and Stephen Fritz has made a strong case that Hitler was no military amateur.44

There have also been several important studies on Hitler’s role in the Third Reich. Christian Goeschel has traced the evolution of his ‘fascist alliance’ with Mussolini.45 Kurt Bauer showed that he was centrally involved in the failed Austrian coup of 1934.46 Andreas Krämer’s study of the May crisis of 1938 and its aftermath showed a dictator reacting to outside events, but completely in control of the German national security apparatus.47 Angela Hermann’s study of the Munich crisis and its consequences showed that the ‘conceptual pluralism’ in Nazi foreign policy only existed at the level below the dictator himself.48 Rolf-Dieter Müller has persuasively argued that Hitler’s plan in 1938–9 was to attack the Soviet Union, and that he was only deflected by the Polish refusal to cooperate.49 The centrality of the American dimension in 1940–41 has been emphasized in Ian Kershaw’s study of Hitler’s fateful decisions.50 Edward Westermann and Carroll Kakel have compared Hitler’s war in Russia with the conquest of the American West.51 The volumes of Das Deutsche Reich und der Zweite Weltkrieg, in effect the official German history of the war, have shown Hitler’s centrality to the course of the conflict.52 Finally, Hitler’s central role in the murder of six million Jews has been proven beyond all doubt by Richard Evans, Peter Longerich and others involved in the rebuttal of David Irving’s claims to the contrary.53 Magnus Brechtken and Maximilian Becker of the Institute for Contemporary History in Munich are currently preparing a scholarly edition of Hitler’s speeches as chancellor.54

The arguments made in this book are based on plentiful, if uneven, source materials. Many of these are well known, others have been surprisingly neglected and some are, to the best of the author’s knowledge, completely new. The principal source for the first thirty years or so of Hitler’s life is the complete edition of his correspondence, writings and remarks (some of them reported at second hand) until 1924; the known forgeries therein have been discounted.55 This collection is reasonably full for the years from 1919, but sketchy before then; for example, we have no records whatsoever for a full year between August 1908 and August 1909.56 From the mid-1920s onwards, this biography relies mainly on the critical editions of Mein Kampf,57 the Second Book and the voluminous edition of his speeches and writings between 1925 and 1933.58

As one would expect, there is an exponential increase in the number of records for the period after Hitler took power in 1933. An important source for the Third Reich itself is the pioneering collection by Max Domarus, which mostly consists of speeches; it is incomplete and the editorial standards leave a lot to be desired.59 There is also a much smaller, but rather better edition of seven of the most important Hitler speeches by Hildegard von Kotze and Helmut Krausnick.60 The documents of Hitler’s cabinets give us a valuable insight into his practice of government, and the Documents on German Foreign Policy also contain many statements by him.61 For the war years, we have Martin Moll’s edition of Hitler’s ‘decrees’, Walther Hubatsch’s collection of Hitler’s ‘Directives’, Willi Boelcke’s edition of his conferences with Albert Speer on war production, and the Lagebesprechungen, the surviving protocols of Hitler’s military briefings.62 These serial sources are supplemented by memoirs, diaries, the recent extremely valuable ‘Itinerary’ compiled by Harald Sandner and other printed sources.63 While most of the material cited in this book has been in the public domain for some time, the importance of some of it has not been recognized, with a number of key statements lying hiding in plain sight for decades.

As with all historical sources, those for Hitler, particularly the diaries and memoirs, must be treated with caution. Joseph Goebbels, for example, intended most of his diaries for publication and the biographer must beware of his aggrandisements from beyond the grave.64 Albert Speer, for his part, not merely engaged in blatant distortion and apologetics, but also tended to exaggerate his special bond with Hitler.65 Some apparently contemporaneous sources, such as Otto Wagener’s Aufzeichnungen and Gerhard Engel’s diary, were in fact written up many years after the events they describe, but cross-checking shows them to be almost without exception a reliable guide.66 We also need to be careful with the records of Hitler’s wartime ‘Table Talk’, which, though generally accurate on his sentiments, contains some demonstrable distortions and should not be taken as a verbatim record of what he actually said.67 None of his supposed utterances there have been cited as direct speech. With suitable caveats, all these records have been used where appropriate.

By contrast, this biography has discounted a number of ‘classic’ sources altogether. With regard to Hitler’s early life, which has been distorted by Mein Kampf and subsequent ‘memories’ of his contemporaries, the author has taken the rather drastic step of relying only on material generated at the time. This ruled out, for example, the memoirs of his childhood friend Kubizek.68 No reliance was placed on anything said or quoted by Werner Maser.69 Sources like the ‘Breiting conversations’ and the recollections of Hermann Rauschning, which have long been treated with suspicion but still crop up in some reputable accounts, were not used.70 Finally, with considerable reluctance, the author has entirely disregarded Hitler’s alleged ‘Testament’ from early 1945. The sentiments therein clearly chime with those of Hitler, and indeed with the argument of this book, but a recent forensic examination shows its provenance to be too dubious to place any reliance on its content.71

The new sources used for this biography fall into two categories. Some simply gloss or elaborate well-known aspects of Hitler’s career. Others, however, support the central arguments of the book. The Bavarian Kriegsarchiv yielded new material on Hitler’s First World War experience, including his seminal encounter with American soldiers and the struggle of his regiment with their new adversaries more generally. Other Munich depositories confirmed the depth of Hitler’s concern about Bavarian separatism. The records of the Foreign Office contained valuable material on returning German emigrants and the plan to ‘exchange’ them for departing German Jews. So far as the author is aware, none of these particular documents have been used by other biographers of Hitler, and it is unlikely that they were aware of them.

In order to marshal all this material into a coherent argument, the author has adopted a ‘funnel’ approach. At the outset, where the sources are sparse, he has sought to be as all-encompassing as possible. As the book progresses, as the main lines of interpretation become clearer, and the source material more copious, the focus narrows. This also reflects the fact that Hitler was remarkably open about his thinking in his early years and became progressively more cautious. In general, the author has attempted to show rather than tell. This involves extensive exegesis and direct quotation from Hitler himself. Unlike some works, therefore, this biography is ‘context-light’ and ‘Hitler-centric’.72 We will not lose him from sight for more than a paragraph or two at a time. This is not to suggest, of course, that Hitler was an entirely sui generis thinker – it is well known that he drew extensively on others – merely that we shall be focusing on what he believed, rather than where he got it from. Following Richard Evans’s injunction, we will privilege ‘analysis, argument and interpretation’ over ‘the language of the court prosecutor and the sermonizing moralist’.73 No attempt has been made to contradict Hitler systematically, as to do so would have burst the bounds of the book and resulted in a very different work. Unless they have reason to believe otherwise, readers – to borrow a phrase – would be well advised to regard everything he said as a lie, including the ‘and’ and the ‘the’. One way or the other, the ‘truth content’ of Hitler’s writings and speeches is of less importance to this biography than their meaning and intention. Here, the author has tried throughout to get into Hitler’s mind, without letting him get into his.

The three central contentions of the book are supported by a number of sub-arguments. Many of these will be familiar even to the lay reader, and most will be well known to specialists in the field. Others may have been briefly noted before, but their true significance has been missed. There are also some very central strands in the argument which are – to the author’s best knowledge – completely new. If Hitler’s preoccupation with Britain is no secret, and the extent of his engagement with the United States has been a staple of more recent studies, previous historians have not recognized his demographic obsession with German emigration and its centrality to his world view. While the connection between Hitler’s anti-Semitism and his anti-capitalism is often noted, and has been the subject of some individual studies, its centrality to his world view, and the extent to which he was fighting a war against ‘international high finance’ and ‘plutocracy’ from start to finish, has not been understood at all. The extent of Hitler’s anxiety about the racial coherence of the German people, which he attributed to centuries of political and cultural fragmentation, has not been well understood either. For this reason, the salience of the Bavarian separatist threat, the challenge of European integration, the spectre of a Habsburg restoration and the ‘black’ (clerical) menace at various points in Hitler’s career require considerable amplification.

The argument will unfold in six parts. The first deals with Hitler’s early life until the end of the world war, during which he showed increasing signs of political consciousness after a very slow start, but no sign at all of any political vocation or leadership potential. The war plunged Hitler into a traumatic encounter with the might of Anglo-America, whose military, economic, financial and demographic strength crushed the Reich and smashed his universe. In 1919–22, the first contours of his world view become visible: the fear of Anglo-America, the associated hostility to global capitalism and international Jewry and anxiety that internal weaknesses such as socialism, Bolshevism, mass emigration and especially Bavarian separatism were rendering the Reich helpless in the face of external enemies. During this period, Hitler seems to have been operating on the assumption that the regeneration of Germany would require many years, perhaps generations. In Part II, which covers the years 1923–7, we see how time initially speeded up for Hitler in order both to pre-empt the danger of an apparently separatist putsch and to take advantage of an apparently favourable domestic and international constellation. After the failure of his own coup, Hitler reverted to a much longer timeline and began to conceive his Lebensraum concept as the answer to Germany’s racial degeneration, especially the haemorrhage of so many healthy emigrants to America. This was perforce a long-term project, so that time slowed down again for Hitler.

In Part III, which deals with the period 1928–32, we see Hitler elaborate a modernizing project designed to strengthen the Reich against the American challenge, especially the loss of the ‘best’ elements of German society through emigration to the New World, and to provide an alternative to the widely popular idea of European integration. Taking advantage of the economic distress caused by the Depression, he also devised a strategy for the seizure of power rather sooner than he had previously expected. Part IV, which covers the years 1933–6, examines Hitler’s social, economic and racial transformation project, which was designed to eliminate ‘negative’ elements in German society, such as Jews and the disabled, and to facilitate the development of more ‘positive’ racial strands. If the ‘racial’ clock was, by its very nature, set to a much longer timeline, Hitler’s diplomatic and military policies followed a much more immediate agenda. There was no plan for world domination on his part, merely a determination to secure for Germany the territorial enlargement he believed necessary to survive in a world of global powers.

In Part V, dealing with the period 1937–40, time speeded up once more as Hitler reacted to the hostility of Anglo-America. We will see how the Führer, who did not originally set out to achieve global domination, or even to occupy so much of mainland Europe, was driven by the logic of war and expansion into broadening the conflict ever more. Finally, in Part VI, which covers the years 1941–5, Hitler’s career reached its culmination in the confrontation with Roosevelt’s America, with the resulting scramble for Lebensraum and the destruction of European Jewry. As the ‘Anglo-Saxon’ powers coalesced against him, Hitler became convinced that only a truly global policy would be enough to secure the Reich against its enemies. German armies now stood on two continents and menaced a third. Hitler also had plans to strike the western hemisphere, at least from the air. For a brief moment it seemed as if the whole world was in his grasp, but the trophy remained beyond his reach, and soon after the inevitable descent began, culminating in the Reich’s second and even more destructive defeat at the hands, as Hitler saw it, of the ‘Anglo-Saxons’, the Jews and their allies.
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Part One



HUMILIATION

The first three decades of Hitler’s life were characterized by obscurity and deprivation of one sort or another. Not long after his birth in the far west of the Habsburg Empire into modest but not impoverished circumstances, Adolf Hitler’s situation rapidly deteriorated. His father and mother both died, the latter after a traumatic illness, and he squandered his small inheritance. His artistic talents were not recognized in Vienna. Hitler stumbled, and suffered severe hardship, before rallying and moving to Munich, then the second city of the German Empire. There he just about got by. Beyond this explicit rejection of the Habsburg Empire, Hitler showed no overt signs of politicization before reaching the age of twenty-five. The war proved to be both a liberating and a dislocating experience. During the four years of his military service, Hitler was wounded, subjected to shattering bombardments, decorated, blinded and defeated, along with so many other Germans. He ended the conflict as he began it, as a rather lonely figure on the margins of German and world history.




1

Sketch of the Dictator as a Young Man

Adolf Hitler was born an Austrian by historical accident on 20 April 1889. His birthplace, Braunau am Inn, had been part of the Duchy of Bavaria for hundreds of years before being ceded to the Habsburg monarchy at the Treaty of Teschen which concluded the War of the Bavarian Succession in 1779. It changed hands several times during the tumults of the Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars, returning to Austria for good in 1815. Culturally and ethnographically, the border along the River Inn between Germany and what became the Austro-Hungarian Empire marked a distinction without a difference, at least in Braunau and environs. The German dialect and traditional customs differed little on both sides of the river. Even though Hitler soon moved further east, residing in a number of other places, he remained within Upper Austria and thus the ‘Central Bavarian’ dialect area.1 Hitler later frequently referred to himself as a Bavarian.2

Politically, however, the gulf was enormous. For about a thousand years, Braunauers had been part of the Holy Roman Empire, a political commonwealth which embraced most Germans until its collapse in 1806. Their German orientation was maintained through membership of the German Confederation after 1815. In 1866–71, however, the Prussian chief minister, Otto von Bismarck, extruded Austria and crushed France in order to enable the ‘small German’ unification of the Second Reich. The Habsburgs responded by looking south and east, and by seeking a compromise with the unruly Magyars. Thanks to the new status of the Hungarian crown, Braunauers were now ‘Imperial and Royal’ subjects of a multinational empire, rather than of an expressly German polity. The border with the German Empire ran only 300 metres away at Simbach on the other side of the Inn. The Hitlers must have seen it every day. His father Alois’s sympathies are said to have been pan-German, coupled to a liberal or at least free-thinking outlook sceptical of the Roman Catholic Church;3 there is no reliable evidence that Alois was either disloyal to the Habsburgs, anti-Semitic, drunken or violent towards his children.

Adolf was a younger child in a sprawling family.4 He had an older half-brother, Alois Jnr, and half-sister, Angela, from his father’s first marriage to Franziska Matzelsberger. After her death, Alois had married his cousin, Klara Pölzl, with whom he had six children, of whom only two survived, Adolf himself and his younger sister Paula. Two of Hitlers’ four siblings died before he was born and one when Hitler was hardly ten years of age. Klara’s sister Johanna, nicknamed ‘Hanitante’, was a major figure in their lives. Alois’s work soon took the family from their home in the Salzburger Vorstadt street to nearby Hafeld, Lambach. He also worked for a while in the German border town of Passau. Alois eventually retired to Leonding,5 where he collapsed and died over a morning glass of wine in a local hostelry on 3 January 1903.

The widowed Klara moved the family first to Linz and then Urfahr on the other side of the Danube. Hitler’s education at the Staats Realschule Linz continued.6 The school at Linz was known for its German nationalist and anti-Habsburg sympathies. After doing well in his first years at school, Adolf became an indifferent pupil, with frequent absences, securing high marks only in drawing and sport, and only a ‘satisfactory’ for effort.7 Although Hitler joined various cultural organizations while in Linz and Urfahr, such as the Linzer Musealverein, the Oberösterreichischer Musikalverein and the Oberösterreichischer Volksbildungsverein,8 there is no contemporary evidence for any political engagement. There is nothing to suggest, either, that Hitler knew his fellow pupil Ludwig Wittgenstein, later a famous philosopher. One way or the other, Hitler was a poor student, who was forced to repeat a year, before finally leaving school aged sixteen.

What effect this drumbeat of death and change had on the young Adolf is not known. His experiences were in no sense remarkable: such emotional and financial insecurities were common at the time, and perhaps to all times. It is true that both father and son (as it later turned out) formed attachments to their female cousins, but this was not unusual in rural areas, then and since. He seems to have enjoyed normal friendships, especially with his fellow Wagnerian August Kubizek, whom he first encountered at a performance and who shared his artistic interests. There was therefore nothing in Hitler’s early childhood, about which very little is known for sure, to suggest what was to come later.

Hitler’s main preoccupations after leaving school were his financial security, his emotional life, pursuing a career as an artist and the health of his mother. The first known letter by Hitler was penned in February 1906, together with his sister Paula, asking the Finanzdirektion Linz for payment of his orphan’s pension.9 He visited Vienna on a number of occasions and soon moved to the imperial capital. There he pursued an interest in the operas of Richard Wagner. In the summer of 1906, Hitler saw Tristan and Isolde as well as The Flying Dutchman. He also attended the Stadttheater. He was engrossed by not only the music but especially the architecture of opera. A postcard of the Court Opera House Vienna recorded that he was impressed by the ‘majesty’ of its exterior, but had reservations about an interior ‘cluttered’ with velvet and gold.10

In early 1907, Hitler’s mother was diagnosed with cancer and operated on without success. She had no medical insurance, but bills were kept low by the kindness of her Jewish doctor, Eduard Bloch. Hitler helped to look after his mother during her illness and he seems to have been devastated by her death in late December 1907. He did, however, take time out to travel to Vienna during the treatment and even took a room there in the early autumn.11 It is certain, in any case, that Hitler neither blamed Bloch for his mother’s death nor became an anti-Semite in consequence. On the contrary, he remained in friendly contact with Bloch for some time after and even sent him a hand-painted card wishing him a happy new year.12 Much later, Hitler enabled Bloch to escape from Austria on terms far more favourable than those granted to his unfortunate fellow Jews.

Hitler’s artistic ambitions, meanwhile, suffered a severe setback. In early September 1907, he joined 111 other applicants to the Viennese Akademie für Bildende Künste. About a third were weeded out at the first stage, but Hitler was allowed to continue to the next round a month later. This time, however, he was less fortunate: his drawings were rated ‘unsatisfactory’, so that he was not among the twenty-eight candidates eventually admitted.13 Hitler decided to move to Vienna permanently regardless in February 1908. He borrowed a large sum of money from his ‘Hanitante’ in the course of 1908 to finance himself, and for the rest got by with his orphan’s pension.14 A family friend, Magdalena Hanisch, tried to ease his path in the capital by enlisting the support of Alfred Roller, a highly influential professor at the Kunstgewerbeschule, whose stagings of Wagner operas were hugely admired by Hitler; he dubbed Roller the ‘great master of stage illustration’. Her letter to her friend Johanna Motloch, who acted as the conduit, is the only contemporary description of Hitler that we possess. ‘I would like to help this young man,’ she wrote, ‘he has nobody who can put in a good word for him or help him with advice and deed. He came alone to Vienna and had to go everywhere alone, without guidance to gain admission.’15 All that was keeping Hitler in Linz, she added, was the question of his orphan’s pension. Röller agreed to see Hitler, who in turn thanked Johanna Motloch profusely. No meeting, however, took place.

Hitler’s first place of residence in Vienna was a room in the Stumpergasse. His landlady, Maria Zakreys, was Czech and by Hitler’s account spoke imperfect German. Hitler’s interests at this time were primarily musical and architectural. In mid February 1908, he announced his intention to buy a piano, and when two months later his friend Kubizek promised to bring a viola the young Adolf playfully threatened to buy two crowns’ worth of cotton wool for his ears. By the middle of the summer, however, Hitler had lost some of his exuberance. He confessed to living the life of a ‘hermit’, persecuted by bed bugs, made worse by the fact that there was nobody to wake him up: Frau Zakreys was away. Nevertheless, Hitler developed an interest in city-planning, especially the layout and architecture of Linz.16 A month later, Hitler’s spirits had not lifted: he apologized to Kubizek for his long silence, adding that ‘I couldn’t think of anything to tell you.’ He occupied himself by reading newspapers – there was reference to a subscription – and writing, apparently about city planning and architecture: ‘I am now writing quite a lot, normally in the afternoons and evenings.’17 Hitler’s malaise may have been at least partly financial in origin. He certainly seems to have experienced a period of poverty, telling Kubizek subsequently that ‘you don’t have to bring me cheese and butter any more, but I thank you for the thought’. He was not too poor, however, to miss a performance of Wagner’s Lohengrin.18

Shortly afterwards, Hitler left the Stumpergasse and was swallowed up by the city for more than a year. He lodged with Helene Riedl in the Felberstrasse until August 1909. His only known activity during this period was a second and equally unsuccessful application to the Academy. Hitler then lived for about a month as a tenant of Antonia Oberlerchner in the Sechshauserstrasse, leaving in mid September 1909. Even less is known about what came next. He certainly underwent some sort of economic and perhaps psychological crisis, leading to a descent from respectability. A few years later, well before he was famous, Hitler told the Linz authorities that the autumn of 1909 had been a ‘bitter time’ for him.19 According to a statement he gave to the Viennese police in early August 1910, he spent time in a sanctuary for the homeless at Meidling. How Hitler extricated himself is not known, but he was able to pay for a bed at the more respectable men’s hostel in the Meldemannstrasse in Vienna-Brigittenau from February 1910.20 There he started to paint postcards and pictures which his crony and ‘business’ partner Reinhold Hanisch would sell to dealers; this relationship soured when he reported Hanisch to the authorities for allegedly embezzling some of the money.21

Hitler was now once more submerged by the city. We have extensive descriptions of what he did and thought during this time from his pen and from some of his contemporaries, but all of these accounts stem from after the time when Hitler became a public figure and was actively seeking to shape his own biographical narrative, especially in Mein Kampf. All we know for sure is that Hitler had to mark time in the Austro-Hungarian Empire until he was twenty-four so as to keep collecting his orphan’s pension. It did not help that he fell out with his half-sister Angela Raubal over their inheritance, and was forced to give way after a court appearance in Vienna in early March 1911.22 It is possible that Hitler heard Karl May, the best-selling author of western novels, in late March 1912.23 In the spring of 1913, Hitler collected the last instalment of his pension. There was now nothing to keep him in Vienna.

When Hitler went to Munich in May 1913 his worldly possessions filled a small suitcase. His known mental baggage was even smaller.24 It consisted mainly of negatives. He showed no sign of any anti-Semitism in his dealings with Eduard Bloch in Linz, quite the contrary. Later, Hitler had friendly business dealings with at least two Jews to whom he hawked his paintings in Vienna: the Moravian Jew Siegfried Löffner, who was questioned by police in connection with the alleged Hanisch fraud, and the Hungarian Jew Samuel Morgenstern, who kept a careful record of these purchases.25 Nor do we have any contemporary evidence that Hitler reacted badly to the multinational character of the Austro-Hungarian capital. He lived happily for nearly a year under the roof of a Czech spinster, Maria Zakreys, and betrayed no irritation at her limited command of German. His documented interests were architecture, town planning and music, particularly the connections between them. There was surely much more going on inside his head, but we cannot be certain what it was.

Hitler’s self-description varied, but the common denominator was creativity. He registered himself as an ‘artist’ in the Stumpergasse in mid February 1908, as a ‘student’ in the Felberstrasse in mid November 1908, as a ‘writer’ in the Sechshauserstrasse in late August 1909, and as a ‘painter’ at the Meldemannstrasse in early February 1910 and again in late June 1910.26 At this time, the constant changes of address cannot have been primarily designed to evade military service, as he always registered his arrivals and departures. They are in any case entirely typical for someone of Hitler’s background and interests. Drifting in and out of solvency, leaving a mark only where they tangled with the law or registered with the city authorities was the fate of millions in pre-1914 Europe.

When Hitler arrived in Munich in late May 1913, he engaged in his first documented political act. He and his new companion Rudolf Häusler took a room with the tailor Josef Popp in the Schleissheimerstrasse. He registered himself as ‘stateless’, which is a clear statement of hostility towards his native Austria-Hungary. It may also have been intended to throw the imperial authorities off the scent as they tried to call him up for the military service for which Hitler had been liable, like the rest of his cohort in the empire, since turning twenty years of age in April 1909. By August 1913, the Magistracy at Linz was indeed looking for him on suspicion of desertion, and were told in October by Hitler’s relatives that he had moved to Vienna. He had given the bureaucracy there no forwarding address, but enquiries at the hostel in Brigittenau soon established that he had moved to Munich. It took the Austro-Hungarian authorities until January 1914 to track him down to the Schleissheimerstrasse in Munich.27 Soon after, Hitler was ordered to appear before the Magistracy in Linz. This provoked a long apologia from him, pleading poverty, claiming that he had already reported for duty in Vienna in February 1910. He was eventually mustered in Salzburg by the Austrian authorities, in early February 1914, and found to be physically unfit to serve.28 In the meantime, Hitler continued to make his living by selling pictures, just as he had in Vienna.29

All this makes our picture of the young Hitler closer to a sketch than a full portrait. To be sure, he was already more than a mere cipher: his artistic interests were already well established; his hostility to the Habsburg Empire, though not the reasons for it, was a matter of record. There was no sign whatever, though, of the ideas and ambitions to come.30 How could it have been otherwise? What Hitler experienced in Linz and Vienna may well have shaped his later views on domestic politics, on race and on culture. But he had not yet seen anything, and – so far as we know – not taken in much of what was going on outside of the Habsburg Empire and its German ally. There is no surviving contemporary evidence that he was much aware either of France or the Russian Empire or the Anglo-World of the British Empire and the United States. That was about to change. If the Hitler of 1914 had as yet left almost no mark on the world, the world was about to make its mark on him.




2

Against a ‘World of Enemies’

Hitler appears to have responded to the outbreak of the First World War with enthusiasm. A contemporary photograph – taken before they had met by his later associate and propagandist Heinrich Hoffmann – seems to show Hitler among the cheering crowd on the Odeonsplatz in Munich on 2 August 1914.1 He volunteered to fight in the Bavarian army,2 and was recruited two weeks later into the 16th Bavarian Reserve Infantry Regiment, known as the List Regiment after the name of its commander. This unit was not a ‘volunteer’ regiment as such, but consisted of a cross-section of mainly south Bavarian society, some of whom had volunteered, such as Hitler, others of whom were conscripted. It spent the next few weeks training, mainly in Munich itself, but also at Lechfeld camp south of Augsburg. He was taught to use the standard-issue rifle, before being sent to support the German advance through Belgium and northern France.3

Hitler did not, in other words, react to the outbreak of war by disappearing. Instead, he immediately volunteered for the German (technically, the Bavarian) army, an unusual choice. In August 1914, therefore, Hitler definitively turned his back not just on Austria-Hungary, but opted decisively for Germany. It was his first major documented political statement.

The main enemy, Hitler now believed, lay across the Channel. His very first surviving letter after he joined up, to his former landlady Anna Popp in Munich, announces his hope that he ‘would get to England’, presumably as part of an invading force.4 Strikingly, Hitler did not target the Tsarist Empire to the east, even though it was at this point menacing East Prussia; throughout the war, indeed, he made only a single (surviving) reference to the eastern front.5 Nor did he single out the French hereditary enemy. In focusing on Britain, Hitler may have been echoing the contemporary discourse of ‘England Hatred’ in Germany generally, and his unit in particular,6 or he may even have been ahead of it. A week later, when the List Regiment had arrived in Lille, northern France, they were assembled in the Place de Concert to hear an ‘Order by the Bavarian Crown Prince against the Englishman’. ‘We have now the fortune,’ they heard, ‘to have the Englishmen on our front, the troops of that people whose antagonism has been at work for so many years in order to surround us with a ring of enemies and strangle us.’7 One way or the other, Hitler’s expressed desire to get to grips with the British – long before he reached the front and at a time when the British Expeditionary Force only represented a small fraction of the allied troops facing Germany in the west – represents his second major political statement, and one which points to the future development of his world view, based in large part on respect for and fear of British power.

Not long after, the List Regiment duly encountered the British at Gheluvelt, and then at Wytschaete and Messines in Belgian Flanders.8 The story of the BEF in 1914 is traditionally seen as an unequal struggle with the German juggernaut. This is true enough in the broad sense, but it is important to remember that at the tactical level the picture was much more differentiated. The List Regiment’s clash with men from the Yorkshire Regiment, the legendary Coldstream Guards, Black Watch, Grenadier Guards and Gordon Highlanders was a battle between amateurs and professionals. Some of the Listers, among them Hitler himself, had had no military background at all prior to the war. With the exception of some of the officers, none were regulars. The BEF, by contrast, were experienced soldiers, many of whom had seen action before, and most of them were better and quicker shots than their German adversaries. Gheluvelt was thus a profoundly unequal battle.

In the circumstances, the List Regiment acquitted itself well, but it suffered horrendous casualties. Hitler himself participated in several frontal attacks, three if his own account is to be believed. He spoke of ‘heaviest battles’ in the ranks, but said that eventually ‘the English [sic] were beaten’. The ‘defeat’ inflicted on the British proved to be shortlived, however, as the Bavarians were ejected from Gheluvelt soon after by the Worcesters. Hitler was promoted Gefreiter – private first class – and assigned as an orderly – dispatch runner – to the regimental staff. Since then, he claimed, ‘I can say that I risked my life daily and looked death in the eye’, probably not an exaggeration for this period of his military service. On 2 December, Hitler was rewarded for his service with the Iron Cross Second Class. ‘It was,’ he wrote, ‘the happiest day of my life.’ He asked his landlord to keep the newspaper recording his decoration as a memento ‘if the Lord our God lets me live’.9

At the end of a lengthy letter describing his experiences at the front, Hitler reflected in early February 1915 on the domestic and strategic situation of Germany.10 He lamented the loss of life in a struggle against an ‘international world of enemies’, and expressed the hope not only that ‘Germany’s external enemy’ would be crushed but also that her ‘inner internationalism’ would disintegrate. It is possible that the latter phrase was inspired by anti-Semitism, or it may have been a swipe against the transnational loyalties of German Catholics and Social Democrats. Hitler also prophesied that ‘Austria will suffer the fate I have always predicted’, by which he presumably meant its ultimate collapse.11 His surviving letters tell us virtually nothing about the eastern front, and nothing at all about how he reacted to the sinking of the Lusitania, the allied propaganda campaign and many other important aspects of the war.

Hitler served out the rest of the conflict as a regimental dispatch runner, rather than in the front line, strictly speaking. It was still a pretty hazardous posting. For example, Hitler’s next letter, in mid February 1915, described the impact of a shell on his position, from which he was ‘rescued as by a miracle’, but conceded that he was being ‘made nervous by the constant artillery fire’. He also welcomed the fact that Germany was ‘at last mobilizing opinion against England’, further evidence of his preoccupation with Britain.12 Eight days later, Hitler wrote of another ‘terrible cannonade’, and further battles with the British. Indeed, the List Regiment was forced on the defensive as more and more British troops arrived on the western front. Hitler’s next major battle, in March 1915 at Neuve Chapelle, was preceded by even more massive British artillery bombardments. This was followed by the first encounter with imperial troops, men from the Indian army. A month later, at Fromelles and Aubers Ridge, Hitler faced more units from the Empire, especially Canadians. In time, the variety of exotic headgear in the enemy trenches – including ‘turbans [and] peaky-pointed hats’13 – gave the men of the List Regiment a depressing sense of the world arrayed in arms against them.

This impression was reinforced the following year. After a long quiet spell in regimental headquarters at Fournes – during which he seemed to spend a lot of time painting, sketching and reading – Hitler was back in action at Fromelles in French Flanders in May–June 1916. This time, the List Regiment was confronted with Australians and New Zealanders, many of them hardened veterans of Gallipoli. The Bavarians were once again discouraged to find themselves grappling with men who had travelled from the far side of the world to fight them in Flanders. Worse still, as Hitler’s comrade Adolf Meyer recalled, some of the Australians were of German descent. One of his captives ‘not only spoke excellent German, but bore my own name of Meyer into the bargain. Understandably: His father was a German, who had immigrated to Australia as a child with his parents and had later married an English woman there.’14 What Hitler himself made at the time of his regiment’s encounters with British imperial troops is not recorded.

Not long after, the List Regiment was sucked into the later stages of the Battle of the Somme, during which many German soldiers developed a healthy respect for British fighting qualities.15 Hitler was lucky enough not to be right in the front line, exposed to machine-gun and small arms fire, but he was well within the range of enemy guns.16 His dugout was soon hit by a British artillery round, injuring him in the left upper thigh. The wound was not life-threatening, but sufficiently serious for him to be evacuated. Hitler was sent to the army hospital in Beelitz, south-west of Berlin, to recuperate. Here he would have been confronted for the first time with the debilitating results of the allied blockade, which was the subject of an impassioned discourse in Germany. This alleged a British desire to ‘exterminate’ Germans, condemned the blockade’s devastating effect on children and thus on the racial health of the nation, and stressed the need to preserve ‘the next generation’.17 Again, there is no surviving evidence of what Hitler made of these developments as they unfolded.

Subsequently, he was detailed to the Replacement Battalion of the List Regiment in Munich. There he fretted about his inability to rejoin his unit. ‘A transport left a few days ago for the regiment,’ he wrote to his fellow dispatch runner Balthasar Brandmayer in late December 1916, ‘[but] unfortunately I can’t join it. They are only taking old babblers.’18 In January 1917, Hitler wrote to the adjutant of the List Regiment, Fritz Wiedemann, that ‘I am combat ready once again’ and expressed his ‘urgent wish … to return to [his] old regiment and old comrades’.19 Max Unold, who served with him in the Replacement Battalion headquarters in the Luisenschule in Munich in early 1917, later confirmed that Hitler ‘reported back [for duty] in the field’.20 Unold was unusual company for Hitler, in that he was an expressionist painter and a founder of the Münchener Neue Secession in 1913.

In March 1917, Hitler was back with his unit in regimental headquarters. Shortly after, the Listers witnessed, though they were not directly involved in, the stupendous Canadian assault on Vimy Ridge. Before long, however, they were faced by ferocious British attacks during the Battle of Arras. Then, in the late summer of 1917, the List Regiment was back around Gheluvelt at the Third Battle of Ypres, during which it was brutally hammered by British artillery for more than a week. A combination of high explosive, shrapnel and gas caused fearful casualties. Hitler was directly caught up in the fighting, as the regimental headquarters was in the line of the British advance on the Ypres salient.21 What he made of these experiences at the time is not known, as no contemporary records survive. When the shattered List Regiment was finally pulled out of the line, it was dispatched to near Mulhouse in Alsace to recuperate. It was there that, after nearly three years of primarily battling British, Indian, Canadian, Australian and New Zealand troops, Hitler first faced a mainly French foe.

In the meantime, the United States had entered the war on the Allied side in early April 1917, albeit as an ‘associated’ rather than an Entente power. The move was seen by many on both sides of the Atlantic as an act of Anglo-Saxon solidarity with Britain directed against the ‘Teutons’.22 Millions of Americans, many of them foreign-born, prepared to cross the Atlantic.23 A very substantial number of them were of German descent. The German-American community, which was already under pressure after the sinking of the Lusitania, was now plunged into crisis. In what was in many ways a dry-run for the later ‘red scare’, it was comprehensively ‘othered’ by American propaganda and civil society. Part of the animus underlying the campaign for the prohibition of alcohol was anti-German. In order to escape the stigma of being ‘hyphenated Americans’, many people of German descent embraced the hegemonic ‘Anglo-Saxon’ culture.24 Once again, there is no surviving contemporary evidence of how Hitler reacted to these events, though he would have a lot to say about them later.

After its relatively uneventful posting in Alsace, the List Regiment was deployed in support of the great German spring offensive of 1918.25 Moving up behind the assault troops, they encountered French colonial troops, Algerian Zouaves, in late March.26 Then, in mid July 1918, the List Regiment ran into their first Americans at the Second Battle of the Marne, near Rheims. They were forced to beat a hasty retreat,27 but not before taking some prisoners. Two of them were dropped off by Hitler at Brigade Headquarters.28 The men of List Regiment were certainly under no doubt about the qualities of the Americans, and indeed Germany’s other adversaries. A report of the II Battalion on the Second Battle of the Marne written a month later noted that ‘The enemy (French, British, American) showed themselves tough in defence, [and] brave in attack.’29 Colin Ross, who would later advise Hitler on the United States, and who was then serving on the western front, remembers not only the courage of the American soldiers, but also their frequent calling out to each other in German and the large number of German-speaking prisoners.30

By now, the Allied blockade, control of the skies and numerical superiority were beginning irreversibly to wear down Hitler’s regiment. ‘[The] health and morale of the men,’ the commander of the Third Battalion RIR 16 wrote that same month, ‘suffers from the continuing lack of provisions’; similar sentiments were recorded in the other battalions. The war diary of the Second Battalion lamented the ‘pressure from the far superior enemy who constantly deploys new troops (English)’.31 All this was of a piece with the general picture along the line, which was of the offensive running out of steam in the face of a crushing allied superiority in men, material and sheer energy. General Ludendorff famously spoke of these times as the ‘black day[s] of the German army’. Again, we do not know what Hitler made of these developments at the time. The only established fact is that he was once again decorated in early August 1918, this time with the Iron Cross First Class. It was awarded on the recommendation of his Jewish commanding officer, Lieutenant Hugo Gutmann from Nuremberg, even if he was not the man who actually pinned the decoration on Hitler’s chest.32

At this moment, the height of the Allied counter-offensive, Hitler was sent for a week’s training to Nuremberg in signalling, followed by a fortnight’s leave in Berlin. While he was away, the Allies advanced relentlessly.33 The Listers faced a variety of enemies, sometimes the French but more usually the British. As in many German formations, morale plummeted under the weight of heavy Allied artillery bombardment and air attack. One report bewailed that ‘enemy aircraft completely control the skies’. Another noted with alarm that ‘The desire for rest increases among the officers and men after each engagement. Only at least 4 weeks of quiet in good quarters with proper nourishment could revitalize the physically and morally exhausted [‘used up’] fighters. The unit is currently at best suited for static warfare on a quiet sector of the front.’ By the end of the month, there was no holding the British. ‘Everybody has bolted,’ one company commander lamented, ‘we are hanging in the air.’34 He could not even send back men to fetch ammunition, for fear they would not return. The rising flood of Americans arriving at the front in the course of September 1918 aggravated the widespread sense of depression.35

By early October 1918, the gloom in the unit had deepened still further. Fridolin Solleder, an officer with the List Regiment, remembered an ‘unequal struggle’. ‘One man always fights against three or four. For how long?’ He lamented that ‘since October 1918 more than one and a half million fresh and aggressive Americans are in action on the other side of the lines. Africa, Australia, India and Canada still send their youthful cohorts to Europe.’ ‘Munitions, material, opinions [sic] and masses of men face the German frontline soldier. The size of his struggle becomes hopeless.’36 The prevailing sense of being at war with the whole world, of being outnumbered, outgunned and ‘out-opinioned’, could not have been more clearly expressed. After more than four years of war, the List Regiment, like most of the German army, had had enough.

The returning Hitler was pitched into this crisis. In mid October, he was injured in a gas attack by a British shell. Hitler was first treated in the nearby Bavarian field casualty station at Oudenarde, site of the Duke of Marlborough’s famous victory over the French more than two hundred years earlier. A week later, he was sent to convalesce in the Prussian Reserve Hospital at Pasewalk north-east of Berlin. There Hitler heard of the conclusion of the Armistice, and the German surrender, on 11 November 1918. It seems to have induced some sort of hysterical seizure. Most of the German army kept fighting to the last, and only stopped when ordered to do so,37 but of the fact that it had been morally and militarily beaten in open battle there could be no doubt.

Thus ended Hitler’s slightly more than four years of war. His record was in some senses unusual. After an intense spell in the front line at the beginning, he spent the rest of the conflict at Regimental Headquarters, some distance behind. This was unquestionably a safer posting than that of an ordinary infantryman or even of a battalion or company runner.38 It was certainly more comfortable, giving him some time for reading and drawing; so far as we know, he mainly consulted books on architectural rather than political subjects.39 Some Listers later claimed to regard him with suspicion on that account, and it is likely that Hitler’s chances of being decorated were higher than average due to the fact that he was a familiar face among the officers making and deciding upon the recommendations.40 It may be that Hitler refused promotion in order to remain with the regimental staff. There is no doubt, in any case, that Hitler exaggerated and embellished his account of the war, and was careful to conceal the fact that he was not actually in the front line for most of the war.41

That said, Hitler’s record is less distinctive than it might seem. It was not uncommon for private soldiers to refuse commissions in order to remain with their friends. Moreover, though Hitler by all accounts completed his missions efficiently, he showed none of the initiative expected of a potential officer. It is also worth stressing that Hitler saw combat, death and destruction on numerous occasions. He was injured twice, not in accidents but by enemy fire. The regimental HQ was thus not really a ‘rear area’ in any meaningful sense. In short, there can be no doubt – even if later embellishments are stripped away – that Hitler was a courageous and effective,42 if somewhat limited, soldier during his first war.

The impact of the war on Hitler’s personality is unclear. For example, there is no evidence of any homosexual preferences,43 or indeed of sexual activity of any kind. Nor did he seem to form any very close personal connections to his comrades similar to the homo-social bonds with, say, Goebbels and Speer in later life, though in both cases we should remember that the evidence comes largely from the two attention-seekers themselves, rather than from Hitler. He was the marginal figure in the surviving group photographs, making a somewhat semi-detached impression.44 That said, the surviving letters and postcards do not suggest anything other than normal comradely relations with a range of fellow soldiers, such as congratulations on decorations and complaints about food. One way or the other, what is striking – and has often been remarked on – is that during the four years of Germany’s greatest peril, the subsequent Führer showed no sign whatever of any leadership qualities.

As we shall see, the impact of the war on Hitler’s world view over the long term was considerable.45 That said, his claim that the news of the Armistice in November 1918 prompted him to ‘become a politician’ there and then needs to be taken with a large pinch of salt; there is no contemporary evidence for it. His political formation was not open, however. His hostility to the Habsburg Empire and allegiance to Germany were by now well established. He was conscious of the importance of propaganda, and the need to ‘mobilize opinion’ against the British. He saw the war as a struggle against not merely the external enemy, but also the ‘inner’ internationalism of German society, by which he might have meant socialist (the most probable target), clericalist, particularist or capitalist tendencies or a combination of all four. Above all, Hitler had come away from the war with a keen sense of the power of the Entente, especially the British, in his eyes the most formidable of the ‘world of enemies’ against which he had battled in vain those four years. France, the country in which he had been stationed for so long, had made much less of an impression.46 Due to his injury, Hitler had missed the final collapse in late October and early November, but he witnessed the series of catastrophes from early August to the middle of October 1918, so he cannot have been in any doubt that the German army had ultimately succumbed to a massively superior enemy.

The main contours of his political thinking were not yet visible, however. There was as yet no engagement with the major forces of the age: Anglo-American capitalist democracy and Soviet Bolshevism. Most importantly, despite his later assertions in Mein Kampf and elsewhere, there was no sign whatever of anti-Semitism. There were nearly sixty identifiable Jews in his regiment, a higher number than their proportion of the population would have warranted, and some of them, such as Georg Dehn, were decorated.47 There is no contemporary evidence of any clashes between these men and Hitler. More to the point, his subsequent (‘relatively’) benevolent treatment of Bloch and the Jews he had served with in the war – including Gutmann himself, once he was aware of the situation – suggests a lack of personal animus against them.48 Indeed, his erstwhile superior officer, Major Fritz Wiedemann, who later became Hitler’s adjutant, wrote shortly after the start of the Second World War that he had ‘with agreement of the Führer helped some Jewish frontline fighters of the Bavarian Infantry Regiment 16 and enabled their emigration’.49 In short, by the end of the war, Hitler had the ‘world of enemies’ firmly in his sights. The struggle against the Jews, in their capitalist or communist guises, had not yet begun, however, and nor had he explicitly targeted the United States.
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The ‘Colonization’ of Germany

The immediate post-war years were a period of national disgrace for Germany. Its monarchy banished, shorn of large tracts of territory by the Versailles settlement and saddled with a huge reparations bill, the Reich was plunged into profound economic, political and psychological dislocation. Foreign soldiers, some of them men of colour, occupied substantial parts of the country. Germany had fought the world and lost; now many felt she was a colony of the global system. The very biological substance of the German people seemed to be at stake, as they grappled with the continuing blockade and then the prospect of long-term immiseration. Hitler experienced these travails both personally and politically. His own situation was even more marginal than most. He found his way through the turbulent aftermath of war with difficulty. Hitler was also even more exercised than most Germans about the state of the Reich. He looked for answers, and he soon found them. Hitler identified the root cause of Germany’s humiliation as the power of Anglo-American and Jewish international capitalism, which used various instruments, in particular revolutionary communism, to keep the Reich in subjection. With the help of others, but essentially under his own steam, Hitler began to develop an ideology to make sense of the world around him. By the end of this period, Hitler had undertaken a comprehensive diagnosis of the Reich’s ills, though he had yet to suggest a cure. Given the depths to which Germany had fallen, Hitler expected that national revival would take generations.

Shortly after the war ended, Hitler was discharged from hospital. He returned to the Bavarian capital, not as a matter of individual choice, but because he was ordered to do so. He would in any case have had to return to the city for the formal disbandment of his unit. Unlike most German soldiers, Hitler did not seek early demobilization.1 Instead, he was assigned to the Replacement Battalion of the Second Bavarian Infantry Regiment in Munich. Hitler later referred to his six years in uniform,2 rather than four years at war, suggesting that he regarded his continued struggle after November 1918 as part of his military service. Like many of those still in uniform, and many in civilian life, Hitler was still psychologically on a war footing. This was unsurprising given the continuing Allied blockade and the possibility of a return to war should the peace terms prove too onerous.3 Significantly, he did not join either a paramilitary Freikorps or one of the border-guard formations battling Germany’s neighbours to the east, the usual havens for those of a robustly ‘national’ disposition.4 Hitler made no attempt to resist the short-lived radical left-wing Council government of Kurt Eisner in April–May 1919, and may even have been sympathetic to it.5

Three formative events then supervened. First, Hitler was selected by his officers to serve in the section of the army devoted to propaganda and ‘enlightenment’ under the direction of Captain Karl Mayr.6 This indicates an understanding on their part of his aptitude for such work. He spent part of the summer of 1919 taking a Reichswehr training course for his new posting, which included a spell auditing a series of lectures at the University of Munich.7 This ‘education’ involved warnings about the perils of Bolshevism, lamentations about Germany’s fall from great power status, which was partly blamed on the machinations of the Jews, but also classes by Gottfried Feder on the need to break ‘debt serfdom’, and attacks on finance capitalism. Others lectured on the economic strangulation of Germany by the west.8 The historian Karl Alexander von Müller spoke on the overwhelming power of Anglo-America, and the dangers of ‘Anglo-Saxon world domination’.9 That said, Hitler was not simply the passive recipient of a Reichswehr message, if only because the lecturers often contradicted each other.10 As we shall see, his emerging ideology differed from it in important respects, notably in the even greater emphasis on anti-capitalism and his distinctive foreign policy views.

Secondly, Hitler was elected by the enlisted men as a Vertrauensmann – a soldier’s representative (literally ‘person of confidence’ or ‘trusted person’) – a post created by the High Command to improve communications and relations with the rank and file.11 This shows that he must already have commanded the support of a substantial body of his peers.

The third development was the news of the final humiliating terms of the Treaty of Versailles in late June 1919; their general outlines had been known since early May.12 One of Hitler’s former comrades later recalled seeing him study the treaty as soon as it became public.13 The details were crucial for until that point the dire territorial and financial consequences of the war were not yet apparent. Moreover, even after the terms became known, many believed them so onerous that the Reich government would resume the war rather than submit to them.14 It was on this basis, as an act of war, rather than out of pique, that the commander of the fleet interned at Scapa Flow in the Orkneys decided to scuttle his fleet rather than let it be used to coerce Germany. The National Assembly only accepted the treaty after a furious debate in July 1919. Massive public order problems followed in many German cities, including Munich.

On 20 August 1919, Hitler made his first contribution to a discussion in his Reichswehr unit; three days later, he delivered a whole speech on ‘Peace Terms and Reconstruction’. This is the first known major political statement by Hitler. The text, unfortunately, has not survived, although its likely gist can be derived from remarks made not long after; for this, see more below. A day later, Hitler is recorded as speaking on the issue of ‘Emigration’.15 Two days later, a Reichswehr report describes him as having given ‘a very good, clear and spirited lecture … on capitalism, during which he touched, indeed he had to touch, on the Jewish question’.16 This was Hitler’s first recorded reference to the Jews, and it was made very clearly in the context of capitalism,17 rather than Bolshevism or the German Revolution. That this was no coincidence is shown by the now-famous letter he wrote to Adolf Gemlich three weeks later, on 16 September 1919.

The ‘Gemlich letter’, which is the first surviving longer political text by Hitler,18 defined the Jewish ‘problem’ partly as a medical issue. Hitler dubbed the Jews the ‘racial tuberculosis of the peoples’. Partly, the ‘problem’ was defined in political terms, with the Jews cast as the ‘driving forces of the revolution’, which had laid Germany low. Here he was referring not to the events of 1917 in Petrograd, but to the workers’ and soldiers’ councils of 1918 in Germany. But Hitler’s primary emphasis was another aspect of the ‘problem’ entirely. His initial anti-Semitism was profoundly anti-capitalistic, rather than anti-communist in origin.19 He spoke of the ‘dance around the golden calf’, the privileging of ‘money’, the ‘majesty of money’, the ‘power of money’ and so on. Hitler emphasized the transnational affinity between German Jews and those of Poland and the United States. The Jew, he claimed, did not describe himself as a Jewish German, Jewish Pole or Jewish American but ‘always as a German, Polish or American Jew’. As yet, two years after the Russian Revolution, he seems to have nothing to say about communism, Bolshevism and the Soviet Union.20 Hitler, in other words, became an enemy of the Jews before he avowedly became an enemy of Russian Bolshevism.

None of this is particularly surprising. Anti-Semitism in general, and anti-capitalist anti-Semitism in particular, had been a staple of German politics and political thought since the later nineteenth century.21 It had an established presence in German right-wing parties and organizations such as the Deutsch-Nationale Volkspartei (DNVP), the Thule Society and the Pan-German League. Some groups, such as the Kampfbund gegen Zinsknechtschaft (League for the Breaking of Debt-slavery) and the Völkische Gewerkschaften (People’s Trade Unions), were specifically directed against ‘Jewish’ capitalism.22 More to the point, hostility to international capitalism, the force to which Germany’s defeat was attributed, dominated the message which Hitler was subjected to by the Reichswehr indoctrinators. One way or the other, in Germany, and perhaps in Europe more generally, anti-Semitism and anti- (international) capitalism have historically been joined at the hip. With Hitler there is little point in talking about the one without the other.

Between his opening lectures to the Aufklärungskommando and his letter to Gemlich, Hitler had also made his first intervention in a quasi-public debate at the Sterneckerbräu in Munich. On 12 September 1919 he was sent to observe a meeting of the fringe ‘German Workers’ Party’ (DAP). When one of the audience, Professor Adalbert Baumann, argued in favour of the Bavarian-led separation of southern Germany from the Reich,23 Hitler attacked him vigorously and effectively drove his antagonist out of the room. The chairman of the Munich chapter of the DAP, Anton Drexler, subsequently remarked with admiration, ‘Goodness, he’s got a gob. We could use him.’24 The encounter was significant in two ways. Firstly, it led to the entry of Hitler into the party towards the end of the month, possibly at Mayr’s behest,25 but more likely his own independent decision.26 He quickly became one of its most important speakers, though at the beginning he was overshadowed by Dietrich Eckart and Gottfried Feder. Secondly, the exchange with Baumann was the first in what would become an increasingly bitter confrontation between Hitler and Bavarian separatists and particularists outraged at the reduced rights accorded by the Weimar Constitution to what had been the constituent states of Imperial Germany.27

From mid November 1919, Hitler mounted a series of full-scale attacks in public speeches on the main enemy – ‘absolute enemies England and America’. It was Britain which had been determined to prevent Germany’s rise to world power, in order not to jeopardize their ‘world monopoly’. ‘That was also the reason,’ Hitler claimed, ‘to make war on us. And now America. As a money country it had to intervene in the war in order not to lose the money they had lent.’28 Here he explicitly made the link between his anti-capitalist critique and the hostile behaviour of the western coalition. This was closely connected to Hitler’s anti-Semitism. ‘The Americans put business above all else. Money is money even if it is soaked in blood. The wallet is the holiest thing for the Jew,’ he claimed, adding: ‘America would have struck with or without U-Boats.’29 What is remarkable here is that the terms ‘the Americans’ and ‘the Jews’ were used almost interchangeably.

If Hitler’s profound hostility to the Anglo-Saxon powers was shaped by his anti-Semitism, it was also distinct and, crucially, anterior to it. He had, after all, spent almost the entire war fighting the ‘English’, and latterly the United States. Hitler became an enemy of the British – and also of the Americans – before he became an enemy of the Jews.30 Indeed, he became an enemy of the Jews largely because of his hostility to the Anglo-American capitalist powers. Hitler could not have been clearer: ‘We struggle against the Jew,’ he announced at a public meeting in early January 1920, ‘because he prevents the struggle against capitalism.’31

The rest of Germany’s adversaries, by contrast, fell into a second and milder category. The Russians and the French, so the argument ran, had become hostile ‘as a result of their unfortunate situation or some other circumstances’.32 Hitler was by no means blind to the extent of French antagonism, but it is striking that he discoursed at much greater length about the financial terms of the treaty, and the blockade, than the territorial losses to Germany’s immediate neighbours. This focus on Anglo-American, and increasingly on US, strength, with or without anti-Semitism, was by no means unusual in Germany, or even Europe generally. It reflected a much broader post-war preoccupation with the immense global power of the United States.33 As we shall see, Hitler’s entire thinking, and the policies of the Third Reich after 1933, were in essence a reaction to it.

Hitler put the inquest into the defeat at the heart of his world view. The alleged fractures in German society played an important role here, the ‘inner internationalism’ to which he had referred during the war itself. By this Hitler primarily meant the Social Democrats and Independent Socialists (USPD), who allegedly put loyalty to their class comrades over that to the nation; it was their internationalism, not their socialism, that he objected to. It was the same anxiety as over capitalism, which Hitler rejected in its global, but, as we shall see, not necessarily in its local ‘national’ form. He also took aim at German particularism, especially in Bavaria, which threatened the integrity of the Reich. The principal internal enemy, however, was the Jews, who had ‘stabbed Germany in the back’, although Hitler rarely used this precise phrase.34 All this has given the impression that Hitler, like so many other Germans, sought to blame the defeat primarily on internal scapegoats rather than facing up to the strength of the Entente. In fact, Hitler never subscribed to a monocausal domestic explanation for the disaster and much of his thinking, especially the later quest for Lebensraum, would be inexplicable if he had. Eliminating the Jews and healing the domestic rifts inside Germany were necessary conditions for the revival of the Reich, but not sufficient ones.

Hitler was well aware of the industrial strength of the British Empire and the United States, but in his view the struggle against the Anglo-Americans during the First World War was not decided solely by material factors. His vision of international politics was essentially human-centred. On Hitler’s reading, the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries had been an epic demographic contest which the German Empire had spectacularly lost. She had failed to provide an outlet for her excess population either through economic or through territorial expansion, with the result that millions of Germans had emigrated. Meanwhile, her enemies built up huge empires which they could parlay into strength on the European battlefield. Hitler lamented ‘that the Entente sent alien auxiliary peoples to bleed to death on European battlefields’.35 He had personal experience of this, having confronted (British) Indian troops in 1915 and (French) Algerian Zouaves in 1918. Hitler’s anxiety deepened on beholding the Africans and Moroccans who formed part of the French occupation forces in the 1920s. He accused France of ‘only waiting for the warm season to throw an army of 800–900,000 blacks into [our] country to complete the work of the total subjugation and violation of Germany’.36 Hitler’s concern was thus not only racial, but strategic: that France would use the human reserves of Africa to oppress Germany, a weapon no longer available to Germany as she had lost her much smaller overseas empire as a result of the war.

The main threat posed by the European empires, however, was not the deployment of men from the ‘subject races’, but from the white settler colonies. Some of the most formidable British troops on the western front had come from Canada, Australia and New Zealand. They were numerous, well fed, fit, highly motivated, and often extremely violent.37 Worse still was the fact that the Germans whom the Reich had exported in the nineteenth century for want of land to feed them had come back to fight against her as American soldiers during the war. In later speeches, as we shall see, Hitler repeatedly came back to the moment he had encountered his first American prisoners. The emigration question was the subject of his second known major speech in September 1919, and it also underlay his next disquisition, which was on the internal colonization of Germany. His thoughts on that subject so impressed his sponsor Captain Mayr that he announced his intention ‘to launch this official report abridged or in full in the press in a suitable manner’.38 Emigration was part of daily life in post-war Germany, so much so that a whole newspaper in Munich, Der Auswanderer (‘The Emigrant’), was devoted to the topic.39 That said, although contemporary concern with the emigration issue went well beyond Hitler, it does not seem to have enjoyed a particular salience in the broader inquest into the war. It thus represents his distinctive contribution to the debate on German revival and one of the most important lessons he drew from the war. Henceforth the emigration question, and the associated American problem, lay at the very heart of Hitler’s thinking.

Strikingly absent from Hitler’s thinking immediately following the war, and indeed for some time thereafter, was any serious anxiety about Russian power or the Soviet Union.40 This is not surprising, given that Germany’s main enemy had been the western allies, and the fact that Russia had been defeated by 1917. Hitler was not even worried about communism as an external threat. The impact of the Baltic émigré and ferocious anti-Bolshevik Alfred Rosenberg during this period was not significant and, in any case, the two men did not even meet until a few months later.41 Like many Germans,42 Hitler saw Bolshevism as a disease, which had knocked Russia out of the war, and then undermined German resistance a year later. He did not fear a Soviet invasion, not even after the victory of the Reds in the Civil War. Instead, Hitler fretted that communism would destroy the last vestiges of German sovereignty in the face of the Entente. ‘The threatened Bolshevik flood is not so much to be feared as the result of Bolshevik victories on the battlefields,’ he warned, ‘as rather as a result of a planned subversion of our own people’, which would deliver them up to international high finance.43 Significantly, Hitler wasted no words on the Soviet Union in his early statements from 1919 save to predict that it was set to become a ‘colony of the Entente’. This means that capitalism and communism were not simply two equal sides of the anti-Semitic coin for Hitler. Bolshevism was clearly a subordinate force. Its function in the Anglo-American plutocratic system was to undermine the national economies of independent states and make them ripe for takeover by the forces of international capitalism.

By contrast, Hitler was profoundly concerned about German separatism, especially in Bavaria. In January 1920, in one of his earliest major speeches, Hitler hammered not merely separatism but Bavarian ‘particularism’, that is, more moderate federal aspirations. These, he argued, could only benefit those who wished to ‘demolish’ the Reich in Munich, Berlin, Paris and London; they were part of a policy of ‘encirclement’. Hitler condemned anti-Prussian feeling, which was widespread across the political spectrum in Bavaria. Moreover, he saw the differentiation between separatism and federalism, much insisted on by many in Bavaria, as a distinction without a difference. The Rosenheimer Tagblatt complained that ‘Hitler made an outrageous attempt to distract the audience by declaring federalism to be more or less synonymous with separatism.’

Rhetorically, Hitler rejected the alternative of a ‘unitary or federal state’ in favour of a ‘state united against the outside world’ to protect the Fatherland from being swamped by racial enemies. In the same spirit, he condemned the idea of a ‘Danubian Confederation’ which he claimed would make Bavaria dependent on Czech and French coal. ‘Better a Bolshevik Greater Germany,’ Hitler thundered at a party meeting, ‘than south Germany dependent on the French and Czechs.’44 It was a revealing statement, which showed that he regarded Bavarian particularism as a much greater – or at least more immediate – threat than communism. Hitler was clearly a supporter of a unitary state. His absolute rejection of federalism distinguished the NSDAP from not only much of the more moderate right, but also many who were close to National Socialism in almost every other respect. In a letter to the Austrian National Socialist, but opponent of Anschluss, Dr Walter Riehl, he set out his position in some detail. Unlike other parties, Hitler placed ‘greatest emphasis on the complete unification of all German tribes without consideration for the previous citizenship’. Only this, Hitler claimed, would give ‘the German people the status in the world which their numbers and culture warranted’. This required, Hitler continued, ‘an agreed central point of the entire organization and administration of the state’.45

Also largely absent from Hitler’s thinking at this time was any serious Slavophobia, at least in his contemporary recorded remarks.46 To be sure, he shared the patriotic outrage against the claims of the new Polish state.47 He condemned the Polish nationalist leader Korfanty as a ‘robber chief, Polish cutthroat and eyegouger’ and his followers as ‘Polish bandit scum’.48 ‘The entire Polish policy of the Bethmann-Hollwegs,’ he claimed with reference to the pre-1918 approach, ‘was impaled on its failure to understand Polish national hatred. The establishment of the Polish state was the greatest crime against the German people.’49 Hitler’s remarks in that connection were based on national not racial considerations, just as his alleged concern about Czechs in Vienna – based purely on his own subsequent claims in Mein Kampf – were couched in national rather than racial terms. Interestingly, he refused to allow NSDAP members to join the anti-Polish uprisings in Upper Silesia,50 which he evidently regarded as a distraction. For now, Hitler regarded the Slavs as the victims of Jewish capitalism, a fate they shared with the Germans, and hoped for the restoration of the ‘true’ Russian spirit in the Soviet Union. There was no sign yet of any territorial ambitions in the east. Pity, not hostility, was Hitler’s main sentiment towards Russians at this point.

At the end of March 1920, Hitler took off his army uniform for good. By then, some of the main outlines of his world view, expressed consistently in private correspondence, public meetings and newspapers articles alike, were clearly visible: fear of the western allies, especially Britain, a profound demographic anxiety about the United States, a violent hostility to international capitalism, a sense of the subversive effects of socialism and communism, and, of course, a virulent anti-Semitism. None of these sentiments were visible before 1914. Fear of Britain and the ‘world of enemies’ was first expressed at the start of the conflict. The rest were a response not to defeat as such, or even to the revolution, but to the consequences of defeat. It was the Versailles settlement which brought home the meaning of November 1918. This was the subject of his first known political speech and its consequences dominated his later thinking. Unlike for most nationalists, territorial losses were the least of Hitler’s concerns: as we have seen, he was far more worried about the long-term impact of perpetual debt bondage, the continued blockade and a resulting surge in emigration. In other words, it was not the war that made Hitler, or even the revolution, but the peace.

By early 1920, Hitler had found two new homes. On leaving the army, he found lodgings as a sub-tenant of Ernst and Maria Reichert in Thierschstrasse no. 41, in the inner Munich suburb of Lehel. It was a very modest berth in a working- and lower-middle-class neighbourhood. Hitler was an easy-going resident, who never locked his doors and allowed the Reicherts to use his gramophone and books during his frequent absences. We do not know what exactly he read, but the best-thumbed surviving volumes from his collection relate to history and art, whereas those on race and the occult gave the impression of being unread.51 Hitler took his baths in the nearby Müllersches Volksbad. One of his neighbours was Hugo Erlanger, a Jewish First World War veteran, who ran a men’s clothing and sports shop on the ground floor. He bought the entire house eighteen months later, effectively becoming Hitler’s landlord.52 The two men ran into each other frequently and exchanged polite greetings; Erlanger – who was later expropriated by the Third Reich – subsequently could not recall any hostility on Hitler’s part. This casts an interesting light on Hitler’s politics and his personality. There was clearly something abstract about his visceral anti-Semitism, which did not prevent him from having cordial personal relations with individual Jews, not an uncommon phenomenon among anti-Semites then and since, of course.

His new professional and political home was the DAP, which was renamed the ‘National Socialist German Workers’ Party’ (NSDAP) in the course of 1920. Hitler was by now a recognized quantity on the local right-wing scene. In mid March 1920, while still technically in army service, Hitler flew at May’s behest to Berlin at the height of the Kapp Putsch, where he was introduced by Dietrich Eckart to Erich Ludendorff, the legendary World War One general. There is no evidence that Hitler planned to take over the party at this stage, or that he saw it as a vehicle for the seizure of power. The growth of the NSDAP after he joined it was noteworthy, to be sure, and its social composition was remarkably heterogeneous,53 but the overall figures were still modest. Regional expansion was slow: the first party presence outside Munich was established in Rosenheim in April 1920 and then four months later (August 1920) at Starnberg. There were only 195 members at the end of 1919. In July 1920, there were 1,100 and more than 2,000 at the end of the year. This was not nearly enough to have made any electoral impact, and in any case, Hitler abjured any attempt to enter parliament for ‘moral and financial reasons’.54

Hitler believed political organization without propaganda was pointless.55 His main concern at this point was to use the party as a platform to disseminate and elaborate his ideas. He was involved in the drafting of the twenty-five-point NSDAP (technically DAP) programme in February 1920, though it is unclear whether he can claim sole authorship.56 The first four related to national integrity, foreign policy and territorial expansion; the next four concerned race, mostly strictures against the Jews. Hitler turned Wilson’s idea of ‘self-determination’ back on the Allies with his call for ‘the unification of all Germans in a Greater Germany on the basis of the right of peoples to self-determination’.57 More than that, he demanded ‘Land and soil (colonies) to feed our people and to settle our surplus population’, the first unambiguous documented articulation of what subsequently became the Lebensraum concept. The geographic location of these future ‘colonies’ was not specified but at this time Hitler seems to have had overseas territories in mind. Later points attacked ‘debt slavery’, called for the breaking up and nationalization of large, cartelized industries, the expansion of old age welfare payments, land reform including expropriation for the public good and a strong central power for the Reich, with unlimited power for the Reichstag to legislate for all the regions. Internally, the main target of the programme was the Jews, capitalism and German separatism, rather than communism per se. Externally, the programme took aim not so much at the Soviet Union, as at the western powers, with its demand for living space, not in the east, but in overseas colonies, from which Germany was now shut out.

Hitler paid close attention to the iconography underpinning the message. A black swastika of his design on a white circle with red background was first flown as the official party emblem at a meeting in Salzburg in August 1920.58 In one of his very few excursions into the occult, Hitler praised the swastika – as a ‘symbol of the sun’ which sustained a ‘cult’ of light among a ‘community based on Aryan culture’, not only in Europe, but in India and Japan as well. The use of the old imperial black, white and red colours was a calculated affront to the black, red and gold of the Weimar flag. ‘The red is social,’ he later explained, ‘the white is national, and the swastika is anti-Semitic.’59 By mounting the symbol diagonally, Hitler cleverly conveyed a sense of dynamism and movement.60 Four months later, he oversaw the purchase of the Völkischer Beobachter newspaper and the Franz Eher Verlag, financed in part by a loan from a Reichswehr slush fund guaranteed by Dietrich Eckart, which gave the party a media platform with a print run of 8,000–17,000 appearing three times a week; after many ups and downs, the Völkischer Beobachter became a daily on 8 February 1923.61 As the main organ of the NSDAP, the paper carried news of party activities, but it was also the main direct vehicle of communication between Hitler and the rank and file, which he could use to rehearse and enforce his ideological message.62 The party also promoted Hitler as a ‘charismatic’ leader, who was destined to lead Germany out of its subjection.63

Over the next fifteen months, Hitler engaged in an intense programme of speeches in the major Munich beer halls; he practised his poses in front of a mirror. By the end of the year, he had made twenty-seven appearances in Munich, and twelve outside, including Bad Tölz, Rosenheim and even Stuttgart. The audiences ranged in number from 800 to about 2,000. During late September and the beginning of October 1920, Hitler made repeated trips to Austria and to support the National Socialist Party in neighbouring Württemberg in their election campaign. In early 1921, a speech on Versailles at the Zirkus Krone was heard by about 5,600 people. One eyewitness, his first biographer Konrad Heiden, recalled that the secret of the success of his speeches was that the audience became ‘participants’ rather than ‘listeners’.64

There were some missteps. Hitler’s opportunistic attempt to address a Munich crowd of 20,000 or so uninvited at a general rally outside the Feldherrnhalle in February 1921 was drowned out by the massed bands who struck up as he began to speak.65 It is also worth remembering that many members had never seen or heard Hitler in person.66 In general, though, his profile grew steadily, and he began to overtake the best-known orators, such as Gottfried Feder and Dietrich Eckart, as the public face of the party. Despite his somewhat mysterious aura – Hitler refused to allow any photograph of him to be taken – he had become a recognizable ‘name’ in Bavarian politics. His relationship with the Reichswehr in Bavaria, which had effectively incubated him, remained good even after he had left the ranks. In mid May 1921, Hitler met with the prime minister, Gustav von Kahr, marking his political recognition by ‘official’ Bavaria.67 He had ‘made it’.

Hitler had joined an existing party, not established a new one. This meant that he had to work with others and within structures which he did not as yet control, or even dominate. The collegial basis of the party was laid down by Hitler himself, who had drafted the Standing Orders in December 1919. ‘The aims of the party are so extensive,’ he wrote, ‘that they are only to be achieved through an organization which is as tight as it is flexible.’68 He argued that the governing committee could only hope to work effectively if it had the confidence of the mass of the membership, and the trust of each other. ‘The first,’ he said, ‘requires the election of all members of the committee, including its chairman, by the membership in open assembly.’ ‘The second,’ Hitler continued, ‘excludes for all any form of control through a superior or parallel government, be it as a circle or a lodge.’ In other words: discipline yes, dictatorship, no. The early organizational form of the party was thus quasi-democratic, not least because the law of associations which regulated the governance of all such associations in Germany gave Hitler and his colleagues no choice in the matter.

During this period Hitler collaborated with a range of figures, not all of whom were party members, in an informal and often non-hierarchical way. His closest associate was Rudolf Hess, a First World War veteran who had grown up in Egypt; the date of their first encounter (which was probably in May 1920) is disputed, but we know for a fact that he joined the NSDAP in July 1920.69 A key interlocutor was the Reichswehr officer Ernst Röhm, whose meetings are documented from early 1920, though the first contacts may have taken place a lot earlier.70 Hitler had frequent dealings with the staff of the Völkischer Beobachter, especially its executive editor, the playwright Dietrich Eckart, and his deputy Alfred Rosenberg, a Baltic German refugee from the Russian Revolution, who would influence Hitler’s view of the Soviet Union;71 the editor was his old regimental comrade Hermann Esser. In a rare gesture, Hitler explicitly acknowledged his debt to Eckart for his help with the Völkischer Beobachter, and to Rosenberg for his ‘theoretical deepening of the party programme’.72 In late 1920, Hitler met Max Erwin von Scheubner-Richter,73 who had witnessed and been appalled by the massacre of the Armenians as a German consul in the East Anatolian town of Erzurum during the First World War. It was probably from him that Hitler got his determination that the Germans should not become a ‘people like the Armenians’, that is, the butt of foreign oppressors.74 At around the same time, Hitler first encountered Gregor Strasser, an apothecary from Landshut. The only significant dispute was with Karl Harrer, one of the original leaders of the DAP, who wanted the party to remain a sect, unlike Hitler and Drexler, who wanted to create a mass movement. In early 1920 Harrer was sidelined, and he was completely excluded by the end of the following year.

If Hitler was by now probably the best-known member of the party, there was no sign yet that he aspired to lead it. This may be because of the lengthy timetable he envisaged for the seizure of power in Germany, the revival of national dignity and strength, and then the reassertion of the Reich’s authority on the international stage. Given the abject condition of the country immediately after Versailles, recovery would be a slow process. The pressing need of the moment, therefore, was not for political organization but for fundraising and propagandistic work, developing and disseminating the message as widely as possible. This, rather than any attempt to force the party to accept his unfettered leadership, is probably the reason why, in December 1920, he declared his ‘permanent resignation from the [governing] committee of the party’ and (less obviously) from its ‘Press Committee’.75 Hitler said he was prepared to continue speaking on behalf of the party wherever required. The idea that he might take over absolute control of the party seems to have come from others rather than himself. Drexler, for example, wrote in mid February 1921 that ‘every revolutionary movement must have a dictatorial head and for that reason I consider especially our Hitler the most suitable candidate for our movement’.76 So for the first eighteen months or so of his political career, Hitler’s position was rather indeterminate. He became the party’s principal speaker and fundraiser, and its public face, but he was not its chief and some of the time he was not even a member of its ruling committee.

It was the threat to the ideas and programme of the party, rather than his personal position, which drove Hitler to seize the leadership of the movement.77 Anton Drexler and many others believed that the best way forward in the crowded radical nationalist milieu of the time was to merge with like-minded groups. Hitler opposed all such attempts, mainly because they threatened to compromise what he regarded as the party’s greatest asset: its ideological coherence. The casus belli was Drexler’s desire to join forces with the Deutsch-Sozialistische Partei (DSP), whose geographical centre of gravity lay far to the north, and which would theoretically give the NSDAP a much greater reach within Germany. Drexler discussed the modalities with the DSP at their party congress in Zeitz in Thuringia in late March 1921, and a few months later with the leader of the Franconian DSP, Julius Streicher. He also entered into negotiations with the radical nationalist ideologue Otto Dickel, head of the ‘Deutsche Werkgemeinschaft’, NSDAP member and occasional party speaker, who was trying to fuse all the anti-Semitic and radical nationalist associations.78 Hitler violently objected, not least because the DSP had turned him down for membership two years earlier,79 and after his attempts to head off the merger failed, he resigned from the party altogether on 11 July 1921, setting out his reasons at some length a few days later.80

The NSDAP, he claimed, had been established on ‘the basis of an extreme racial outlook and rejects any form of parliamentarism’, including its present-day incarnation. It was intended to be quite different from all other ‘so-called national movements’, and so constructed that it would best serve to wage ‘the battle for the crushing of the Jewish-international domination of our people’. The NSDAP was also a ‘social or rather a socialist party’, whose statutes laid down ‘that the seat of its leadership was Munich and must remain Munich, now and for ever’. This programme, Hitler continued, had been agreed as ‘immutable and inviolable in front of an audience of a thousand people, and invoked as a granite foundation in more than a hundred mass meetings’.81 Now, Hitler claimed, these principles had been violated by plans to merge with another party, by the agreement at Zeitz to move the headquarters to Berlin and by the prospect that they would be abjured in favour of the programme of Otto Dickel, which he condemned as a ‘meaningless, spongy [and] stretchable entity’. Specifically, Hitler objected to Dickel’s belief that Britain was emerging from under the thumb of the Jews and to his admiration for the Jew Walther Rathenau. He was interested in propaganda, not organization, and the power of ideas, not bureaucratic power.

Hitler made his return strictly conditional on the fulfilment of his terms. First of all, he demanded the ‘immediate summoning of an extraordinary general meeting of the membership’ within eight days whose purpose was the replacement of the existing committee by a newly elected one chaired by himself. What is more, Hitler requested ‘dictatorial powers for the immediate establishment of a working group tasked with the ruthless purge of the party of the foreign elements’ that had ‘infiltrated’ it. Secondly, he demanded ‘the immutable acceptance of the principle that the seat of the movement was and would remain in Munich’, and that the local Ortsgruppe Munich would be the headquarters until a national organization could be established. Thirdly, Hitler insisted that there should be no further ‘change of the programme or the name’, at least not for six years; those who agitated for this should be expelled. Fourthly, he said that the NSDAP and the DSP should not join forces. Indeed, he determined that there should never be mergers with any group but only ‘takeover’ without any form of ‘concessions’ on the side of the NSDAP. Fifthly, Hitler laid down that any such negotiations be subject to his veto and that he chose those representing the party. Hitler averred that he made these demands ‘not because I crave power’ but because he was convinced that ‘without an iron leadership’ the party would soon degenerate from a National Socialist Workers Party into a mere ‘Occidental League’. Hitler had originally wanted to control the message rather than the party, but he now realized that he could not do the former without ensuring the latter.

It is not quite clear whether Hitler resigned with the intent of forcing the leadership’s hand, or whether he left in despair and decided to lay down the law only after attempts to win him back showed the underlying strength of his position. Even then, his demands were more modest than they sounded, being subject (as the law required) to membership vote. The ‘dictatorial powers’ were not requested for the running of the party in general but limited to the sphere that Hitler was primarily concerned about, namely the re-establishment and maintenance of ideological coherence. This is what underlay his demand to purge deviators, to oversee the absorption of other groups and the retention of Munich as an ideological ‘Rome’ or ‘Mecca’. The outcome, in any case, was the same. Hitler triumphed all along the line. Drexler caved in. The merger with the DSP was off, and nobody dared to suggest any fresh fusions on an equal basis. Munich remained the capital of the movement. Hitler joined the governing committee of the NSDAP as its chairman and conducted a thorough purge. Otto Dickel was expelled. Drexler was marginalized.82 No party speaker ever again had a good word to say about a Jew, or attempted to suggest that the western powers were not controlled by the Jews.

Hitler’s struggle with Drexler is common to most emerging political movements: the clash between the need for growth and the maintenance of ideological purity, which was the side which he took with such vigour. In July 1921, Hitler won his first political battle. He had become a politician. Whether Hitler had sought leadership or had leadership thrust upon him, it was clear that he now was increasingly not merely the de facto but the formal chief of the NSDAP. If he had once seen himself as a mere ‘drummer’ of the movement for the new Germany, he now aspired to be its leader.

Hitler now moved to reorganize and expand the NSDAP.83 By the end of 1921, membership stood at about 6,000.84 The party moved from Sterneckerbräu to larger premises at Corneliusstrasse 12. Local groups were founded in Hanover, Zwickau and Dortmund. Hitler tightened his control over the party, including the cells outside Germany. In the spring of 1922 the Austrian and Bohemian NSDAP accepted Hitler’s authority.85 Collegial decision-making was abolished. Sub-committees were now appointed by Hitler. Despite these moves, Hitler tried to keep out of day-to-day decision-making, and he saw his involvement in these matters simply as preparatory to resuming his propagandistic drive. Ideological purity rather than control for its own sake seems to have been his main concern. The only formal limitation was that imposed by the Weimar associational law, which meant that he could in theory at least still be held to account by the membership.86

In August 1921, Hitler established a formal party paramilitary formation, which was named the SA or Sturmabteilung on 5 October 1921, with headquarters in 39 Schellingstrasse, Munich. The first commander was Emil Maurice, who had already distinguished himself in brawling at Hitler’s side, or on his behalf. The main task of this new force was to protect NSDAP meetings and disrupt those of the other side. Cyclist, motorized and mounted sections were established, with weapons and training being provided by the Reichswehr. The latter hoped to draw on the SA, as on other right-wing groupings, in the event of civil unrest or a French invasion. The initial growth of the Sturmabteilung was modest, reaching about 700–800 men in twelve months, and about 1,000 at the beginning of the following year. Meanwhile, where Hitler could not establish complete authority over regional party organizations, he compromised. The most significant of these accommodations was with Julius Streicher in Nuremberg, who by 1922 had acknowledged Hitler’s supreme authority in return for more or less total domination of the NSDAP in Franconia.87 Even in Bavaria, therefore, the party remained diverse and Hitler’s level of direct control varied.88

In some ways, Bavaria was a congenial habitat. It considered itself a ‘centre of order’ in the Weimar chaos, an arcadia of conservative and patriotic values.89 Hitler was protected and supported by the Bavarian Reichswehr, which only loosely acknowledged the precedence of the national authority at this time, and whose loyalties lay firmly in Munich rather than Berlin.90 The president of the Munich Police, Ernst Pöhner, and the Chief of the Political Police, Wilhelm Frick, were NSDAP supporters. Hitler was also in constant contact with the numerous right-wing nationalist groupings which flourished in the city, and congregated around General Ludendorff, a patriotic icon from the war.91 Hitler began to build up a cadre of leaders and advisers who were gathering around the NSDAP and often him personally. Gregor Strasser joined the party in October 1922. That same month, Hitler first met Hermann Göring, a charismatic and well-connected fighter ace, who opened many doors to business and high society.

In other ways, Hitler and the NSDAP sat uneasily in the Munich mainstream, which was dominated by Catholicism and the Bavarian People’s Party (BVP).92 The BVP had complete command of the local parliamentary political scene. All of the sixty-five BVP Landtag deputies were Catholic, six of them clerics; all but one of its twenty Reichstag members were Catholic, two of them clerics.93 While the party was confessionally homogeneous, it was socially diverse, representing Bavarians from all classes, and was determined not to break away from the Reich but also to resist the Weimar Republic’s vision of a more centralized state. Despite his Austrian – essentially south German – roots Hitler found it very difficult to break into this constituency. It was for this reason he attempted to reach out to the churches through his concept of ‘positive Christianity’. Hitler claimed that Jesus had been ‘slandered’ by the same people who were scourging Germany today – the Jews.94 ‘We should follow the example of this man,’ Hitler argued on another occasion, ‘who was born poor in a cabin, who pursued high ideals and whom for this reason the Jews later crucified.’95 ‘The Christian religion is the only possible ethical basis of the German people,’ he said soon after, adding that it was important to avoid any ‘tension between the confessions’, because ‘religious divisions’ had been one of ‘the worst things to happen to the German people’.96 Though Hitler made some headway with Bavarian Catholics in the early 1920s,97 it was a demographic with which he struggled to connect until the end of his life.

Munich was thus an ambivalent habitat for the young NSDAP. It was stony ground for the Nazis not only politically and culturally, but also physically. The authorities began to take an ever dimmer view of Hitler’s activities, especially when these disturbed public order. He spent two stretches in prison. He lost an important ally with the resignation of Ernst Pöhner as president of the Munich Police in September 1921. A month later, Hitler was summoned to police headquarters for a serious caution following a series of street brawls and beer-hall battles.98 The Völkischer Beobachter was repeatedly banned for publishing inflammatory articles.99 In March 1922, after his conviction for a breach of the peace, the Bavarian minister of the interior, Dr Franz Schweyer, seriously considered deporting Hitler to Austria, and the minister president, Count Lerchenfeld, made it clear to Hitler that he was in Bavaria on sufferance.100 The police watched Hitler closely.

Hitler remained determined to establish himself in Munich, but only as a beacon to inspire the rest of Germany and as a base from which to take over the Reich as a whole. ‘Munich must become a model,’ he wrote in January 1922, ‘the school but also the granite pedestal’ of the movement.101 ‘We do not have a Bavarian mission today,’ Hitler announced six months later, ‘rather Bavaria has the most important mission of its entire existence.’ Bavaria, on this reading, was not separate but rather ‘the most German state in the German Reich’. Munich was a sanctuary and a bulwark, certainly, but above all it was a sally-port. The special role Hitler envisaged for Bavaria in Germany was thus not as a separate or autonomous entity, as the federalists and particularists wanted, but as the vanguard of national renewal. ‘Not “away from Berlin”,’ Hitler intoned when discussing the relationship between Bavaria and the Reich, ‘but rather “towards Berlin”’ in order to ‘liberate it from the seducers of the German people’.102 It would soon become clear that was a very different agenda to that of the generally monarchist and particularist Bavarian military and political elites.

At this time, the party had very limited success with big business. To be sure, the former Siemens director Emil Gansser invited Hitler to speak at the ‘National Klub of 1919’ in Berlin. One attendee, the industrialist Ernst von Borsig, was so impressed by Hitler’s apparent ability to bridge the gulf between the national cause and the working class that he invited him back for a second appearance. Hermann Aust, executive of a malt-coffee trading company in the capital, asked him to appear at the Bavarian League of Industrialists in Munich, then at the Herrenklub, and thereafter at the Merchants’ Guild. None of these events led anywhere in financial terms. The reason for Hitler’s lack of success is not hard to find. The NSDAP programme – for example point 13 with its attack on ‘trusts’ – was ferociously anti-capitalist and so, as we have seen, was much of Hitler’s rhetoric. Despite Hitler’s willingness to moderate his message to business audiences, emphasizing his anti-French and anti-Bolshevik themes, business was not reassured. Paul Reusch, a major Ruhr baron, noting the Nazi nationalization plan, remarked that ‘we have no reason to support our own gravediggers’. The party remained dependent on donations from the Bavarian Reichswehr, either in cash or in kind in the form of weapons or vehicles, and from a motley group of smaller donors, mainly traders, retailers and small businessmen.103

Given the shortage of funds, the growth of the party and especially its propagandistic reach was impressive. There were significant gains in membership: 4,300 by the end of 1921, and more than 20,000 a year later.104 The party organization was also an important source of funding through membership dues, entry charges for meetings, collections and interest-free loans from members. The party apparat grew, albeit modestly. In 1922, Hitler acquired a private secretary in the shape of Fritz Lauböck, the son of a Nazi in Rosenheim. Attendance at party events also increased, and the message reached a much wider audience. There was a real quantum leap in early 1922, when Hitler regularly spoke to between 2,000 and 6,000 listeners in the larger beer halls. A high point was the Deutsche Tag in Coburg in October, which culminated in a massive brawl with hostile demonstrators.105

Not everyone was persuaded. The records of Hitler’s speeches note many catcalls and interruptions. One of those who went to hear him speak in a beer hall on the Theresienstarsse was Franz Halder, his later chief of the general staff, who does not seem to have understood what Hitler was saying.106 Hitler often had several engagements per night; 30 November and 13 December 1922 were records with ten simultaneous events. It no doubt helped that the party paid Hitler speaker fees for his appearances, which were for a long time his only income after being discharged from the army.

The purpose of all this activity was not the creation of a party organization capable of winning elections, still less that of a force capable of mounting an armed challenge to the Weimar Republic. Instead, Hitler’s main aim remained the establishment of ideological coherence in the movement. ‘The final strength of a movement,’ he claimed in mid February 1922, lay ‘not in the number of its local groupings but in its internal cohesion’. The constant reiteration of agreed positions generated loyalty and fervour. For example, when the authorities expressed doubts that the ‘Gymnastics Section’ of the SA was just engaged in physical exercise, Hitler responded by saying that party members as a whole also exercised ‘if only with [their] mouths’. He remained adamantly opposed to contesting elections. Hitler claimed that ‘there was no fruitful work to be done in parliament’, and that ‘individual National Socialists would be corrupted by the swamp of parliamentarism’.107

Throughout the early 1920s, therefore, Hitler used his speeches to rehearse and develop his ideology. During this period his words – which were, of course, acts in themselves – were more important than his deeds. The recent defeat and its causes remained the central preoccupation. Hitler repeated his conviction that the war had been caused by an Anglo-American capitalist conspiracy. Sometimes, he attributed the ‘original sin’ to Britain, whose commercial and colonial ‘envy’ of the Reich had driven a ‘policy of encirclement’ against Germany, and whose press had vilified her before and during the war as a nation of Huns and barbarians. On other occasions, he targeted the United States. ‘Not least because the social welfare and the cultural development [of the German Empire] was a thorn in the eyes of the American trust-system,’ he thundered in March 1921, ‘we had to disappear from view.’ Hitler repeatedly contrasted ‘Germany’s social culture’ with American capitalism. He reserved particular scorn for US president Woodrow Wilson as the ‘agent of international high finance’.108

The collapse of 1918 was explained in part through enemy strength, in part through enemy guile, and in part through German weakness or stupidity. Hitler was under no illusion about the ‘superior leadership of the enemy’, which nearly crushed the Reich in 1915–1916, when ‘an enemy who was twice or three times as strong in terms of numbers and equipment’ assaulted ‘a practically reserve-less’ German front line. Fighting France, and especially the British Empire, was bad enough, but what had ultimately tipped the scales was US intervention. This, Hitler was convinced, would have taken place with or without the U-boat war. Having previously been a ‘passive’ supporter of the Entente through the supply of armaments, the Americans intervened when Britain and France were on the verge of defeat in order not to lose the ‘billions’ which it was owed by the Allies. ‘America was called in,’ he claimed, ‘and the power of international big capital thereby became openly involved.’ Not only did the Entente have massive demographic and industrial resources at its disposal, Hitler argued, but it had also ‘tortured’ Germany through a ‘hunger blockade’ against the civilian population.109

All this was made much worse, in Hitler’s view, by mistaken German strategy and the internal weakness of the Reich. The principal diplomatic error, he argued, was ‘Germany’s loyalty for better and for worse towards the scruffy Habsburg state’ and the resulting failure to achieve a compromise peace with Russia. There was also an increasing sense of the baleful role played by Marxism, a ‘poisonous’ doctrine which had first paralysed and then corrupted the German people to the marrow. The German will to resist had been further undermined by calculated Allied deception. Once again, it was Wilson who was singled out for the most obloquy, as the man whose broken promises of fair treatment under the Fourteen Points had caused the Reich to give up when further resistance was not only possible but essential. Wilson, he said simply, was the ‘cause of the collapse’, the man who had brought the overwhelming power of the United States to bear on the Reich, and the Pied Piper who had convinced the Germans to lay down their arms on the basis of a fair peace.110

What linked all these explanations in Hitler’s mind was the power and the malevolence of the Jews, the main controllers of an ‘international capitalism’ that needed ‘ever more objects of exploitation’. It was they who under their Jewish ringleader Lord Northcliffe (who was in fact not only not Jewish but a fervent anti-Semite) had whipped up the British press into a frenzy against Germany before 1914. It was the ‘international Jewish newspaper corporations’, Hitler claimed, who had prevented a Russo-German rapprochement. It was they who owned the large American companies supplying the Allied war effort and who tricked the ‘peaceful’ American people into war with Germany against their better natures and best interests. It was the Jews who tried to manipulate Germany’s food supply and who ‘precipitated the revolution through hunger’. All this happened because the ‘New York Stock Exchange’ – the ‘Headquarters of World Jewry’ – was determined to crush Germany, the last remaining Nationalstaat which was ‘not yet completely ruled by stock exchanges’.111 In short, Hitler remained firmly wedded to the idea of a deadly synthesis between world Jewry, international capitalism and Anglo-America as Germany’s nemesis.

Moreover, in Hitler’s view the war was by no means over. Germany was still the victim of international capitalism, whose continuing power he repeatedly attacked. He spoke of ‘international stock exchange and loan capital’ as the main ‘beneficiaries’ of the peace treaty. Ever since the ‘collapse of the Reich’, Hitler claimed, the country had fallen under ‘the rule of international, fatherlandless capital, independent of person, place and Nation’. International conferences – such as Genoa in April 1922 – were simply condemned as ‘stock exchange conferences’. Hitler saw Jewish international capitalism and western democracy as linked. ‘International Jewish stock exchange capital,’ he believed, ‘was the driving force of these western-democratic states.’ He set up the ‘equation’ of ‘democracy-capitalism-Jew’. For all these reasons, he argued, National Socialism was a ‘new force whose aim could always only be anti-capitalist’.112

Hitler was not completely opposed to all forms of capitalism, though he sometimes gave that impression. He contrasted the blanket hostility of Social Democrats and Marxists to capitalism in general with his own distinction between allegedly pernicious and largely Jewish ‘international loan capitalism’ and nationally oriented ‘productive industrial capitalism’. ‘Factories and industrial capital,’ he told an audience of SA, ‘is national’ and ‘the capital of every country remains national’. For clarity, he stressed that National Socialism ‘struggled against every form of big capital, irrespective of whether it is German or Jewish, if it is grounded not in productive work, but in the principle of interest, of income without work or toil’. Moreover, Hitler added, the NSDAP ‘battled the Jew not only as the sole bearer of this [form of] capital’, but also because he ‘prevented’ the ‘systematic struggle’ against it. In Hitler’s view it was the determination of international capitalism to subjugate independent national economies which had led to the world war and the brutal peace settlement. This was the context in which he interpreted Allied attempts to control the Reichsbahn, the German national railways. Hitler accused the Jews of trying to ‘grab’ them, as part of a policy whose ‘final aim was the destruction of our national economy and the enslavement of our workforce’.113

The Allied determination to annihilate Germany, Hitler believed, was demonstrated by their continuation of the blockade after the end of hostilities. ‘One wants to destroy us completely,’ he claimed, ‘one wants to make our children sick and to allow them to waste away.’ He saw in the demands for reparations in kind by German agriculture a plan to reduce her population through ‘hunger’ in accordance with Clemenceau’s alleged policy to get rid of the ‘20 million excess’ Germans. The main culprit, however, was Britain, which Hitler regarded as the ‘master of the destruction of the health of peoples’, with the Germans only the latest victims of a much broader global hunger strategy. The Treaty of Versailles was thus merely the continuation of the wartime blockade by other means.114 In Hitler’s rhetoric, the alleged campaign to undermine the ‘substance’ of the German Volk as a whole weighed much more heavily than the territorial losses.

The main purpose of this strategy, Hitler claimed, was to reduce Germany’s population, partly through starvation but mainly through emigration. ‘The loss of [our] entire merchant fleet,’ he claimed, complements ‘the destruction of our industry, and that means cutting through the main artery of our whole economic life.’ ‘We no longer have any world trade,’ Hitler continued, ‘so that we have currently lost the possibility of feeding around 20 million people.’115 ‘The Entente,’ he lamented, ‘advises us to emigrate in order to feed ourselves, and to make way for the Eastern Jews.’116 Hitler, in other words, feared that Germany would become the victim of what is today called ‘population replacement’. He frequently urged his audience to think of the ‘thousands of German emigrants’.117 This was the great trauma underlying Hitler’s whole world view: the continued haemorrhaging of the best elements of the Reich who had left the Fatherland in order to enlarge the population of Germany’s rivals, with the fatal results that had been seen in the Great War. Worse still, he argued, these best elements were being replaced by the Jewish dregs of central and eastern Europe in a kind of negative selection, designed to further undermine the racial coherence of the German people.118

International capital and the victor powers – the two were indistinguishable in Hitler’s mind – had thus reduced Germany to the status of a ‘colony’. The purpose of Versailles, he argued, was ‘to make Germany ripe’ for its fate as ‘a colony of international capital’, to ‘soften up our people’ in order to make them ‘international slave workers’. He lamented that Germany was a ‘wage slave of international capital’. Germany was no more than a ‘colony of the international Jewish finance syndicate’, Hitler argued, thus making the German people ‘the slave of the outside world’. In April 1922, he fumed that ‘we practically no longer have an independent German Reich, but really just a colony of the world outside’. The reparations payments ordained by Versailles, he said, constituted the brutal theft of German labour. ‘Thus we have become the plaything of our enemies,’ Hitler concluded, ‘a slave people, of whom 10 million are working for the world outside for free.’119

All this was embedded in a broader, though idiosyncratic, critique of European imperialism. On the one hand, Hitler was bitterly critical of the British Empire. ‘Where was the law,’ he asked, ‘when England flooded China and India with opium and North America with spirits in order to undermine these people the better to dominate them?’ He also charged that Britain had ‘reduced the Irish people from 8.5 to 4.5 million [through the potato famine]’, and had ‘cynically allowed’ some 29,000 Boer women to die a miserable death in the ‘concentration camps of South Africa’. He paid black people the back-handed compliment that he would rather have ‘100 Negroes in the hall than one Jew’.120 On the other hand, Hitler objected not so much to colonialism as to what he would later call the ‘negrification’ of the Germans.121 ‘You don’t really need a pair of trousers,’ he had the Allies say, ‘the Negro doesn’t have one either.’ Germany itself, he complained, had become ‘the plantation of the interest of foreign capital’. It had fallen lower even than the ‘Negro Republic Liberia’, which at least enjoyed self-determination. Indeed, he lamented that ‘today any Hottentot state is able to dispose over Germany’, perhaps a reference to the fact that both Haiti and Liberia were signatories of the Versailles Treaty on the strength of their membership of the allied coalition. He feared, in short, that Germany would ‘soon be relegated to a position similar to that of India, Ireland or Egypt’. Germany, Hitler concluded, was completely enslaved, it was considered as ‘less than a Nigger [sic] state’.122

The notion that Germany was being enslaved and reduced to the status of an African colony was widespread at the time, not just in far right circles. Viktor Klemperer, a Jewish veteran of the same division in which Hitler had served, who was later a victim of Nazism, wrote that as ‘The way the Entente powers talk of and to Germany makes me as bitter as if I personally were being treated like a negro’;123 on another occasion he compared the situation of the Reich with that of the Congo. Many Germans experienced occupation, reparations and the presence of enemy colonial troops as a form not only of subjugation but of emasculation,124 a sentiment which extended from the far right to the SPD and even women’s rights groups concerned about sexual violence.125 The Weimar Germany in which Hitler operated was thus both colonized and post-colonial in an era of continuing western imperialism.126 Defeat by the western powers had turned the international racial order upside down.

There had in fact been long-standing Anglo-Saxon doubts about the whiteness of Germans. As far back as 1751, in his Observations concerning the increase of Mankind, peopling of countries etc., Benjamin Franklin had included them along with the Spaniards, Italians, French, Russians and Swedes as a people of ‘swarthy complexion’. He ‘excepted’ only the ‘Saxons’ – probably meaning the Lower-Saxons, whose ancestors had settled England. These, Franklin said, ‘with the English, make the principal body of White People on the face of the earth’. More recently, in 1916, the prominent American theorist Madison Grant published his lament for The Passing of the Great Race,127 which also identified Germans and Scandinavians as of clearly lower racial value than the Anglo-Celts, though preferable to eastern Europeans, Jews or blacks; of this, more later.

The sense of racial outrage at the treatment of Germany turned some National Socialists into anti-imperialists and sympathizers with the wretched of the earth, but not Hitler. In late 1922, British Intelligence reported that he attended a meeting of Egyptian, Turkish, Indian and Irish revolutionaries in Munich.128 He probably did so at the suggestion of Ernst Count Reventlow, an early Nazi who seems to have had some genuine regard for these movements as common victims of British imperialism. Karl Haushofer also supported the aspirations of Indian nationalists. Hitler, for his part, remained not only contemptuous of the rights of non-European peoples, but also sceptical of their political value in the contest against the might of Anglo-America.

Worse still than the old European imperialism of western powers, according to Hitler, was the Jewish aspiration to world domination, of which the Germans were the principal victims. Drawing on the Protocols of the Elders of Zion, he claimed to see a grand plan to control the world. The ultimate aim of policy towards Germany and other independent states, Hitler stated at the beginning 1921, was the creation of a ‘Jewish world state’. He came back to this theme repeatedly over the next two years, when he spoke of the ‘Jewish-imperialist plans for world domination’, the ‘Jewish world dictatorship’ and the ‘final aim [of the Jews]: world domination [and] the destruction of the national states’. In his notes for one speech, Hitler made the connections absolutely clear in point form: ‘World domination with a Jewish capital – Zion – that means world enslavement: world stock exchange – world press – world culture. World language. All for slaves under one master.’129 In this way, Hitler closed the circle of western imperialist, Jewish and capitalist enemies of the Reich.

Germany was by no means the only victim. Russia was in an even less enviable situation. The ‘international money powers’, he claimed, were after ‘Russia’s natural resources’. Bolshevism was integral to this aim, as it was in the German case. It was part of the ‘intention of Jewish big capital, to destroy Russia completely in order to maximize profits’. This is further evidence of Hitler’s attitude to communism, which he regarded as a disease rather than a military threat in its own right. Bolshevism had ‘destroyed’ Russia, by establishing the twelve-hour day, imposing ‘the Jewish knout’ and conducting a ‘mass murder of the intelligentsia’. Russia was thus ‘completely abandoned to hunger and poverty’. ‘In Russia,’ Hitler warned with reference to the famine there, ‘30 million so-called “proletarians” are cast down and have to scrabble in the grass for roots’ to eat. When the Soviet foreign minister, Chicherin, announced at the Genoa conference that western governments could invest in Russia, Hitler remarked that ‘international world capital was receiving permission to exploit and plunder these areas’, reducing the ‘ordinary Russian to nothing more than a job number’. ‘The whole of Russia today’, he concluded, ‘is nothing more than a destroyed culture and a colony ripe for exploitation by foreign capital.’130

It is in this context that Hitler’s evolving attitude to communism and the Soviet Union should be seen. At times, he suggested that Bolshevism and international capitalism were working together. He spoke of the way in which Jewish capitalism allegedly used Chinese ‘cultural guardians’ in Moscow, and black ‘hangmen’s assistants’ on the Rhine, while the Soviets in Genoa ‘walked arm in arm with big bankers’. The Jews, Hitler claimed, ‘had their apostles in both camps’ and thus agents on both the ‘right’ and the ‘left’.131 From time to time, Hitler claimed that communism was the main threat.132 It is also true that after the Bolshevik victory in the Russian Civil War, the threat of international communism loomed larger in his mind than it had in 1919.133 Hitler now called for ‘the overcoming and extermination of the Marxist world view’. ‘Developments in Russia must be watched closely,’ he warned, because once the communists had ‘consolidated their power’ they would ‘probably turn it against us’.134

Despite all this, Hitler still did not regard capitalism and communism simply as two equal sides of the same Jewish coin. He continued to see Bolshevism not so much as a threat in its own right as as an instrument of international Jewish capitalism to undermine the working of national economies and render them ripe for takeover by international finance capital (both Jewish and non-Jewish). Even after the end of the civil war, once Soviet power in Russia had been securely established, he saw Bolshevism primarily as a weapon in the armoury of international capitalism. ‘The north [of Germany],’ Hitler warned, was being assigned to ‘Bolshevism’, while the south was designated a ‘French Protectorate’. The purpose of the exercise, he claimed, was the ‘final subjection’ of 70 million Germans in order to turn them into the ‘worker for the whole world!’ ‘This,’ Hitler suggested, ‘is the final aim of the supranational stock exchange power.’135 More generally, his rhetoric and attention were still overwhelmingly directed towards the threat posed by the western powers and international finance capitalism.

For this reason, Hitler was bitterly opposed to any form of internationalism, not just because he despised it in principle, but because he considered it humbug. In part, this hostility was directed towards the German left, whose blind faith in universal principles, Hitler argued, had left Germany defenceless during the world war and its aftermath. For this reason, he argued, ‘[we should] free ourselves of the illusion of the [Socialist] International and [the idea of] the Fraternity of Peoples’. Hitler’s main objection to internationalism, however, was that it simply served the interests of the western imperial powers. Where was international law, he asked, when Louis XIV had plundered Germany in the late seventeenth century, when the British had bombarded neutral Copenhagen in 1807 and starved and oppressed the Irish, or when the Americans had displaced the native Indians. It had not escaped Hitler’s attention that ‘in the home of the inventor of the League of Nations [Wilson’s America] one rejects the League as a utopia, a madness’. There was not even a racial solidarity among whites, Hitler lamented, because France had sent ‘comrades from Africa in solidarity to enserf and muzzle the population on the Rhine’. For this reason, Hitler rejected the whole notion of international governance, claiming that ‘The League of Nations is only a holding company of the Entente which wants to secure its ill-gotten gains.’136

As if all this was not bad enough, Germany was also plagued by continuing internal weakness. Hitler condemned the ‘so-called battle against Berlin’ – which was a staple of Bavarian rhetoric across the parties and classes – as a ‘cover for the aim of catapulting Germany back into its former impotence and fragmentation through the elimination of the imperial capital’, and to cause her to ‘bleed to death’ through the creation of ‘two equally large rival individual states’ doomed to a condition of ‘perpetual fraternal strife’.137 Nor was this hostility merely rhetorical. Hitler’s first appearance in a Munich court was the result of a physical confrontation with the Bavarian particularist Otto Ballerstedt. In a two-hour peroration, he condemned Ballerstedt’s press agitation and accused him of aiming for the dissolution and destruction of the Reich. The Bavarian League (Bayernbund), Hitler argued, claimed ‘only to want the federal development of the German Reich’, but ‘in reality’, Ballerstedt was striking at Germany itself and was thus ‘pursuing the same aim that France had done for three hundred years’.138

Significantly, the first mission of his new paramilitary formation, undertaken even before it was christened the SA, was an attack not on the Jews, communists or Social Democrats, but on a meeting of Ballerstedt’s Bayernbund in the Löwenbräukeller in the summer of 1921 under the banner ‘we will not betray Bavaria’.139 Hitler led an assault in which Ballerstedt was manhandled and the police were eventually called to break up the fight. His violent behaviour earned him a short jail sentence.140 By contrast, it is not documented that Hitler ever personally laid hands on an individual Jew, either then or subsequently. Hitler’s campaign against Bavarian federalism in general and his vendetta against Ballerstedt in particular continued throughout the 1920s and remained a preoccupation until he had him killed during the ‘Night of the Long Knives’.

Hitler’s view of foreign policy was, as we have seen, strongly ideological. That said, he was also beginning to develop a keen sense of geopolitics. In part, this followed the prevailing discourse of Germany’s central location in Europe and her consequent vulnerability to ‘encirclement’. He spoke of ‘the position of our fatherland, which was geographically one of the most unfortunate in Europe’. Hitler inveighed repeatedly against the ‘encirclement attempts of the Entente against Germany’. Where Hitler went much further than the nationalist mainstream was over the growing question of space, the Raumfrage, references to which increased exponentially during the early 1920s. In mid April 1920, Hitler lamented that ‘the world was so unjustly distributed’. Four months later, he noted that Germany suffered from a crippling lack of space by comparison with Britain, which controlled about one-quarter of the entire globe. By March 1921, Hitler decried the injustice that Britain, with a smaller population, controlled ‘three-quarters of the entire world’, while more populous Germany had to make do with considerably less space. This sense of connection between Germany’s ‘disadvantageous military location’ and the ‘impossibility of securing the food supply in Europe’141 stayed with Hitler to the end.

The cause of this unequal distribution, he believed, was global capitalism and its associated system of world governance. ‘The international exploitation of capitalism must be combated’, Hitler demanded, as well as that of ‘international loan capital’. ‘We want to turn world slaves into world citizens,’ he announced. This required ‘the liberation of our German people from the fetters of its international world enslavement’. This in turn meant that Germany would have to regain its military freedom of action. ‘The German is either a free soldier,’ Hitler argued, ‘or a white slave.’142 He therefore called upon the German people to relearn the old adage that ‘whoever does not want to be a hammer must be an anvil’, adding that ‘we are an anvil today, and were being beaten until the anvil became a hammer’, that is a ‘German sword’. The idea that Germany must become a ‘hammer’ to avoid remaining an ‘anvil’ was a common trope at the time and one to which Hitler returned on a number of occasions.143

In short, Hitler saw the root of Germany’s evils in her external subjection. ‘Without liberating Germany from the chains of the peace treaties,’ he claimed, ‘there could be no chance of economic development for the nation.’ ‘The liberation of Germany,’ Hitler continued, was ‘only possible through national political cohesion at home and abroad.’144 To that extent he was an exponent of the traditional primacy of foreign policy, and his emphasis on Germany’s geopolitical exposure and her lack of ‘space’ was a commonplace of the time. It is also clear that he saw the enslavement of the Reich as the product not merely of enemy strength but of German weakness. This dictated a different sort of primacy of foreign policy, this time directed towards the mobilization of all the nation’s domestic resources against the external enemy, another familiar theme in Prusso-German political thinking.145 Any prospect of a vigorous German foreign policy, Hitler claimed, ‘is predicated on a radical domestic political change’.146

In this context, the defeat of 1918 could be put to good use. Just as the catastrophe of 1806 had led to the Wars of Liberation in 1813, Hitler hoped that defeat in 1918 and the humiliation of Versailles would be followed by a national revival; ‘fall’, ‘purification’ and ‘rebirth’ were common tropes in Weimar Germany.147 Hitler’s rhetoric consciously mimicked that of the great patriotic martyr Palm, a Nuremberg bookseller who was executed by Napoleon in Hitler’s hometown of Braunau for penning the rousing tract ‘Germany in its deepest humiliation’. It was probably in this context that Hitler was first exposed to Carl von Clausewitz’s notion that the failure to put up a strong resistance to the foreigner would make subsequent revival more difficult. He strongly believed that Germany’s capitulation in 1918 had been premature, that her leaders should have mobilized a last-ditch French-style levée en masse which would have inspired later generations to resist. This belief was to remain with Hitler throughout his career, and became relevant again as military defeat beckoned once more in 1944–5.148

Hitler rejected the standard solutions to Germany’s predicament. He wondered whether Zionism might be a solution to the ‘Jewish Question’, but quickly came down against the idea. Hitler saw in Jewish aspirations for statehood proof of their sense of national identity, despite all their international rhetoric. ‘The Jews,’ he wrote, were ‘one people’, who ‘identified themselves as a people (Zionists)’. The ‘proof’ of this, Hitler continued, was ‘Palestine’. Hitler was deeply sceptical, though, that the Zionist project could succeed, because it was completely inimical to the nature of Jewry. The ‘Aryan’ concept of the state, he claimed, was ‘territorial’, while the parasitic Jews could only feed off existing states, not establish one of their own. The Jew ‘cannot build a state’, he argued, because he was ‘incapable of building a state’. Moreover, even if such a state could be erected, Hitler believed that it would merely increase the Jewish threat. ‘The planned Zionist state “Jerusalem”,’ he argued, should not be regarded as an area of Jewish national settlement, but rather as ‘the headquarters for Jewish world power plans for exploitation and nefarious activity’. For the rest of his life, in fact, Hitler stuck to the view that the establishment of a Jewish state, in Palestine or anywhere else, would simply create another focal point for world Jewry.149

He was also deeply critical of the plans of past imperial and present Weimar governments to grow or trade their way out of Germany’s predicament. In the 1890s, Chancellor Caprivi had famously said that Germany must export goods if it were not to export people. In the 1920s, Stresemann and other leaders urged Germans to seek fulfilment through economic activity, and argued in favour of what we would today call a more geo-economic strategy to defend the national interest. Hitler rejected the ‘purely economic way of looking at things’, which he called the ‘greatest mistake of German policy in the past decades’. ‘The hoped-for peaceful seizure of [world] power through our economy,’ he continued, ‘has been a failure.’ ‘Industrialization [and] the peaceful capture of the world,’ Hitler claimed, were doomed to fail, because one ‘did not consider that there can be no economic policy without the sword [and] no industrialization without power’. ‘The economy,’ he explained, ‘is only of secondary importance.’ ‘The main thing,’ Hitler stressed, ‘is national pride, [and] love of country.’150 The primacy of politics in Hitler’s thinking could not have been more clearly expressed.

Nor did Hitler want a restoration of the Second Empire. He was strongly critical of the failure of the traditional right to reach out to the alienated German working class and re-integrate them into the national fold. ‘Why did one not give the people universal franchise’, he asked with reference to the restrictive pre-1918 Prussian ‘Three Class’ electoral law, which advantaged the propertied elite, given that one was asking them to sacrifice their lives on the battlefield. The key question, Hitler stated, was not the state form itself, but what arrangement served the German people best in its quest to escape external subjection. Here there was remarkably little shift in his views throughout the early 1920s. The issue was not, he argued in April 1920, whether Germany should be ‘a monarchy or a Republic’, but rather ‘which state form was best for the people’. ‘We need a dictator of pure genius if we want to rise again.’ ‘We do not fetishize forms of government,’ he explained in November 1921, ‘the only thing that is decisive is the spirit which sustains it. The only consideration must be the welfare of the entire German people. In July 1922 he called for ‘a German Reich, a Germanic state, and for all we care a German Republic’. In 1923, as Germany was racked by internal unrest, separatist movements, and renewed foreign occupation, he said that ‘the form of the state took second place to the necessity of the fatherland’.151 Hitler’s constitutional thinking was not indebted to the glories of the imperial past, but focused on the needs of the present and the future.

Germany’s salvation, he claimed, must begin with a profound inner transformation. ‘First the internal enemy must be destroyed’, he claimed, ‘then it will be easy to crush the external enemy.’ Hitler’s domestic economic policy was vague at this stage, almost skeletal, but its general drift was unmistakable. He called for the nationalization of the entire banking and financial system, and thus the ‘breaking of interest slavery’, a term he had borrowed from Gottfried Feder.152 His aim here was not so much public ownership in the Marxist sense, as national control over the levers of international financial manipulation. Hitler had not yet called for the physical destruction of world Jewry, but the elimination of German Jewry was already implicit, at least in the context of a future war, in case they might once again act as fifth columnists.153 In the Gemlich letter of September 1919, he had already called for the ‘complete removal of the Jews’,154 and in a letter of August 1920, one correspondent reports that Hitler believed that ‘the bacillus’ must be ‘exterminated’ in order to ensure the survival of the German people.155 One way or the other, his domestic policy was essentially foreign policy.

Hitler was much more detailed on the need to rebuild the inner unity of Germany, especially relations between the classes. The reconciliation of the German worker to the nation after his exclusion in the Second Empire was at the heart of this project. Hitler defended the workers against standard conservative charges that they were ‘knaves without a fatherland’ who had shirked in the war. There should ‘finally’ be a struggle, he called, against the destructive spirit which Germany absorbed in the course of the century, which was ‘the spirit of class interest and pride of rank’. For this reason, Hitler was a strong supporter of Bismarck’s pioneering social legislation, though he felt it had not gone far enough. One listener reported how Hitler ‘blamed the old state’ for having ‘treated its advanced social legislation as a matter of charity rather than entitlement’, and for having ‘failed to bridge the gap between mental and physical workers’, and instead made itself the ‘advocate of the established order’. As a result, the Kaiser’s Germany had failed to protect the people from the corruption of ‘Jewish mammonism’.156

Hitler therefore espoused ‘socialism’, but not as the Social Democrats, the Independent Socialists or the communists knew it. ‘National’ and ‘social’, he argued, were ‘two identical terms’. ‘True socialism teaches the most extreme performance of one’s duties,’ Hitler explained, ‘real socialism in the highest form of the Volk.’ ‘Marxism is not socialism,’ he claimed, ‘I shall take socialism away from the socialists.’ This was what the words ‘worker’ and ‘socialist’ in the party’s name meant. There was ‘no room’, Hitler said, for ‘class-conscious proletarians’ in the party, just as there was no place either for a ‘class-conscious bourgeois’.157 He repeatedly reached out to workers.158 All this explains Hitler’s ambivalence towards communists, whom he regarded not only as good men led astray, but as temperamentally more congenial than the lukewarm bourgeois who clove to the safe middle path. ‘I would rather be strung up in a Bolshevik Germany,’ he averred, ‘than be made blissful in a French southern Germany.’ One observer noted that Hitler ‘was courting the communists’, saying that ‘the two extremes, communists and students, should be brought together’. The centre ground, he claimed, was full of useless ‘lickspittles’ (Schleimsieder), whereas ‘the communists had fought for their ideal with weapons and only been led astray’. They only need to be led towards the ‘national cause’.159 With German communists, Hitler hated the sin, but loved the sinner.

If Hitler saw Germany’s salvation in a domestic revival, this did not make him blind towards foreign models. Indeed, the international context within which all his thinking was embedded made him particularly interested in the strength of rival powers. Hitler’s principal model here was Britain. ‘The British,’ he admitted, ‘are entitled to feel proud as a people.’ Britain’s vitality was based on the ‘extraordinary brilliance’ of her population. They had the ‘British national sentiment which our people lacks so much’ and they had maintained ‘racial purity in the colonies’, by which he meant the general absence of intermarriage between settlers and colonial administrators and the native population. Unlike the belated German national state after 1871, Britain enjoyed ‘a centuries-long political-diplomatic tradition’. Unlike Germany, she had grasped the true connection between politics and economics. ‘England has recognized the first principle of state health and existence,’ Hitler argued, ‘and has acted for centuries according to the principle that economic power must be converted into political power’ and ‘that political power must be used to protect economic life’. ‘There are things that permit the British to exercise world domination,’ he explained: ‘a highly developed sense of national identity, clear racial unity, and finally the ability to convert economic power into political power, and political power into economic power’.160

There were, however, two profound contradictions in Hitler’s thinking about Britain. First of all, he dubbed the country a ‘second Jewry’,161 which sat ill with his otherwise respectful attitude. Hitler regarded British Jews as primarily urban, and so well integrated ‘that they appeared to be British’, which prevented the growth of anti-Semitism there. If true, then this might – in Hitler’s reasoning – account for British hostility to the Reich, but he did not explain why this uniquely high level of Jewish penetration did not render her even weaker than Germany. This paradox at the heart of Hitler’s view of the United Kingdom was never resolved. Secondly, there was the apparent contradiction that Britain had risen to greatness under the parliamentary system he so despised. There are grounds for believing, however, that he believed representative government suitable for the British but not for the Germans. ‘If all Germans belonged to the tribe of the Lower Saxons [that is the tribe from which the English trace much of their descent – and the only one which Benjamin Franklin had considered fully white]’, he remarked, ‘the republican state form might be the most suited’ to enabling the state ‘to weather all storms and to draw on the best elements for running the country’. ‘Because that is not the case [in Germany],’ Hitler continued, ‘the German people will always need an idol in the shape of a monarch.’162 It was an early indication of Hitler’s profound anxiety about German racial fragmentation in the face not so much of Jewry, as of the globally dominant Anglo-Saxons.

Hitler was also increasingly interested in the United States, which he came to regard as the repository of (in his view) all the best European racial elements, including the supposedly better sort of Germans. He remarked that, unlike Germany, which admitted swarms of eastern Jews, ‘yellow people are not allowed to settle in America’.163 In August 1922 he was introduced to Kurt Lüdecke, who had spent some time on business in the United States and whom Hitler would later send as an emissary across the Atlantic.164 In the middle of that month, Rudolf Hess wrote on Hitler’s behalf to the legendary automobile manufacturer, and fervent anti-Semite, Henry Ford for support.165 Moreover, Anglo-America was also becoming interested in Hitler. He had appeared on the radar of the British Foreign Office as early as 1920, and by later 1922 he was firmly established in their minds as a figure to be reckoned with, but there was no attempt to make contact with him.166

By contrast, the United States embassy, probably influenced by Mussolini’s coup in Italy, decided to take a closer look at this rising politician. In November 1922, the US assistant military attaché to Germany, Captain Truman Smith, came down from Berlin and met with Hitler on 20 November. Hitler argued that he was America’s best chance of keeping the Bolsheviks out of Germany, condemned monarchy as ‘an absurdity’, claimed that ‘dictatorship’ was the only answer, denied any plans for a war against France and railed against ‘the present abuse of capital’.167 To be sure, these were all things that the American wanted to hear – apart from the remarks on capitalism – but they also represented Hitler’s genuine views. One way or the other, the two men – both Wagnerians – seem to have hit it off. A ‘marvelous demagogue’, Smith wrote a few days later. ‘I have rarely listened to such a logical and fanatical man. His powers over the mob must be immense.’168

It was Smith who put Hitler in touch with Ernst ‘Putzi’ Hanfstaengl immediately after their meeting. Hanfstaengl epitomized the relationship between Germany and the United States, which was to play such a central role in Hitler’s thinking and policy over the next twenty years or so. Hanfstaengl’s maternal grandfather, Wilhelm Heine, had emigrated to America as a liberal refugee from the failed 1848 revolution. He reached the rank of brigadier-general in the Union Army and served as a pallbearer at Lincoln’s funeral.169 Hanfstaengl’s father owned a large art business in Munich. Hanfstaengl himself was partly brought up in the United States, where he attended Harvard University and was personally acquainted with the young Franklin Delano Roosevelt. From 1912, he had run the New York branch of his father’s business. Hanfstaengl spent the war – which killed a brother fighting on the German side – in America. The business was ruined by the American entry into the conflict and the associated ‘Trading with the Enemy Act’. Hanfstaengl became an enemy alien: the insider had become an outsider.

Over the next year, Hanfstaengl and Hitler were in almost daily contact. Hanfstaengl impressed upon Hitler not only the immense industrial and demographic power of the United States, but the fact that every German had a close relative there or in some other part of the world, something of which Hitler was already well aware. He argued that the party needed to reach out to the world through a coordinated foreign press policy.170 Hanfstaengl now became effectively the NSDAP’s external media liaison officer. He also entertained Hitler with his piano, playing from a repertoire which included not only Wagner but Harvard football marches. Captain Mayr later recalled the ‘American methods of salesmanship’ used to push out the Nazi message.171 The United States thus increasingly became a model as well as a rival. Of course, as with Great Britain, Hitler’s simultaneous insistence on the power of Jewry in the United States and the underlying racial power of the United States contradicted his own theories.172 Once again, this paradox was never resolved, though it is the key to understanding both the origins of his whole world view and the events twenty years later which led to his downfall.

More immediately relevant to Germany’s predicament were the dramatic recent examples of national revival, where peoples had bounced back from decline or catastrophic defeat. Perhaps surprisingly, Hitler was open to inspiration from France. ‘The French Revolution was national and constructive,’ he argued, ‘whereas the German one wanted to be international and to destroy everything.’ Hitler took a similarly positive view of later French radicalism. ‘When France collapsed at Sedan,’ he wrote, ‘one made a revolution to rescue the sinking tricolour!’ ‘The war was waged with new energy,’ he continued, and ‘the will to defend the state created the French Republic in 1870’, thus restoring ‘French national honour’. This shows that Hitler’s fundamental objection was not to the ‘ideas of 1789’, which he hardly ever mentioned. His real trauma – to which we will return later – was the fragmentation of Germany beginning with the Treaty of Westphalia in 1648.173

Hitler’s most immediate outside inspirations, though, were the two countries which had undergone a fundamental domestic transformation since the end of the war. The first of these was Kemal Atatürk’s Turkey, which came back from the brink of partition to see off the Greeks in 1922.174 Germany had sunk so low, Hitler remarked in mid September 1922, scarcely ten days after Atatürk had recaptured Smyrna, that ‘one must say today that the simplest Turk is more of a human being than we are’. Secondly, he enthused about Italy, where Mussolini and his fascists seized power in late October 1922 through his iconic ‘March on Rome’. Shortly after, Hitler remarked coyly: ‘one calls us German fascists’, adding that he did not want to go into ‘whether his comparison is true’. He was soon more forthright, demanding ‘the establishment of a national government in Germany on the fascist model’. A year later, he told an interviewer from the Daily Mail that ‘If a German Mussolini is given to Germany, people would fall down on their knees and worship him more than Mussolini has ever been worshipped.’175

Hitler now broke with the mainstream nationalist and revisionist consensus, which demanded that Italy surrender German-speaking South Tyrol. He argued that any new ‘national government’ would only be able to establish itself if it secured some major victories. These would be hard to achieve on the economic front, Hitler believed, and so the best bet was the incorporation (Anschluss) of Austria. This would require not only British but Italian approval. Moreover, Germany should align itself more generally with Mussolini’s Italy, ‘which has experienced its national rebirth and has a great future’. For both of these reasons, he condemned the ‘palaver’ about South Tyrol of the other nationalists in the strongest terms, emphasizing that ‘there are no sentiments in politics, only the cool calculation of interest’.176 Significantly, Hitler’s support for an Italian alliance was primarily driven by geopolitics, not ideological affinity, because his first remarks to that effect were made not only well before the fascist takeover but also before his first mention of Mussolini.177

Hitler sometimes liked to say that the hard part was reviving Germany domestically; thereafter, dealing with her foreign enemies would be easy. In reality, he was under no illusions. A nationalist revival would make Germany ‘capable of making an alliance’ again, but this was only a necessary, not a sufficient condition to secure her position in the world. That would require actual allies. Temperamentally, Hitler was not averse to a Russian alliance, preferably without the communists, but if necessary with them. ‘We must try to connect to the national [and] anti-Semitic Russia,’ he demanded, ‘not to the Soviets.’ That said, in August 1920, nineteen years before the Hitler–Stalin Pact, he remarked that he would ‘ally not only with Bolshevism but even with the devil in order to move against France and Britain’.178 He feared, however, that this attempt to break free through a Russo-German pact would simply be crushed by the British and French. A British alliance was far more desirable, if that country could be kept out of the hands of the Jews.

Instead, Hitler looked further afield, at least conceptually. He hoped that he could confront the forces of international financial capitalism with the united front of the ‘International of the productive’, to mobilize ‘voices for the defence of the rights of the productive peoples’. Germany would spearhead this effort, by purifying itself first. Hitler demanded no less than a pan-Aryan international anti-Semitic front. Inverting the Communist Manifesto’s famous slogan, he announced: ‘not proletarians of all countries unite, but anti-Semites of all countries unite!’ ‘Aryans and anti-Semites of all peoples,’ he elaborated, ‘unite to fight against the Jewish race of exploiters and oppressors of all peoples.’179 He repeated these injunctions in various forms on many occasions throughout the early 1920s,180 and indeed beyond. Though Hitler never suggested that Nazism was ‘for export’, he was clear from the beginning that his programme required a high degree of international cooperation among international anti-Semites to compensate for Germany’s weakness.

In the long run he believed that none of this would make any difference unless Germany solved the question of ‘space’. At first, Hitler put his faith in colonial expansion, or restoration, as the way in which to solve the question of food supply and emigration.181 ‘Thanks to the loss of colonies,’ he lamented, ‘our industry is on the verge of collapse.’ Germany had been punching well below its weight before 1914, he argued, because it had missed out on overseas expansion. There was an important shift in Hitler’s spatial thinking around 1922, however. He came to see eastward expansion as the solution. ‘In terms of foreign policy,’ Hitler said in December 1922, ‘Germany should prepare for a purely continental policy’ and ‘avoid violating British interests’. ‘One should try to destroy Russia with the help of Britain,’ he continued. ‘Russia,’ Hitler went on, ‘would provide sufficient soil for German settlers and a wide area of activity for German industry.’182 Though he had not yet alighted on the phrase Lebensraum, a further major plank of Hitler’s thinking, the need for territorial enlargement to the east in order to secure the food supply of the German people and staunch the haemorrhage of emigration, was now in place. This was a policy primarily driven by fear and emulation of Anglo-America rather than anxiety about eastern communism or a desire to eliminate the Jews living there.

During the early 1920s, the broad outline of Hitler’s domestic and foreign policy became increasingly clear, and most of it remained fixed until the end of his life. His hatred of the Jews was unmistakable, so was his fear of the western powers, which had evolved from rank hatred into something like awe. His admiration for the British and – as yet less markedly – the North Americans was evident. Hitler’s elective affinity with Mussolini and others was freely avowed. There were, however, some surprising absences. For a man of strong subsequent opinions on the subject, he had said remarkably little so far – beyond a few swipes at Jewish Cubism, Futurism and ‘kitsch’ generally – about the role of culture in Germany’s revival. Hitler had said much less than one might expect about the Soviet Union, and his fear of communism was dwarfed by that of capitalism. Even more remarkably, though there were some routine scatter-gun imprecations against the Poles in specific contexts to do with disputed territories in the east,183 he had shown no signs of a blanket hostility towards Slavs in general or the Russian people in particular. What later became the Lebensraum conception was visible, but only in outline. His intellectual formation was not yet complete.

His authority in the party, by contrast, was now well established. The ‘Führer principle’ commanded widespread acceptance, even if his writ did not run equally in every part of his fiefdom. ‘The Führer,’ he said in late July 1922, ‘must be an idealist, not least because he is leading those against whom everything has apparently conspired.’ ‘Nobody, great or small, needs to be ashamed of obedience,’ he argued in mid November 1922 with regard to the SA, because ‘they can elect their own leaders,’ and those who are not worthy can be ‘cast out’. ‘Hitler took the view,’ one witness to a speech given a few days later noted ‘that only the leader was responsible to the mass. Commissions, committees’ and other entities would ‘slow down’ not ‘encourage the movement’. Occasionally, he reverted to the rhetoric of the ‘drummer’, for example when he lamented that Germany had not had a ‘drum’ like Lloyd George during the war.184

For the first eighteen months or so after his political emergence in 1919, Hitler seems to have conceived of the revival of Germany as a long-term process, in which he would play a supporting role, and which he might not live to witness himself. Even after his shift from Trommler to Führer in mid 1921, he advocated a steady process of ideological transformation rather than an insurrectionary takeover. During this period Hitler was an attentist, waiting for his propaganda and the march of events to turn the German population in his direction. ‘People are still far too well off,’ he remarked to Hanfstaengl, ‘only when things are really bad will they flock to us.’185

In the second half of 1922, however, in the first of many temporal shifts in Hitler’s career, he began to envisage a much shorter timeline. A new urgency crept into his rhetoric and actions; evolutionary languor gave way to revolutionary fervour. Germany, he argued, needed a ‘dictator’, that is, ‘a man who if necessary can go over blood and corpses’. His regime ‘could then be replaced by a form of government similar to that of the Lord Protector’, which in turn could be followed by a monarchy.186 This recourse to English history, which gives a sense of Hitler’s range of historical reference, was a clever pitch for conservative backing for a coup which would give him dictatorial power, but held out the prospect of an evolution via a German Cromwell and a General Monk to the restoration of the monarchy. Driving this process was Hitler’s growing conviction not only that he alone could save the country, but that a perfect storm of domestic challenges and external threats made it imperative that he do so soon. Time was speeding up. Germany was out of joint, and Hitler was more and more convinced that only he could put things right.
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Part Two



FRAGMENTATION

In 1923–7, Hitler grappled with the forces of disintegration in Germany. The most immediately threatening of these remained German particularism, which was largely indistinguishable in his mind from separatism. Hitler was also deeply exercised by the supposed racial fragmentation of the German people. This he attributed partly to deep political divisions, aggravated by foreign and Jewish support for parliamentarism, and partly to the historical legacy of confessional strife. Hitler attempted to head off these dangers through a putsch in Munich. In his subsequent speeches and writing, Hitler contrasted this miserable vista with the natural coherence of the Anglo-American world, which now dominated Germany more than ever, not just militarily, but economically and culturally as well. Last but not least, during his prison term at Landsberg and after his release, Hitler fought the threatened fragmentation of the NSDAP. It was only with difficulty that Hitler re-established his authority over the ideological direction of the movement and the party apparatus, a process that was not yet complete by the late 1920s.




4

The Struggle for Bavaria

Weimar Germany faced many challenges in its early years, but the most existential was the threat of territorial disintegration. In the Rhineland and the Palatinate, the French authorities made sustained efforts to encourage groups which favoured regional autonomy, or even independence, at the expense of the Reich as a whole.1 In Hanover and other parts of Germany there was a revival of traditional monarchist and anti-Prussian sentiment directed against Berlin. The main threat to the authority of the central state, however, came from Bavaria. This was partly a question of ideology and culture, pitting the Catholic, traditional and more conservative Bavarians against the often more Protestant or progressive areas of Germany. The main point at issue, though, was constitutional. In the Second Reich established by Bismarck in 1871, Munich had secured extensive reserved rights, many of which were lost to the Weimar Republic in 1919. The Bavarian People’s Party, the principal political force in the region, was committed by its ‘Bamberg Programme’ of 1920 to a revision of the constitution in favour of greater powers for the constituent states, in effect a return to the status quo ante. Much of the early history of the Weimar Republic, in fact, was dominated by the question of the relations between Bavaria and the Reich, a conflict in which the threat of armed force was always implicit and sometimes overt.

These tensions were aggravated by a whole raft of other problems, which escalated throughout 1923. In January, the French occupied the Rhineland in retaliation for Germany’s failure to keep up with her reparations payments. The Reich government proclaimed ‘passive resistance’. There was intense social unrest, partly driven by galloping inflation, which wiped out middle-class savings and ruined pensions, and partly by the German Communist Party. A workers’ revolt or a nationalist coup, or both, seemed likely. To make matters worse, there was widespread fear that the French would seek to occupy other parts of the country, ostensibly to enforce the peace terms, but actually to keep Germany in permanent subjection. For all their dreams of returning to the offensive, the government and the military leadership were profoundly conscious of the Reich’s military weakness; the disarmament clauses at Versailles had left Germany defenceless.2 This forced them to rely on paramilitary formations, both to suppress internal unrest and to provide some sort of credible resistance to a French invasion. Chancellor Cuno and General von Seeckt drew up a plan for a secret mobilization, in which the Reichswehr stored weapons and supported the paramilitaries. Hitler, like many other leaders, agreed to place his SA under army command in the event of a French attack. To that extent, the NSDAP was already part of the national establishment.3

Hitler’s position at this time was complicated. He was still virtually unknown in most of Germany. The main Berlin newspapers ignored him and his party. They didn’t even report on the riotous Deutscher Tag at Coburg, whose resonance was confined to south Germany.4 Hitler had very few funders outside of Bavaria, with the notable exception of the Ruhr industrial baron Fritz Thyssen, who contributed substantially in the course of 1923.5 That said, within the non-particularist Bavarian right-wing nationalist milieu, Hitler now enjoyed a commanding position. He was well known in Munich, which Thomas Mann described in a 1923 letter to the American journal The Dial as ‘the city of Hitler’. His speeches drew large and ecstatic crowds. Karl Alexander von Müller, who heard him speak for the first time at the Löwenbräukeller in late January 1923, describes the ‘burning core of hypnotic mass excitement’6 created by the flags, the relentless marching music and the short warm-up speeches by lesser party figures before the man himself appeared amid a flurry of salutes. Hitler would then be interrupted at almost every sentence by tempestuous applause, before departing for his next engagement.

Over the next few months, the tempo of Nazi events and activities increased. There were in excess of 20,000 NSDAP members at the start of 1923, and that figure more than doubled over the next ten months to 55,000;7 the SA nearly quadrupled from around 1,000 men to almost 4,000 during the same period.8 Hitler himself was so prominent that the NSDAP was widely known as the ‘Hitler-Movement’, the term under which his activities were now recorded by the Bavarian police. He had become a cult figure. The Völkischer Beobachter became a daily paper in February 1923, giving preferential treatment to the printing of Hitler’s speeches. Two months later, it began marking the Führer’s birthday, an honour not accorded any other Nazi leader.9 He had long given up the humble role of drummer.10 Hitler spoke once again of the need for a dictator. The German people, he claimed, ‘are waiting today for the man who calls out to them: Germany, rise up [and] march’.11 There was no doubt from the context and rhetoric that he planned to play that role himself. His followers styled him not merely the leader of the national movement but Germany’s saviour and future leader. The Oberführer of the SA, Hermann Göring, acclaimed him at his birthday rally on 20 April 1923 as the ‘beloved Führer of the German freedom movement’. Alfred Rosenberg described him simply as ‘Germany’s leader [Führer]’.12

Conscious of his tenuous position within the Catholic Bavarian mainstream, Hitler continued to try to build bridges to the Church, or at least to its adherents. ‘We want,’ Hitler pledged, ‘to see a state based on true Christianity. To be a Christian does not mean a cowardly turning of the cheek, but to be a struggler for justice and a fighter against all forms of injustice.’13 The NSDAP did succeed in making some inroads among Catholic students at the university and the peasantry and in winning over quite a few clerics, including for a while Cardinal Faulhaber, but for the most part Hitler made little headway.14 He also struggled to connect with the Bavarian aristocracy, which remained firmly focused on the Wittelsbach dynasty, especially Crown Prince Rupprecht, a credible figure on account of his role as a commander in the war.15

The French occupation of the Rhineland, the dire economic situation which escalated into a hyperinflation by the middle of the year, and the resulting rise in communist and other extreme left-wing agitation made Hitler’s breeze blow stronger. Albert Leo Schlageter, executed in late May 1923, the great martyr of the nationalist resistance against the French occupiers in the Ruhr, was appropriated by the Nazis, even though it is unclear whether he was ever a member of the party.16 That said, Hitler refused to join the cross-party non-violent Ruhrkampf against France. He argued that the real culprits lay in Berlin, not Paris. Shortly after the French struck, Hitler called on his audience in the Zirkus Krone to pursue ‘a general settling of accounts with the domestic political enemies’; the slogan should be ‘not down with France, but down with the November criminals’. ‘No battle abroad,’ he elaborated on another occasion, ‘until victory has been secured at home.’ Moreover, Hitler interpreted the French move within his established framework of an international capitalist plot against the Reich. France, he claimed, was ‘in cahoots with international high finance’ to subjugate Germany and seize her lands. Rejecting the call for national solidarity, Hitler was playing on a much larger stage. ‘Down with the other parties, down with the unity front,’ he demanded, ‘that is the slogan, and the growth of anti-Semitism in England and France is more important than the struggle for the Ruhr.’17

In this perfervid atmosphere, Hitler deepened his links with the various paramilitary organizations in Bavaria, and the Reichswehr command in Munich. Under the patronage of Ernst Röhm, in whose Reichswehr office they met, the SA, the Bund Oberland, the Organisation Niederbayern, the Reichsflagge and Organisation Lenz formed a ‘working group’ in mid March 1923. The military command was entrusted to Hermann Kriebel, but the political direction largely devolved to Hitler. The Reichswehr Commander in Munich, General Otto von Lossow, introduced Hitler to the army chief of staff, Hans von Seeckt, in the Bavarian capital on 11 March 1923. The meeting was not a success. Hitler made a wild speech offering his support for an immediate military coup against the Reich government.18 At Röhm’s request, he produced a memorandum on the political situation five weeks later.19 This warned that ‘time’ was running out: France would soon have Bolshevized Germany and thus completed its subjection. Now, Hitler argued, was the moment to ‘seize power’ and ‘brutally cleanse’ the country of its domestic enemies. The move from attentism to revolutionary activism, which had begun towards the end of the previous year, was now very evident.

During this period, Hitler continued to elaborate and develop his strategic thinking. Throughout 1923, he lambasted international capitalism – Jewish and non-Jewish – as the source of Germany’s ills. Hitler provided a brief foreword to Gottfried Feder’s book on the subject describing it as a ‘catechism’ of National Socialism.20 The salience of anti-capitalism, fears of expropriation and exploitation and enslavement by foreign masters is very clear in the party’s ‘work of the committee for food security of the National Socialist movement’, which Hitler blessed in the summer of 1923. It defined the ‘internal enemy’ as ‘profiteering in the system of the national economy’, the ‘idea of class conflict’ and ‘immoral tendencies in government and law-making’. It lamented the crucifixion of the German middle class by the ‘massive fraud’ of ‘our money economy’, the general ‘spirit of speculation’ and the ‘terror of the capitalist idea’. The document made no direct mention of Bolshevism or the Soviet Union. It recommended – with Hitler’s approval – that the state protect the ‘basic assets of the nation’, namely ‘foodstuffs and manpower’ through ‘an anti-capitalist legislation in the fields of land and settlement, housing, but also in the first instance in the field of the supply of necessities’. This would require the ‘exclusion of foreign capital from German land and soil, businesses and cultural assets’.21

Like the Ludendorff circle, Hitler was much less worried about the fate of German minorities and the peripheral lands of the Reich than about the fate of the core area, which he believed to be threatened with subjection and even extinction.22 Hitler was also beginning to look at long-term solutions to Germany’s predicament. He rejected the common notion of an ‘internal’ colonization of sparsely populated German lands in favour of territorial expansion. ‘The [re-]distribution of land alone,’ he warned in the spring of 1923, ‘cannot bring relief. The living conditions of a nation can at the end of the day only be improved through the political will to expand.’23 The concept of Lebensraum is already clearly visible here, though the term itself was not used.

Throughout the spring and summer of 1923, Hitler steadily became more aggressive. In early March 1923 there was a meeting of paramilitary formations in Munich at which Hermann Esser suggested that if the French advanced across the Rhine, the Entente should be informed that all Jews would be interned and shot if they did not withdraw.24 It is not clear whether this thought originally came from Hitler, but if it did it would be the first example of his subsequent strategy of using the Jews as hostages for the good behaviour of the western powers. In mid April 1923, a massive joint paramilitary exercise was held at the Fröttmaninger Heide near Freimann, followed by a march to the government quarter in Munich. A fortnight later, on May Day, there was a serious confrontation with organized labour at the Oberwiesenfeld. Hitler encouraged this escalation. He personally ordered the Sturmabteilungen not merely to defend their own assemblies, by beating up hecklers, but also to disrupt those of their enemies. Hitler further instructed them to abuse Jews on the streets and in cafés.25 Rumours abounded that the NSDAP and the nationalist organizations would ‘march on Berlin’, clean out the stables there and establish a government capable of facing down the Entente.

Hitler also worked to expand his international links. These were partly designed to secure funding. One of the figures of whom Hitler had high hopes was the American automobile tycoon and Democratic Party Congressional candidate Henry Ford, who not only symbolized the kind of national productive capitalism he so admired but was an active anti-Semite into the bargain. His book, translated as Der internationale Jude (1921), had been a great success in Germany.26 It was well known at the time that Hitler kept a portrait of Ford in his office, and there was talk of inviting the American to speak.27 His overtures to Ford were a failure. According to Robert D. Murphy, US vice consul in Munich, who met Hitler in early March 1923, ‘Mr Ford’s organization had so far made no money contributions to the party’ and ‘his funds were principally contributed by patriotic Germans living abroad’.28 Press reports spoke of Nazi hopes for ‘America’ and a joint struggle against Jews and capitalism.29 At the end of August 1923, Hitler travelled to Switzerland in search of financial backing. ‘Hitler is very engaging,’ one of the ladies of the house of a wealthy Swiss supporter noted in her diary, ‘his whole body trembles when he speaks,’ which he did ‘wonderfully’. Hitler told the Swiss general Wille: ‘I will strike in the autumn.’30

Hitler’s other motivation was to persuade the great powers to tolerate the rise of the NSDAP and to accept the outcome of any revolutionary action. His main targets here were the Americans and Italy. In April 1923, he told the prominent German-American journalist Karl von Wiegand that he rejected the claims of ‘Bolshevik’ Berlin ‘just as the American colonists of Washington’s times refused to appear before the courtly tribunal of George III’.31 In June 1923, the Völkischer Beobachter formally announced that the NSDAP would not insist on the return of South Tyrol by Italy. In August 1923, Hitler sent Lüdecke to Italy to make contact with the fascist regime, but without success.32 Hitler tried to win over the Americans through a series of interviews. In mid August 1923 he gave a fire-breathing interview to the New York World promising a ‘fascist dictatorship’ and demanding that ‘officialdom must be reduced to a minimum’, perhaps a sop to the ‘small government’ preferences of his American readers.33

These overtures suggest that Hitler’s overwhelmingly negative image of Anglo-America had given way to a more positive attitude. This was partly tactically motivated, because he realized that his domestic aims could only be achieved with the support or at least the toleration of London and Washington. It was also partly driven by a shift in his strategic conception, which saw Britain less and less as the ‘absolute enemy’ of 1919–20 and more as a potential ally. A large part of Hitler’s shift, however, seems to have been driven by a much broader engagement with the American ‘way of life’, probably the result of prolonged exposure to Hanfstaengl, with whom he was in almost daily contact at this time. This was reflected in the new large ‘American’ format given to the Völkischer Beobachter on 29 August 1923, which was much remarked upon at the time. Not everybody was happy with this trend or Hanfstaengl’s associated swagger and American ‘slang’. Friedrich Plumer, an early Nazi who later broke with Hitler, accused Hanfstaengl of ‘Americanizing’ the movement.34

Despite these strides, Hitler was now under severe pressure. Relations with the Munich authorities were extremely poor. He had already been imprisoned twice, and at the start of the year he was hauled in before the police to explain his behaviour at Coburg.35 The Bavarian interior minister Schweyer attempted to ban the NSDAP party congress in Munich a fortnight later, and though he failed he did ensure that they were unable to meet in the open air, thus reducing the number of attendees.36 Schweyer had another go at charging Hitler over the Oberwiesenfeld brawls, forcing the latter to write a memorandum to the Bavarian legal authorities in his own defence.37

Hitler could continue to play grandmother’s footsteps with the authorities, by promising betterment and then going back on his commitments, but for how long? A mass rally at the Zirkus Krone in mid July 1923 was so full that he had to shut the doors half an hour before it started. The police commander on the night warned Hitler that he would not be allowed to unfurl the party banners inside the building.38 The subsequent march to the main station in Munich led to a clash with the police; Hitler, on foot, confronted rubber-truncheon-wielding mounted officers. At the same time, Hitler was being criticized by the SA. Not for the last time in his career, their rank and file were straining at the leash, and could not understand why Hitler was not leading them to Berlin, or at least to the City Hall in Munich. Keeping large numbers of armed men in a state of semi-permanent revolution was not possible. If something was not undertaken soon, there was a real danger that the pot would either go off the boil, or boil over prematurely.

Hitler was thus at a strategic crossroads. On the one hand, he was calling for a long-term propagandistic effort to prepare the German people for a return to great power status. This implied a kind of revolutionary attentism, not unlike that of the pre-war Social Democrats,39 in which the NSDAP would simply reap the fruits of its work further down the line. Hitler suggested as much at the start of the year, when he announced that ‘one day the day will come at which we will launch a putsch, no not a putsch,’ he added with contempt, ‘but a puff of air and then this rock will disappear.’40 When the time came, in other words, the NSDAP would simply huff and puff and blow the house down. On the other hand, the internal and external situation was constantly changing, presenting him with new opportunities but also new threats. He had long argued that there was no quick fix to Germany’s ills. Could it be, however, that history could be speeded up, that destiny might be embraced rather than awaited?

The examples of Turkey and Italy seemed to suggest that it could. In the autumn of 1923, he let it be known that what Atatürk had done ‘is what we will have to do in the future as well in order to liberate ourselves’.41 Hitler subsequently cited him as a model for his ‘beer hall’ putsch. Hitler also acclaimed Mussolini as a model; he used Roman-style standards for the SA in explicit homage.42 Though there is no evidence that Mussolini supported Hitler’s plans for a coup, there is equally no doubt that he served as an important inspiration.43

In the late summer and autumn, the situation escalated still further. The French-backed separatist Hans Adam Dorten proclaimed a ‘Rhenish Republic’ in July 1923;44 his supporters occupied government buildings in Aachen. On 26 September 1923, the Stresemann government announced the end of passive resistance against the French, its objectives unmet. The resulting sense of humiliation fuelled a widespread belief that a coup to establish a new ‘national’ government in Berlin was imminent. At around the same time, the communists were making substantial inroads in central Germany, especially Thuringia. In Bavaria, right-wing militias, including the SA, enjoying the full cooperation of the local Reichswehr, prepared to repel both communists and the French if necessary. They met repeatedly at rallies – ‘German days’ – across the province, first in Nuremberg, then at Hof, where Hitler gave one of the speeches, and finally in Bayreuth. The Generalstaatskommissar for Bavaria, and its de facto ruler, Gustav von Kahr, was known to be pondering his next move.

Hitler was not too worried about the communists, who had been crushed by the end of October. The real danger lay on the right. First, that the leaders of the national opposition in Bavaria would fluff the task of marching on Berlin. Hitler relentlessly pushed for action: ‘either Berlin marches and ends in Munich,’ he warned, ‘or Munich marches and ends in Berlin’.45 Secondly, there was the possibility that the NSDAP would be coopted as footsoldiers in support of an alien agenda, especially that of social conservatism. Thirdly, and most importantly, Hitler was worried about the ultimate intentions of the Bavarian government and many of the organizations which provided its political and military muscle. He feared that they wanted not to renationalize Germany through capturing Berlin but a separate conservative Bavaria instead. Whether this was their main aim or might simply be the default option in the face of determined republican and left-wing resistance in the rest of the Reich did not greatly matter to him. Nor, as we have seen, did Hitler distinguish between full-blown separatism and the claims of the Bavarian particularists to be returning to the old federal arrangements of the Second Empire. The result, in his view, would be the same: the fragmentation of the Reich in the face of extreme internal and external danger.

The Bavarian government and many of the groups associated with it were indeed planning to recalibrate the federal relationship with Berlin; they made no secret of it. Otto Pittinger, the leader of the ‘Bund Bayern und Reich’, was open about his desire to re-establish the Wittelsbach monarchy in Bavaria, and to return to the looser federal bonds of Bismarck’s time. Kahr himself had repeatedly spoken at meetings in favour of the restoration of the Bavarian monarchy.46

Hitler responded to this existential challenge with a nuanced strategy. On the one hand, he relentlessly attacked the conservative monarchists. ‘One should not imagine,’ he pronounced in his speech to the Deutscher Tag in Hof in mid September 1923, ‘that nationalism expresses itself’ by demanding ‘that the old flags should fly again, that the old authoritarian state should be resurrected and that the old conditions should be restored’. ‘That,’ he claimed, ‘is not nationalism.’47 On the other hand, Hitler sought to create a common front with conservatives and monarchists against the external enemy. On 25 September 1923, Scheubner-Richter was tasked with bringing about a meeting between Hitler and Crown Prince Rupprecht of Bavaria; the hope was that he could be persuaded to support a march on Berlin.48 Party members were instructed, on pain of expulsion, to resign from all paramilitary formations not under the political leadership of the Kampfbund, that is, his own.49 A drumbeat of mass meetings was planned.50

Hitler flanked this rhetoric with a carefully calibrated propagandistic effort. He gave a speech at Bayreuth – Wagner’s city – in mid September 1923, and returned about a fortnight later to speak again. On that occasion, taking up the invitation of Winifred Wagner, the English-born wife of Wagner’s son Siegfried, he went to the Wagner shrine at Wahnfried. There Hitler spoke to the composer’s son-in-law, the racist political philosopher Houston Stewart Chamberlain, author of the best-selling Foundations of the Nineteenth Century, upon whom he made a very favourable impression.51 Hitler paid homage at Wagner’s grave. He also published an autobiographical text and a selection of his speeches under the title of Adolf Hitler: His Life and His Speeches.52 The name on the front page was that of his associate Victor von Koerber, but the real author was Hitler. He rehearsed his political positions, including his attacks on ‘Bolshevism’ and ‘international Jewish mammonism’, but pointedly deleted all negative references to the United States, most likely in order to encourage US toleration of a successful coup. The principal purpose of the book was to cast Hitler as the saviour of Germany. Koerber-Hitler spoke of him no longer as a ‘drummer’ but as ‘an architect who is building the mighty German cathedral’. No doubt drawing on his overtures to Bavarian Catholics, Hitler had himself styled as a messianic figure, whose political awakening was compared to the resurrection of Christ, and whose writings were a kind of holy writ.

On 26 September, on the same day as the end of passive resistance in the Ruhr, the Bavarian government announced a state of emergency. Kahr was made commissary general.53 That same day, too, Hitler signed a proclamation in support of a ‘Battle League to Break Interest Slavery’; pointedly, the main enemy was defined as international capitalism and the victor powers rather than the German left. In an accompanying ‘open letter to the Bavarian government’ in the Völkischer Beobachter, which he co-authored with – among others – Drexler and Gottfried Feder, Hitler criticized the planned handover of German national assets to support a new imposed Allied settlement.54 What had previously been a straightforward clash between Berlin and right-wing Munich was now about to become a triangular contest pitting Kahr, the Reich government and the Munich nationalist scene, most prominently Hitler, against each other.

The following day, Hitler’s intended series of mass meetings was banned. Nazi suspicions of Kahr’s intentions grew.55 Hitler condemned the measure as directed against the ‘Völkisch freedom movement’.56 He warned Kahr and federalists generally against ‘limiting’ the ‘historical mission of Bavaria purely to the jealous preservation of purely Bavarian concerns inside the white-blue Bavarian boundary posts’ and of ‘privileging’ the ‘justified demands for the recapture of Bavarian statehood within the framework of the Reich’ at the expense of the ‘necessary liberation of greater Germany’. This choice of words was already quite a concession to local sensitivities, but Hitler was quick to stress that he saw Bavaria’s mission as ‘coming to the aid of our threatened brothers in central and northern Germany’. ‘Not only the future of Bavaria,’ he added, ‘but the future of Germany will be decided in Bavaria today.’57 The chief of police, Seisser, later recalled that Hitler dismissed anybody who did not support him as ‘either a nightwatchman or a separatist, Danube-monarchist, papal or French in sentiment’.58

Tension rose steadily throughout October. On 20 October, the Reich government in Berlin sacked Lossow, the army commander in Munich. Secure in Kahr’s backing, he refused to move. Otto Pittinger’s paramilitary Bund Bayern und Reich stood by to support them. The rest of the Reichswehr looked set to move against the ‘mutineers’. Armed groups assembled on the Bavarian-Thurinigian border. Germany seemed on the verge of falling apart. Once again, Hitler inveighed against the federalists, this time with an even greater sense of urgency. ‘The narrow-minded, purely Bavarian-oriented policy of the forces behind the Bavarian dictatorship,’ he told an assembly of SA leaders, meant that across Germany Bavaria was now seen as a ‘separatist’ state trying to exit the Reich, abandoned by all its allies. This situation, Hitler fulminated, suited only Poincaré’s France. The answer was ‘tackling the German question in the last minute from Bavaria’, culminating in the planting of the swastika on the Reichstag in Berlin. This was the Bavarian ‘mission’.59

Despite the local demands on his time, Hitler made serious efforts to square international opinion. He gave an interview to the American United Press at Bayreuth in which he said that the Bavarian ‘masses’ would back him over Kahr and announced that he was ‘no monarchist and would battle against all monarchic adventures, because the Hohenzollern and Wittelsbachers would merely encourage separatist divisions’.60 Hitler also gave an interview to the distinguished German-American journalist George Sylvester Viereck, in which he claimed to be the only bulwark against ‘Bolshevism’ and revealed his territorial ambitions. ‘We must regain our colonies and we must expand eastward,’ he argued. ‘There was a time when we could have shared the world with England. Now, we can stretch our cramped limbs only to the east. The Baltic is merely a German lake.’61 At around the same time, he told an American newspaper of his plans for a ‘Monroe Doctrine for Germany’,62 the first time he articulated a theme which was to run through his entire strategy. In mid October 1923, he made a public statement in Corriere Italiano once again renouncing any German claim to South Tyrol, as a gesture to Mussolini.63 He was convinced that France would support a separatist coup, but seems to have believed that Britain and the United States would at least tolerate his own Putsch.64

Right at the end of October 1923, the Völkisch and paramilitary leaders assembled in Röhm’s Reichswehr office in Munich and began preparations for armed action.65 Their concern was at least as much to head off any separatist tendencies in the Bavarian leadership as it was to support them in joint action against Berlin. It was expected that Kahr would announce his plans for a coup against the Berlin government at a meeting scheduled for 8 November at the Bürgerbräukeller. If Hitler and his co-conspirators were going to forestall Kahr, and his suspected separatist agenda, or co-opt him for their own plans, this would be an excellent opportunity to catch all the major protagonists in one place.66

Hitler struck in an evening of high drama. He burst into the Bürgerbräukeller, fired his pistol into the ceiling and announced to general applause that the Bavarian government of Knilling and the Reich government in Berlin were deposed. Hitler ‘suggested’ Kahr as regent for Bavaria and Pöhner as minister president thereof. He promised that a ‘German national government’ would be announced in Munich that same evening. He ‘recommended’ that he himself should take over the ‘leadership’ until accounts had been settled with the ‘criminals’ in Berlin. Ludendorff was to be commander of a new national army; Lossow Reichswehr minister, and Seisser German minister of police. Attempting to marry Bavarian local pride and the pan-German mission, Hitler said that it was the task of the provisional government to march on the ‘den of iniquity in Berlin’. In a considerable concession to Bavarian sensibilities he vowed ‘to build up a cooperative federal state in which Bavaria gets what it deserves’.67 Kahr, Lossow and Seisser were held captive and prevailed upon to support the coup.

The putschists now swung into action. Their ‘Proclamation to all Germans’ announced that the nation would no longer be treated like a ‘Negro tribe’.68 Hanfstaengl was detailed to inform and influence the foreign press; he tipped off Larry Rue of the Chicago Tribune that the coup was about to begin and appeared in the Bürgerbräukeller with a group of journalists from other countries.69 The offices of the pro-SPD Münchener Post were smashed up by the SA, but there was no ‘white terror’ on the streets of Munich; Hitler’s main anxiety was the Bavarian right, not the left. One of the few detentions was that of Count Soden-Fraunhofen, a staunch Wittelsbach loyalist who was accused of being a ‘hireling of the Vatican’.70 Winifred and Siegfried Wagner, who were almost certainly aware of the plot in advance, were due at the Odeon Theatre immediately after the coup, where Siegfried was to direct a Wagner concert, intended perhaps as a celebration.71 Hitler announced melodramatically that ‘the morning will see either a national government in Germany or our own deaths’.72

The morning brought the sobering realization that the putschists were on their own. There was no general national rising across the Reich. Kahr, Lossow and Seisser, who had given their ‘word of honour’ under duress to support the coup, slipped away and began to mobilize forces to restore order. Hitler’s worst fears were confirmed: he was now fighting not merely red Berlin, but reactionary separatist forces in Munich. A bitter Nazi pamphlet rushed out that day announced that ‘today the [November revolution] was to have been extinguished from Munich and the honour of the fatherland restored’. ‘This,’ the pamphlet added, invoking Hitler’s rhetoric, ‘would have been the Bavarian mission.’ Kahr, Lossow and Seisser, alas, had betrayed the cause. Behind them, the pamphlet continued, stood ‘the same trust of separatists and Jews’ who had been responsible for the treasonous Armistice in 1918, the ‘slave treaty of Versailles and the despicable stock-exchange speculation’ and all other miseries.73 It concluded with a call to make one last effort to save the situation. What was striking about this document was the far greater stress laid on the separatist-clerical and capitalist danger than on the threat of Bolshevism.

Hitler and his co-conspirators set out mid morning 9 November for central Munich in a column numbering about 2,000 men, many of them armed. Strasser, who had turned up from Nuremberg with a contingent of followers, was particularly belligerent. Their plan was unclear, but it seems to have been to wrest the initiative back from Kahr; Hitler may also have intended to go down fighting as he had vowed the night before. Outside the Feldherrenhalle at the Odeonsplatz, they encountered a police cordon. Hitler linked arms with Scheubner-Richter and the column marched straight at the police lines, weapons at the ready. It is not clear whether he was seeking death as a blood sacrifice to inspire future generations or whether he was trying to imitate Napoleon’s famous confrontation with Marshal Ney, when the emperor marched slowly towards his old comrades, who refused to shoot. Shots were exchanged, leading to fatalities on both sides. Hitler himself escaped death only narrowly, injured his arm and fled the scene. Before the day was out, Kahr issued a proclamation announcing the failure of the ‘Hitler-Putsch’.74 The great drama had ended in complete fiasco.

A pamphlet published immediately after the failed coup, penned by either Hitler himself or someone briefed by him, traced the collapse of relations between Munich and Berlin throughout October 1923. It quoted from a conversation which allegedly took place between Hitler and Lossow, in which the latter ‘repeatedly spoke of an Ankara-government’, on the lines of the Turkish national revival under Atatürk, which would take on Berlin. The pamphlet went on to attack Kahr, who was allegedly ‘completely dependent on the Roman Jesuits’. ‘Because Hitler knew,’ it continued, ‘that the “black [i.e. clerical] danger” in Bavaria was even bigger than the red one’, Hitler had been compelled to pre-empt the machinations of the Jesuits, the Wittelsbach dynasty, the French, the papacy and the Habsburgs.75 The main lines of Hitler’s rather contradictory interpretation of the Putsch were thus clear: it had been carried out both with the collusion of the Bavarian conservatives and in order to forestall their plans for a clerical, monarchist and separatist coup at the expense of the Reich as a whole.

On 11 November, Hitler was arrested at the home of Hanfstaengl at Uffing am Staffelsee, south of Munich. Just before his capture, Hitler managed to get off a short message to Alfred Rosenberg, asking him to lead the movement in his absence. He was imprisoned at Landsberg, awaiting trial.76 Hitler seems at first to have undergone some kind of personal crisis, appearing depressed and even suicidal. Hess, not yet in Landsberg, spoke of him being ‘emotionally very down’.77 Following stormy interrogations, Hitler went on a ten-day hunger strike.78 According to the recollection of the resident psychologist, Alois Maria Ott, Hitler was distraught at the death of his comrades and announced that ‘I have had enough, I am done, if I had a revolver I would take it.’ Ott succeeded in calming Hitler and persuaded him to call off his protest; the planned forcible feeding proved unnecessary.79 In early December 1923, Winifred Wagner sent him blankets, books and other items to cheer him up; she also wrote frequently.80 Hitler’s spirits revived, and within a fortnight he was beginning to prepare his defence.

In mid December 1923, Hitler was questioned at Landsberg by the state prosecutor, Dr Hans Ehard. Still struggling with his injured arm, Hitler vowed ‘to play his best trump-cards in the court room itself’, and wondered aloud whether ‘certain gentlemen’ would have the courage to perjure themselves under oath in court. This was clearly directed at Kahr, Lossow and Seisser. Ehard reported that Hitler, having initially steadfastly refused to make any sort of statements on the record, to avoid ‘having words put into his mouth’, soon began to hold ‘interminable political lectures’. He explained that he had struck because the men of the Kampfbund had been impatient for action, and could not be held back any longer. Ehard, probably acting on instructions from superiors who feared dirty linen being washed in public, asked Hitler directly whether he planned ‘to bring the question of the alleged Bavarian separatist plans into [his] defence strategy’. Hitler pointedly declined to answer, but he soon launched into a lengthy attack on ‘well-known, influential, one-sidedly religiously inclined circles, which pursued solely separatist aims and to this end pushed forward Kahr as a straw man’. ‘These circles,’ he added, ‘sought the restoration of the monarchy.’ In the context of what he called ‘French plans to break up’, these tendencies would lead to ‘the separation of Bavaria’ and the ‘disintegration of the Reich’.81 It is striking that Hitler again spent far more time on these dangers to the Reich than those from the left.

Hitler soon made himself comfortable in Landsberg.82 Conditions were remarkably good, as both the warders and the other prisoners treated him as a celebrity, even after his sentencing. The terms of his incarceration did not involve compulsory labour, a regimented diet, prison clothes or restrictions on visitors. His main companions behind bars were his chauffeur and bodyguard Emil Maurice and Rudolf Hess; his authority was unquestioned. The young Nazi Hermann Fobke related that it was not so much a question of ‘presenting to the boss’ as being ‘lectured to by the boss’.83 Admirers brought him books, food and flowers and news. Helene Bechstein provided cheese. In all, more than 500 people, including Elsa Bruckmann, visited him in the first few months alone. Hanfstaengl later remarked that the cell looked like a ‘delicatessen’. For all that, Hitler found captivity irksome, as he was kept cooped up and powerless to intervene in outside affairs. His surroundings were far from luxurious – Landsberg remained a prison, not a hotel. Music and hatred kept him going. ‘I let out my annoyance in my apologia,’ he wrote in January 1924, ‘whose first part, at least, I hope will survive the court case and me. For the rest I am dreaming of Tristan and similar matters.’84

The NSDAP, meanwhile, was in disarray.85 President Ebert announced that Hitler’s followers would be prosecuted for treason. The party itself was declared illegal and went underground; its press was banned, including the Völkischer Beobachter and Streicher’s newspaper Der Stürmer. The party premises were raided, with seven bags of potatoes being carried off by police along with all records and valuables. In Hesse and Württemberg the authorities moved quickly to stamp out any threatened copycat attempts. The Nazi leadership was now largely on the run, hiding among sympathizers in and around Munich. Hitler’s choice of Rosenberg to head the party in his absence took everybody by surprise and caused general consternation. Rosenberg was aloof and cerebral and had no personal following in the movement. By contrast, the three deputies also appointed by Hitler – Julius Streicher, Max Amann and Hermann Esser – were powerful in their own right. Hitler did not explain his decision. It is possible that he saw Rosenberg as a straw man who would simply keep the seat warm for him for his release, but it may also be that he saw the main priority in his absence as the maintenance not of organizational coherence, but of ideological purity,86 and for that Rosenberg was the perfect fit.

The world did not stand still while Hitler was in Landsberg. Rosenberg was confronted not simply with the practical question of how to pay for salaries, publications and other expenses, but also had to take a view on crucial political questions. The most pressing was whether the party should contest elections. Hitler was sceptical, but allowed Rosenberg to go ahead. Temporarily renamed the Grossdeutsche Volksgemeinschaft (GVG), because the party was banned under its old name, the Nazis joined a raft of other parties to contest the Bavarian Landtag elections under the banner of the Völkischer Block (VB); in Thuringia, they joined with Albrecht von Gräfe’s Deutsch-Völkische Freiheitspartei (DVFP), a breakaway from the DNVP. Hitler tried to put a strict time limit on all agreements – for example that with the DVFP in late February 1924 – probably in order to leave his hands free after his release. One way or the other, the movement was still completely oriented towards Hitler, even while he languished in Landsberg. As the Munich leadership announced in mid March 1924, ‘It is our responsibility to place in his hands not an unserviceable but a living instrument.’87

In late February 1924, Hitler was brought to stand trial before the Volksgericht in Munich in the old Infantry School on the Blutenburgstrasse. He was allowed to appear in a suit rather than prison clothes and sporting his Iron Cross. Security was strict, and the press interest, including from abroad, was intense. Hitler would no doubt have been pleased to know that ‘one heard particularly many English voices’.88 The Reich government had wanted the trial to be held in Leipzig, but the authorities in Munich were determined to keep it local, almost certainly because they feared what might otherwise emerge about their complicity in the various plots.89 Berlin gave way in the context of a broader rapprochement with Bavaria. In mid February 1924, about a week before the trial began, the Bavarian Reichswehr submitted once again to command from Berlin, thus reversing Kahr and Lossow’s position in November 1923; Kahr resigned.

Hitler famously used the courtroom as a platform from which to expound his world view, to refine his biography90 and to slander his many enemies. What is much less well understood is that his main target throughout was Bavarian separatism, the charge which more than any other he levelled at Kahr, Lossow and Seisser. Picking up his pre-Putsch rhetoric, Hitler explained to the court on the very first day of proceedings that it was ‘very difficult’ to distinguish between ‘disguised federalism’ and a force which was ‘publicly’ espousing a course of action with ‘separatist effects’. He reminded his listeners that the BVP ‘Bamberg Programme contains the sentence that every [German federal] state has the right in future to conclude treaties with other [that is foreign] states – a sentence whose logical conclusion means the dissolution of the Reich’. His concern, he claimed, was that Kahr would either fail to march on Berlin, or do so without success, and then take the separatist option, probably with ‘foreign help’, that is, from France. More generally, Hitler was unhappy with the pervasive idea ‘that one dresses up the struggle in the defence of purely Bavarian rights’, a stance which would alienate the rest of Germany.91 This rhetoric enabled him to outflank the triumvirate on the right, and to embarrass them on the wider German stage, as separatism was a clear violation of the Weimar constitution. It was no doubt for this reason that the Munich authorities were keen to hold the trial in Bavaria, and why they gave Hitler such an easy ride. He in turn colluded, reserving his most specific charges for the closed sessions, with the implicit threat that he could let rip in public if he wanted to.

The trial lasted just over a month, from 26 February to 27 March 1924. Hitler was not at the centre of proceedings at all times, and was a spectator for long stretches when his co-conspirators were in the dock. It did not matter. Hitler succeeded in asserting the leadership of the political struggle against the Weimar Republic, putting such luminaries as General Ludendorff in the shade. ‘The political struggle,’ he announced unambiguously, ‘that is the confrontation and the settlement of accounts with the November criminals’ is ‘led by me and will remain my preserve.’92 He did not deny the substance of the charges, but argued that he had acted at all times in the greater interest of Germany. His apparently forthright performance was favourably compared to the evident shiftiness of the ‘triumvirate’, who vigorously disputed any separatist intent and, even more implausibly, any conspiracy against the Reich government in Berlin. Even the chief state prosecutor Ludwig Stenglein attested to ‘the purity of [Hitler’s] convictions and his unselfish devotion to his life work’.93 The credibility of Kahr, Lossow and Seisser, by contrast, was completely shredded under cross-examination, and by the testimony of the defendants and witnesses. Sometimes Kahr appeared so overwhelmed that his voice dropped to a whisper as the courtroom audience strained to hear him. The rampant Hitler, by contrast, was repeatedly told to lower his voice by the trial judge.94

Hitler’s final speech was a triumphant reiteration of his beliefs and sense of mission. If he was a traitor, then so were Bismarck, Atatürk and Mussolini, whose treason had been ratified by success. Hitler decried that there was ‘self-determination for every Negro tribe’, but that ‘Germany did not belong to the Negro tribes but stood under them’. The root of the German predicament, he continued, lay in Germany’s exposed geopolitical position in Europe. ‘The German people’, Hitler argued, ‘has perhaps the worst location of all nations in military-political terms. It is geographically extraordinarily badly located, surrounded by many rivals’. It was menaced by France’s determination to ‘Balkanize’ Germany and to reduce her population. In this context he referred to ‘Clemenceau’s [alleged] aim to exterminate 20 million Germans in Europe, to break up Germany into individual states and to prevent the emergence of another united large Reich’. It was also threatened by Britain’s supposed much broader policy of Balkanizing Europe as a whole in order to maintain the balance of power. There was no economic solution to this predicament, Hitler stressed, but only a powerful foreign policy based on the highest level of internal mobilization. Germany would need to get rid of ‘international Jewry’, which was coordinating the global forces against her. She would also need to pursue the related struggle against international capitalism. ‘The battle against international stock exchange enslavement’ and against the ‘trustification’ of the ‘entire economy’, Hitler demanded, must be taken up.95

These were all familiar themes from Hitler’s previous statements, but this time he had the eyes of the German and even some of the international press upon him. His closing speech concluded with a resounding statement that though the court might secure a conviction, posterity would surely acquit him. In an obviously choreographed sequence, the other accused said they had nothing to add, with the result that Hitler’s resonant last words were left ringing throughout the courtroom and shaped the story of the trial. He turned the defeat and humiliation of 9 November 1923 into a victorious narrative. If the attempted coup had actually had many fathers, it was now the ‘Hitler-Putsch’, a phrase with which Kahr had originally sought to scapegoat the Nazis but which had in fact propelled Hitler to the front of a crowded field of German ‘saviours’. The sentences reinforced this impression. Ludendorff was acquitted, lenient treatment which tended to accentuate Hitler’s role. Hitler himself was convicted of ‘high treason’ against the state and sentenced to five years’ imprisonment – technically ‘incarceration in a fortress’ – with the opportunity of parole after six months and a fine of 200 goldmarks.

Hitler was now a hero not merely to the Bavarian right, but to many nationalists throughout Germany. What had begun in the public mind as the ‘Ludendorff Trial’ ended as the ‘Hitler Trial’. ‘I am occupying myself with Hitler and the National Socialist movement,’ the Rhenish student Joseph Goebbels wrote in his diary in early March 1923, almost certainly following press reports of the trial, ‘and I suppose I shall have to do so for some time.’ He wished that every town would have its Adolf Hitler, ‘who burns through his holy fire everything that is tepid and dull’. Goebbels’s conversion was a slow one, however. Partly this was a question of style. As an intellectual, Goebbels objected to the ‘simplistic’ nature of much of Hitler’s rhetoric. It was also a matter of policy. Goebbels, then an avowed Slavophile with more than a sneaking regard for the Russian Revolution, was unhappy with Hitler’s view of the Soviet Union in particular and what he considered the reactionary nature of his Munich entourage more generally.96

On his return to Landsberg to serve the rest of his sentence, Hitler was confronted with some serious strategic questions. The paramilitary formations at his command during the Putsch had been scattered by the authorities. Armed with a proclamation from Hitler naming him the ‘military leader’ of the Kampfbund,97 Ernst Röhm began to revive the SA, under the cover of a front organization, and went to confer with Hitler at the very end of May 1924. Perhaps anxious not to provoke the authorities, and mindful of his inability to seize power by force, the Führer insisted that the SA keep a lower profile. Hitler also struck a more conciliatory note towards the BVP, no doubt partly for tactical reasons but probably also because the threat of Bavarian separatism had receded. That said, he let it be known in May 1924 that he would continue to oppose the party if it persisted with ‘purely reactionary and particularist’ policies.98

The next issue was elections, which Hitler had grudgingly allowed Rosenberg to participate in. The central issue in German politics, Hitler believed like many others, was the recommendations of the Reparations Committee chaired by the American banker Charles Dawes, which the government and the Weimar Coalition accepted. One of the most controversial proposals was to place the Reichsbahn under international administration in order to secure its revenues for the payment of reparations.99 It was, Hitler claimed, one of the ‘primary aim of the Völkisch movement’ to fight this planned ‘national crime’. Handing over the Reichsbahn, he continued, would cut the ‘subtle and vitally necessary railway network which ran across the area of the German people’.100 Hitler was violently opposed to the loss of a national asset to an internationally mandated austerity plan.

The Reichstag election of May 1924 was thus essentially a referendum on the Dawes Plan. Throughout the campaign, Nazi propaganda and iconography systematically, and more or less exclusively, targeted the ‘Jewish capitalist’.101 In this respect, its iconography differed little from that of the communists and indeed of the cartoons by the leftist artist Georg Grosz.102 The communist vote leaped from half a million in 1920 to 3.7 million. Right-wing parties walked off with an even larger share: 7.5 million votes. Of these only a small proportion went to the NSDAP’s place-holder parties.103 The north German Nazis, who opposed any involvement in the electoral process on principle and were generally to the left, were unimpressed, and so were their Völkisch allies. The south German party, who had done a lot better, and were less ‘socialist’, inclined more to repeating the experiment, and to continuing the relationship with the DVFP.

This brought the thorny question of the Nazi Party’s relationship to other parties and groups back to the fore. There were vigorous discussions about which of the various groups in the alphabet soup of right-wing organizations the Nazis should align or unite with, and on what terms. Gregor Strasser and General Ludendorff strongly supported amalgamation with the DVFP to create a new National Socialist Freedom Party (NSFP). Hitler reluctantly agreed in broad terms but insisted that the main base and focus of the party remain in Munich. Tensions boiled over at the congress of the north German NSDAP in Hamburg in early June 1924, when delegates rejected the merger with the DVFP ‘parliamentarism’ and the ‘party spirit’ in general. They decided to break with Munich and set up a North German Directory.104 The Frankfurt Nazis were so disgusted with the idea of a merger that they split to become the Deutsche Partei, pledging loyalty only to Hitler. These differences meant that Hitler was plagued by an interminable stream of people visiting Landsberg to brief him, to complain or to try to persuade him to support one faction or the other.105

Hitler responded by announcing his withdrawal from active politics in mid June 1924. ‘From now on,’ he wrote, ‘no one has the right to act in my name.’106 Gottfried Feder remarked after visiting him that Hitler was ‘depressed [and] wants to withdraw completely from the movement’ in order to ‘work’, that is, ‘write’ to earn money.107 Over the next two months, Hitler repeated his message publicly on a number of occasions.108 He was acting partly because he was disenchanted with the way in which the various mergers and collaborations were turning the party into a purely bourgeois organization, and partly because he had no real power to turn things around from prison.109 One young Nazi responded that all Nazis were merely ‘place-holders’ awaiting the Führer’s release; another said that ‘Our programme is summarized in two words: “Adolf Hitler”.’110 Hitler’s ‘withdrawal’ thus turned out to be an inspired move, not just because it relieved him of the responsibility of taking sides. It greatly reduced fissiparous tendencies because nobody could claim his backing, and there was no point in attempting to take over the party in his absence as his release was expected to be imminent. Clearly, the charisma which Hitler had taken to Landsberg remained with him for the duration of his sentence.

One reason why Hitler wanted to lie low was fear of having his release delayed, or of being deported to Austria. The Bavarian authorities had long hoped to do the latter, and in early May 1924, the Polizeidirektion in Munich told the Bavarian Ministry of the Interior that ‘Hitler constitutes a permanent threat to the internal and external security of the state’.111 In late April 1924, the Austrians agreed to accept him in principle.112 Hitler managed to avoid deportation, but after being refused probation he failed to get out by 1 October as he originally hoped. On 16 October he made a statement that he should be allowed to stay, ‘because I never felt myself to be an Austrian citizen but only a German’. ‘My affection for my Austrian homeland is great,’ Hitler continued, ‘but so is hostility of the Austrian state’, in which – like the ‘earlier Habsburg state’ – he could only see ‘an obstacle for the unification of the German people’.113 He asserted his right to German citizenship on the basis of his ‘four-year commitment of my blood and life’. In the following month, he let it be known that he was ‘the child of an Austrian territory which belonged to Bavaria a hundred years ago. His home town is Braunau.’ ‘For this reason,’ he continued, ‘he has an understanding for the stupidity of that border, which wants to divide Germans of the same tradition and language into two nations [sic].’114
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Anglo-American Power and German Impotence

The main reason why Hitler withdrew from party management was his plan to write a ‘large book’, which he stated clearly in the declaration announcing his decision.1 This project began as a quasi-legal defence of his actions for the court. It soon developed into the idea of producing, as Hitler told Siegfried Wagner in early May 1924, a ‘comprehensive settlement of accounts with those gentlemen who cheered on 9 November’, in other words Kahr, Lossow and Seisser. No doubt hopeful of signing a sensational book with high sales, various publishers offered their services to Hitler, either in person or by letter.2 In time, however, the emphasis of the work changed again, probably in part thanks to some sort of explicit or implicit bargain with the Bavarian state to let sleeping dogs lie in return for a mild sentence. There were also positive reasons, however, for the new approach. Hitler wanted to use the relative peace of Landsberg to write a much broader manifesto elaborating the principles of National Socialism, charting a path to power for the movement and showing how Germany could regain her independence and great power status.3 The first volume of Mein Kampf, most of which was written or compiled in Landsberg, seems to have been largely a solo effort, with relatively little input from others. Julius Schaub, another inmate who later became his personal adjutant, recalled that Hitler wrote Mein Kampf ‘alone and without direct input from anyone’, not even Hess, who had joined him in Landsberg.4 Hitler typed the book himself, reading out or summarizing large sections to his fellow prisoners, who constituted an appreciative or at any rate a captive audience.5 Sometimes, he was moved to tears by his own words.6

Incarceration gave Hitler a chance to read more widely and gather his thoughts.7 One of his main preoccupations in Landsberg was the United States, which he was coming to regard as the model state and society, perhaps even more so than the British Empire. ‘He ‘devoured’ the memoirs of a returned German emigrant to the United States.8 ‘One should take America as a model,’ he proclaimed.9 Hess wrote that Hitler was captivated by Henry Ford’s methods of production which made automobiles available to the ‘broad mass’ of the people.10 This appears to have been the genesis of the Volkswagen. Hitler envisaged that the automobile would further serve as ‘the small man’s means of transport into nature – as in America’.11 He also planned to apply methods of mass production to housing, and experimented with designs for a Volkshaus for families with three to five children which would have five rooms and a bathroom with a garage in large terraced settlements. He was equally determined not be outdone in the construction of ‘skyscrapers’, and looked forward to the consternation of the ‘Deutsch-Völkisch’ elements by putting the party headquarters into such an edifice. Quite apart from showing that Hitler had an interest in vernacular architecture, and not just in monumental public buildings, these plans prove that he was thinking of elevating the condition of the German working class through American-style suburban and metropolitan modernity.12 This was the model of an ideal society against which he wrote Mein Kampf.

Modernity was not an end in itself, but a means by which the German people, especially the German working class and German women, could be mobilized in support of the project of national revival. Hitler exalted technological development – aeroplanes, typewriters, telephones and suspension bridges, and even domestic appliances. These would free German women from drudgery and enable them to be better wives producing more children. ‘How little our poor women benefit from progress,’ he lamented, ‘there is so much one can do to make [a woman’s life] easier with the help of technology! But most people still think today that a woman is only a good housewife if she is constantly dirty and working from early until late.’ ‘And then,’ Hitler continued, ‘one is surprised when the woman is not intellectual enough for the man, when he cannot find stimulation and recuperation.’ Worse still, he went on, this was ‘bad for the race’ because it was ‘obvious that his overtired wife will not have as healthy children as one who is well rested, can read good books and so on’.13 The link between what Hitler would later call the racial ‘elevation’ of Germany, technological progress and maintaining the standard of living is already evident here.

Part and parcel of this programme of racial improvement was Hitler’s support for what we would today call ‘alternative’ technology. ‘Every farm,’ he demanded, ‘which does not possess any alternative source of energy’ should set up a ‘wind motor with dynamo and rechargeable batteries’. This might not be possible in the current economic climate, Hitler continued, but it would be a viable long-term investment. He rejected the idea that technological change took the romance out of farming. ‘I couldn’t care less about a romanticism,’ he exclaimed, ‘which puts people behind frosted windows in the twilight, [and] which lets women age prematurely through hard work’. Hitler therefore sneered at the city folk who went into the country for a day, enthused about the scenery and then returned to their modern and efficient homes in the city. Hitler claimed to support ‘the preservation of nature’, but in his view it should take the form of national parks in the mountains. ‘Here too,’ Hitler concluded, ‘the Americans have made the right choice with their Yellowstone Park.’

In Landsberg, Hitler did not abate his ferocious hostility to international finance capitalism. He did, however, qualify some of his earlier ideas about ‘national’ economies. Significantly, he rejected the demands of the German automobile manufacturers to be protected against competition from Henry Ford through higher tariff barriers. ‘Our industry needs to exert itself and achieve the same performance,’ Hitler remarked. Once again, the United States was the explicit model.14

Hitler was also taking on board the concept of Lebensraum.15 This was one of the key ideas of Hess’s teacher and patron Karl Haushofer, the doyen of German Geopolitik. He visited Hess in prison, bringing him copies of Clausewitz and Friedrich Ratzel’s ‘Political Geography’, one of the seminal geopolitical texts.16 While there is no hard evidence that Haushofer met Hitler on those occasions it is highly likely he did so, or at any rate that his ideas found their way to him. In mid July, there was a debate about Lebensraum at Landsberg, which began with some good-natured joshing in the garden and ended with Hitler’s ‘marvelling’ inner circle being provided with a lengthy definition of the term by Hess.17 Its essence was simple: every people required a certain ‘living space’ to feed and accommodate its growing population. The idea seemed to provide the answer to the main challenge facing the Reich, which was the emigration of its demographic surplus to the United States. This was part of an important shift in Hitler’s thinking, away from a potential Russo-German alliance and the prevention of emigration through the restitution of German colonies, towards the capture of Lebensraum in the east, contiguous to an expanded German Reich.18 It had less to do with hatred of Bolshevism and eastern European Jewry, and more to do with the need to prepare the Reich for a confrontation or equal coexistence with an Anglo-America whose dynamism mesmerized Hitler more than ever.

The centrality of the British Empire and the United States in the gestation of Mein Kampf is evident from the early outlines he sketched in June 1924.19 These were focused on foreign policy in general, and the Anglo-Americans in particular. Hitler criticized not only the failure to secure an alliance with Britain, but also the failure to make Germany strong in Europe rather than pursue colonial, naval and commercial expansion, as the imperial government had done. This, he argued, was ‘important especially in relation to the development of the American continent into the first world power’. The basis of the European great powers, Hitler continued, was too narrow. He compared them to inverted pyramids, whose base was overseas and whose apex was in Europe. By contrast, the United States had its ‘base in America and its peaks in the rest of the world’. This made it a better model than Britain, which, however, benefited from its kinship with the United States. His outline referred explicitly to ‘Great Britain and the Anglo-Saxon world’ and the ‘importance’ of the United States as ‘an Anglo-Saxon state’ for Britain itself. The contours of Hitler’s greatest preoccupation, the colossal strength of the ‘Anglo-Saxon’ world powers, were thus clearly visible.

While Hitler tried to reduce his exposure to petty party disputes in prison, it is striking that he tried to maintain engagement with the wider world, especially potential ideological sympathizers and funders in Italy and the United States. Despite the fact that he allowed Göring to find sanctuary in Italy after the Putsch, Mussolini was careful to keep the Nazis at arm’s length.20 That left America. In early January 1924, not long after the start of his incarceration at Landsberg, Hitler penned a letter of accreditation for his envoy Kurt Lüdecke. He asked Lüdecke ‘to promote the interests of the German freedom movement in the United States and especially to collect money for them’.21 At the end of January, Lüdecke set off with Winifred and Siegfried Wagner to Detroit. Despite Lüdecke’s invocation of the ‘solidarity of white men’, and his offer to promote the kind of international anti-Semitism demanded by the Dearborn Independent, he was unable to persuade Ford at their meetings to provide any funding for the movement.22 Lüdecke repeatedly visited Hitler in Landsberg in May and June 1924.23 In 1924, a National Socialist Ortsgruppe was founded in the German quarter of Chicago, and there also appears to have been some sort of presence in New York City; a year later, Hitler personally thanked one of his activists in America for sending back money for the movement.24 In general, however, the attempt to reach out to the United States was a failure.

Hitler was under no illusions about the timescale for the national and racial regeneration of Germany. The failure of the coup had cured him of any vanguardism. He was now thinking in terms not of years, or even decades, but of centuries. In late June 1924, he made a public announcement that ‘the re-establishment of the German people is by no means a matter of the acquisition of technical weapons, but rather a question of the regeneration of our character’. ‘Spiritual renewals,’ Hitler continued, ‘require, if they are to be more than just a passing phenomenon, many centuries [emphasis in the original]’ to be ‘successful’.25 Five months later, Hess recorded that Hitler ‘is under no illusions about the extent to which the “idea” can be implemented by him’. ‘The ripening of ideas, the adapting of reality to the idea and the idea to reality,’ he continued, ‘will probably require many generations.’ Hitler, Hess went on, saw his own role as merely ‘setting up a new marker in the distance’, ‘loosening the soil’ around the existing pole, which ‘represented a major era in the development of mankind’. The task of ‘ripping out’ the pole and advancing it some way towards the goal, by contrast, would be the task ‘of another, a greater man yet to come’.26 In other words, after the certainty of 1923, Hitler was once again unsure whether he was the messiah himself rather than just John the Baptist, the ‘drummer’ of 1919–20.

In the second half of 1924, the internal disputes rumbled on.27 In late July, there was a particularly acrimonious meeting at Weimar. Esser and Streicher undermined Rosenberg at every turn. Feder, Strasser, Gräfe and Ludendorff ganged up on him as well. Ludendorff eventually flounced out. Hitler did not send a deputy. The NSDAP and the DVFP went ahead with a shaky merger in the late summer to form the National-Sozialistische Freiheitsbewegung (NSFB). The North German Directory formed the National-Sozialistische Arbeitsgemeinschaft (NSAG), whose distinctly socialist leanings were anathema to Esser and Streicher in Bavaria. Throughout all this Hitler maintained a pointed silence in prison. One despairing member wrote to Hess ‘Where do you belong now that the movement is splintered’, receiving the reply ‘To Hitler. To Hitler, who stands above it all.’28 It was clear that the movement was in suspended animation, a Hamlet without a prince.

Hitler was released on probation on 20 December 1924. The iconic photograph by Heinrich Hoffmann of him beside a car in driving gear was not taken, as Hitler had wanted, just outside the prison itself, because the authorities objected, but in front of the historic city gate.29 It was intended to convey a message of determination and dynamism, though Hitler himself could not drive and indeed never learned.

Despite the bravado, Hitler trod very carefully. Shortly after his release, Hitler had two meetings with the Bavarian minister president, Heinrich Held, at which he assured him that he would not attempt another putsch. He toned down some of the rhetoric in Mein Kampf, the second volume of which he was writing in the calm of his mountain retreat at Berchtesgaden, the use of which had been given to him by a well-wisher.30 Hitler also moved to sort out his national status, which acquired renewed importance after the speaking ban. In early April 1925, he wrote to the authorities in Linz requesting his ‘release from Austrian citizenship’. Hitler also had a long discussion with the Austrian consul in Munich and expressed his desire to surrender his nationality.31 On 30 April 1925, the Austrian authorities finally stripped him of the citizenship he had never accepted. This did not mean that Hitler had established his right to stay in Germany beyond all doubt – he was now formally ‘stateless’ – but he had at least ensured that it would be more difficult to deport him somewhere else. The threat of removal, however, remained, and the Bavarian authorities reminded him of it from time to time.32

Hitler’s next moves were also closely watched by his followers, who waited impatiently for his lead. The divisions of the previous year did not end with Hitler’s return from Landsberg but rather erupted with new ferocity as every faction, hiding behind a bewildering jungle of movements and acronyms, sought to win over the Führer. Hitler avoided confrontation, partly in order to concentrate on the completion of Mein Kampf.33 ‘Not a word from Hitler,’ Goebbels noted right at the end of 1924, ‘Oh this sly fox with the political instinct.’ A fortnight later, he asked anxiously, ‘What will Hitler do? That is the anxious question every day. Hopefully he will not go over to the camp of reaction.’34 Hitler’s reticence annoyed some of the rank and file, who complained that it would be better for him to sort out the ‘problems’ in the movement than to work on a ‘high political work’. The Bavarian police, which kept a close eye on Hitler after his release, also reported that he seemed to be absorbed by Mein Kampf, which was concerned ‘exclusively with Marxism and Jewry’.35 This was, as we shall see, by no means a completely accurate summary, but it must have been read with relief by many in Munich because it suggested that Hitler was not intending to pursue his vendetta against Kahr, Lossow and Seisser.

In part, the disputes within the NSDAP were based on personal antipathy, or a struggle for access to Hitler, a theme which would grow in prominence as Hitler’s own power grew. ‘If one could have two hours alone with Hitler,’ Goebbels exclaimed in exasperation, ‘then everything could be sorted out, but he is surrounded like an old monarch.’36 Relations within the Munich party were particularly bad, where infighting between Rosenberg, Hanfstaengl and Esser culminated in law suits. The divide was also cultural in nature, pitting northern and western Germans against southerners. Hitler did not encourage these disputes in order to strengthen his own authority, but regarded them as a threat to the coherence of the movement. In early April 1925, he sent a long letter to Rosenberg pleading with him to drop his law suits for the good of the party.37 Henceforth disagreements were to be sorted out internally by the ‘Investigative and Mediatory Committee’, known as the USCHLA after its German acronym.38

More important to Hitler than anything else, however, were the ideological fissures in the movement, which had widened in his absence. These sometimes mirrored the other divisions and sometimes cut across them. Nazis disagreed violently about participation in elections, which found more favour in the south than the north, and the armed struggle against the ‘system’. Conservative Völkisch elements faced off against those of a more ‘socialist’ disposition, principally in the north and west.

Above all, there were profound differences over foreign policy. The northerners tended towards internationalism. ‘Is National Socialism a German matter or a world problem,’ Goebbels asked rhetorically, adding that ‘for me it goes well beyond Germany. What does Hitler think? The question needs to be answered.’39 They called for an alliance with Russia (which also appealed to more socially conservative elements, such as Reventlow). Territorially, they demanded only the return of the German colonies and the restoration of the borders of 1914. Relations between the Arbeitsgemeinschaft and the party in the south under Esser, Streicher and Amann were poisonous. Critics advanced the classic early-modern critique of a clique of ‘evil advisers’ who were monopolizing Hitler, keeping the truth from him and steering the movement in a reactionary direction.

There were relatively few, such as Albrecht von Graefe, who wanted Hitler to return to the role of ‘drummer’ for the true nationalist messiah, Ludendorff.40 A much greater problem was the fact that many of his followers knew him only by reputation, having never met him in person or heard him speak.41 Hitler thus would have to move carefully in re-establishing his authority within the party. He had very few instruments at his disposal. He had next to no funds; he could only persuade and not command. One approach was to rely on his charisma communicated through speeches and personal contacts. Hitler gave thirty-eight speeches in 1925, and fifty-two in the following year.42 This gave him limited traction, however, partly because the numbers attending were substantially lower than during his heyday in 1923, and partly because he was still banned from appearing in public in much of Germany. Hitler was thus forced to speak to closed party meetings, in salons,43 or at private events. Nor could he put too much reliance on his personal magnetism. To be sure, individual doubters could be awed into line by his presence; they could convince themselves that he was interested in them, as they were in him. ‘Hitler has arrived,’ Goebbels wrote during one visit, ‘my joy is great. He greets me like an old friend [and] coddles me.’ ‘How I love him, what a guy,’ Goebbels went on. ‘I would like Hitler to be my friend.’44 Very often, however, doubts returned as soon as Hitler had left, particularly if he reneged on what had been agreed.

Charisma and leadership had to be complemented by organization. In late February 1925 Hitler officially relaunched the NSDAP. In his ‘Basic guidelines for the re-establishment of the NSDAP’,45 Hitler laid down that existing members would have to reapply. He explicitly refused to take sides in the disputes of the past eighteen months and laid out his vision for the future. In a barnstorming first speech in Munich since his release, Hitler proclaimed all internal disputes ‘over’.46 Reconciliation was not so much negotiated as decreed. Hitler was realistic, even in public, about the difficulties of working with the very diverse group of individuals within the party. ‘I don’t regard it as the job of a political leader,’ he remarked, ‘to attempt to improve or even standardize the human material before him.’47 He could not hope to compensate for the differences in ‘temperament, character and capability’. Improving and harmonizing those, Hitler explained, would take centuries and required ‘changes of the basic racial elements’. All the leader could do was ‘to attempt through long engagement to find the “complementary” sides to each person’ which could be combined to form a ‘unity’. In other words, Hitler would have to work with the people he had rather than the people he would like to have had.

Hitler knew that the party needed to transcend his own person. Personal loyalty was not enough; he needed party cadres to obey not just him but their immediate superiors. The Führer principle was thus extended beyond the Führer himself. More talented and trained speakers were needed, so that the entire strain of communicating the message did not fall on him and a few others. ‘We need speaker schools,’ he announced in March 1925, ‘because to this day this mass movement has only 10–12 good speakers.’48 In other words, Hitler was learning not to hog his charisma, but to spread it around. His speeches and instructions increasingly referred not just to the Führer in the singular, but to the plural Führers upon whom the leadership of the movement depended.

Central to this was the establishment of a proper party bureaucracy.49 Here the Social Democrats explicitly served as a model.50 Hitler spoke grudgingly of the SPD as a party ‘organized like the SA’.51 Despite shortage of funds, the NSDAP moved to new premises in the Schellingstrasse in Munich in the summer of 1925, and Hitler signalled his plan to build a dedicated ‘Party Headquarters’ in Munich paid for by the membership; whether he still envisaged this as a skyscraper is not clear. Hitler also established the Gau structure, a ‘shiring’ of the whole country into administrative areas, which in turn were divided into Bezirke and Ortsgruppen.52 He encouraged the local membership to use their initiative and if possible settle disputes without reference to Headquarters. This was partly an acknowledgement of the fact that his direct control was limited, partly a desire to reduce the incessant squabbling, but mainly a reflection of his belief in bureaucratic Darwinism. ‘More than one committee can be set up in every area,’ he wrote in connection with the presidential campaign, ‘they can compete with each other, with the best committee being the one that has done most work.’53 This was one of the first examples of the tendency towards ‘polycracy’ which Hitler would later have occasion to regret.

In March 1925, Hitler dispatched Gregor Strasser to restructure the party in north Germany. Strasser, though from Landshut in Bavaria, was temperamentally and ideologically much closer to the northerners. In September 1925, with Hitler’s approval, he helped to establish a working group at Hagen in Westphalia. Goebbels – now a major figure in the north-western NSDAP – was tasked with editing a publication called Nationalsozialistische Briefe. There was a danger in all this, as Hitler himself observed, which was that the resulting room for manoeuvre would lead to ‘the individual leader pursuing his own ideas’, rather than those of the supreme Führer himself.54 Hitler was also obliged by German associational law to hold an annual general meeting of the party in Munich, at which there should be elections and an opportunity to bring forward motions for discussion. None of this made the NSDAP a ‘bottom-up’ party. Hitler made no bones about the fact that the annual general meeting was just a charade to satisfy the rules of association.55 Debate was strongly discouraged and motions were strictly controlled.

Hitler also resurrected the Sturmabteilungen, not as a paramilitary formation, as it had developed in the months preceding the Putsch, but as an organization dedicated to ‘strengthening of the bodies of our youth, bringing them up on discipline and dedication to the common great ideal [and] training in the marshalling and reconnaissance service of the movement’. There should be no weapons, either carried openly or stored in depots. Anybody who violated that rule was to be expelled.56 Hitler’s concern here was to avoid being dragged into illegality by armed hotheads. The immediate effect of this ruling was to precipitate a breach with Röhm, for whom the paramilitary aspects of the SA remained central. He resigned and eventually emigrated to South America.57 That same month Hitler created the ‘Protective Squadron’ soon known simply as the SS, a personal protection squad whose first leader, Josef Berchtold, placed particular stress on ideological purity.58 In a critical assertion of authority, Hitler had established a monopoly of violence within the movement.

The principal method through which Hitler sought to re-establish control over the party was through ideological purity and coherence. He did this the hard way, seeking to achieve uniformity across a range of highly contentious issues. Hitler could not simply impose his views: he had to cajole and persuade. This was done through speeches, declarations, debates and, from the end of 1925, through the publication in succession of the two volumes of Mein Kampf.59 These were only partly written from scratch at Landsberg and after his release, the rest being cobbled together from various articles and instructions, and even from drafts dating back to before the Putsch. Much of Mein Kampf originated as a direct response to the political events of 1925–6,60 and Hitler used the text to lay down the law, at least implicitly, not just to the membership but also to his internal critics. For this reason the book needs to be seen in the context of the many contemporaneous statements he made before and after publication.

Contrary to his earlier threats, Mein Kampf was not a settling of accounts with his erstwhile conservative Bavarian allies, though he waited until the final pages of the second volume to abjure any thought of such a ‘reckoning’.61 Instead, the autobiographical sections, which are mostly fictional, should be seen as a Bildungsroman,62 charting the political awakening of the hero. The chapter heading ‘Viennese year of learning and suffering’ was surely intended to echo Goethe’s famous novel The Sorrows of Young Werther. The main – doctrinal – sections were designed to orient the party in its post-Landsberg struggles and to communicate his final judgements on policy.63 With some important exceptions Mein Kampf proved a remarkably stable text, which changed little over nearly twenty years of reprinting.64 Though the book was highly unreliable as a biographical source, it did summarize the direction of Hitler’s thinking by the mid 1920s, key facets of which remained unchanged thereafter.

Much of what Hitler said in Mein Kampf and his various speeches rehearsed familiar themes from the time before the Putsch. There was the same focus on the forces of domestic fragmentation. Hitler inveighed once more against the ‘mendacity of these so-called federalist circles’ who were only promoting their ‘dirty’ party interest.65 He continued to fulminate about the disintegrative effect of Marxism, and to lament the alienation of German workers. Hitler rose to new heights of invective against the German middle class, whom he dismissed as ‘philistines’, ‘bourgeois boobies’, who were so befuddled by the ‘fug of associational meetings’ that they were unable to transcend the ‘usual jingoism of our bourgeois world of today’. He contrasted the robustness of the SA, who knew that ‘terror can only be broken by terror’, with ‘bourgeois wimpishness’. Hitler also trenchantly restated his objections to parliamentarism and electoral politics, and western democracy in general, concluding that the ‘majority principle’ amounted to ‘the demolition of the Führer idea as such’.66

The main danger of Germany’s internal weakness was that it made her vulnerable to external attack, especially from the enemies that Hitler feared most: international capitalism, Anglo-America and the associated forces of world Jewry. Hitler critiqued the economics of inequality and exploitation, the ‘jarring juxtaposition of poor and rich so close to each other’, the ‘role of money’, in which ‘money [became] God’ and ‘the false God of Mammon was offered incense’. He became increasingly convinced that ‘the heaviest battle to be fought was no longer against enemy peoples but against international capital’.67 Here Hitler insisted more than ever on his earlier distinction between national capital, which the state could control, and pernicious international capital, which controlled states or sought to do so.68 One of its principal instruments of subjugation was revolutionary Marxism, which undermined national economies, societies and governments.69 Others were economic immiseration and racial contamination, both of which also reduced the capacity of nations to resist international takeover. For Hitler, maintaining an independent national economy was therefore absolutely central to the defence of national identity, sovereignty and racial purity.

Hitler violently objected to international capitalism even when it was not Jewish, but he assigned the Jews a particularly malevolent role within the global capitalist system; this remained the principal root of his anti-Semitism. In Mein Kampf, as in his earlier rhetoric, Jews were inseparably linked with money and the whole capitalist system as ‘traders’, as ‘middlemen’, who levied an ‘extortionate rate of interest’ for their ‘financial deals’. Jewry, he claimed, aimed at nothing less that the ‘financial domination of the entire economy’. Yet because ‘a Bolshevized world can only survive if it encompasses everything’, a ‘single independent state’ – such as a revived Germany – could bring the whole juggernaut to a standstill.70

There was also, however, an open acknowledgement of the tactical nature of the anti-Semitic theme.71 The focus on a ‘single aim’, that is on the Jews, Hitler explained, was ‘practically’ motivated. The masses, Hitler explained, were in fact very differentiated. Many might sign up to the fight against the Jews and Marxism, but the minute one added further goals, people would start peeling off, until the mass had fragmented. It was therefore essential to stick to a single, simple aim. Moreover, unlike the more confident British, Hitler argued, the German people was particularly prone to an ‘objectivity hang-up’ and might be tempted by the sheer number of enemies into thinking that they were themselves in the wrong. For this reason, he concluded, it was ‘essential with a people like the Germans to point to one enemy and to march against one enemy’, because ‘one can if necessary mean many with one enemy’. Hitler returned to this theme in Mein Kampf, when he said that ‘for purely emotional reasons one should not show the masses two or more enemies, because this would otherwise lead to a complete fragmentation of their striking power’.72 The tactical use of anti-Semitism was also evident in another respect. When it was likely to put off potential backers, such as the well-to-do audience at the Nationalklub of 1919 in Hamburg, it was quietly dropped.73

Be that as it may, anti-Semitism remained at the core of Hitler’s world view. He claimed the Jews brought the full weight of diplomatic, press, revolutionary and racial pressures to bear on national states that refused to submit. They began with domestic torments, such as parliamentarism, the press and the trade unions, which Hitler regarded as ‘instruments’ of the Jews, and ‘Marxism’, their ‘assault column’ and ‘principal weapon’, whose ‘final aim remains the destruction of the non-Jewish national states’. Here Hitler was reprising his earlier argument that communism was simply an instrument of international capitalism, speaking of ‘Marxism as a weapon for the demolition of the national economy and the erection of the rule of loan capitalism’. Hence his hostility to the trade unions, which Marxism had turned into an instrument to ‘smash the economic basis of the free and independent national states, in order to destroy their national industry and their national trade as part of the enslavement of free peoples in the service of a supranational world finance Jewry’.74 Hitler’s rhetoric was thus far more anti-capitalist than anti-communist: references to Dawes in his speeches dwarfed those to Lenin at this time.75 He continued to fear Bolshevism, not in the form of the Red Army, but principally as a virus which would render Germany ripe for takeover by the forces of international capitalism.

Worse still, Hitler claimed, international capitalism sought to destroy the German bloodline by ‘contamination through Negro blood on the Rhine’ (an allusion to colonial soldiers in the French forces of occupation) in order to ‘begin the bastardization of the European continent from its central point’. Contamination of the blood, he warned, could only be removed in the course of ‘centuries, if at all’. In this narrative, German mass emigration took on a particular importance. Hitler saw it as part of a concerted plan to destroy the biological substance of German people going back centuries. ‘The German people had to send out their sons,’ Hitler lamented, with the result that for some three hundred years, Germans had served as ‘beasts of burden for other nations’ and had moved to ‘Australia, Central America and South America’.76 He would return to this theme over and over in the years to come.

The main great power enemies of the Reich, according to Hitler, were not the Soviet Union, France or any other continental European state, but the British Empire and what he generally referred to as the ‘American Union’. This enmity was complex, and it would not be exaggerated to speak of a love-hate relationship. Hitler deeply admired Anglo-America. He did not believe, though he sometimes affected to, that Germany had been defeated solely as a result of domestic dissensions. On the contrary, he frequently paid tribute to the strength and bravery of the enemy he had faced during the war.77 One of his criticisms of German propaganda during the contest had been its portrayal of the British as a nation of cowardly shopkeepers. Hitler lambasted the ‘newspapers and satirical magazines’ for their ‘high degree of self-deception because this nonsense gradually infected everything else, and the result was an under-estimation’ of the British. The Germans, he lamented, came to believe that they were facing an ‘unbelievably cowardly businessman’. Reality was very different. ‘I still remember well,’ Hitler continued, ‘the surprised faces of my comrades when we met face to face with the Tommies in Flanders’, when they found the British soldier to be a much more formidable proposition than they had expected. If the individual Briton was tough and courageous, collectively they were formidable. The British Empire, in Hitler’s judgement, which was widely shared at the time, was simply the ‘greatest power on earth’. ‘How difficult it is,’ he elaborated, ‘to beat the British, we Germans know only too well.’78

It was therefore hardly surprising that Mein Kampf and Hitler’s speeches were concerned with examining the basis for Britain’s superiority. Partly, it was a question of will. Hitler praised the ‘brutality’ – a compliment in his lexicon – of Lloyd George in the war. He admired Britain’s willingness to continue the struggle, despite the U-boat threat, ‘whatever it costs’. Partly, it was a matter of clever propaganda. Hitler spoke of the ‘psychological superiority of the Briton’, who had defined the war as one for ‘freedom’ against German despotism. Partly, it was a question of careful strategy, a husbanding of resources. Hitler noted approvingly that the British invested their blood wisely and sparingly, pushing others to the front first. It would be, however, ‘a stupidity to believe that the Briton will never be ready to sacrifice his own’. ‘He will commit his blood,’ he claimed, ‘when it becomes necessary to do so.’ Partly, it was a matter of superior national coherence. ‘When the fur begins to fly,’ he noted, ‘the British unite as a race’; not so the Germans. Hitler lauded British social legislation as pioneering because it ‘preserved the British people for the British state’. The success of this policy, he argued, had been seen during the war when British workers had been largely patriotic. Partly, it was the ability of Britain to secure a huge global empire and to turn it to her political and military advantage in Europe. Here Hitler spoke of the ‘characteristic of British statecraft to turn political power into economic gain, and to convert every economic gain immediately back into political power’.79

Hitler was well aware of the centrality of parliament to British history and her strength in the world. He spoke of ‘England, the land of classical “democracy”’, as the ‘model of this [sort of] entity’. Hitler claimed that as a young man, his extensive newspaper reading had given him, ‘a certain enduring admiration for the British parliament’. That admiration was still clearly visible in the mid 1920s. Hitler had at least a passing acquaintance with the layout and decor of the Palace of Westminster, which he found aesthetically more pleasing than the Austro-Hungarian assembly. ‘When Barry first let his parliamentary palace rise out of the waters of the Thames,’ he wrote, ‘he reached into the history of the British Empire’ to find inspiration for the ‘1,200 niches, corbels and pillars’. ‘In this way,’ he continued, Westminster ‘became a temple to the glory of the nation.’80 Paradoxically, Hitler regarded ‘parliamentarism’ as ruinous to German unity, but central to British power. The apparent contradiction is resolved by the fact that he believed the more coherent British were ready for democracy in ways that the Germans were not.

Hitler’s admiration for Britain and its empire was matched, and in many ways exceeded, by his admiration for the United States. This did not stem from any Karl-May-style ‘wild-west’ romanticism on Hitler’s part, but rather expressed his belief in the modernity and vast industrial potential of the New World.81 Reflecting his growing preoccupation with ‘space’, Hitler was mesmerized by the sheer scale of America. The future of the world belonged to the ‘giant states’ and first among them was the US.82 In one speech he contrasted ‘how ridiculously small the area of current German settlement was, which one could traverse north to south by car in eighteen hours, while the express trains of the United States required six days in order to get from one ocean to the other’. In Mein Kampf he referred to the ‘incredible internal power’ of the ‘American Union’, and the ‘gigantic colossus of the American state with its huge treasures of virgin soil’. Here Hitler was referring not so much to minerals as to food security. ‘In North America,’ he argued, ‘which has gigantic grain-producing areas, it is not like with us.’ There you found ‘the best soil for growing grain, which does not need to be fertilized, earth which one farmed with the best machinery’.83

The principal reason for the strength of the United States, Hitler believed, was demographic. It was peopled by the allegedly racially sound descendants of British emigrants, and the best elements of continental Europe. In Mein Kampf, Hitler spoke of the ‘opening up of the American continent’ by ‘Aryans’. Foremost among these, at least numerically, were the Germans forced out by lack of living space at home in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries and the oppressions of international capitalism in the twentieth century. ‘Over centuries,’ he wrote, ‘the German emigrated to the other world [a shorthand for the Anglo-Saxon capitalist world] as the fertilizer for other peoples, as the cultural fertilizer for other nations.’ ‘This migration to America,’ he told an audience on the subject of German emigration, ‘made that country great.’ Moreover, it had been the best who left. ‘Endless droves of German farmers’ sons went across the great water, across the Ocean to America,’ Hitler claimed, ‘this flow lasted for centuries and it involved the best elements which our people possessed.’ Hitler’s belief in the German contribution to the growth of the United States was so great that, repeating a tenacious canard in contemporary discourse, he claimed German had nearly become the language of the young Republic.84

Hitler was well aware, of course, that the establishment of the United States had only been possible through the expropriation, deportation and murder of the native American Indians. ‘Three hundred years ago,’ he argued, ‘New York was a fishing village’ when ‘more and more people moved west and took possession of a new world’. ‘This did not happen through peaceful discussion,’ Hitler continued, but through the use of ‘firearms and not least of firewater [meaning alcohol] until the red nation [Native Americans] succumbed’. ‘Then one criss-crossed the area with a system of roads and railways,’ Hitler went on, ‘and there followed the founding of gigantic cities, until finally the white race controlled the entire continent, which today represents a cornerstone of the white race.’ He accused the pacifists, socialists and liberals who had fled Germany for America of ‘forgetting’ that it was a country which had not been presented to the ‘white man’ by a ‘host of angels’, but rather taken from the ‘redskins’ with ‘powder and shot’, and brandy.85 Hitler, in short, believed that American power rested on the violent seizure of land originally belonging to another people.

The price of demographic purity was eternal racial vigilance.86 Here again, Hitler saw the United States as paradigmatic. Claiming that ‘the result of every mixture of blood of the Aryan with lower peoples was the end of that culture’, he contrasted ‘North America, whose population consists largely of Germanic elements, which only mixed very little with lower coloured races’, with Central and South America, where the mainly Latin immigrants had allegedly engaged in a much more profound mixing with the original population. He therefore concluded that ‘the racially pure and unadulterated Germanic [inhabitant] rose to be master of the American [and] will remain master so long as he did not fall victim to contamination (Blutschande)’. Her immigration legislation, he noted approvingly, specifically discriminated against Asians, coloured and especially east European migrants. This was by no means enough, Hitler averred, but far better than the German situation. ‘Because the American Union refuses entry to medically poor elements,’ he wrote, and ‘simply excludes certain races from citizenship, she is already taking the idea of a Völkisch state in embryonic form.’ Hitler therefore saw the United States as the best example of the ‘survival instinct’ of the ‘white man’ and the most effective bulwark against the ‘negrification’ of the world.87

If racial degeneracy could generally be traced to some sort of miscegenation, Hitler also believed that it could also result from behavioural flaws. High on his list of vices was alcohol, which he regarded as an agent of corruption. ‘Alcohol,’ he claimed, ‘is harmful to humanity’ and had ‘already destroyed’ many more valuable Germans over the century than had been lost on the battlefield in the same period. ‘Alcohol,’ Hitler continued, ‘is one of the worst causes of degeneration,’ and he referred once again to the ‘gruesome examples of the history of various colonial peoples’.88 For this reason, Hitler was deeply impressed by the introduction of Prohibition in the United States in 1920, following a series of state-level bans in preceding decades. This set him apart not only from the beer- and wine-drinking German mainstream, but also from German-America, for whom the resulting loss of the beer-garden culture was particularly traumatic.89 The Americans, he argued, took better care of the development of their race. ‘A whole continent has declared war on alcohol poisoning,’ Hitler wrote, ‘in order to release a people from the devastating grip of this vice.’ He warned that ‘if the European states did not soon solve the alcohol question in the American sense, then America will completely rule the world in 100 years’.90

Hitler was also deeply impressed by what he regarded as the American socio-economic model, whose merits he had already acknowledged in Landsberg. Unlike hidebound Germany, it provided the opportunity for the development of talents across the social spectrum. ‘If in the last decades the number of important inventions has increased especially in North America,’ he argued, then this was not least due to the fact that ‘many more talents from the lower classes enjoyed the chance of higher education than was the case in Europe.’ American modernity was evident particularly in the rapid motorization of the continent: here Hitler claimed that ‘there was one car per inhabitant in North America’. Unlike many contemporary critics of technological change, Hitler saw it as an unalloyed good. To those who claimed ‘that new technology led to ever more unemployed’ he countered that ‘these inventions in turn created new jobs’. In particular, he celebrated Henry Ford, whose employees were able to afford their own car and home. This made them immune to the revolutionary virus. The American worker had thus been ‘nationalized’,91 an achievement which Hitler hoped to replicate in Germany.

Hitler not only admired and feared Britain and the United States individually, he also regarded them as fundamentally akin. They enjoyed, though he himself did not quite put it that way, a ‘special relationship’. Hitler did speak specifically of the ‘sense of linguistic and cultural community’ between Britain and the ‘American Union’. Hitler described them collectively as ‘Anglo-Saxons’ and spoke of ‘the past drive of the Anglo-Saxon to establish world domination’. His main concern, therefore, was the power of Anglo-America: how it could be imitated, reconciled, appeased, deterred, contained or at the very least delayed. He attributed Germany’s defeat in 1918 to a combination of British skill in marshalling a global coalition before the conflict, her courage and ‘brutality’ during the war and her ability to undermine Germany from within, supported by American economic intervention from the start. He also claimed that shortly after the outbreak of war in 1914 ‘American shrapnel’ exploded over the heads of the German columns.92

The main threat posed by Anglo-America was not industrial, however, but demographic. The descendants of the Germans whom the Reich had exported in the nineteenth century for want of land to feed them were now on the Anglo-American side. ‘Whether it is 9 or 10 million Germans live in the North American Union is hard to say,’ he claimed, ‘but these Germans were lost to Germany from the start.’ Hitler made a list of all the Germans living overseas. He claimed that the shells which had detonated over his head in the autumn of 1914 were ‘produced in American factories with German workers at the machines’.93 The topic of ‘German engineers’ working for the American war economy was one to which he would return much later in his career.

More importantly, Hitler believed that Germany’s demographic surplus had recrossed the Atlantic to fight against the Reich as American soldiers during the final stages of the war. In the mid and late 1920s, Hitler repeatedly came back to the moment ‘in the midsummer of 1918, when the first American soldiers appeared on the battlefields of France, well-grown men, men of our own blood, whom we had deported for centuries, who were now ready to grind the motherland itself into the mud.’94 ‘These lads, blond and blue-eyed, who are they really?’ he asked on another occasion, making the racial connection explicit. ‘They are all former German farmers’ sons. Now they are our enemies.’95 Moreover, the Germans who had left were always ‘the best’ (‘das Beste’), the most dynamic elements. ‘That all added up,’ he argued, ‘and gave a new continent a particular high-value character. We encountered it 1918 on the western front.’96 The world war, one might say, had effectively been a German civil war. It was the ur-trauma which drove so much of his subsequent policy and programme.

The racial struggle which Germany had just lost, and she desperately needed to win the next time around, was therefore not primarily that between German and Slav or Jew, but the conflict between the Germans and an Anglo-America enriched by the most racially valuable elements of German society. It was, although Hitler did not quite put it that way, the confrontation between Teuton and Anglo-Saxon.

This is what Hitler was referring to in Mein Kampf when he spoke of the future ‘general war struggle of the peoples’. He meant the final showdown not with the Jews, but rather with the other so-called Aryan or Nordic powers, namely Britain and the United States. ‘If two peoples which are [racially] similarly inclined [i.e. both are Aryan] compete with each other,’ he wrote, ‘then victory will go to the one whose leadership has drawn on the best talents available,’ whereas defeat awaited the people ‘whose leadership was no more than a giant feeding trough for particular estates and classes’, without consideration for the ability of its individual member.’ If possible, however, such a confrontation should be avoided and he warned of ‘hatred against Aryans, from whom we might be divided on almost every issue’, and yet with whom Germans were ‘connected by shared blood’ and a ‘common culture’.97 Here it was the deadly narcissism of small racial difference that Hitler feared, especially as he believed Anglo-America to be the stronger of the two sides, both quantitatively and qualitatively.

It is in this context of Hitler’s overarching preoccupation with Britain and the United States that Hitler’s anti-Semitism should primarily be understood. He associated Jews not only with Anglo-American international capitalism, but also with the rise of racial false consciousness in the British Empire and the United States. In Mein Kampf, Hitler spoke of ‘a Manchester liberalism of Jewish mindset’. He further claimed that ‘Jews are the regents of the stock exchange forces of the American Union’, who became with every passing year increasingly the ‘controllers of the working power of a people of 120 million’. It was this power, Hitler argued, that enabled them to turn the immense force of Anglo-America against their fellow Aryans in the Reich. The ultimate aim, he claimed, drawing explicitly on the old conspiracy theory of the Protocols of the Elders of Zion, was the implementation of an ‘action programme’ for their plans for ‘world conquest’ based on ‘the extermination of peoples’.98 Worse still, as we have seen, the Jews allegedly undermined Germany at home, politically, culturally and racially, reducing her resistance to outside domination. Even on its own terms, of course, this theory suffered from some obvious internal contradictions. If the Jews were so inherently parasitical and disintegrative, why had they not also enfeebled Anglo-America? Conversely, if Anglo-America was as strong as he made out, then why had it not rid itself of the Jews? Be that as it may, Hitler’s belief in the Anglo-American-Jewish symbiosis was sincerely held.

Much of this merely repeated what Hitler had been saying for some time, even if at greater length and with some important elaborations. The dangers of emigration and the power of Anglo-America had been among his earliest themes in 1919–20, and if they had been somewhat obscured by the dramas of 1921–3, they re-emerged with new vigour in the mid 1920s. Hatred of the Jews, the distinction between national and international capitalism, the need for territorial expansion to balance the great world empires and unions, the inadequacy of a purely economic or colonial response to the threats facing Germany, warnings about the dangers of domestic division, attacks on federalism and separatism, hostility to the Habsburgs, the primacy of foreign policy, the sense of Germany’s national enslavement by the Entente and international capitalism, fear of encirclement, the need for an Italian alliance, the importance of propaganda, and the Führer concept were hardy perennials.99 So were his rejection of alliances with the other global ‘have-nots’, parliamentarism and elections, the restoration of the monarchy and aristocracy, the League of Nations or global governance generally, Zionism, and the nostrums offered by the mainstream conservative nationalist right. These themes remained part of Hitler’s repertoire, to varying degrees, right down to the end in 1945.

That said, there were important shifts evident in Hitler’s thinking. Some topics were receding. There was less emphasis on the racial danger posed by French colonial forces of occupation, and indeed on the threat of French domination more generally; this peaked in 1921–3. German separatism, especially the Bavarian variety, remained a concern, but it never reached the fever pitch consuming Hitler just before and after the Munich Putsch. Some important new themes were also visible. In part, these reflected the changed political and geopolitical situation, or were made possible by them. If Hitler had once expected a nationalist restoration of the old Russia, and an end to ‘Judaeo-Bolshevik’ domination in the interests of international capital, he was now convinced that the Russian Revolution was there to stay. He stepped up his anti-communist broadsides, and while he never changed his view that Bolshevism was essentially an instrument of international capitalism, a superstructural phenomenon, Hitler did assign it a greater relative autonomy from then on. He spoke of the ‘world plague of Bolshevism’, the need for an ‘ideological war of destruction against Marxism and its puppeteers’ and proclaimed the NSDAP the ‘fanatical mortal foe of Marxism’.100

Crucially, Hitler was referring here to the threat of global communism, which in his view was directed from London and New York, in the interests of international capitalism, or the threat of a communist takeover in Germany, either electorally or by force of arms. Hitler still did not identify the Soviet Union itself as a serious military challenge, however, and – at this time at any rate – he spoke generally of ‘Marxism’ rather than of the more specifically Russian ‘Bolshevism’. The main purpose of his anti-communist rhetoric, therefore, was not so much to appeal to the German bourgeoisie as to demonstrate to the various party factions that the situation in eastern Europe had changed, and that Nazi grand strategy must change with it. An alliance with Russia, a stock demand not only of the Conservative right, but also of the more left-wing party element such as Goebbels and the Strassers, was ruled out as pointless and even pernicious; here Hitler explicitly rejected the Bismarckian tradition.101 More importantly, the continuing weakness of Russia now provided an opportunity to address Germany’s crucial geopolitical weakness, the lack of space to accommodate her alleged demographic surplus.

The solution, Hitler argued, lay in overcoming the mismatch between space and population growth in Germany. ‘We find ourselves today in a world of emerging great powers [he meant something close to the concept of ‘superpowers’],’ he wrote, ‘in which our own Reich is declining ever more into irrelevance’ because of its small size. ‘Only a sufficiently large space on this earth secures a people’s freedom of existence’ in the context of its geopolitical exposure. For this reason, he claimed, ‘the National Socialist movement must try to eliminate the discrepancy between our population and the size of our territory,’ both from the perspective of ‘food supply’ and from the strategic point of view. He had already rejected the Caprivian idea of exporting goods rather than people, and the return of colonies. Both solutions, Hitler argued, were vulnerable to naval and commercial coercion by Anglo-America. He also dismissed the standard nationalist demand for a restoration of the borders of 1914, which would do no more than simply restore the unsatisfactory geopolitical constellation under which the Reich had lost the war.102

Instead, he called for territorial expansion – ‘living space’103 – within Europe, contiguous or nearly so with the German Reich, to wit in ‘Russia and her vassal states’. He summarized all this in a concluding passage which subsequently became notorious. ‘With this,’ he concluded, ‘we Germans consciously draw a line beneath the foreign policy of the pre-war period.’ ‘We start,’ he continued, ‘where one stopped six hundred years ago. We will end the eternal march of the Germans to the south and west of Europe and turn our eyes to the land in the east.’ ‘We will finally end the trade and colonial policy of the pre-war period,’ Hitler went on, ‘and go over to the territorial policy of the future.’ Here he had in mind ‘in the first instance only Russia and the neighbouring states subject to it’.104

Here Hitler meant neither Poland nor Czechoslovakia, but the Soviet Union. It was singled out not because it was the chief Jewish enemy, but for the entirely opposite reason that Jewish subversion there had rendered the territory ripe for takeover by Germany. The Soviet Union was to be attacked because it was weak, not because it was a threat. To be sure, Hitler, who had hitherto shown no hostility towards Slavs as such, now expressed a racial antagonism against them, albeit much milder than that which he showed towards the Jews. In Mein Kampf he attributed the historic strength of the Russian state to the ‘state effectiveness of the [mainly Baltic] Germanic element in an inferior race’,105 which had been ‘completely exterminated and extinguished’ by the Revolution. It is also true that he preached the need to extirpate world communism, but here he had a more global threat in mind (more virulent in the democratic and capitalist west) than a specifically Soviet one. The crucial point is that Hitler did not primarily justify the quest for Lebensraum with the inherent inferiority of the Slav population there, as an ideological war against Bolshevism, or even as a first step towards the annihilation of the Jews in Europe. His main motive was that Germany, weak herself, would in his view have to colonize her even weaker neighbour before she was herself completely enslaved. Hitler targeted the Soviet Union not so much for what it was (ideologically), as for where it lay (geographically). There was, so to speak, nothing personal about it.

His aim throughout was not world domination, but simple national survival. There was, Hitler averred, no room for half-measures. Germany would have to be a world power, or she would go completely under. The half-measures and restraint of Bismarck’s times, he argued, were outdated in a world of global empires. ‘Germany will either be a world power or nothing,’ Hitler wrote, ‘but to be a world power one needs the necessary size.’ This meant, he concluded, that ‘the German people will only be able to guarantee their future through world power’.106 Hitler may have spoken privately of his hopes for world hegemony, but this was probably bluster.107 It is more likely that, at least at this stage, Hitler did not envisage ‘world domination’ by Germany, as opposed to the ‘world power’ status necessary for her very survival.

To sum up: the driving force behind Hitler’s strategy in the mid 1920s, as in the period immediately after the First World War, remained fear and admiration of Anglo-America. Lebensraum in the east would kill two birds with one stone. First, it would provide Germany with the critical territorial mass necessary to balance the American Union and the British Empire, and to some extent that of France as well. Secondly, eastward expansion would secure the raw materials and especially the farmland necessary to feed the German demographic surplus. Eastern colonization was the answer to pernicious transatlantic and antipodean migration. Hitler was proposing to strike east, but he was really looking west.

Hitler’s geopolitical shift towards Lebensraum in the mid 1920s was matched by an equally important transformation, or at least elaboration, in his thinking about domestic politics. This was his increasingly evident racial pessimism about the German people. He lamented ‘our own fragmentation of the blood’ as the result of ‘centuries of racial decay’. Germany’s internal divisions since the Reformation, Hitler argued, and the resulting external interference, had subverted the Aryan character of her people. ‘With the Thirty Years War,’ he claimed, ‘a slow decline of our national power began.’ The Reich was torn apart by confessional, class, political and regional differences. Worse still, Germany’s exposed geopolitical position left her vulnerable to constant racial contamination. ‘The geographically disadvantageous location of Germany,’ he argued, ‘facilitates a continuous influx which naturally results in hundreds of thousands of bastards.’ Moreover, in his view the weakness of Germany meant that there was no effective immigration control. ‘Everybody,’ he complained, ‘is indiscriminately admitted into Germany.’108

As if all this were not bad enough, the German people was further weakened by mass emigration because it was always the best and brightest who left. ‘Hundreds and thousands of the best elements,’ he lamented, ‘were lost to our people for all time and with it we perhaps lost the most valuable [and] most energetic blood.’ In Mein Kampf he wrote that ‘experience has shown’ that it was usually the ‘healthiest and most energetic’ who emigrated. The result, Hitler argued, was that ‘our German people are no longer based on a unitary racial core’, so that the basic racial elements were diffused not only territorially, but also within territories. In Germany, he went on, ‘we find Slavic next to Nordic, Dinaric next to Slavic, western next to both of these and [various] mixtures interspersed’. 109 The German Volk was thus not co-terminous with the Nordic race. On the contrary, it was in his view locked into a downward racial spiral, in which the path dependency of uninterrupted racial decline rendered the Reich incapable of preventing further contamination and emigration.

Hitler’s preoccupation with Anglo-America only sharpened this sense of German racial inadequacy. He admired the ‘racial instincts in foreign countries’ by which the people rallied in ‘critical moments’ by ‘thinking the same thing and coming to the same decisions’, because in the end ‘the language of blood will out’. Here he had in mind particularly those who could look back on a long, unbroken national history. ‘That is not the case in Germany,’ he claimed, ‘that is the case in Britain,’ which had risen continuously over the past 300 years. ‘In this way,’ Hitler continued, ‘the British nation could fuse into a unity whose granite-like ability to resist could no longer be shaken.’ Unlike the Germans, it was ‘belief and pride’ which united the British.110 Hitler, in other words, was in no doubt that the British, and their descendants in North America, enjoyed a substantially higher average racial value than the German people.

This sense of hierarchy was confirmed by his engagement with American racial theorists. Hitler was familiar with Madison Grant, whose sensational Passing of the Great Race was translated into German and widely discussed in 1925, though it seems that the racial chapters of Mein Kampf were already complete by then.111 Grant’s book is usually taken as a contribution to anti-black racism in America, but its most remarkable feature was the author’s clear stratification of the white races, and his unflattering view of the quality of German immigrants. According to him, only about 9 or 10 million Germans out of a total of some 70 million in 1914 were truly Nordic. This categorization gave considerable offence in 1920s Germany, especially on the right, but Hitler accepted the analysis. ‘On the strength of the work of an American scholar [Grant] who proves that Germany hardly contains 9 to 10 million really Nordic-Aryan people,’ Hitler argued, ‘the American Union has established the immigration quotas. It privileges those from the Scandinavian countries, from Britain and only in third place those from Germany because it is already racially inferior.’ He noted with approval that, unlike Germany, the United States ‘does not allow every Polish Jew to immigrate’ but ‘puts a limit on numbers’.112 There was no contradiction between this view and Hitler’s despair about emigration. The Germans who went to the United States might be inferior to the resident Anglo-Saxons, but they were the best of a bad lot, he thought.

There was, in his view, a silver lining to this dark racial cloud. There had at least not been a ‘crossbreeding’ at the level of the lowest common denominator, creating a ‘general racial mish-mash’. The ‘blessing’ of this absence of ‘complete [racial] mixing’ was that we ‘today still have in the body of the German people large quantities of unadulterated Nordic-German people who constitute our most important treasure for the future’. Once Hitler came to power, the mining of that treasure was to be as important as the removal of what he considered racial dross. For now, the uneasy co-existence of various so-called unassimilated elements in the German people meant that ‘at least part of our best blood remained pure and escaped racial decline’. This left open the possibility of selecting and multiplying the best strains in the existing German Volk. Hitler therefore defined the ‘truly supreme mission’ of the National Socialist state as putting the German people on a racially sound basis. ‘The German Reich,’ he wrote, should be a state ‘encompassing all Germans with the task not only of collecting and maintaining the most valuable original racial elements but also of slowly and surely raising these to a dominant position.’113 In other words, for Hitler, eliminating the Jews and other ‘undesirable’ elements was a necessary but not a sufficient condition for racial salvation. It was the perceived racial fragility of the German people itself, especially when contrasted to the vitality of Anglo-America, which was his greatest concern.

From now on, Hitler’s racial thought and later racial policy would have two linked but separate planks. His ‘negative eugenics’ sought to eliminate the allegedly negative through the removal of ‘inferior’ elements deemed ‘harmful’ to the racial body politic, especially Jews, but also gypsies, the disabled and the insane.114 His ‘positive eugenics’ sought to accentuate the positive, by elevating the allegedly ‘superior’ elements. Hitler started from his crucial distinction between the German Volk – which in his view was made up of many different racial strands – and the Nordic or Aryan race – which only constituted a minority within it. One way or the other, he warned in the penultimate paragraph of Mein Kampf, ‘a state which devotes itself to the care of its best racial elements in an age of [general] racial contamination will one day became the lord of the world’.115 This was a role which Hitler would have very much liked to claim for Germany, but his fear was that it would go to the United States.

Hitler’s solution to all this was not based on any sort of Germanic, esoteric or supernatural faddery; these theories helped Germans to transcend their ‘subaltern’ European status after 1918.116 Unlike many contemporary ‘Völkisch’ activists, and some later prominent National Socialists, especially the subsequent SS leader Heinrich Himmler, Hitler had little time for abstruse Aryan theories or the celebration of the ancient Germanic tribes. In Mein Kampf, Hitler made fun of these enthusiasts. ‘If anything is “unvölkisch”,’ he wrote, ‘then it is this throwing around of particularly old Germanic expressions.’ He lampooned the ‘German-Völkisch wandering scholars’ and the ‘Völkisch Methuselahs’. Hitler sneered at ‘old Germanic heroism, from time immemorial [with] stone axes etc.’ as portrayed by bearded ‘Völkisch comedians’. Hitler also rejected the old strategies of Germanization. ‘Nationality, or rather race,’ he explained, ‘doesn’t lie in language but in the blood.’ He insisted, in a phrase that was to resonate later, that ‘Germanization could only be carried on on the soil and not on the individual’.117

Instead, Hitler argued, the restoration of German racial coherence required a multi-pronged strategy. Central to it was discipline. This was a reflection not of German strength, but of German weakness. The British, he believed, did not need discipline in the same way; it came to them naturally. ‘When the going gets tough,’ he argued, ‘the British stand there as one race.’ ‘The minute it gets tough in Germany’, by contrast, ‘the deep-seated instincts’ and ‘blood composition’ of the German people came to the surface. In Mein Kampf he wrote that ‘no new race was being distilled in Germany but rather the various racial elements continued to exist beside each other, with the result that the German people [tended] to disperse in all directions’ when challenged. This meant that the Germans needed to be drilled into racial coherence. ‘Much of what appears so natural to the foreigner,’ he continued, ‘still needs to be laboriously taught to our people.’ ‘For us,’ Hitler went on, ‘discipline’ compensates for the lack of ‘blood-based instinct’. ‘That is the only way of getting men into line.’ One of the ways this could be done, he wrote in Mein Kampf, was through conscription, and he praised the way in which Prussian universal military service had made good some of the centuries of German ‘fragmentation of the blood’.118 The restoration of conscription, Hitler argued, was therefore essential not merely for the defence of the Reich but for the racial coherence of the Volk.

This is the deeper background to Hitler’s reorganization and reorientation of the SA after his release. In part, this was a question of ensuring that activists did not endanger the new ‘legal’ strategy. The main reason, however, was that Hitler saw the SA not as the vehicle for Germany’s military revival but as the motor of her moral and racial regeneration. He issued a new ‘statute’ for the SA in mid September 1926, which laid down that ‘any sort of excesses should be avoided’, ‘should lend our public appearance an impressive and dignified character’. Its technical task was to provide ‘stewarding and protection’ for ‘mass meetings’. Hitler ‘strictly forbade’ any sort of ‘military posturing’. ‘The SA,’ he explained, ‘is not a military formation. The military training of the nation is the task of the army and not that of the NSDAP.’ In early November 1926, Hitler established a central SA headquarters in Munich under Franz Pfeffer von Salomon. The task of the SA was not to engage in ‘conspiracy’ but ‘to capture the street’ from ‘Marxism’. More broadly, Hitler wanted the SA to provide at least some of the missing discipline and coherence in German society. For this reason, Hitler argued, the SA must show ‘strict discipline’ to allow Germany to recover over the long term.119

This was important because, as we have seen, Hitler’s time horizon, which had shortened considerably in 1923, lengthened once more after the failure of the Putsch. He was now expecting the revival of Germany to take generations. ‘The battle for the National Socialist idea,’ he warned one audience, ‘could perhaps last decades, perhaps centuries.’120 The wooing of the German workers, he wrote in Mein Kampf, ‘was a process of transformation and convergence which would not be completed in ten or twenty years but by experience will take many generations’.121 ‘Jewish bastardization and Jewish contamination of the blood,’ Hitler feared, ‘can only be removed from our national body politic in the course of centuries if at all.’122 In February 1927, he wrote that ‘the welding together of a medley of people from such heterogeneous backgrounds required a process that would take decades’.123 He would need a long timeline for the implementation of both positive and negative eugenics.

Hitler sought no less than to reverse the political effects of the Reformation, and the Thirty Years War, which he regarded as the root of Germany’s fragmentation. Hitler criticized ‘Ultramontanism’ – that is the tendency of Catholics to place allegiance to the Pope over that to the state – and the allegedly anti-nationalist tendencies in the nineteenth-century church. He accused the church of not ‘feeling with the German people’ and consequently praised the late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century ‘Away from Rome movement’ as overcoming the ‘unfortunate split in the church’ in the interests of the ‘internal power of the Reich’. He saw it perpetuated in the form of the Catholic Centre Party, one of the key groups in Weimar Germany, and the sister party of the hated Bavarian BVP. Hitler bemoaned the fact that ‘religious feelings still run deeper today than all national or political considerations’.124 He spoke of the ‘brazenness with which one attempted to identify the Catholic belief with a political party’. In this sense, Hitler was more comfortable with Protestantism, ‘which better represented German concerns’. This was the main stated reason for his antagonism to organized Christianity, and especially to the most organized church, Roman Catholicism, though his private enmity went much deeper than that. His hostility was political rather than metaphysical.

That said, unlike many other right-wing ideologues, Hitler believed that a compromise was possible, especially with Roman Catholicism, by taking the church out of politics. To the disgust of many Völkisch activists, and party members such as Ernst Count Reventlow, he therefore preached that one should continue to attack Catholic political parties and internationalist sympathies, but avoid slighting purely religious sensibilities. The Centre Party was to be opposed not for confessional reasons, but ‘solely for national-political reasons’. ‘If you consider yourself appointed by destiny to preach the truth,’ he wrote, ‘then do that, but then also have the courage not to do this under the guise [Hitler’s exact word was Umweg] of a political party.’ In return, Hitler promised to keep the NSDAP out of religion. ‘Political parties,’ he insisted, ‘have no business getting involved with religious issues’ so long as these did not undermine the morality of the race. Hitler refused to take sides between religions.125

Hitler saw a central role for the arts and the humanities in the racial recovery of Germany. Cultural activity, he believed, helped to distil and refine the best elements in the German people. In some ways, this was an exercise in cultural nationalism, as Hitler insisted on the value of nineteenth-century German painting and music over contemporary aberrations. In other ways, it was a more universalist project, which appealed not to the Gothic or Germanic past, but to the European classical tradition.126 One should study antiquity for the ‘preservation of the nation,’ he argued, because it ‘remains the first teacher not only for today but for all time’. ‘In future,’ he continued, ‘the Hellenic cultural ideal should remain preserved for us in all its beauty.’ He also saw an important role for history. It should be taught not as ‘learning off by heart or rattling off of historical dates’, but as a teleological quest for ‘the forces’ which were ‘the cause of the effects which we then perceive as historical events’. Its ‘main value lies in the recognition of the great lines of development’, because one learns history as a teacher for the future and in order to secure the survival of one’s people.127

The exercise of Führer powers might be charismatic and autocratic, but its basis was popular. Hitler insisted that ‘extraordinary geniuses do not need to make allowance for ordinary humanity’, because although they might have ‘advisers’ by their side, ‘the decision was made by one man alone’. This was necessary if only to secure the succession. He spoke of the need for a ‘true Germanic democracy in the free choice of the leader, who would have to take over full responsibility for all actions and omissions. In this system, Hitler continued, ‘there would be no vote on individual questions’. Moreover, perhaps inspired by the Westminster example, he accepted that ‘parliaments are necessary’ because they provided a mechanism through which those ‘heads’ who would ‘later be given special tasks’ could ‘slowly be raised up’.128 Parliament thus had a selective rather than a representative function. This was a sort of democracy, though not as we know it. Hitler laid down the principle of one man, one woman, one vote, once, at least for the lifetime of the Führer. Thereafter, parliament could counsel, but it could not control. He called this ‘Germanic Democracy’.

The publication of the second volume of Mein Kampf in December 1926 marked the completion of an important phase in Hitler’s ideological development. That said, there were some themes which were later to acquire considerable importance which did not feature in Mein Kampf at all, or were not explicit there, or were at least not dealt with in great detail. There was plenty of anti-Semitism, but no express call for the murder of all European Jews.129 There was a demand for the seizure of ‘living space’ in the east by military means, to be sure, but this was conceived of as an instrument to balance over-mighty Anglo-America rather than necessarily as a blueprint for another world war (provided the western powers allowed him to expand eastwards). The importance of the United States was evident, in his speeches rather more than in Mein Kampf, but a sustained engagement with the ‘American Union’ was yet to come. There was also no statement on the related ‘European Question’, which was already a matter of keen debate not merely in Germany as a whole but within the party itself. Hitler, in other words, was not yet arrived at his final doctrinal destination. He had another book in him, which – as we shall see – he wrote but never published.
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Regaining Control of the Party

Hitler elaborated his ideological positions over and over again, in public and in private, in order to re-establish ideological coherence in the party and thereby his own authority. There was, at first, considerable resistance. Hitler’s willingness to compromise with Catholicism scandalized many. There was also resistance on the ‘left’. To be sure, Hitler was pushing an open door with anti-capitalism. ‘We will turn National Socialism into a party of class struggle,’ Goebbels wrote in his diary in May 1925, ‘that is good. Capitalism must be called by its name.’ There was a nagging sense of unease, though, as to where Hitler really stood, particularly when he opposed plans to seize the property of the German princes deposed in 1918, a cause dear to many on the left. ‘Will he become a nationalist or socialist?’ Goebbels wondered in mid June 1925. ‘Just as I wanted,’ a reassured Goebbels wrote in July 1925, ‘sharply against bourgeoisie and capitalism. I would be prepared to sacrifice everything for that man.’ Goebbels was also electrified by the publication of the first volume of Mein Kampf in October. ‘I am finishing Hitler’s book,’ he wrote. ‘Who is this man? Half plebeian, half God! Is he really Christ or only John [the Baptist].’1

Not long after, however, Goebbels was assailed by doubts again. Like many ‘northerners’, he feared the ‘pigsty’ in Munich. ‘I am not going to put up with this Byzantinism any longer,’ he despaired, ‘we must get to Hitler.’ Observing the antics of Julius Streicher, Goebbels exclaimed, ‘Poor Hitler! Poor National Socialism!’ Two days later, after he had been offered the role of editor of the Völkischer Beobachter, Goebbels was writing ‘we have sorted things out with Hitler [who] will also draw me in closer’.2 This was to be a common pattern among Hitler’s followers in the mid to late 1920s, and indeed thereafter. They were frequently assailed by doubts, only to have their faith restored by Hitler’s intense entreaties.3 Their conversion was not so much a single road to Damascus experience, as a stop-start process. In some cases, it made the final submission all the more lasting, while in others doubts kept returning until the very end.

The most contentious area remained foreign policy, where the publication of Mein Kampf did not immediately settle matters. Many could not stomach the abandonment of South Tyrol, which Hitler made an absolute test of loyalty, because of the value he placed on Mussolini’s favour. In August 1926, for example, Hans Frank, a loyal member, who later became the governor of Nazi-occupied Poland, temporarily left the party over the issue. The really critical issue, however, was Russia. The left and the ‘northerners’ were wedded to an alliance with a free Russia, and if necessary even with Bolshevik Russia, against Anglo-American Jewish international capitalism. Hitler, of course, wanted to colonize the east, and was determined to stamp out any dissent on the question. He sent Gottfried Feder to a meeting of the Arbeitsgemeinschaft in late January 1926 to enforce the anti-Russian line. This went down very badly with Goebbels, who launched an impassioned attack on ‘western capitalism’ and a defence of a Russian alliance.4

There was also no consensus over the vexed question of internationalism, which Hitler despised, but to which other senior figures remained strongly attached. Gregor Strasser, in particular, was convinced that Germany should make common cause with the ‘have-nots’ of the world, including colonized peoples of colour. He saw Germany as one of the global underdogs, and envisaged her leading a ‘League of Oppressed Peoples’ in alliance with Russia, Morocco, Persia, India and the other wretched of the earth. ‘The fragmented, martyred, exploited, [and] enslaved Germany,’ Strasser argued, ‘was the natural protagonist and ally of all national liberation fighters’, wherever they were oppressed by ‘French tyranny, British imperialism, [and] American financial exploitation,’ that is, virtually the entire world. Goebbels, for his part, was impressed by Gandhi, whom he likened to a ‘messiah’, though he doubted that his non-violent methods could be applied in Germany.5 Strasser’s internationalism also extended to the field of European integration. In late January 1926, he produced a draft of a new party programme in which he called for a ‘United States of Europe as a European League of Nations with a single currency and measurement system’.6

Matters came to a head on 14 February 1926, when Hitler convened a party congress at Bamberg specifically to settle matters of doctrine, in particular foreign policy. There he insisted on the inviolability of the twenty-five-point programme. Significantly, it was grand strategy, not the debate about socialism or the referendum on the expropriation of princely property, which Hitler concentrated on.7 The meeting turned into a Valentine’s Day massacre of foreign policy dissenters on the ‘left’ of the party; it was their internationalism, not their socialism which Hitler objected to. Rehearsing the themes that would appear in the second volume of Mein Kampf a few months later, Hitler rejected an ‘eastern orientation’, on either traditional Bismarckian or contemporary ideological lines, and proclaimed the primacy of eastern ‘policy’, that is the seizure of living space in the east. Goebbels and other critics were aghast at this ‘reactionary’ turn.8

In mid April 1926, Hitler called another meeting in Munich to demand an end to intra-party squabbling and the establishment of conformity over Russia.9 It was attended by most of the main figures, including Hess, Streicher and Goebbels; the latter’s heartfelt outpourings were rewarded by the Führer with a tearful hug. Hitler essentially repeated his stump speech over three hours, but Goebbels was now much more receptive to what he called the ‘Bamberg arguments’. This time he recorded in his diary that Hitler’s remarks were ‘glowing’. ‘Italy and Britain are our allies,’ he wrote approvingly, ‘Russia wants to eat us. All that is in the forthcoming volume of Mein Kampf.’ With respect to the ‘social question’, where Goebbels had long mistrusted Hitler’s ‘reactionary’ tendencies, he now saw ‘completely new insights. He has thought through everything.’ Hitler’s ‘ideal’, Goebbels continued, was ‘a blend of collectivism and individualism’, in which soil belonged ‘to the people’ while production, which was ‘creative’, should be left to private enterprise. ‘Corporations and trusts,’ he continued, ‘will be socialized. One can talk about that.’ Goebbels concluded with the words ‘I bow to the greater, the political genius.’10

Hitler now moved to reorganize the Nazi Party itself and to turn it into an instrument to gain power. He envisaged a vanguardist role for the NSDAP, which would lead society and the electorate, rather than reflect or represent it. ‘A little group of fanatics,’ he proclaimed, ‘carries the mass along with it.’ ‘Look at Russia and Italy,’ Hitler continued, ‘you can only push through the fight for the majority when you have a powerful minority behind you.’ Here, of course, Hitler was making a virtue out of a vice, but the allusion to the Bolshevik model was revealing. The party was given new statutes. A series of guidelines and circulars followed, some laying down general principles, others deciding individual questions of policy or personnel. Deviators were expelled, either at Hitler’s request or on the recommendation of the USCHLA. Members were forbidden to join other parties or groups in order to avoid mixed loyalties. ‘It is a false deduction,’ Hitler explained to Eitel Leopold von Görtz-Wrisberg, a member of the Bundesleitung of the Frontkriegerbund in Thuringia, ‘to rely on a man who also belongs to another association because one never knows whose orders he will actually follow’. Hitler also insisted on the payment of membership dues, if only for psychological reasons. ‘One only loves that,’ he argued, ‘for which one makes sacrifices.’11

Crucial to the effectiveness of the party was the establishment of a focal point – what Hitler called a ‘common apex’ and the ‘real Führer’ – holding the whole organization together. ‘The idea must also have a geographical central point,’ Hitler continued, citing the respective roles of ‘Mecca, Rome, [and] Moscow’, because if that was lacking then there was a danger of fragmentation. ‘The geopolitical [sic] importance of a central focal point of a movement’ should not be underestimated, he elaborated in Mein Kampf, ‘only the availability of a place with the magic of a Mecca or Rome can in the long run give the movement a force’. The new Rome, Mecca and Moscow was to be Munich, whose party organization was placed directly under that of the Reich leadership. He therefore demanded ‘concentration of the entire work initially on one place: Munich’.12

The city was not chosen because of its closeness to National Socialism – the sobriquet ‘capital of the movement’ was still ten years off13 – but for the opposite reason. Official Munich was now deadly hostile, and Hitler was banned from public speaking in Bavaria for more than two years after his release from Landsberg. Some suggested that the NSDAP should shift base to Thuringia, which would have better reflected its Schwerpunkt at the time. Hitler accepted ‘that he now had more followers in the former red Saxony and Thuringia than in nationalist Bavaria’, and that ‘the liberation of Germany might come from the water’s edge [that is from the north] and no longer from Bavaria. Hitler countered, however, that Munich was the Golgotha of Nazism, ‘hallowed ground’, where the ‘blood’ of ‘martyrs’ had been shed in 1923. To leave the city for an ‘easier’ patch would be to break faith with the dead, and indeed would mean ‘the end of the movement’. The fight in Munich should not be ducked. ‘Precisely because’ the NSDAP was being ‘fought the hardest’ in Munich, he explained at an NSDAP ‘leaders conference’ in Rosenheim, ‘this position must not be abandoned’. In his mind, the Bavarian capital was the theatre of a political war of attrition. For all these reasons, Hitler determined that the movement should stick it out in Munich and announced plans to build a party headquarters in the city.14

Munich was also ‘geopolitically’ significant. Hitler explained that it was ‘closer to [our] German brothers in Austria than any other place and provided the best connection to the Anschluss movement’ there.15 Perhaps more importantly, the city was also an excellent jumping-off point to conquer Franconia, which was far more promising terrain in the mid to late 1920s. Hitler’s first major engagement after the refounding of the NSDAP was a speech to 5,000 people in Nuremberg in early March 1925, at a time when he was still banned from speaking in Munich.16 There were more party members there than in Munich.17 He backed Julius Streicher to the hilt, not just against the Weimar authorities but also in the face of bitter criticism within the party. In early December 1925, Hitler went to Nuremberg to testify on Streicher’s behalf in a court case spawned by his persecution of Lord Mayor Luppe. Six months later, Hitler celebrated Nuremberg as a ‘mighty fortress in our movement’.18 It was also no accident that Hitler convened the crucial party congress in the Franconian city of Bamberg, which gave the appearance of meeting the northerners halfway but actually gave him a much greater home advantage than he would have enjoyed in the now largely unsympathetic Bavarian capital. Coburg was another focus of activity.19 Pivoting on Franconia, the party could spread out like an oil slick, especially into Thuringia. Convinced of the effectiveness of the ‘southern’ strategy, Hitler held his nose, tolerated Streicher and Esser and demanded that the rest of the NSDAP fall in line behind them.

The political centrality of Franconia was underlined by the growth of the Nuremberg annual party rally. In August 1927, Nazis converged on the city from all directions; 10,000–15,000 of them, according to the hostile authorities, more if the NSDAP is to be believed. Despite the rain, which forced the cancellation of several events, and the vast expense, it was generally believed to be a success. In a remarkable physical feat, Hitler kept his arm outstretched in salute for more than ninety minutes as his cohorts filed by.20 It was the first time he wore an SA uniform in public, a mark of favour towards his party soldiers but also a sign of confidence that it had internalized his message that power could only be achieved through legal means. Afterwards, attendees repaired to the Luitpoldhain, a large park, where Hitler performed a ‘dedication’ ceremony for twelve NSDAP banners by touching them with another banner, stained with the sacred blood of the hatter Andreas Bauriedl, ‘martyred’ during the failed Munich Putsch.

There was also the considerable cultural importance of Franconia. Hitler drew on the Wagnerian tradition in Bayreuth for strength and inspiration. He invited Winifred and Siegfried to his first major speech after his release in the Munich Bürgerbräukeller on 27 February 1925. Afterwards, he was chauffeured to Plauen and stayed at Wahnfried. Hitler remained in close contact with the Wagners from now on. Sometimes, they came to his Munich flat in Thierschstrasse 41, but more often Hitler went to Bayreuth, regularly stopping off on his way to Berlin. He would then stay in a nearby hotel, and slip into Wahnfried under the cover of darkness. He attended the festival for the first time in August 1925, though as the guest of an unknown benefactor, not as an official invitee; Hitler signed the Bayreuth ‘List of Arrivals’ as a writer, reflecting the fact that he was engaged on volume two of Mein Kampf at the time. Even in that exacting environment, people were impressed by Hitler’s knowledge of music.21 Winifred joined the party in January 1926. Despite rumours at the time and since, her relationship with Hitler – for all its intensity – was not romantic, at least not on his side. Nor was Wagner the inspiration behind Hitler’s anti-Semitism; the composer merited only the briefest of mentions in Mein Kampf.22 Rather, Hitler’s interest in Wagner was artistic and metaphysical; he used the relationship with Winifred to recharge his spiritual batteries. After 1933, his annual visit to Bayreuth would become part of the Nazi political calendar.

Hitler’s interest in Bayreuth was not just personal. Wagner’s operas expressed for him the very profundity of the German soul. Hitler was therefore determined to rescue the Wagnerian tradition from what he classed as foreign contamination, especially the Jews. Here he was somewhat at odds with Winifred and Siegfried, who were desperate to bring Americans to Bayreuth, if only for financial reasons.23 Many of those attending, and some of those performing in the 1920s, were Jews. Hitler refused to attend in 1927, because the bass-baritone singing Wotan, Friedrich Schorr, was of Jewish origin; in fact, he stayed away for the next four years. Goebbels accused Siegfried of crawling to the Jews. More generally, Hitler saw cultural activity and production as an integral part of the racial elevation of the German people. Bringing them to broader attention and understanding was a major concern for him. In the debate between left and right Wagnerians, Hitler sided with the ‘left-winger’ Wilhelm Ellenbogen, who argued that Wagner should be brought to the masses.24

Central, western and northern Germany was as yet less fertile ground for Hitler, but he was determined to change that. In November 1926, he persuaded a reluctant Goebbels to take charge of the party in the imperial capital.25 Goebbels now took the fight to the left in the streets and the neighbourhoods of working-class Berlin. His aim in this ‘battle for Berlin’ was no less than the ‘conquest’ of the city.26 On 1 May 1927, Hitler spoke in the capital at a meeting organized by Goebbels, albeit not in public, because he was still banned from speaking in Prussia. Progress in the north and west was held up by the emergence of a new antagonism in the party, this time between Goebbels and the Strasser brothers. Gregor Strasser had been appointed propaganda leader in September 1926, much to the chagrin of Goebbels, who coveted the role for himself.

Slowly but surely, Hitler sorted out the party. One of the leading conservatives, Count Reventlow, abandoned his cronies Wulle and Gräfe, and swore loyalty to Hitler; Gräfe was ostracized. The leading ‘Völkisch’ critic Artur Dinter was sacked as Gauleiter of Thuringia. ‘There is not the slightest doubt,’ Hess wrote in late March 1927, ‘as to who leads and gives the orders.’ ‘The Führer principle,’ he added, meant that there was ‘absolute authority downward and responsibility upward.’27 Looking back in the summer of 1927, Hitler claimed that he had now cleared up ‘the whole jumble of mutually antagonistic, abusive and slandering groups’ after his release from prison. ‘They had to be disciplined again,’ he said. Dissent was not tolerated. ‘The number of proposals is so great,’ Hitler explained, ‘that they cannot be treated at one great meeting’, quite apart from the fact that such a way of proceeding resembled despised ‘parliamentarism’. These events were intended for mobilization, not consultation or deliberation. ‘The party congress,’ Hitler explained, ‘should fulfil its purpose of giving the movement new impetus through a large assembly of delegates.’28 Most submissions at Nuremberg in 1927 were summarily dismissed by Hitler: ‘Petition pointless’, he would say, ‘petition cannot be implemented’, ‘petition impossible’ or even ‘petition violates our principles’.29 In this sense, Hitler was already practising ‘Germanic Democracy’.

By the end of 1927, things were looking up for Hitler and National Socialism. The speaking bans were progressively lifted: in late January for Saxony, and in early March for Bavaria; he was still not allowed to appear in public in Prussia. Hitler had enforced his ideological line across the board. He had built a capable team. Göring, at least in those days, provided social connections and a sense of élan. Goebbels, who was a genuine intellectual, had a genius for communication. Gregor Strasser brought his considerable organizational skills to the table. Hess, although widely considered to be a crank, was in fact well educated, spoke several languages and wrote extremely well. Many of Hitler’s associates were highly intelligent, none were conventionally stupid. They were, to say the least, a diverse group, intellectually and temperamentally, but each of them brought a range of talents to the party. With the exception of Röhm, who had left in a huff, they were all in for the long haul.

Hitler was also finding his niche personally. He was now very much rooted in a section of Munich society, surrounded by well-wishers and a frequent guest at various salons. His emotional life at the time remains a mystery.30 In March 1925, Hitler felt obliged to deny rumours of an engagement. ‘I am so deeply married to politics,’ he proclaimed, ‘that I cannot allow myself to get engaged.’31 He was close to the daughters and wives of his associates, especially the photographer Heinrich Hoffmann’s daughter Henriette and Hanfstaengl’s wife Helene, a statuesque German-American. These ‘safe’ relationships were completely unphysical. One day in the mid to late 1920s, Hitler reportedly placed his head in Helene’s lap and proclaimed himself her slave. ‘If only,’ he sighed, ‘I had someone like you to look after me.’ When she asked why he did not marry, he replied, ‘I can never marry because my life is dedicated to my country,’ his stock response.32 Hitler’s relationship with his niece Geli, by contrast, was intense and may have been intimate. When she announced in November 1927 that she wanted to marry Emil Maurice, the chauffeur and bodyguard, Hitler erupted in fury. Maurice was sacked the next day.33

Though Hitler had reasserted control over most of the party, the Weimar Republic in turn had stabilized. It was increasingly Americanized, partly in the technological sense that Hitler applauded, but mainly in the financial and cultural sense he so despised. Moreover, the party remained divided both ideologically and in terms of personalities. Few grasped the significance of the United States to Hitler’s thinking, and although the Russian issue was now largely resolved, a new gulf was opening up over the question of European integration, on which the left-wingers remained keen. The ‘left’ had shifted from north Germany to Berlin, and was itself divided between the Strassers and Goebbels. The party was flatlining electorally. Its message seemed oddly out of tune with the parochial concerns of the German people.

Hitler, however, remained unconcerned. He pointedly refused to engage in day-to-day politics, which he accused of ‘smothering’ the idea.34 ‘The life of a people,’ Hitler proclaimed, ‘is not determined by the so-called issues of the day.’ Instead, he argued that ‘the issues of the day are just products of [one] great circumstance which is that we signed the peace treaty [of Versailles] some time ago’. This is why Hitler continued to stress the misery of the German people, even during the relatively good times of what were later known as the ‘golden years’. ‘Even in the field of economics,’ he argued in August 1927, ‘the so-called consolidation is a fallacy or an intentional lie.’ In any case, as we have seen, his timeline for the regeneration of the German people was at this point a very long one. That said, Hitler was also conscious that his opportunity might come well before that. ‘The current period of tranquillity in the world,’ he wrote, ‘gives one the impression that we are standing on firm ground,’ but this was mistaken. ‘The quiet of today,’ Hitler warned, ‘can also be seen’ as merely ‘a lull in the fighting which might already be over tomorrow’.35
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Part Three



UNIFICATION

In his New Year’s greetings to Winifred Wagner, Hitler looked forward to 1928 with optimism. ‘I must only look to the future,’ he wrote, ‘and at the end of this year I now once again joyfully believe in it.’ ‘I now know once more,’ Hitler continued, ‘that fate will bring me to the point where I had hoped to come four years ago [1923].’1 It is hard to tell the reasons for his optimism, but Hitler was to be proved right. Within five years of writing these lines, he had taken power in Germany, not through revolutionary violence as he had attempted in 1923, but by quasi-legal means. Throughout this period, Hitler grappled with questions of unification. He engaged in greater detail with the United States as both a model and a challenge. Hitler also took issue with the idea of European unity, which many Germans then saw as the answer to the twin challenges of Soviet communism and American capitalism. Instead of the chimera of a United States of Europe, he promoted the unification of Germany under his leadership, a prospect which seemed realistic after his election successes in 1930 and 1932. Finally, Hitler also sought to reunify the NSDAP, which was in danger of disintegrating even as his chances of assuming the chancellorship grew.
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The American Challenge

Germany in the late 1920s appeared increasingly stable. Governments and population were becoming more and more reconciled to the power of Anglo-America and international capitalism. Partly, this was for lack of choice. Germany was still subject to a punitive reparations regime, which threatened control of national assets such as the Reichsbahn. Parker Gilbert, the American banker who was agent-general for reparations, insisted on balanced budgets before he would start talks on the remission of reparations payments. Austerity and external subjection seemed to go hand in hand. There was widespread anxiety about the threat of mass emigration, particularly if the economy worsened. Many felt that Germany was too weak to survive as an independent national state and should seek shelter within a United Europe.1 The idea of ‘Pan-Europa’, first mooted in 1923 by Count Richard Coudenhove-Kalergi, the son of an Austro-Hungarian diplomat who had married a Japanese woman, was gaining ground; among his early backers was the Hamburg banker Max Warburg, pointed in his direction by the Rothschilds.2 In 1924 Heinrich Mann published a tract calling for a ‘United States of Europe’ to prevent the continent from becoming an ‘economic colony of America or a military colony of Asia’.3 The Heidelberg Programme of the SPD in 1925 supported the idea of a ‘United States of Europe’. European integration was also very much on the diplomatic agenda with calls for a Franco-German rapprochement finding widespread support in both countries. Others rejected the idea, claiming, as the senior German diplomat Bernhard Wilhelm von Bülow wrote, that ‘in Pan-Europa Germany would play the role of Saxony, at best that of Bavaria’, and that it was in any case with regard to its notions of an ‘international currency’ and ‘absolute freedom of movement’ not ‘realizable’.4

There was also a more positive embrace of the new order, culturally, economically and politically. The largely benevolent conquest of Europe by the United States continued.5 American-style capitalism attracted many Germans.6 The American values of hard work, energy and opportunity were seen as ways of reviving Germany.7 German businessmen made regular pilgrimages across the Atlantic to observe ‘Fordism’ in action. German commentators remarked not merely on the wealth of Americans, but on their splendid physique and open countenance, which contrasted unfavourably with the wizened and downcast aspects of their own compatriots.8 Hollywood took Germany by storm.9 In 1928, the first transatlantic flight by a Zeppelin airship took place, linking the new continent more closely with the Reich from which so many Americans had emigrated. Meanwhile, the economy improved. Radical parties steadily lost ground. A new Germany appeared in the making. It seemed unpromising territory for Hitler and the NSDAP, which had shot to brief prominence in 1923 on the back of severe economic and political dislocation.

Despite this, Hitler threw himself into the Reichstag elections of 1928 with gusto. He raced from meeting to meeting. On one day, Hitler spoke at no fewer than eleven venues in Munich: the Bürgerbräukeller, Augustinerkeller, Hofbräuhauskeller, Franziskanerkeller, Restaurant ‘Zur Blüte’, Malthäserbräu, Arzbergerkeller, Thomasbräukeller, Hackerbräukeller, Schwabingerbräu and Altes Hackerbräuhaus.10 He campaigned on what he regarded as the central issue of the day: Germany’s continuing enslavement by her wartime enemies as represented by the forces of western imperialism and international capitalism. ‘The situation of Germany is comparable to that of a colony,’ he stated. ‘Germany no longer has any sovereignty.’ Famine and emigration, he charged, stalked the land: ‘Ireland’s fate looms threatening before Germany’s future.’ ‘Hitler compares Germany with India,’ one audience member recalls him saying during the latter stages of the Reichstag campaign, ‘which was allowed to keep its princes by Britain, [and] its own representation, [with] the whole parliamentary glamour’, in order to distract from the ‘real truth, that the Briton is the sole lord and the Indian is the slave’. Whether he was speaking of colonialism, Ireland or India, what was driving Hitler was not solidarity with the wretched of the earth, but Germany’s racial relegation. There was, however, also a socialist tinge to his claims. Marxists, Hitler argued, should criticize not German society, but the ‘unjust distribution of the world’s resources’.11 Germany, he was effectively arguing, had been proletarianized in geopolitical terms. It was a theme to which Hitler would return at length after he took power.

The main vehicle of Anglo-American enslavement remained Hitler’s old bugbear, international capitalism, and its directing mind, world Jewry. ‘We know the relationships between these families,’ he thundered at the height of the election campaign, ‘the Warburgs and Friedländer from Berlin to New York.’ ‘If these people agree among themselves,’ he continued, ‘then the end of the German people is at hand.’ In Germany itself, the principal instrument of coercion was the reparations regime. Hitler’s main target here was Parker Gilbert, whose interventions into the parliamentary budgetary discussions had made him something of a hate figure in German society and politics. When Gilbert criticized the Reichstag for debating an increase in civil service pay, Hitler fumed that ‘we are just an international colony, which is exposed to foreign arbitrariness and international exploitation’. He complained that Germany was compelled to hand over ‘entire national properties as collateral for international Jewish big capital’. He accused the government of having ‘mortgaged the entire socialist republic’ just as it had ‘already handed over the German Reichsbahn with all its income to international capital’.12

The NSDAP therefore sidestepped any discussion of economic specifics by arguing that it all came down to politics in the end, in other words, the lost war. Germany’s domestic constitution, the party claimed, was determined by the structures of international governance imposed upon her. ‘Do not speak to me of the Weimar constitution,’ Hitler demanded, ‘our three constitutions are: peace treaty, Dawes Plan and Locarno Pact. Those are the three constitutions according to which Germany is governed.’13 End Germany’s political subjection by the global powers that be, the Nazis argued, and all political, economic or social issues would resolve themselves. When the votes were counted in May 1928, however, it was clear that the Nazis had suffered a catastrophic defeat. The gains made during the 1924 elections were wiped out. It appeared as if the Germans were not looking for a new political movement, a new idea or a new leader after all. To all intents and purposes Nazism seemed extinct as an electoral phenomenon.

To make matters worse, the Nazi Party in 1928 was only slightly less divided than it had been during and immediately after Hitler’s incarceration in Landsberg. The main fractures persisted, and others were soon to appear. Foreign policy was still hotly disputed. Some agreed with Rosenberg that Russia was an ideological enemy to be despoiled; others saw the Soviet Union as a potential ally against Anglo-America. The South Tyrol issue continued to give trouble.14 A new subject of contention was European unity, which found widespread support in the NSDAP.15 Goebbels had looked forward to a time ‘when we have liberated ourselves [and] we can speak of the United States of Europe [as] equal partners’.16 The most ardent supporters of European unity, however, were the Strasser brothers, Otto and Gregor, who saw it as the key to repelling not so much Bolshevik Russia, as the all-consuming ambition of Anglo-American capitalism.

Hitler was also plagued by turf wars and personal squabbles. The perennial bad penny here was Julius Streicher, whose behaviour in Nuremberg outraged even the local party elite, especially the SA, not to mention the rest of the political spectrum. Hitler tried to avoid being sucked in, and in fact gave the city a wide berth for most of 1928. When one of Streicher’s rivals founded a separate Ortsgruppe Nuremberg-Mitte in opposition to Streicher, he merely remarked that ‘this would mean the end of all organization’,17 but did not intervene. It was only after Streicher came out on top that Hitler went to the Franconian capital to shake Streicher’s hand in public and to put the seal on his victory.18 That, however, was not the end of the matter. Later in the year, the party’s arbitration committee was called upon to investigate an anonymous claim that Streicher was conducting ‘champagne parties’ at party expense, but also spreading false rumours about Hitler’s sexual overtures to women. The initiators appear to have been partisans of Artur Dinter, who had been sacked as Gauleiter of neighbouring Thuringia for his attack on the churches. He was now expelled from the party altogether. Streicher had survived again, but he was such a divisive character that it would not be long before his authority was challenged once more.

If Franconia was essentially a sideshow, albeit a particularly lurid one, the disputes between Berlin and Munich, and increasingly within the Berlin party, were more serious. This was partly about policy, with the more ‘left-wing’ northerners pitched against the more conservative southerners. It was also a question of culture and access, however. ‘Munich is governed by a terrible bureaucracy,’ Goebbels wrote in disgust, ‘and the chief is surrounded by a camarilla.’ The main problem, though, was the growing stagfight in Berlin itself between the two ‘left’ factions, around Goebbels and the Strasser brothers. This was essentially a struggle for control of the party propaganda apparatus. Once again, Hitler was repeatedly called upon to intervene. ‘There is no way of dealing with Dr Strasser,’ Goebbels complained, ‘that skunk is too crafty and too mean. Now Hitler will have to lay down the law.’ ‘No answer yet from Hitler,’ he noted disconsolately. When none came, Goebbels considered resignation.19 These rows were complicated by deep differences over economic and social affairs, with Goebbels and the Strasser brothers still prominent on the anti-capitalist ‘left’ of the party. They were all, in different ways, enthusiasts for ‘Europe’, which they saw as the repository of cultural and racial value not so much against Soviet Russia, with which they continued to feel a sense of affinity, as against the Anglo-American capitalist ‘west’.

Hitler did not welcome these and other disputes as an opportunity to divide and rule. On the contrary, he saw them as a waste of his own time and a mortal threat to the unity of the movement. Hitler therefore seized the opportunity of the 1928 Reichstag election campaign to make another attempt to re-establish ideological coherence, to reassert his own authority and to set out a path for German recovery. It was typical of his approach to focus not on the immediate issues of the day but on broad ideological principles.20 Hitler’s text ‘Determination of [our] Standpoint after the Reichstag Election’, later known to English audiences as the ‘Secret’ and then the ‘Second Book’, was begun in the summer of 1928, when Hitler took himself off to the Obersalzberg. ‘Wolf [Hitler] is in Berchtesgaden,’ Winifred Wagner wrote, ‘and is writing a new book, which I am to receive as a birthday present. Hess, who has already had a read, thinks a lot of it.’21

Work continued on the manuscript intermittently for about eighteen months. It drew on many themes that he had long rehearsed in his speeches and publications. Like Mein Kampf, the Second Book needs to be seen in the context of his many other pronouncements at the time, some of which found their way into the text. Its composition also reflects Hitler’s continuing conception of himself as a ‘writer’.22 He was a man of the spoken word, to be sure, but he was also given to programmatic statements and, in his own way, profound thought about the state of the world and Germany’s place in it. The resulting text, when taken together with Hitler’s other statements throughout the mid and late 1920s, is absolutely critical to understanding the development of his thinking and the path which Nazism took after 1933.

The main focus of the text was the overwhelming power of Anglo-America, and especially of the United States. This theme had been present in Mein Kampf, and especially in subsequent speeches, but it now completely dominated Hitler’s thinking. ‘The American Union,’ Hitler argued, ‘has created a power factor of such dimensions that it threatens to overthrow all previous state power rankings’, and had the capacity to challenge even the British Empire. This was partly a question of space. Thanks to the expulsion and extermination of the Native Americans, Hitler argued, land was plentiful. ‘The relationship between the population size and territorial extent of the American continent,’ he wrote, ‘is much more favourable than the analogous relationship of the European peoples to their living spaces.’ Moreover, Hitler added, the United States had great potential for further growth. It contained ‘40 to 50 per cent of all available natural resources’, and its industry not only benefited from a huge domestic market, but was also highly competitive on the world stage. ‘The American Union’, Hitler claimed, was no longer just focused on its ‘internal market’ but now ‘appeared as a world competitor, advantaged by its sources of raw materials, which are as unlimited as they are cheap’.23

Anglo-American superiority was also a question of race. As we have seen, Hitler had come to believe, and continued to believe until the end of his life, in the high racial value of the British, the ‘Anglo-Saxons’, who were one of the world’s ‘master races’. Throughout the late 1920s, he returned to their economic, military, diplomatic, colonial and political strength again and again. The key to British power, however, was demographic. Hitler spoke admiringly of the ‘racial value of Anglo-Saxondom as such’, which constantly thirsted for ‘space’ in order to escape their ‘insular location’. The British, he said, had attempted expansion in Europe but had been frustrated by racially ‘no less’ valuable states; here he may have had the failure of the English medieval empire in France in mind. So instead, London had embarked on a colonial policy whose main aim was to find ‘outlets for British human material’ while ‘maintaining their link to the motherland’ – something which Germany, on his reading, had spectacularly failed to do – as well as markets and raw materials for the British economy. The result, Hitler concluded crushingly, was that the ordinary Briton had the edge over his German counterpart. ‘The German people as such do not measure up to the average value of, for example, the British.’24 In Hitler’s view they were quite simply superior to the Germans.

The other repository of ‘racial value’, on Hitler’s reckoning, was the United States. It had an Anglo-Saxon settler core, enlarged and preserved over time. ‘The American Union,’ he wrote, ‘has established particular criteria for immigration, thanks to the teachings of its own racial researchers’ (here he probably once again meant Madison Grant).25 Hitler also admired US measures to keep its population racially robust through selection. In part, this was a question of eugenics. Hitler remarked privately that he had studied the laws of several American states concerning prevention of reproduction by people whose progeny would, in his view, probably be of no value or even injurious to the racial stock.26 For the rest, American superiority rested on selective immigration. ‘The fact that the American Union sees itself as a Nordic-Germanic state and in no sense as an international peoples’ mush,’ Hitler remarked, no doubt rebutting Israel Zangwill’s idea of the United States as a ‘melting pot’, was clear from ‘the distribution of the immigrant quotas among the European peoples’.27 Whereas Scandinavians, Britons and ‘finally’ (sic) Germans were at the top of the list, Slavs and Latins were not favoured, and then Chinese and Japanese were right at the bottom of the hierarchy.

Perhaps surprisingly, the relationship between whites and the long-established black community did not loom large in Hitler’s view of the United States, though Nazi bureaucrats would later study segregation closely when drawing up anti-Semitic legislation. In particular, he did not show much interest in the South, or in the Confederacy’s struggle to preserve slavery. Reports of his enthusiasm for the Ku Klux Klan, though superficially plausible, come from unreliable sources.28 In fact, the only verifiable comment Hitler ever made about slavery was clearly condemnatory. He spoke of the ‘transplanting of millions of Negroes to the American continent’ as an example of ‘barbarian customs’ on a par with slavery in the ancient world and the treatment of the Aztecs and Incas.29 One way or the other, Hitler’s enthusiasm for America was based on a concern with whites and Jews, not blacks, and an admiration not for the agrarian south but for the industrial north.

If Hitler had a healthy respect for the demographic, ‘racial’, economic and thus military might of the United States, he also had a keen sense of what we would today call her ‘soft power’. Partly this was a positive sense of what the American way of life had to offer, which he had already documented on earlier occasions. Hitler never actually used the phrase ‘American Dream’, but his rhetoric showed him to be fully aware of the concept. ‘The European of today,’ he wrote, ‘dreams of a living standard’ which might be possible in Europe, but ‘actually exists in America’. ‘The American,’ he noted simply, lived ‘on average better than we do.’ This was because ‘the relationship between population size and territory in America is so close,’ he argued, ‘that prosperity is spread more generally’.30 This was epitomized, on Hitler’s reading, by the very high level of motorization in the United States.

That said, Hitler was also deeply concerned by aspects of American culture. He contrasted the glories of the ancient world with the ‘crassly different’ ‘parvenu-culture’ of America. Hitler and Hess sneered at one American multi-millionaire who was so vulgar as to have erected a faux palace of Versailles with a golden bath, liveried servants and a picture gallery in which the original price tags for the paintings were still visible.31 Hitler was particularly worried about the influence of American popular culture in Germany, and inveighed against the ‘department store vampires’ who not only destroyed many smaller shops, but also offered ‘all kinds of trinkets, neon lights and tea shops, escalators and palm gardens,’ to ensnare the unwary. Hitler thus unfolded a whole vista of moral panic. Perhaps his greatest concern, however, was music, a matter close to his own heart. ‘Jazz music,’ he argued, ‘has achieved the equality of people, but through lowering standards.’32 This ambivalence about the nature of America, which should never be mistaken for pure contempt, was to remain with him to the end.

Anglo-American strength was contrasted with German weakness. Again, this was partly a matter of space. In the Second Book and on many other occasions in the late 1920s, Hitler elaborated on Germany’s geopolitical exposure. ‘Everywhere unprotected, open territories,’ he lamented, the western parts of which contained important industrial facilities. Germany was surrounded by potential predators, such as France and Russia, not to mention being boxed in navally and commercially by England. To make matters worse, France was linked by alliance to Poland in the east, and Czechoslovakia and Yugoslavia in the south-east. Germany, in short, was encircled: ‘surrounded’ and ‘completely hemmed in’. Moreover, Germany not only was vulnerable, but lacked critical territorial mass. It was impossible to defend in depth, he thought, especially given recent advances in technology. Millions of Germans, Hitler bewailed, were jammed into an area ‘which a modern aeroplane can traverse from north to south in about two hours’. More generally, Germany was too small to count in the world. ‘Germany is, from the purely geographic point of view,’ he claimed, so territorially limited that ‘it amounted to a [mere] province in comparison to other states and countries on this earth’.33

If all this was broadly in the classic Prusso-German geopolitical tradition, Hitler’s emphasis on Germany’s other alleged critical weakness was not. This was ‘race’, where the Second Book elaborated themes which had been sketched only in outline in Mein Kampf and his speeches during the mid 1920s. As we have seen, this was particularly true with regard to his relentless focus on the alleged weakness of the German people itself, especially when contrasted with the British. ‘Our people in particular,’ he wrote, ‘sorely lack in their racial fragmentation those characteristics which, for example, distinguish the Briton’, namely ‘holding together in times of danger’.34 He attributed this only partly to alleged Jewish corruption and much more to other factors, such as Germany’s longstanding religious, political and territorial fragmentation.

The separatist spectre, which had so exercised Hitler in 1921–3, had somewhat receded, but Hitler was still concerned enough to deliver several broadsides against the BVP. In a philippic delivered in Munich in late February 1928, he condemned Bavarian ‘monarchists’, rejected their claims to ‘reserved [state] rights’ and decried their ‘federalist’ mantras as a mere smokescreen for wider ambitions. Hitler’s objection to Bavarian, and other, particularist, demands was rooted in his long-held belief that only a ‘completely coherent form of state’ could cope with the external challenges to the German Reich. He continued to fight a grudge match against the BVP, Bavaria’s monarchists, and their clerical backers, with accusations of sexual deviance, religious misbehaviour and philo-Semitism being hurled back and forth,35 exceeding in intensity and hatefulness any exchanges he had with the Weimar left.36

German fragmentation, in Hitler’s eyes, was aggravated and epitomized by the Weimar Republic. Democracy, he claimed, undermined authority and made coherence impossible. ‘With regard to the army,’ he complained, one ‘recognized the law of authority, but the nation was subjected to the law of humanity.’ And ‘what is majority,’ Hitler asked, but ‘the embodiment of lies, and inadequacy and stupidity’? ‘Democracy,’ he pronounced, ‘contradicts the law of all growth’ because ‘it cannot tolerate any leaders.’ In short, Hitler argued, ‘if a people allows western democracy to govern its state constitution, in other words if it introduces western parliamentarism’, then it would create a ‘system’ which would ‘inevitably’ lead to the ‘filtering out of existing talent’. For all these reasons, Hitler regarded the ‘democratic principle’, which he invariably associated with the west and with Jewry, as ‘a principle of destruction of peoples and states’.37

The Westminster parliament posed an intellectual and rhetorical difficulty for Hitler, as it seemed to suggest that democracy and national coherence were not incompatible. Reprising a theme he had already ventilated in Mein Kampf, he explained the paradox away through the principle of selection. ‘British democracy,’ he argued, ‘was no more than just a small closed elite.’ ‘Never forget,’ he continued, ‘that until the 1880s only 470,000 people enjoyed the franchise, in other words a small group of selected people.’ Hitler emphasized how political tradition was handed down in England through the great families, and he stressed the stabilizing effect of the monarchy, which was ‘the centre of gravity’ in England’s political system. Finally, Hitler argued that an ancient democracy like Rome had always elected a dictator in times of crisis, and that ‘this England elected a dictator in the war’, namely Lloyd George, while the German parliament had merely ‘blathered’.38 In other words, whereas in his view democracy had undermined the coherence of the Volk in Germany, it had served as an instrument of positive racial selection in Britain.

Hitler also saw war and conflict as a threat to the German people. Here there was a clear contradiction in his thinking. On the one hand, Hitler saw ‘struggle’ as central to the life and survival of a people. On the other hand, he believed that war killed the best and the bravest, sparing the weakest and most cowardly. ‘The nature of war is such,’ he wrote, ‘that it leads to a racial selection in a people which involves the disproportionate destruction of its best elements.’ This could lead ‘in 100 years to the gradual bleeding to death of the best [and] most valuable part of a people’. For this reason, Hitler damned unnecessary wars as ‘crimes against the body politic, as in against the future of a people’. On the one hand, Hitler would with pathos invoke the memory and sacrifice of the front; on the other hand, he repeatedly stressed the horrors of war and injury, which he had experienced at first hand. Contemptuously dismissing a familiar civilian trope, he candidly described his preference for mutilation over death. ‘At home they said [it was] wonderful to die a hero’s death,’ Hitler remarked, but ‘the frontline soldier took a different view.’ ‘If someone at home said that they would rather be dead than lose a limb,’ Hitler continued, the truth was that the men in Flanders would have gladly sacrificed their hand or another limb in order to receive a ‘blighty’ which would get them out of the fighting and give them a chance of survival. ‘For those who have themselves served as soldiers,’ he said, war ‘was not something beautiful’ but something ‘terrible’.39

The greatest challenge to the coherence of the German people, however, was their shortage of living space in central Europe and resulting lack of food security. Here again Hitler was rehearsing familiar themes from Mein Kampf, but in his speeches of the late 1920s and in the Second Book he took the argument a stage further. Bismarck might have united ‘the mass of the German people in central Europe’, but he had not solved ‘the second question of the German people in Europe’, which was ‘the question of future food supply’. So when British tariffs had ‘cut off’ the ‘economic opportunities’ open to the Reich, the ‘pot boiled over and [we] had 20 million people too many’. The excess population, Hitler claimed, had been compelled to emigrate, partly to the British Empire and South America but mainly to the United States. ‘For three hundred years,’ he claimed, ‘we have sent out 10,000 people a year, so that virtually the entire continent of North America became [demographically] German.’40

The background to Hitler’s claims is the fact between 1820 and 1930 about 5.9 million Germans settled in the US.41 In the period 1860–90 they were the largest group of immigrants. By 1900, around a tenth of the population of the US was of German descent,42 among them one Friedrich Drumpff, who registered at Ellis Island as ‘Frederick Trump’, Donald Trump’s grandfather, who arrived in 1885. Richard Wagner often spoke of emigrating to America, and even wrote a march to mark the centennial of the Declaration of American Independence in 1876.43 In Canada, Germany was the third-largest source of emigrants after the United Kingdom and France.44 Those who left often stayed in close touch with the old country, and a substantial proportion – about 25 per cent – returned, often with tales of success in the New World.45 North America was thus a huge and largely positive presence in the German imaginary of the 1920s, looming much larger than Soviet Russia.

To make matters worse, Hitler continued, emigration was not only quantitatively but qualitatively a threat to the German people. It was invariably the best and fittest who left. Nor did Hitler hold back with his view of those who remained. ‘The coward and weakling would rather die at home,’ he said, ‘than pluck up the courage’ to move and better his lot. In numerous speeches throughout the late 1920s, Hitler hammered this theme home again and again. Germany had ‘sent [America] her best selection for centuries’. ‘Only those who emigrate,’ he claimed, ‘who resist deprivation’, were of ‘value’. ‘It is the most resistant, the most energetic,’ he lamented, ‘who emigrate’, with the result that in the event of conflict a people that consists of emigrants will ‘triumph over the motherland’. In racial terms, Hitler warned, this amounted to the ‘gradual de-Nordification of our people’, and to ‘the general reduction of our racial value’; it meant that the worst remained.46 The implication of all this was bleak: the German people of Hitler’s time in his view consisted of the dregs left after North America had taken the cream.

Of course, Germany’s perceived loss was Anglo-America’s gain. Hitler repeated his claim that, after independence, the American Congress had only adopted English as the language of the new union by one vote, ensuring that the United States would remain part of what one might loosely call the Anglosphere. ‘A whole continent,’ he claimed, ‘became British as a result of this decision.’ Hitler feared the power of what he called ‘Anglicization’ on Germans. He lamented that Germans tended to ‘Anglicize more and more’ in ‘Anglo-Saxon countries’ and were therefore ‘presumably lost’ to our people not just in terms of their ‘practical capacity for work’ but also ‘spiritually’. ‘For that reason,’ Hitler argued, ‘the initiative’ was passing from the ‘mother states to the colonies’, because that was where one found a ‘concentration of people of the highest value’. ‘The motherland’s loss,’ he lamented, ‘was the new country’s gain.’ The result, Hitler lamented, was that ‘Germany is sinking more and more while a new continent is rising across the ocean, settled with German blood.’47

All these racial chickens, Hitler continued, had come home to roost in the First World War. Right from the start, Germany had faced the full might of the British, French and Tsarist empires, though it was the first that Hitler really feared. Moreover, he argued in a newspaper article, in 1917 ‘The American Union was determined to throw its own power into the scales in support of the world coalition threatening Germany.’48 This was the decisive moment which made German defeat inevitable, and Hitler never forgot it. He personally experienced the meaning of it in the summer of 1918, remembering the date correctly to the day nearly ten years later. ‘Germany sent away its best sons for 300 years,’ he recalled. ‘When the year 1918 came around we suddenly saw south of the Marne on 17 July the descendants of our people, our emigrants. They were powerful sturdy people, who stood opposite us as enemies.’ ‘They were the representatives of the new continent,’ Hitler continued. ‘It was our own blood. The blood that we let go.’ Moreover, he went on, nobody had yet registered that this encounter had been ‘a presentiment of’ the ‘battle of the peoples’ (or racial battle: Volkskampf) to come. Here Hitler was once again referring to the final showdown he expected between Germans and Anglo-Saxons.49

Hitler rejected some of the common cures on offer. He did not believe that Germany could export its way to a secure food supply. Picking up a remark made by Chancellor Caprivi in the 1890s, Hitler said of Weimar politicians, ‘one does not want to export people, rather one says that we export goods’. In reality, Hitler warned, the British had cut off German goods through high tariff walls before 1914, and continued to enslave Germany today through Versailles and the reparations settlement. The nostrums offered on the left were also rejected, especially the plan to seek salvation in instruments of international governance. On the one hand, Hitler shared the widespread view that the League of Nations was a toothless tiger. ‘A League of Nations without a League of Nations police force,’ he claimed, ‘is a state without a legal system and without police authority.’ On the other hand, Hitler continued to see the League as a device for the subjection of Germany. ‘The League of Nations is dominated by the saturated nations, indeed it is their instrument.’ These nations, he claimed, had no interest in addressing international injustice, in particular the ‘spatial distribution of the world’. This meant that the world was run in accordance with not international law, but the law of capital: ‘not the right of the peoples’, as he put it, ‘but the rights of the bankers of the peoples’.50

The Führer reserved a special scorn for those who thought Germany should seek salvation in ‘Europe’. Here his words were directed against high-level attempts to integrate the continent by people like Aristide Briand, and Count Coudenhove-Kalergi’s Pan-Europa Union, but also elements of the National Socialist ‘left’ such as the Strasser brothers and even Goebbels. He trenchantly entitled the ninth chapter of the Second Book ‘Neither border policy nor economic policy nor Pan-Europa’.51 Hitler’s objection was not to the idea of containing the United States as such, but to the desirability and practicality of doing so through European integration. He conceded that ‘the pan-European movement does really seem to have some at least apparently appealing aspects’. Unsurprisingly, though, Hitler reacted allergically not only to Coudenhove’s own mixed racial heritage, but also to his vision for a United Europe as a kind of Habsburg Empire writ large. ‘The Pan-Europa envisaged by the global bastard [meaning mixed-race] Coudenhove,’ he thundered, ‘would eventually play the same role against the American Union as the old Austrian state played against Germany or Russia.’52

He rejected the various ‘mechanistic’ calculations of combined European economic and demographic potential arrayed against the US. ‘In the lives of the peoples,’ he reminded his readers, ‘values not figures are decisive.’ Not only was the United States made up of ‘millions of people of the highest racial value’, some of the best blood from Europe, but the old continent was left with the inferior residue. This, on Hitler’s reading, was the result of European susceptibility to ‘western democracy’, ‘cowardly pacifism’, Jewish subversion, ‘bastardization and niggerification’, which not only enabled the Jews slowly to assume ‘world dominance’, but also weakened the continent fatally in the face of the American challenge. Given that the strength of the United States was primarily a product of its racial value, Hitler argued, ‘then this hegemony will not be overcome through a purely formal unification of European peoples’. ‘The idea of resisting this Nordic state [the US],’ he continued, ‘with a Pan-Europa made up of Mongols, Slavs, Germans, Latins, etc.’, in other words an entity dominated by ‘anyone but Germanic elements’, was a ‘utopia’. Pan-Europa, in short, could be no more than a ‘merger under Jewish protectorate at Jewish instigation’, and would ‘never create a structure which would be able to stand up to the American Union’.53

Hitler claimed there was another way of dealing with the challenge of the United States. ‘North America can in future only be resisted by a state,’ he argued, ‘which has understood how to raise the value of its people and to create the necessary state form’ for this task. This required a combination of domestic and diplomatic measures. ‘Domestic policy,’ Hitler wrote in the Second Book, ‘should secure a people the internal power for its foreign-political assertion’, while ‘foreign policy must secure the life of the people for its internal development’. The two were those ‘complementary activities’. If, on the one hand, he insisted that diplomatic successes without internal strengths were pointless, he also argued that a mistaken system of alliances could have harmful domestic effects ‘because the order was sent from outside that the people should be educated in a pacifist manner’.54

On the domestic front, Hitler aimed at a thoroughgoing racial regeneration of the German people. This was only partly a matter of eliminating the allegedly pernicious influence of the Jews. It was, he asserted, primarily a question of raising the general racial level of the German people to that of their Anglo-American rivals. Education was central to this project. Hitler spoke of establishing a ‘boarding school on the British model’ to train German youth. 100 million Reichsmarks on universities, he believed, were better spent than the same sum on a battle cruiser. Hitler also wanted to overcome Germany’s historic fragmentation. He spoke of his desire to rebuild Berlin as ‘a great metropolis of the new German Reich’ to provide a counterbalance to ‘small statery’. At the same time, Hitler sought to make up what Germans lacked in natural coherence through discipline. It was for this reason, as well as for reasons of party discipline, that he stressed the importance of obedience to the leadership.55

The long-term answer to Germany’s predicament, however, remained the capture of Lebensraum in the east, a theme which Hitler had already elaborated at length in Mein Kampf, and which he repeated throughout the Second Book and in many speeches. Colonial expansion was once again roundly rejected.56 This capture of space was partly in order to eliminate Germany’s geopolitical vulnerability, which would remain even if the borders of 1914 were restored. It would improve the food supply situation in the event of war, and give Germany more room to manoeuvre militarily. ‘Above all,’ Hitler argued, only the acquisition of space in Europe would ‘preserve the [necessary] people’ from emigration so that they would be ‘available as millions of soldiers for the next decisive moment’.57 Moreover, only more living space would enable the Germans to resist the lure of the American way of life. ‘Neither the living space of today, nor the reconstitution of the borders of 1914,’ Hitler warned, ‘will enable us to lead a life analogous to that of the American people.’58 This connection between (the lack of) Lebensraum and emigration, albeit with regard to overseas colonies rather than eastern lands, was a staple of late nineteenth century and early twentieth century German discourse.59

As in Mein Kampf, Hitler continued to argue that the necessary living space was to be found in the east in the ‘thinly populated’ Russian western lands bordering Germany. The key to this Raumpolitik, he explained, was that one could only Germanize ‘space’, not the people living in it, as imperial Germany had mistakenly attempted to do with the Poles they had ruled over before 1914. The National Socialist movement, Hitler continued, was not interested in ‘Germanization’ but ‘only in the expansion of its own people’. ‘The existing population’, Hitler insisted, should not be assimilated. Instead it was a question of ‘either shutting out these alien elements, in order to prevent the further corruption of our own blood’ or ‘simply removing them and allocating the land which thereby became available to our own people’. As the Bolsheviks consolidated their hold on power, Hitler increasingly regarded the Soviet Union as a vacuum crying out to be filled.60 Once again, Hitler sought living space in Russia, not because he specifically targeted the Slavs, but because their territories were geographically contiguous and they had been so corrupted by Bolshevism as to render them ripe for hostile takeover.

Hitler knew that Germany would not ‘be able to confront fate on her own’ and ‘would need allies’. He admired the spirit of the soldiers who had scrawled ‘We accept declarations of war’ on the railway carriages taking them to the front, but he damned such behaviour as ‘a mad stupidity’ in terms of a ‘political creed’. He devoted an entire chapter of the Second Book to that subject. As in Mein Kampf, Hitler rejected the alliances secured by the German Reich in 1914, whose low value he had seen during the First World War. Here Hitler primarily had the Habsburgs in his sights. He was less opposed, at least in principle, to a Russian alliance. If Russia achieved an ‘internal change’, he wrote, ‘then it could not be excluded that Russia,’ which was ‘today in reality Jewish-capitalist’, would become ‘national-anti-capitalist’ and thus a worthy partner for Germany. The danger, Hitler argued – and here he was echoing a widespread strand of contemporary thinking – was that an alliance with Russia would expose Germany to a pre-emptive strike by the west.61 The long and short of this was that Hitler, his eye firmly on putting the Russophile wing of the NSDAP in its place, firmly rejected alignment with Soviet Russia. It was a subject on which he would brook absolutely no argument.

He was not only clear about the need for allies, but remarkably candid about the kind of concessions necessary to secure them. Reprising a theme from Mein Kampf, Hitler derided the idea that Germany should not ally with any of its enemies from the First World War, or those states with whom she had border disputes. If that were so, he pointed out, there could be no alliance with France, because of Alsace-Lorraine and its attempts to grab the Rhineland, none with Belgium, over Eupen-Malmedy, none with Britain, because of the robbed colonies, none with Denmark, because of North Schleswig, none with Poland, over West Prussia and Upper Silesia, none with Czechoslovakia, because it was oppressing 4 million Germans, none with Yugoslavia, because it was sitting on 400,000 Germans, and none with Italy, because of South Tyrol. In other words, Hitler continued, according to the national bourgeois camp there could be no alliance with anybody in Europe, leaving Germany dependent on the ‘din of their huzzas’ and their ‘big mouths’ to regain the lost status and territories.62

In considerably greater detail than in Mein Kampf, Hitler developed the idea of an Italian alliance in the Second Book. This made ideological sense, given the similarities between fascism and National Socialism, but the main object of the connection was geopolitical: to break open the encircling ring of hostile powers. To ram home his argument against internal Nazi critics, the relevant sections were published as a separate pamphlet. Hitler also attempted to reach out to Mussolini directly. A hoped-for meeting in February 1928, however, never came to pass.63 In an earnest of his good intentions in this matter, and in order to make the party’s official position crystal-clear, Hitler met with Ettore Tolomei, the hammer of the Germans in South Tyrol, in the Munich suburb of Nymphenburg, in late 1928. In the following year, he met for the first time with Mussolini’s confidant Giuseppe Renzetti, also in Munich.64 Although most members fell into line eventually, the issue continued to be very divisive within the NSDAP, and it gave other elements of the German right a convenient stick to beat Hitler with.

The main focus of Hitler’s alliance policy, as in Mein Kampf, remained Britain. Hitler rejected the idea that Britain would never accept German continental hegemony on account of its traditional balance of power policy. He believed that a grand bargain which left Britain supreme overseas and Germany in Europe was possible.65 It proved to be a fatal misunderstanding of the principles of British foreign policy. Even more pernicious in the long run was Hitler’s belief that Anglo-American commercial and political rivalry would ultimately end in war, driving Britain into Germany’s arms. The ultimate global balance he envisaged, therefore, was an Aryan triumvirate, in which a rejuvenated Reich and the British Empire faced off against the North American Union.

Restoring Germany’s diplomatic position, Hitler argued, depended on eliminating the global power of the Jews. To him, the struggle against world Jewry was an international contest, but it would primarily be waged internally. By Hitler’s reckoning, the Jews had prevailed in France, where the ‘Jewish stock exchange’ reigned supreme, and Russia. They had been defeated in Mussolini’s Italy, he believed. ‘The most bitter struggle for the victory of Jewry,’ he argued, ‘is currently taking place in Germany’, where the NSDAP was the sole standard-bearer of the resistance. Crucially, Hitler added, ‘this battle has not yet been decided in Britain’, where the ‘Jewish invasion was still resisted by the old British tradition’. ‘The instincts of Anglo-Saxondom are still so strong and vibrant,’ Hitler continued, ‘that one cannot speak of a complete victory of Jewry.’ If the Jews prevailed, he thought, then England would be lost, ‘but if the British win, then a change of policy by Britain towards Germany could still happen’.66 In other words, the question of whether Britain would become an ally of the German Reich would be decided not so much by German diplomacy as by the alleged internal battle against Jewry in the United Kingdom itself.

Hitler had set himself an enormous task, and he was not sure that he would, or even could, prevail. He was convinced, however, that he must make the attempt, even if the chances for success were slim. ‘If a decision has clearly been found to be necessary,’ Hitler wrote, then it must be carried out ‘with brutal ruthlessness and all means at one’s disposal’, even ‘if the final result were to be itself unsatisfactory or require improvement’ or if the likelihood of success was as low as ‘a few per cent’. He compared the situation of Germany with that of a dying cancer patient. Did it make sense to hold off operating just because the chances of success were very small, or there was no chance of a full recovery? Worst of all, Hitler continued, would be for the surgeon to carry out the necessary operation with less than full commitment. By analogy, Hitler argued, Germany needed a ‘political operation’ to rescue it from ‘a mob of greedy enemies at home and abroad’. ‘The continuation of this situation is our death,’ he went on, so that ‘any opportunity’ of escaping it should be ‘seized’. ‘What is lacking in terms of likelihood of success,’ Hitler concluded, ‘must be made up for through vigour of execution.’67 This insistence on the need to take risks, to at least attempt the impossible, was a theme to which Hitler would return repeatedly in the years ahead.

Even if he succeeded across the board, Hitler did not expect to crush Anglo-America or achieve German world hegemony. He called for ‘a Europe of free and independent national states with separate and clearly limited spheres of influence’. In terms of international governance, Hitler stated that one could imagine ‘a new Association of Peoples in the far future, consisting of individual states of national value’ which might ‘resist the threatened domination of the world through the American Union’. ‘Because it seems to me,’ he continued, ‘that the nations of today are less harmed by the continuation of British world domination than by the rise of an American one.’68 In short, Hitler argued, the best Germany could hope for was to achieve global parity with the United States through confederation with like-minded European states, especially the British Empire.

Hitler probably planned to publish the Second Book up to the spring and early summer of 1929.69 Thereafter, he appears to have laid the project to one side, for what reason is not clear. The most probable explanation is that the bleak view of the racial quality of the German people in the book, expressed far more radically than in Mein Kampf, risked alienating a core constituency among nationalists and indeed the population at large. That sentiment, which continued to inform his thinking and was to guide his policies after the seizure of power, was now locked away in Hitler’s desk. It would only resurface, privately, during the final showdown with the United States.

Instead, from now on, Hitler sought to play down the racial fissures in non-Jewish German society, and indeed to talk up its supposed racial quality. In blatant contradiction to his consistently vowed sentiments in the 1920s, he wrote that ‘our government sometimes tries to convince our people that we are not an equal people to, for example, [those of] America and Britain’, and to ‘inculcate a spirit of second-classness’. ‘And yet,’ Hitler continued, ‘we know that it is not so,’ and he asked where one would find a people which ‘head for head, man against man, was more energetic, and as capable as the German people’.70 This was partly racial whistling in the wind, to keep up the spirits of a population battered by present economic woes and past military defeats. In part, Hitler’s rhetoric was also designed to paper over the cracks between the various German tribes, of whose differences and varying racial value, in his terms, he was painfully aware.

Slowly, the NSDAP regrouped after the 1928 election fiasco. Hitler urged Goebbels to take one of the few seats the party did win, in order to gain a parliamentary platform for propaganda and the prized legal immunity from prosecution for libel or incitement to violence.71 The Nazis now made their voice increasingly heard in the Reichstag and Berlin generally. The party also began to reorganize nationally. The failure of the NSDAP at the 1928 election, together with Hitler’s protestations of legality, persuaded the authorities across Germany to start relaxing the restrictions on the party and on him. In the autumn of 1928, the speaking bans were lifted in Anhalt and in Prussia, the largest state. In the face of the failure of a national strategy aimed at winning over patriotic workers, Hitler switched tack. The NSDAP began to put greater focus on rural areas.

The essentially ‘socialist’ nature of NSDAP economic policy did not change, however. Its small delegation in the Reichstag distinguished itself largely by its ferocious anti-capitalism. In keeping with Hitler’s own repeatedly expressed antipathy to international finance capitalism, members put forward proposals to confiscate ‘the fortune of the princes of bank and stock market’. The party was well to the left of the spectrum on taxation and called for more state and social spending. To the charge that they were mere clones of Mussolini, NSDAP Reichstag members responded, ‘We are not fascists. We are socialists.’ Emil Kirdorf, one of the few big business figures already aligned with the Nazis, was so infuriated by the relentless anti-capitalist barrage that he resigned his membership in August 1928, though he continued to profess loyalty to Hitler personally. Neither the party nor Hitler himself, however, changed course. In August 1928, he authorized the establishment of the ‘Greater German Trade Union’, a trade union with strong nationalist sentiments. A year later, in August 1929, Hitler approved the creation of the ‘National Socialist Factory Cell Organization’ (NSBO), effectively a Nazi trade union organization, which was regarded with a very jaundiced eye by employers. That same year he authorized a strongly anti-capitalist ‘catechism’ on Nazi economic policy penned by Hans Buchner, the economics editor of the Völkischer Beobachter.72

The propaganda effort was greatly improved. In late January 1928, Hitler had attended a screening of the first (silent) film of the Nuremberg Party Congress in the Munich Bürgerbräukeller, accompanied live by Arthur Seidel’s arrangement of music from Wagner’s Walküre.73 For financial reasons, however, there was no party congress in 1928, so a ‘leadership conference’ was held in Munich in late August and early September instead. Hitler, who did not go to Bayreuth in 1927 and 1928, began to plan for a conference the next year which would be synchronized with the Festival.74 At Hitler’s request, the new Reichsorganisationsleiter, Gregor Strasser, began to reorganize the party bureaucracy. A Reichsrednerschule was set up under Fritz Reinhardt to train speakers. Far from hogging the limelight, Hitler sought to develop a cadre of capable orators and sub-leaders capable of deputizing for him. Over time, the school was to train some 6,000 speakers, a massive increase which considerably amplified the reach of the party across the Reich.75 The NSDAP was developing the capacity to grow into a mass party.

None of this could disguise the fact that Hitler was in something of a rut in early 1929. He was making some electoral inroads in Protestant rural areas, but with a few exceptions he had nowhere advanced beyond ten per cent at the polls, and generally the party scored much lower. That said, support was more evenly distributed than before the failed Putsch, with a higher presence in the north and west, and a lower standing in Bavaria. The situation was transformed by two developments, both of them concerning Hitler’s main preoccupation, the United States. The first was a new scheme of reparations payments worked out by the Wall Street banker Owen Young. This was in gestation since January 1929, and its terms were formally announced in early June.76 Germany was actually required to pay less than under the Dawes Plan, and less up front, but the resulting longer period of obligations – last payments were scheduled for 1988 – was a profound psychological blow.

The Young Plan rejuvenated the Nazi campaign against the attempt to turn Germans into ‘slaves of global loan and commercial capitalism’ by subjecting them to annual ‘Tributes’; anti-capitalist anti-Semitism dominated the discourse.77 Picking up one of Hitler’s most common themes, Fritz Reinhardt predicted that the plan would lead to mass emigration, or ‘the export of people’, as he put it.78 Hitler himself claimed that the aim of the plan and its alleged Jewish and other backers from ‘international high finance’ was ‘to turn our people economically and spiritually into white world Negroes’.79 The main emphasis of his visual propaganda during the election campaign was on the way in which international finance had imposed its ‘bondage’ on Germany.80 The battle against the enslavement of Germany by international capitalism thus remained at the heart of the Nazi critique of Weimar foreign policy.81 The campaign against the Young Plan not only became Hitler’s most important activity over the next two years, it also enabled him to take the stage nationally. In other words, his return to prominence was a reaction to the threat not of world communism but of global capitalism.

For the first time since the ill-fated Munich Putsch, Hitler now joined a broader conservative and right-wing front. In April 1929, he entered into an alliance with the DNVP. ‘The chief considers the political situation very positive,’ Goebbels noted in late May 1929, ‘and that we must learn to wait and avoid a banning [of the party] in all circumstances.’82 In July 1929, Hitler, the DNVP and various other right-wing organizations came together to launch the campaign against the Young Plan, which they hoped to stop through a referendum. Hitler’s main target was nationalist workers, who were to be mobilized through attacks on plutocratic exploitation and patriotic sentiment, both classic Nazi themes. Hitler’s decision was partly tactical. ‘Tactical considerations have caused us to wage the struggle together with a number of other groups,’ he wrote not long afterwards. He stressed the necessity of mobilizing the German people ‘beyond the limits of our party against this renewed monstrous attempt at enslavement’.83 From his point of view, the alliance made eminent political and ideological sense, as it aligned the NSDAP with German national capitalism, which he approved of, against the might of international finance capitalism, his great enemy.84

The second development was the Wall Street Crash of October 1929, which eventually triggered the Great Depression, which formed the backdrop to German politics in the early 1930s.85 As US banks came under pressure, they recalled or refused to renew short-term loans. This resulted in a crisis of liquidity for the heavily indebted business and public sector in Germany. The economy, never as robust as it appeared during the brief period of ‘normality’, began to slide. Unemployment began to rise, and after a series of bank failures it skyrocketed.

Strikingly, the Wall Street Crash seems to have made no impression on Hitler whatsoever. It did not dent Hitler’s belief in the power of the United States, which he attributed to race and space rather than economics alone.86 In a lecture on ‘Politics and Economics’ on 10 January 1930, by which time the Depression was raging in the United States, he contrasted Europe with America, ‘which has already long been pursuing a conscious policy of eugenics’, as her ‘immigration measures proved’. ‘Germany,’ he lamented once again, ‘had often lost its best elements and America had shown itself able to integrate these nationally into its state form’; here Hitler was referring to the Anglicization of German immigrants. ‘The new lands,’ he continued, ‘became more powerful as they were able to raise their hands against the motherlands.’ ‘Europe, hitherto the greatest actor in the world,’ Hitler went on, had yielded much in this regard to America. Far from being reassured by the Wall Street Crash that the colossus had feet of clay, Hitler was preaching the same sermon in late January 1930, which he delivered eighteen months earlier in the Second Book. ‘The whole of Europe,’ he warned, ‘is heading for a very unpleasant fate if it does not somehow put an end to America’s expansionist economic activity.’87

By contrast, Hitler continued to show little interest in the Soviet Union. He puzzled over the antagonism between Stalin and Trotsky, which he was inclined to consider a diversionary manoeuvre. In any case, Hitler did not think much of Stalin, who, even if he was not himself ‘circumcised’, allegedly largely associated with Jews and was their creature. He defined ‘Soviet power’ as the ‘Jewish dictatorship which currently carries the name of Stalin and tomorrow might be embodied by someone quite different’. He persisted in regarding Soviet communism as an affliction of the Russian people, which threatened Germany in the form of the virus of Bolshevism rather than the might of the Red Army. ‘In Stalin Jewry has finally found the man,’ Hitler remarked, ‘who like Lenin is destroying the last remains of Aryan culture with Asiatic brutality.’ Unless it was careful, he warned, Germany would suffer the same ‘fate’ as Russia, where 30 million had died slowly of hunger. Throughout the early 1930s, in fact, Hitler, in so far as he took any notice of the Soviet Union, simply dismissed Russia as ‘a hell of misery and deprivation’,88 which should serve as a warning for Germany.

The Anti-Young Plan coalition succeeded in forcing a plebiscite at the end of the year, but the result was a crushing defeat. Nor did the agitation really bring the Nazis and the Conservative right together, and it certainly did not increase funding for the party from business circles. The real significance of the campaign against the Young Plan lay elsewhere. It showed the continued relevance of Hitler’s critique to the current situation, and it provided him with a platform on which to renew his appeal to the electorate. Despite serious financial difficulties, the revived party congress at Nuremberg was a major event: forty special trains brought 23,000 SA and SS troopers and 40,000 ordinary members to the city. They totally dominated the city with three days of assemblies and speeches, a ‘dedication’ of the ‘blood flags’ at the Luitpoldhain and finally a parade through Nuremberg during which Hitler took the salute at a marchpast which lasted three full hours.89 Helped also by the growing world economic crisis, NSDAP fortunes at the polls began to improve, below the radar at first and then, in some places, dramatically. In Saxony, they trebled their previous result in the May 1929 Landtag elections, turning Otto Strasser into a major figure there, and even giving him some national prominence. In Coburg, Saxony, Baden and Thuringia the NSDAP regained some of the lost ground in Bavaria, especially in Munich, where Gauleiter Wagner – who was close to Hitler – took charge from the autumn of 1929.90 In Thuringia, they did so well in December 1929 that they held the balance of power. The NSDAP, and Hitler, were back in the game.

Success brought new opportunities. In Thuringia, the Nazis took power as part of a coalition under Wilhelm Frick.91 In Saxony, with Hitler’s express approval, they tolerated an SPD-KPD cabinet. Hitler’s motivation was to show that the Nazis were ready for government. ‘In the course of the years,’ he explained, ‘the Jewish press managed to inculcate into the minds of millions of Germans the view that the National Socialists were completely unsuited ever to take over a governmental post, let alone the entire government.’92 This was why he had authorized Frick to go into government in Thuringia. Privately, Hitler added that he had demanded the Interior Ministry in order to enable Frick to conduct a ‘gradual purging’ of the administration of ‘revolutionary tendencies’.93 There were also risks, however. Frick’s unhappy tenure was not an advertisement for Nazi governance, and the coalition in Thuringia collapsed amidst much recrimination in April 1930. Participation in government, even at the local level, was also very unpopular among the more ‘revolutionary’ elements of the NSDAP. Hitler had to intervene directly, for example, to veto a demand from the Gau Brandenburg for a blanket ban on coalitions.94

Things were also beginning to look up for Hitler personally. Thanks to the generosity of patrons, the sales of his works and a systematic under-reporting of his actual income to the tax authorities, his finances had stabilized.95 In October 1929, Hitler moved to a large unfurnished flat on the affluent Munich Prinzregentenplatz with a staff of two live-in housekeepers, Ernst and Maria Reichert, his former landlords in the Thierschstrasse.96 The furnishings were made by the Jewish-owned M. Ballin Royal Bavarian Furniture Factory;97 the nephew of the celebrated German-Jewish writer Lion Feuchtwanger lived only 100 yards away.98 Hitler’s emotional life, too, appeared to be stabilizing. Geli Raubal was registered as a subtenant with the Reicherts, clearly with the purpose of avoiding awkward questions about why she was sleeping under the same roof as her uncle. Among the Nazi inner circle, though, her close relationship with Hitler was no secret. Geli acted as hostess, or at least was often present, when Hitler received guests.99 She also accompanied him to numerous events: to a dinner with the Hesses,100 to Bayreuth (chaperoned by her patron Helene Bechstein),101 to various performances in Munich, on excursions into the countryside, and even to the famous Passion Play at Oberammergau.102 Geli, a spirited young woman who does not appear to have had serious political interests of her own, was popular with everybody.

Beneath the surface, however, Hitler’s emotional life was complex and even turbulent.103 Goebbels noted in his diary that he had heard ‘incredible things of the chief. He and his niece and Maurice [the chauffeur].’104 Things were to become even more complicated. In the autumn of 1929, Hitler first encountered Eva Braun, who was working as an assistant in Heinrich Hoffmann’s photo atelier. Hitler, then forty years of age, was clearly charmed by the seventeen-year-old girl; he made compliments and brought her presents.105 Their relationship at this time was almost certainly not physical, but Hitler’s attentiveness may well have infuriated Geli. A few months later Goebbels complained that his leader was involved in ‘too many affairs’.106 Moreover, Hitler was a highly controlling presence in Geli’s life. Helene Hanfstaengl, who knew Geli well, remembers that ‘I always had the feeling he [Hitler] was trying to run her life and tyrannizing her’.107 Despite her vaunted high spirits, she generally looks glum, aloof and even caged in surviving photographs. The result of all this was a rather overwrought atmosphere in Hitler’s apartment on the Prinzregentenplatz.

The picture that emerges of Hitler around this time is of a man lonely, but not withdrawn; sociable, but not gregarious. He spoke openly about himself to men and women; he was not emotionally ‘buttoned-up’. Hitler was determined, however, not to commit himself to a woman. Marriage made sense only if one wished to establish a family, he remarked to his confidant Otto Wagener around this time. Though he professed to love children, he claimed that he had to deny himself this happiness, because he had another bride – Germany – and was married: to the German Volk, and its destiny.108 It was an important part of his public persona, as well as his charismatic status within his entourage, that Hitler had a right to deviate from the norm. ‘A genius is entitled to be different and to live differently from others,’ Goebbels wrote in his diary, adding that ‘The myth of Hitler must remain like a rocher de bronze,’ a phrase which invoked the Prussian ‘soldier king’s’ famous statement about the sovereignty of the monarch.109

At home or in politics, Hitler remained at the centre of things. He made all the major decisions, and his leadership style was distinctive. He had his own way of choosing his associates, he explained privately. Rather than choosing someone on the basis of qualification or favour, he would give him a chance to busy himself in the general area.110 If the individual succeeded, he would grow into his new role and if not he would be replaced by someone else. This approach resulted in rapid turnover of staff. Moreover, far from being controlling, Hitler was loath to involve himself in matters of detail. He remarked that his memory automatically jettisoned any unnecessary ballast whenever things are going well and there was no needed for him to involve himself.111 ‘The chief,’ Goebbels observed in frustration in late November 1928, ‘stays out of everything – a convenient tactic – and leaves everything to his officials.’112

Hitler could hold his cards very close to his chest. He argued that knowledge of plans, and certainly concrete intentions, should be restricted on a need-to-know basis, and even then the executors should be told only as much as was absolutely necessary. This was probably a necessary precaution in the highly porous environment of the Nazi leadership, in which – as in any other organization – gossip and loose talk were rife.113 At the same time, Hitler was pathologically reluctant to take decisions. ‘Hitler,’ his economic adviser Otto Wagener recalls, ‘actually never issued instructions. He wanted to refrain from making decisions.’ Instead, Hitler would outline his general principles, and then it ‘was up to the individual to issue instructions in his area and to work in such a way that the general direction laid out by Hitler, the great goal crystallized from these conversations, was striven for and, in time, attained.’114 The result was a confusing leadership style, in which the uncontested charisma of the leader was matched by an equal lack of clarity about what he was concretely asking his following to do. Still, Goebbels conceded in late 1929 that for all his faults – ‘he is too soft and works too little’ – Hitler ‘has instinct, can handle people, is a tactician of genius, and has the will to power’.115

The improved prospects for the NSDAP caused Hitler to reconsider his timeline, well before his actual electoral breakthrough. Power, though still far off, was no longer a complete impossibility. ‘In three years,’ he predicted with remarkable accuracy in November 1929, ‘we will be the masters of Germany’.116 At the same time, Hitler was still planning for a long campaign, with the realization of his ultimate aims in the distant future, perhaps even after his death. It is telling that the second of the two ministries he had demanded in Thuringia was that for Volksbildung, which was in charge not merely of primary and secondary education, but also of the University of Jena and the theatres. Hitler wanted Frick to use this power to turn the population into ‘fanatical National Socialists’.117 Central to this project was the appointment of the Nazi racial theorist Hans Günther to a newly established ‘Chair for Racial Questions’ at Jena, another indication that Hitler was thinking of a long-term racial regeneration of the German people, rather than just a quick political fix.118

Much the same thinking informed Hitler’s conception of the SA. He was at pains to stress, even in private, that they were not expected to prepare for another putsch. The SA had neither the arms nor the training to stage one. Instead, Hitler told Otto Wagener that he wanted the SA to provide a reservoir of trainable German youth as a preparation for military service in a future new German army.119 Meanwhile, in January 1929, Hitler made Heinrich Himmler head of the SS.120 It was Hitler who gave the organization its notorious motto ‘My Honour Is Loyalty’. In addition to its security functions, Hitler wanted the SS to act as the guardian of the supposed German racial community, beginning with strict racial selection criteria for admission to its own ranks. In other words, Hitler’s domestic policy should not be dated from his seizure of power. He was already engaged in the long-term attempted transformation of the German people while in opposition.
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Breakthrough

In early 1930, the plates of German politics began to shift under the impact of the economic crisis. There were 3.2 million men out of work at the start of the year – about 14 per cent of the labour force – and the number was rising. Agriculture had been in crisis since the late 1920s. The SPD government under Chancellor Hermann Müller buckled under the pressure and finally disintegrated in March 1930. The new chancellor was the Centre Party leader in the Reichstag, Heinrich Brüning, who embarked on a course of austerity measures which deepened, or at least did not end, the economic crisis. He skilfully blamed all cuts on external constraints, particularly French policy.1 Fresh elections were set for the autumn. From then on, until the end of the Weimar Republic, the NSDAP was in permanent campaign mode, as one election followed another – Reichstag, Landtag and presidential in quick succession. German politics never really settled down again, as contests in even the smallest of territories took on a disproportionate importance in the national context.

The steady advance of the NSDAP was epitomized by the new party headquarters in Munich. Hitler’s originally planned skyscraper was dropped on the grounds that National Socialism was ‘rooted … in not just the historical but also the cultural traditions of our people’. ‘Despite the apparent grandiosity of such a high structure,’ he went on, ‘one cannot overlook the fact that it would be an experiment, whose role models do not lie in us but outside us. What is natural in New York would be artificial in Munich.’ In late May 1930, Hitler settled for a large nineteenth-century neo-classical townhouse, the Palais Barlow on the Brienner Strasse. He went about the renovation of the building, which was financed through an extraordinary appeal to the membership, with great care. Hitler envisaged a ‘marriage of utility and beauty … which we also want to achieve in due course on a large scale’.2

As the party fortunes waxed, internal divisions came to the fore again. The main clash was between the Strasser brothers and Hitler. This was partly a question of authority. In April 1930, the Saxon Nazis supported a metalworkers’ strike on Gregor Strasser’s instructions over Hitler’s clearly expressed objections. Moreover, the Strassers and Goebbels were still engaged in a stagfight over propaganda; not for the first or last time, a frustrated Goebbels repeatedly considered resignation.3 Doctrinal differences were also very important, however, especially as there were many Strasser sympathizers in the SA and among the Gauleiter. Here the problem was not so much their ‘leftist’ stance on economics, which caused Hitler tactical problems with the middle class and business, but with which he did not fundamentally disagree, as their heterodox views on race and foreign policy, to which Hitler took violent exception. Contrary to Strasser’s repeated demand that Germany form a ‘League of the Oppressed’ against imperialism, Hitler refused to put Germans on the same level as the allegedly ‘inferior’ Egyptian fellahin, Hindus or Siamese. Hitler contrasted the ‘racial inferiority of the Indian’ with the qualities of the ‘Nordic Briton’. He rejected the demands of blacks and Indians as ‘an attempt’ to reverse the ‘natural ranking order of the races’. For this reason, Hitler warned against ‘joining the general world wailing and shrieking against Britain’. He dismissed Otto Strasser’s admiration for the Indian leader Gandhi as ‘a racial perversity’.4

Hitler trod carefully, too carefully for some party critics. Goebbels decried the delay in confronting the Strassers. ‘I don’t believe a word of this any longer,’ he wrote in his diary in mid March 1930. ‘Hitler is very nervous,’ Goebbels noted a few weeks later, ‘he obviously feels very insecure.’ Hope would alternate with despair as Hitler took action one day – ‘Bravo! Hitler is starting to lead’ – only to lapse back into hesitation the next. ‘He is avoiding taking a decision,’ Goebbels lamented in late June 1930, ‘that is the old Hitler. The vacillator! The eternal procrastinator!’ In part, no doubt, all this was due to his habitual indecisiveness. ‘He hasn’t got the courage to move against Strasser,’ Goebbels lamented, ‘how is that meant to work if he later has to act [sic] the dictator in Germany?’5 But there was method in Hitler’s tergiversation too. Where his charisma failed, he had no effective instruments to enforce his will. Hitler could not risk an internal party eruption which might set off so many secondary detonations as to consume the whole organization. The forces arrayed against him required a series of controlled explosions, in so far as they could not simply be defused.

In April 1930, Hitler moved to re-establish his authority among the Gauleiter and in the SA. Gauleiter Friedrich Hildebrandt in Mecklenburg-Lübeck was sacked for making Strasserite criticisms of Hitler’s approaches to industry; he was later reinstated. Hitler also reminded the SA, many of whom were straining to engage in revolutionary action, of its primary function. ‘Our weapons are not the dagger or the bomb, machine guns or hand grenades or military formations’ but rather ‘our weapons are exclusively the stringent truth of our idea, the victorious power of our theses, [and] the indefatigability of our propaganda work.’6 That said, Hitler encouraged the SA to take on the communist Rotfront cadres in the fight for the control of the streets, so that Nazi brawling became a standard feature of Weimar politics.

Otto Strasser, for his part, refused to knuckle under. In early July 1930, he established a ‘left-wing’ breakaway group of ‘Revolutionary National Socialists’. Its founding proclamation announced that ‘the socialists are leaving the NSDAP’. The new movement never got off the ground. Gregor Strasser, still under Hitler’s spell, broke with his brother. Only 800 party members and some functionaries defected, mainly in the north. Otto’s group remained propagandistically active over the next two and a half years, but it never mobilized more than 5,000 people.7 Despite extensive unhappiness in the SA, neither the organization nor any substantial part of it followed Otto into opposition. The rebellion was not trivial, but it was perfectly containable. Moreover, it allowed the party leadership to blame illegal tendencies on the Strasserite fringe.8 Hitler had read the situation correctly. In the first of a series of controlled explosions, one of his rivals had blown himself up without bringing the whole edifice down.

Hitler now turned to deal with the crisis in the SA.9 Here the problem was not so much ideological – although many sympathized with the Strasserite left – as tactical. The north-eastern SA under the leadership of Walter Stennes demanded a much more radical approach to the seizure of power. Hitler insisted on a policy of legality, in rhetoric but also in practice, so as not to give the authorities an excuse to ban the party and its structures. This was an old debate, but it came to a head in the late summer and autumn of 1930. The SA leader, Pfeffer von Salomon, was both disaffected and ineffective. On the very first day of September, a squad of SA men demolished Goebbels’s offices in Berlin. The rebellion seemed on the verge of spreading to the countryside. Hitler did not try to confront Stennes directly.10 He was desperate to avoid a breach before the Reichstag elections of 1930. Instead, Hitler sought to end the controversy by sacking Salomon and taking over as (nominal) supreme commander of the SA himself. Röhm returned from Latin America to take over the actual running of the SA, with the formal title of ‘chief of staff’ (Stabschef). Stennes backed off. An uneasy peace returned. Once again, Hitler’s tactics had paid off, as another high-profile defection would surely have seriously damaged the party at the polls and possibly even led to its implosion.

Perhaps mindful of the dangers of too much consultation, the new edition of Mein Kampf in 1930 deleted references to ‘Germanic Democracy’, and to the ‘election of the Führer’, one of the few major changes to the text over time.11 The new passage stressed the ‘principle of Führer authority, paired with the highest responsibility’. In the same vein, Hitler also ordained that the local party organizations should no longer elect their own leaders – as envisaged in the first editions of Mein Kampf – but that these should be appointed from the top down.12 In other words, Hitler was not simply establishing his own absolute authority, but the primacy of the ‘Führer principle’ throughout the entire movement. The need for these ‘Führers’ was justified by necessity. ‘The ideal solution,’ he remarked later, ‘would be for the nation to be gripped by’ a single figure, ‘without any organizational intermediary bodies’, but he conceded that this was ‘unfortunately impossible’.13 Hitler’s largely rhetorical experiment with ‘Germanic Democracy’ was over. The NSDAP would be a party of one leader and many sub-leaders.

As always, ideological concerns rather than everyday issues were at the heart of the Nazi campaigning in advance of the 1930 Reichstag election. Hitler made a serious effort to conciliate Catholics, peppering his speeches with religious language; one appearance in Würzburg was even garnished with an ‘amen’.14 This was not just electoral opportunism, but reflected Hitler’s desire to heal the confessional rift in Germany. He also reminded the electorate of the dangers of federalism and supposed racial division in two articles drawn directly from Mein Kampf.15 One of them appeared the same day as Goebbels tidied up his vandalized offices in Berlin. ‘The office looked awful,’ he noted, with ‘two big puddles of blood in my room’. This ‘blood of comrades’, he continued, was ‘a terrible sight’. ‘That is how we Germans are,’ Goebbels went on, which made him doubt that ‘we will ever be able to liberate this people’.16 Hitler elaborated his concerns about the cohesion of the German people in a more guarded form than he had expressed himself towards Strasser. ‘The German people may be made up of different races,’ he told an audience of students, but its external appearance was determined through the ‘higher-value racial elements’, the encouragement and improvement of which was the task of domestic policy. This would have to focus on the need for ‘breeding’ the German people onto a higher racial plane.17

The answer to these challenges, Hitler argued, was not a vote for one of the Weimar parties. ‘In elections,’ he explained, ‘there is never a victory but only the periodic exchange of overseers.’ If Germans wanted to do more than simply rotate their overseers, they would have to vote NSDAP and its programme of purported racial regeneration through the conquest of living space. ‘Adolf Hitler,’ one Saxon paper reported, ‘announced that the supreme principle of his party was the creation and securing of sufficient living space’; this – it argued – was what differentiated the NSDAP from both the Marxist and the bourgeois parties. Space was Hitler’s answer to everything, from reparations to inflation, unemployment and the crisis of German agriculture. ‘The life of the individual,’ he observed in mid August 1930, was ‘always determined by the space available to society. Whatever living space is available determines the life of the whole and with that the life of the individual.’ The Americans, he reminded his listeners, had solved this problem. This need for Lebensraum as a panacea for all Germany’s ills was hammered home to audiences again and again across Germany.18

While anti-Semitism generally receded as a theme in Hitler’s speeches in the early 1930s, perhaps for tactical reasons, it was by no means concealed. In late February 1930, Hitler condemned the Jews as a ‘world plague whose flags fly from Vladivostok to the heart of the American Union’. In early March 1930, he spoke of the ‘real rulers’ of ‘German parliamentary democracy’, namely the ‘Jewish world money power’. In late July 1930, Hitler inveighed again against the ‘string-pullers of humanity, the Jews’.19

When the votes were counted in mid September 1930, it became clear that the Nazis had made a colossal breakthrough. Hitler had been optimistic about the outcome, but the final tally of about 18 per cent of the national vote far exceeded his expectations. It was a massive increase on the pathetic 2.6 per cent secured in the 1928 elections. The NSDAP was now the second-largest party in the Reichstag after the Social Democrats. In Franconia, the result was particularly good, with most areas registering a Nazi vote of well over 30 per cent, and in Coburg as high as 43 per cent.20 The Nazi vote was preponderantly but by no means exclusively Protestant and middle-class, with the self-employed more represented than workers; the membership tended to be young and male. That said, the NSDAP won votes from across the entire spectrum, and the range of its supporters was growing.21 What these results signified about the appeal of Hitler’s programme to the various sections of the electorate is impossible to say for certain. There is no evidence, for example, that the unemployed voted for him in disproportionate numbers, in either this contest or the subsequent elections; instead, they seem to have trended towards the communists.22 Nor do we know for sure whether those who did cast their ballot for the NSDAP did so in support of Hitler’s Lebensraum vision or his anti-Semitism, or for some other reason.23

One way or the other, the political implications of the vote were enormous. Hitler’s strategy had been vindicated. Otto Strasser was left completely isolated. The legal path to power now seemed realistic on a shorter timeframe than anybody had dared hope. Success also bred success. ‘You have no idea,’ Rudolf Hess wrote to his parents, ‘how the situation of the movement and especially of Hitler himself has really changed overnight’, so that ‘we have suddenly become presentable’. ‘People who previously gave Hitler a wide berth,’ he continued, ‘now suddenly “must” speak to him.’24 The Nazis became attractive for a new type of man. It was around this time that Albert Speer, a talented young architect, first encountered Hitler and was mesmerized by him.25 In early January, Hitler met former Reichsbank president Hjalmar Schacht at Göring’s flat; Mussolini’s liaison man Giuseppe Renzetti was also present.26

Electoral success did not change the content of Hitler’s speeches, which remained more or less unchanged until the takeover of power, but were continually elaborated and refined. Hitler still refused to engage with day-to-day politics, and claimed this as a virtue. ‘[Our] fate will not be decided by the issues of the day,’ he announced in mid November 1930. This was because in his view day-to-day politics were a distraction from the issues that really mattered. ‘The politician,’ he told the Nationalklub in Hamburg at the start of December 1930, ‘must not limit himself to the issues of the day but must devote himself to matters of principle.’27 With some exceptions, there was no sign of any ideological softening or repositioning, even for tactical purposes.

Hitler’s hostility to the world of finance, especially in its international form, remained undimmed; it was also closely connected to his anti-Semitism. ‘If a people dissipates its strength,’ he warned in mid November 1930, it would be dominated by another force, that of ‘supra-state finance’.28 The economic programme of the NSDAP remained ferociously anti-capitalist with its demand to nationalize major banks, to ban trading in stocks and bonds, to limit interest rates, and to confiscate ‘illicit’ gains from speculating on the stock market, war, revolution and inflation.29 It supported the metalworkers’ strike in the autumn of 1930, during which Hitler claimed that ‘behind these forces supporting our enslavement [lay] the inexplicable narrow-mindedness of German business, or at least part of that business’.30 In the budget debate in the following year, the party chose as its spokesman none other than Gottfried Feder, the scourge of capitalism, interest payments and ‘debt-slavery’. If the NSDAP was generally on the extreme left of the extreme right, it was economically on the extreme right of the extreme left.

Occasionally, Hitler played down the role of the Jews in all this, for example in that speech to the Nationalklub in Hamburg, which contains no anti-Semitic outbursts.31 Privately, though, Hitler was much exercised about the alleged power of the Jews in the US. He believed them to have seized almost all the key positions in American society, giving them total control. Their headquarters, Hitler argued, lay in New York, where, on his reckoning, about 3 million Jews sat like tapeworms at the source.32 In an interview with a Jewish Associated Press journalist, moreover, Hitler went out of his way to tell his American audience that ‘Germany’s situation was the fault of Jewish capital’.33 This was clearly a shot across the bows of Wall Street. More generally, Hitler saw himself as a victim of the ‘Jewish press’, and anti-Semitism simply as a form of German ‘self-defence’.34

On Hitler’s reading, the German people remained enslaved: by international capital, the Jews and the victor powers. The United States remained the dominant force in the world. ‘Excessively rich America,’ he pronounced in early December 1930, as the country reeled under the impact of the Depression, ‘is conquering the whole with its unlimited opportunities.’ The hated Young Plan, which remained at the heart of Hitler’s critique of the status quo, epitomized the master–slave relationship. German hunger was blamed on the Young Plan. He even portrayed the 300 dead of a mining accident in the North-Rhine Westphalian town of Alsdorf as ‘the victims of the Young system of robbery’. In his speech to the Hamburg Nationalklub he spoke of the ‘tribute’ payments to international masters. This slavery, he claimed, also had a devastating psychological effect on the nation, by inhibiting creativity in music and art. Hitler thus feared that the ‘German people would slowly die out [and] perish for lack of importance’. He argued that Germany was simply the ‘plaything of the nations’ and was at best condemned to the indignity of being simply ‘a second Holland, a second Switzerland’.35

Even after the 1930 election, Hitler did not depart from his view that Germany was racially fragmented, and the German people themselves of decidedly mixed quality. He seemed at this point to include Germans, Romans, Celts and even Slavs among the Aryans. They were subdivided into families of nations. The Italians, Spaniards and southern Frenchmen were part of the Romance family; the Danes, Swedes, Germans and Anglo-Saxons formed the Germanic family; and the Ukrainians, White Russians, Bulgarians and Yugoslavs were part of the Slavic family. Far from believing in existing racial purity, it seems, Hitler was clear that patterns of migrations over the past millennium had led to displacements and admixtures, rather than pure races, generally speaking.36 The only people, Hitler claimed, who had managed to maintain their blood completely pure and unadulterated, thanks to their marriage laws and other factors, were the Jews. Everybody else, and particularly the fragmented Germans, were racially a melange.

This presented a problem for Hitler. On the one hand, he wanted German racial purity to overcome the divisions of the past; that was a central part of his programme. On the other hand, the public diagnosis of current German racial inferiority could only deepen divisions and damage the NSDAP at the polls. The German Volk, he remarked privately, would be only more splintered, set against one another, and atomized by stirring up the racial problems. This would render it insignificant as far as foreign policy goes. Racial theories could be discussed among the inner circle, Hitler explained, but for the public at large they were poison. Such discussion would only rouse superiority and inferiority complexes.37 For all the candour in Mein Kampf and his various speeches, Hitler could not level with the German people on this matter. The Second Book remained safely locked in a drawer.

For this reason, Hitler was careful to avoid public rhetoric which would divide Germans racially. References on his part to blond hair and blue eyes were relatively rare, not just because Hitler possessed neither. The only known remark he made at this time was with reference to his American prisoners of July 1918, supposedly descended from German emigrants. He remarked in private conversation that one should not harbour the narrow belief that every teacher must be a blond Germanic type. This he considered complete nonsense. For this reason, Hitler expressly and repeatedly forbade any talk of dividing the German people into two racial halves: the Germanic and the non-Germanic people, even though this was very much his own view. Instead, Hitler laid down that the Germans in particular must avoid anything that tended to create even more divisiveness in the religious, political and ideological spheres. If people were told that they were racially different, then the result would be not the unification of all Germans, but the bringing about of the final separation and dissolution of the concept of Germany.38

Instead, Hitler planned a more gradual and comprehensive racial reformation of the Germans over the longer term. One should accept the mixing of blood as it was, Hitler argued privately, and not call one [German] blood worse than the other, one mixture better than another. Rather, one should employ other means to breed a higher form from what he rather unflatteringly described as the existing grey mass. Here Hitler had not so much medical eugenics in mind as a much broader range of social and cultural instruments. One must try to bring to the surface the valuable traits of the people living in Germany, Hitler argued, in order to cultivate and to develop them. This required ways and means to prevent the propagation of all the bad, inferior, criminal, decadent tendencies and congenital diseases likely to damage the people. Central to this project, Hitler explained, would be educating young people in the beauty of movement, the beauty of the body and the beauty of the spirit, through athletics, personal grooming, physical training, public performances of competitive games and contests and the revival of the performing arts along the old Greek models. This selective breeding would be furthered by the encounter of Germans of all backgrounds in kindergarten, primary school, the Hitler Youth and the League of German Girls. Then, when these children grew up, they would be able to leave all party considerations behind and elect the man, the only one, who represented them and went to the Reichstag on their behalf. Only then, Hitler claimed, would they see true democracy in Germany.39

Once again, Hitler was reviewing his timetable. Even as he celebrated the party’s advance at the polls, he foresaw the road ahead to be a long and hard one. He expected the takeover of power after a final election victory to be preceded, rather than be followed, by the racial regeneration of Germany. He confided that he sometimes had the feeling that it would not be granted to him to experience the great future which lay ahead, and that only a coming generation would be mature enough to translate his ideas and plans into action. He therefore saw it as his mission to bring about the basis for such a community of the Volk, especially to guide the young people of Germany along the paths that lead to this goal.40

The way forward, Hitler continued to argue, lay in a domestic regeneration, which would enable a radical new foreign policy. Ending Germany’s internal divisions remained his priority.41 Again and again, Hitler returned to the theme of the Thirty Years War and the deep rift it had created in the life of the nation, ultimately leading to the catastrophe of 1918–19.42 He also lamented the split caused by class conflict, which had weakened the Reich in the face of its internal and external enemies. Far from trying to spare bourgeois sensibilities for electoral purposes, Hitler continued to lambast ‘prejudice’, and ‘class madness’. ‘The smallest title,’ he complained, tried to ‘elevate itself over the even smaller title.’ The NSDAP, Hitler proclaimed, was against ‘class antagonism and class prejudice’.43 Central to this integrative and modernizing project was the motorization of Germany, which Hitler regarded as essential to reaching social and racial parity with the United States. In 1930, picking up on the widespread contemporary discussions about the development of a ‘people’s car’, he remarked that Germany would need a version of the Model T. Ford within the budget of an ordinary family.44

In strategic terms, Hitler stuck to Lebensraum as the universal panacea throughout 1930–31, in public and in private. Because of Germany’s past internal divisions, especially the religious ones, she had been ‘left out’ of the first partition of the world. ‘We had to watch,’ he complained, ‘how nations [such as] the Portuguese and the Dutch divided up the world with the British.’45 ‘If a people is starving,’ he argued, ‘then it has the right to seize territory for itself.’46 Lebensraum also drove his understanding of international economics. ‘In the final analysis,’ he remarked of the economic crisis in early December 1930, ‘the question of participation in world trade is not a matter of the raising of production but exclusively a question of the conquest of markets. Sales is the greatest problem, not production.’47 Returning to old themes from Mein Kampf and the Second Book, he argued that there were only two ways of feeding the German people. ‘Either one pursues export, which means competing with the world,’ Hitler suggested, ‘or we create ourselves a new market through the expansion of our living space.’48

For this reason Hitler continued to reject solutions based on ‘world economy and world trade’;49 only living space in the east would do. Significantly, Hitler did not seek present-day world domination for Germany; that ship had already sailed. He spoke conditionally of a claim which would have existed in the past, had Germany not been so divided. ‘No people would have had a better right to the concept of world domination,’ he lamented, ‘than the German people’, but that moment had passed.50 All that Hitler was seeking in the here and now was simple parity with Anglo-America.

Nazism might have made an electoral breakthrough, but there were still huge barriers between Hitler and the takeover of power. The principal pillars of power within the state remained largely sceptical towards Hitler and the NSDAP. President Hindenburg, for example, stayed aloof. The chancellor, Heinrich Brüning, met with Hitler but no agreement was secured. To the fury of the government, Hitler leaked the content of their conversation. The Reichswehr was not only profoundly sceptical about the party’s commitment to legality, but also violently hostile to its ‘socialist’ domestic politics. These, the record of a conference in the Defence Ministry in late October 1930 claimed with reference to the nationalization measures set out in the Nazi economic programme, were ‘pure communism’.51 Hitler also hit the buffers in Nuremberg, which he acclaimed as ‘the most German city ever’,52 and where he planned to hold another party rally in 1931, in a central place easily accessible from Austria and Czechoslovakia. His appeal to Mayor Luppe fell on deaf ears, and the city council refused to authorize the annual party congress for the second year running.

Nor did the 1930 elections, despite claims to the contrary by the Nazis themselves and their enemies, reconcile big business to Hitler. A few bosses now began to ‘hedge’ against the eventuality of a Nazi victory by seeking a rapprochement. Hitler also made some headway with individual business figures. In late September 1930, he met with the shipping magnate Wilhelm Cuno in Hamburg,53 who arranged for him to address the Nationalklub in Hamburg two months later. The vast majority of business leaders, however, were still repelled by Hitler’s anti-capitalist rhetoric. His economics adviser Wagener was far to the left of any entrepreneur. Moreover, Nazi Party journals, especially that of the ‘Factory Cell Organization’ continued to lambast the ‘liberal-capitalist system’,54 to criticize bosses and to call for the nationalization of key industries. Throughout 1931, donations from business remained few and far between.

This meant that the party remained dependent on alternative sources of financing, especially donations and subscriptions by the membership or sympathizers. The NSDAP also made money selling newspapers, books, tickets to meetings and in many other ways.55 All SA members had to take out a party-organized insurance. Costs were generally low, as there were few salaried staff; most officers worked for free. Here the NSDAP much more closely resembled the SPD than the parties of the centre and right, who were generally in receipt of monies from big business or other vested interests. This model of financing was a response to weakness, but it became a source of strength. It gave the NSDAP a certain resilience and independence, and enabled Hitler to deal with potential donors more confidently; he could not simply be ‘bought’. Moreover, the fact that the party charged for entry to meetings also deterred hecklers and timewasters, as well as ensuring that those who attended were highly motivated.

Hitler’s political strategy after the election was three-pronged. First, Hitler sought to tighten his grip on the party organization. In early November 1930, Hitler issued an instruction to regulate relations between the SA and SS; the latter was beginning to grow in importance as the provider of a ‘police service inside the party’.56 Generally speaking, both organizations were forbidden to attempt to poach members from each other, although a request to transfer was not to be unreasonably refused, and neither was entitled to give orders to the other, unless the task specifically required it. Secondly, smarting after his rebuff by Brüning, and sensitive to the froideur coming from President Hindenburg, Hitler reached out to the mainstream right. In September 1930, he made Göring a special envoy to forge alliances with conservatives.57 Hitler tried to patch up relations with the nationalist paramilitary organization the Stahlhelm, meeting on several occasions with the leadership.58 He told the NSDAP ‘leaders’ conference’ in Cologne that while the election victory enabled the party to speak ‘in a different tone’ with the Stahlhelm, it was ‘wise’, given the size of that organization, ‘not to antagonize the Stahlhelm’. He left the question of tactical collaboration to the discretion of local leaders but in general he hoped that one would work more closely. ‘The brown and grey soldiers,’ he demanded, ‘must stand together in the battle against the current system.’59

Likewise, Hitler attempted to appease the agrarian conservatives, no easy task given his own well-documented hostility and that of his agricultural adviser Walther Darré. The latter’s demand for ‘new aristocracy of blood and soil’ had put a big question-mark over the supposed racial value of the German nobility.60 At a meeting with the prominent East Elbian landowner Prince Eulenburg-Hertefeld in January 1931, Hitler reassured him that he did not plan to expropriate anybody within Germany (except, implicitly, the Jews), not least because the land available was not sufficient for his purposes. Referring Eulenburg to the relevant passages in Mein Kampf, he explained that the necessary land would be secured further east.61 In effect, Hitler was proposing to bypass awkward distributional questions by enlarging the cake.

Thirdly, Hitler began not merely to outline but to conduct an active foreign policy. He was now a power in the land, a fact which brought with it both dangers and opportunities. Hitler was very concerned that Brüning’s aggressive push for German rearmament, partly designed to deflect attention from internal woes, would provoke pre-emptive strikes from France and Poland. The Poles were prepared to meet him halfway. In the autumn of 1930, an emissary from Marshal Piłsudski came to Munich. He proposed a ten-year peace and friendship treaty after a Nazi takeover of power, based on close economic ties, the resolution of outstanding border issues and some form of central European federation directed against the Soviet Union. Hitler, who was a keen admirer of the marshal, needed no persuading. He remarked privately that he was determined to follow Piłsudski’s advice and conclude a ten-year pact with Poland immediately after taking over the government. Hitler saw a treaty with Poland as the first step towards the consolidation of central Europe.62 Unlike some in his entourage, he was optimistic that Britain would not oppose these schemes.

Even more important than keeping the Poles at arm’s length, in Hitler’s mind, was wooing Anglo-America. After all, London and Washington would have to agree not only to Hitler’s plans for a new European order, but to his assumption of power in the first place. This now seemed possible. The election changed the international standing of the Nazis, which had been generally low after the failed Munich Putsch.63 The Anglo-American press, especially The Times and the newspapers owned by William Randolph Hearst, now besieged Hitler with requests for interviews. ‘The domestic and foreign press is beating down the doors,’ Hess exulted; they were wiring from America, telephoning from London and were ‘plunged into despair when Hitler coolly declared that he was not available’.64 Hitler gave a series of international interviews immediately after the election, principally to the British and American press, including the Daily Mail, the Sunday Express and The Times. He told his economic adviser Otto Wagener that he needed to win over England.65

In public and in private, Hitler was convinced that a deal with the British – whom he regarded as a ‘fraternal people’66 – could be done on the basis of the territorial status quo in the west, the renunciation of colonies and common enmity against the Soviet Union.67 In his charm offensive in the British media in the autumn of 1930, Hitler therefore emphasized the threat of Bolshevism. He stressed the commonality of interest between the two countries and showed himself knowledgeable about British history.68 Hitler hoped that agreement would be reached without recourse to war, hoping that an 1866-style conflict like that between Austria and Prussia could be avoided.69 The allusion to the Austro-Prussian War of 1866 was significant, partly because it suggested that he regarded the differences between Germans and Britons as no greater than those between Reich Germans and those in Austria, but also for the way in which he conceived a future war with Britain. It should be avoided if possible, and if waged should be conducted swiftly and followed by a generous compromise peace similar to the one that Bismarck concluded with the Austrians after their defeat at Sadowa, enabling the rapid conclusion of the Austro-German Dual Alliance at the end of the subsequent decade. The contours of the 1940 constellation are already visible here.

Immediately after the election, Putzi Hanfstaengl was recalled and instructed to mount a proper foreign press effort.70 It became his job to manage relationships with the large numbers of journalists in Berlin, most of them British and American. This was not an easy task. Although Hitler was intrinsically ‘good copy’, he was also erratic in his behaviour, missed deadlines and never really understood the concept of an ‘exclusive’. To Hanfstaengl’s frustration, he often made policy announcements prematurely and in obscure places. There could be no doubting the content of Hitler’s message to the Americans, however. In an interview with Hearst’s New York American, Hitler railed against ‘war debt slavery’ and the fact that the reparations settlement had turned German workers into ‘convict labour for an entire generation and, in addition, bequeathed to its children and children’s children the Versailles Treaty and Young Plan, endless slavery, and the sentences of unforgettable tribute paying’. As with Britain, what Hitler wanted was an accommodation with the United States, in this case on the basis of a hemispheric partition of the world. ‘Our whole movement,’ he announced in mid October 1930, ‘aims at a German Monroe Doctrine. This demands Germany for the Germans just as America demands America for the Americans’.71 Here Hitler was reprising a concept which he had first ventilated before the 1923 putsch, and to which he would return repeatedly in 1940–41.

Mussolini, so long aloof, began to come off the fence. As late as May 1930, he had told a German journalist that fascism was not ‘an article for export’, mainly in order to reassure the German government. Now he began to view the rise of Nazism as an opportunity for Italy. A year later, in May 1931, Mussolini received Hermann Göring, the first high-ranking Nazi to be so honoured.72 His confidant Giuseppe Renzetti met with Hitler on no fewer than ten occasions in 1930–31, and another sixteen times after that before the takeover of power.73 In an interview with the Gazzetta del Popolo two weeks after the election, Hitler repeated his views on South Tyrol. The purpose here was not primarily to establish common ground between Nazism and fascism; in fact he insisted upon the differences between the two movements. Hitler’s main motive was strategic: to break open the ring of encircling alliances around Germany, and to dissuade the great powers from stopping a Nazi victory at the polls. In short, whether with Poland, Anglo-America or Italy, Hitler was already beginning to conduct an active foreign policy long before his takeover of power.

More mundane matters soon intruded. Hitler was to spend much of 1931 not so much selling the movement abroad as trying to deal with its liabilities at home. One of these was Göring, whose high-level connections, both to German high society and internationally, were indispensable to the party. His growing importance, and the drugs he took to ease the pain from his injuries, unbalanced him not merely politically but mentally, and caused Hitler considerable anxiety. Worse still was the problem of the new SA leader, Ernst Röhm, whose obvious homosexuality, and that of his entourage, not only repelled other party leaders but was also a gift to the enemy press. ‘Disgusting!’ Goebbels wrote in late February 1931. ‘Hitler doesn’t pay enough attention here,’ with the result that the party risked becoming an ‘El Dorado for queers’.74 Hitler, though vehemently opposed to homosexuality in theory, was in fact remarkably tolerant of Röhm’s activities in practice. ‘The SA,’ he pronounced, ‘is not a moral institution for the education of upper-class girls but an association of raw fighters.’ Their ‘private life’, Hitler continued, ‘can only be taken into consideration if it violates important principles of the National Socialist world view’.75

More worryingly, the SA was also continuing to challenge Hitler’s authority. Behind the scenes, Röhm not only was developing his own foreign policy positions, but engaged in private diplomatic contacts with foreign powers.76 Just how much of this Hitler knew by the spring and summer of 1931 is unclear. It was no secret, though, that many SA leaders, especially Walter Stennes, remained committed to a strategy of revolutionary upheaval. They were egged on by their men, who had been comprehensively ‘mobilized’ for the electoral battles and now struggled to get down from their ‘highs’. In March 1931, Hitler endorsed Röhm by name but only ambivalently. ‘I am the SA,’ he announced, ‘and you belong to the SA,’ warning that ‘if I am ever in the situation where I have to give up the SA, I would do it with a bleeding heart to rescue the [rest of] the movement’. This was a clear shot across the bows. In April 1931, Stennes finally broke away from the NSDAP, attacking ‘bigwigification’ (Verbonzung) within the party and the unnecessary expenditure on ‘bronze and marble’ in the new party headquarters. He also played on the divisions between Munich and the northern Nazis. But when Stennes loyalists occupied the party headquarters, Hitler acted. Stennes was replaced with Göring.77 Not long afterwards, he joined forces with Otto Strasser, but even together they failed to gain much traction. Once again, Hitler conducted a controlled explosion within the party, which was smaller than it would have been if Stennes and Otto Strasser had left together.

The behaviour of the SA put a lot of strain on Hitler’s ‘legality strategy’. This was always something of a euphemism. It did not mean that the Nazis never broke the law; they did this all the time through attacks on political rivals.78 Rather, it signified that Hitler was committed not to stage another 1923-style insurrection, or confront the state directly with violence. This strategy was critical not only to denying the Weimar authorities a pretext to shut down the NSDAP, but also to reassuring bourgeois opinion about the respectability of the movement. In the spring and summer of 1931, these concerns came to the fore during the Eden Dance Trial. When four SA men were put on trial for assault and attempted murder, the prosecutor, a young Jewish lawyer called Hans Litten, called Hitler as a witness. Though Hitler was no stranger to court appearances, he had generally got the better of his interlocutors. This time, however, he was deeply embarrassed under a forensic cross-examination which showed his complicity in Nazi street violence. Litten’s probing put salt in Hitler’s wounds, because he could not openly disavow the SA without widening the gulf left by the Stennes revolt nor embrace them without abandoning the legality strategy.79

For Hitler, the SA rebellion was partly about the maintenance of his authority. ‘I am not the attorney of the National Socialist movement,’ he insisted, ‘but its founder and leader.’ He therefore laid down the new structure of the SA. Hitler’s emphasis on the importance of ‘leadership’ also stemmed from his concern for the long-term regeneration of German society. Somewhat in violation of his own call not to speak of supposed German racial divisions, he explained in early May 1931 that ‘Germany is not racially pure’ but was ‘composed of purely Nordic, eastern elements and of mixtures of all these parts’. ‘That is why,’ he continued, ‘in every question which requires a blood-based position there will be different answers,’ which in a democracy will fall on the ‘racially inferior side’. ‘For this reason,’ Hitler concluded, ‘there is no other form of organization conceivable for us than one based on the recognition of the Führer and his authority.’80 The Germans, he seemed to be suggesting once again, were not yet ready for democracy; they were not racially coherent enough. Later that month, Hitler established the Reichsführerschule in Munich to train a new generation of leaders. Far from believing the Germans to be naturally disciplined, therefore, Hitler believed that they needed strong leadership to knock them into racial shape.

The crushing of the Stennes revolt did not end the divisions within the NSDAP. Göring continued to feud with Goebbels. ‘Göring continues to agitate uninterruptedly against me,’ Goebbels complained in early June 1931, ‘because of a pathological jealousy’, adding that his rival was trying ‘literally [to] crawl into Hitler’s arse’ and that ‘he would manage to do so if he were not so fat’.81 Röhm remained a liability. Moreover, Hitler and he had still not sorted out Gregor Strasser, together with Röhm the last grandee on the ‘left’ of the party, who remained loyal after his brother Gregor and Stennes had left. To the frustration of many, Hitler continued to prevaricate. This was a matter partly of temperament and partly of calculation. He could not afford to lose a confrontation and even to win one, if the result was to split the party. Doing nothing, Hitler told Wagener, generally worked in politics. Politics was always a struggle, he continued, a pressure one side tries to exert. If one pushed back, the attack might be reinforced, but if one evaded and offered no resistance whatsoever, then the push stopped being a push and became mere a gust of wind which dissipated itself. But, as such, it could not pull down anything.82

Even as he battled his enemies within the party throughout the spring and early summer of 1931, Hitler kept a watchful eye on the international scene. In early May 1931, he established the ‘Foreign Section’ in Hamburg, a symbolic move in a city which regarded itself as ‘the gateway to the world’. Around the same time Hitler assured the Daily Express correspondent Sefton Delmer in a Berlin restaurant: ‘From now on, you just watch! My men will be quiet and disciplined and orderly. My job is to prevent the millions of Germans unemployed from coming under communist influence, as they easily might. I want to turn them instead into an orderly citizen force for the defence of Germany against the internal and external Bolshevik enemy.’ Not long after he told Delmer that he had two main foreign policy aims, the cancellation of reparations and ‘a free hand in the east’ to enable ‘the surplus millions of Germans to expand into the Soviet Union’. When challenged how he could attack Russia without crossing Polish land, Hitler replied, ‘A way can be found for everything.’83 Hitler repeated these remarks in an interview with the London Times in early June 1931. ‘Germany,’ he told them, ‘must export men … particularly towards the east. Herr Hitler does not specify this conception precisely, but his mind seems to take the Polish Corridor in its stride and to contemplate German colonisation of an unlimited eastern area.’84 If Mein Kampf had not been clear enough, Hitler was now openly signalling his strategic intent to the west.85

Hitler also remained preoccupied with the power of the United States, and still showed no sign of taking on board the shattering economic impact of the depression there. Reviewing the list of Germany’s rivals, he stated in early February 1931 that the United States had become a ‘competitor on the world market’, especially ‘since the war’ because it was ‘a giant state with unimaginable productive capacities’.86 The US was not merely an economic but also a cultural threat, most dramatically expressed through the ubiquitous American popular music. ‘If we believe,’ he warned, ‘that we must make American jazz music like American half-Negroes, then our own achievements must be lamentable’. Hitler also worried about Hollywood, and in particular its film version of Erich Maria Remarque’s All Quiet on the Western Front. He did not object to its portrayal of the horrors of war, on the contrary. The ‘frontline soldier’, Hitler wrote in a remarkably candid autobiographical passage, ‘knows that behind the term “glorious victory” there lies a huge amount of dirt, struggle, pain, misery and deprivation’, as well as ‘weakness’, meaning ‘the overcoming of one’s own weaknesses’ through ‘self-mastery’. ‘We are no warmongers,’ he claimed, ‘because we know war.’ Hitler objected to the Schandfilm because it claimed to show the futility of war, and thus undermined German capacity for future struggle.87

If Hitler did not pay much attention to the parlous economic situation of the United States, he was certainly aware of the collapse of the German economy. Output was declining steadily, be it because of a shortage of capital or of purchasing power. It was the crisis of the Austrian and German financial sector precipitated by the collapse of the Viennese Kreditanstalt bank in May 1931, however, which finally drove the economy off the cliff. Bankruptcies multiplied, share prices plummeted, and unemployment soared.88 The Brüning government responded by doubling down on its policy of austerity, which in turn doused demand and aggravated the depression. By the end of 1931, industrial production was only one-third of what it had been in 1928.

Hitler blamed all this not on economics but on politics. In February 1931, he saw the ‘coming famine in Germany’ as the product of Versailles and the Young Plan. Two months later, Hitler traced the rise in unemployment back to geopolitical causes. In early May, he attributed the ‘great German deprivation’ to the ‘atomization’ of German political life in 1918–19. Two months after that, when the Kreditanstalt crisis was in full swing, he once again reminded his listeners that the real immediate cause of all their ‘economic worries, immiseration, unemployment, collapse, poverty, suicide, emigration and so on’ was the Young Plan. More fundamentally, Hitler continued to argue that the crisis was all the result of the Versailles Treaty. He continued to attack the reparations scheme to the end of the year and indeed beyond not only in speeches, but in interviews with the foreign press.89 It goes without saying, of course, that Hitler saw the pernicious power of the Jews behind Germany’s economic misery and indeed behind the workings of the financial system as a whole.90

Crucial for Germany’s international position, Hitler argued, was her relative not absolute economic deprivation. He described the ‘poverty’ of the German people as being relative to an advanced ‘living standard’ rather than an ‘absolute’ one.91 Here again, he was picking up on the appeal of the American way of life, which had preoccupied him since the mid 1920s. This is why he so feared American competition.92 In particular, Hitler feared that Germany would not be able to maintain the living standard differential with non-whites. ‘The white race,’ he explained in early September 1931, ‘was able on the basis of its greater strength to dominate other peoples of inferior worth’,93 but the increasing poverty of the Germans put a question-mark over their whiteness. If the depression caused many individuals to worry about slipping down the socio-economic ladder, what Hitler feared was the resulting racial relegation of the entire German people.

Hitler was also beginning to think more creatively about how to revive the economy. He believed in the ‘multiplier effect’, by which a sum of money invested could generate a much larger figure through salaries and consumption. Hitler therefore claimed that an annual reparations bill of 2 billion RM actually deprived the German economy of about 10 to 12 billion marks.94 Though now routine, the multiplier effect was a new-fangled and disputed concept at the time and contemporary experts laughed Hitler out of court.95 Hitler also believed in deficit-financing by the state to stimulate the economy, what we today call ‘priming the pump’. He lampooned German economists for standing before a stopped clock without considering that all that was needed was to rewind it.96 Hitler may well have been influenced here by John Maynard Keynes, or at least by Keynesian thinking.

Thanks to the collapsing economy, Nazism began to surge forward again at the polls. In mid May 1931, the NSDAP gained 37 per cent of the vote in the regional elections in Oldenburg and became the largest party in the Landtag there. The Republic was now subjected to mass battery fire by the party propaganda machine. The recently disciplined SA was part of this strategy, which Hitler conceived of in political rather than military terms, but expressed in the language of the battlefield. ‘The SA man,’ he stated, ‘is a political fighter’ whose job it was ‘to enable the leadership of the movement to protect the movement.’ ‘For National Socialism,’ Hitler continued, ‘propaganda is and remains the attack artillery.’ The SA, he explained, were ‘the infantry’. ‘The SA and SS,’ Hitler elaborated, served to ‘cover’ the propaganda barrage, while ‘the organization [meaning the Party] occupies and fortifies the captured positions’. The growing success of the Nazis increased the number of those switching from other parties. Hitler gave orders that those who were likely to do so should not be criticized in the party press.97

The Nazi advance and the failure of the Brüning government to get to grips with the escalating political and economic crisis led some of the established elites to take a greater interest in Hitler. It was around this time that Emil Georg von Stauss, a director of the Deutsche Bank, met him in Berlin at Göring’s instigation.98 Hitler also made the acquaintance of Walther Funk, the economics editor of the conservative Berliner Börsen-Zeitung. He was the first voice in Nazi policy which was not fundamentally anti-capitalist. Hitler signalled to him that the Nazi economic programme was flexible. For all that, despite high hopes and Hitler’s repeated claims to his associates that the world of finance had seen the light,99 the NSDAP made no breakthrough with big business in the summer of 1931. Looking back on those events, his press secretary Otto Dietrich recalled that ‘The authoritative men of [the economy] and the associational officials of industry displayed a cool political reserve and awaited developments’. The result, he wrote, was that Hitler had to continue ‘to rely in his propagandistic endeavors on the financial sacrifices of his party comrades, on membership dues and entrance fees for rallies’.100

In terms of high politics, though, Hitler began to make serious progress. In early July 1931, Hitler had his first meeting with the head of the mainstream conservative DNVP, Alfred Hugenberg. There followed encounters with the two leaders of the Stahlhelm, Seldte and Duesterberg. He also met with the chairman of the DVP, Eduard Dingeldey, and privately signalled his respect for Brüning’s foreign and domestic policy, which he was traducing in public. Göring conveyed as much directly to the chancellor.101 Hitler’s strategy here was to undermine the government through ‘100 conferences’.102 Likewise, his dealings with big business, which picked up again in the autumn, were not so much intended to win over its leaders as to ‘neutralize them’.103 Central to this strategy was shattering their confidence in the Weimar system. ‘Hitler,’ Hess remarked in early September 1931, ‘is now more in Berlin than Munich’ because ‘he has set himself the task of causing the remaining pillars of the current government in industry and banking to totter’.104 He was, as yet, a great deal further from achieving this than he claimed, but a lot of progress had been made.

In mid September, however, there was a shattering event, which nearly ended Hitler’s career. His somewhat irregular personal life was the subject of much concern within the party. ‘Hitler chats about marriage’, Goebbels noted earlier in the year, ‘he feels very lonely and yearns for [the right] woman, which he cannot find.’ In the autumn of 1931, matters came to a head. Relations between Geli and Hitler deteriorated, partly because of his desire to ‘protect’ her, and partly because he opposed her plans to become an opera singer. What triggered the final tragic climax is unclear. It may have been Hitler’s controlling nature, his growing interest in Eva Braun or his ill-concealed infatuation with Goebbels’s girlfriend Magda Quandt, which peaked in September 1931. ‘Hitler is in seventh heaven,’ Goebbels noted in his diary on 26 August, ‘beautiful women, that is his taste,’ adding that Magda had rather overstepped the mark with ‘the chief’, which caused him considerable anguish. A fortnight later, Goebbels and Magda told Hitler of their intention of getting married. He was visibly ‘crushed’, ‘resigned’ and ‘lonely’. Hitler ‘is unlucky with women,’ Goebbels opined, ‘because he is too soft on them’, which ‘women don’t like’ because ‘they must [have] a master over them’. ‘He loves Magda,’ Goebbels recorded, ‘and he too seeks a suitable girlfriend whom he can later marry’.105 All this this may have aggravated the tensions between Hitler and Geli. Whatever the reason, after a row with Hitler two days later, on 18 September 1931, Geli locked herself in her room and shot herself with his pistol. Hitler, who was in Nuremberg at the time, rushed back to Munich.

Geli’s death was a massive emotional blow.106 For a long time afterwards, Hitler was inconsolable. At first, he seems to have said little. A few days afterwards, he sat ‘completely quietly and cowed’ in Goebbels’s flat, saying ‘not a word of Geli’. In late November he poured his heart out. ‘The chief speaks of women, whom he loves very much,’ Goebbels wrote, ‘of the [right] one, whom he cannot find’, of ‘the hysterical women who pursue him’, and ‘of Geli, whom he has lost and whom he mourns with all his heart’. At Goebbels and Magda’s wedding in mid December 1931, where he was best man, Hitler broke down in tears. ‘Then he speaks of Geli,’ Goebbels reports. ‘He loved her very much’ and she was ‘his “good comrade”’.107 That Christmas, he wrote his personal greetings on a black-framed postcard. ‘I am having very sad days,’ he told Winifred Wagner, adding that ‘the great loneliness first has to be overcome’. Hitler explained that he had recently passed through Bayreuth, but had not stopped off at Wahnfried because he ‘could not bring himself’ to seek her out, because – candidly acknowledging his morose state – ‘what is the point of depriving people of joy just because one is unhappy oneself’.108

Hitler also had to deal with the huge political fallout. Geli’s death, the manner of her passing and the rumours surrounding it were a public relations disaster. Thanks to the SA, the Nazis already had a grim reputation for violence and sodomy. Now the enemy press went to town on Hitler himself. They had a field day with the fact that he seemed to be in an intense and controlling relationship with his much younger niece, who had then shot herself with his pistol. It did not look good. Hitler responded with a two-pronged strategy. The first step was damage limitation. He did not go to the funeral in Vienna in order to avoid turning the event into a media spectacle at his expense, though he slipped into Austria quietly immediately after in order to pay his respects at her grave. A few days later, Hitler published a ‘Declaration’, denying any breach with Geli or intent to stop her from getting engaged.109 He did not retreat from the public eye, and continued his punishing schedule of speeches, though observers noted that he ‘looks very worn out’.110 With some difficulty, the crisis was contained, though Hitler remained the target of innuendo and sensationalism until he took power.

It soon became clear, however, that a much broader response was necessary. For political reasons, the general whiff of sexual depravity, incest and hysteria emanating from Hitler’s entourage would have to be replaced by a more wholesome odour of domesticity. Heinrich Hoffmann was put to work to produce a photographic celebration of Hitler, which appeared in March 1932, six months after Geli’s suicide. This album, entitled ‘The Hitler Nobody Knows’, invited Germans to rethink their conception of Hitler the man. Instead of the single-minded political warrior, surrounded by homoerotic thugs and hysterical women, they were presented with a much more domesticated ‘Führer’, who communed with nature and, though childless himself, loved children. Images and text stressed his sobriety and clean-living: no alcohol, no smoking and no meat.111 There was no sign of Eva Braun, or indeed of any other woman. Germany had Hitler entirely to herself.

In late September 1931, Hitler predicted to Goebbels twice that they would soon take power.112 In order to prepare for that event, Hitler had already begun to establish new party structures. In June, he had set up the Imperial Leaders’ School in Munich. ‘What we expect from the future’, Hitler told them in late September 1931, ‘must already be visible in us today’ so that ‘our current organization must already embody that which is to come in the Third Reich,’ one of his few uses of that term to describe a Nazi regime.113 He appointed Otto Dietrich as his press chief on 1 August 1931. Right at the end of October, Hitler made Baldur von Schirach ‘youth leader’. A few days later, he established the ‘Economic Council’, under the chairmanship of Gottfried Feder, which was charged with advising on ‘preparations for economic legislation’ and ‘for all fundamentally important matters of economic policy’.114 On New Year’s Eve, he set up the ‘Race and Settlement Office’ under Walther Darré. The contours of the coming Third Reich were increasingly visible.

The problem was how to crack open the Brüning government, which produced more emergency legislation in early October 1931, and looked set to rule by presidential decree for the foreseeable future. The key was President Hindenburg himself, the clique of conservatives around him and the broader network of established right-wing power brokers in the Stahlhelm, among estate owners and in industry.115 Once again, Hitler’s aim here was not so much to win over as to neutralize these actors, by reducing their instinctive dislike for, and distrust of, the NSDAP. A meeting with the Empress Hermine, the second wife of Wilhelm II, went reasonably well. Moving beyond the piecemeal contacts of the past, in December 1931 he tasked the North Badenese entrepreneur Wilhelm Keppler, who had already been serving as his personal economic adviser for seven months, to reach out to businessmen beyond the usual NSDAP circles.116 Hitler indicated to him that he was not wedded to any part of the Nazi economic programme, and expressed the fear that Otto Wagener, Strasser and Gottfried Feder would repel business with their socialist talk.117 He met with Hindenburg for the first time on 10 October 1931, and though Hitler managed to improve the atmosphere between them a little, the president made no secret of his determination to prevent Hitler from seizing power outright. It was the start of a clash of two charismas, and for now Hitler was outshone by the older man.118

In the course of the next day, the limits to Hitler’s charm offensive became evident at a joint rally with the mainstream right in Bad Harzburg.119 This was a complete failure, as each party sought to dominate and marginalize the other. Hitler first let the nationalists wait, and then left before they had completed their parades. There were even brawls between Stahlhelm and SA. ‘Hitler is furious,’ Goebbels noted, ‘because one is trying to push us against the wall.’120 The feeling was mutual. It was clear that, just as with the Bavarian conservatives, the common ground between the mainstream nationalist right and Hitler was not large enough to permit a stable alliance. There would not be room for both of them in the new Germany.

Central to Hitler’s strategy remained the maintenance of a strict façade of ‘legality’, partly to reassure established elites, middle-class voters and foreign opinion, especially in Anglo-America, but also to deny the authorities an excuse to ban the party or its organizations. In mid November 1931, for example, Hitler once again stressed the need for the ‘complete legality of the party’ and his opposition to ‘any illegal possession and use of weapons’. He was therefore deeply embarrassed when shortly afterwards a disaffected party official leaked documents, drafted in the Boxheimer Hof in Hessen without Hitler’s knowledge by some local party figures, which suggested that the NSDAP was planning a coup, or at least to take over power in the aftermath of a communist one. His subsequent Tagesbefehl to the SA and SS sought to calm matters. ‘Do not allow yourselves to be provoked,’ he wrote, ‘do not allow yourselves to be seduced.’ This was all the more important, as the paramilitary formations were expanding at a considerable rate – twenty-eight new regimental-sized units were established in the autumn of 1931 alone121 – and they were getting restless again. Hitler was always treading a fine line, seeking to impress and intimidate audiences by mass rallies, and to keep his men in fighting trim, but at the same time avoiding a premature eruption of revolutionary violence.

Meanwhile, Hitler never lost sight of the broader international context. In November 1931, he took time out to read Julian Corbett’s book on British seapower.122 Hitler also made direct overtures to the Duce via Renzetti.123 In December 1931, Hans Nieland, the head of the newly founded ‘Foreign Section’, was sent to Rome in search of support from Mussolini. Hitler’s main audience, though, was Anglo-America. Alfred Rosenberg was dispatched to London.124 In the meantime, Hitler reached out to the American ambassador, Frederic M. Sackett, through the intercession of Emil Georg von Stauss. The encounter was unorthodox, as meetings with the opposition were even more frowned upon among diplomats then than they are now, and it was not a success. Hitler harangued Sackett at length. The ambassador was unpersuaded by his arguments, and dismissed his qualifications for office, but he was impressed by Hitler’s ‘forcefulness and intensity’, which had communicated itself even via the translator.125

These moves were accompanied by a barrage of media initiatives towards Anglo-America. In late September, Hitler bemoaned the west’s ‘unholy war psychosis’ to Sefton Delmer of the British Daily Express and expressed his hopes for the ‘start of a really warm relationship between the British and German peoples’. He claimed that the editors of some of the great papers in Britain and America supported the revision of the Versailles Treaty. During November he gave interviews to the New York Times and the New York Evening Post. In early December, Hitler convened the foreign press correspondents in the Berlin Kaiserhof. The following day he gave interviews to the Sunday Graphic and the Sunday News.126 He even had a radio address to the American people scheduled for 11 December 1931,127 though it was blocked by the Weimar authorities. Ten years later to the day, he would send them a very different message, when he declared war on the United States in the Reichstag.

Hitler’s intensive cultivation of Anglo-American opinion – Goebbels spoke of ‘a veritable barrage’128 – was intended to set out the basis of collaboration, or at least co-existence after a Nazi takeover of power. He did so partly by stressing past injustices, invoking ‘Professor Maynard Keynes of Cambridge University’ and his critique of the Versailles Treaty, and partly by promising to be a firm hand on the tiller. ‘The world must not expect fireworks from me,’ he averred, ‘the contrary is the case.’ ‘The National Socialist Movement,’ Hitler assured the New York Times, ‘will win power in Germany by methods permitted by the present constitution in a purely legal way.’ This careful formulation, which made no mention of elections or democracy, suggests that Hitler was already thinking of gaining power through the presidency, rather than the ballot box alone. He also promised that a National Socialist Germany would acknowledge its ‘private debts’, a gesture clearly aimed at placating US opinion. The same points were made in person to the US ambassador. Hitler defended the Weimar state against accusations that it had used American loans ‘wastefully’ to build ‘stadia and swimming pools’129 on the grounds that this expenditure was necessary to alleviate unemployment; this was a sign of his intent to address joblessness through a programme of public works after he gained power.

Ideologically, Hitler undertook to combat the threat of global Bolshevism, and he also made an open bid for American racial solidarity. Pointing to the alleged vast reserves of French colonial manpower in Africa, he claimed that ‘every American schoolchild can realize [that] Europe under French domination will cease to be European and will be in danger of becoming African’. Hitler went on to restate his belief that the United States should serve as a model for Germany. ‘It was America,’ he told the New York Times, ‘in spite of its enormous territory, that was the first country to teach us by the immigration law that a nation should [not] open its doors equally to all races. Let China be for the Chinese, America for the Americans, and Germany for the Germans.’ In other words, Hitler said, ‘we want nothing but a Monroe Doctrine for German men, women and children’,130 a hemispheric division of the world with the great Anglo-American powers based if not on cooperation then at least on non-interference in each other’s affairs. Behind closed doors, even as the drama of Weimar domestic politics swirled around him, Hitler also continued to stress the need for ‘space’. One activist recalls him gesticulating at the big map of Europe in his office and proclaiming that ‘we will in due course control immense territories which we will have to secure’.131

Hitler’s longstanding ambivalence about the United States remained unchanged in the early 1930s. He saw Germany as engaged in a cultural struggle for mastery, which brought out the worst and the best in both sides. On the one hand, Hitler feared American popular culture. He inveighed against German performances of ‘Negro music’, composed by ‘pretty unmusical Americans’. Germany, Hitler argued, should not compete in this supposed cultural race to the bottom, but rather draw on the spiritual nourishment provided by Wagner and Mozart.132 On the other hand, he embraced a friendly rivalry on the architectural plane. This was demonstrated by the start of his interest in the reconstruction of Hamburg, the port city through which the import, export and transit trade from Germany and its central and eastern European hinterland passed, and for which Hitler had grander plans. What New York represented on one side of the Atlantic, he told Otto Wagener, Hamburg must become on the other. But instead of the skyscrapers, bustling functionality and impersonality of the American metropolis, in Hamburg incoming liners would gradually be embraced by the green riverbanks of the enchanting Elbe landscape, with its half-timbered houses along the shore and with blossoming gardens.133 It was a vivid example of how Hitler envisaged a future peaceful relationship between the new Reich and the United States, based on a common set of so-called racial values.

By contrast, Hitler did not engage much with the Soviet Union, and he did not regard it as a world power in the military sense. To be sure, he emphasized the dangers of Bolshevism with his Anglo-American interlocutors, and towards German business audiences. His speeches and public letters posited a stark choice between ‘National Socialism’ and ‘Bolshevism’. Germany was portrayed as a bulwark against ‘Asia’. ‘Bolshevism’ would ‘either secure its world victory in the Reich’ or it would be ‘broken’ there.134 The danger, he told an audience of German entrepreneurs, was that communism ‘had occupied a state’ and was using this base gradually ‘to take over the entire world’.135 There was something tactical and synthetic about these statements, however, and in private Hitler stated that he did not fear war with Russia so much as the threat of communist revolution in Germany, a theme which he had been elaborating for more than ten years.136 Besides, Hitler had not changed his view that Bolshevism was allied with and subordinated to the forces of international capitalism. He claimed that while the Marxist parties condemned the capitalist economy in the strongest terms, they worked hand in hand with ‘the forces of international high finance, and supra-state world capital’.137
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Making the Fewest Mistakes

In early 1932, it was clear that things were moving Hitler’s way. The question was whether they were moving quickly enough. The onset of stomach cramps, sweating and other afflictions briefly convinced him that he was suffering from cancer.1 Hitler was, in fact, not seriously ill, but he was clearly worn out. Faced with an increasing sense of his own mortality – something which was to become a constant theme in his rhetoric and thinking – the forty-two-year-old Hitler began to think seriously about the question of his successor. It was in this context that he reflected once again on the idea of a party senate, which had languished since the room envisaged for it in the new headquarters, the Braunes Haus in Munich, had been refurbished at great expense. This would help to incubate and select the new leader. ‘Without such a party senate,’ Hitler remarked, ‘should I depart this life prematurely, there would be a struggle for the leadership succession.’2 His timeline had narrowed again. To the increased prospect of power after the 1930s elections was added the imperative to seize it before time ran out on Hitler himself.

On 6–7 January 1932, Hitler was called to a meeting with the Reichswehrminister Wilhelm Groener, Hindenburg’s close associate Kurt von Schleicher and Brüning.3 They hoped to gain Nazi support in the Reichstag, but were offering little in return. Discussions continued for a few days.4 Hitler held out for power, and soon broke off negotiations. He bitterly resented their treatment of him as someone who would merely rally a horde of voters behind their betters. Hitler fulminated that he was not merely a ‘drummer’ for ‘reaction’.5 He henceforth adopted a remarkably stiff tone with Hindenburg, rejecting attempts to bring ‘foreign’ powers into play as critics of Nazi violence, and accusing him of using article 48 to suppress democracy, making the president himself guilty of tolerating serious ‘constitutional violations’.6 Worse still, Hitler began to worry that the conservative right might stage a coup which would destroy all hopes of a Nazi takeover on the back of their growing popularity.7

Hitler sought to break the deadlock, and to head off an authoritarian regime, with a two-pronged strategy. First, he stepped up his campaign to win over the key conservative constituencies. In early January 1932, the former diplomat Prince Victor von Wied arranged for him to meet Konstantin von Neurath, ambassador to London and a stalwart of the conservative right. We do not know what passed between them on that occasion except that Hitler asked Neurath whether he would be willing to serve as foreign minister in any future cabinet headed by him.8 In late January, Hitler seized the opportunity to speak to the renowned ‘Industrial Club’ in Düsseldorf, the capital of German heavy industry.9 His speech was widely reported and often taken as an endorsement by his hosts. In fact, the audience was less weighty than one might imagine – most of the key figures in armaments, steel and coal production did not attend themselves – but the rapturous welcome he received did indicate the extent to which Hitler was gaining traction. At the very least, big business, which continued to support other parties more extensively, was beginning to take out ‘insurance policies’ with the NSDAP as well.10 There were no direct references to the Jews, though plenty of coded ones.11 The standard anti-capitalist language was muted, a little, over the next few months. There was no let-up, however, in Hitler’s assault on international capitalism. ‘National Socialism,’ he reiterated in mid February 1932, privileged the life of the people over ‘the interests of international finance capital, which had led to the destruction of all natural bases of the German people and the German economy’.12

The other way of breaking the logjam was for Hitler to capture the presidency himself, or at least to use his candidature to drive a wedge between Hindenburg and Brüning.13 In late January 1932, he discussed the issue with Goebbels. ‘He is still undecided,’ Goebbels noted, adding that ‘I argue for his candidature’ because ‘he alone will drive Hindenburg off the field’.14 There was one immediate problem to be sorted out. The president had to be a German citizen and Hitler was stateless, with no chance of naturalization by one of the bigger Länder. His only hope was to secure appointment to public office in one of the smaller ones, which would give him local citizenship and, on the strength of it, that of the Reich as a whole. Luckily for Hitler, the Nazis had gained power in Brunswick, and the little cameo that followed was an illustration of the fragmented nature of the German polity that Hitler so deplored. Attempts to appoint him as an extraordinary professor for ‘the organic study of society and politics’ at the Technical University there miscarried, but he was made a state councillor instead.15 Hitler was now finally a German citizen, nearly twenty years since he had taken up arms for the Reich.

Nazi strategy in the presidential campaign was carefully thought out. First, Hitler declared, one should wait for the SPD to support Hindenburg, which would paint him into a left-wing corner. Only then would Hitler himself declare. That was ‘Machiavellian’, Goebbels commented, ‘but right’.16 The hope was that Hitler would beat Hindenburg into first place, and then prevail in the run-off. He skilfully tried to frame his venerable rival – who enjoyed iconic status as supreme commander during the war – as old and out of touch, and also tainted by his politicization by the Weimar Republic. ‘We regret,’ he announced in mid February 1932, ‘that Field Marshal von Hindenburg allowed himself to be prevailed upon to use up his name in this struggle.’ The choice of words was significant: the old man was not merely being used, but ‘used up’.17 Hitler had to tread carefully, however, as any sign of overt disrespect might boomerang.18 For this reason he gave strict instructions that there should no ‘personal’ attacks on Hindenburg.19

The Nazis were confident of success. A few days before the first round of voting, Hitler predicted to foreign journalists that he would secure 12 million votes. He actually secured 11.3 million, Hindenburg more than 18 million. It was a significant improvement on the 1930 Reichstag election, but nowhere near enough to capture the presidency. Hitler, as Goebbels noted, was ‘totally surprised by the result’.20 There was no question, however, of backing down now. Hitler threw himself into the second round of the campaign. He doubled down on his message of ‘change’ and his attacks on reaction. ‘National Socialism,’ he announced in late March 1932, aimed to ‘proclaim a new political ideal’ on ‘the ruins of the bourgeois and proletarian ideology’. A future ‘Nazi regime’, he added, just in case his meaning had been unclear, ‘will not represent a return to the past’. Hitler underlined the vigour and modernity of his message by attempting – unsuccessfully, because the authorities forbade it – to address the German people through radio broadcasts21 and embarking on a whirlwind tour of the Reich by aeroplane. At Hanfstaengl’s suggestion, he included a journalist on each flight, often a Briton or an American, a measure borrowed from FDR’s campaign strategy.22

Hitler also tried to split the conservative coalition behind Hindenburg. In late March 1932, he met with representatives of the Christlich-Soziale Volksdienst (CSVD), one of the more moderate smaller right-wing parties sustaining Brüning in the Reichstag. He hoped to dissuade them from supporting an authoritarian solution to the continuing crisis and to back him in the second round of the presidential elections. The meeting was not a success. The CSVD announced its intention to endorse Hindenburg. ‘One cannot discuss with Hitler,’ his interlocutors remarked, because ‘“the other” is always in the wrong if he represents a different opinion to Hitler’. One of them predicted that ‘if Hitler comes to power, then that can only end in a catastrophe’. ‘God protect our Fatherland,’ he continued, ‘that this man will not control our fate.’23

The continuing controversy surrounding the SA chief of staff, Ernst Röhm, did not help matters, especially given Hindenburg’s known aversion to homosexuality.24 In early March 1932, at the height of the first round of the presidential election campaign, a Social Democrat weekly paper published extracts from letters proving his homosexuality beyond all doubt. The row rumbled on for more than a month, damaging the party and Hitler personally, but despite his own personal distaste, he refused to throw Röhm to the wolves. ‘Hitler does not want to drop Röhm,’ Goebbels noted in his diary, ‘but he is strongly opposed to the queers.’25 In early April, Hitler felt obliged to make a public statement backing Röhm and condemning the ‘dirtiest and most revolting agitation’ against him.26

Throughout the two rounds of the presidential election campaign, Hitler did not vary his core message. Foreign policy remained at the centre of his concerns: it featured prominently in his public and private utterances.27 Hitler continued to blame Germany’s internal woes on her international inferiority as epitomized by the Versailles Treaty and the reparations regime. ‘The German people,’ he lamented, had ‘suffered since November 1918 from a hardly bearable spiritual, political and material deprivation’; the defeat had ‘stamped them as second-class citizens of the world’. He slammed the Young Plan, his old bugbear, for being responsible for the ‘complete destruction of the German economy’. Above all, Germany suffered from the ‘limitation of [her] living space’. The ‘political deprivation’, in short, had been ‘converted into economic deprivation’. Wherever he went to canvass support for his presidential bid, to Hamburg, Stettin or Leipzig, Hitler hammered home the same familiar theme.28

During the campaign, Hitler’s attitude to women was challenged. It was not a subject on which he had said or written much hitherto. Now, he was forced to rebut claims that he ‘wanted to deprive German woman of her rights and drive her from her job’. Hitler responded that ‘there is no battle for the man which is not also a battle for the woman’. He envisaged a largely reproductive role for women, to produce and raise as many healthy children for Germany as possible. Hitler defined the woman as ‘the smallest, but most valuable unit in the structure of the entire state’ by virtue of motherhood.29 Privately, Hitler was even prepared to set aside conventional morality so long as it led to an increase in the number of ‘racially valuable’ births. For example, when Magda Goebbels fearfully reported her discovery that her parents had not been married when she was born, Hitler laughed off this embarrassing fact, which could have been exploited by hostile press elements.30

On 3 April 1932, Hitler took to the air for the first of several ‘flights over Germany’, which ended on 9 April. The following day, Germany went to the polls again. Hitler won 13.4 million votes, or 36.8 per cent of the total. It is doubtful that many of these ballots were cast primarily in the hope of gaining living space in the east, or sorting out the ‘Jewish Problem’, yet unless they were either deaf or illiterate voters cannot have been entirely ignorant of his diagnosis either. One way or the other, whether it constituted a mandate for aggression and genocide or not, the result was very respectable, but nowhere near enough to dislodge Hindenburg from the presidency, where he remained. Hitler did not know it, but the Nazi vote had effectively peaked. He was aware, though, that he had a problem on his hands. ‘You had a head of state who was not against you’, Hitler reflected in an interview with an Italian paper, in fact ‘the king in the end summoned Mussolini, whereas I still have President Hindenburg against me,’ a man ‘who still enjoys undisputed personal respect’.31

There was no time for a prolonged inquest, however, as the NSDAP was almost immediately plunged into a fresh round of campaigning. In late April 1932, there were Landtag elections scheduled in Prussia, Bavaria, Württemberg, Anhalt and Hamburg, areas which totalled about 80 per cent of the population of the Reich. He took to the skies once again between 16 and 22 April for another week-long ‘flight over Germany’. Hitler was hampered by various constraints, especially the banning of the SA.32 The results of these contests, which took place on 24 April, showed no change from the second round of the presidential contest earlier that month. The punishing cycle of elections continued, with polls in Oldenburg and Mecklenburg-Schwerin, when the NSDAP gained absolute majorities. This was the first major breakthrough of the party at regional level,33 after its false start in Thuringia.

At the end of May, Brüning resigned the chancellorship. Reichstag elections were scheduled for July. Hindenburg appointed the conservative Catholic aristocrat Franz von Papen chancellor. Hitler still hoped to take the electoral route to power. The day after Brüning resigned, he told a meeting in Wismar that he hoped the party would grow ‘until the last German has been won over’, a sentiment he repeated on numerous occasions throughout the rest of the year.34 Hitler was not deterred by a setback at the Landtag elections in Hesse in late June, where the NSDAP fell short of an absolute majority. His third ‘flight over Germany’ was his longest, lasting two weeks in the second half of July. During the campaign, Hitler spoke in more than fifty towns and cities. In terms of intensity, technological innovation and sheer razzmatazz, the Nazi campaigns of 1932 were like nothing Germany had ever witnessed before. Otto Dietrich, who accompanied Hitler on most trips as press secretary, later calculated that by the end of the year he had covered 50,000 kilometres by air, and 25,000 by road. ‘It was political propaganda,’ he wrote, ‘which even put American efforts [Roosevelt was at this time conducting his own victorious election campaign] in the shade.’35

Hitler’s campaign themes were the usual ones: the need to drill Germans into national unity by reconciling socialism and nationalism, and banishing ‘class madness and class prejudice’.36 Capitalism and the Jews were given the customary battering and the nationalist right was slammed not only as ‘pro-Jewish’ but also as the instrument of ‘money-grubbing capitalism’.37 As usual, he had little to say about the Soviet Union itself, but he did inveigh against the ‘murderous scum of the communist criminal fraternity’ and the ‘lying slogans of the Marxists’. Though the communists were the main target of SA street violence, they were not Hitler’s primary concern. Instead, Hitler once more stressed the need to secure Lebensraum, which he defined once again as the ‘determining and driving force’, which trumped considerations of ‘export and import and the world economy’. Lebensraum, in short, was his economic programme. To those who demanded concrete answers to the specific political and economic problems of the day, Hitler responded as always with the healing power of ideology. ‘Imagined futures,’ he explained, were ‘the most powerful realities which exist in the lives of peoples.’38

One of those swept up by Hitler’s message and rhetoric was the twenty-nine-year-old film director Leni Riefenstahl. Earlier in the year, she had attended one of Hitler’s speeches in the Berlin Sportpalast. ‘It seemed to me,’ she later recalled, ‘as if the ground opened in front of me like a hemisphere which suddenly split in the middle [and] out of which an incredible jet of water was flung,’ so mighty, she claimed, ‘that it touched the heavens and caused the earth to quake’. ‘There is no doubt,’ Riefenstahl added, ‘I was infected.’ After reading Mein Kampf carefully, she wrote to Hitler in mid May 1932 and secured a meeting with him towards the end of the month. Hitler, who was deeply conscious of the need for the party to master the medium of film, immediately recognized Riefenstahl’s talent. ‘If we ever get to power,’ he allegedly told her, ‘then you must make my films.’39

Hitler sought to distance himself from Papen’s ‘cabinet of the barons’ or ‘gentlemen’s club’, and portrayed himself as the defender of average Germans against a distant and, in Hindenburg’s case, aged elite. He was open, however, to collaboration with conservatives on his own terms. When approached by two emissaries from the giant chemical combine IG Farben in June 1932, Hitler gave them an enthusiastic welcome, despite earlier Nazi attacks on the firm as a nest of ‘money-grubbing Jews’ and an instrument of alleged Jewish international capitalism.40 Their plan to produce synthetic fuel fitted his conception of autarchy perfectly, and he also told them of the projected system of motorways for Germany. Hitler also signalled some flexibility on restoring the Hohenzollerns. Despite his longstanding hostility to the various princely houses, and the former imperial family, he feared a direct confrontation. ‘Hitler is for a purified monarchy,’ Goebbels noted on the very first day of June 1932, and seems genuinely if briefly to have toyed with making Prince August Wilhelm (‘Auwi’) regent, and ultimately his son Alexander emperor. ‘Hitler,’ Goebbels believed, ‘exaggerates the [pro-]Hohenzollern instincts among the people.’41

Given the fraught relationship between Papen’s centralizing cabinet, which could draw only on Hindenburg’s authority, and the democratically elected regional governments, it is no surprise that the thorny old issue of German federalism came to the fore again. Hitler portrayed the NSDAP as the ‘guardian of the unity of the Reich’ against ‘certain cliques belonging to the Bavarian People’s Party’, and, tilting at a very old windmill, ‘Rhenish separatists’.42 The BVP, in fact, remained in Hitler’s sights at least as much as the communists.43 His anti-Semitism, by contrast, was somewhat muzzled throughout the campaign, both at home and abroad. In July 1932, he published an interview with the American magazine Liberty, which was in most respects a carbon copy of one given to the same journalist, George Sylvester Viereck, in 1923, including frank references to the need for Lebensraum in the east, but without the diatribes against ‘the Jews’.44

When the ballots were counted at the end of July 1932, the NSDAP had secured 13.7 million votes, about 300,000 more than in the presidential election but the same percentage (37 per cent) as then. To those who looked closely at the party’s performance since April, the message was clear: Hitler had peaked. He would now have to try again to use his substantial electoral mandate to persuade Papen, and ultimately Hindenburg, to appoint him chancellor and rule by presidential decree. Given that they badly needed parliamentary backing for their emergency decrees, a deal might be possible. On 5 August, Hitler met with General Kurt von Schleicher, now minister of defence. Eight days later the two of them were joined by Papen and Hindenburg. They were unwilling to offer Hitler more than the vice-chancellorship, in return for the which the NSDAP would have become part of the governing coalition, a poisoned chalice for him. He refused ‘to join a government which we do not lead’.45 No agreement was reached. Hindenburg was adamant: he could not, ‘before God, before his conscience and the Fatherland’ hand over the entire power of government to a party like the NSDAP, which was ‘so biased in its attitude to those who thought differently’.46 He later made these sentiments public, much to the fury and embarrassment of the NSDAP. Hitler was still on the outside looking in, and later that day he withdrew to the Obersalzberg to reflect on his options.

Within the NSDAP itself, Hitler’s first priority was the management of expectations. The most critical moment for any movement, to adapt Tocqueville, is when it is on the verge of success or appears to be. That is the time when discipline frays, and pent-up emotions rise to the surface. Just before the July vote, perhaps sensing that the electoral tide would not yet carry him as far forward as he wished, Hitler stressed the need for patience. What did ‘three or four or ten years’ matter in the ‘grand sweep of German history’, Hitler asked. ‘If a great project was being accomplished,’ he continued, ‘then it is better it arrives at its goal in five or ten years’ time’ rather than ‘prematurely compromising a good cause’. To settle for the mere trappings of power, Hitler argued, would be a betrayal of the party mission. He was fighting, he averred, ‘not for ministerial posts or [parliamentary] seats’, but ‘for the political power in Germany’. ‘I do not know whether we will reach our goal today,’ he had said then, but if not, ‘then in ten or twenty years’, because ‘the youth belongs to us and therefore also the future’.47 This kind of theorizing in distant time frames was typical for Hitler.

By early August 1932, however, words were no longer enough for many party faithful, especially the SA. They wanted rewards for their years of sacrifice, and were frustrated both by the failure to win an overall majority in July and by the collapse of the subsequent negotiations with Papen.48 Some now demanded immediate revolutionary action to seize power. Hitler was well aware of their grievances because he asked Röhm to distribute a questionnaire among the SA rank and file.49 Others, such as Gregor Strasser, called for compromises to enter into a coalition government. Both tendencies were a major threat to Hitler’s strategy and authority. He was seriously embarrassed by a brutal murder in Potempa in August 1932, when the SA stamped an unemployed communist to death in front of his family.50 The SA were also increasingly brawling with the Stahlhelm and other right-wing groups, complicating Hitler’s relations with the mainstream right. The July election result had shown that the SA were a liability among voters. Hitler told the SA to disperse for a fortnight on 13 August, the same day as his failed meeting with Papen and Hindenburg.

At around this time, Hitler suffered another personal blow. Since the suicide of Geli Raubal, he had brooded over his loss. When Ferdinand Liebermann made a bust of her, he was so moved that his eyes filled with tears.51 Later in the year, Hitler made a brief visit to Geli’s grave in Vienna. This did not stop Hitler from ‘pining’ for a new woman.52 Two of those he showed most interest in, Helene Hanfstaengl and Magda Goebbels, were married. It may be that he cultivated the connection precisely because they were spoken for. Hitler enthused openly to Goebbels about his wife, ‘whom he admires very much and considers to be a most beautiful, kind and intelligent woman’.53 He may also have had a dalliance with the daughter of the Gauleiter of Kurhessen, Karl Weinrich.54 The only permanent relationship he established, however, was with Eva Braun. Hitler was deeply shocked when she tried to commit suicide in the autumn of 1932.55 He rushed to the hospital with flowers. She recovered quickly and, unlike with Geli Raubal, there was no public scandal. In public, Hitler continued to describe himself as a ‘bachelor’.56

It was clear that Hitler’s main enemy lay on the right. In order to destabilize Papen, and head off the prospect of a conservative coup, Hitler now turned up the rhetoric against the conservative ‘cabinet of the barons’. He also lambasted the ‘bourgeois’ – a term of abuse in his lexicon – parties, organizations and newspapers. Three days after his catastrophic meeting with Hindenburg, Hitler attacked the ‘bourgeois reactionaries’ who were pursuing narrowly ‘class and corporate’ interests.57 Hitler reiterated the revolutionary and anti-capitalist credentials of Nazism and denied being a mere ‘drummer’ for the conservative establishment. When Papen announced new emergency decrees in Münster at the end of August, which were welcomed by business for offering tax relief but little direct work creation, he was battered by the Nazi press. Hitler needed to demonstrate the illegitimacy and unsustainability of the Papen government by showing its complete lack of popular and parliamentary support. ‘One can perhaps govern without the Reichstag,’ he remarked pointedly in late August 1932, ‘but one cannot govern without the people’; no government, in fact, could survive, he said, without a ‘living connection to the people’.58 Hitler had also come to the view that he would have to unbolt Hindenburg himself from the presidency. To do this, Hitler approached some of the other Weimar parties, who were equally concerned about Papen’s intentions. Right at the end of August, just after Hindenburg had finally refused Nazi demands, he met with Göring, Röhm and Goebbels in secret conclave.59

Contact was established with the Catholic Centre Party, who were hostile to the Nazis ideologically but conceded Hitler’s electoral mandate and feared Papen’s ‘dictatorship of the master class’.60 A black-brown coalition in the Reichstag, however improbable for other reasons, was mathematically possible. Negotiations were begun on 30 August 1932. Hitler’s aim was to undermine Papen further and to prevent the Centre Party from backing or tolerating a coup designed to keep the Nazis out of power. The Centre Party agreed in principle to support Hitler as chancellor, subject to Hindenburg’s approval. On economic policy, they both rejected Papen’s decrees. Hitler was determined to force new elections, and at a meeting of Nazi leaders on 8 September he prevailed over Gregor Strasser, who wanted to join or at least tolerate a Schleicher cabinet.61 ‘Hitler is now going for broke,’ Goebbels noted. ‘Hindenburg must be deposed by the Reichstag. An audacious plan.’62 Hitler now seized the opportunity to bring Papen down. When the communists proposed a vote of no confidence in the government two days later, he instructed his deputies to support it. The Centre Party and the Social Democrats joined in. The government suffered a disastrous defeat by 512 votes to 42. Fatally damaged, Papen had no choice but to set a date for fresh elections in early November. Hitler would get another chance at an overall majority.

Meanwhile, Hitler sought to keep the party, and especially the SA, on a leash. Morale was low. ‘SA in depression,’ Goebbels noted.63 He and others yearned for an open struggle against ‘the system’. For now, however, Hitler was telling them to wait it out. In the place of revolutionary action, he preached attentism. Throughout the autumn and the rest of the year, he invoked the rhetoric not only of endurance but of inevitability. ‘I will not sell out the party for some sort of title,’ he averred, ‘I will fight on! One year, two years, [or even] three years.’ His great ‘rival’, Hitler pointed out, was eighty-five, whereas he was forty-three, and healthy. Convinced that ‘destiny’ was on his side, Hitler was confident that ‘it will eventually be our turn’, adding, ‘I will not give in.’ Hitler was now engaged in a war of attrition, in which he banked on an electoral breakthrough, a change of heart by Hindenburg and his entourage, or simply outlasting his opponents. This was a very different Hitler from the panicked adventurer of 1923. In late 1932, he showed himself to have nerves of steel. ‘Today we need only one thing,’ he told the NSDAP Gautag, ‘and that is nerves. We must keep our nerve and not yield.’64

In the meantime, Hitler began to prepare the movement for power. Goebbels was promised control of propaganda and education. ‘We discussed problems of the seizure of power,’ Goebbels reported of one long nocturnal session. ‘We talked through the whole question of the education of the people,’ he wrote. ‘I will get schools, universities, film, radio, theatre, [and] propaganda.’ This was an enormous brief. ‘The national education of the German people,’ Goebbels wrote, ‘will be placed in my hands.’65 In early September 1932, Hitler established the ‘Military Political Office’ (Wehrpolitisches Amt) of the NSDAP. Noting that Germany would need to regain its ‘external’ military security and re-establish its ‘internal’ capacity for defence, Hitler claimed that the German people expected ‘a corresponding participation in the building up of territorial defence’ by the party. To this end, Franz Ritter von Epp, a Bavarian war veteran and Nazi Party Reichstag member, was charged with laying down ‘the principles … which should be decisive for the integration of the armed forces into the state’.66 When the time came, Hitler and the movement would be able to hit the ground running.

In the autumn of 1932, Hitler threw himself into the new Reichstag election campaign.67 He fought on multiple fronts, against his enemies: the ‘Berlin Jewry, gentlemen’s club, [and] bourgeois parties’.68 The source of Germany’s economic woes, he continued to argue, was political, the external subjection of the Reich due to its internal weakness. ‘Germany is sick,’ Hitler claimed, ‘Germany’s economy is collapsing’, but ‘only because her political power is collapsing.’ Defeat, he argued, had led to reparations and debt-slavery which caused the misery confronting Germany on a daily basis. Indeed, Hitler took credit for having predicted all this even during the economically prosperous years of the Weimar Republic. ‘This is the economic disintegration of the German nation which I predicted,’ he said, ‘but only because I did not allow myself to be distracted by so-called booms from the fact that when politics collapses, the economy must collapse with it.’69

Since politics was the problem, politics was also the solution. ‘First you must banish German divisions,’ he claimed, ‘and then you can banish German deprivation.’ For this reason Hitler called a few days before the vote for a ‘People’s Community’ which would ‘slowly’ reconcile Germans ‘across all professions, classes [and] all confessional divides’. Central to the whole project, finally, was tackling the Jewish question. Compared to the first nine months of the year, there was a perceptible increase in Hitler’s anti-Semitic rhetoric, reflecting the widening gulf with the old elites. Some of this was directed against ‘Jewish-international Bolshevism’, but most of it was targeted at the capitalist clique supposedly supporting Papen. Thus Hitler repeatedly denounced the government’s economic programme as written ‘in its essential parts by the Jew Jakob Goldschmidt [the former director of the Darmstadt Bank]’. ‘Either the German people escapes the clutches of the Jews,’ he warned, ‘or it will decay.’70

In a remarkable ‘open letter’ to Chancellor Papen, Hitler rejected short-term domestic ‘reforms’. The ‘supreme duty of a true statesman,’ he argued, was ‘the improvement of the blood of the people’s body politic’. The problem, Hitler said, was that Germany’s ‘blood values’ had been ‘spoiled within short periods of time’, but could only be ‘improved over longer periods’. This was why the lack of living space was so fatal. Hitler now reprised the link between space and race, between Lebensraum and standard of living which had informed his thinking since the mid 1920s. He spoke again of the desperate need to address the tension between the living space currently ‘allotted’ to the German people and what it needed on the strength of its ‘numbers’, ‘blood-based capabilities’ and the ‘resulting cultural requirements and [expectation] of a general living standard’.71 The two possible internal solutions, namely exports (‘the sending-out of German work capacity as goods’) or emigration (‘the deportation of the German workforce as emigrants’) either did not work, in the case of exports, or was unacceptable, in the latter case. Once again, Hitler was offering the German people a way out of their domestic travails through external territorial expansion, in effect through a war of aggression.

Throughout the campaign, Hitler confronted the establishment, rejecting the notion that he was a mere ‘drummer’ for the old elites. He cast himself as the defender of the Weimar constitution against the reactionary and putschist tendencies of Papen and his cronies. ‘According to the imperial constitution,’ he insisted, ‘I am legally entitled to be entrusted with the government.’ He noted pointedly that while the NSDAP had been persecuted for more than a decade on account of its alleged illegality, it was now Papen who had abandoned the constitution. In an allusion to the Bourbons, he lampooned Papen and his men as ‘restoration politicians, who have learned and forgotten nothing’; he spoke of the ‘Hugenberg-Papen Reaction’. Playing to the populist gallery, Hitler professed himself ‘against the Junker domination and chimney barons’ and ‘for the Lower Saxon farmer and worker’. Hitler also attacked the ‘bourgeois parties’, which he lumped in together with ‘Berlin Jewry’. He made fun not only of ‘bourgeois politicians’ and ‘bourgeois flags’, but the whole ‘bourgeois mentality’. In case anybody had not got the message, Hitler concluded that the German people ‘must logically be led out of bourgeois concepts as much as out of the Marxist world of ideas’.72 As if to underline his determination to break the bourgeois mould, the NSDAP and KPD engaged in a symbolically important joint transport strike on 2 November 1932, just days before the vote.

Finally, Hitler rounded on his internal critics. In mid October 1932, he announced that he refused to be a ‘beautification minister’ for another presidential cabinet, which would be intended ‘not to allow him work but to shut him up’. Three days later, Hitler announced that he had no intention of taking on the post of interior minister, as that would have given political cover to the government’s plan to suppress ‘the masses’. He said that he had ‘not got on the train’ on 13 August at the failed meeting with Hindenburg ‘because I had no intention of getting out again a few months later’. ‘I will not on principle get into any train,’ he continued, ‘which is heading in a completely different direction from my own, or which I know will be derailed.’ ‘When we take power,’ Hitler vowed, ‘then we will keep it.’ ‘Whoever marches into the capital,’ he laid down, ‘must stay there.’73 Hitler could not have been clearer: once in power, he had no intention of ever giving it up.

So Hitler tore around the country once again, cajoling, motivating and upbraiding in a punishing schedule of speeches. Between 11 October and 5 November he undertook his fourth ‘flight over Germany’. There was, however, no triumphant progression towards an inevitable takeover of power. ‘On [our] journeys through the Reich,’ his press secretary Otto Dietrich recalled not long after, ‘we sensed despite all sympathy and affection the inner reservations of dismissive or agitated national comrades’, and ‘we saw next to greeting hands, clenched fists and faces contorted with hatred’.74 By mid October 1932, in fact, there were unmistakable signs of popular fatigue and disillusionment with the Nazis. When Hitler spoke at the great Congress Hall at Nuremberg, he failed to fill it: the 10,000 listeners who turned up were substantially fewer than on previous visits earlier in the year.75

When the results came in on 6/7 November 1932, they were a huge disappointment but not a complete surprise. The NSDAP had lost some 2 million votes and 34 seats; the communists had made substantial gains. On 8 November, the same day that FDR swept to victory in the US presidential election, Hitler called a meeting of Nazi leaders in Munich to discuss next steps. Strasser repeated his demand that the NSDAP join a presidential cabinet. Hitler remained firm. He was convinced that the other side would crack first. Relations between him and Strasser, already very strained, deteriorated further. A day later, Hitler rejected Papen’s renewed offer of the vice-chancellorship. The negotiations dragged on. Towards the end of the month Hindenburg met Hitler again, and indicated that he would accept him as chancellor if he secured a parliamentary majority, which was no concession at all, as he was unlikely to secure one, and did not need Hindenburg if he did. At every turn Strasser urged compromise, and on a number of occasions it seemed as if Hitler might do so. Right at the end of the month, however, he announced to a meeting of the Nazi leadership in Weimar, over Strasser’s strenuous objections, that he would hold out for the chancellorship itself.76

There was a perceptible shift in Hitler’s strategy after the November vote. He now effectively gave up hope of a purely electoral path to power. An internal NSDAP analysis of the election results suggested that the party had maximized its vote, that ‘it must not come to another election’, and that there was ‘nothing more … to be done with words, placards and leaflets. Now we must act!’77 There were many who saw this as an argument for revolutionary measures, but not Hitler, who dismissed such talk as suicidal, He concentrated instead on a narrower front, that is, persuading or browbeating Hindenburg to let him govern by emergency decree.78 ‘I was with Hitler late into the night,’ Goebbels noted, and he spoke of ‘a rejection of the parliamentary solution’ and ‘demanded a presidential solution for us as well’.79 He was no longer objecting to the use of emergency powers as such, but argued that they should be based on the ‘sustainable part of the people’, in other words the NSDAP. This demand was rejected by Hindenburg and his chief secretary Meissner on the grounds that it would lead to a dictatorship by Hitler. ‘The old man’ had not budged since the summer. Hitler was stymied again.

Despite his pressing domestic preoccupations in the second half of 1932, Hitler never ceased to think about the crucial international context to events in Germany. He sought to break up the circling coalition by developing an alternative global vision for Germany and Anglo-America. In an interview with the New York American conducted by Karl von Wiegand he called on ‘the big powers of the Western World to combine under a “world economic dictatorship” to stave off the growing power of Russia, China, India and the east’. Hitler wanted the western powers – of which he named America, England, Germany, France, and Italy – to agree to deny their competitors the ‘machinery’ and ‘technical experts’ they needed to develop their economies. ‘Once these countries with their low wages and low standard of living become industrialized,’ he warned, ‘then the Western industrial nations will be economically destroyed.’ Hitler ruled out visiting America himself for now – ‘takes too long’80 – at least until there was a regular passenger airline connection.

On 2 December, Hindenburg appointed Schleicher chancellor.81 He planned to rely on the army, if necessary, to keep order internally, to stimulate employment through work-creation schemes, and to secure the prestige victory of German equality in armaments on the international stage. He also hoped to broaden the slender parliamentary base of his administration by winning over the Nazis through the wavering Gregor Strasser. Hitler was alarmed on several counts. Firstly, the threat of a conservative coup which would shut him out of power indefinitely was now greater than ever. Secondly, he feared that an active foreign policy would provoke a pre-emptive strike by France and Poland. Two days after Schleicher came to power, Hitler wrote to the Reichswehr commander in exposed East Prussia, Walther von Reichenau, that he thought that Germany was already ‘in the middle of a new encirclement policy, if not at its completion’, in which France and Poland had the Reich in a vice grip. In this context, ‘the theoretical acceleration of the German rearmament’ was the ‘worst’ possible thing one could do. The most dangerous period after winning the right to rearm would be the immediately ‘following period, because theoretical equality had to be followed by practical, technical and organizational rearmament’. ‘If there were ever grounds for a preventive war,’ he continued, ‘then in this case’, ‘an attack by France on Germany’ was to be expected. Besides, a military-backed putsch, perhaps involving some element of a Hohenzollern restoration, might itself precipitate an intervention by outside powers.82

The most immediate threat posed by Schleicher, however, was to the unity of the NSDAP. Strasser was on the verge of open revolt unless Hitler settled for the general’s terms. A day after Schleicher’s appointment, the two met in Berlin. There is no evidence that Schleicher planned to divide the party, which would have been pointless, as the breakaway faction could only provide him with limited parliamentary cover. Instead he wanted to use Strasser as a lever to shift the NSDAP as a whole.83 Sharp words were exchanged at a meeting in the Berlin Kaiserhof on 6 December.84 Hitler was now under the greatest pressure he had been under since the party struggles of the mid to late 1920s. Money was short. There was a large turnover of membership in the party and SA, but a growing net outflow. Hitler also seemed to be losing his charismatic touch. Attendances at speeches were down and on one occasion during the Thuringian election campaign in early December 1932, when he spoke more briefly than usual, people began to leave early,85 something previously unheard of. That campaign went badly for the NSDAP. To add to his woes, a disaffected functionary from the Franconian Party, Hans Sauer, published a devastating critique of Gauleiter Julius Streicher in December 1932.86 Then on 8 December, there was a bombshell: Strasser resigned, together with Gottfried Feder. Morale plummeted. ‘Trouble and money worries,’ Goebbels noted the following day, ‘it is always the same.’87 The NSDAP seemed as far from power as they had been at the start of the year.

Once again, Hitler held his ground. He immediately assembled his senior officials and Reichstag deputies in Berlin to ensure their loyalty. Strasser was condemned as a traitor who had stabbed the party in the back. His bureaucratic empire was broken up: Robert Ley received the leadership of the party organization, Goebbels was assigned ‘the education of the people’, and agrarian matters were hived off as well. In this way, Hitler implicated other party stakeholders in the purging of the Strasser faction.88 ‘Strasser is isolated,’ Goebbels noted with satisfaction, adding that he was ‘a dead man’.89 Hitler remained adamant that he would only accept the chancellorship.90 For the rest, Hitler tried to avoid being sucked into confrontation. In Franconia, he neither opposed nor supported Streicher, who managed to cling to power there. It was typical Hitler: decisive, radical action in some quarters, tergiversation in others. Once again, the crisis had been contained. Like his brother, Gregor Strasser had ultimately succeeded only in blowing himself up, and not Hitler along with the entire party. Within the NSDAP, the last barrier to Hitler’s absolute power had now fallen.

The party crisis prompted Hitler to reflect on the structure of the movement and issue new guidelines. Hitler was well aware of the dangers of over-governing.91 Some sort of bureaucracy was needed. The danger, he warned, was that the Germans would indulge in their propensity to over-administrate. ‘The German is too inclined to succumb to the error,’ he noted, ‘to see in [the party] organization a field for pedantic and mechanical work.’ Instead, he demanded that ‘one should not organize mechanically what one can, but only that which one must organize’. The main point was that one should avoid ‘building a top-down schematic organization’, but rather ‘build up gradually’ a ‘leadership apparatus’ from ‘below’. This would enable the party to weed out unqualified ‘careerists’ and promote the tested and talented. Here Hitler articulated a governing style which was to characterize the Reich as a whole after the assumption of power.

Hitler did not use the opportunity to establish total control, only his absolute authority. To be sure, the opening sentence of his first of two memoranda on the reform of the movement stated unambiguously that the ‘basis of the political organization is loyalty’. From this he deduced the need for ‘obedience’. Yet Hitler also knew that the movement depended on the goodwill and creativity, rather than just the blind conformity, of its members. ‘Constant supervision,’ he argued, ‘gradually destroys the authority of every agency’ by insulting the ‘honour’ of officers and sapping their ‘initiative’. For this reason, Hitler called for leaders to be given ‘greater room for manoeuvre’. The Gauleiter, in particular, were expected ‘to make independent judgements’ in ‘hundreds and thousands of questions’.92 At the end of the document there was a brief concession to participatory structures, when Hitler referred to a future ‘little senate of the party’ whose task it would be ‘to discuss important party issues’ in committees or ‘plenary’ session. Nothing more was heard of this idea, however.

Despite the failure of his overtures to Strasser, Schleicher continued to pursue an understanding with Hitler. Hindenburg, however, still refused point-blank to countenance Hitler as chancellor, who in turn would not accept a lesser office. Hitler moved to end the dispute in Franconia. Holding his nose, he backed Streicher over the SA, whose leader backed down but revolted again at the end of the month. Moreover, although Strasser had been ousted, and founded no breakaway organization, he still retained a strong and sullen following in the larger cities. Money was so short that Göring sent an emissary to the chargé d’affaires in the American Embassy to explore whether the party might raise a loan in the United States.93 Frustration mounted further.

As the month drew to a close, Hitler steadied Goebbels. ‘We must remain stubborn,’ the latter wrote in his diary after their meeting, and ‘study Roman, Prussian and British history to see how something like this is done’.94 Hitler had gone into 1932 with great hopes, but he now spent a miserable Christmas and New Year. Wherever he looked there was ill-feeling, disappointment and reproach. Unlike many, Hitler had no family to fall back on. He missed Geli in ways that Eva Braun could not compensate for. ‘The Christmas celebration,’ Hitler wrote to Winifred Wagner, ‘has been only a feast of mourning for me for two years’, and ‘I cannot bring myself to be as I was before.’ ‘Unfortunately,’ he continued, ‘there are always new mountains to be overcome.’95

Hitler and the NSDAP appeared to have hit a wall. Hitler’s New Year Proclamation struck a defiant but also forlorn note. ‘The suggestion of the clever ones’, he remarked sarcastically, that we might ‘gradually prevail’ from ‘inside’ the system and ‘through the back door’ was rejected.96 To most observers this sounded like whistling in the wind. On 1 January 1933, the liberal Frankfurter Zeitung spoke for many when it announced confidently that ‘The mighty Nazi assault on the democratic state has been repulsed.’97

Suddenly, Hitler’s luck turned, partly because he made his good fortune by standing fast, and partly because his opponents woefully miscalculated. He threw himself into the election campaign in the tiny state of Lippe in order to regain lost momentum. Hitler was still running on empty: Otto Dietrich had to advance his own money to book a hall for electioneering purposes.98 Lippe was classic Nazi territory: rural and Protestant, and as the British ambassador observed, Nazi efforts there had ‘the magnetic attraction of a jazz band’.99 The excellent result – a huge increase on the previous election, which had taken place in 1929 before the great gains of the following years – in no way reflected any broader surge in support for the NSDAP, but gave the impression of renewed dynamism. In mid January 1933, Hitler assembled his senior leaders and officials in Weimar, crushing all residual support for Strasser.

Meanwhile, the reactionary front around Hindenburg had begun to crack. On 4 January, Papen began a fresh round of negotiations with Hitler at the house of the Cologne banker von Schröder.100 He hoped to use the Nazis to unbolt Schleicher from the chancellorship. Six days later, they met at the residence of Joachim von Ribbentrop, a wine salesman and Nazi sympathizer who had offered himself as an intermediary.101 A few days after the Lippe result, Hindenburg was engulfed by the ‘Osthilfe’ scandal, in which several of his aristocratic associates were exposed as having embezzled funds intended to help struggling agrarians in East Elbia. The DNVP leader, Alfred Hugenberg, met with Hitler on 17 January; his confidant Reinhold Quaatz remarked that ‘he seemed to have come to terms with Hitler without the understanding being perfect’.102 Likewise, there was movement on Hindenburg’s side. He still rejected ‘Hitler as the chancellor of a presidential cabinet, because he demanded [control of] the Reichswehr, wanted [to introduce a] dictatorship and was a fantasist’, but on 21 January, Meissner thought that the president ‘would perhaps be won over to a chancellorship of Hitler if he secured a majority to pass an enabling law’.

In a fulminating speech at the Berlin Sportpalast on 22 January 1933, Hitler’s new confidence was palpable. Victory, he predicted, would go not to the infallible, but to those ‘who make the fewest mistakes’.103 Two days later, he met yet again with Papen, Frick and Göring at Ribbentrop’s house and it was agreed that Hitler would be recommended to Hindenburg at the head of a right-wing cabinet. Three days after that, Hitler conferred with Hugenberg, who eventually came aboard. So did Franz Seldte, the head of the Stahlhelm. He, Papen and the rest of the plotters believed that they could control Hitler, continuing to govern in the old fashion while hiding behind the electoral mandate of the NSDAP. At a meeting with Hitler Hugenberg resisted giving Nazis control of the Interior Ministry, but Papen overruled him.104 Göring assured Meissner that Hitler would respect not only the constitutional rights of the president, but also his supreme command of the armed forces.105 Schleicher tried to head off the danger by dissolving the Reichstag and calling fresh elections, or at least threatening to do so, but there was no appetite for that in Hindenburg’s circle. His position hopeless, Schleicher resigned on 28 January 1933. That same day, Hindenburg, Meissner and Papen reluctantly agreed to a Nazi-led government, with the strongest possible balancing conservative participation within and outside the cabinet.

The democratic parties were still more worried about an authoritarian dictatorship under Papen or Schleicher than they were about Hitler’s imminent appointment as chancellor. The head of the Bavarian People’s Party, Fritz Schäffer, seems to have offered Hitler his backing, and that of his fellow Catholic Centre Party, for a cabinet led by him. If so, he apparently declined on the grounds that he did not want to be dependent on them.106 On Sunday, 29 January Hitler and Göring met Papen in the Wilhelmstrasse. The outlines of a deal were now clear. Hitler would become chancellor, Papen vice-chancellor and commissar for Prussia, while Göring would get the Prussian Ministry of the Interior. Hitler also demanded a new election so that he could secure a majority for an enabling act. Separately, Hitler reassured Schleicher via an intermediary that he had no objection to having him as defence minister. A day later, Hitler and Papen met at the latter’s apartment in Berlin. He persuaded Duesterberg to let Seldte join the cabinet, thus securing Stahlhelm support. He gave his word of honour that there would be no changes to the cabinet even after fresh elections; there was also an expectation that he would try to bring the Centre Party into the government, or at least secure their acquiescence. Hitler feared to the last that Papen would back out, or that the president would maintain his veto.

On 30 January 1933, Hindenburg appointed Hitler chancellor.107 Göring’s securing of the post of Prussian interior minister crucially gave him control over the all-important Prussian police. Werner von Blomberg, the adviser to the Geneva disarmament conference, became Reichswehr minister; Schleicher was sidelined. Over Hugenberg’s objections, Hitler achieved his demand for another and final election to gain Reichstag backing for an enabling law. His enemies had blinked first, having convinced themselves that, as Hugenberg put it, ‘we are containing Hitler’.108 Papen, the ultimate author of this strategy, was particularly bullish. ‘You are mistaken,’ he told one critic, ‘we have hired him for our act.’109 ‘What is your problem,’ he asked another critic. ‘I have the confidence of Hindenburg’ so that within two months ‘we will have pressed Hitler so hard into the corner that he squeaks’.110 Thanks to their weakness and miscalculation, the conservatives let Hitler in through the back door when his waning electoral appeal was bolting the front entrance ever more firmly against him. There were no more mistakes to make. Some regretted their actions almost immediately. ‘I’ve just committed the greatest stupidity of my life,’ Hugenberg supposedly remarked the day after Hitler’s appointment, ‘I have allied myself with the greatest demagogue in world history.’111

It was an astonishing and fateful achievement. Against all the odds, Hitler had hung on until all others, including some in his own party, had given up or given way. He called Schleicher’s bluff over Strasser, the threatened dissolution of the Reichstag and new elections. Hitler rejected all compromise, but he did not, in the end, overdo it. Hitler was not infallible, but he indeed made the fewest mistakes. He settled for just enough, securing not so much power itself as the power to achieve power.
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Part Four



MOBILIZATION

The first four years of the Third Reich were characterized by Hitler’s frenetic mobilization of German society. This involved the progressive removal of restraints on his authority and the ‘coordination’ of all sectors of German society and politics. It led to a ‘battle of production’, that is, the economic and agricultural mobilization of the country in support of rearmament and autarchy. It also involved a ‘battle of consumption’, in which the regime sought to match the cultural and economic appeal of western modernity. In parallel with all this, Hitler embarked on a long-term project of racial regeneration, designed – as he saw it – to eliminate the negative and accentuate the positive in the German Volk. Its ultimate aim was to ‘lift’ the Germans onto a higher racial plane where they could co-exist – and if necessary compete – with Anglo-America. Throughout this period, there was a fundamental tension in Hitler’s timeline. On the one hand, he believed that the racial regeneration of Germany would take decades if not centuries, and could only be completed long after his own death. On the other hand, Hitler expected that the Reich would need to be ready for conflict within eight to ten years. By the end of this period, this tension between the racial and the diplomatic clocks was becoming ever more apparent.
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The ‘Fairy Tale’

For Hitler and the NSDAP, his appointment as chancellor was a moment of pure euphoria. In the late morning of 30 January 1933, Hitler was received by Hindenburg. Shortly after, he held a victory party in the Kaiserhof Hotel. In the course of the day, Hitler issued a proclamation calling upon the party to stand by him as he tackled the ‘massive’ task ahead.1 In the late afternoon, he convened his first cabinet meeting. The day concluded with a torchlight parade by the SA through Berlin, watched by Hitler and Hindenburg from separate windows in the Chancellery. These celebrations were broadcast by all German radio stations, with one significant exception; of this, more presently. ‘Am I dreaming or am I awake?’ Hess wrote to his wife the next day, describing how he was sitting in the office of the new chancellor in the Imperial Chancellery on the Wilhelmsplatz, while ministerial bureaucrats approached silently on plush carpets to bring documents to Hitler. Outside, the crowd sang the national anthem and shouted ‘heil’. Hess could hardly believe that ‘what [he] had not thought possible to the last moment’ was now ‘reality’.2 The Gauleiter of Swabia, Karl Wahl, recalled how he was overcome by tears of emotion.3 ‘Hitler is chancellor,’ Goebbels wrote in his diary, ‘it is like a fairy tale.’4

Over the coming years, this sense of enchantment spread to what was probably the majority of the German population.5 The process of electoral seduction, which had never claimed more than 37 per cent of the votes in free and fair contests, now continued with all the resources of the state at Hitler’s disposal. In an incessant round of speeches, parades, congresses and other events, he relentlessly wooed the German people, and they – by and large – submitted to his advances. The regime’s claim that Germany had united solidly behind the ‘Führer’ was exaggerated, but essentially true.6

For many others, 30 January 1933 was the beginning of a nightmare. They wept tears of a different sort at Hitler’s victory. Within hours, SA squads fanned out across the country to arrest and beat leftists, Jews and, to a lesser extent, Catholics and conservatives as well. Over the next weeks and months, a brutal, and increasingly efficient, terror apparatus sprang into action. Thousands were incarcerated in basements and warehouses and often subject to severe mistreatment. There were many murders. Organized labour was crushed; the trade unions soon abolished. Much of the repression was conducted through the politicized regular court system rather than the extrajudicial security apparatus.7 Violence was thus at the heart of the Nazi regime from the very beginning.8 To be sure, there was widespread complicity and cooperation with the regime, with denunciations as important as surveillance.9 Despite all the consensus, however, the Third Reich would not have functioned without coercion. Hitler had taken office legally enough, but he was to consolidate and retain power illegally.

The challenge facing Hitler at the start of his rule was massive, both at home and abroad. The chancellorship did not give him absolute power, only the power to achieve that power. For now, he was still ‘boxed in’ by the old elites. The old civil service was still fundamentally sceptical.10 His ‘seizure of power’ could only take place in stages.11 In the short term, Hitler feared a military-backed conservative coup.12 He also worried about the threat of a communist revolt, or at least of a general strike.13 If he got through the first few weeks, Hitler would need to assert his control within the government, and to co-opt, sideline or eliminate both the Centre Party and his conservative coalition partners. More generally, Hitler would have to win over and mobilize major institutions and sectors such as the army and industry. He also needed to dismantle German federalism, especially in Bavaria, whose state radio had refused to broadcast the celebrations on 30 January 1933. Abroad, his immediate worry was to keep ‘international Jewry’ at bay and to fend off the threat of a preventive war waged by France and Poland before Germany was ready.

In the medium term, Hitler wanted to prepare the Reich for armed conflict, both physically and mentally.14 On Hitler’s reckoning, this required the elimination of the Jews from German national life, the removal of all other supposedly harmful elements, the encouragement of allegedly positive racial strands within the German people, and the ‘gathering’ of as many racially sound Germans into the new Reich as possible. Hitler wanted to begin by restoring Germany’s position in Europe and establish strong alliances, not only with sympathetic powers such as the Italy of Mussolini – his envoy Renzetti was summoned to the Chancellery on 30 January to witness the torchlight parade at Hitler’s side – but especially with Britain. He also had his eye on the capture of Lebensraum in the east – that is, Russian lands beyond Poland – necessary in his view to enable Germany to survive any future blockade and to feed its surplus population.

The realization of these short- and medium-term aims required Hitler to lull his adversaries, at home and abroad, into a false sense of security. Often this took the form of deliberate deception. Hitler’s first speech to the Reichsrat immediately after taking power suggested quite disingenuously that he intended to maintain the federal structure and spirit in Germany. He also frequently made speeches proclaiming his pacifist intent, or reassured foreign diplomats and visitors in private conversation. Sometimes, Hitler ‘hid in plain sight’, revealing his ultimate plans without provoking a storm of concern. On other occasions, however, Hitler was entirely frank, as he needed to be if he hoped to win western support for, or at least acquiescence in, his plans for territorial expansion in the east. Besides, the undisciplined behaviour of the Nazi rank and file, as well as some leaders, was such that the fundamental nature of the regime, the true extent of its hostility to Jews and its aggressive foreign policy were constantly on view or even being blurted out. The overall result was to lend to Hitler’s intentions all the secrecy of a stage whisper, audible to everybody but the entirely or wilfully deaf (of which there proved to be many).

There was, in fact, nothing mysterious about Hitler’s long-term aim, which had been public knowledge since the 1920s. This was to make the Reich one of the great world powers, not necessarily the sole or dominant one. Here his point of reference was the British Empire and, especially, the United States. The capture of Lebensraum in the east was not conceived of as a final showdown with the Jews or Slavs, but rather as a necessary measure to gain the critical territorial mass and resources to balance Anglo-America. It would also provide the necessary space for the racial elevation of the Germans into a position of parity with the Anglo-Saxons. In short, after taking power, Hitler sought to implement the programme which he had set out in general terms in numerous writings and speeches over the previous fourteen years.

If the content and sequencing of these aims were clear in 1933, at least to Hitler himself, his timetable was not. He was clearly in a hurry to achieve his short-term objectives, but the schedule for his medium- to long-term plans varied considerably. Sometimes, Hitler seems to have envisaged that Germany would be ready for a major war within a decade. On other occasions, he seems to have had a much longer timeframe in mind. What is clear is that Hitler expected the complete racial transformation of the German people to take generations, with a completion date well after his own death. For that reason, he seems to have wanted to avoid a confrontation with the British Empire and the United States if at all possible, or at least until the homogeneity and mental strength of the German people were on a par with those of Anglo-America. In the end, of course, events took a different turn.

To the surprise of many, Hitler rose quickly to the challenge of government. Those who dealt with him during the first years of his chancellorship were impressed by his command of the issues. Hitler gripped the cabinet – which was full of experienced and hard-bitten rivals – from the start.15 He made no attempt to monopolize proceedings and with a few exceptions refrained from launching into the kind of lengthy tirades which he famously indulged in later. Likewise, the military were astonished by the speed with which this ex-soldier from the ranks asserted his superiority over them at their first encounter only days after the takeover of power.16 Photographs and footage from the time show a dapper man who appeared physically fit, trim and very much in charge. ‘The chief is performing here with unbelievable authority,’ Hess wrote to his wife the day after the appointment, ‘and [his new] punctuality’ was such that ‘I have even decided to buy myself a watch’, before adding: ‘A new time period and a new division of time has begun.’17

In office, Hitler kept formal hours, at least to begin with, and even when he began to revert to earlier patterns, his overall level of commitment did not change. The total amount of time that Hitler ‘worked’, organizing repression and mobilization at home and the planning of aggressive war abroad, was considerable. His legislative programme was massive, and ran to thirty-three volumes before the outbreak of war.18 Moreover, as we shall see, Hitler never really let go, even when he was supposedly relaxing on the Obersalzberg, watching films in his private cinema or being uplifted at Bayreuth. He worked so to speak ‘from home’,19 but he was still working. Hitler was therefore in no sense a ‘lazy’ chancellor.20

Hitler’s first moves were devoted to consolidating his grip on power in Germany. A few days after he was appointed chancellor, the ‘Decree for the Protection of the German People’ gave the government draconian powers to suppress the right to free assembly and political expression, at first used primarily against communists. The feared conservative coup and communist uprising never materialized; the only serious public protest was in the little Swabian town of Mössingen. Hitler increasingly wriggled out of the corset put in place by Papen. He could count on the collaboration of key figures in the army, especially the new Reichswehr minister, Werner von Blomberg, who supported his plans for total mobilization, and his head of the ministerial office, Walther von Reichenau,21 with whom he had already been in contact before the takeover of power. The new foreign minister, Konstantin von Neurath, was less pliable, but he too had met Hitler before 1933, and the two men saw eye to eye if not on the ultimate goal then at least on the first steps. President Hindenburg himself, widely expected to act as a powerful restraint on Hitler, became his greatest supporter. They differed on some important issues, but their relationship grew more and more cordial.22

The Führer’s next aim was to gain a working majority in the Reichstag. One method, which Hindenburg favoured, was to bring in the Centre Party. Hitler’s negotiations with their leader, Monsignor Kaas, did not win the Catholics over, but he did manage to pin the blame for the failure of the discussions, and thus for the dissolution of the Reichstag, on them.23 The other path was to win the Reichstag elections called on 1 February after the collapse of negotiations with the Centre Party; these were scheduled for early March. Hitler rallied the conservatives in the cabinet against the left by fighting the forthcoming election under the slogan ‘Attack against Marxism’.24 All this reassured President Hindenburg, from whom Hitler’s authority still derived.

Throughout February and early March 1933, Hitler’s principal domestic focus was on the Reichstag election. He now had the entire apparatus of central government at his disposal, including most public radio stations. The south German states of Bavaria and Württemberg were important exceptions. To Hitler’s fury, the broadcast of one of his speeches was interrupted in Stuttgart by saboteurs; a war of words with the Land government of Dr Bolz followed.25 In the rest of Germany, however, Hitler’s dominance of the airwaves was pretty much complete. His radio broadcast of 2 February 1933, approved by the cabinet, was entitled ‘Fourteen years of Marxism have ruined Germany’.26 Hitler’s fear of communism was real enough, but he hammed it up for electoral purposes. He did not want to ban the KPD immediately.27 Hitler even suggested deferring repressive legislation so as to avoid thereby ‘reducing’ the ‘communist threat’ in the ‘election campaign’.28 The subordinate relationship of communism to capitalism was emphasized again during the Reichstag election campaign. ‘Marxism,’ one Nazi poster headlined, ‘is the guardian angel of capitalism.’29

During the first weeks of his chancellorship Hitler evaluated every move in the light of its electoral implications and its potential impact on his political standing more generally. At a meeting of the ‘Committee on Economic Policy’ of the government, Hitler stressed that ‘decisions’ must be taken ‘with regard’ to their impact on the ‘coming election campaign’.30 For example, he supported a ‘raising of the tax on department stores’ as the ‘most popular form of taxation’, but suggested avoiding ‘all detail’ on the government’s economic programme ‘in electoral propaganda’. Hitler reminded the cabinet that the government needed 18 or 19 million votes. ‘An economic programme that will meet the approval of such a large group of voters,’ he remarked pointedly, ‘does not exist in the whole world.’31 Hitler was not always successful: his attempt to remove the charge for medications provoked such conservative hostility that he only managed to get it halved.32 Otherwise, Hitler took the view that there should be no major initiatives before the elections. ‘Reforms need time,’ he explained, and could only be ‘tackled once the people had decided for or against the government.’33 The six weeks following the takeover of power were thus characterized by the signalling of intent rather than concrete measures.

On 3 February, Hitler set out his strategic vision to the Reichswehr leadership at their request.34 He promised to crush ‘pacifism’, to strengthen the ‘will to resist’ and the ‘extermination of Marxism root and branch’. More importantly, he promised that he would make no attempt to amalgamate the army and the SA. Hitler also argued that unemployment could only be tackled and the German peasant could only be ‘saved’ through an active ‘settlement policy’, which required an expansion of Germany’s Lebensraum, which was ‘too small’. He considered an economic solution – ‘the attainment of new export possibilities’ – but favoured ‘the capture of new living space in the east and its ruthless Germanization’. One could only ‘Germanize’ territory, he insisted over and over, not the people living in it. These remarks were made in secret, but their principal content differed little from the thoughts Hitler had already elaborated in Mein Kampf and countless speeches before he took power. The timeline he had in mind was ‘six to eight years in order to completely exterminate Marxism’, after which ‘the army would be ready to pursue an active foreign policy’, namely ‘the expansion of the living space of the German people’, probably in the east. Significantly, Hitler expected that the following stage, the establishment of a ‘completely healthy state’, would take ‘a period of 50–60 years’,35 by which time he himself would be long dead.

In public, Hitler sought to conceal his intentions in foreign policy, at least until he was ready to throw off the mask. His main fear was a Franco-Polish preventive war, and perhaps also a Franco-Russian alliance. ‘The most dangerous time,’ he told the Reichswehr chiefs only a few days after the takeover of power, ‘is the period of the building-up of the Wehrmacht.’ ‘Then it will be clear,’ he continued, ‘whether France has statesmen.’ If she did, Hitler went on, then she ‘would not leave us time but fall on us, presumably with [her] eastern satellites’.36 Hitler sought to head off the danger through a series of interviews with British, American and Italian journalists. In them, he emphasized the threat from Bolshevism and Soviet Russia. Hitler denied giving inflammatory speeches, and on the same day he addressed the military leaders about his expansionist plans he told a group of Anglo-American journalists that ‘everyone who, like me, knows war, [also] knows what a cost it represents in resources’. Towards the end of February 1933, Hitler gave an interview to Louis Lochner of Associated Press in which he reassured the world that his proposed labour service was not a paramilitary force in disguise.37

Hitler’s domestic policy was primarily designed to provide the means to implement his foreign policy programme. He told the cabinet a few days after the Reichswehr meeting that ‘every publicly supported work-creation measure must be judged under the aspect of whether it is necessary’ in order to give the German people back the capacity to defend themselves. For the benefit of those who had not got this message, which Hitler was to repeat ad nauseam over the next weeks, months and years, ‘the chancellor underlined once again that the supreme principle over the next 4–5 years must be everything for the Wehrmacht’.38 On 20 February, Hitler told a group of specially selected businessmen, some of them leaders of German industry, that he planned to use the mandate he expected from the March election to end parliamentary democracy in Germany for good, and crush the left.39

The burning of the Reichstag building on the evening of 27 February came as a serious shock to Hitler, and to many ordinary Germans. A Dutch communist drifter, Marinus van der Lubbe, was arrested that same night. What exactly happened is still unclear, but there can be no doubt that, whatever the role of individual Nazis, Hitler himself neither ordered nor knew of the deed in advance.40 He was completely taken by surprise and seems genuinely to have believed the communists to be responsible.41 Hitler responded with the draconian decree for the ‘protection of the people and state’. This abolished the rights of assembly, freedom of the press, and of expression as well as increasing police powers of surveillance. Significantly, the legislation also suspended the autonomy of the federated states if they failed to guarantee public order, and conferred upon Hitler, rather than on the president, the right to impose imperial commissars on them. The main target may have been the Communist Party, which was now subjected to even greater repression, but the secondary objective was clearly to facilitate an attack on German federalism. Hitler now had an instrument to tackle the Länder and an argument – their failure to deal with the Marxist threat – for doing so.

In Bavaria, however, the federal authorities still held out. The Bavarian minister of the interior, Karl Stützel, refused to bow to demands to curb the anti-Nazi press.42 In late February 1933, several weeks into Hitler’s tenure, the acting chief minister, Dr Heinrich Held, vowed in an interview with the New York Times that ‘in keeping with the letter of the constitution, I shall defend Bavarian independence at all costs, even in the face of force with which we may be confronted’.43 The BVP leader Fritz Schäffer even threatened to arrest any imperial commissar sent by the Nazis at the Bavarian border.44 With Held’s connivance, Schäffer met with Crown Prince Rupprecht to discuss the possibility of a Wittelsbach restoration to forestall a Nazi takeover in Munich. Held was summoned to Berlin. There was a heated discussion. Now the roles were reversed from their last meeting in 1924. Hitler held all the cards. He warned Held that any step towards a restoration of the monarchy would result in a ‘serious catastrophe’.45 The plan collapsed when Hindenburg refused to support it, vindicating Hitler’s strategy of embracing the president.46

The Reichstag election of March 1933 took place in an atmosphere of extreme intimidation, in which the instruments of government and the Nazi Party organizations were deployed to telling effect. Thousands of SA men were deputized as police officers in Prussia by Göring. Moreover, Hitler now had the endorsement of Hindenburg. Hitler himself was elected for the constituency of Oberbayern-Schwaben, his first and only Reichstag seat, and the Nazi vote in Bavaria rose to its highest level yet. Even so, the NSDAP fell short of the desired overall majority, securing nearly 44 per cent of the vote. This meant that Hitler would continue to base his authority not on a popular mandate, but on the presidential powers conferred by Hindenburg.

Once the votes were in, Hitler moved against his old enemy, German particularism. ‘What is required,’ he told the cabinet, was ‘an audacious approach’ to the relations between the Reich and the federal states, especially Bavaria.47 He began with the smaller and weaker states, installing an imperial commissar in Hamburg, followed by Bremen, Lübeck and Hessen. Then he crushed Württemberg, the weaker of the two southern German states. On 8 March, a Nazi Reichsstatthalter was installed in Stuttgart, as well as in Baden, Saxony and Schaumburg-Lippe. That same evening, Hitler finally decided to bite the bullet in Munich. ‘This evening we were all at the Führer’s,’ Goebbels noted in his diary. ‘There it was decided that it is now Bavaria’s turn.’48 This was not an easy decision, as there were some within the party who feared considerable resistance in Munich, no doubt recalling the fiasco of 1923.

Hitler, however, kept his nerve. He took personal charge of the negotiations with the BVP in Berlin, tellingly them bluntly that the election had seen a repudiation of separatism and particularism.49 Hitler also sent Röhm to Munich to deliver an ultimatum. The BVP did not attempt a Wittelsbach restoration, though Held initially resisted demands – backed up by the threat of force from the SA – to appoint Ritter von Epp as Reichsstaathalter in Munich. He even gave instructions for the Bavarian police to be put in state of readiness. Heavily armed units took up positions in front of the Bavarian Landtag, the Foreign Ministry and the Ministry of the Interior, with instructions to open fire on the Nazis if necessary. Civil war seemed possible.50 Ten years earlier, the Bavarian police had not hesitated to shoot; this time they were overawed by the SA and SS. On 9 March, Bavarian autonomy was extinguished; control of the police went over to Heinrich Himmler and Reinhard Heydrich. The French envoy to Munich was sent packing. Foreign representation in individual German federal states – and thus any potential interference – ceased. In due course, the flying of the traditional blue and white Bavarian colours was forbidden, even at the traditional Oktoberfest.51 German federalism was dead.

It was a big moment for Hitler. He had imposed his will on an enemy which had defied him for more than a decade. It was also a watershed in German history. Hitler claimed that ‘what had been desired and attempted’ in vain ‘over centuries’ was ‘now reality’, namely ‘the coordination of the political will of the federal states with the will of the nation’. He promised that he ‘did not want to rape the federal states’ but to give them ‘the rank and the place’ to which ‘they were entitled by virtue of history and tradition’.52 That same day, the old red, white and black imperial flag and the Nazi swastika replaced the Weimar colours of black, red and gold (or ‘mustard’, as its enemies called it contemptuously) as the state flag. Significantly, Hitler did not revert to the old flag of the Second Reich, which could soon only be shown on special occasions such as the funerals of soldiers from the former imperial army.

The first phase of the seizure of power was complete. Hitler’s government controlled Germany not only from east to west, but also from north to south. On 13 March 1933, Goebbels was made Reich minister for people’s enlightenment and propaganda. Shortly afterwards, Hitler appointed Schacht president of the Reichsbank. The second phase was about to begin.

Central to the next stage was the passage of an enabling law, which would grant Hitler the power to legislate without recourse to the Reichstag. He also expected this measure to strengthen Germany against the outside world. The key to this was winning over the Centre Party, which would give Hitler valuable political cover.53 ‘The acceptance of the enabling law by the Centre Party,’ he told the cabinet, ‘would lead to an increase of prestige abroad.’54 Hitler, who was now domestically in a significantly stronger position, held out the prospect of a concordat between the new regime and the Catholic Church.55 Fearing the left, under severe political and often physical pressure from the Nazis, the Centre Party buckled. Through a mixture of political skill and brute force, Hitler was now on the verge of what had eluded Brüning, Papen and Schleicher before him, which was to turn a presidential cabinet into a broadly based authoritarian regime with the backing of a parliamentary majority.

Hitler consecrated this burgeoning German unity with an opening ceremony for the new Reichstag in the garrison church of Potsdam. This event, which has gone down in history as ‘The Day of Potsdam’, was intended to suggest a synthesis between the old Prussian traditions and the young National Socialist movement. Hitler and Hindenburg’s joint appearance was framed by old Prussian battle flags against the background of Frederick the Great’s bronze sarcophagus. Seats were reserved for the Hohenzollerns. One contained the crown prince, a Nazi sympathizer, in the uniform of a colonel of the Death’s Head Hussars; the place reserved for Wilhelm II was symbolically left empty, to suggest an emperor if not over the sea then at least beyond the Rhine in Holland. Catholic dignitaries rubbed shoulders with Protestants. The president delivered a speech invoking the glories of the Prussian past, especially its unification of the ‘German tribes’, and expressed the hope that it would serve as an example for the regeneration of Germany in present times. Hitler looked on in reverence, careful not to be seen to upstage the national treasure that was Hindenburg. With or without the consent of the older man, though, his charisma was already beginning to pass to the younger chancellor.56 The rift between German conservatism and the Nazis was symbolically healed by the public handshake between Hitler and Hindenburg – immortalized by a photograph – immediately after the ceremony. It was Hitler’s first major act of state choreography, which he had rehearsed incognito in the garrison church on the previous day.57

Once these opening ceremonies were over, the Reichstag returned to its temporary home in the Kroll Opera House to pass Hitler’s enabling law.58 This measure gave him the power to legislate without Reichstag approval. Hitler explained that he needed the powers in order to ‘rebuild people and Reich’ as well as ‘win over the German worker for the national state’. Hitler’s enduring concerns about German federalism, even after the co-ordination of Bavaria, came to the fore again when he warned that he would regard any attempt at a ‘monarchic restoration’ as an ‘attack on the unity of the Reich’ and ‘would respond accordingly’. Turning to the most pressing issue of the day for most Germans, the economy, Hitler defined his two main economic tasks as the ‘saving of the German farmer’ and the ‘integration of the army of unemployed into the production process’. In order to achieve all this, Hitler argued, it was necessary to bring the interminable cycle of voting which had characterized the last years of the Weimar Republic to an end. Anxious to reassure critics worried that the proposed law would give Hitler unprecedented power, he stressed its limited and temporary character. There had, in fact, been many enabling laws in the course of the Weimar Republic,59 but it should have been obvious, not least because Hitler had made no secret of his intentions in the past, that the Nazis would never voluntarily relinquish any power they were given.

Hitler was speaking to a largely captive audience. Together with the Centre Party, the Nazis and their conservative allies made up a majority of the Reichstag. The communists had been banned. The only voice of opposition came from the SPD deputies. Otto Wels, their chairman, gave an impassioned speech against the enabling law. Referring to the already intense wave of repression directed against his party, he announced in words that have since passed into legend that the Nazis could take their freedom but not their ‘honour’. When Wels had finished, Hitler leaped up to deliver a withering response. He lambasted the SPD for not having launched a communard-style revolt against the Versailles settlement in 1919. ‘It would have been equally possible,’ he said, to have given their revolution ‘the same elan and direction which France gave its rising in 1870.’ It was, as ever, the international connections of the SPD and not their socialism which affronted Hitler. He attacked them for spreading ‘untruths’ about the situation in Germany, and the fact that they – allegedly – ‘constantly tried to run down Germany abroad’. This mattered to Hitler, because he wanted to avoid giving neighbouring powers an excuse to intervene.

There was a widespread expectation on the left that Nazism would simply be a repeat of the Bismarckian anti-socialist repression, which the movement had weathered successfully. Hitler told Wels that this was not the case. ‘Do not confuse us with the bourgeois world,’ he warned, and he also counselled the SPD against the hope ‘that their star might rise again’. In fact, Hitler warned, he was a very different proposition; there were no half measures for him. ‘I do not want to make the mistake,’ Hitler remarked menacingly, ‘of just provoking enemies rather than destroying or reconciling them.’ To the SPD rank and file he held out an olive branch. ‘I will shake hands with anyone who is committed to Germany,’ Hitler promised. But for the SPD leadership, the message was clear. ‘You gentlemen,’ Hitler hurled at Wels and his fellow deputies, ‘are no longer needed.’ Shortly afterwards, the enabling act passed with 441 votes in favour and 94 against, including that of Otto Wels. That same day it went through the completely Nazi-controlled Reichsrat unopposed and became law. German democracy was not simply done to death by a small clique of men in smoke-filled rooms. It committed suicide under duress in public.

Over the next fortnight, Hitler legalized the destruction of German federalism with two ‘laws for the coordination of the federal states with the Reich’. State legislatures were reconstituted on the basis of the proportion of each party (in so far as it still existed) had gained in the March Reichstag election. Their legislative powers were taken away and conferred upon the state governments, which in turn were to be appointed by the imperial commissars nominated by Hitler.60 In Prussia, the largest state, Hitler took on the role of imperial commissar himself, and conferred the powers back to Göring, underlining where the source of authority lay. ‘All power lies with the federal authority,’ he told the assembled Statthälter, adding that ‘it must be prevented that the centre of gravity of German life is ever again transferred to individual areas or even organizations’, another swipe at the BVP.61 All the switches, as the title of the laws suggested, were to be turned in the same direction. The Reichsrat was now defunct and was eventually abolished early in the following year. ‘Coordination’ was in a sense symbolic, since the state governments were by now all under Nazi control anyway, but it underlined Hitler’s determination to create a unified polity from which all regional political diversity had been eliminated.

Pulling down hundreds of years of German tradition was one thing, putting something else in its place was quite another. It soon became clear that there was no clarity over what was to come next. Some, such as the minister of the interior, Wilhelm Frick, wanted to turn the Third Reich into a unitary state and rationalize the territorial asymmetry of the Reich into supposedly more sensible administrative units. Hitler was not so sure. He felt that some of the damage done by the traditional ‘fragmentation’ had been compensated by the NSDAP, which had ‘never known regional associations’, but was instead based on the ‘Gau-system’, something which France had implemented.62 In other words, the National Socialist Gau – whatever its medieval German etymological origin – was in Hitler’s mind the new German equivalent to the French department. It was intended to represent a totally new principle of regional administration.

At the same time, Hitler was ambivalent about Frick’s vision, in which there was, as he put it, ‘a new current [which] wishes to clear away everything, to standardize everything, and to centralize everything across the Reich’. He urged caution. One would have to start from the facts of nature, and avoid behaving like a ‘bear who batters the hermit to death in order to kill a fly’. He therefore laid down that ‘the objective is to retain the existing construction so long as it is useful’, and to change it so that ‘in future the good is preserved and the useless is eliminated’. Here Hitler expounded a kind of National Socialist subsidiarity principle, which paralleled a very similar rule he had enunciated a year earlier for the NSDAP itself. ‘One must not ask “what can be removed”,’ he explained, ‘but what must be removed.’ The key thing, Hitler remarked presciently, was that ‘the particularism of the princes must not be replaced by the particularism of an ideology’.63

Hitler’s real concern here was for the future, when the old guard had passed away, and there was a danger of falling back into bad old habits. ‘After our departure’, he predicted, there would be a ‘shift’ in the quality of leadership, which might lead to the ‘separation’ of parts of the Reich. Hitler clearly wanted to head off the danger that his new Reich would disintegrate, like that of Alexander or Charlemagne, into feuding successor states, thus refederalizing Germany. Avoiding such an outcome was a central part of his long-term programme. ‘Posterity,’ he reminded the Reichsstatthalter, ‘will judge us by the final result’ and not by ‘the revolution’ itself. Hitler did not quite put it this way himself, but he seems to have envisaged a Weberian shift from the largely charismatic rule of Führer and first-generation Gauleiter to a more legal and bureaucratic structure after his death. In the second generation, he suggested, the ‘authority’ of the party leadership would no longer be so ‘firm’, and a great deal would depend on the ‘general tendencies’ within the bureaucracy. This was why, Hitler argued, ‘the construction [of the state]’ would have to be sound so that the coherence of the unified national state could not be subverted. Hitler was thus under no illusion that the German tendency towards fragmentation had been banished by ‘coordination’; transcending particularism would be a project of many generations.

By the spring of 1933, the German left had been largely eliminated. Next in line were Hitler’s conservative allies. They shared many of his immediate internal and external aims, but in terms of style, background and world view the two were far apart.64 The NSDAP presented itself as not only an anti-capitalist but also an anti-bourgeois party. Picking up Hitler’s rhetoric before 1933, it lambasted the conservatives for their ‘reactionary’ nature and their ‘class snobbery’,65 which stood in the way of the creation of a true ‘People’s Community’. The violence meted out to conservatives, though never quantitatively as significant as that experienced by the communists and Social Democrats, escalated from isolated incidents in early 1933 to a systematic campaign. On 7 May, the leader of the DNVP party caucus, Ernst Oberfohren – who had opposed Hugenberg’s policy of cooperation with Hitler – was found shot dead in his apartment. The official verdict spoke of suicide, but it was probably murder. Senior DNVP members had their houses searched by the police, or were accused of corruption. Party meetings were broken up by the SA. All this reflected Hitler’s growing view that the main internal challenge to his rule now came not from the German left more generally, but from the left inside the Nazi Party, and the German right in its many forms: federal, monarchic, aristocratic, clerical and conservative nationalist.

A network of camps was erected across the Reich. In late March 1933, the first prisoners were sent to Dachau outside Munich.66 Most were leftists of one sort or another, but there were also some conservatives and Catholic Bavarian federalists. The two sons of Hitler’s old adversary Heinrich Held were deemed ‘no better than Jews’ and placed in a punishment detail.67 The purpose of these early ventures was to persecute the political rather than the (perceived) racial enemies of the regime. While Hitler was aware of the existence of British concentration camps in South Africa during the Boer War, and alluded to them on a number of other occasions, there is no evidence that these influenced the decision to set up Dachau and other places. There was no central coordination of the camp system at this stage,68 and Hitler does not seem to have played a direct role in either the establishment or the running of the camps.

In the summer of 1933, Hitler moved against the remnants of the Weimar system. He proclaimed 1 May a national holiday, fulfilling a longstanding left-wing demand. The day after, he abolished the trade unions. Over time, the NSBO were amalgamated into the new German Labour Front, under Robert Ley, which was given the job of organizing German workers. On 22 June 1933, the SPD was banned. Two days later, under pressure, the DNVP disbanded itself. A day later, the Staatspartei, the former DDP, followed suit. The two Catholic parties, the Centre Party and the BVP, were the last to wind themselves up, under severe pressure, in early July. On 14 July a law specifically banned the establishment of new political parties.

That same month, after long negotiations, Hitler finally agreed a concordat with the Roman Catholic Church. This guaranteed the church freedom of worship and the right to levy church taxes and to run its own affairs. Catholic schools and theological faculties remained open. The secrecy of the confessional was not challenged. In return, new bishops were required to pledge an oath of allegiance to the Reich on taking office. Most importantly, the Vatican agreed to forbid clerics not just from involvement in political parties – an academic issue by now – but from any kind of political activity. Hitler’s intention here was not just to tame the German Catholic milieu but to find a modus vivendi with the papacy as an international actor. It was as much an instrument of foreign as of domestic policy.69

If the last vestiges of German democracy had now been eliminated, this did not mean that Hitler’s authority was absolute. The rule of law was by no means completely extinguished.70 Some judges continued to hand down impartial sentences, such as the acquittal of a number of the defendants in the Reichstag Fire trial. This event, designed to showcase the new Germany and impale the communists, turned into a public relations disaster for Hitler. Moreover, Hindenburg opposed (in the end, unsuccessfully) some of Hitler’s more extreme demands, such as the execution of Marinus van der Lubbe for what he considered treason but the president regarded as no more than an aggravated crime against property. Germany was, in effect, still a duumvirate headed by Hitler and Hindenburg and would remain so for another year.

Thanks to the enabling law, however, Hitler now had more than enough power to press ahead with his programme at home and abroad, so long as he retained Hindenburg’s support. The main focus of his domestic programme was the closely connected questions of rearmament and reducing unemployment, which ran at 6 million people, some 34 per cent of the entire labour force.71 In early April 1933, Hitler appointed the Nazi stalwart Fritz Reinhardt, who had written so passionately about the dangers of German emigration in the early 1930s, as state secretary in the Finance Ministry. Over the next few years, Reinhardt rolled out several programmes which bore his name designed to tackle the problem of unemployment and to provide labour for rearmament.72 These aimed to generate employment through public works, especially major infrastructural projects, such as the long-planned construction of motorways, and direct support for housing repairs and renovations. The best way of getting the German people back to work, Hitler announced to an audience of motorway workers, was by ‘setting the German economy in motion again’ through ‘monumental works’.73 These programmes, and Hitler’s vast expenditure on armaments, were largely paid for by Schacht’s dubious ‘MEFO bills’, in effect a system of deferred payments, drawn on a front (state) company. The actual number of jobs thereby created seems to have been extremely modest; nor did they much boost business confidence, at least at first, but they did enable Hitler to change the broader narrative.74

No doubt in order to showcase the new mood, Hitler made a big fuss of the return of the List Regiment veteran Ignaz Westenkirchner from the United States in the autumn of 1933.75 He had emigrated in 1928, the same year as Hitler’s Second Book had warned about the exodus of Germans across the Atlantic, but had failed to make his way in Reading, Pennsylvania. Westenkirchner thus epitomized one of the problems Hitler was most concerned about. On being approached by his old comrade, the Führer paid for his passage home. Westenkirchner was given a job with the Völkischer Beobachter and pictures of him joshing with Hitler and Amann were published in various magazines and books.76 The prodigal son had returned home. Not long afterwards, Hitler repeated the exercise when he covered the fare of the dressmaker Anton Karthausen and his family, which had failed to make its way in Brownsville, Texas.77 These were, of course, primarily symbolic moves, widely reported not only in the German but also in the American press, designed to damage the narrative of the American dream.78 Hitler was not yet ready to promote the large-scale return of recent German emigrants, still less of German-Americans, to the Reich. In fact, despite his well-documented concern with German-Americans in the 1920s, he now showed little interest in the activities of his sympathizers in the United States,79 almost certainly in order to avoid provoking Washington.

Both public works and rearmament required massive deficit financing, in effect the printing of money to pay workers and stimulate demand. Although fundamentally ‘socialist’ in outlook and politics when it came to the economy, however, Hitler did not nationalize industry. In fact there were large-scale privatizations during the first five years or so of his regime, not for ideological reasons, but to raise cash quickly by flogging off distressed enterprises.80 What Hitler did very effectively was to nationalize German industrialists, by making them instruments of his political will. Control, not ownership was the key. The major German economic institutions, especially industry, business and the banks, were completely sidelined from decision-making.81 Unlike the Reichswehr, they were not let into any secrets about Lebensraum, at least at the beginning. They were simply told what to do, and if they jibbed were threatened with imprisonment, expropriation or irrelevance.

Hitler’s initial focus on work creation followed, rather than contradicted, his axiomatic primacy of foreign policy. He had long regarded the raising of the German standard of living as a central front in the struggle for the survival of the Reich on the international stage. Here you needed butter, not guns; of this, more presently. The Autobahns – ostensibly ‘civilian’ – had a clear military purpose as well. Besides, rearmament required a steady flow of raw materials. Some of these, such as coal, were available at home, or in the case of oil and rubber could be produced synthetically, albeit at considerable cost; Hitler encouraged IG Farben, for example, to press ahead with the mass production of oil derived from the hydrogenation of coal.82 Until then, however, much of what was needed had to be purchased abroad with hard currency, which in turn had to be paid for through exports, or exchanged for German goods.83 ‘We know’, Hitler conceded, that the lack of raw materials ‘does not permit complete autarchy for our Reich’. He therefore emphasized ‘over again’ that the government was not hostile to exports, not least because these ‘fed’ so many Germans, by paying for the import of foodstuffs.84 Moreover, Hitler was well aware that the Reichswehr was initially unable to absorb more than a fraction of the financial resources available to it from January 1933.85 Investing more money in rearmament before the ground was ready would have been akin to pouring a bucket of water on parched soil.

Now reasonably secure at home, Hitler turned his attention to the world around him. He was still preoccupied by the danger of a Franco-Polish preventive war, and there were also intelligence reports of a possible Russo-Polish rapprochement.86 Some sort of intervention to enforce the terms of the Versailles Treaty was indeed discussed in Warsaw, though it found no favour among the French.87 Hitler sought to prevent the diplomatic isolation of Germany which a Franco-Polish attack would require. Central to this endeavour was improving relations with the western powers, France, Britain and the United States. In February 1933, the Führer told Ribbentrop – who headed a special office on foreign policy – of his desire for better relations with London.88 Over the next three years, Hitler also paid greater attention to Paris than before or after.89 With the exception of a brief interlude during the Ruhr Crisis of 1923, and a few unflattering comments in Mein Kampf, he had largely ignored France, but for the first three years after the takeover of power she posed the most immediate military threat. For this reason, Hitler went out of his way to stress, more or less truthfully, his lack of interest in the return of Alsace-Lorraine.

Hitler also protested, this time entirely disingenuously, his pacifist intentions more generally. ‘The German people,’ he claimed during his speech on the enabling law, ‘wants to live in peace with the world.’90 In this context, the war veteran card proved particularly effective. When the British conservative opponent of Nazism Duff Cooper claimed that the Third Reich was preparing for war, Hitler countered by saying that ‘we leaders of the National Socialist movement are almost without exception former frontline soldiers’, adding that he did not think that anybody who had experienced the war would be ‘enthusiastically preparing’ for a new conflict.91 He also trod carefully on rearmament. Hitler reminded the cabinet ‘that we need to show restraint with rearmament’.92 His success here owed much to the fact that the Reichswehr had been engaged in such deception more or less since its founding and to the existence of ready-formulated plans for rearmament and conscription among its leadership.93 The Führer rebuked the DNVP leader Alfred Hugenberg for speaking openly of the return of colonies and the acquisition of Lebensraum; Hugenberg flounced out of the cabinet in a huff. The purpose of Hitler’s strategy was simple: to gain time so that he could throw off the mask later when he was ready. ‘I am pursuing a policy of understanding,’ Hitler explained to the Reichsstatthalter, ‘in order to enable a later policy of strength.’94

An important part of Hitler’s charm offensive towards the rest of the world, especially the west, was his championship of the Olympic Games. These were scheduled to take place in Berlin in 1936, a location chosen sometime before Hitler’s rise to power. Hitler made clear that the Third Reich would not only host the event, but lay on the most spectacular Olympic Games in history. Hitler evidently hoped to showcase his achievements in front of a global audience whose very presence would legitimize his regime. In order to head off a threatened boycott, however, he had to promise that he would respect the inclusivity of the Olympic charter and welcome ‘competitors of all races’ to Berlin. While insisting that they reserved the right to determine the composition of the German team themselves, the Nazis even conceded that Jews could compete for the Third Reich.95

At the same time, and without any sense of contradiction, Hitler sought to bluff the west into thinking that rearmament, in reality a slow and complicated process, was much further advanced than it actually was.96 This was designed to deter any preventive strike. Central to this strategy was bigging-up the German air force. The parallels with the Kaiser’s plan to use the German high seas fleet as a deterrent against Britain were so obvious that the Luftwaffe became known as a ‘risk air force’,97 not yet big enough to devastate Europe perhaps, but sufficiently powerful to raise the costs of outside intervention. In this endeavour, Hitler was extremely successful. He was able to tap into widespread elite and popular hysteria about the likelihood of mass civilian casualties from air raids. Serious expansion of the Luftwaffe began only in 1934, and it became a formidable tactical fighting force only from 1938, but the German air force exerted a hold over the British and French imaginations almost from the very beginning.

The same caution characterized Hitler’s early policy towards the Soviet Union. To be sure, he broke off the military cooperation which the Reichswehr had pursued since the early 1920s,98 and he resisted all suggestions from the conservative right, including elements within the Foreign Office, that Germany should ally with Russia against Poland and the west. The Soviet Union, in fact, was generally not a high priority at this time, and Hitler regarded it as an ideological but not a military danger.99 That said, Hitler wanted to keep the lines to Moscow open. This was partly in order to maintain the supply of raw materials from the Soviet Union; partly because he hoped Moscow might help restrain Warsaw from launching a pre-emptive attack on Germany; and partly in order to lull the Soviets into a false sense of security. In more or less the same breath Hitler continued to attack ‘Marxism as an ideology of decomposition’ and its ‘international apostles’,100 while at the same time signalling publicly that he was ready for ‘friendly’ relations with the Soviet Union; the battle against German communism, Hitler added, was simply a ‘domestic affair’.101 It is a measure not merely of the Soviet capacity for self-deception, but also of Hitler’s ability to dissimulate, that he built up over the next eight years the level of rapport necessary to achieve both tactical and strategic surprise over Stalin.

Hitler sought to avoid provoking Germany’s neighbours unnecessarily. One of the potential areas of contention was the millions of Germans living beyond the borders of the Reich, but within Europe. Hitler regarded them with considerable ambivalence. As we have seen, he had always been much more interested in Germans who had headed west, especially those emigrating to the United States. Despite what happened from 1938, Hitler did not primarily regard ethnic Germans in Europe as a fifth column for the Third Reich. In some cases, in particular the Germans of South Tyrol, they were actually a barrier to his planned alliances. He also feared that they might be taken ‘hostage’ by hostile powers. For this reason, Hitler told representatives of Germans abroad, he would use a ‘hammer’ at home, but ‘pincers’ in foreign policy. Volkstumspolitik was delegated to Hess, a clear signal that he did not consider it Chefsache. Hess, explicitly quoting Hitler, laid down that German minorities should ‘maintain the best possible relations with their respective host people’.102 Many ethnic Germans outside the Reich, who had expected a more robust policy right away, were bitterly disappointed with this attitude.

There were only two exceptions. One was Austria, where the population was mainly German, there were many supporters of unification – Anschluss – with Germany and a strong Nazi party. They were under severe pressure, not so much from the left as from the locally dominant conservative clerical elites led by Chancellor Engelbert Dollfuss. Hitler planned to settle the Austrian question sooner rather than later. He feared the influence of ‘Viennese Half-Jewry’ and the (Habsburg) ‘legitimists’; his concerns about Habsburg restorationist tendencies extended well beyond Vienna to Hungary and some other successor states of the old Dual Monarchy. Hitler therefore recommended to the cabinet that ‘the same method be applied against Austria’ which had led to ‘immediate success’ in Bavaria.103 Vienna got its retaliation in first, however, and banned the Austrian NSDAP in June 1933. The number of Austrian Nazi exiles – already substantial – increased. Some of them were corralled into the ‘Austrian Legion’, a paramilitary force based in a camp at Lechfeld close to the Austrian border. It was tasked, as Hitler told the head of the Austria SA, Obergruppenführer Reschny in the summer of 1933, with supporting the local party ‘in the event of a rising’. No date was set, however, and no further action taken.104

The other neighbouring state to which the Nazis were hostile from the start, and in which they took a keen interest in the very significant German minority from a very early stage, was Czechoslovakia. When relations with Poland improved, there was no attempt to extend the thaw to the Czechs. Hitler’s attitude to the Czech people at this point is unclear but he made no secret of his contempt for the Czechoslovak state, which he regarded as nothing more than a Franco-Russian thorn in the side of the Reich. In a meeting with the Hungarian foreign minister Gömbös in the summer of 1933, Hitler signalled his intention to ‘liquidate’ Czechoslovakia.105 That said, for the first four years or so of his rule the Führer took relatively little interest in what was happening in Czechoslovakia.106

Instead, Hitler began to explore the possibility of a rapprochement with Poland. In the short term, this would enable him to break the ring of encirclement around Germany and forestall a preventive war. Strategically, a Polish alliance would provide him with a partner or at least staging ground for the pursuit of Lebensraum further east. Such a policy ran contrary to established opinion in the army and the Foreign Office, where conservatives preferred the Russian Bolsheviks to the Polish upstarts. Neurath, for example, insisted that an improvement of relations with Poland was neither possible nor desirable, and he repeatedly argued that Warsaw could only be restrained by maintaining the connection to Moscow. Hitler, by contrast, signalled a change of course on Poland very early on. This became evident when the matter of subsidies for the loss-making Gruben und Hüttenwerke IG Kattowitz, which now lay in Poland, but had formerly been part of German Upper Silesia, came up for discussion in cabinet. These had long been paid in order to maintain the German interest in the area. Hitler, departing from his usual mantra of the primacy of politics over economics, laid down clearly that ‘the whole matter should be viewed purely from the perspective of its financial benefits, irrespective of ‘military considerations’.107 It was eventually sold off to a Polish consortium.

More generally, Hitler wanted not just to forestall outside intervention, but also to secure at least the benevolent neutrality of Anglo-America, and alliances with Italy and other like-minded powers. Hitler, and the Nazis generally, seem at first to have been hopeful that they could appeal to the ‘better’ – that is racist – nature of the United States. They saw in Roosevelt’s America a cognate polity, not merely because of its policies of racial exclusion – in which immigration legislation weighed much more heavily than segregation – but because the ‘New Deal’ seemed to chime with what Hitler was trying to achieve in Germany.108

There was some American sympathy for the new Germany, but from the start Hitler struggled to get his message across in the United States.109 He was irritated by the widespread and unexpected criticism of his racial policies in the American press. In remarks to the Imperial Commission for the associations of leading German medics, Hitler argued that the Americans had ‘the least excuse’ to protest because they had been ‘the first to draw practical and political conclusions from … the different value of different races’. He claimed, alluding to the 1924 immigration legislation, that these laws had already prevented the entry of ‘so-called Jewish refugees from Germany’.110 The gulf became evident in the spring of 1933, when two Americans involved in the Geneva Disarmament Conference, Allen Dulles and its chairman, Roosevelt’s close associate Norman Davis, met Hitler in the Chancellery. Ominously for him, the encounter took place in the context of rising US concerns over anti-Semitic agitation. The meeting got off to a bad start when Hitler asked how the post-bellum American South would have felt if it had been confronted like Germany with a treaty designed to keep it in permanent subjection. Davis responded that the South had been treated much worse than Germany because it had even been forced to accept black judges. He showed no sympathy at all with Hitler’s longstanding fear of Germans being enslaved by other whites, or indeed the Jews. Davis then went on to express profound concern about German rearmament. It was a complete non-meeting of minds between American and Nazi racism.111

Hitler’s hopes for a rapid understanding with Britain were also quickly dashed. To be sure, there were some – such as the press baron Lord Rothermere – who welcomed Hitler as a bulwark against communism.112 ‘There has been a sudden expansion of their national spirit,’ he wrote in the Daily Mail, ‘like that which took place in England under Queen Elizabeth.’ Rothermere hailed the ‘plain blunt patriotism of Hitler’, who had rescued Germany from ‘its alien elements’, the Jews. ‘The world’s greatest need today is realism,’ he concluded. ‘Hitler is a realist.’ The overwhelming view in the press, parliament and Foreign Office, though, was negative. Hitler’s treatment of the Jews, in particular, caused widespread consternation. The only real disagreement was over the extent to which outside intervention was legitimate or effective.113

Before he made serious diplomatic moves, Hitler needed to win over, or at least neutralize, public opinion in Britain and the United States. This required the regime to tone down its domestic violence, at least in so far as it affected the outside world and could be monitored by the international press, especially the British and American papers, which Hitler assumed to be controlled by the Jews. It was for this reason also that he instructed the SA, SS and the NSDAP generally in early March to avoid attacks on foreign cars and individuals.114 This made little difference, partly because SA discipline left a lot to be desired, partly because Hitler himself continued to encourage violence with very public nudges and winks, but primarily because the fundamental nature of the Nazi regime outraged world opinion, especially in Britain and America. Almost from the start, therefore, Hitler and the Third Reich were subjected to a barrage of negative publicity in the Anglo-American press.115

At the heart of this critique were the British and American foreign correspondents in Berlin. Their dean, the Associated Press representative Louis Lochner, was a constant thorn in the side of the Nazi authorities.116 Dealing with them was the task of Hitler’s foreign press chief, Putzi Hanfstaengl. He set up an office opposite the Chancellery headed by the Quaker Agnethe von Hausberger, who had grown up in the United States.117 His monopoly of foreign press contacts was constantly being challenged by Goebbels and by the return of Kurt Lüdecke, who was aligned with Alfred Rosenberg, from the United States. Over the next four years or so, Hanfstaengl sought to maximize favourable press coverage. He gossiped and joshed with foreign correspondents at his favourite cafés; the early Third Reich was an open and leaky system, light years away from the totalitarianism of Soviet Russia.118 That said, foreign journalists were also subjected to a systematic policy of intimidation by the Nazi authorities. Göring warned them that their telephone conversations were being monitored. Goebbels frequently protested against bad coverage, and sometimes managed to have journalists arrested, disciplined or recalled.119 There was nothing, however, that the Nazis could do about poor press coverage from across the Channel or the Atlantic.

Hitler was extremely sensitive to his negative image in the outside world. In early March 1933, he warned the cabinet that he ‘considered the global press agitation against the German government very dangerous’.120 A week later, he complained to Papen that alleged outrages perpetrated by the SA against foreign diplomats were being used as a pretext to launch a ‘systematic barrage’ with the aim of ‘stopping the national revival’ of Germany.121 Hitler was deeply concerned about this, because he firmly believed that Germany’s isolation and defeat in the war had been the result of an Anglo-American press campaign against the Reich. He was also worried about the way in which he was being portrayed personally. In a candid admission of his concern with his global image, Hitler sponsored the compilation of an entire volume of caricatures by Hanfstaengl – Hitler in der Karikatur der Welt – which appeared in the autumn of 1933 together with detailed rebuttals.122 It was for this reason that Hitler was anxious to establish an effective apparatus for engaging with world opinion, and ‘escaping world political isolation’. Hitler told the cabinet that they would have to establish ‘a new organization’ to ‘influence public opinion abroad’. This necessitated a clear demarcation of competencies between the Foreign Office and the Propaganda Ministry of Goebbels. Hitler added that whereas Germany was pursuing a traditional ‘cabinet policy’, that of other countries was being ‘driven by quite different forces’, a clear reference to the supposed power of the Jewish press.123

One way of getting the Führer’s message across was through the dissemination of Mein Kampf abroad. Here Hitler was conflicted. On the one hand, he went to considerable lengths to restrict the publication of some foreign-language editions, even going to court in France. On the other hand, he endorsed or at least tolerated other versions. An Italian edition was honoured with a new preface by Hitler.124 An abridged English version was published in the autumn of 1933 by Hurst and Blackett in London and Houghton Mifflin in New York. Despite subsequent claims, for example by the Zionist leader Chaim Weizmann, that these editions tended to play down Hitler’s racism and territorial ambitions, they were in fact not bowdlerized in any meaningful sense of the word.125 The emphasis on Lebensraum and the alleged malevolent power of world Jewry was as strong in these editions as it was in the original.126 The Führer also openly signalled his plans in an interview with the Daily Telegraph in May 1933, when he stated that he did not want naval or colonial competition with Britain, but eastern enlargement.127 None of this is surprising, because although Hitler always sought to conceal his immediate diplomatic and military moves, it was very much in his strategic long-term interest to win over Anglo-American audiences to his way or thinking on race and space.

Significantly, while Hitler devoted considerable effort to converting Anglo-America, he was reluctant to pursue a more broadly-based international coalition against world Jewry and the other pillars of the global order. His interpretation of the institutions of global governance and the workings of the world economy was likely to appeal to those have-nots of the international system, and that was a very large proportion of the literate non-Anglo-world population, who felt short-changed by the power of Anglo-America and ‘the Jews’, and who did not think that history had ended with the advent of liberalism.128 There were many senior Nazis, Rosenberg and Goebbels among them, who wished to pick up where Strasser had left off and forge global alliances, if not with the wretched of the earth on the Indian continent, then at least with the many others who had got the rough end of the stick from global capitalism or British imperialism, or believed themselves to have done so. They created a lively fascist and anti-Semitic ‘international’ in the 1930s.129 Hitler himself had no interest in any of these transnational entanglements, at least for the moment. He planned to export Nazis to the east in large numbers when the time was right, but – with the exception two small nearby markets in Austria and Czechoslovakia – he had no intention of exporting Nazism itself to the world at large.

At the heart of the negative foreign press campaign, Hitler believed, lay a Jewish conspiracy. The need for ‘defensive measures’ against the ‘atrocity propaganda’ preoccupied him throughout the second half of March 1933.130 He decided to launch a time-limited boycott of Jewish businesses.131 Julius Streicher, a fanatical anti-Semite and editor of Der Stürmer, was put in charge of the ‘Central Committee for Defence against Jewish Atrocity and Boycott Agitation’.132 Its main addressee was Anglo-America. Hitler told the cabinet that he would be prepared ‘to delay the start of the boycott, if the governments of Britain and the United States immediately made satisfactory declarations against the atrocity propaganda’.133 ‘What would America do,’ he asked, ‘if the Germans in America behaved as badly towards America’ as the German Jews did against Germany? This was a particularly bitter issue for Hitler, because of his beliefs about the role of German emigrants fighting against their Fatherland in the American army in the World War. Moreover, Hitler argued, alluding to the immigration of Ostjuden from the late nineteenth century, Germany had ‘let in every foreigner for hundreds of years’ without restriction, so that she had a huge population density. In America, he continued, the figure was much lower, and yet ‘America had introduced quotas and simply excluded certain peoples’ from immigrating.134 There it was again, the old preoccupation with Jewish interference from America, coupled with the spatial superiority and racial exclusivity of the United States. It had changed very little since Hitler’s first articulations in the 1920s.

In these early days, the Third Reich encouraged Jewish emigration, especially to Palestine. This was the policy of the Foreign Office, the Economics Ministry and particularly of the SS, subject to confiscating most of the Jews’ property.135 They looked for help to German and World Zionism, which was interested in increasing the number of immigrants to the Yeshuv. The apotheosis of this cooperation was the Haavara Agreement between the German Zionist Federation, the Jewish Agency and the Nazi Ministry of Finance in August 1933 to facilitate the passage of German Jews to Palestine. This was a Zionist rather than a Nazi initiative, designed to enable Jews who wished to flee the discriminatory policies of the Third Reich to move at least some of their assets to Palestine. With the benefit of hindsight, the Haavara Agreement saved many lives, as it permitted the departure of Jews who would otherwise almost certainly have been killed later. There is no evidence that it was encouraged or sanctioned by the ‘Führer’, though he made no attempt to reverse it either.136

Hitler, in fact, was at best ambivalent about the emigration of German Jews. He used the reluctance of other powers to accept Jewish refugees, and that of Britain to admit them to Palestine, in order to lambast them for hypocrisy,137 but he did not favour their large-scale systematic removal there or anywhere else. This was partly because Hitler remained completely hostile to the idea of a Jewish state as such, which would on his reading simply serve as the headquarters of an international conspiracy. The main reason, however, was that he sought to hold German Jews to ransom for the good behaviour of world Jewry. This became clear when a leading New York Jewish lawyer, Maxie Steuer, visited Berlin in the spring or early summer of 1933 bringing an offer from major figures of the American Jewish community, including Warburgs, Speyers and Guggenheims, to finance the departure of all German Jews, not excepting those who had recently immigrated from eastern Europe. Both Neurath and Schacht were enthusiastic. To Hanfstaengl’s astonishment, Hitler rejected the proposal, reminding him that he wanted to keep the Jews as hostages.138

From the start, therefore, there was a tension running through Hitler’s policy towards the Jews after 1933. On the one hand, he wanted to make life as difficult for them as possible so that they would leave and enable an evolutionary solution to the ‘problem’. On the other hand, he wanted to keep at least some of them in the country as hostages for the good behaviour of the Anglo-American Jews in the western ‘plutocracies’. This tension partly reflected differing pressures within the regime, but mainly one in Hitler’s own mind, which was to resolve itself over time.

The confrontation between Hitler and what he regarded as world Jewry in the spring of 1933 nearly derailed his grandiose plans for the Olympic Games. In late May of that year, the American Jewish Congress under its president, Bernard S. Deutsch, spoke out against holding the games in Germany. There were also deep divisions within the American Olympic establishment. The US representative on the International Olympic Committee was the Louisiana Republican Ernest Lee Jahncke, who had just finished a term as secretary of the navy. Jahncke was a non-Jewish German-American, whose father had been born in Hamburg, who hated Hitler and who was strongly against the Nazi ‘sordid exploitation of the Games’. It was thanks largely to the enthusiastic support of the president of the US Olympic Committee, and strong anti-Semite, Avery Brundage, that the threat of an American-led international boycott of the Berlin Olympic Games never materialized.

Another minefield that Hitler had to negotiate with the United States was the role of German-Americans, who constituted by far the largest group of Auslandsdeutschen. As we have seen, this group lay at the heart of his whole world view, and he had milked the two high-profile returns for all they were worth. That said, Hitler was anxious not to alienate Washington by interfering in its internal affairs. For this reason, the American NSDAP-Ortsgruppen were disbanded in spring 1933, not long after Hitler came to power. Their place was taken by a new organization, ‘League of the Friends of the New Germany’, generally known as the Bund. The Bund was a very two-edged weapon, however. To be sure, it garnered support on the racist and isolationist right, but it was fundamentally anathema to the American mainstream. The Bund was subjected to severe criticism from the very beginning not only by Jewish groups but by many other Americans, including the majority of German-Americans, for whom any form of external interference was unacceptable. The Third Reich reacted by banning German citizens from involvement in the Bund, and towards the end of the year Hitler assured an interviewer from Hearst Press, the German-American Karl von Wiegand, that he had ‘forbidden party members abroad from making National Socialist propaganda in order not to endanger the diplomatic relations with those countries’.139

Here, Hitler was no doubt reacting to the activities of the Jewish Representative Samuel Dickstein of New York, who began to hold informal hearings in 1933 in the House of Representatives on Nazi activities in the United States. This eventually led, a year later (March 1934), to the establishment of ‘The Special Committee on Un-American Activities Authorized to Investigate Nazi Propaganda and Certain other Propaganda Activities’. It was chaired for optical reasons by the non-Jewish Congressman John W. McCormack from Massachusetts, though the German press invariably referred to the ‘Dickstein Committee’. Two months later, President Roosevelt ordered FBI Director Hoover to begin a ‘very careful and searching investigation’ of American fascism, with a particular focus on ‘any possible connection with official representatives of the German government’.140 In fact, the very notion of ‘Un-American’ behaviour was first given institutionalized political expression in the confrontation between the United States and Nazism. Clearly, Hitler was losing the battle for America. The ‘othering’ of US fascists, of German America, of Nazism and of the Führer himself, was well underway.

Meanwhile, Hitler sought to come to a financial arrangement with Washington. The Third Reich desperately needed to reduce the debt interest payments on loans. At the same time, despite his long-term ambition to achieve autarchy, Hitler’s plans for rearmament required the import of raw materials, which could only be paid for with foreign currency derived from exports. Hitler also wanted to explore the possibilities for deeper forms of economic cooperation in Europe. Picking up a theme he had already ventilated before 1933, Hitler feared the rise of non-European economic actors – here he seems to have been thinking not just of the US but also Japan and possibly China – as these imported western machinery and competed with the established industrial powers.141 He hoped that the old world could be persuaded at the World Economic Conference in Washington to join a boycott of the export of machinery to these rising powers. Failure to do so, he lamented, would destroy European industry. If that were not possible, however, Hitler wanted – as he put it to a delegation from eastern Germany in late April 1933 – to compensate for losses in ‘world trade’ through the ‘development of its domestic market’.142

In May 1933, Schacht was sent to Washington to discuss the interlinked questions of the international economy, Germany’s debts and armaments. He met no fewer than four times privately with President Roosevelt, besides having countless other conversations with his advisers, various senators, ministers, bankers and prominent American Jews. They even issued a joint declaration, which stressed the need for the abolition of international trade constraints and for stable currencies. They also agreed that tackling unemployment was an urgent priority both through domestic credit expansion and, remarkably, the establishment of an international programme to mobilize public and private credit for productive purposes. What was being signalled here, on the face of it, was nothing less than a possible global Keynesian alliance for global prosperity. Roosevelt’s New Deal, it seemed, was internationally aligned with Hitler’s new order in Germany.143

In June, Hitler’s first major move in foreign policy was the announcement of an effective debt moratorium. German firms would pay for imports with Reichsmarks which would not be converted until the trade balance had improved. In the meantime, creditors could use their frozen balances to pay for German goods. There was no concerted world reaction, not even from the United States. Hitler had got away with it.

Otherwise, Hitler continued to go out of his way to avoid difficulties with the United States. He expressly forbade attacks on Roosevelt and his government.144 Hitler also sought to dampen the fire he himself had started with ‘world Jewry’. The time for a direct confrontation was not yet ripe, in his view, and for this reason spontaneous acts of violence from below were strongly discouraged. ‘The front we must watch today,’ he warned the Reichsstaathalter in early July 1933, lay ‘outside of Germany’. ‘This front is dangerous,’ Hitler continued, and ‘we must not provoke it unnecessarily.’ ‘To reopen the Jewish question again today,’ he concluded, ‘means stirring up the entire world again.’145 What Hitler did not yet know was that President Roosevelt was already implacably opposed both to him and to Nazism. In January 1933, between his election and inauguration, Roosevelt remarked privately that Hitler’s rise was ‘a portent of evil’ not merely for Europe but also for the United States. Hitler, he predicted, ‘would in the end challenge us because his black sorcery appealed to the worst in men; it supported their hates and ridiculed their tolerances; and it could not exist permanently in the world with a system whose reliance on reason and justice was fundamental’.146
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The ‘Elevation’ of the German People

On the domestic front, Hitler’s position grew ever more secure. Germany was now a one-party state. ‘We are in the middle of the slow completion of the total state,’ Hitler told his Reichsstatthalter in early July 1933. The task ahead, he announced, was to create a ‘legal basis’ for this ‘total National Socialist state’.1 A week later, the NSDAP was declared to be the only political party in the Reich. A series of measures designed to ensure the penetration of the state by the party followed in the second half of the year; these were largely unsuccessful, leaving unfinished business to the very end of the Reich. In late September 1933, Hitler announced his intention ‘to bring the National Socialist party gradually into the federal authority’.2 Rudolf Hess, the deputy Führer of the NSDAP, began to play an ever greater role in the meetings of the Reich cabinet and in government more generally.3 In December 1933, this tendency found expression in the ‘Law to Secure the Unity of Party and State’, whose very name seemed to embody the symbiosis between the two.

Despite these steps, Hitler believed that the Nazification of the state was not the solution. He wanted to maintain the effectiveness of the administration and economy, and to prevent interference by party-appointed incompetents. He therefore spent much of the summer and autumn of 1933 telling the party leadership to ease off on the enforcement of Nazism at the local level if this cut across economic productivity and the smooth functioning of the state. When asked by Hess whether the entire ‘state apparatus’ should be staffed exclusively by party members, he replied simply ‘that that was not necessary’.4 Underlying Hitler’s scepticism about the value of Nazification by party-book was a much broader crisis of identity in the movement throughout the spring and summer of 1933.5 Until then the NSDAP, though large, had been smaller than the SPD. It was in Hitler’s mind an elite group, tested through adversity, and therefore entitled to a leadership role in the Third Reich.

With the takeover of power, however, and especially after the March 1933 Reichstag elections, the NSDAP was flooded with membership applications by careerists, sarcastically known as ‘March victims’, although the largest number of entrants were actually registered in May.6 Hitler feared the ‘embourgeoisement’ of the party and its dilution by ‘opportunists’. He had, in fact, anticipated this problem in Mein Kampf, where he distinguished between revolutionary ‘members’ and more passive ‘supporters’; he had even envisaged an immediate ban on new members after the seizure of power.7 There was also the question of what the future role of the general party organization should be now that power had been attained. Surely not governance, as this was now in the hands of the Nazis running the state, or individual Nazi executive institutions. Surely not propaganda, as this was the domain of Goebbels and his Propaganda Ministry. On 1 May 1933, the party announced that it would accept no further applications until 1937. The contradiction, though, was plain. How could one demand the penetration of the party into all walks of life and government while at the same time closing the lists to new members?

Hitler resolved this tension through a deep programme of domestic transformation in Germany. There was no point in ‘coordinating’ everything, he explained, somewhat tactlessly given that he was speaking to the imperial commissars, if one did not have the ‘right man’ to execute it.8 At one level, Hitler was merely stressing the importance of finding the most qualified candidate for a post, rather than simply appointing a Nazi time-server. At another level, however, Hitler was making a much broader point about the supposed need to transform German society in a more fundamental way. He wanted not simply outward conformity, but inner acceptance and reproduction of the new order, and for that greater ‘racial’ coherence was necessary. This is what Hitler meant when he told an audience of SA men in Kiel in the early summer of 1933 that ‘we must continue the struggle for the soul of the German person’.9 Germans, he was suggesting, would need to learn what the Anglo-Americans had long since mastered, which was the achievement of national cohesion not through threats or bribes, but through instinct.

Here, Hitler believed that he had a mountain to climb. The sense of German fragility and racial weakness, which had stalked his writings and speeches throughout the 1920s, continued to haunt him after 1933. Hitler’s view of the German people as it actually existed was deeply unflattering. He was deeply conscious of their poverty and ignorance. Hitler despaired of the low civilizational level of the average ‘unwashed’ recruit in his remarks to the Reichswehr leadership. ‘It is a fact that racially lower-ranking people have to be forced into culture,’ he remarked, and the filth of many German recruits reflected the fact that they were more likely to sympathize with equally degraded foreigners than with their own fellow countrymen.10 Moreover, far from being racially pure, Hitler told an audience of major industrialists in the autumn of 1933, the German people were ‘a combined nation, which is made up of many different groups and parts’ and contained ‘many people’ who were completely ‘unsuited’ for a higher culture.11 Hitler’s attitude towards the Germans was affectionate to be sure, but also highly condescending. Racially fragmented, liable to be easily manipulated by the Jews and foreign propaganda, and vulnerable to the blandishments of American popular culture, his German Volk left a lot to be desired.

One way of creating the desired ‘racial state’12 was to eliminate the negative. Here, Hitler’s main target was German Jewry, agents in his mind of foreign subversion and internal racial decomposition. Their systematic exclusion began with the ‘Law for the Restoration of the Professional Civil Service’ in early April 1933, and other measures followed. There were many agencies and individuals at work here, of course, but Hitler was in control at all times, either driving the process forward or refusing to be bounced into ‘premature’ action by over-zealous bureaucrats or party leaders.13 The war on the Jews proceeded slowly, partly because, as we have seen, Hitler did not want to alienate the outside world unnecessarily, and partly because of the intricate definitional issues involved. Removing ‘full’ Jews was one thing, but what about the so-called half and quarter Jews? Hitler was reluctant to condemn the hundreds of thousands of people involved out of hand, because by his reckoning so much ‘valuable’ blood was mixed in with what he thought of as the dross. Even on his own terms, of course, Hitler’s laws were riddled with contradictions, because while he would come to define a ‘Jew’ as someone with two ‘Jewish’ grandparents, this ‘scientific’ assessment was based on the religious affiliation of the ancestors concerned and not their supposed ‘racial’ category, which would have been impossible to establish anyway.

Interestingly, there was at this point little sense of enmity towards Slavs, as such. They had not featured much in his thinking during the 1920s, and Slavophobia played no role in Hitler’s policies in the first years after 1933.14 Partly, no doubt, this was due to diplomatic sensitivities with regard to Poland, but the main reasons were ideological. Hitler had targeted Russia for expansion, not because the Slavs were inferior but because Jewry and Bolshevism had in his view rendered the state defenceless, an alleged fate which he feared would also befall Germany. Moreover, Hitler was well aware that the German Volk included many people of Polish or Czech origin. In both domestic politics and foreign policy, in fact, Hitler was much less anti-Polish than the German conservative mainstream.

The other important front in the campaign to eliminate ‘unworthy’ strands in the German national body politic was the attack on the disabled and those suffering from hereditary illnesses.15 Unlike the Jews, Hitler did not see them as foreign agents, but just as a drain on state resources and a threat to the physical and mental health of the German people. In mid July 1933, Hitler rushed through a ‘Law for the Prevention of Hereditarily Diseased Offspring’.16 This permitted the compulsory medical sterilization of those suffering from ‘hereditary’ physical or mental disabilities which might be passed on to their progeny, including blindness, deafness, schizophrenia, manic depression and physical deformities. Its purpose, he explained to the cabinet, was to ensure that ‘hereditarily ill people’ did not ‘reproduce in large numbers’ while ‘millions of healthy children remained unborn’.17 Hitler took a close interest in the execution of these measures. When told of the number of deaths during sterilization operations, he suggested radiotherapy instead.18 Hitler’s motivation in all this was not just antipathy towards the disabled, but a concern to preserve the able-bodied. The purpose of his war on the ‘weak’ was to make Germany fit for war against the ‘strong’.

In all this, Hitler drew on many traditions within existing German eugenics, but he was particularly impressed by the American model. His inspiration was not so much the American South, but the ‘miscegenation’ and eugenics laws across the entire Union.19 The US Eugenic News remarked that ‘to one versed in the history of eugenic sterilization in America, the text of the German statute reads almost like the American model sterilization law’.20 One of Hitler’s authorities was Leon Whitney, whose book The Case for Sterilization he specifically requested. His main inspiration, however, remained Madison Grant, author of The Passing of the Great Race, who was unpopular among Nazis generally because of his sceptical view of Germans, but to whom Hitler wrote that he considered that work ‘his Bible’.21 One area where Hitler did not seek to emulate the United States was smoking, which formed such an important part of the American Dream. He refused to allow it in his presence, not even by his closest political associates, or by Eva Braun. In time, Nazi scientists conducted research into the harmful effects of tobacco, banned smoking in offices and waiting rooms (though with little success) and introduced non-smoking carriages on trains.22

The removal of supposedly harmful elements, however, was not enough for Hitler. If Germany was to have any chance of prevailing against the racially superior Angloworld, Hitler would have to accentuate the allegedly positive in German society. There would have to be a general civilizational and racial ‘elevation’ (Hebung) of the Germans in order to distil their better elements into what he regarded as ‘racial’ purity. Reversing centuries of demographic drain overseas, and confronting the cultural and socio-economic lure of the New World, the Reich would have to articulate an attractive and viable vision for German racial renewal.

Central to Hitler’s project of racial distillation and elevation were ‘standards of living’. This was partly because he feared, as he warned the Reichswehr leadership, that a ‘low standard of living’ would render Germans vulnerable to ‘Bolshevism’,23 but the main reason was that he was explicitly competing with the west, and the ‘American way of life’ in particular. The battle for the soul of the German working class was primarily fought not against the Soviet Union, but against the United States. Hitler did not share the widespread German cultural snobbery about civilization, consumption and technology. In his mind, prosperity and technological progress both reflected and increased ‘racial’ value, just as a low standard of living both accelerated racial degeneration and was the product of it. The domestic focus of the regime, therefore, was not propaganda, but consumption.24

For this reason, Hitler threw his personal prestige behind increasing German car ownership. Early on in his chancellorship, he introduced tax relief for new vehicles.25 In the spring of 1934 he instructed the bureaucracy to look into the production of an affordable ‘people’s car’.26 In a series of speeches to representatives of the German automobile industry, he praised the ‘psychological liberation’ which came with car ownership, and looked forward to a time when what had been ‘a luxury’ became ‘common property’. He lamented the fact that ‘whereas there were about 23 million cars in circulation in America, with another 3 to 4 million being produced every year, Weimar Germany had managed to put only about 450,000 on the roads and had produced about a tenth of that number in recent years. This was despite the fact that Germany had just over half the population of the United States. ‘The Ford car’, he continued, was the vehicle through which ‘millions’ or at least ‘hundreds of thousands’ could achieve the ‘elevation of their standard of living’. He therefore called upon German industry to bring ‘purchasing price and maintenance costs’ of this car into ‘a sustainable relationship to the income of the broad mass of the people’, as was already the case in the United States.27 Interestingly, Hitler did not show the same enthusiasm for lorries as a means of moving goods, putting more faith in the railways.28 The automobile was primarily an object of consumption rather than propulsion.

Next to the automobile, the aeroplane was central to the Nazi project of modernity. Here, too, Germany had to play catch-up. The British and Americans were well ahead not merely in military and naval but also in civil aviation. Hitler pushed strongly for the increased use of air travel, expressing the view that ‘in a few years nobody would even consider undertaking travel of more than 500 kilometres in anything other than an aeroplane’. He put the construction of a huge airport at the centre of his plans for the reconstruction of Berlin, arguing that it was the modern equivalent to the King of Prussia’s creation of the Unter den Linden. ‘The airport of Tempelhof’, Hitler insisted, must become ‘the largest and most beautiful civilian airport of the world’. ‘Nothing,’ Hitler admonished the planners, ‘could ever make the same impression as when a foreigner arrived at the still-to-be-built southern railway station or at the airport Tempelhof’ and saw facilities which ‘silenced any criticism’ through their ‘beauty and size’.29 In other words, don’t tell, show. Positively or negatively, the United States remained a major point of reference in Hitler’s plans.

Another area in which Hitler sought to compete with Anglo-America was in the provision of wireless sets. In 1933, Germany had only 4.3 million licensed radio receivers out of a population of 66 million inhabitants,30 a much lower proportion than either the United States or Britain. In order to redress this imbalance, Goebbels corralled some twenty-eight different companies to mass-produce an affordable radio. The resulting ‘people’s receiver’ was presented to the German ‘Radio Fair’ in Berlin in August 1933; 100,000 sets were placed on the market for 76 Reichsmark each. The associated poster proclaimed that ‘all Germany hears the Führer’, but that was a wild exaggeration. In fact, no more about 25 per cent of Germans would have the necessary radio set to do so (assuming they wanted to). The ‘people’s receiver’ was not part of some closed totalitarian information circle. It had not one but many channels – that was the whole point – and foreign broadcasts could be heard without interference, at least until the outbreak of war.31 It was thus an instrument primarily not of propaganda, but of consumption.32 Of course, consumption was also propaganda, a much better advertisement for the Third Reich than speeches or declarations.

Nor did Hitler overlook the importance of leisure, the enjoyment of which he regarded as central to his ‘standard of living project’ and thus to Germany’s supposed ‘racial’ wellbeing. In the 1920s, he had praised the way in which North Americans communed with nature, driving out from the cities into the countryside. The Nazi ‘Strength through Joy’ movement was given the task of organizing leisure activities for the masses, and opening the mountains, lakes and beaches of Germany to a much broader range of social groups than previously; Jews, of course, were excluded. Here again, the United States was at least the implicit model.33 Hitler had himself photographed with three young children, of suitably ‘Nordic’ appearance, against a mountain holiday backdrop. Within a few years, the regime was offering package tours, mostly to enormous purpose-built resorts on the Baltic Sea, but also, for the lucky few, beyond the Reich to Norway and the Mediterranean. One of the purposes of the ‘Strength through Joy’ movement was specifically to offer an alternative to ‘American’ models of leisure.34

The role envisaged for women in this modernization programme was decidedly limited.35 ‘The words women’s emancipation,’ he told a meeting of the NS-Frauenschaft, were ‘only words invented by the Jewish intellect.’ Hitler contrasted the ‘world of the man’, which was characterized by ‘the state’, ‘struggle’ and ‘commitment to the community’, with the ‘smaller world’ of the woman, made up of ‘husband, family, her children and her house’.36 Generally speaking, Hitler was opposed to working women, unless they were secretaries or domestics. He had a particular horror of women in politics, and paid little attention to the Reichsfrauenführerin Gertrud Scholz-Klink. He was not keen on women in the professions either.37 He made an exception for ‘creatives’, however. Gerdy Troost, the wife of the architect Paul Troost, was given numerous contracts to remodel Hitler’s personal spaces. He also sponsored the work of Leni Riefenstahl. Likewise Hitler accepted the role of women in the performing arts, be it the managerial role of Winifred Wagner at Bayreuth, or the actresses in the cinema or on stage.38 He was also an admirer of the Czech film star Anny Ondra, wife of the boxer Max Schmeling.

In Hitler’s world, the cooperation of women was essential for the running of the larger whole. His concern was mainly demographic. ‘Every child [the German woman] brings into the world,’ he announced, ‘is a battle which she endures’ for the survival of her people.39 Natalist policies were thus at the centre of Hitler’s ‘positive’ eugenics after 1933. Germans were encouraged to found families.40 The Reinhardt programmes offered loans to freshly married couples to pay for furniture and other household items. A quarter of the principal would be remitted at the birth of each child. These loans were only available to previously working women.41 The Nazis also considerably upgraded the importance of ‘Mother’s Day’ and introduced a decoration which was punched with Hitler’s signature and awarded to mothers at different levels depending on the number of children of ‘German blood’ they had borne.42 These policies were accompanied by coercive measures to promote more ‘healthy’ births.43 Abortion was banned. Divorce was made easier in order to encourage remarriage and more births. Homosexuality was already illegal, but the Nazis discouraged it still further by tightening the legal definition of homosexual acts. Tens of thousands of transgressors were sent to state prisons. Taken together, these measures had some effect. Within six years, the number of births had jumped back to the level of 1924, the vast majority of them in wedlock. This increase reflected not greater fecundity, but the younger age of marriage; few couples actually took advantage of the financial inducements to establish larger families.44

The German people were not merely to be improved socio-economically, they were also to be physically and spiritually uplifted through education, sport and art. In late March 1933, Hitler called for the ‘political detoxification’ and ‘moral renovation of the body politic of the people’. ‘The entire education system, theatre, film, literature, press, [and] radio,’ he continued, ‘are all means to this end’ and were designed to ‘preserve the eternal values’ of the German people.45 For this reason, Hitler put particular emphasis on education. He sponsored a variety of elite schools, such as the ‘National Political Institutes of Education’ (NAPOLAs), and the Adolf-Hitler Schulen. His model here was the British public schools, whose mix of physical and mental toughening he hoped to surpass. ‘On the one side, Eton College,’ he wrote later, ‘and on our side the Adolf-Hitler Schools or the NAPOLAs.’ There were ‘two worlds’, Hitler continued, ‘in the one case children of the people, in the other case only the sons of this money aristocracy, these financial magnates’.46 Throughout the Third Reich, in fact, the British public school system served as an inspiration for Nazi education policy. Exchanges were encouraged and a delegation from Eton was invited to visit.47

Though he had a horror of physical exercise himself, Hitler was keen that German youth should spend much of its leisure time on sporting activities. His enthusiasm for sport was driven by two factors. First, he saw an opportunity for the Third Reich to shine internationally in the light of its sporting achievements. When Max Schmeling knocked out the American Steve Hamas in a widely publicized bout in Hamburg, and celebrated by giving the Hitler-salute to the audience, the Führer was ecstatic. Nowadays, we are accustomed to see leaders identifying with major sporting figures, but at that time Hitler, like Mussolini, was something of a pioneer. More importantly, Hitler saw sport as part of the general racial toughening of German youth, necessitated by the supposedly lamentable current condition of the Volk. In contrast to the ‘beer philistines’ of the past, ‘the German boy of the future must be slim and lissom, as fast as a greyhound, as tough as leather, and as hard as Krupp steel’. To be ‘tough’ was the highest accolade Hitler could award, and it was often used in connection with British tenacity. ‘We must,’ Hitler continued, ‘raise a new person so that our people does not decay.’48

If Hitler saw German youth as ‘Sparta’s children’, he did not neglect Athens.49 To be sure, he had very little interest in literature. Hitler read no novels or poems, and the Goethe Museum in Weimar tried in vain to get him to visit; when in the city he went to Nietzsche’s house instead.50 Just the same, he gave a subsidy which made the museum possible. Hitler defended humanistic education against demands for a more technical training. This was not least because he wished to associate present-day Germans with the cultural achievements of antiquity, rather than the primitive Germanic tribes of the same period.51 Hitler had no time for Himmler’s enthusiasm in this connection. Instead, he insisted on connecting his Kampf with that linking ‘Greekness and Germanness’ across the millennia.52

Hitler’s interest in art and artists was not mere surface glamour, or personal indulgence; it was a central plank in his project of ‘racial’ elevation. In September 1933, he established the Reichskulturkammer to coordinate and superintend artistic production. In his first keynote speech on culture, given that year – which he repeated over and over on subsequent occasions – Hitler stressed that the artistic ‘disposition’ was part of the supposed racial ‘inheritance’.53 Discerning and enjoying ‘true art’, Hitler believed, assisted the programme of racial ‘sifting’ or filtering. ‘It is the task of art,’ Hitler remarked during the debate on the enabling law, ‘to express a particular spirit of the age’, so that ‘blood and race will once more become the inspiration of artistic intuition’. Art should turn away from ‘cosmopolitan contemplativeness’ towards celebrating ‘heroism’.54 One of the main vehicles of racial improvement here was the appreciation of architecture, which he believed expressed the ‘racial core’ of the ‘body politic of the people’.55

The other medium Hitler relied on most here was music, especially the works of Richard Wagner, whose idea of an artistic Gesamtkunstwerk – embracing the aural, the spiritual and the intellectual – had particular appeal. Hitler appeared as guest of honour at the commemoration at the Leipzig Gewandhaus to mark the fiftieth anniversary of the composer’s death. By August 1933, he had seen Die Meistersinger von Nürnberg no fewer than 135 times. Contrary to widespread belief, and despite the various ways in which his works might be interpreted, Hitler did not use Wagner to promote anti-Semitism,56 but rather as a source of inspiration and edification for the German people.57 Fourteen months or so after the seizure of power, Hitler used the occasion of the laying of the foundation of the Richard Wagner monument in Leipzig to praise the composer as a man who ‘embodied the best of our people’, and called for ‘coming generations of our people to be drawn into the magic world of this powerful sound poet’.58

Hitler sought to bring Wagner to the masses and thereby to uplift them.59 He took his time, however, about reaching out to the obvious partner, the Wagner Festival at Bayreuth, run by his friend Winifred. This was a potential minefield at many levels. An international event attended by many foreign Jews and at which German Jews performed as a matter of course, the festival could not be Aryanized overnight without throwing the organization into confusion and creating a public éclat. Besides, Hitler wanted to bring Wagner to the people, not entomb him in a purpose-built shrine. He pointedly refused, for example, to give Bayreuth a monopoly on Wagner or to suppress the rival performances at the Munich Prinzregententheater. Despite many hints, he never acceded to Winifred’s demand that Parsifal only be performed at Bayreuth. Prominent foreigners were already beginning to boycott the festival. Arturo Toscanini, perhaps the most eminent of all living conductors, who had performed to general acclaim at the 1930 and 1931 festivals, refused Winifred’s invitation for 1933, citing political reasons; his was the first name on a New York petition expressing solidarity with German Jews. In early April 1933, Winifred and her daughter Friedelind were invited for lunch at the Chancellery. She asked Hitler to appeal to Toscanini, which he did, but – embarrassingly – without success. Hitler was furious. To rub it in, the Italian went to the rival festival at Salzburg instead.

Then Hitler went to ground as far as Bayreuth was concerned. He ignored Winifred’s birthday present of tickets in late April. The festival spent most of the spring and summer of 1933 in crisis, as international interest, especially in the United States, slumped, and with it ticket sales. Hitler stepped in only at the last moment, in late June 1933 to guarantee tickets and thus the continuation of the festival. Hitler allowed Winifred to keep Jewish performers for the 1933 festival, and kept on some Jews at the Berlin Staatsoper because they would be needed at Bayreuth; the rest were sacked. At almost the last minute, Hitler announced his intention to attend in person, and was welcomed with great fanfare. The character of the whole festival now changed radically. Instead of being an exclusive international gathering of Wagner connoisseurs, Bayreuth increasingly became a socially more accessible and ideologically more conformist instrument of the Nazi regime. It also became a signature event in Hitler’s own political calendar, conveniently timed before the annual party congress in nearby Nuremberg. For now, however, Hitler was still anxious not to give more offence to foreign guests than absolutely necessary. He forbade, for example, the singing of the ‘Horst Wessel Lied’ and even of the national anthem within the festival building, though the ubiquitous swastikas surrounding the precincts must have told their own story.60

The Führer also hoped that art would help to overcome the persisting regional divisions in Germany. Though administratively rigorously centralized through the establishment of various imperial ‘chambers’,61 it was rhetorically regionalized. In his speech announcing the creation of a Haus der Kunst, Hitler distinguished between the legitimate ‘distinctiveness of the German lands’, the ‘variety of our inner life’ and the allegedly pernicious ‘spirit of division’ which threatened ‘the unity of the nation’. ‘If Berlin is the capital of the Reich,’ he continued, ‘Hamburg and Bremen the capitals of German shipping, Leipzig and Cologne the capitals of German commerce, Essen and Chemnitz the capitals of German industry, then Munich should once again become the capital of German art.’ ‘May this city,’ he continued, ‘reflect back on its real mission’, which was to be ‘the site of the elevated and the beautiful’.62 This, then, was the role which Hitler envisaged for Munich, not just political ‘capital of the movement’, an accolade granted at the city’s own request some way into the Third Reich,63 but the artistic capital of Germany. ‘The capital of art and of our movement is Munich and will stay Munich,’64 Hitler announced at the laying of the foundations of the Haus der Deutschen Kunst in mid October 1933.

Hitler’s artistic tastes were conservative, but not in any meaningful sense of the word kitschy. Some senior Nazi figures, in particular Goebbels, admired modernists such as Emil Nolde, Edvard Munch and Ernst Barlach, all of whom were initially considered part of new ‘Germanic’ art. Hitler had no interest in them. He preferred Böcklin, Makart, Feuerbach and Spitzweg, all painters still highly regarded today. His artistic sensibility was recognized even by connoisseurs.65

If Hitler laid particular stress on high culture, he did not neglect popular entertainment. He was quick to recognize both the opportunities and the threat of cinema and popular music.66 Hitler did not ban Hollywood or foreign productions as such,67 and western films formed a major part, sometimes the largest part, of the cinematic offering in the first years of the Third Reich.68 Many Hollywood studio bosses – some of them Jewish – tried to protect their profits by avoiding offending Hitler.69 The Führer himself was an avid consumer of American films, including a few banned by the regime, such as Mickey Mouse, not least because there were not enough German productions to satisfy his demand.70 The new German cinema thus did not replace Hollywood, but coexisted and competed with it. Most home-grown productions were pure entertainment, but in so far as they contained a political message, this was primarily directed not against Bolshevism, but against the idea of a better future for Germans across the Atlantic. Der Kaiser von Kalifornien (1936), for example, portrayed the career of the German-born pioneer John Sutter as an example of extreme cultural and economic alienation; unlike most contemporary American westerns, it also portrayed the Red Indians in a favourable light. As for jazz, where Hitler’s objections to ‘Negro music’ were well known, it was widely played and indeed – in the shape of ‘Charlie and his Orchestra’ – later even offered to international audiences by the regime itself.71

That said, Hitler intervened repeatedly in the cinematic field. Sometimes, his motivations were ostensibly aesthetic. On other occasions, the concern was political. When the International Film Congress met in Berlin in 1935, Hitler sent a welcoming message, and gave a private audience to the leaders of the various international delegations. He hoped that the ‘high cultural mission of film’ would help to ‘deepen mutual understanding among nations’. This was code for a demand to avoid the production of any films – such as those supposedly sponsored by Jewry – which tended to complicate Nazi Germany’s relations with the outside world.72

The final and, as it would turn out, most important way in which Hitler sought to raise what he regarded as the racial value of the German people was through agrarian policy. In the short term, he wanted to revive the agricultural sector in Germany, improve rural living standards, and increase the production of foodstuffs for the purposes of national self-sufficiency. This was a critical battlefront for the new government, because, in comparison with Britain and the United States, Germany was still a very rural country; it fact it was distinctly ‘backward’. When Hitler came to power, more than 9 million people, just under 30 per cent of the total workforce, were employed in agriculture. In June 1933, Hitler appointed Walther Darré minister for agriculture and food supply. That autumn of 1933, he and Herbert Backe set up the ‘Imperial Nourishing Estate’, whose immediate task was to set agricultural prices; this meant the end of the free market in that sector.73 Hitler did not, however, want to return Germany to some sort of pre-modern rural arcadia. Rather, he saw agriculture as the key to incubating a new German elite, a ‘new aristocracy from blood and soil’, as Darré put it in his seminal text on the subject. Nazi agrarian policy was specifically intended to supplant the ‘old’ Junker aristocracy, which had supposedly failed Prussia and Germany, and it was designed to be open to every ‘real German’.74 It also sought to rationalize German farming, whether noble or not.

In the autumn of 1933, Hitler introduced the Reichserbhofgesetz (State Hereditary Farm Law). He wanted to prevent, as he told the cabinet, the reduction of the German population to 30–35 million within thirty-five years. Hitler’s reasoning here was that the weakness of the farming sector, which he attributed to the workings of the capitalist system, endangered the food supply and thus the substance of the nation. It was for this reason, he argued, that ‘the whole power of the people lay in the maintenance of a healthy farming class’. One way or the other, Hitler argued, ‘the farmer would have to be lifted out of the free economy’.75 The demographic, political, military and racial purpose of the new law was made clear in the preamble, which committed the Reich to maintain the peasantry as the ‘blood source of the German people’ by preserving the inherited holding through the prevention of fragmentation by inheritance.76

Unlike the previous late nineteenth- and early twentieth-century Prussian agrarian legislation, which had been designed to protect Germans against Slavic subversion, mainly by Poles, the criteria of the Reichserbhofgesetz were racial, rather than national. Those specifically excluded from ‘the capacity to become farmers’ were Jews and Africans. By contrast, the law placed peoples of ‘tribally related blood’ on the same level as non-Jewish ‘Germans’. The Ministry of the Interior defined these as peoples who ‘had lived in coherent national settlements in Europe some time back in historical time’. Gypsies were explicitly excluded, even if they were sedentary, but the list of acceptable farmers included not only all supposed ‘Aryans’, but also many other ‘races’ such as the Hungarians, Estonians, Finns, Slavs, Danes and Lithuanians.77 If they had German citizenship, they could become or remain farmers. In other words, the potential racial pool comprised virtually the entire European continent. Some of these exemptions may have been driven by diplomatic considerations, but Hitler’s relatively relaxed view of the Slavs, and perhaps also a sense that he would have to make do with the demographic material he had, probably also played a role. This was to have important long-term consequences.

At home, the historical inspiration for the Reichserbhofgesetz was the seventeenth- and eighteenth-century Prussian Bauernschutz, which was designed to protect not so much the peasant as a pool of recruits for the army. Abroad, it was clearly the law of primogeniture as practised by the British aristocracy, according to which the entire estate passed to the eldest surviving son by entail, while his younger brothers were forced to seek productive employment in the army, the law, the church and even commerce. So long as the supply of land remained the same, the effect of the Reichserbhofgesetz, and also its intent, was to reduce the rural population, and to increase agricultural productivity.

In the longer term, of course, Hitler planned to expand the supply of land. He envisaged putting Germany’s food supply on a secure basis beyond the threat of war and blockade. Hitler also looked to the capture of new territories to sustain a vibrant class of racially sound soldier farmers and colonists which would gradually elevate the rest of the German people from the current trough. Like the modern United States, which had moved from a (perhaps mythical) Jeffersonian system of rural smallholders to large-scale farming with machinery, Hitler wanted to transition from an economically unsustainable, and in his view racially pernicious, system of intensive cultivation of smaller holdings to more extensive farming on a large scale. Like the United States, he sought to increase his population through the encouragement of valuable elements and the elevation of those not completely beyond the pale. The difference, in geopolitical terms, was that while generations of Americans were urged to ‘go west’, Hitler told the Germans – as he had done ever since the mid 1920s – to ‘look east’.

This was what we might call Hitler’s ‘German Dream’, a vision competing with, but also in some ways inspired by, the ‘American Dream’. Here ‘living standards’ not only mattered as much as ‘living space’, but were interdependent in ways pioneered by the United States. In Hitler’s view, Germany needed space to realize its full racial potential, but it also needed racial strength to secure space. Given that Germany was short of space to start with, this placed a particular premium on increased racial cohesion at home. This deadly dialectic of space and race was to drive policy and politics throughout the Third Reich.

In economic terms, Nazism ‘worked’, or perhaps Hitler was simply lucky. His programme drew substantially on existing plans and budgets from the late Weimar period. He also seems to have benefited from a ‘natural’ cyclical upturn. Whether the work-creation schemes actually made any difference is unclear.78 Most of the money set aside for them had not been spent by the end of 1933. One way or the other, it seemed as if Hitler’s insistence that the key to prosperity was politics rather than economics had been vindicated. Business confidence eventually recovered. Within a year, German unemployment had fallen by more than a third; six months later it was 60 per cent lower than at the start of Hitler’s chancellorship. Even allowing for statistical sleights of hand, it was an impressive achievement, and, as Hitler himself was quick to point out, a better performance than FDR had managed in the United States.79 Whether or not the Führer deserved the credit, he reaped the political benefits.

Luckily for Hitler, the spectre of German emigration receded after 1933. To be sure, there was a dramatic outflow of Germans opposed to Nazism, about 360,000 people by the end of the decade (not counting Austrians), but these were elements the Führer was glad to be rid of, even if he maintained a watchful eye on the activities of émigré circles. Unlike the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, however, there were few purely economic emigrants, probably because the United States was still in the throes of a Depression from which Nazi Germany was beginning to emerge.

In the autumn of 1933, about nine months into his chancellorship, Hitler made a ‘State of the Reich’ speech to the Imperial Commission behind closed doors. It was revealing both of what Hitler thought he had accomplished, and of his sense of what remained to do. On 20 September 1933, Hitler summoned the ‘General Council of the Economy’, which included figures from leading German business such as Siemens, Thyssen and Krupp. He began by emphasizing the importance of ‘will’ and ‘willpower’ in restoring hope and life where previous governments had given up. Hitler admitted that there had been ‘mistakes’ but made the Tolstoyan observation that ‘the greatest and most successful war, which appears to world history as a single grandiose event, was actually ‘the sum of all decisions taken, a mixture of right and wrong ones’. ‘Usually,’ Hitler continued, picking up an argument he had made during January 1933, victory went to those ‘who had merely made the fewest mistakes’. If this period would ‘certainly later appear as a period of storm and stress’,80 Hitler concluded, its results had still been overwhelmingly positive. Here Hitler was historicizing his first months, indicating that the domestic turbulences of the seizure of power were not only inevitable and excusable, but now a thing of the past.

It was the future, however, with which Hitler was primarily concerned. He repeated his old dictum that ‘the political deed’ was anterior to economic activity.81 He now called upon industry to maintain the momentum, to create employment and encourage consumption and investment. The key to this was confidence, which is why Hitler, either consciously or unconsciously, resorted to FDR’s rhetoric in his first inaugural speech that the ‘only thing’ Americans had to fear ‘was fear itself’. Germans, he explained, were in a perpetual state of ‘fear’: the fear that the ‘neighbours’ would consider expenditure profligate, fear of political instability and fear of taxation. Hitler wanted to ‘exterminate’ this ‘complex of fears’. ‘Only when people regain a certain joy of living,’ he argued, ‘will they gradually ensure that money circulates again.’ The key, he explained, was to ensure ‘that everybody did not want to limit themselves, but that everybody wanted to better themselves’. ‘One must construct a ladder,’ he continued, ‘which everybody can somehow climb up.’

The role of the state in all this, according to Hitler, was to give the ‘patient’ enough ‘injections’ to revive him. ‘One must,’ he explained, ‘wind up the economy so far that there is a general undertow which then carries along others as well.’ Hitler put his faith in two stimuli. The first was, as we have seen, public works, especially ‘giant road construction projects’. The second was in the field of ‘house repairs’, with the purpose of ‘tempting a much larger sum out of hiding through the investment of a comparatively small amount and thus making it productive’. This was what we would today call the ‘multiplier effect’.82 ‘Somebody must begin with [repairing] the first window pane,’ Hitler demanded, the rest would follow. He was articulating, so to speak, a ‘broken windows’ theory of economic recovery.

Behind the Führer’s bravura, however, lay ill-concealed anxiety. He worried about the return of mass unemployment, especially in the winter. ‘We naturally have only one concern this winter,’ he announced, which was to ensure that ‘the number of unemployed must not rise under any circumstances’.83 Hitler was also anxious about the relationship between the army, which was his preferred vehicle for German rearmament, and the SA, which hoped to play that role itself. He worried about the interference of the party in the state and economy. Above all, Hitler feared the hostility of the outside world, which had been put on its guard, as he saw it, by Germany’s domestic resurgence and rearmament. He warned that ‘the whole world currently stands together against us’. This was dangerous, Hitler explained, because it would take another three to four years before the Reich could offer any effective defence. There was thus a ‘perilous interval’ before Germany was ready to bestride the European stage again. Finally Hitler worried about the Jews, because they were ‘often very influential abroad’.84

On the domestic front, Hitler responded with the ‘Winter Relief Project’, which was designed to create a sense of national solidarity to get Germans through the physically and psychologically difficult winter months. He also called upon party leaders ‘to completely reduce the revolutionary manifestations’. ‘There is no more National Socialist goal in Germany,’ Hitler declared, and stressed that ‘gradual evolution was the precondition for the economic revival which Germany desperately needs’. In case anybody hadn’t got the message, Hitler laid down that ‘direct interventions by the imperial commissars into the administration must cease’, especially ‘in judicial matters’. (They didn’t, of course.) On military questions, he signalled that ‘the Wehrmacht was the sole bearer of arms in Germany’, and that ‘he did not at all intend to establish a second army in Germany beside it’.85 For now, Hitler could not go much further, partly because he wanted to avoid confrontation with Röhm and partly because, despite public denials, he was dependent on cooperation between the SA and the Reichswehr to defend Saxony, Silesia and East Prussia against Czech or Polish attack, and the Rhineland and Palatinate against the French.86

In this context, Hitler stressed the importance of ‘camouflaging’ rearmament by disciplining the home front. ‘All agencies in the Reich,’ Hitler ordained, should exercise ‘the greatest care’ and ‘press reports on German rearmaments should be avoided on principle’. The press should also stop ‘constantly publishing pictures of the SA’, as their paramilitary bearing tended to excite suspicion.87 Hitler even opposed a relaxation of domestic gun law, on the grounds that it was ‘currently undesirable for foreign-political reasons’, because it would give ammunition to the claims of outside powers that Germany was secretly rearming. As for the Jews, he claimed that he would have preferred a ‘gradual intensification’ of measures but had been forced by the ‘Jewish-inspired boycott’ to undertake immediate harsh reprisals. That said, Hitler did not want his enemies to be ‘given any sort of propaganda material against Germany’. He gave an example of an incident in Nuremberg in which a non-Jewish German girl had had her pigtails cut off because of a relationship with a Jew. ‘This event,’ Hitler lamented, ‘found its way into the entire foreign press.’88 In short, Germany would have to tread softly on the ‘Jewish’ front for the moment.

Despite these concerns, Hitler now made another dramatic move. In October 1933, he took Germany out of both the Geneva Disarmament Conference and the League of Nations itself. In the preceding cabinet meeting, he dismissed the danger of ‘sanctions’ by saying that it was just a question of ‘holding one’s nerve’.89 The move was flanked by gestures to the other malcontents of the international system. Hitler expressed willingness to receive the Soviet ambassador.90 The following month, he sent Göring to Italy in order to secure a first personal meeting between himself and the Duce. To be on the safe side, Hitler warned party leaders to avoid provoking the French, especially in the Rhineland, so as not to give them a pretext for military intervention.91 As Hitler predicted, the League and the western powers responded only with bluster. A few days after the announcement, a relieved Hitler noted that ‘the critical moment has passed’.92 Not for the first or the last time, Hitler had called the bluff of the international community.

Rather than push his luck further, the Führer drew back from the brink and tried to prevent the powers from combining against him. He signalled his desire for an understanding with Britain through the colonial issue. He knew well, of course, how central the Empire was to British power and he was also conscious of how the French had brought their subject races to bear on European battlefields in the past, both subjects which he had rehearsed many times before, and reprised from to time after he took power. ‘According to remarks of the French minister for war,’ he reminded his listeners in March 1933, ‘a large part of the coloured French forces can immediately be used on the French mainland.’93 For this reason, the Führer continued, one should include them among the forces to be discussed at the Geneva rearmament conference. In his various interviews with the British press in 1933, he laid claim to colonies himself, but left open where these were to be found, denied that he would ever go to war for them and generally emphasized his desire not to antagonize Britain on this account.94 In truth, Hitler remained focused on the east.

Nearer to home, Hitler sought to prise open the Franco-Polish ring of encirclement. In November–December 1933, in the face of considerable resistance from the German Foreign Office, Hitler instructed his diplomats to reach agreement with Warsaw.95 On 26 January 1934, the German-Polish Declaration was signed. It was a major achievement.96 This rapprochement was not merely a temporary, insincere expedient. It formed part of Hitler’s long-term plan to co-opt the Poles for a junior partnership against the Soviet Union. ‘The German-Polish policy,’ he told Rosenberg shortly afterwards, ‘should not end after ten years, but should continue.’97 Over the next four years or so, relations with Warsaw were generally excellent. Senior Nazis such as Göring and Goebbels visited. Hitler repeatedly expressed his admiration for General Piłsudski, and deeply regretted his death; in private conversation, he spoke of the Poles as the best soldiers in the world, next to the British and Germans.98 Hitler not only provided money for a German-Polish Institute in Berlin but specifically laid down that the Battle of the Annaberg, an iconic event when German Freikorps had worsted Polish ‘bandits’ in 1921, should not be commemorated.99 So close was the relationship, that Nazis in the German minority in Poland, such as Gauleiter Forster of Danzig, complained that they were being marginalized.100

Hitler was by no means out of the woods, either at home or abroad. The French remained hostile. Louis Barthou, who was appointed foreign minister in early February 1934, was well aware of Hitler’s plans. He had read Mein Kampf in German. Barthou was the driving force behind a Franco-British-Italian warning to Hitler in mid February 1934 not to interfere in Austria. He also sought a rapprochement with Russia, as well as trying to breathe new life into the ‘Little Entente’ of Czechoslovakia, Romania and Yugoslavia. Hitler now feared an understanding between Austria, France and perhaps Italy at his expense. ‘The Führer asked me,’ Rosenberg noted in his diary in mid May 1934, ‘how I imagined that the French could be held in check throughout the autumn.’101 Most importantly, Barthou had the support of the British, who were increasingly on their guard against Hitler. His decision to leave the League of Nations precipitated the first serious thinking in London about a new continental military commitment. The permanent under-secretary in the Foreign Office, Vansittart, was already speaking of ‘Germany as the eventual enemy’.102 The ring of encirclement Hitler had broken up through his Polish gambit was being restored in different form. A fresh effort would be required to escape international isolation.

Throughout the first half of 1934, therefore, Hitler made renewed attempts to win over the Angloworld. In early April, he gave an interview to Louis Lochner designed, as the Völkischer Beobachter put it, ‘to make the personality of Adolf Hitler more accessible to the American people’.103 There, Hitler announced that he was a fan of personal diplomacy and wanted to conduct face-to-face negotiations with all the main world leaders, including President Roosevelt. On 2 May 1934, he met with James D. Mooney, head of General Motors, which was the owner of the major German car manufacturer Opel. His agenda was partly to promote the production of automobiles, and partly to impress his visitor with the political dynamism of the Third Reich.104 Perhaps more significant was Hitler’s meeting with the press baron William Randolph Hearst, which took place at the Führer’s request in the summer of 1934. When Hitler challenged him as to why he was so ‘misrepresented, so misunderstood’ in North America, Hearst not only responded that his compatriots ‘believe in democracy and are averse to dictatorship’, but also referred pointedly to the ‘very large and influential and respected element in the United States who are very resentful of the treatment of their fellows in Germany’.105 This, of course, could only reinforce the fateful connection in Hitler’s mind, between American power and world ‘Jewry’.

In diplomatic terms, the key was London, in what Rosenberg, after one of his many consultations with Hitler on this matter, called ‘the struggle for Britain’. Hitler told Rosenberg in early May 1934 that next to the ‘implementation of our ideology’, his most important concern was ‘the struggle for Britain’. Adding to Hitler’s frustration were his terrible relations with the British ambassador in Berlin, Phipps, and his unhappiness with the German ambassador to London, Hösch, whom he – rightly – suspected of being hostile to the Third Reich. He now began to ruminate about a suitable replacement. Despite many other preoccupations, Hitler obsessed about the British, who remained a ‘dangerous enemy’ in the light of his own experiences in the First World War. ‘The “battle for Britain”,’ Rosenberg noted later that summer, ‘continues constantly.’106
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Guns and Butter

Despite all his successes, Hitler was still not completely in the clear domestically. Germany had survived the winter of 1933–4 without too much hardship, but although unemployment continued to fall, the economy was in dire straits. The huge rearmament and infrastructural contracts kept industry so busy that it was failing to export, thus reducing the vital flow of foreign currency necessary to purchase scarce raw materials. Hitler warned in late March 1934 that it was now a matter of ‘preventing a catastrophe’.1 ‘Every shell needs a copper ring,’ Hitler pointed out, adding that ‘we have no copper in Germany’. Everybody, he declared, should understand what that meant. Hitler also feared a ‘bank catastrophe’ sparked off by defaulting loans to department store owners. The finance minister, Kurt Schmitt, pleaded that military expenditure be reduced. The Reichsbank president, Hjalmar Schacht, told Hitler at a meeting on the Obersalzberg that rearmament trumped all other considerations, and declared the increased army budget viable on that basis.2 By the summer of 1934, however, the distortions caused by massive armaments spending and the raw materials crisis showed no signs of abating. Hitler demanded that the German economy develop locally sourced or produced alternatives, be they synthetic oil and rubber, artificial fibres for clothing or soy beans. ‘If necessary,’ he said, the Reich should support these endeavours ‘financially’.3

There was also a tension in Nazi economics between spending, which was needed to fuel the recovery, and saving, which was required to fund rearmament; the maintenance of ‘living standards’ in the here and now clashed with the capture of ‘living space’ in the future. Hitler encouraged Germans to save, as an antidote to ‘liberal finance capital’, as a patriotic duty, and in order to fund houses, travel and cars.4 Most of the money thus ‘lent’ to the Reich was invested in weaponry. Hitler, to borrow the language of the time, gave Germans ‘guns not butter’; not jam today, but war tomorrow. There was no contradiction in Hitler’s mind, though, because he believed the American example showed that the seizure of ‘living space’ was vital to the provision of ‘living standards’.

In the sphere of high politics, Hitler faced two challenges. First, the antagonism between the SA and the Reichswehr remained unresolved and was rapidly turning into a battle of wills between Hitler and Röhm. In late February 1934, Hitler issued his ‘Guidelines for Cooperation with the SA’. These gave Blomberg ‘sole responsibility’ for the ‘defence of the Reich’, and thus control of ‘mobilization’ and the conduct of operations in wartime. The SA was given the task of ‘pre-military training’ after the ‘toughening-up’ of German youth, and ‘the training of all those who have not been drafted to serve in the Wehrmacht’. Hitler justified these functions with reference to strategic necessity and military reality. He expected ‘economic turbulence’ in about eight years. This, he explained, could only be avoided ‘if one found living space’ for Germany’s ‘excess population’. This might require ‘short decisive blows towards the west and then the east’, for which the SA was not suitable.5 The dispute with Röhm was also symptomatic of a much broader divide. Whereas the brownshirts wanted to take Germany further to the ‘left’ and spoke openly of the need for a ‘Second Revolution’, Hitler sought a period of domestic calm in order to grow the economy and rearm.

Secondly, there was a growing threat on the ‘right’, from ‘reactionary’ elements around Vice-Chancellor Papen and his associates, who aimed to win Hindenburg back to their side and restore the shackles on Hitler in the cabinet. They were suspected of enjoying covert support in Dollfuss’s Austria and even Mussolini’s Italy. In June 1934, the SA absorbed the Stahlhelm, increasing its numbers and equipment. That same month, Papen gave a much-discussed speech at Marburg University critical of Nazi terror measures, which also hinted at the restoration of the monarchy in Germany. Some of his collaborators, such as Edgar Jung, even had Habsburgist sympathies. Hitler was aware of these conservative conspiracies in broad outline.6 Tensions mounted still further as the Führer became convinced, or affected to be, that Röhm was plotting not only with retired General von Schleicher,7 but also with foreign powers,8 to effect his removal. One way or the other, the challenges from right and left, at home and abroad, were becoming increasingly fused in Hitler’s mind.

To make matters worse for him, Hitler’s plans for a Reichsreform were beginning to run into trouble.9 In late January 1934, he promulgated the ‘Law on the Reconstruction of the Reich’. Hitler defined its aim as ‘a unified Reich with a unified administration’, which was to establish a ‘structure’ which would enable the German people to deploy its immense strength. Its ‘clarity’ would compensate for the ‘inadequacy of the individual’.10 The ‘prerogatives’ of the Länder were transferred to the Reich, and the state governments were directly subordinated to that of the Reich. The old Weimar Reichsrat, long defunct, was finally abolished on 14 February 1933. In practice, however, the Nazis were replicating many of the old features of German particularism, just as Hitler had feared. This was most pronounced, as one might expect, in Bavaria, where the local Nazi leadership began conspiring to subvert the authority of the Reich not long after the abolition of federalism. Throughout the Third Reich, German particularism remained alive and kicking in the form of the regional party structures.11

In the summer of 1934, Hitler struck at home and abroad. He travelled to Venice in mid June for his first meeting with Mussolini.12 This was a big moment for Hitler, long awaited since 1922, and he had tears in his eyes when they shook hands. The meeting began badly, because the Führer’s unprepossessing dark suit, black shoes, soft hat and lightly coloured coat contrasted with the Duce’s bombastic uniform. They soon got down to business, however, especially when the two dictators went for a two-hour walk in the park on their own, without a translator. Nobody knows exactly what was said on that occasion, or whether the Duce, whose German was enthusiastic but far from perfect, and the Führer might have misunderstood each other. Hitler, at any rate, emerged from the meeting genuinely under the impression that Mussolini had agreed to the removal of Dollfuss, the installation of a new chancellor and NSDAP participation in a new Austrian government.13 On the strength of these apparent commitments, Hitler decided to move against Austria. Whether he conceived the putsch or approved one that was already in preparation is not clear. Either way, the two moves, against Röhm and Dollfuss, were, one must assume, part of an integrated strategy.

Hitler first dealt with his domestic enemies. On 27 June 1934, Blomberg and Reichenau persuaded him that the SA was planning a coup against the army, and probably also against the regime.14 They promised to hold the ring while the SS moved against Röhm.15 Hitler was also told by Röhm’s deputy, Viktor Lutze, that there was something afoot.16 When Göring’s ‘Research Institute’ (Forschungsamt) – which conducted surveillance of domestic and foreign targets – reported that intercepts suggested Röhm was about to move, Hitler suddenly jumped from his chair. ‘I have enough,’ he announced. ‘I am going to make an example.’17 Hitler flew to Munich and then motored down to Bad Wiessee to confront Röhm. Pistol in hand, he supervised the arrest of the SA chief in person, running back up several flights of stairs when it appeared that their quarries might offer resistance. It was by any standards an extraordinary scene, in which Hitler behaved in ways more typical of a pre-1914 Balkan conspirator or Al Capone of Chicago than the leader of a major European power. Shortly after, Röhm was done to death in custody, protesting his innocence to the end. Elsewhere in Germany, the SS, the Gestapo, the police, and in places even the army, disarmed the brownshirts and incarcerated many of their leaders. Several dozen other SA leaders were also gunned down or summarily executed, as was Gregor Strasser.

Simultaneously, Hitler also decapitated the ‘right’. Even before moving against Röhm, Hitler had ordered the arrest of Papen’s associate Dr Edgar Jung, the author of the Marburg speech, who was subsequently murdered.18 The former Generalstaatskommissar, Gustav von Kahr, Hitler’s betrayer in 1923, was killed along with a number of other Bavarian conservatives, including Hitler’s bête noire, Otto Ballerstedt.19 The motive here was partly revenge, but partly also to crush any remaining separatist tendencies. Two of Hitler’s military opponents, retired General von Schleicher and his associate Ferdinand von Bredow, were murdered. So were several other figures close to Vice-Chancellor Papen, including his main strategist, Herbert von Bose, and the Catholic politician Erich Klausener, who had contributed to the Marburg speech. Papen himself escaped elimination, but his future was now very uncertain. What stayed Hitler’s hand was the desire not to cloud his relationship with the ailing Hindenburg. ‘The Führer does not want to undertake anything yet against the reactionaries,’ Rosenberg wrote in his diary, ‘his consideration for Hindenburg is almost touching.’20 The events of the Röhm putsch were typical of Hitler. He had put off the showdown with Röhm as long as possible, and prepared the ground carefully. He then acted ruthlessly, crushing two serious challenges to his authority in one stroke.

Despite the presentational difficulties involved, the regime made no attempt to hide Hitler’s central role in the death of his former comrades. ‘The Führer personally led the action,’ one official report announced, ‘and did not hesitate for a moment to confront the mutineers in person and to call them to account.’ ‘The behaviour of the Führer during this nocturnal flight into the unknown was one of the utmost determination,’ it continued, adding that ‘Röhm was personally arrested in his bedroom by the Führer’.21 In his justificatory speech to the Reichstag a fortnight after the events, the Führer did not mince his words. Not only had he ‘given the order to shoot dead those principally guilty of treason’, but he also instructed his men to crush any further resistance with violence.22 Hitler stressed that he had pre-empted an SA ‘night of the long knives’,23 a phrase which has since lived on in the literature, albeit as a description of his own actions and not those of Röhm.

On the other hand, Hitler was under no illusions about how badly the murders had gone down at home and abroad; US Ambassador Dodd, a Southerner whose relations with Hitler were steadily deteriorating, boycotted his apologia to the Reichstag.24 Hitler therefore made considerable efforts in press communiqués and declarations and in the privacy of the cabinet to blacken the reputation of Röhm and his circle, by emphasizing their well-known homosexual tendencies and their – greatly exaggerated – connections to foreign powers.25 He stressed that he had acted in order to ‘cauterize the festering sores of our domestic poisoned wells and the poisoning by outside powers’.26 The Führer also made a hysterical speech to a closed session of party leaders shortly after the murders at which he threatened to shoot himself if the various pillars of the Reich could not act in a unified manner.27 He then reached out to the foreign press, especially in America, to push his version of events. A week after Röhm’s killing, Hitler gave an interview to the New York Herald which began with a robust defence of his actions.28

The cornerstone of Hitler’s apologia, however, was his contention that the elimination of the SA restored domestic stability to the Reich after a period of cleansing but turbulent upheaval. ‘Revolution,’ he told the Reichstag in mid July 1934, ‘is not a permanent condition for us.’ Slow, evolutionary change was now the order of the day. Later that autumn, Hitler promised that ‘there will not be another revolution in Germany for a thousand years’. ‘The National Socialist revolution is completed,’ he announced, adding that ‘it has achieved what could be expected of it as a revolution’.29 Whether Hitler was consciously echoing Napoleon’s similar pronouncement when he came to power is not known, but it is clear that Hitler was seeking to reassure the German people that he had completed the Nazi revolution and in doing so ended it.

The Führer now turned to deal with the nearest external enemy, namely Dollfuss. He spent much of early July 1934 preoccupied with Austria and seems to have superintended the planned operation in some detail.30 It seems that a group of Austrian SS members managed to convince Hitler that they could stage a putsch with the assistance of parts of the military and the police. In the middle of the month, Hitler met with Theodor Habicht and the other conspirators in Munich, presumably to concert the final measures. As in 1923, the plan was to seize and impose one’s will on the political leadership. Hitler then headed for Bayreuth. It was the first festival that he had fundamentally shaped and he marked its importance by staying a full week. Jews were now banned from performing, and those associated with Bayreuth emigrated to the United States. That did not prevent Hitler from consorting openly with individual Jews, such as Alice Strauss, the Jewish daughter-in-law of the composer Richard Strauss. Artistically, the central focus of the festival was a new production of Parsifal, with sets designed by Alfred Roller, which the Führer funded. To show his reverence, the Führer attended in full evening dress, not just in dinner jacket. The production was condemned by traditionalists as ‘the de-Christianization of the most Christian of all dramatic works’,31 which was exactly what Hitler had intended. Not for him the preservation of a masterpiece in aspic; to Hitler art was a living, breathing organism, subject to constant change.

In the late afternoon of 25 July 1934, Hitler was called to the phone. The news from Vienna was catastrophic. The cabinet meeting, during which the conspirators had hoped to capture the whole government, had been postponed by a day, and when the Nazis took over the Chancellery, most ministers had managed to escape. Showing a characteristic mixture of brutality and incompetence, the conspirators had so badly wounded Dollfuss during his arrest, probably unintentionally, that the chancellor had bled to death in custody. Hitler still ordered the Austrian SA to stage an uprising in the countryside. They made little headway in the capital, rather more in parts of the countryside, especially Styria. Most police and army units resisted fiercely. Soon, the surviving putschists were pinned against the Yugoslav border. There was no chance of securing even the minimal aims of a Nazi role in government. To make matters worse, Mussolini responded by sending troops to the Brenner Pass, warning Berlin not to intervene. Powerless to affect the outcome, and fearful of giving France the excuse to launch a preventive war, Hitler backed down. Even at the height of his humiliation, however, Hitler exerted control, vowing to avoid ‘a second Sarajevo’,32 meaning a general conflagration sparked by a minor event. He would make war on his terms, and not be bounced into it.

Mussolini’s reaction baffled Hitler, as he believed that the move against Dollfuss had been agreed at Venice. ‘I don’t understand that,’ he remarked to Fritz Wiedemann. ‘I filled him in on all the details of our Austrian policy in Venice.’33 It also infuriated him, and sent German-Italian relations into a long decline. There was now no question of a return visit by Mussolini to Germany in the autumn. Instead, Hitler looked to the Balkans. ‘I debated for a long time with the Führer,’ Goebbels recorded in late July 1934. ‘He has finally broken with Rome’ and ‘will seek closer relations with Yugoslavia’.34 The economic relationship, which was already close thanks to the 1 May 1934 German-Yugoslav trade treaty, deepened further, though Hitler took little political interest in the region.35

The failure of the coup left Hitler with a dim view of the local Nazis, and perhaps of the Austrians in general, whom he regarded with a mixture of affection and exasperation. He no longer relied on the Austrian party, which was in any case banned. ‘Habicht is finally finished with Hitler,’ Goebbels noted. Hitler told Reichenau that he intended ‘to liquidate the National Socialist policy towards Austria’, and ‘to disband the Austrian Legion’ which would be turned into a ‘purely humanitarian organization’ to look after Austrian refugees.36 At least nominally, the Legion became the ‘Hilfswerk Nordwest’ and was employed for public works. To ease the financial burden of maintaining a paramilitary force almost 10,000 strong, its members were increasingly integrated into the growing German economy. Hitler sent Papen to Vienna, partly to get him out of Berlin and partly in order to mend fences with the Austrian regime, at least for the time being.37 Still, German pressure on Austria, which had started in 1933 with the ‘1,000 mark prohibition’, a levy on Germans travelling to Austria in order to hit Austria’s tourism, and similar measures, continued for a while. It was only in July 1936 that Papen managed to negotiate a gentlemen’s agreement in which Hitler recognized the ‘complete sovereignty of the federal state of Austria’, promised better cultural relations and left Vienna free to deal with the Austrian Nazis as an internal matter, all in return for an amnesty for party members not accused of the most serious crimes. That said, Austria continued to be a concern after the failed putsch, not least because of continued rumours of a Habsburg restoration.38

If Hitler had suffered a severe diplomatic setback, he continued to tighten his grip on Germany itself. First, after the events of 30 June 1934, the SS increasingly replaced the SA as the most important military party institution. On 20 July 1934, specifically citing the ‘great achievements of the SS especially in connection with the events of 30 June 1934’, Hitler elevated the Reichsführer SS to a position comparable to that of the chief of staff of the SA, that is, immediately responsible to Hitler.39 In theory, this put Himmler on the same level as Röhm’s replacement, Viktor Lutze. In practice, the events of 30 June, and Himmler’s own relentless empire-building, meant that the SS took on a far more dominant role in the Third Reich.

Secondly, the elimination of the Papen wing of the conservative opposition left Hitler free to capitalize on the illness of Hindenburg, who finally died in early August 1934. There was now nobody else left to claim his legacy, or to take up his suggestion in a last posthumously sent letter to Hitler that he should restore the monarchy. Even before the field marshal had breathed his last, Hitler presented the cabinet with the draft of a ‘Law on the Head of State of the German Reich’, which simply amalgamated the office and powers of the presidency with those Hitler already possessed as ‘Führer and chancellor’ after Hindenburg’s death.40 He then organized a referendum to demonstrate, as he put it, the ‘unshakeable unity’ of the German people to the outside world and especially to ‘a particular international conspiracy [the Jews]’.41 Having long acted on the basis of presidential power, Hitler had now finally captured the presidency itself. The officials of the Imperial Chancellery swore an oath to Hitler.42 Seeing the writing on the wall, the Reichswehr leadership, at the initiative of Blomberg and Reichenau, suggested that the army swear its own personal oath of allegiance to the Führer.43

All this was accompanied by the consolidation of Hitler’s authority within German society. Central to this was the ‘Führer’ myth, the charismatic hold which Hitler had long enjoyed over his followers, and now extended over much of the population.44 It was expressed every day in the form of the greeting ‘Heil Hitler’ in conversation or written communications. Hitler gave careful thought to the management of this cult of personality. He let it be known that ‘the German greeting “Heil Hitler” should become the credal greeting of the Germans among themselves’. Hitler also suggested that ‘in social written communications “Heil Hitler” should in principle by used in closing, without, however, completely excluding an alternative valediction’.45 He left it ‘to the tactfulness of the individual’ to decide when the use of his name at the end of his letter was appropriate or not, and stressed that there should be ‘no reproach’ against those who abstained from doing so for good reason. Hitler’s sense here of what was appropriate and enforceable is palpable. He was also determined to avoid the kind of exaggerated cult of the personality, bordering on deification, which might expose him to ridicule. When Hitler got wind of the fact that the non-Christian faith group ‘German Faith Movement’ was propagating the idea of a ‘divinely gifted’ and ‘divinely sent’ Führer, he insisted that this article of their creed be deleted.46

Not everything went Hitler’s way. Many Germans remained immune to his appeal, even if very few resisted actively. In the plebiscite called on 19 August 1934 to approve his absorption of the presidency, which was hardly a free and fair vote, just over 10 per cent of those who turned out refused to do so. This was twice as many as had voted ‘no’ in the November 1933 referendum on leaving the League, and together with the greatly increased number of non-voters and spoiled ballots suggested unease either with the events of 30 June or perhaps with Nazi rule generally. There was no disguising the setback. The photograph of a consternated Hitler, Goebbels and other Nazis leaders receiving the results tells its own story.47 Towards the end of the month, the Führer vented his frustration in a speech at the Ehrenbreitstein fortress near Koblenz, vowing that he was ‘convinced’ that he would convert the ‘tenth man’, that is, the 10 per cent who had voted against him in the plebiscite.48 Clearly, he had some way to go before German national unity was complete.

In terms of high politics, though, the Führer’s authority was now more or less absolute. ‘Now the Führer is the sole master in Germany,’ Rosenberg recorded in his diary, so that ‘all preconditions for a National Socialist state are finally in place’.49 The Reichstag was completely compliant,50 serving primarily as an acclamatory forum at which Hitler announced major policies or – later – issued declarations of war. Government departments did Hitler’s bidding,51 and were increasingly imbued with National Socialist spirit by Hess in the Party Chancellery, which had secured the right to be consulted on all government legislation by July 1934, and eventually also control over the appointment of senior officials.52

Where the state administration failed to deliver, Hitler ordered or encouraged the establishment of alternative structures. ‘Wherever the formal bureaucracy of the state proves itself unfitted to solve a problem,’ Hitler vowed, ‘there the German nation will bring into play its own more living organisation in order to clear the way for the realisation of its vital necessities … Whatever can be solved by the state will be solved through the state, but any problem which the state through its essential character is unable to solve will be solved by means of the movement.’53 Contrary to his recent announcement that the revolution was over, Hitler repeatedly urged party leaders in private not to rest on their laurels but to show greater activism.54 ‘The conquest of power,’ he remarked, ‘is a process that will never ever be finished.’55

The political consequences of all this were twofold. First, there was the emergence of a ‘court’ around Hitler.56 This was partly a social phenomenon, and the Führer proved adept at managing it,57 but its most important manifestation lay in the exercise of authority. Every political system, even western democracies, generates some sort of antechamber of power, but the greater the authority vested in the leader, the more important that space will be. Access to Hitler brought power, or at least the appearance of it. Like Charlemagne, who progressed from one imperial palace to another, when Hitler moved between the Chancellery in Berlin, his Munich flat, the Bayreuth Festival, his retreat at Berchtesgaden and later between military headquarters, the seat of power and much of his entourage went with him. On the Obersalzberg, in particular, Hitler held court as a monarch would at his summer residence. A whole ersatz Imperial Chancellery was established in a neighbouring village so that government could continue to function.

The most striking sign of the new politics was Hitler’s preoccupation with his mortality, and thus with the question of the succession. In the absence of democratic procedures this would have to be regulated in advance in order to avoid chaos. Hitler therefore decreed in early December 1934 that Hermann Göring should succeed him as ‘Führer und Reichskanzler’. The government, the Wehrmacht, the SA and the SS were all instructed to swear an oath of allegiance to his successor personally. Hitler also laid down that in the event of his absence or incapacity, his functions should be exercised by a triumvirate, with Göring taking on the leadership of the state, Blomberg of military matters, and Hess those pertaining to the party.58 The distinction between the two arrangements seems to reflect a reserve on Hitler’s part about empowering any one potential rival while he was still alive.

There were still important restraints on Hitler’s power. Some of these were voluntary. Unlike Stalin’s Russia, the Third Reich was not, or at least not yet, a totalitarian state. Hitler was convinced that mere outward conformity without inner conviction was worthless, because it would crumble under challenge. For that reason, Hitler never tired of exhorting and persuading Germans, and – in his own way – consulting them at various levels. Rather than abandoning referenda after the fiasco of August 1934, he continued holding them until the late 1930s. The cabinet functioned normally for another few years, despite the removal of Papen and the weakening of the conservative faction there. Most importantly of all, Hitler did not avoid collective meetings with his Gauleiter and Reichsstatthalter. On the contrary, these remained an important forum for the discussion and announcement of policy – and not merely its acclamation – throughout the Third Reich.59

The other limits to Hitler’s authority were structural. For all the partial identity of aims, important constituencies within key institutions, such as the Foreign Office and the army, remained profoundly hostile – to him personally, and to National Socialism generally. The same was true of the churches. Some resistance from the ‘Confessing Church’ aside, the Protestant confessions posed relatively few problems. Though born a Catholic, Hitler was politically more comfortable with Lutheranism and Calvinism, because they were largely national in structure and focus. German Protestants were also generally more at ease with him, though the overtly Nazi Deutsche Christen were still a minority. Relations with the Catholic Church were much more fraught, despite the Concordat. Hitler remained deeply suspicious of the hold which the Catholicism maintained over millions of Germans and he profoundly feared its international reach. ‘The Catholic Church,’ he warned a meeting of Reichsstatthalter in early November 1934, had ‘always been an enemy of a strong state power’.60 From the mid 1930s onwards, in fact, this ‘black’ threat loomed much larger in his imagination than the ‘red’ menace from Social Democracy and German communists. Hitler was determined to take on the church at some future point, but for now he bided his time. He gave the order that there should be ‘no creation of unnecessary new areas of conflict with the churches’.61

In early February 1934, Hitler introduced a highly symbolic new pan-German citizenship law, which removed the need for a qualifying state citizenship, which was abolished; Hitler had experienced the rigours of the old system at first hand in the 1920s. Seven months later he merged the interior ministries of the Reich and its largest state, Prussia. His much heralded ‘imperial reform’, however, made little headway. In late 1934 and early 1935, Frick announced his intention to divide Germany into some twenty Reichsgaue, with about a million inhabitants each, whose boundaries were to be determined by economic and strategic factors.62 Hitler’s attempt to introduce some demographic and geographic rationality into the historically developed hodge-podge of German Länder foundered in the face of the determination of local actors, most of them Nazis, to preserve their power and identity. Hitler managed only to achieve the amalgamation of the two Mecklenburgs, a meagre outcome for all the effort invested. In the face of this controversy, Hitler twice forbade public discussion of changes and eventually backed off.63

In day-to-day matters, Hitler’s bêtes noires, the bureaucrats, continued to drag their feet on everything, not only because they wanted to, but because they couldn’t help it. ‘The Führer is now very angry with the ministerial bureaucracy,’ Rosenberg noted in mid July 1934, and had announced that ‘I will teach these gentlemen the right pace’.64 Five months later, he erupted at a meeting of Reichsstatthalter, expressing the view that ‘even today the state has tens of thousands of bureaucrats’, some of whom were ‘secret’ and others of whom were ‘lethargic’ enemies of the movement. ‘Years will pass,’ he continued, ‘until these enemies are removed.’65 Such explosions were to remain routine until the end of the Third Reich. Hitler’s frustration was not confined to the state administration but also extended to the many party bureaucracies set up after 1933. For example, when Hitler passed on a petition from four Hamburg workers to Hess’s office, which in turn entrusted the matter to a local agency, the matter seems to have been lost in the system for four months.66 ‘It is an outrageous waste of the authority of the Führer,’ Wiedemann thundered after repeated failed attempts to gain clarity, ‘if assignments issued in his name are ignored.’67 The result of all this was an impenetrable administrative thicket.

These problems were greatly aggravated by endemic personal rivalries and high political manoeuvring. Throughout the twelve years of the Third Reich, Gauleiter, ministers, Reichsstatthalter, the SA and the SS faced off against each other in a series of arguments without end, just as the Nazi leaders had battled each other incessantly before 1933. Göring continued to fight Goebbels; Feder battled Schacht over the economy; the Reichsstatthalter of Braunschweig und Anhalt, Wilhelm Loeper, tangled with the Anhaltine Staatsminister Alfred Freyberg; and the interior minister, Wilhelm Frick, the Reichsstatthalter of Bavaria, Franz Xaver Ritter von Epp, and the Bavarian chief minister, Ludwig Siebert, fought a three-way battle in the best traditions of German particularism. All these, and many other, differences landed on Hitler’s desk for adjudication,68 with each side claiming that the other was subverting ‘the will of the Führer’. In a particularly heated exchange, Walther Darré ‘literally’ told Hitler’s personal adjutant over the phone that his letters were ‘an arse-wipe’ and that he ‘should kiss my arse’.69 Sometimes, the rows took place in the Führer’s presence such as that between the Nuremberg chief of police, Freiherr von Malsen-Ponickau, and Gauleiter Julius Streicher of Franconia, which exploded in front of Hitler just before the 1933 party congress.70 In short, far from pulling together to transform the Third Reich and prepare for the next war, authorities and personalities competed for everything: for Hitler’s favour, his attention, for status, power and, as rearmament took off, resources.

There is little evidence that Hitler encouraged these rivalries as a way of enhancing his own position. It is true that Meissner, who served as head of Hitler’s Presidential Chancellery after Hindenburg’s death, recalls his ‘tendency to assign several associates the same task simultaneously’, which he partly attributed to his ‘keen mistrust and the principle of “divide and rule”’. While this may have been the result of his actions and his personality, Hitler himself never articulated any such theory. Instead, as Meissner also records, Hitler ‘often expressed the view’ that ‘such a parallel entrustment of many with the same task’ helped to forestall ‘passivity’ among individuals, and to ‘motivate’ them to greater achievement. Besides, the resulting ‘competition’ led him to be ‘better informed about what was going on’.71 In other words, the Führer sought the ‘survival of the fittest’ in a kind of bureaucratic Darwinism, rather than paralysis through perpetual strife. Hitler wanted to shake up the system, not to seize it up through the creation of a ‘polycratic chaos’.

In fact, the interminable personal struggles which plagued the Nazi system even more than they do most polities wearied and infuriated Hitler. ‘In the National Socialist state,’ Hitler decreed, ‘only one person is ever responsible for something.’72 He also preferred party leaders to resolve their own disputes wherever possible instead of constantly seeking his mediation. His main concern, as he put it on one occasion, was ‘to avoid that everyone came running to him when there were differences of opinion’.73 This is evident from his handling of a clash between Rosenberg and Rust. ‘When the Führer heard that we were in agreement,’ Rosenberg recorded, ‘he laughed happily,’ adding that ‘he did not want to hear any more’ and would bless anything they agreed.74 The squabbles in Munich – ‘the confused governing situation of the Bavarian government’, as he put it to Lammers75 – reduced the Führer to despair. To be sure, Hitler wanted to be consulted about and to pronounce on major matters of policy, but he had no desire to superintend everything. He was not what one would today call a ‘control freak’.

That said, Hitler had only himself to blame for the way in which matters great and small landed at his door. It was a product not merely of the fact that he was the font of all authority, but also of his tendency to make decisions on the hoof. Hitler would promise one thing on one occasion, and the contrary on another occasion, either changing his mind or forgetting what he had said in the first place. In some cases, Hitler may have been misunderstood, or have expressed himself so Delphically as to invite misunderstanding. For example, when Christian Weber appealed to him in his struggle with Hermann Göring over the establishment of a hunting museum in Munich, Hitler responded that he had ‘not [emphasis in the original]’ agreed to Weber’s request. Such denials were routine throughout the Third Reich, whether it was his supposed commitment when visiting a coal mine to achieve a ‘just distribution of wages’, his promise to make Julius Lippert mayor of Berlin, or his offer to fund construction work in Breslau in advance of the ‘Festival of the League of German Singers’ and the ‘German Gymnastics Festival’ in that city.76

The nature of the resulting high political culture defies easy characterization. Hitler was beyond doubt its primary motor and focus, but Nazi initiatives did not necessarily originate with him. Where Hitler gave a direct steer, the bureaucracy responded with alacrity, filling out the detail, and providing options for the Führer to choose from. On other occasions, the execution of policy was left to the various institutions. This modus operandi was, in some ways, the Nazi equivalent of the old ‘mission tactics’ in the Prussian army. Hitler set out the ideological parameters within which politics and policy unfolded. Ministers and bureaucrats thus sought to anticipate his will, even before it had been expressed. This tendency was vividly described by Werner Willikens, the state secretary for food, in February 1934, when the Third Reich was just over a year old. ‘Everyone who has the opportunity to observe it,’ he wrote, ‘knows that the Führer can hardly dictate from above everything which he intends to realise sooner or later. On the contrary, up till now everyone with a post in the new Germany has worked best when he has, so to speak, worked towards the Führer.’ Willikens condemned those who ‘simply waited for orders and instructions’. ‘Anyone who makes mistakes,’ he continued, ‘will notice it soon enough.’ ‘But anyone who really works towards the Führer along his lines and towards his goal,’ Willikens concluded, ‘will certainly both now and in the future one day have the finest reward in the form of the sudden legal confirmation of his work.’77

Perhaps the best analogy for Hitler’s style of governance comes from the world of music. If he conceived of his programme as a Wagnerian Gesamtkunstwerk, the execution of it resembled more closely a giant jamming session than a formal symphony. There was no score or individual parts, and no rehearsals, but only an agreed ideological chord progression following the Führer’s lead, characterized by multiple improvisations by party leaders, ministers and bureaucrats. Much of the time no conductor was needed, so that the music did not stop when Hitler was out of the room. Intentionally or not, Hitler had turned the supposed weaknesses of the German people – a Volk (and thus a party) noted for its divisions, divas and primadonnas78 – into strength; he harnessed their creative destructiveness and destructive creativity. This partly explains the ‘cumulative radicalization’ of the regime, as institutions and individuals vied for the Führer’s favour,79 though, of course, Hitler’s radicalism had been there from the start, and at the latest from Mein Kampf, and he did not always choose the most radical option presented to him. It certainly accounts for the stupendous range and quantity of legislation which Hitler managed to produce during his tenure as chancellor, and for the extreme murderousness of the regime during the war.

The regime sought to obscure the many fractures in the German polity through carefully choreographed displays of national unity, in parades and rallies. These took place on many occasions, for example on Hitler’s birthday, but easily the most important was the autumn annual party congress at Nuremberg. In September 1934, no doubt in an attempt to show that the ghosts of the Röhm putsch had been laid to rest, the proceedings involved hundreds of thousands of brownshirts, and Hitler himself appeared in SA uniform. The Reichswehr participated for the first time, partly in order to demonstrate its commitment to the new state and partly to impress outside observers with the military vitality of the new state. Hitler was ubiquitous throughout, or at least appeared to be.80 Leni Riefenstahl filmed the whole event, and Hitler willingly put up with the disruption caused by her 170-odd collaborators, and their accompanying plethora of wires, cranes and cameras. The end product – entitled The Triumph of the Will at Hitler’s suggestion – has entered cinematic legend; a good third of its two hours were devoted solely to the Führer.81

The party congress took place against a background of anxiety about the performance of the economy. This was partly a geographical concern. Some areas had not benefited much from the upswing since 1933. One of these was Hamburg, a city Hitler had always been intensely concerned about; he visited no fewer than twenty-seven times. This was partly because he saw it as the sea gate into the Reich from abroad, especially Anglo-America, and partly because it was the port through which emigrants had left for the United States. In April 1934, in a highly symbolic move, the legendary Ballinstadt – where huge numbers of mainly eastern European, but also German, emigrants, had waited for their passage – was closed. Stopping the export of people was one thing, the reduced exports of goods as a result of the focus on rearmament and the domestic market was another. Hamburg, which had never really recovered from the 1929 slump, languished economically, and this may explain the fact that nearly one-quarter of the city’s electorate voted against Hitler in the August referendum after Hindenburg’s death. This was twice the national average, and by far and away the worst result of any region. Hitler responded with alacrity. He proclaimed the city an ‘emergency area’ in early November 1934, effectively putting it under special measures, banning further inward migration and pushing industrial contracts in its direction.82

The economic position in the Third Reich was aggravated by the fact that while there had been considerable spending on civilian work creation throughout 1933 and much of 1934, the military budget surged ahead by the end of that year. The economy struggled to export enough to maintain the balance of payments for raw material imports, so that military experts warned of dire consequences for rearmament. This led to a raw materials shortage and credit ‘squeeze’.83 In the autumn of 1934, Schacht reacted by announcing his ‘New Plan’, whose very name suggested an affinity with Roosevelt’s ‘New Deal’. Unlike its American counterpart, however, the plan was driven by the need to speed up rearmament by replacing trade with world markets on a purely economic basis with bilateral relationships underpinned by political connections. Some of these were with South American countries, but the closest links were forged in the Balkans. It was to prove a valuable source of raw materials and agricultural products, and a captive market for German manufactured goods.84 These were traded using special ‘clearing’ arrangements that amounted to mass barter on credit. Economic, or rather resource, considerations rather than political influence remained the driving force here.

Hitler also remained anxious about Germany’s strategic position. He was rattled by Stanley Baldwin’s parliamentary speech supporting increased RAF expenditure in the late summer and his remark that Britain’s frontier was ‘on the Rhine’. Hitler told the Reichsstatthalter in early November 1934 that this might not be ‘as critical’ as in May 1933, with the threatened Polish preventive strike, or in the summer of 1934, during the Röhm crisis, but it was still ‘not completely without risk’. It would take about another two years or so to exit the danger zone. ‘From 1936 onwards,’ he opined, ‘it is unlikely that any state will risk an attack on Germany on its own.’ Even then, Germany should concentrate on its domestic transformation. ‘The Reich government has no interest in any kind of armed conflict,’ Hitler stated, because if he were granted ‘another 10–12 years of peace’ then the construction of National Socialism could be completed. A month later, he claimed with satisfaction that ‘the French had now finally missed the opportunity to wage a preventive war’.85 There was, however, still no cause for complacency.

For this reason, Hitler continued to engage with the world outside. In November 1934, Hitler told two visiting French parliamentarians, Robert Monnier and Jean Goy, that Mein Kampf was now obsolete, that he had no territorial claims against France itself, and certainly not to Alsace-Lorraine. On his return, Goy reassured the French press that Hitler gave ‘the impression of being a balanced person’, both ‘intellectually’ and ‘morally’; he pleaded for understanding of the new Germany and the avoidance of a ‘ring of steel’ around it which would perpetuate traditional blocs.86 In December 1934, Hitler agreed to see Lord Allen of Hurtwood, a close associate of the Labour prime minister, Ramsay MacDonald, and Henri Pichot, the head of the French war veterans association.87 The latter – to whom Hitler appeared like a ‘volcano’ and a ‘hurricane’ – was promised that the return of the Saar from League of Nations administration already expected for 1935 would end all territorial disputes with Germany.88 Early the following year, Hitler met with the French automobile producer Louis Renault and promised him too that all territorial disputes had now been laid aside.89 All of these moves were designed to improve the Third Reich’s global image until she was ready to take the fight to the world outside.

In the meantime, Hitler pressed ahead with revising the Versailles settlement bit by bit. His next target was the Saar region. This low-hanging fruit was due to be returned to the Reich in any case, subject to a plebiscite, fifteen years after it was removed in 1920. In early June 1934, the Council of the League of Nations announced that the vote would be held in mid January of the following year. The Saar’s importance was primarily symbolic, but its industrial capacity was also important for rearmament. Hitler saw the vote as a referendum on his regime, not least because German exiles exhorted the electorate of the Saarland to give him a bloody nose with the slogan ‘Beat Hitler on the Saar’. He appointed the local Gauleiter, Josef Bürckel, as ‘general plenipotentiary of the Reich Government for the Saar’. He also reined in the pro-Nazi Protestant Deutsche Christen, whose antics were likely to damage ‘opinion abroad and especially the German chances in the plebiscite on the Saar’.90 In January 1935, the Saar, under the eyes of an international peace force, voted overwhelmingly to return to Germany, an outcome which Nazi propaganda hailed as a thumping endorsement of Hitler and his regime.

Keen to consolidate his hold on the returned province, and anxious to appease Paris, Hitler immediately announced – again – that Germany ‘no longer had any territorial demands against France’, a phrase which referred to French lands such as Alsace-Lorraine. The following day, he repeated the sentiment to an American journalist from the Hearst organization in an interview given on the Obersalzberg. Hitler begged his interlocutor not to be taken in by the contrary assertions of the Jews, to whom he referred using a standard code. ‘I have only one request to make of the American people,’ he said, which was that they should in future ‘not believe a word of the professional international well-poisoners and agitators’ who had emigrated from Germany. The next few weeks and months were thus dominated by the usual eyewash about Hitler’s peaceful intentions. He had already told the Berlin Diplomatic Corps that ‘Germany will always be a guarantor of peace’. ‘If I speak of peace,’ he averred, ‘I am only expressing the deepest wish of the German people.’91

In March 1935, Hitler announced the reintroduction of conscription, in defiance of the provisions of the Versailles Treaty. This was another gamble, because the French and British would have been within their rights to enforce the disarmament clauses. The public reaction was anxious, and many leading Nazis expressed concern behind the scenes. ‘If the French have any élan,’ Rosenberg told Hitler, ‘the bombers should now be zooming off in Paris.’ The Führer replied simply: ‘I think we will get through.’92 Partly, he sought to reduce the risk through bluff: the announcement on conscription was accompanied by the unveiling of the new Luftwaffe, whose actual power lagged far behind the propagandistic presentation. Partly, he relied on the usual spreading of chaff to disorientate the international community. Towards the end of the month, he finally received the British foreign secretary, Sir John Simon, and the lord privy seal, Anthony Eden, with much fanfare. He had delayed their visit until after the reintroduction of conscription had been announced.93 Winifred Wagner was pressed into service to dine with her two countrymen after the negotiations; she spoke so animatedly to Simon that he was unable to eat his meal.94 Hitler also gave conciliatory interviews to the foreign, including the American, press.95 Despite his pledge to brazen things out, Hitler was in fact extremely anxious about the negative reaction to his announcement.96

This time, there was a hefty diplomatic price. Alarmed by Hitler’s latest infringement, Britain, France and Italy combined at Stresa in April 1935 to condemn Nazi Germany. The resulting ‘Stresa Front’ was a major threat to Hitler’s plans. There was also the Franco-Soviet ‘Treaty of Assistance’, which was signed in May 1935, and was entirely directed against Nazi Germany. Hitler welcomed the propagandistic benefits of the antagonism with communism, but the echoes of the pre-1914 Franco-Russian alliance surrounding Germany were worrying. One way or the other, the ring of encirclement which Hitler had so laboriously prised open in 1933–4 was now in danger of closing around Germany again.

All these concerns took a severe toll on Hitler’s private life, especially his relationship with Eva Braun. His interest in her was entirely unpolitical, and, leaving aside her role in the dynamics of Nazi court politics, in which favour and access played an important part, there is no suggestion that she affected his thinking or influenced any particular policy. At first, he saw her regularly in Munich, where she had a flat, and at the Berghof, where she was officially described as Hitler’s private secretary. In the absence of any formal status, Eva was overshadowed by Magda Goebbels, who enjoyed the status of an unofficial ‘First Lady’. To make matters worse, Eva was rejected not only by the Berghof wives, but also by Angela Raubal, Hitler’s housekeeper, and Geli’s mother. As if all this were not bad enough, Eva was upset by the interest Hitler showed in other women, especially unmarried ones like Sigrid von Laffert, a young blonde aristocrat, who was frequently seen at his side in Berlin. To cap it all, the Führer was increasingly absent as he dealt with domestic crises, or sought to find a way out of his international isolation. Eva did not see him at all for the first three months of 1935, as he sought an understanding with Britain. In late April, she lamented to her diary that ‘love does not at the moment seem to be part of his programme’.97 At the end of May 1935, she made another suicide attempt, this time taking an overdose of sleeping tablets.98 Hitler responded by increasing his attentions and banishing Angela Raubal early the next year. Eva was now, at least in her own mind, ‘the lady of the house’ at the Berghof.99

The strain also seems to have affected Hitler’s health. Since the start of 1935, he had been suffering from nightly tinnitus and hoarseness. Hitler, who was inclined to hypochondria, feared the onset of throat cancer. In late May, he was operated on and had a benign vocal chord polyp removed. He slept nearly fourteen hours under anaesthetic, and took a three-month break from public speaking to allow his voice to recover.100

Hitler now sought to break up the Stresa Front. His opening came when Mussolini embarked on a confrontation with Abyssinia, from the neighbouring Italian colony of Eritrea, which finally erupted in full-scale war later in the autumn.101 This pitted Rome against Paris and London. Hitler seized the opportunity not to mend fences with Italy, which was still in bad odour over the Austrian fiasco, but to seek a rapprochement with Britain, his favoured alliance partner and in his mind a kindred power in so many ways. In June 1935, he pulled off a major coup with the Anglo-German Naval Agreement. Operating with an exaggerated sense of German ship construction since 1933, London conceded that Germany could build up to 35 per cent of the British tonnage. This move split the Stresa powers, and tore another brick out of the wall which the Versailles Treaty had built around Germany.102 Its real significance, however, lay in Hitler’s belief that the agreement signalled a partition of spheres between the British Empire, whose continued dominance at sea was now officially recognized by the Reich, and Germany, which would be supreme on the continent.103 Hitler was exultant. ‘The Führer is in good form,’ Goebbels noted, and gave ‘an outline of his foreign political plans’ which involved ‘eternal alliance with Britain’, but ‘expansion towards the east’.104

The Führer also hoped that Winifred Wagner and the Mitford family would serve as a conduit to Britain. Unity owed her middle name – ‘Valkyrie’ – to her grandfather Bertie Redesdale, who had adored Wagner’s music, and known his son Siegfried. Diana Mitford was later married to the British fascist leader, and Hitler enthusiast, Sir Oswald Mosley. The Führer met with Leo Amery, the future British arch anti-appeaser. ‘We got on well together I think,’ Amery recorded in his diary, ‘owing to the fundamental similarity of many of our ideas.’105 Even if the Briton was referring to the economic sphere, it was a tribute to the Führer’s capacity to win over a sceptical interlocutor. Sometime after, Hitler received the press baron Lord Rothermere on the Obersalzberg as if he were ‘a prince’.106

In the summer of 1935, American protestors against Nazi anti-Semitism boarded a German ship in New York and tore down its flag, much to Hitler’s outrage. In late August, Schacht warned – not for the first time – of the economic costs of Hitler’s anti-Semitism. He demanded that the legal position of Jews be regulated once and for all, in order to avoid disruptive popular anti-Semitic excesses. Hitler reacted by issuing a strict instruction that ‘individual actions’ by party members and organizations against the Jews should cease. Violations should be reported to him instantly; transgressors would be treated as ‘provocateurs, rebels and enemies of the state’.107 This ordinance was, however, only a temporary measure until the systematic legal clarification demanded by Schacht had been put in place. Under pressure, Hitler suddenly decided to announce this at the forthcoming annual party rally. At very short notice, the Interior Ministry and its experts were convened in Nuremberg to thrash out a new discriminatory programme against the Jews.108 Hitler reviewed all proposals himself. Then the Reichstag was hastily convened and presented with the resulting ‘Law for the Protection of German Blood and Honour’.

The resulting ‘Nuremberg Laws’, as they became collectively known, represented a substantial radicalization of Jewish policy.109 Marriages between Jews and citizens of ‘German or racially related blood’ were declared illegal. Extramarital sexual relations between the two groups were also banned. Under the Reich Flag Law, Jews were forbidden from raising the imperial and the (black, white and red) national flag and from showing the national colours, and thus effectively extruded from the national community. Infringements were to be punished with heavy prison sentences. The Reich Citizenship Law determined that citizenship was restricted to those ‘of German or racially related blood’ who had ‘shown through their behaviour that they were willing and suited loyally to serve the German people and Reich’. All others were classed as merely ‘belonging to the state’, and thus as second-class citizens. The purpose of these measures, as the preamble laid out, was to restore ‘the purity of blood [as] the precondition for the continued existence of the German people’ and the safeguarding of ‘the German nation for all times’.

Central to the whole project was the definition of who was ‘a Jew’ and who was ‘a German’, and how to categorize the people who were neither clearly one nor the other. The legislation introduced to purge the civil service of Jews in 1933, the ‘Aryan paragraph’, had defined very restrictively all those as ‘non-Aryan’ who had a Jewish parent or grandparent. The Nuremberg Laws, on the face of it, actually eased the situation, by introducing greater latitude and greater precision. They no longer distinguished between so-called Aryans and non-Aryans, but between Germans and ‘related’ people on the one side and various supposed types of Jews on the other. Those with three or more Jewish grandparents were categorized as Jews, pure and simple. Those with two Jewish grandparents were classed as ‘half caste of the first degree’. They were stamped as ‘identifying’ or ‘counting’ as Jews, and treated as full Jews, only if they were or became religiously observant Jews; were married to or subsequently married a Jew; were the product of a marriage with a full Jew contracted after the laws had been announced; or were the product of an extramarital liaison with a Jew.110

Brutal and comprehensive though the legislation was, it did not represent the most radical options on the table at the time.111 Hitler, in fact, did not always opt for the broadest definition of what constituted a Jew, and by introducing an element of voluntarism incentivized behavioural change in what would otherwise have been a supposedly biologically determined hierarchy. So far as the author is aware, Hitler never knowingly compromised on ‘full’ Jews,112 but he showed flexibility on ‘half castes’ and ‘counted Jews’. Moreover, he subsequently approved many exceptions from the application of the rules, something which he alone could do.113 This represented, to be sure, a further arbitrary element in what was already a very arbitrary system. Hitler’s purpose here, though, was not simply the exercise of the Führer’s will for the sake of it, or to make tactical exceptions for personal reasons, though these also took place, especially where artists, or the relatives of ‘high-ups’, were concerned. Rather, whatever his later dismissive comments about ‘half castes’, it seems he was as genuinely concerned to preserve the ‘valuable’ racial elements as he was to eliminate ‘harmful’ ones.

The Führer also adopted a relatively open position on what constituted a German, explicitly placing peoples of ‘racially related blood’ on an equal basis. These were defined as ‘peoples living in defined areas within Europe’ and ‘those of their descendants in non-European parts of the world which had kept themselves racially pure’.114 The reference to overseas populations probably reflected Hitler’s preoccupation with German emigration to the United States and the British Empire, and his respect for supposed American racial value generally. What is striking, though, is the relatively inclusive definition of ‘racially related’, which mirrored that of the State Hereditary Farm Law. It embraced not only the Dutch, Scandinavians and French, but also Poles, Czechs and Russians; there is no trace, as yet, of any anti-Slavic hauteur. The reasons for this flexibility are not hard to divine, as they reflect Hitler’s longstanding anxiety about the quality of the German people. Given the limited racial material available to him, the Führer could not afford to be too choosy. If one tugged too strongly on the various supposed racial skeins in the German Volk, too quickly, its whole fabric would probably unravel.

Hitler showed very little interest in people of colour, because he did not regard them as autonomous agents in the international conspiracy against Germany. To be sure, the American anti-miscegenation laws provided stimulus to Nazi racists. German bureaucrats specifically drew on the United States, rather than their own colonial experience, when putting forward their proposals to discriminate against Jews and people of colour. The American example proved of limited use, however, because Jews were far better integrated into pre-1933 Germany than blacks were in the United States.115 The rigorous application of the American ‘one drop’ rule would have torn German society apart. An ‘Octoroon’ might be beyond the pale on the far side of the Atlantic, but Hitler was not yet ready to write off everybody with seven-eighths of ‘Aryan’ blood. Besides, Hitler had little interest in blacks in general, and none in African-Americans. His admiration for US racism rested on the restrictive immigration laws, which had primarily been directed against eastern European Jews. While blacks and others were often caught in the crossfire, Hitler’s first racial laws were directed only against Jews.116

In October 1935, therefore, Bormann let it be known that ‘the Führer does not wish’ that black people from the former German colonies living in the Reich, ‘most of whom had fought for Germany’, should be hindered in their attempts ‘to find work and bread’, or indeed ‘harassed in any other way’.117 For all the hardship blacks suffered under National Socialism, the contrast with the treatment of the Jews is striking.118 There was never any systematic internment of blacks in Nazi Germany.119 The antithesis to the ‘Aryan’ or ‘German’ body was not the black body, but the ‘Jewish’ body.120 Everyday racism was not the same as a genocidal world view. Hitler seems to have rated Arabs, Persians and Indians more highly, but he also did not take them very seriously, at least for now. His entourage responded to periodic visits from Middle Eastern nationalists with neither sympathy nor hostility, but hilarity.121 One way or the other, for Hitler the great struggle was between Jew and German, and ultimately between Teuton and Anglo-Saxon.

Taken together, therefore, the Nuremberg Laws were both a radicalization and a regularization of Hitler’s racial policy. They were not necessarily conceived as the first step towards an imminent, or even a distant, physical extermination of the Jews through murderous means. Rather, Hitler explicitly stated in his address to an extraordinary meeting of the Reichstag in Nuremberg that the laws were intended to be a final resolution (‘a unique secular solution’) of the racial question.122 This was a gradualist vision, in keeping with the thrust of steps taken since the takeover of power. Towards the end of the year, Hitler explained his position to Justice Minister Gürtner in a meeting to discuss the future of Jews in the professions. When Gürtner offered him a choice between immediately rescinding all licences, doing so piecemeal on a discretionary basis and a ‘solution of the problem through natural means, that is through letting them die out’, the Führer’s response was instructive. When he was informed that the ‘natural’ route would take at most a few decades, he instructed that there should for now be no further measures against Jews working in the free professions.123 Given time, the existing measures would take their course, gradually extruding Jews from national life, while the supposedly positive measures of racial elevation slowly lifted the German people to a higher racial plane.

The new laws not only increased the pressure on Germany’s already hard-pressed Jews, but also created a diplomatic and bureaucratic nightmare as individuals and countries scrambled to establish their racial classification. Egyptians were told that they would be treated ‘not according to their citizenship but according to their race’, and that marriages between non-Jewish Egyptians and Germans would be permitted on the same basis as those between other Europeans and non-Jewish Germans.124 When the Turkish embassy and other interested Turkish parties enquired as to their status, they were reassured that ‘the Turkish people were regarded as a European people in Germany’, and that they would be treated accordingly under the racial laws.125 With respect to Turks, therefore, the Third Reich was somewhat to the left of the German far right today.

More serious was the reaction in Britain and the United States, where the Nuremberg Laws were widely condemned in press and parliament. Hitler’s immediate worry here was that the laws would lead to a boycott of the Olympic Games in Berlin, scheduled for the following year, with the winter games due to start within a few months. Shortly before they were proclaimed, he was told by the visiting former American ambassador Charles H. Sherrill that the anti-Semitism of the regime was seriously damaging its image in the United States. Sherrill obligingly spoke in some detail about the power of American Jews, who numbered some 5 million in total, about half of them in New York, where they made up about a third of the population. Despite being boycotted by many clubs and in society, he continued, their power in the press was considerable. As for politics, Sherrill stressed that there were two Jews in the cabinet: Frances Perkins, minister for labour, and Henry Morgenthau, at the Treasury, and that New York was run by Fiorello La Guardia, described as ‘a Jew’ with a Jewish wife. As a result, Sherrill warned, there was a real danger that Jewish groups would achieve an international boycott of the forthcoming games.126 All this, of course, was grist to Hitler’s mill. It confirmed his longstanding belief of the power of international Jewry in the United States and its malicious intent towards Germany.

On the eve of the start of the Winter Olympics in Garmisch-Partenkirchen in February 1936, Hitler was shocked to hear of the murder of Wilhelm Gustloff, the head of the Swiss branch of the Foreign Section of the NSDAP. He was gunned down in Davos by the Croatian Jewish student David Frankfurter; the event was very widely reported on and discussed in the world media.127 Gustloff had been a tireless promoter of anti-Semitism and Nazi ideology in Switzerland. Hitler saw his assassination as part of a wider Jewish conspiracy against the Reich. His response was superficially ‘measured’ – so as not to overshadow the Olympics – but the message was unmistakable. In his funeral oration at Schwerin, Hitler claimed that world Jewry had now thrown off the mask. He identified the ‘directing hand, which has organized this crime’ and would organize future crimes. ‘This time,’ he continued, ‘the carrier of these deeds has appeared in person for the first time.’ He vowed to pick up the gauntlet. ‘We understand the challenge,’ he said, ‘and we accept it.’128

Things were looking up with regard to Britain. King George V of England died in late January 1936, an event which Hitler registered with interest.129 His successor, Edward VIII, was not only politically engaged but an admirer of Nazi Germany and a fervent anti-Semite. Hitler was well aware of this, and noted with interest reports that the new king disapproved of French attempts to revive the Entente Cordiale against Germany, that he had considerable sympathy for Germany’s situation, and – perhaps most importantly of all – that he disagreed with his father’s view that the monarch should unquestionably accept the decisions of the cabinet.130 Hitler’s hopes of persuading Britain surged once more. In early February 1936, he received the former minister for air, Lord Londonderry.131 ‘How often,’ Hitler remarked to him, ‘did I tell myself as a simple soldier during the world war, when I was deployed opposite the British forces, that it was absolutely insane to fight against these people, who could have been members of our own nation.’ ‘This sort of thing’, he added, ‘must never repeat itself.’132

On mainland Europe, however, the strategic situation of the Reich was deteriorating. Hitler had by now largely accepted that the hoped-for British alliance was beyond his grasp and was coming around to the view that he would have to achieve his aims if not against the British, then without them.133 The Russo-French alliance concluded the previous year was wending its way towards inevitable ratification by the parliament in Paris. Taken together with the Russo-Czech military relationship, this threatened Germany on two sides, causing Hitler to worry, for the first time, about Soviet military power rather than just the generic threat of ‘Bolshevism’. ‘The Führer is seriously wrestling with himself,’ Goebbels noted in his diary, on the very last day of February, because ‘the Russian treaty has been accepted in the chamber [of Deputies] in Paris’ and ‘only’ needed to pass the ‘senate’.134 Hitler wanted to remilitarize the Rhineland in response so as to create a larger buffer against France, and to consolidate his grip on a vital sector of the German rearmament effort.

In the first days of March Hitler steeled himself to act. Once he had taken the decision, Hitler affected resolution. ‘His face radiates calm and determination,’ Goebbels noted, ‘another critical moment has come, but now action must be taken.’ ‘The world belongs to the courageous,’ he continued, ‘those who do not dare anything, do not win anything either’. The following day, Hitler met with Göring, Ribbentrop and the Reichswehr leadership in the Imperial Chancellery. He announced his intention to remilitarize the Rhineland, executing all necessary preparations in complete secrecy. To throw Paris off the scent, Hitler gave a conciliatory interview to the French press. He disregarded all voices counselling caution, especially those from the military.135 On 7 March, the bloodless remilitarization of the Rhineland went ahead, accompanied by a memorandum to the Locarno powers justifying the move as a response to their alleged violations of the pact, a summoning of the Reichstag and the announcement of a general election – in effect a plebiscite – ‘which would give the German people an opportunity to approve his policy and measures’.136 This was coupled to an offer to negotiate a mutually demilitarized zone with France and Belgium, a non-aggression pact with those states, and various other meaningless gambits designed to simulate goodwill.137

The world held its breath and waited to see how the great powers would react to a flagrant breach not only of the Versailles Treaty but also of the Locarno agreements. It soon became clear that Hitler had once again read the position correctly. The Americans were largely unconcerned; the French and British did not move. The British foreign secretary, Anthony Eden, announced that ‘it is the appeasement of Europe as a whole that we have constantly before us’ and therefore called for ‘a calmer and quieter atmosphere’ in which to explore new relationships with Germany. King Edward VIII made no secret of his view that no action should be taken against Germany. Winston Churchill was one of the few to lament the loss of a ‘bulwark’ and warned that Hitler was ‘proceeding night and day and is steadily converting nearly seventy millions of the most efficient race in Europe into one gigantic, hungry war-machine’. Without Britain, France could or would do nothing. ‘Dans le domaine du bluff,’ Gamelin later remarked ruefully, Hitler ‘était plus fort que nous.’138

More broadly, Hitler wanted to improve the image of the Third Reich worldwide, and particularly in Anglo-America.139 In the short term, he hoped to do this through the Berlin Olympics. Over the longer term, he wanted to remodel Hamburg, the first glimpse most overseas visitors – the vast majority of whom arrived by ship – would get of the Third Reich. Hitler pushed an ambitious programme of construction designed to turn Hamburg into a port metropolis to rival New York. In June 1936, he announced that the creation of the new ‘Führer City Hamburg’ would involve a shift in the centre of gravity from its existing focus around the Binnenalster to the Elbe waterfront at Altona. It was to be dominated by one of Hitler’s pet projects, the largest suspension bridge in the world, with one level for cars and another for trains, gigantic skyscrapers, including a 250-metre high Gauhochhaus, inspired by the Chrysler Building in New York and the Field Building in Chicago, and a Volkshalle which could accommodate 150,000 people.140

If Hitler was conscious of the need to deploy ‘soft power’, he did not neglect the more traditional coercive instruments available to him. In mid June 1936, he issued a ‘Decree on the Establishment of a Chief of the German Police’, designed to effect the ‘unified concentration of all police tasks in the Reich’.141 This combined all the main German security agencies, the Gestapo, the Sicherheitspolizei, and the Sicherheitsdienst, under the control of Heinrich Himmler, and his deputy, Reinhard Heydrich. Nominally, Himmler was subject to the authority of the minister of the interior, Wilhelm Frick, but in practice he now held the absolute police power in Germany, responsible only to Hitler himself.

In the late summer of 1936, the Führer was all set to put on a show for the German people and the world at large, beginning with the first half of the Bayreuth Festival in late July, followed by two weeks of the Olympic Games in early August, before returning to the second half of the Bayreuth Festival. Hitler agreed to this cumbersome arrangement in order to facilitate the many visitors expected for the Olympics, some of whom he hoped to attract to Bayreuth. This would be followed by the party rally in the first fortnight of September, the first since the remilitarization of the Rhineland. An integrated programme of culture, sport and rhetoric would demonstrate the distance travelled in the four years between the seizure of power in 1933 and the Parteitag der Ehre at which the Führer would celebrate the restoration of German ‘honour both at home and abroad’. It would also provide him with an opportunity to influence visiting foreign dignitaries, especially from Anglo-America.

Hitler’s enjoyment of the Bayreuth Festival was overshadowed, for the second time in two years, by external events. Earlier that summer, the Spanish nationalist General Francisco Franco had risen in revolt against the Republican government in Madrid, plunging Spain into civil war. By the end of July, the nationalists were in severe difficulties, with much of their force cut off in Morocco by the Republican navy. Increasingly alarmed, members of the NSDAP’s Foreign Section – with the blessing of their chief, Wilhelm Bohle, who probably wanted to raise his profile against the Foreign Office – sought out Hitler in Bayreuth and handed him a personal letter from Franco asking for military aid.142 The Führer, who astonished his interlocutors with his detailed knowledge of Spanish politics and history, as well as the actual state of play on the ground, reacted swiftly, ordering the dispatch of German transport planes to airlift the Spanish Foreign Legion from Morocco to the Iberian Peninsula. Göring was not best pleased by this first mission for the Luftwaffe, and nor were either Ribbentrop, or the Foreign Office, which would have preferred to remain completely on the sidelines,143 but Hitler insisted.

The reason why Hitler intervened in Spain was not economic, although the resources of the Iberian Peninsula were important to German rearmament,144 but geo-ideological. He told Ribbentrop ‘that Germany could not tolerate a communist Spain under any circumstances’. Given the internal state of France, he continued, articulating a kind of Nazi ‘domino-theory’, it would only be a matter of time before the conflagration spread to and consumed France. In that event, Hitler feared, Germany would be ‘encircled’ between the French communists and the Soviet Union.145 What was striking about the episode was Hitler’s ability to take important decisions quickly, and to either persuade or override doubters. It also precipitated – or reflected – an increased sense of the Soviet threat in particular and that of communism more generally. For the first time ever, Hitler seems genuinely to have feared a Soviet attack. In mid August, he even asked Rosenberg to make some propagandistic preparations in the event of a Russian surprise attack.146

Hitler did not place much faith in Rosenberg’s schemes. Instead, he advanced on two other fronts. In mid August 1936, Hitler appointed Ribbentrop ambassador to London in the hope that his business connections would help in establishing a rapport there.147 He also stepped up the pace of rearmament. In the summer of 1936, the army presented plans for a massive expansion of the Wehrmacht by 1940 to field a striking force larger than that which had taken the field against France in 1914. A substantial proportion of funds were earmarked for fortifications and for horse-transport rather than motor vehicles. The High Command, and probably Hitler himself, envisaged a long, conventional war, rather than a Blitzkrieg.148 This meant that an even greater proportion of German industry would have to be devoted to military purposes. The problem was that the economy was already struggling with the demands of rearmament, especially the question of how to pay for the necessary raw material imports, and indeed the whole programme. In the late summer and autumn of 1936, both Schacht and the commissioner for price stability, the Leipzig mayor Carl Goerdeler, increased their warnings that the existing fiscal and monetary imbalances were unsustainable.

Hitler responded with a memorandum on the ‘Four Year Plan’ for Germany, setting out both his economic vision and his grand strategy.149 The problem, he argued, was that Germany was ‘overpopulated’ and could not ‘feed itself’. This situation was aggravated by rising ‘living standards’ which were leading to an ‘increased and understandable run on the food market’. Simply reducing that standard, however, was not an option because the resulting ‘malnutrition’ would exclude a substantial and ‘valuable’ portion of the population from the ‘body politic of the nation’; it would reverse his gradual policy of racial elevation. Indeed, Hitler continued, ‘the precondition for normal consumption’ was the ‘integration of all Germans into the economy’. Here Hitler was merely restating his view that the establishment of a consumer society was necessary to the improvement of Germany’s racial stock. The difficulty, he claimed, was that while the supply of consumer goods could be substantially increased, that of foodstuffs and raw materials could not. ‘A lasting solution,’ he argued, and here Hitler was once again merely repeating what he had been saying for a decade, lay in the ‘expansion of the living space’, that is of the ‘raw material and sustenance basis of our people’. ‘It is the task of the political leadership,’ Hitler went on, ‘to solve this question one day.’

In the meantime, Germany would have to find ‘temporary relief within the framework of today’s economy’. ‘Because the sustenance of the German people will be increasingly dependent on imports,’ he argued, and they were also dependent on foreign raw materials, such imports must be encouraged ‘with all means’. The obvious solution, increasing German exports, Hitler rejected as ‘theoretically possible, but unlikely in practical terms’ because ‘Germany does not export into a political or economic void, but into extremely contested areas’. He also refused to use valuable foreign exchange to pay for food imports, because it was needed to buy raw materials for the armaments programme. He therefore expressed his intention to ride roughshod over ‘the interests of individual gentlemen’, signalling that henceforth the ‘self-preservation’ of the German people trumped that of private enterprise. Strikingly, Hitler made the Jews ‘answerable’ for any damage they might inflict on the German economy, another instance of his determination to treat them as ‘hostages’.150 No doubt invoking the spirit of Stalin’s Five Year Plans, Hitler called for a ‘multi-year plan’ which would ‘make our national economy independent of the outside world’. He concluded with the demand that both the German army and the German economy must be ready for war in ‘four years’ time’.

The casualty of all this, in terms of high politics, was Schacht.151 Hitler only informed him of the Four Year Plan on the eve of its public announcement at the party congress in early September 1936.152 From Hitler’s point of view, Schacht had served his purpose and was now largely redundant. He had provided stability at the start of the regime, settled the foreign debt question, decoupled Germany from the world economy and dependence on the United States, and reoriented German trade towards more pliable partners within Europe, especially the Balkans. Schacht’s departure was now simply a matter of time, his continuance in office a mere sop to world opinion. ‘The Führer is very sceptical about Schacht,’ Goebbels noted later in the year, ‘but he will not release him from responsibility for reasons of foreign policy.’153

Six weeks after penning his memorandum, Hitler appointed Göring the general plenipotentiary for the implementation of the Four Year Plan with a mandate to effect ‘the unified direction of all the strength of the German people and the tight concentration of all relevant agencies in party and state’. 154 Göring became, at least in name, the economics and mobilization tsar of the Reich. In a fit of energy he convened meetings, issued decrees and generally sought to convey an increased dynamism to the civil administration, the military leadership and the captains of German industry. Across the board, investment in plant, raw materials and labour was stepped up.155 All residual economic rationality was abandoned.156 The message was clear: Hitler wanted Germany to be ready, if not for war, then at least for confrontation by the early 1940s.

In this context, the Olympic Games in Berlin, which opened amid much fanfare in August 1936, were even more important to the international position of the Third Reich. They began with the Olympic relay, an invention of the Nazis. On 20 July 1936 Greek maidens in skimpy serge frocks handed over the flame as it began its journey towards Berlin.157 The whole ceremony, which was filmed by Leni Riefenstahl, was designed to emphasize the links between Nazi Germany and Ancient Greece. The entire proceedings were broadcast by radio through the massive Olympia-Weltsender Berlin, a station capable of reaching forty countries. The American team, which included blacks and Jews, was given a particularly rousing (calculated) official and (spontaneous) popular reception. The press were under strict instructions from Goebbels not to offend the sensitivities of the visitors, especially people of colour. There were some awkward moments, for example when the black athlete Jesse Owens won the 100 and 200 metre races, the relay race and the long jump. Leni Riefenstahl celebrated his achievements on camera, though she did not film the Germans formed in long queues in pursuit of an autograph. Contrary to myth, Hitler did not refuse to congratulate Owens. Having been upbraided by Olympic officials for shaking hands with some victors early in the games, he had decided not to meet anyone. Moreover, Owens, despite his reservations about the regime, offered a salute during the conferral of his medal. During the US presidential election campaign later that year, when Owens backed the Republican candidate against Roosevelt, he even praised Hitler as ‘a man of civility’.158

The Berlin Olympics were by any standards a triumph for Hitler.159 In his speeches and welcoming words he had addressed not merely a German but a world audience. The presence of so many foreign athletes and visitors legitimated the regime and by extension its many acts since 1933, especially the recent remilitarization of the Rhineland. ‘The foreign press [reporting] on the Olympic Games is fantastic’, Goebbels claimed, ‘everything is going like clockwork. A big success.’160 There was no attempt on his life. The only serious security breach was the ‘kiss ambush’ when a Californian woman managed to kiss the Führer.161 There were no serious racial incidents. To cap it all, the German team won the most medals, although outclassed by the Americans, especially blacks, in the athletics events.

In Bayreuth, Hitler continued his diplomatic efforts during the second half of the festival, which resumed after the Olympic Games. There, Unity and Diana Mitford were constantly in Hitler’s presence, partly because he enjoyed their company but mainly in order to facilitate communication with the British establishment as the Führer conceived it. Eager to consolidate relations with the new pro-German monarch, Hitler even offered a bespoke production of his Lohengrin in Covent Garden to Edward VIII as a coronation present. Crushingly, the king – who appears to have been no fan of Wagner – accepted only on condition that he would not have to attend himself, and the space available at Covent Garden for the production was much too small anyway. Undeterred, Hitler suggested a Gastspiel of the Berliner Staatsoper in the British capital, followed by one of the London Philharmonic Orchestra in Germany, conducted by Sir Thomas Beecham, the head of Covent Garden and a man believed to be close to Edward VIII.162 Despite some preparatory visits and correspondence, nothing came of these plans, but they illustrated not only Hitler’s determination to use what he took to be the inside track in British politics and society to secure an alliance, but also the high value he attached to cultural diplomacy. If the Kaiser had dreamed of joint Anglo-German fleet reviews held in an atmosphere of friendly rivalry, the Führer seems to have envisaged Tannhäuser-style singing contests in a similar spirit.

In late August and early September, Hitler’s pursuit of Britain reached a climax. Lord Lloyd, whom Ribbentrop identified as a member of the ‘diehard Churchill Group’, was invited to the party rally in order to create ‘a breach’ in the ‘ranks of the hostile front of [British] right-wing conservatives’.163 So were a number of other ‘important Britons’ who were entrusted to the care of Rosenberg.164 David Lloyd George, Germany’s nemesis in the First World War, was received by Hitler at Berchtesgaden in early September. It was an amicable meeting, at which the former prime minister expressed support for the Third Reich and admiration for its programme of motorway construction. Lloyd George also presented the Führer with a signed photograph of himself bearing the inscription ‘To Chancellor Hitler, in admiration of his courage, his determination and his leadership’. He subsequently wrote that Hitler was a ‘born leader of men’ and ‘a magnetic, dynamic personality with a single-minded purpose, a resolute will and a dauntless heart’. He did not believe Hitler had any aggressive intent and thought that ‘the establishment of a German hegemony in Europe which was the aim and dream of the old pre-war militarism, is not even on the horizon of Nazism’.165

At a reception in Nuremberg a few days later, Hitler signalled that he was prepared to settle his colonial demands ‘on the basis of mutual cooperation’ and ‘a closer understanding with Great Britain’. Hitler’s real concern, it was clear to his interlocutors, was not the colonies but Germany’s shortage of foodstuffs and raw materials and – so they thought – ‘securing Europe against the Bolshevik assault’. Noting that the British themselves needed colonies in order to ‘feed their population’, he asked whether they had found ‘some other way’ of doing so despite ‘the lack of raw materials’. If so, Hitler continued, they should ‘please send him the formula’. All this, he averred, was ‘no imperialism, but a question of survival for Germany’, and was motivated not by the desire ‘to disturb the strategic lines of communication of the British Empire’, but, ‘on the contrary’, driven by a desire to ‘avoid’ any such clash ‘at all costs’.166 Hitler did not spell out his proposed bargain in detail, but its general outlines were clear: Germany would respect the global position of the British Empire in return for the freedom to secure territory in Europe.

The autumn of 1936, with its triad of the Bayreuth Festival, the Berlin Olympics and the Nuremberg rally, was in many ways the apotheosis of the Third Reich. It had excelled itself in music, sport and political choreography. The culmination of those heady eight weeks came on the evening of 11 September, when Albert Speer’s ‘Lichtdom’, using ideas developed by others, threw a huge arc of light over the rally by means of 151 anti-aircraft searchlights, and took everybody’s breath away.167 Against this dramatic backdrop, the main speakers, Goebbels, Rosenberg and Hitler himself, their remarks closely coordinated,168 relentlessly hammered home both Germany’s rebirth and the Bolshevik threat.169 The Spanish Civil War, Hitler warned, was evidence of the activities of the ‘Jewish Revolution headquarters in Moscow’.170 ‘The party congress was the most unified so far,’ Rosenberg wrote in his diary, adding that ‘the Führer [was] happy and reinvigorated’. 171

It is easy to see why Hitler looked back in the autumn of 1936 in satisfaction at the achievements of his first four years in office. There is no doubt that Hitler’s will moved mountains domestically. Prices were controlled in ways that defied conventional economics. Alternative sources of energy were found. The multiplier effect he had predicted before taking power initially created a virtuous circle during the first few years in which everything seemed possible. The Germany economy had been completely revived; unemployment was close to zero. There was no significant resistance to Hitler’s authority. His domestic enemies were either dead, in prison, in exile, cowed or converted. Germany’s standing abroad and her territorial integrity had been triumphantly restored.

None of this had been as easy as it looks in retrospect. Hitler had taken great risks and shown iron nerves. He had seen off the threat of preventive war by France and Poland. Relations with Warsaw remained good even after the death of Piłsudski, whose Berlin memorial service Hitler attended with what appears to have been genuine reverence.172 He had bounced back from a failed putsch in Austria. Unsurprisingly, therefore, Hitler saw these events as a vindication of his view that politics was primarily a matter of ‘will’. ‘Nobody,’ he told the Annual Congress of the German Labour Front in September 1936, ‘should counter me with the phrase “That will not work”!’ ‘Nobody can and should say that to me,’ he continued, ‘I am not one of those men to whom one can say “That will not work”.’ ‘It must work,’ Hitler vowed, ‘because Germany must live.’ ‘The word impossible,’ he told a meeting of leading German industrialists convened in mid December 1936 to facilitate the implementation of the Four Year Plan, ‘does not exist here’.173

By the end of 1936, however, Hitler was reaching the limits of what could be achieved by determination alone. He could not simply will the Germans a standard of living comparable to the British and the Americans. The paramount symbol of that aspiration, the Volkswagen project, was already in trouble by the summer of 1936, because the car industry did not think it viable. Most importantly of all, the Führer could not indefinitely increase both domestic consumption and armaments production. No amount of will would secure raw materials on the world market as the Reich’s foreign currency reserves dwindled. The structure of the rest of the world’s economies failed to reconfigure to German needs. Although he believed that both guns and butter were central to his racial project, Hitler would soon have to choose between them, at least temporarily.

In the last four months of the year, moreover, the skies darkened not merely physically, but strategically. Hitler was watching events in Austria with mounting concern. Since the failed coup two years earlier, the Führer had gone out of his way to avoid trouble there. When he heard that the Austrian SA were trying to re-establish ‘terrorist groups’, his adjutant Fritz Wiedemann let their commander, SA-Obergruppenführer Reschny, know that ‘the Führer sharply forbade any such action’.174 In the summer of 1936, he approved a ‘gentlemen’s agreement’ with the Austrian chancellor Schuschnigg, drawn up by Papen with a view to improving relations through the lifting of travel and other restrictions. The problem was that Austria appeared to be drifting further out of the German orbit, with talk of her joining a ‘Danubian Pact’. Hitler regarded this scheme as a stalking horse for the thing he feared most, which was a Habsburg restoration. If this now seems implausible, one must remember that it was less than two decades after the end of the Habsburg Empire, and the dynasty still retained many supporters. Hitler’s worst fears were confirmed in the late summer, when he was told of the request of Prince Starhemberg, the leader of the conservative Austrian ‘Home Defence’ (Heimwehr) militia, to see him and to try to persuade him to support plans for a ‘restoration in Austria’ carried out with the combined support of the Heimwehr and the German nationalists.175

Meanwhile, the confrontation with world communism loomed ever larger, as the Soviet Union shifted in Hitler’s view from largely passive victim to mortal threat. ‘The confrontation with Bolshevism is coming [and] we need to be prepared,’ Hitler told Goebbels in mid November 1936, adding, presciently, that ‘we will be completely ready by 1941’. For now, the main communist challenge lay in Spain, where the Republican government was strongly supported by Stalin. ‘Moscow seems to be committing itself very strongly in Spain,’ Goebbels reported after a meeting with Hitler in mid November, ‘but it will encounter us’, because ‘Spain must not and will not turn red’.176 ‘It was his sole objective,’ Hitler remarked shortly afterwards, ‘that Spanish foreign policy after the end of the war would be determined by neither Paris, nor London, nor Moscow’, and that therefore Spain would not be ‘in the enemy camp’, but if possible a ‘friend of Germany’, in the ‘inevitable’ confrontation over the reordering of Europe.177

To make matters worse, the hope of a British alliance was dwindling.178 Ribbentrop sent regular warnings from London that opinion was turning against the Third Reich. ‘He talks of London,’ Goebbels noted, where there was ‘a lot of Jewish agitation [but] the king is on our side.’ A gruesome performance by Sir Thomas Beecham’s visiting London Philharmonic Orchestra, after which Hitler felt compelled to applaud ‘politely’, did not help. Hitler persisted, however, and continued to try to influence British opinion through the Mitfords, to whom he authorized payments through Goebbels. The Führer attended Oswald Mosley’s wedding to Diana Mitford in Berlin, with the dinner held at Hitler’s request at Goebbels’s house at Schwanenwerder. A month later, it was probably out of deference to Britain that he gave Epp short shrift when he broached the colonial question again.179

Then in early December 1936, Hitler received the catastrophic news that King Edward VIII, the pro-German monarch of whom he had expected so much, was likely to abdicate. The Führer, Goebbels reported, was ‘very upset about it’.180 He ensured that the German press was gagged for the duration of the crisis as the Reich government observed events. In the course of the next month, Hitler repeatedly erupted against the ‘hypocritical’ Baldwin government and the ‘cowardice and mendacity’ of the British public.181 ‘The Führer speaks of England,’ Goebbels reported; he considered its population ‘a satiated people without ideals’. ‘The king,’ Hitler continued, ‘deserved sympathy’ because British men lacked ‘spunk’.182 On 10 December, Edward finally abdicated. Some two weeks later, Ribbentrop returned to Berlin to report. His account confirmed Hitler’s view. ‘Edward was toppled by Baldwin and the clerics,’ Goebbels wrote after discussing the matter with Hitler, ‘because he was too independent and pro-German.’ ‘Mrs Simpson,’ the two men agreed, ‘was only the pretext’; the real cause was the fact that public opinion in ‘London was completely in the hands of the Jews’.183 It was during the abdication crisis, in fact, that Hitler seems to have come to the view that Britain was beyond redemption.

Relations with the United States were also deteriorating, though a breach was not imminent. The prevailing expectation, as expressed by a dispatch from the ambassador in Washington, Hans Luther, was that despite his rhetorical philippics against treaty-breakers and race-haters, Roosevelt would observe a policy of strict neutrality with regard to Europe. Europeans might find it ironic, Luther remarked, to hear such strictures from ‘the head of a state which had gained possession of a huge continent through wars and the breach of numerous treaties’,184 and, he might have added, had a long and continuing record of racial discrimination to boot. One way or the other, there was no getting around the fact that, as Luther warned in early October 1936, ‘our National Socialist state form is decisively rejected on principle by every American government’.185

Meanwhile, Hitler stepped up his efforts to turn Berlin into a truly global capital. He pressed ahead with the construction of Tempelhof airport. In mid October 1936, Hitler told Albert Speer that he planned to appoint him Generalbauinspekteur with a wide-ranging remit to remodel the city as the capital of a world power on a par – implicitly – with London and Washington. Speer was allowed to draft his own job specification which gave him more or less unlimited powers to transform Berlin according to his, and the Führer’s, vision.186

Hitler also reacted to the changing global environment by consolidating his alliances. In October 1936, he concluded an agreement with Italy which was ostensibly directed towards collaboration over the League of Nations, the Soviet threat, the Spanish Civil War, Austria, colonial matters and the Balkans. Its real target, however, was Britain. Shortly afterwards, Mussolini referred to the alliance publicly as an ‘axis’ between Berlin and Rome.187 The Führer also sought a connection with Japan. This was an important step, for hitherto it had been an open question whether the Third Reich would ‘opt’ for Tokyo or for China, though Hitler’s own sympathies had lain with Japan for some time. In early June 1936, he met with the Japanese ambassador Count Mushakoji in Berlin, and a month later at Bayreuth with the man who was to succeed him, General Hiroshi Oshima.188 They agreed the need for a common front against the Soviet Union and world communism; neither man mentioned London or Washington. Hitler expected a new Russo-Japanese War imminently, and planned to use the opportunity to seize land from the Soviet Union.189 In early November 1936, the Third Reich and Japan signed what became known as the ‘Anti-Comintern Pact’. Over time, Hitler was to refer repeatedly to this new ‘world-political triangle’ as evidence for the fact that ‘the isolation of Germany was over’.190

The ‘axis’ was ostensibly directed against the Soviet Union and world communism, but in truth Japan’s main enemies were the British Empire and the United States. It was in this spirit that the Führer confided to the Italian foreign minister, Count Ciano, that anti-communism was the lowest common denominator against the western powers, and also that the pact was designed to change British behaviour. A common front against the Soviet Union was thus not merely compatible with, but very much part of, the joint struggle against the western powers. ‘The Führer thinks,’ Goebbels records, that ‘the fruits of this agreement will only ripen in five years’ time. He really pursues policy in the long term.’191 This turned out to be an uncannily precise prediction, as both the German Reich and the Japan went to war together five years and one week later in 1941, not with the Soviet Union, but against the United States.

During his first three and a half years in power, Hitler’s timeline did not shift much. ‘I know,’ he remarked in September 1933, ‘that this great process of the internal welding together of our people cannot be achieved from one day to the next.’ ‘What gradually disintegrated over 30, 40, 50 [or] 100 years,’ Hitler continued, could not be put together again ‘in a few months’.192 Ten months later, he was still speaking in terms of a secular project of transformation. ‘The National Socialist state,’ he told the Reichstag, ‘will internally exterminate, if necessary in a hundred year war, the last remnants’ of ‘the “Jewish-international” poison’.193 In cabinet, in January 1935, he spoke of the reform of local government as taking twenty to thirty years.194 ‘None of our technical projects will be finished in fewer than ten or twenty years,’ he warned in May 1935, while ‘none of the spiritual tasks would be completed within fifty or even a hundred years.’195 He clearly envisaged a long-term process of transformation, in which conflict with the western powers was to be avoided as long as possible.

That said, there was – as we have seen – a change of tone in late 1936. He seems to have sensed that the days of easy victories were almost over. He continued, all the same, to take enormous risks, because he believed that there was no other way of saving Germany. Hitler did not have the luxury of certainty, as he explained with astonishing frankness on the anniversary of the 1923 putsch, a time when his gamble had failed catastrophically. ‘I have had to take some very difficult decisions over the past three and half years,’ he announced, ‘on which sometimes the future of the entire nation depended.’ ‘I unfortunately never had 51 per cent certainty [of success]’, but rather there was ‘often 95 per cent likelihood of failure and only 5 per cent of success’.196 Hitler could not have been clearer. He was planning to roll the dice again and again in the coming years until his luck ran out.
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Part Five



CONFRONTATION

At the start of 1937, the Third Reich appeared secure. Hitler had created a new age, with its own values and calendar. Time seemed to stretch to the horizon. In the course of the year, however, Hitler became convinced that he was running out of time, and that Anglo-America – suffering in his view from Jewish-induced false consciousness – had turned against him. He had also lost the standard of living battle with the west. The next phase of the Third Reich was therefore to be one of confrontation. This was a diplomatic battle, in which Hitler accepted that he had ‘lost’ Britain and the United States, and sought to consolidate his alliances with Italy and Japan. It was a military contest, in which the Führer went from bloodless victories over Austria and Czechoslovakia to more costly but still remarkable triumphs over Poland, much of Scandinavia and then – most spectacularly of all – over the British and French field armies in the west. It was, finally, a racial contest in which Hitler speeded up the elimination of the ‘negative’ strands in German society, and brought forward the acquisition of ‘living space’ in the east required for his planned ‘elevation’ of the German people in order to prepare them for the likely clash with the ‘Anglo-Saxons’.
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‘Living Standards’ and ‘Living Space’

In Germany, 1937 was a year when time seemed to stand still. There were no major headline-grabbing domestic or foreign initiatives. Hitler promised the Reichstag in late January that the ‘era of surprises was over [and that] peace was now our most prized possession’.1 He had gathered all the low-hanging fruit at home and abroad. His rule was not yet absolute, but there were no major challenges to his authority, either within the party or in the country at large. National Socialism, the Führer principle and the Hitler-myth were the new normal.2 The chancellor’s portrait adorned thousands of public buildings and spaces; countless schools and streets were named after him. In March 1937, he overcame his almost atavistic resistance to being depicted on postage stamps, so that his image – adapted from one of Heinrich Hoffmann’s photographs – became even more ubiquitous.3 The Führer was omnipresent, sometimes even featuring in the dreams (or nightmares) of ordinary people.4 Germany enjoyed more or less full employment.5 Life as a Jew, gypsy, homosexual, leftist or Bavarian monarchist was harsh, but, by contrast with the first years of the regime, appeared increasingly predictable. There were fewer arrests, and the camp population actually fell during the first part of the year. Beyond Germany, the world had got used to Hitler. There was, in short, a general sense of a lull, which later felt like the quiet before the storm.6 ‘It is very quiet on the political front,’ Goebbels remarked in the late summer of 1937.

‘Give us four years time,’ Hitler had promised in his first radio address at the start of his chancellorship, ‘and then judge us,’ a phrase which he repeated in various formulations and which was ultimately rendered by the Nazi propaganda machine as the ubiquitous ‘Give me four years and you will not recognize Germany again!’7 As the fifth year of the Third Reich dawned in 1937, the Führer and the movement now looked back on their ‘achievements’, in what was widely understood to be an ‘accountability moment’. In a series of speeches to mark special days in the Nazi calendar, for example the anniversaries of the seizure of power and the launching of the NSDAP programme, Hitler celebrated and wildly exaggerated the economic, political and military progress made since 1933 over and over. Goebbels reinforced this message in a travelling exhibition entitled ‘Give Me Four Years’, which Hitler opened in person in Berlin, and in a similarly named newsreel.

Hitler pressed ahead with his programme of domestic transformation undisturbed. The removal of the Jews from German national life continued. That said, there was a recognizable pause in anti-Jewish measures in the spring and summer of 1937. For now, because of the alleged power of international Jewry, Hitler still had to tread carefully. A third decree of the ‘State Citizenship Law’, planned by Hitler for February 1937, involving special status for non-Jewish businesses, was put on hold in June on the grounds that it would antagonize foreign owners of such enterprises. The measure was finally enacted a year later. In May 1937, Hitler also ordered that plans for a special citizenship document be dropped.8 He explained his strategy in a private speech to party leaders. His ‘final objective’ of removing the Jews, Hitler explained, had not changed. He wanted to avoid, however, having to take any steps that he might have to ‘reverse’, or which might ‘harm’ the Third Reich. ‘I always go to the limit,’ he continued, ‘but not beyond’; he claimed to have a ‘nose’ for what was possible and what not. Rather than provoking his enemies to all-out resistance, Hitler argued, he was trying to manoeuvre them into a ‘corner’ before delivering the mortal blow.9 For this reason, Hitler did not undertake any major new initiative on the Jewish front throughout 1937.

In one area, however, the regime did radicalize racial policy. Hitler had long hung back on the issue of the ‘Rhineland bastards’, the offspring of black French colonial soldiers during the Rhineland occupation of the 1920s, for fear of offending France, but on 18 April 1937, he ordered the discreet ‘sterilization’ of these offspring. He dismissed the suggestion of the Foreign Office, which was worried about the French reaction, that the victims should simply be confined to barracks or deported.10 The task was given to the Gestapo and completed in the course of the year.11 These measures did not apply to ‘full-blooded’ black Africans, about whom Hitler and the regime were considerably more relaxed.12 To be sure, their situation worsened as the Third Reich progressed and they often found themselves subject to the Nuremberg Laws, but not apparently at Hitler’s direct request. Clearly identifiable as ‘alien’, blacks posed a much reduced risk of racial ‘contamination’. They found employment as waiters, as minstrels, in circuses or as extras on films designed to show the inequities of British imperial rule. They were also in demand for the ‘German African Revue’, which was designed to celebrate German colonialism and remind the Volk of its global mission. An audience in Lower Austria was startled to hear the performers announce that ‘We believe in Germany, Heil Hitler.’13 Though the black residents suffered great hardship during the Third Reich, the contrast with the treatment of Hitler’s principal racial enemy, the Jews, is striking.

The other strand of Hitler’s policy was to accentuate the positive, by continuing the racial ‘elevation’ begun in 1933. Central to this project was the German woman. Hitler managed to keep the formidable ‘imperial women’s leader’, Gertrud Scholtz-Klink, at arm’s length; she failed in her quest for a face-to-face discussion.14 As his personal adjutant, Fritz Wiedemann, remarked, Hitler took a dim view of women in politics generally, though he was prepared to make exceptions.15 He also sought to drive women out of the workplace, or at least the professions, and back into the home. In the summer of 1937, Hitler announced that appointments to the higher reaches of the civil service should be reserved ‘in principle’ to men. ‘He would make only a few exceptions’, mainly in the ‘area of welfare, education and health’.16 Female lawyers, by contrast, were to be phased out.

Hitler saw women primarily as agents of racial reproduction and regeneration. If this was socially ‘regressive’, especially with regard to women in the workforce, it also had some surprisingly ‘progressive’ implications. Hitler was determined to remove traditional barriers to increased fertility among the racially ‘superior’ elements of the German people. In January 1937, Hitler erupted in cabinet against attempts to force unmarried mothers to name the fathers of their children, outraged by a recent Hanoverian case in which a woman had been given a prison sentence for refusing to cooperate with the authorities in that regard. ‘That sort of absurdity,’ he thundered, ‘must end at once.’ Hitler supported the right of a woman to remain silent, even if the intention was to establish the father’s ‘Aryan’ credentials. He ‘considered it barbarism’, he added, ‘to apply pressure in order to force a statement’. Towards the end of the year Hitler laid down that the Hanoverian woman should not be forced to serve her sentence. In the same spirit, the new ‘midwives’ law removed at his request the old clause excluding midwives from practice for ‘moral transgressions’, such as extramarital sexual relations.17 Above all, Hitler was concerned to revise marriage law, to reduce the stigma of infidelity, to remove that attached to sex outside marriage and illegitimacy and generally increase the emphasis on reproduction.18

Despite his emphasis on ‘blood’, Hitler’s programme of racial elevation was not confined to biology and reproduction. Intellectual and cultural instruments remained extremely important to him. One critical front was education, understood in the broadest terms to encompass not merely schooling but also law and military service. On the negative side, Hitler demanded that ‘the Volk should be educated to believe that treason was the greatest possible crime, which would ordinarily receive the death penalty’.19 On the positive side, Hitler wanted German youth to be exposed to the classical tradition, which he saw as an instrument of character formation, and an aesthetic ideal, rather than as part of a humanistic education. Here the British public school system, or least his understanding of it as a nursery of imperial rulers, served as an inspiration. Hitler understood the resulting ‘natural selection process’ in meritocratic terms, as necessary to sustain the new Führerstaat. It was intended to combat not so much Jewry or other ‘harmful’ elements, whose removal was simply assumed, as the innate tendency towards fragmentation within the German Volk itself. Hitler conceived this not merely as a struggle which divided classes, regions, confessions and even individuals, but as a contest playing out within every German breast. This is why he urged that opposition should be ‘internal to the person’. Germans must resolve the dialectic or thesis and antithesis within themselves, not against each other.20 Every man was to be his own synthesis.

Another front was the arts, in which Hitler maintained a keen interest, not just for his own amusement but for the edification and improvement of the Volk. In his view, the appreciation of true art both reflected and increased racial value. It was part of what he called the regime’s ‘incredible endeavours to elevate the Volk in countless areas of life’. Hitler showcased what he regarded as sublime art in the ‘Grosse Deutsche Kunstausstellung’ in the new Munich Haus der Deutschen Kunst. He opened the exhibition in mid July 1937 with a speech spelling out the role of art in the political and racial regeneration of Germany. He explicitly related the Reich’s cultural collapse to the lost war, the growth of socialism and communism, the spread of ‘liberal economic concepts’, and the evils of internationalism. The resulting ‘ideological and political fragmentation’ had led to the ‘gradual dissolution of a sense of common purpose in the Volk’ and the ‘weakening of the German body politic’. Central to this misery, Hitler argued, was the way in which Jewry ‘exploited its position in the press with the help of so-called art critics’, in order to ‘destroy’ all ‘healthy instincts’ in the population at large. He tried to expose that influence in a parallel exhibition on ‘Degenerate Art’, and in the speech he fired off broadsides against ‘Cubism, Dadaism, Futurism, Impressionism and so on’.21

Eliminating Jewish and other alien influences was only half the racial battle. Hitler believed that the real problem was that the German Volk was made up, as he put it, of ‘a number of more or less separate races’, which had over time developed into ‘that mixture which we see in our Volk today’. The originally ‘constitutive’ element in the Volk had been the same ‘Aryan manhood’ which had characterized the ‘ancient civilizations’, but had subsequently been diluted through admixture with ‘other’ – here he meant primarily ‘non-Jewish’, but also ‘non-Aryan’ – racial elements. The purpose of art, Hitler claimed, was to combat this adulteration by contributing to the ‘unification’ or ‘standardization’ of the ‘racial body politic’. The close link between artistic appreciation and racial ‘elevation’ in his mind was made clear towards the end of Hitler’s speech, when he praised antiquity, which ‘in appearance and sensibility’ was closer to the present day than ever before. He objected to modern art because of its alleged celebration of ugliness and disfigurement in the form of ‘deformed cripples and cretins, women, who can only provoke disgust, [and] men who are closer to animals than humans’. Instead, the Führer wanted art which would make ‘our men, boys and youths, girls and women, healthier and thus stronger’. He was developing a ‘glowingly beautiful type of person’, which he had paraded on the catwalk of the Olympic Games, displaying ‘radiant, proud, bodily strength and health before the whole world’.22 Hitler’s hope was that if Germans contemplated statues of Roman and Greek youths long and appreciatively enough they would begin to resemble them, at least inwardly. Hitler laid so much stress on the ‘rebirth of the nation’ through its ‘cultural cleansing’ that he spoke of it as being ‘in the first instance’ a cultural question. This, he claimed, was more important ‘for the future’ than mere political and economic revival. It is clear from these remarks that Hitler was thinking in terms of generations rather than a quick fix.

Hitler intervened repeatedly to ensure that the works displayed at the Haus der Deutschen Kunst enjoyed his imprimatur, overturning a more liberal selection shortly before the opening.23 Unlike Goebbels, he never flirted with modernism.24 Hitler called for art to be ‘clear’ and ‘true’, though he was always clearer on what he considered degenerate than on what constituted true German art.25 In painting, Hitler favoured the Italian Renaissance and German masters from the nineteenth century, who might broadly be characterized as Romantic. He rigorously policed what was exhibited in the Haus der Deutschen Kunst, boasting that he would always ruthlessly remove anything which was not artistically perfect.26 With regard to architecture and spectacle, Hitler was firmly classical in his sympathies. For example, the Munich pageant accompanying the ‘Grosse Deutsche Kunstausstellung’ was dominated by themes from antiquity rather than the Middle Ages.

The genre in which Hitler’s aesthetics and political ambitions combined most strikingly was architecture, especially his plans for the remodelling of Berlin. On 30 January 1937, the fourth anniversary of his appointment as chancellor, he signed a ‘Decree for a General Building Inspector for the Imperial Capital’. Albert Speer was formally appointed to the post, the first step in what was intended to be the transformation of Berlin into a truly global capital representing the might of the Third Reich.27 Over the next few years, he and his team produced ever more precise and grandiose plans, which Hitler pored over and commented on in detail. Speer and Hitler settled on two great thoroughfares, the ‘North–South’ and ‘East–West’ axes, at the heart of which would lie the Great Hall of the People. As we shall see, the architectural inspiration for the new Berlin – or Germania – came from many sources: the ancient world, of course, but also Paris, London and, especially, Washington.

All these measures suggested that Hitler’s tempo had lessened somewhat. Rome had not been built in a day and nor would the Third Reich be. Whatever the outward signs of conformity in the Reich, Hitler himself was under no illusion of the distance he still had to travel. In early March 1937, he rejected the first sentence of the proposed new Criminal Code, which appeared to him to exaggerate the extent to which German society had already been Nazified. He stressed that ‘the National Socialist Weltanschauung had not yet been completely implemented’, and that ‘every law’ should be ‘adapted to the stage in which Volk and state found itself at that particular moment’.28 In other words, the Führer believed that a truly Nazi society was still some way off; in 1937, it was an aspiration rather than a reality. Hitler seems at this point to have envisaged a gradual process by which the German people would rid itself of harmful elements over time and acquire positive characteristics in their stead. In his speeches he was still referring to a timeframe of about a hundred years, that is a completion date long after his death.29

Here the relevant model was not so much antiquity as the British Empire, which in the Führer’s eyes had so long served as the nursery of British racial superiority. It is perhaps no accident that Hans Günther’s Rassenkunde (‘Racial Science’), a text Hitler was familiar with, used a Victorian portrait of a Guards officer in order to illustrate the Nordic ideal type.30 Nor is it surprising that Hitler’s two favourite Englishwomen, Diana and Unity Mitford, were listed as model Aryans (‘Botticelli-Typus’) in Paul Schultze-Naumburg’s book of ‘Nordic beauties’ (Nordische Schönheiten).31 His ‘high estimation of the English character’ on account of his war experiences was still a commonplace among the Führer’s entourage,32 and – as we have seen – formed a staple of his speeches. In almost every respect, the British symbolized what was still Hitler’s preferred mode of racial elevation by evolution rather than revolution.

By 1937, the ferocious pace at which Hitler had initially tackled federalism, the multi-party system and democratic structures had perceptibly slackened. He was beginning to run out of steam, especially when confronted with his old enemy of German particularism, which responded to his plans for imperial reform with a mixture of obstruction, special pleading and guile. In late January 1937, Hitler pushed through the ‘Greater Hamburg Law’, which was necessary to facilitate his monumental building plans in the city state. Shortly afterwards, worn down by local resistance, and with his mind on other things, he decided in April 1937 that the whole issue of Reichsreform was to be put on hold.33 The chief of the Imperial Chancellery, Hans-Heinrich Lammers, Hitler’s principal gatekeeper at the time, announced wearily that the Führer believed that ‘the moment for a reform of the Reich had not yet come’. Time, in this case, seemed to stretch far into the distance. Hitler’s reflections on the succession also suggested a longer timeline, as well as providing an insight into his constitutional thinking. Looking to the future, he ruminated in cabinet that it would not be wise completely to sideline the Reichstag in favour of the Führer. Rather Hitler envisaged that a new ‘State Basic Law’, which would regulate his succession, should be hammered out by an ‘extraordinary constitutional Reichstag’ appointed by himself.34 His main concern was to prevent the return of the ‘hereditary monarchy’, and to ensure the emergence of a competent new Führer to complete the secular task of the racial regeneration of Germany.

All this said, Hitler’s personal grip on government continued to tighten in key areas. He asserted his authority over the German bureaucracy. A new law proclaimed towards the end of January 1937 gave him the authority, in consultation with the minister of the interior, to remove any civil servant whose commitment to the ‘National Socialist state’ was in doubt.35 Even if this power was to be exercised in conjunction with the justice minister and on the basis of sworn testimony and expert witnesses, and in fact he seems to have made little use of this new authority, the message was clear. Hitler also tried to shake up the bureaucracy by bringing in outside talent. For this reason he wanted a more flexible remuneration system, which would make it possible to ‘recruit and retain’ people of ‘real ability’ for the ‘state sector’. Otherwise, Hitler feared, there was a great risk that the state sector would simply experience ‘negative selection’, in which the best minds left for the business economy from whence they would control the state, rather than vice versa, as Hitler wished.36

Hitler’s increased role was most obvious in the field of criminal justice. In March 1937, he demanded greater latitude for judges to increase or reduce punishments, and, if necessary, impose the death penalty retrospectively.37 Throughout the year, Hitler also began to intervene directly in the judicial process, reversing court decisions, changing sentences and in some cases even sacking officials, one of whom Hitler ordered out within twenty-four hours.38 Such interventions now became routine in the Third Reich. Over the next few years, Hitler repeatedly sought to undermine the independence of the judiciary, to simplify the removal of judges, and to transfer competency in political cases from the civil courts to other authorities.39

The growing role of Hitler in government was matched by the declining importance of the cabinet. If it met nineteen times in 1934, this number had dropped to six by 1937. Hitler himself attended less and less, though when he did so he was not always voluble or dominant.40 There was an increased use of circulation to discuss and agree legislation;41 most business was now being done elsewhere. The cabinet met for the last time in February 1938, and, while further meetings were planned over the next two years, they never happened42 – all pretence at formal collective deliberation had been abandoned. From now on, laws were made either by circulation or completely on the hoof.43 Responsible government was overtaken by autocracy, informality and adhocery. This had two serious consequences for German politics.

It deepened the polycratic chaos in Germany’s administration. The key to power lay in access to Hitler, and in denying that access to others. Some, such as Goebbels, were exceptionally successful in this regard.44 Once Hitler’s attention had been secured, a decision had to be extracted, or the parameters of independent action explored. For example, an area where Hitler had expressly reserved the right of final judgement, namely the application of the Nuremberg Laws, rapidly became a minefield as various organizations and institutions sought to engage in special pleading. Eventually, Lammers was forced to try to establish some sort of ‘consistency’ in a circular to the main departmental chiefs and other parties. This expressed Hitler’s wish that all requests for exemptions from the racial laws should be channelled through the Imperial Chancellery and not, as hitherto, reach him in an ad hoc and random manner through various avenues.45

Despite these efforts, Hitler still found himself mediating more and more disputes between ministries, and individuals, some of them quite junior.46 Perhaps the most involved battle which Hitler was dragged into was the long-running saga of the Gauleiter of Franconia, Julius Streicher.47 This had begun shortly after the takeover of power, when Streicher fell out with the senior SS commander in the city, Freiherr von Malsen-Ponickau. Despite Streicher’s well-known sexual and financial scandals, and Himmler’s support for his man, the Gauleiter’s standing with Hitler as an Alter Kämpfer was so strong that Malsen backed off for the time being. Not even Lammers could make any headway in Nuremberg, and when he told Streicher that the instructions to curb the excesses of his violently anti-Semitic newspaper Der Stürmer came directly from Hitler, he merely received a rude reply. Goebbels had no luck either. The new SS commander and police president, Dr Benno Martin, was made of sterner stuff, however. He soon teamed up with the Nuremberg mayor, Liebel. Rather than face Streicher head on, they built up a case against him through careful police work, including wire taps. Hitler agreed to a commission of inquiry and restricted the hitherto easy access which the Gauleiter had enjoyed. Eventually, Streicher was sacked with Hitler’s approval.

The Führer did not encourage this bureaucratic free-for-all, or requests to mediate, even if these placed him at the centre of the web. For one thing, they exposed him to misinterpretation and hasty judgement, as he was constantly doorstepped by people in search of ‘Führer-Entscheidungen’, which often contradicted earlier pronouncements. For example, when he was ‘reminded’ that he had committed public funds for replacement housing during the remodelling of Berlin, Hitler insisted to Lammers that he ‘had not made any such decision’.48 As for arbitrating disputes, Hitler told party leaders not to write to him with their grievances but to sleep on them instead. Most problems, he suggested, would solve themselves, and the rest should be settled in conversation rather than through an exchange of peppery letters or memoranda, which only aggravated things. Thus, when confronted with two squabbling Bavarian ministers, Hitler tasked Hess with bringing about a ‘personal exchange between the antagonists’ in order to achieve ‘a compromise’.49 Nor did Hitler want people to be reporting to him all the time. ‘I am not the chairman of a supervisory board!’ he exclaimed. Rather, he wanted party administrators to take the initiative and show a sense of responsibility.50

Six months after his last attempt, Lammers issued a fresh directive to try to curb the flood of petitions and requests directed towards the Führer.51 Hitler’s immediate concern here was to prevent the machinery of government from seizing up, but these measures were also part of the broader long-term selection process by which he sought to improve the German people and its leadership caste. Cohesion, Hitler told party leaders, would come from ‘schooling’, not superintendence or control, which would only stifle initiative and creativity.52 He therefore enunciated a kind of National Socialist subsidiarity principle, by which the Third Reich should only regulate those areas which it absolutely had to. For the rest, he wanted Germans to develop the ‘confidence’ to make (the right) decisions for themselves.

All this made for an informal and often chaotic governing style, which was complicated by the fact that Hitler kept ever more irregular hours. Until 1936 he had followed a reasonably conventional routine. Thereafter, the Führer increasingly reverted to his earlier Bohemian lifestyle, rising late and going late, often very late, to bed, often after visiting the opera or watching a film, sometimes two in a row.53 That said, Hitler was not simply lazy. The overall number of hours he put in remained unchanged and because his view of politics was all-encompassing, none of his cultural activities can just be classified as entertainment, just as his numerous meetings with Unity Mitford, and her family,54 were part of his plan to engage Britain. Whether attending the Bayreuth Opera Festival, watching films late into the night or going to exhibitions, Hitler was, in effect, always working.

The exception here was his relationship with Eva Braun, which had stabilized. He admired Unity’s beauty – the Führer preferred blondes – and he saw her as a conduit to Britain, but he had no romantic or sexual interest in her. ‘She’s a very attractive girl,’ he allegedly told Leni Riefenstahl, ‘but I could never have an intimate relationship with a foreigner, no matter how beautiful she might be.’55 This may have been, as Riefenstahl claimed, out of ‘patriotic’ love for German women, but the main motivation was probably security. It is no accident that around this time Hitler issued instructions that party leaders should not marry foreigners, even if, like Englishwomen, they were considered racially unproblematic. His relationship with Eva remained clandestine, because public knowledge of it would have undermined the claim that Hitler was married to Germany, and more particularly to German womanhood. ‘I cannot afford to marry,’ he said, ‘otherwise I will lose half of my most loyal [female] followers.’56 One way or the other, Hitler’s personal life had settled into a pattern. He would see Eva either secretly in her Munich flat, or on the Obersalzberg, in whose confines she ruled acknowledged and supreme.

The Berghof now began to change its character. Originally more or less accessible to all, the Obersalzberg increasingly became a gated community, what Hitler’s press secretary later called a ‘golden cage’.57 The mountain turned into a gigantic building site, as the various institutions and grandees sought to expand their presence. Huge areas were cordoned off and the mountain air was thick with dust and fumes. Martin Bormann, the head of the Party Chancellery, used the opportunity to strengthen his position in the Nazi firmament, largely at the expense of the Imperial Chancellery, and to control access to Hitler. He sought to ingratiate himself with the Führer through the construction of the ‘Kehlsteinhaus’ in 1937–8, a tea room perched on top of a summit overlooking Austria, which could be reached only by a lift-tunnel blasted through the rock. What Hitler made of these changes is unknown, but it is clear that whatever the reasons he had for going to the Obersalzberg, the unfettered appreciation of nature was no longer one of them.

Abroad, Hitler remained preoccupied with Germany’s position in the world and his own international reputation. He monitored international responses to his speeches closely, for example, when he promised in January 1937 that the era of surprises was over.58 His principal international focus continued to be Anglo-America. Despite the failure to get through to London or Washington, Hitler was not yet seriously alarmed. Though fearful of the Jewish lobby in America, and the power of the United States more generally, Hitler still regarded Roosevelt and his New Deal with some respect. In April 1937, the Führer welcomed Roosevelt’s idea of a global conference to resolve all outstanding issues. When the German ambassador complained shortly afterwards that the embassy building in Washington was too small and in any case located in the middle of an undesirable ‘Negro Quarter’, Hitler immediately supported the construction of a more ‘dignified’ representation, if necessary at the cost of a million dollars.59 When, in the summer of 1937, the former head of the Hamburg trade office of the Foreign Office, Baron von Rechenberg, penned an inflammatory pamphlet ‘exposing’ Roosevelt as a pawn of the Jews and an inveterate enemy of the Reich, which he sent to both the Foreign Office and Hitler, he did not at first gain any traction.60 There was no suggestion, for now, that the Führer was expecting a breach with the United States any time soon.

It was the same with regard to Britain. The general drift of Ribbentrop’s dispatches from London was that while there was profound concern in Britain about Hitler’s ‘ultimate intentions’, there was also a sincere desire for peace, if necessary bought with colonial concessions.61 For this reason, Hitler continued to use various ‘go-betweens’ in search of that elusive understanding.62 One of them was the Jewish Princess Hohenlohe – born plain Stephanie Richter in Vienna – who was invited ‘on the instruction of the Führer’ to the party rally at Nuremberg so that she could bring ‘a further important personality from England’.63 Another was the former King Edward VIII, now Duke of Windsor, for whom Hitler confessed ‘a certain weakness’, who visited Germany in September 1937 with the full cooperation of the authorities.64 The duke’s visit included a stopover at a coalmine in the Ruhr (where he gave the Hitler salute)65 and culminated with his much-publicized reception by Hitler at the Berghof. It was widely regarded as a propaganda coup for the Third Reich, and as a violation of the duke’s pledge to keep a low profile after his abdication, and it infuriated the king and the British government. Hitler’s private meeting with him produced nothing of consequence.66

Some of the Führer’s other favoured ‘go-betweens’, the British fascist leader Oswald Mosley, his wife Diana and her sister Unity, were also proving to be more of a liability than an asset. Mosley visited Germany a month after the duke, and he too was received by Hitler on the Obersalzberg.67 There were also meetings with Hess, Göring, Goebbels and Ribbentrop. The British Embassy ignored Mosley, but kept a close eye on his movements. Once again, little came of the talks. Hitler rejected Diana and Mosley’s plan to set up a radio station – ‘Air Time Limited’ – on the German North Sea island of Heligoland, as this had fallen foul of the military authorities.68 Unity, for her part, was now under surveillance by the British Secret Service. There were demands to have her passport confiscated.69 Her value as a ‘go-between’, which Hitler had in any case wildly exaggerated from the start, was rapidly diminishing.

Hitler’s need for mediators with the outside world heavily influenced his view of the German aristocracy. It was connected across Europe, and had a pan-European, generally conservative orientation.70 Philipp von Hessen-Kassel, for example, was the son-in-law of King Victor Emmanuel III of Italy, and played an important role in connecting Hitler to Mussolini.71 He enjoyed an excellent rapport with Hitler on the basis of shared artistic interests. But there was already a strong element of ambivalence in Hitler’s attitude. For all his enthusiasm to connect with the British aristocracy, the head of the Gestapo, Heinrich Müller, was put to work checking whether any of them had Jewish blood,72 a suspicion which Hitler entertained about the cosmopolitan nobility in general.

Around this time, Hitler broke with his principal interpreter of US affairs, Putzi Hanfstaengl, in one of the Third Reich’s more bizarre episodes. For reasons that remain obscure, but are to be located in the ups and downs of Nazi court politics, Hanfstaengl had fallen out of favour by 1937. His enemies, Göring, Goebbels and Unity Mitford prominent among them, decided that he should be taught a lesson. Hitler himself knew in advance that a ‘prank’ was about to be played,73 though he may not have been aware of all the details. In early February 1937, Hanstaengl was urgently summoned to Berlin.74 On arrival, he was told he was needed in Spain immediately, and shortly after take-off he was given the impression that he was about to be thrown out of the aeroplane. This was probably, as those involved later claimed, an elaborate hoax rather than an assassination attempt, but Hanfstaengl was badly shaken. Soon after, he fled to Britain, eventually ending up in America.

In the meantime, Hitler was being warned with ever-increasing frequency and intensity about the hostility of the American public and elites. The air attaché in Washington, Boetticher, stressed both the immense military potential of the United States and the strength of the ‘forces of capital’, and the ‘dark influences dependent on American Jewry in America itself’.75 This sense of a fundamental antagonism between the United States and Nazi Germany grew during the spring and summer of 1937, despite the appointment of a new, and initially more optimistic, German ambassador, Dieckhoff.76 In March 1937, the half-Jewish New York Mayor Fiorello La Guardia heavily criticized Hitler at a rally in the city, provoking furious diplomatic protests, and an exchange of insults between the German and the American press.77 If it was no surprise that the Third Reich was resisted by Jews and liberals, Hitler also struggled to gain traction in the American South, where the Third Reich enjoyed a terrible reputation, and where pro-British and anti-dictatorial sympathies were strong. It was not that Southerners opposed racism, it was just that they didn’t much like Nazis.78 Hitler was finding the Americans hard to please.

Worse still, the Third Reich was not merely losing America, it was losing German America.79 The president of the Deutschen Ausland-Instituts, Dr Strolin, reported on his return from a lengthy trip to the United States that the vast majority of German-Americans, even including those who attended cultural events, were no friends of the new Germany. This was the result partly of the ‘dominating influence of the Jews’ in places like New York, he claimed, but also of the more or less universal US antipathy to ‘militarism’, the suppression of press freedoms and the generally ‘different world view’ of Americans, including German-Americans.80 In May 1937, the Third Reich was reminded of this breach when Cardinal Mundelein of Chicago, whose father was of German descent, took time out from attacking Hollywood filth and extramarital sex to lambast Hitler, particularly his treatment of the Catholic Church there; German diplomatic protests proved to be of no avail.

The Führer’s relations with most other powers remained reasonably good throughout most of 1937. This was partly due to the fact that Hitler continued to tread carefully in the matter of German minority rights, and the role of German citizens abroad. He distinguished carefully between Volksdeutsche, whom he defined as those of German descent, but citizens of another state, and Auslandsdeutsche, citizens of the Reich residing in foreign parts who were under the umbrella of the Auslandsorganization.81 Relations with Poland remained particularly warm, at least at the diplomatic level. When a special four-volume edition of the late Marshal Piłsudski’s orders and speeches appeared in early 1937, the list of subscribers was headed by the Polish president, the marshal’s widow and Hitler.82 In May 1937, he instructed Ribbentrop ‘that the overall Polish-German relationship should not be exposed to serious strain on account of minority questions’.83 To be sure, Hitler was critical of Poland in private. ‘With Poland [there is] no love-match,’ he had told Goebbels, ‘but a relationship based on reason [which] has enabled our rearmament’.84 Even so, there is no evidence that Hitler was planning an attack on Poland either at the time or in the future.

Hitler sought to rally Europe, or at least the authoritarian states, behind him by casting himself as a bulwark against the Soviet Union. He repeatedly played the Bolshevik card in his discussions with Hungary, Romania and other powers, urging them to patch up their differences, a strategy which continued until 1945.85 Despite this rhetoric, there is no evidence that after a brief moment of anxiety in 1936 Hitler privately considered the Soviet Union an imminent military threat at this point. Outside of Spain, therefore, the struggle was waged on the ideological and propagandistic plane. This is why Hitler emphasized the importance of the Paris International Exhibition in the summer of 1937, which he saw as an opportunity to showcase the attractions of National Socialism to a world audience, especially Europeans.86 He took a keen interest in the German pavilion, which was co-designed by Speer. Hitler’s aesthetic priorities became clear when he rejected the request of the Economics Ministry to send representatives to those discussions.87 Speer was aware of the Soviet designs when he was drawing up his own, and the intensity of the competition was surely heightened by the fact that his rival was a Jew from Odessa.88 In the end, the Soviet and the Nazi pavilions directly faced off against each other on the majestic Trocadéro Esplanade in what was widely seen as a dramatic clash of the two systems.89

For all the surface stability, Hitler faced increasing domestic and international challenges throughout 1937. Economically, the most serious was the crisis of his standard of living project, which had been designed not merely to strengthen the regime at home, but to inoculate the German people against the appeal of Anglo-American consumerism, and to provide the basis for German racial improvement. These efforts were epitomized by an exhibition in Düsseldorf in the summer of 1937, held simultaneously with the Paris fair, entitled ‘A Nation of Workers and Creators’.90 This was intended to highlight the economic growth since Hitler took power, the merits of self-sufficiency and the range of products now available to German consumers, including the Coca-Cola dispensed from a reconstructed bottling plant. Among the local talent showcased was the German company Henkel; Hitler himself visited their pavilion and was photographed amid a display of washing powder and washing machines.91 One wonders whether he remembered his remarks to Hess about the need to bring modern conveniences to the German people back in the 1920s. Likewise, Hitler maintained a keen interest in the Volkswagen project, choosing the site of the planned factory at Fallersleben (christened Wolfsburg).92

In truth, however, Hitler was losing the standard of living battle.93 The Führer might, as he never tired of claiming, have dealt with the unemployment problem better than FDR, but he was nowhere near matching the American Dream. The figures spoke for themselves. After six years of Hitler, about half of all Germans owned a radio set, as opposed to 68 per cent of Britons and 84 per cent of Americans.94 The Volkswagen was in difficulty, as German industry struggled to come up with a car which was also profitable;95 the task was passed on to the German Labour Front. For all the sound and fury about motorization, in fact, no civilian Volkswagen ever made it to the Volk. Despite all the increased industrial activity, wages did not rise much.96 Overall, the German standard of living, even after Hitler’s economic ‘miracles’, was a third lower than that of Britain, partly due to inferior productivity.97 Hitler effectively conceded defeat in a speech in May 1937. He began to emphasize sufficiency in basic goods and developed a theory of excess.98 Hitler warned against inflation, and – no doubt aware of the Anglo-American advantage in productivity – linked wage increases to increased productivity. He urged German workers to travel abroad as tourists to see how well off they were themselves, but the comparisons he made were with Soviet poverty, which he could easily outperform, rather than Anglo-American prosperity, which he had no hope of matching.

These trends were aggravated by the economic bottlenecks produced by rearmament, which competed for resources not only with consumption but also with culture. All three fronts mattered to Hitler, as they were all theatres in the one struggle against Anglo-American capitalism. What distinguished them was the question of timing. Consumption and culture were part of a long-term racial vision; rearmament was geared to a much shorter-term strategy. Ideally, Hitler wanted to advance in all three theatres simultaneously, but that was increasingly difficult as the demand for raw materials grew. He found himself arbitrating so many requests to balance the allocation of steel for armaments with that for the construction or renovation of theatres, opera houses and other buildings that in May 1937 he requested a list of all urgent building plans which required the use of steel.99 Two months later, Hitler was told that if he authorized the expansion of the Schiller Theater in Berlin, he would have to reduce the steel allocation to others, including the Wehrmacht.100 Hitler’s reaction then was to approve the plans for the theatre with ‘immediate effect’ and demand more steel overall, threatening to take the matter out of the remit of the Four Year Plan and into his own hands. For now, consumption and culture retained their importance alongside rearmament, and in some cases trumped narrowly military priorities, but soon one or more of them would have to give way.

The immediate consequence of all this was further to undermine the position of Schacht, who felt that he was being asked to do the impossible, and who was simply regarded as a failure by Hitler. His presidency of the Reichsbank was renewed in mid March 1937, but the Führer reduced the extension of his term from the four years envisaged in the draft of the announcement to a mere twelve months. Schacht was on notice. Hitler’s main motivation in keeping him on was to reassure the outside world. When Schacht tried to extract a promise not to issue any more inflationary MEFO bills, which would have endangered Hitler’s rearmament plans, the Führer bridled. There was a furious exchange, and when Schacht stood his ground, Hitler gave way in part.101 Throughout the summer Schacht protested, obstructed and generally dragged his heels. In a letter copied to Hitler he warned that ‘one cannot either bake bread or cast cannon with paper’.102 A visibly unnerved Hitler summoned him at once to the Obersalzberg. The interview was unproductive. Schacht once again offered to resign, but Hitler still needed him to cover his rearmament programme abroad.

Worrying though the economic situation was, Hitler perceived the main threat to his authority in 1937 to come from another quarter, namely organized religion. He was horrified to be told by his intelligence services in late March 1937 that Pope Pius XI was about to issue a blistering encyclical. It had been in gestation for several months, during which the ailing pontiff consulted with the German church about the growing menace of Nazism.103 Entitled ‘With Burning Concern’, the encyclical was signed on 14 March 1937, and read from German pulpits on Palm Sunday, 21 March 1937. It condemned the regime’s ‘open and covert’ attacks on the Church, and the ‘illegal and inhumane’ pressure exerted against believers. It also struck at the very root of Hitler’s ideology, attacking ‘race and blood’ as ‘false coins’ which ‘do not deserve Christian currency’, and rejected repressive ‘human laws’ which were so ‘in contradiction with the natural law’ as to be ‘vitiated with a taint which no force, no power can mend’. For Hitler, there was no doubt about it. He was under attack from Roman Catholicism, a threat which might be domestic in manifestation but international in origin.

Retaliation was swift. Distribution of the encyclical was banned.104 A stiff note was sent to the Vatican.105 Relations cooled dramatically.106 When German academics were invited to the opening of the Papal Academy of Sciences in Rome, Hitler banned them from attending in light of ‘the current attitude of the Holy See towards the German Reich’.107 It was the German Catholic Church, however, which bore the brunt of the Führer’s wrath. ‘We will never accept,’ Hitler warned in a speech in late April 1937, ‘that anything should place itself above the authority of [the state] not even a church.’108 In 1937, the Gestapo, especially Reinhard Heydrich, spent much more time investigating the ‘black’, that is clerical, threat than the ‘red’ menace of social democracy and communism, which had by then been largely crushed.109 Likewise, the Propaganda Ministry considered the struggle against the Catholic Church the ‘most important domestic political confrontation’.110

The regime’s main strategy was to discredit the church as an institution. Hitler urgently instructed the Justice Ministry to resume legal proceedings against alleged clerical child abusers, which had been largely suspended in the interests of good relations.111 He authorized the use of material gathered during the court cases for political purposes by local Gauleiter.112 Goebbels – at Hitler’s direct instigation – exploited the propaganda opportunities mercilessly, dragging the church through the mud at every opportunity, in newspaper articles and radio broadcasts. Almost daily, Germans were treated to lurid accounts of clerical sexual abuse, not all of them invented. The Führer himself was more restrained in his remarks, but made unmistakable references to the trials in his own speeches.113 The regime also pressurized the Catholic milieu in general. Sometimes tensions spilled over into violence, for example in July 1937, when participants in a Corpus Christi procession in the strongly Catholic Ermland region of East Prussia resisted police trying to confiscate the flag of a Catholic youth association.114 Hitler was on the verge of plunging Germany into a new Kulturkampf.

For all his sound and fury, Hitler was anxious to avoid a complete breach with the Catholic Church for as long as possible. This was partly because he feared the international influence of the Vatican, and partly because he did not want to alienate German Catholics from the Volksgemeinschaft and drive them into the hands of the external enemy. ‘According to confidential sources,’ the Italian ambassador to the Vatican reported in June 1937, ‘Hitler has affirmed the need to avoid confessional wars and his determination that the German people not be divided into two separate religious parties.’115 Towards the end of July 1937, Hitler ordered a sudden end to the prosecution of alleged clerical child abusers.116 In the autumn, he considered a plan to abolish all religious holidays, but thought better of it, on the grounds that it was ‘not appropriate at present’. By the end of the year, Hitler had re-established an uneasy truce with the Roman Catholic Church.

One of the reasons why Hitler was so anxious about the power of the Catholic Church was because he saw the Vatican as allied to the Habsburg cause in Austria. The Führer was unsettled by the increased activity of the restorationist movement there. In mid January 1937, he was confronted with a warning from Papen in Vienna about the growth of the legitimist cause, which was focused on the young Otto von Habsburg, son of the last emperor, Karl, and a serious political figure in his own right.117 Not long afterwards, Göring met with Mussolini in Rome and told him that Germany would never tolerate a ‘Habsburg Restoration’ in Austria in any form.118

What Hitler was worried about here was not Habsburg armies, but the power of the legitimist idea, which he regarded as a direct challenge to his own imperial authority. He knew that insignia of the old Holy Roman Empire were in Vienna and could be used to underpin claims in the Reich. Hitler saw himself as the culmination of all the strands of German history. He contained and resolved a multitude of contradictions. The great picture window on the Berghof looked out on the Untersberg in which – as Hitler liked to tell guests119 – the court of the emperor Charlemagne, or as in some accounts of Barbarossa, was asleep and waiting for the last epic battle to establish a new Reich. German political history, on his reading, had ended in 1933, now Otto von Habsburg threatened to drag Germans back into the past. Quite apart from being a representative of a loathsome dynasty, Otto was a menace to Hitler’s entire imaginative project. The effect of all this was to enhance Hitler’s fears of an international Catholic conspiracy against him, to increase his desire to reach an understanding with Italy, Hungary and other powers affected by the Habsburg threat, and to strengthen his determination to settle the Austrian question as soon as possible. The skeletal military contingency plan against Austria drawn up in late June 1937 was thus logically given the code name ‘Otto’.120

Amidst all this, Hitler had not given up his plans to secure Lebensraum for the German people. It was central to his entire economic theory. Once again, his main point of reference remained the global powers, especially the United States. The Americans not only had plenty of space, it was also very fertile. In the Mississippi Delta, he argued in May 1937, ‘a people could live there in plenty’, provided there was no flooding, a reference to the catastrophic floods there that decade, and another sign that the Führer was well aware of events across the Atlantic. The Germans, by contrast, had no space. Reprising themes familiar from earlier speeches, Hitler claimed that they lived jammed together in a tiny area, while the Russians, the British and especially the North Americans lived in ‘superfluity’.121 ‘Our living space is too small,’ he reiterated a few months later, and needed to be supplemented by ‘colonies’.122 This meant lifting the Germans out of their current position as ‘a people which did not belong to the exclusive ranks of the global propertied elite’.123 Germany, Hitler effectively argued, picking up a theme from his 1920s rhetoric, was still part of the global proletariat.

The purpose of food, Flann O’Brien once said, is to ‘keep people alive and in their own country’. With this in mind, the Third Reich had sought self-sufficiency from the very beginning, but the limits of greater agricultural productivity were clear by 1937. Yearly ‘battles of production’ had increased output substantially, perhaps as much as by a third. Now the law of diminishing returns applied. It was against this background that in February 1937 Hitler instructed the Ministry of Agriculture to start planning the settlement of lands beyond the current borders of the Reich.124 He announced that ‘the final non-negotiable aim for us is a Great Reich’, which would ‘establish and secure the future food supply of Germany’.125 The area under consideration was Czechoslovakia and, especially, Ukraine. It emphatically did not include, at this point, Poland, whose diplomatic and military cooperation was vital to any campaign against the Soviet Union.

There was as yet no timetable, no sense of immediate urgency about these plans. ‘The Zugspitze [Germany’s highest mountain] cannot be climbed in one step,’ he warned, ‘one takes one step at a time, but we are pretty much halfway up.’ ‘Only a short time has passed,’ Hitler continued, ‘but I have planned the work of this movement over a longer timescale, and the final implementation of the programme will take as long as it takes until we have raised a generation in Germany which has completed our schooling.’126 These were generic exhortations, designed to prevent the German people from settling down, setting them ever newer tasks to rejuvenate the race. ‘So long as you carry out ambitious projects,’ he proclaimed, ‘you will remain young.’ A few months later, Hitler conceded that his plans were a ‘project for the future’. There was no sense at all of when the second half, or the last third, of the programme would be completed, when the ‘final objective’ would be reached, but the general sense conveyed was that of a generational struggle which would last many decades and perhaps centuries.

In the course of 1937, the new National Socialist year unfolded one last time as Hitler worked through the calendar of invented traditions. The press followed his progress as he switched between the Imperial Chancellery, his Munich flat and the Obersalzberg. It culminated that autumn in a long Indian summer of festivals, rallies and visits. Spurning an invitation to the 700th anniversary of the founding of Berlin, Hitler set off for Bayreuth. He then went on to the party rally at Nuremberg, where he delivered a series of keynote speeches. Germany was now much more secure, the Führer claimed, partly because it had allies such as Italy and Japan, but mainly because of its ‘systematic racial policy’. This, Hitler averred, was ‘creating the new human being’, a perhaps deliberate echo of the Soviet ambition to create ‘the new man’. These new people were not merely more numerous – he emphasized the ‘growing number of births’ – but also better-looking. ‘How beautiful our girls and boys are,’ Hitler continued, ‘how glowing is their glance, how healthy and fresh is their posture, how splendid are the bodies of the hundreds of thousands and millions, which are schooled and nurtured by our organizations’. In short, Hitler celebrated ‘the rebirth of a nation through the conscious breeding of a new type of human being’.127

The atmosphere at the 1937 rally was electric. One eyewitness described a ‘mass hysteria’ and ‘delirium’ with constant shouting and exclamations of ‘Heil’. When Hitler passed through in triumph, even the foreign guests were overwhelmed, with many being moved to tears, or joining in the salutes. The Führer welcomed selected outside dignitaries at the castle over breakfast – it is clear that much of the spectacle was designed to impress them. The Corps Diplomatique attended en gros for the first time, another triumph.128 All seemed well.

No sooner had the Nuremberg rally ended than Hitler looked forward to the next pageant, which was the return visit by Mussolini to Germany.129 It took the Duce from Munich to Berlin, to military manoeuvres in the Baltic. Every stage of his progress was carefully choreographed, right down to the moment when the Hitler’s train, which had run on parallel tracks with Mussolini’s for the final stretch, pulled ahead, allowing the German dictator to greet his visitor in the imperial capital; perhaps there was also a suggestion that Nazi Germany had overtaken fascist Italy.130 Nothing was left to chance. The acclamation and enthusiasm on display were carefully staged; workers were given the day off to cheer.131 Very little of substance appears to have been discussed during these days, but that was not really the point. The purpose of the whole exercise was primarily performative: an opportunity for Hitler to showcase his achievements, to assert his dominance over the more ‘senior’ dictator and to present a common front to the world through a ‘face-to-face’ diplomacy which challenged the prevailing culture of liberal internationalism in Europe.132 In early November, the Duce joined the Anti-Comintern Pact, but a full-scale military alliance with Rome had to wait another eighteen months.

If Hitler had hoped to use the visit to push his claims to Austria, he was disappointed. Mussolini’s train stopped symbolically at the Brenner on the Austro-Italian border. At Innsbruck, the Duce alighted to greet the Austrian foreign minister. It was reported that Mussolini had been handed a letter from the widow of Engelbert Dollfuss, Italy’s dead ally, murdered by Nazis during their abortive coup in 1934.133 For Berlin, the symbolism of these moves was clear. Hitler had already promised Mussolini not to undertake any further moves in Austria without consulting him. Now the Führer let it be known to the Foreign Office and Göring, who he felt was pursuing an ‘overly aggressive policy’, that there was no intention on his side to ‘precipitate a crisis’. Instead, Hitler wanted to ‘continue to pursue an evolutionary solution’.134

Time, it seemed, was still on Hitler’s side. More time was needed for rearmament, and for Austria to fall into his lap. The racial elevation of Germany required even more time. Hitler had not yet completely given up hope of securing his objectives if not with, then at least not against, Britain. He might threaten war, as a bluff, but he did not really want it yet. ‘You know,’ he reassured his party audience in late April 1937, ‘I always go to the limit, but not beyond.’135 The time was not yet ripe to precipitate a confrontation. He did not want the ‘threatened world catastrophe’ to burst upon him ‘too early’. Rather, Hitler stressed, Germany needed peace, a ‘period of tranquillity’, which was ‘necessary in order to let people and state mature politically, psychologically and militarily’. There was, in other words, no rush.

In the autumn of 1937, unbeknown to the vast majority of Germans, and indeed the world at large, Hitler suddenly increased the tempo.136 He decided not merely to begin, but to effect secular change.137 Hitler would be present at the future. Time speeded up. Exactly when or why this happened cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Part of the explanation lies in Hitler’s increased sense of mortality, a fear on his part that illness or assassination might end his life prematurely.138 Contemporaries noted that he would now frequently use the expression ‘so long as I live’.139 The principal reason, though, seems to have been Hitler’s realization that the conflict with the United States, and perhaps with Anglo-America generally, which he had hoped to avoid, or at least to delay as long as possible, was now much closer than he had previously thought. One way or the other, time was no longer on Hitler’s side. What needed to be done had to be done quickly, with the instruments he had, rather than those he would have liked to have had.

The breach seems to date from the first week of October, when Roosevelt launched a fierce attack on the dictatorships.140 On 5 October 1937, FDR gave a speech at Chicago targeting ‘the epidemic of world lawlessness’, leaving his audience in no doubt that he meant Japan, Nazi Germany and fascist Italy. ‘When an epidemic of physical disease starts to spread,’ he continued, ‘the community … joins in a quarantine of the patients in order to protect the health of the community against the spread of the disease.’ If this was not done, Roosevelt warned, ‘let no one imagine that America will escape … that this Western Hemisphere will not be attacked and that it will continue tranquilly and peacefully to carry on the ethics and the arts of civilization’. When pressed by reporters to clarify his remarks, the president admitted that they indicated ‘an attitude’ rather than outlining a programme, but the general drift was clear.141 He had defined the dictatorships as the ‘other’ of the United States, and the language of disease and quarantine, which immediately gave the speech its name, suggested a ‘medicalization’ of American rhetoric against the Third Reich. Roosevelt was systematically preparing American public opinion for war with Germany.142 The Quarantine Speech started a duel between FDR and the Führer which culminated in a full-scale exchange of broadsides eighteen months later, before the Second World War started, and long before the United States itself became a belligerent.

The Quarantine Speech made a deep impression on Hitler.143 He was particularly upset by the fact that Roosevelt seemed to include the Soviet Union among his democratic friends against the Axis. Hitler attributed the president’s belligerence to his alleged need to disguise economic failures through foreign political adventures, a theme to which he would return repeatedly over the next six years. He did not respond publicly, and indeed instructed that the temperature be lowered by the German press, but the Führer did react behind the scenes. On 6 October 1937, the day after Roosevelt’s speech, he wrote to Baron von Rechenberg, a former diplomat, to ask for further copies of his incendiary pamphlet – entitled Roosevelt–Amerika–eine Gefahr – denouncing Roosevelt as a puppet of the Jews.144 Nine days later, Hitler instructed that Ribbentrop and Goebbels be supplied with copies.145 Rechenberg’s diatribe, which contrasted the ‘real Americans’ of white origin with the malevolent Jewish lobby controlling Roosevelt, matched and substantiated Hitler’s own repeatedly stated views more or less exactly.146 At around the same time, Hitler gave the go-ahead for a massive propaganda campaign against Czechoslovakia. It began on 8 October, three days after the Quarantine Speech.147 The pace now quickened across the board.

The looming confrontation with the United States did not make it any less of a model for Hitler. On the contrary, in the late summer and autumn of 1937, Speer’s collaborator and confidant Rudolf Wolters was sent to the other side of the Atlantic to study urban layouts there.148 The sketches and photos he sent to Hitler were revealing of the Third Reich’s preoccupation with the New World, and showed the extent to which the plans for Berlin were influenced by the Washington model. Wolters was in charge of the planning for the new ‘North–South axis’ in Hitler’s monumental Germania project. He was unimpressed by American cities – ‘wild and lacking in order’ – with one exception. This was Washington, especially the area south of the White House, which Wolters deemed remarkable.149 The sketch of the Lincoln Memorial and reflecting pool he sent to the Führer was revealingly entitled ‘East–West Axis’, surely an echo of Hitler’s planned ‘North–South Axis’. Many of the proportions of governmental architecture which he studied in the United States were to be found, several orders of magnitude larger, in the plans for the North–South axis.150 Hitler also read independently about American buildings. When Wiedemann visited the US in late 1937, he brought back architectural books for the Führer, whose ambition was to counter the German ‘inferiority complex’. The gigantism of Hitler’s vision for Germany was primarily driven by his preoccupation with the size of the United States and its monuments.151 The new Berlin, in other words, was being designed to equal and surpass not just its European rivals but Washington, D.C.

A similar dynamic was at play in the Führer’s plans to transform Hamburg, which he believed already had ‘something American’ about it.152 If Washington was the model for Berlin, New York was the inspiration for Hamburg. Earlier that year, Hitler had met the representatives of the city in the Imperial Chancellery, where models of the planned bridge across the Elbe and the new shoreline development as well as detailed plans were on display in the hall. ‘From the bridge over the Elbe upwards,’ he said, ‘the World City of Hamburg begins.’ What Hitler wanted was something of ‘monumental character’, which when lit at night would create ‘an overwhelming sight’.153 His main audience here was Anglo-America, as visitors from overseas usually entered Germany via Hamburg. Hitler later told the visiting Austrian chancellor, Schuschnigg, that he wanted to impress Americans on arrival with the building prowess of the Third Reich.154 The plans were announced publicly in the summer, and in the autumn of 1937 Konstanty Gutschow, the architect tasked with designing the party headquarters skyscraper, went to the United States to study structures such as the Empire State Building in New York.155

Hitler’s ambivalence about the United States was epitomized by his uncertainty over whether Germany should be represented at the next International Exhibition, which was slated for New York in 1939. It made sense to follow up the Reich’s success at Paris with a barnstorming performance on the other side of the Atlantic. Wiedemann, Speer and many others were very keen, but Hitler hesitated.156 The problem was that the fair made little economic sense, as German trade with the United States had slumped since the trade treaty between the two states had expired two years earlier. Moreover, in the Nazi imaginary New York was the belly of the capitalist and Jewish beast. The Propaganda Ministry and the Foreign Office both argued against participation on the grounds that it would simply allow local critics like Mayor La Guardia to grandstand against the regime. Towards the end of the year, Hitler finally decided to veto the German participation.157 He would not take his message to the New World, but engage with it on his own terms on the near side of the Atlantic. Hitler’s world was beginning to contract.

Returning to Berlin at the end of October 1937, Hitler held two hugely important meetings. The first, on 29 October, was with the NSDAP Propagandaleiter. He told them that he did ‘not have long to live by human calculation’. He explained this not with reference to any illness, which might have alarmed his audience, but with reference to the fact that members of his family tended not to live very long. Both his parents, he added, had died early. For this reason, Hitler continued, it was ‘necessary to solve the problems which needed to be solved as soon as possible’, that is, ‘within his lifetime’. ‘Only’ he, the Führer stressed, was in the position to ensure this.158 Hitler was putting his audience on notice that time was about to speed up. A watershed had been reached.

The second meeting was held in the Imperial Chancellery on 5 November and resulted in the famous ‘Hossbach Memorandum’.159 It should not be understood as inaugurating a new phase in Hitler’s policy, but as reflecting a recent shift. The immediate purpose of the meeting, which took place at Blomberg’s request, was to discuss the allocation of raw materials to the Wehrmacht, a key question which could only be resolved on the basis of the Führer’s overall strategy. This Hitler set out in considerable detail, making clear that his remarks were intended as a guide to ‘long-term German policy’ and as his ‘legacy for the event of his death’. The tension between Hitler’s long-time horizon and the possibility of his death was evident. Nothing in the following grand strategic vision was new, indeed it had been rehearsed by Hitler ad nauseam since the 1920s. The main aim of German policy, he said, was ‘securing and increasing’ the numbers of the Volk, which was a ‘question of space’. The German people, Hitler argued, were crammed together in central Europe and needed more space. The alternative of autarchy or international trade was rejected, as it was very difficult to achieve with regard to raw materials and simply impossible in terms of food security. Hitler’s conclusion was that ‘The future of Germany could only be determined by the solution of the question of space,’ which must be sought for ‘a period of one to three generations’.

The main powers to be taken into account ‘today’, Hitler continued, were England, France, Russia [sic] and the smaller neighbouring states. What was striking about this assessment was not so much the much greater attention given to Britain than any other power, as the fact that the United States does not appear to feature in his calculations. There could be many reasons for this, but the most obvious is that the crucial word was ‘today’. As we shall see, Hitler remained preoccupied with the sheer size of the United States at this time, but it was not the point at issue in the meeting, which was concerned with the near future, and the immediate neighbourhood. Hitler would deal with Europe ‘today’ and with the world – that is, the United States – tomorrow. The meeting was not called to unveil Hitler’s well-known long-term ambition, which was to confront or at least balance the United States, but to set out the short-term steps required to make the medium-term conquest of Lebensraum in Russia possible. Hitler had moved from contemplating a more distant global future, to the immediate solution of a pressing problem on the continent. This could only be done through ‘force’ and that path, he warned, was ‘never without risk’. Frederick the Great and Bismarck, Hitler explained, had also acted in ‘an unbelievably risky manner’. That being so, he claimed, the only questions that remained to be addressed were the ‘when’ and the ‘how’.

Hitler envisaged three scenarios. Under the first, the latest date for action would be 1943–5, because ‘thereafter one could only expect things to develop to [Germany’s] disadvantage’. The Wehrmacht, he claimed, was as ready as it would ever be. Within a few years the qualitative edge in equipment and the quantitative advantage in mobilization would be lost. The Reich would be vulnerable to a ‘food crisis’, because there were insufficient reserves of food and of foreign exchange to buy it. Herein, Hitler admitted, lay a potential ‘moment of weakness for the regime’. He also warned of the ‘prospect of declining living standards and birth rates’. This was a striking admission that his project of racial elevation and multiplication through a higher standard of living had stalled. Moreover, the outside world had woken up to the danger – a reference to western rearmament but also Roosevelt’s rhetoric – and was beginning to prepare itself for the conflict ahead. Developmental time and military time were now running against Germany. For all these reasons, Hitler said that if he were ‘still alive’ then, it would be his ‘final decision to solve the German problem of space by 1943–5 at the latest’.

There were two other scenarios, in which decisive action either could or would have to be taken earlier. One was a domestic French collapse, or France’s distraction by a war with another state, which would leave Germany free to act. In that event, his first priority would be ‘to crush Czechoslovakia and simultaneously Austria in order to secure the flanks of any move against the west’. The aim here was not the acquisition of Lebensraum. In a prefiguring of his wartime plans, Hitler argued that the capture of the densely settled – his exact words were ‘not thinly’ – Czechoslovakia and Austria would only be a net gain if 2 million people could be expelled from the former and a million from the latter. Rather, the move was a shaping operation designed to pre-empt a French- or British-inspired Czech attack on Germany’s southern flank. Hitler was also concerned to deter Poland, which he did not entirely trust, from taking advantage of Germany’s difficulty. There was no sense at all, however, that he was planning an attack on Poland himself, quite the opposite. Hitler’s third and final scenario concerned the possibility of a war arising out of a confrontation in the Mediterranean.

To his immense frustration, Hitler was strongly contradicted by the military men and the Foreign Office. It was not that they objected to the Lebensraum conception – with which they had been familiar at the very latest since Hitler’s secret speech to the generals in February 1933. They were highly sceptical, however, that Britain and France would allow Austria or Czechoslovakia to be occupied unopposed. Blomberg and Fritsch both stressed that the Wehrmacht was not yet in a position to fight any resulting war with the western powers.

After the meeting in the Imperial Chancellery, Hitler began to put his new strategy into effect. That very same day, he met with representatives of the Polish minority within the Reich and with the Polish ambassador Lipski.160 The Polish alliance remained central to his vision. Over the next year or so, Hitler continued to emphasize the mutual respect between Poland and Germany, and to praise the memory of Marshal Piłsudski as a ‘towering personality’ who had recognized the necessity of a rapprochement.161 On the day following the meeting, Mussolini finally joined the Anti-Comintern Pact. Shortly after, Hitler met the Hungarian prime minister as part of his plan to isolate Austria and the Czechs. The Hungarians were told to concentrate their demands on the Czechs and leave the Yugoslavs alone. In late December, the army issued a new instruction for a war in the south-east, entitled Fall Grün. At around the same time, the expansion of the Luftwaffe and the navy was put on hold, and expenditure on the army was increased.162 All of this was consistent with a plan to crush Austria and Czechoslovakia quickly, when the opportunity presented itself, and to launch a land war of conquest against the Soviet Union, within eight years.

Central to Hitler’s plans was the attitude of Britain. Despite the warning signs, he had still not given up on London. A British alliance would be critical to balance the power of the United States, and British acquiescence was essential to his plans in central Europe, and for his projected war of conquest in the east. In late January 1938, Hitler met with the foreign secretary, Lord Halifax, at the Berghof and presented him with his demands concerning Austria, Czechoslovakia and Danzig; control over the latter was sought not as an anti-Polish gesture but in order to secure the port for the planned war on Russia. He was frank about his concern that, unlike Russia and the United States, Germany did not have enough space. The foreign secretary, who had mistaken Hitler for the footman on arrival, indulged the Führer by replying that all requests could be considered, but that any changes would have to be agreed peacefully.163 When Halifax praised Hitler for ‘preventing the entry of communism into his own country’, the translator, Dr Paul Schmidt, added – at any rate in the German protocol – ‘that Germany could therefore with justice be regarded as the bulwark of the west against Bolshevism’, a much more comprehensive notion with far-reaching implications for the latitude he might enjoy on that basis. Hitler was notorious for hearing what he wanted to hear, and he seems to have come away with a greatly exaggerated sense of British understanding for his position.164

The Führer flanked these diplomatic efforts with a concerted domestic campaign. Repression, which had eased off for the first nine months of the year, now resumed in earnest. The main target was the Jews. Considerations of foreign policy, which had previously served to mitigate Hitler’s ferocity for fear of antagonizing the United States, now drove an escalation.165 On 5 November, the same day as the Hossbach meeting, all Soviet Jews were ordered to leave Germany within ten days; these he did not seem to view as potential hostages. Three days later, Goebbels opened the – long-planned – exhibition ‘The Eternal Jew’, the main thrust of which was directed against capitalism rather than Bolshevism. Right at the end of that month, Hitler told Goebbels that the Jews would have to be expelled from Germany altogether.166
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‘England is the motor of opposition to us’

The Führer spent Christmas and New Year on the Obersalzberg. Returning to Berlin, Hitler threw himself back into work. On 12 January 1938, Hitler met the Polish foreign minister, Beck. Five days later, he spoke to the Yugoslav foreign minister, Stojadinović. Both men agreed that a Habsburg restoration was to be averted at all costs. Hitler turned up the heat against the Czechs in a speech on 20 February 1938 in which he demanded the right to protect German minorities in Europe, a marked change from his earlier policy. ‘Self-determination’ and even – in as many words – humanitarian intervention became frequent slogans.1 Despite Ribbentrop’s dispatch, Hitler also kept trying with Anglo-America. In early March 1938, he met the British ambassador, Henderson, who held out the prospect of a return of some of Germany’s colonies, either outright or under some form of joint management. Hitler showed little interest, proclaiming the colonial question as not yet ‘ripe for a solution’.2 The Führer also warned Henderson that that he would not tolerate British interference in the relationship between Germany and ‘tribally related countries or countries with a high proportion of ethnic Germans’, any more than London would accept his interference in Irish affairs. If Britain did meddle, Hitler added, ‘then the time had come at which we would have to fight’.3

The new tone was unmistakable. Britain was now the main obstacle. The Soviet Union, which had loomed relatively large for about a year in 1936–7, now receded in Hitler’s consciousness once more. As his remarks to Henderson indicated, he saw London’s nationality and imperial problems as an instrument which could be used to deter or contain British intervention in central Europe. Hitler’s speeches began to adopt the language of anti-imperialism. More importantly, in a sign that he had taken on board Ribbentrop’s demand for a global coalition against Britain, the Führer sought to deepen the relationship with Japan. On 20 February 1938, he finally announced that he intended to recognize the Japanese puppet-state of Manchukuo.4 This had been long delayed so as not to offend China, but now the common front against the British Empire had priority.5 When Hermann Kriebel, an old Nazi who had served as general consul in Shanghai came to warn Hitler against putting all his eggs in the Japanese basket, the Führer refused to receive him, remarking: ‘I don’t need him. He was over there and misjudges the situation. I wasn’t there, but my assessment is correct.’6

The declining relationship with Anglo-America made Hitler all the more determined to make Berlin a city to put Washington, and the capitals of other rival powers, in the shade.7 On 11 January 1938, Hitler instructed Speer to build a new Imperial Chancellery in the Vossstrasse to reflect the grandeur of the Third Reich. ‘Whoever enters the Imperial Chancellery,’ he remarked during a trip to the building site, ‘must have the sense of approaching the lord of the world.’8 That same month, Hitler issued his ‘Decree on the Reorganization of Berlin’. Shortly after that, on 28 January 1938, the plans for the new city of Germania were presented to the public. They involved a huge north–south axis, bookended with two massive railway stations. The Great Hall of the People was intended to be the largest indoor auditorium in the world, with space for 180,000 people and a dome sixteen times bigger than that of St Peter’s in Rome. It was clearly designed to dwarf the US Capitol. The artificial lake was surely a nod to the Washington reflecting pool as represented in the sketches by Speer’s close collaborator Rudolf Wolters. The massive triumphal arch, which Hitler intended to carry the names of the 1.7 million German First World War dead, was doubtless intended to overshadow the much smaller Arc de Triomphe in Paris. The regime press were suitably awe-struck, but the real audience was abroad. The New York Times, for example, wrote that Hitler’s project was ‘perhaps the most ambitious planning scheme’ of the age.9

Hitler’s interest in the remodelling of German cities went well beyond the imperial capital, to include Nuremberg, Augsburg, Weimar, Goslar, Bayreuth and especially Munich and Hamburg.10 In late February, he gave a speech on the remodelling of Germany’s cities. In late May 1938 he issued a decree on the planned monumental bridge across the harbour at Hamburg, which was intended to rival the San Francisco Golden Gate Bridge. Critics saw all these plans, especially the remodelling of Berlin, as evidence of hubris, even of insanity. Speer’s father, also an architect, famously remarked on seeing the plans for Germania that ‘you have gone completely crazy’. There was a lot in this. That said, Hitler’s main motivation was not megalomania, but insecurity, a desire to bolster shaky German self-esteem in order to prepare the nation for the struggle ahead. He planned such structures, Hitler told an audience of senior military men, not out of ‘megalomania’, but rather ‘because of the cold calculation that such mighty works were the only way of giving the [German] people self-confidence’.11

Nor had Hitler completely given up hope of winning the battle of consumption with Anglo-America. On his birthday, Ferdinand Porsche presented Hitler with a model of the planned new Volkswagen; the resulting photograph shows his face to be a picture of delight. Not long after, the Führer laid the foundation stone of the first Volkswagen factory.12 Its design consciously imitated that of the large American automobile works Porsche had visited during a fact-finding visit to the United States. But Wolfsburg was intended to be much more than just the ‘greatest German car factory’. It was to be, as Hitler explained in his accompanying speech, ‘a model German workers’ city’, with exemplary ‘social housing’ which would serve as a template for similar ventures elsewhere in the Reich. The huge residential apartment blocks housing the car workers and their families – a city of 90,000 inhabitants was planned – were laid out in a distinctly modern, even progressive style. The individual flats were large, being geared towards families with four children, and well appointed. There was central heating, warm water and various modern conveniences, including washing machines in the central laundries.13 This was the German dream-modernity Nazi style much as Hitler had envisaged in the 1920s.

In late January 1938, Hitler was suddenly engulfed by a crisis not of his own making.14 The Reichswehr minister, Werner von Blomberg, had recently remarried a much younger and socially lower-ranking woman.15 Concerned that this new union would be rejected by his brother officers, Blomberg turned to Hitler for support, telling him that his betrothed was a ‘typist’, and an ‘ordinary girl’ who had ‘a past’.16 The Führer, ever keen to break down class barriers in Germany, probably assumed that her ‘past’ simply referred to previous relationships, and spontaneously offered to act as witness at the wedding, which took place in some haste in mid January 1938. Soon after the nuptials, however, it transpired that Blomberg’s bride had a police record as a prostitute and as a model of pornographic photos. Göring presented the evidence, including the pictures, to Hitler later that month. It was entirely conclusive. The Führer’s outrage knew no bounds. He paced up and down the room, utterly shocked, muttering to himself and shaking his head. ‘If a German field marshal marries a whore,’ Hitler expostulated, ‘then anything is possible.’17 The Führer felt personally betrayed and misled by Blomberg. While he was happy to endorse marriage across traditional class lines, and was unworried by pre-marital sex, Hitler would never have allowed himself to be associated with pornography and prostitution. He feared becoming a laughing stock, especially abroad. There was no doubt in his, or anyone else’s mind, that Blomberg had to go.

This single dislodged stone triggered a landslide. Hitler wanted to replace Blomberg swiftly and discreetly. His eye inevitably fell on the army chief, Fritsch, a plausible candidate who would be acceptable to the army. But the Führer was now on guard. He feared that Blomberg was only the tip of the iceberg, that the lid had been lifted on a senior officer corps where depravity was rife. Recalling earlier accusations of homosexuality against Fritsch, which he had discounted, Hitler immediately demanded that the file be reconstituted and the case reopened, before he would consider him for Blomberg’s succession. He questioned Fritsch personally. The meeting did not go well, primarily because Fritsch – in the interests of full disclosure – mentioned his friendly connections to some Hitler Youths, one of which had ended badly. Hitler was immediately suspicious, sensing a much larger and uncontainable scandal involving ever more boys. He was not willing to take chances, not least because homosexual activity was illegal and exposed culprits to the risk of blackmail. Hitler’s confidence in the army had been shattered. Fritsch, too, would have to go. In neither case was Hitler motivated by the desire to rid himself of opponents of the strategic vision he had laid out, or restated, in the Chancellery in November 1937. He could, after all, have sacked either man with a minimum of fuss at any point since then.

The Führer was now faced with a major headache. Firstly, he needed to find replacements for both Blomberg and Fritsch. The very fact that Hitler had to cast around for nominations, and consult more widely than he usually did, shows that he had not plotted the changes in advance. Secondly, the Führer had to think of a way of presenting the changes without the embarrassing truth becoming known. Hitler began with the succession to Fritsch. The army wanted General Gerd von Rundstedt, whom Hitler rejected as too old. His own preference was for Walther von Reichenau, the man with whom he had been in contact even before the takeover of power and who had been instrumental in getting the army to swear an oath to Hitler personally after Hindenburg’s death. The army, in turn, refused to wear a man widely regarded as a lazy and politicized careerist. In the end, Hitler settled on Walther von Brauchitsch, who committed himself ‘to bringing the army closer to the state and its ideas’.18

Replacing Blomberg was no less problematic. It was not just a question of finding a name, but also of defining the future of the role itself. There had long been voices calling for a reorganization of the structure of the German High Command. This was a good opportunity to effect a change. The initiative here did not come from Hitler, but from within the army, from Keitel and indeed from the retiring Blomberg, who urged the Führer to take over the supreme command of the army himself.19 Hitler abolished the position of Reichswehr minister and established in its place a ‘supreme commander of the Wehrmacht’ – himself – and a High Command of the Wehrmacht (OKW), which would discharge the former ministerial functions of the Wehrmacht Office.20 Direct formal control of the armed services had now fallen into Hitler’s lap.

All that remained now was to communicate these changes to the country and the world at large. Astonishingly, word of the crisis had not leaked. Hitler decided to frame the new appointments as part of a general reshuffle which would change the narrative and give the world something else to talk about.21 So on 4 February 1938, Hitler announced the new military arrangements together with a raft of other measures. Most important among these was the replacement of Neurath at the Foreign Office by Ribbentrop. The effect of these changes was less dramatic than one might imagine, because Hitler was already in more or less complete control of the German military and foreign policy, and – leaving Fritsch aside – it would have been hard to imagine a more enthusiastic supporter of both National Socialism and Hitler’s strategy than the sacked Blomberg. What the whole episode did show however was the considerable skill with which the Führer could retrieve a very difficult situation and even turn it to his advantage.

Hitler now pressed ahead with his plans for Austria. Despite the increased urgency, his aim was not immediate occupation. That would simply have been too risky, and it was unnecessary. Hitler’s aim was to neutralize Austria as a threat to his southern flank and to cook the Austrian government slowly in a pot, rather than causing the whole vessel to boil over. This was consistent with the ‘evolutionary’ approach Hitler and Schuschnigg had agreed on in July 1936. Following the discovery of another putsch plan by some radical Austrian Nazis, the Austrian chancellor, Schuschnigg, came to Berchtesgaden on 12 February, trying to reaffirm Hitler’s support for the more moderate Austrian Nazis. The German dictator, however, could prepare for this encounter, through information provided by Austrian Nazis, having received in advance a detailed briefing on how far Schuschnigg was prepared to go. It was a tense meeting, at which Hitler browbeat his interlocutor into granting an amnesty for Austrian Nazis and appointing some prominent Nazis to key positions in the government.22

Hitler still favoured an evolutionary solution in Austria, though, and told Austrian Nazis that a violent confrontation should be avoided if at all possible. The Führer, in short, was at pains to prevent a repetition of the events of 1934. The Austrian Nazis, however, continued their demonstrations, seeing the appointment of a Nazi sympathizer, Seyss-Inquart as interior minister, as a clear go-ahead. In response, Schuschnigg suddenly announced on 9 March 1938 that he would hold a referendum on the future status of Austria within four days. The wording of the question and the modalities surrounding the organization of the vote, especially the plan to exclude voters under the age of twenty-four, many of whom were Nazis, made clear that it was directed against any Anschluss.

Hitler was caught completely off-balance. His strategy had caused the pot to boil over after all. The choice was stark. On the one hand, if he allowed the referendum to go ahead, and if – as seemed likely – it resulted in a victory for Schuschnigg, then the subsequent absorption of Austria would be much more difficult. On the other hand, if he attempted another coup, or even invaded outright, Hitler risked another catastrophic failure and perhaps Italian or other great power intervention. The Führer reacted quickly. A day after Schuschnigg’s announcement, he instructed the Wehrmacht to prepare for the occupation of Austria within forty-eight hours. He stressed that this was not to be a ‘war against a fraternal people’, and should therefore be given the appearance of ‘a peaceful invasion which has been welcomed by the people’. That said, resistance was to ‘be ruthlessly broken through force of arms’.23 The operation had to be improvised as there had been no detailed prior planning.

Mussolini’s attitude would be critical. Rome had previously signalled that it might accept an internal Nazi solution, but Hitler had no mandate for a full-scale invasion and there was no time to get one, nor could he risk being refused. On balance, he told Goebbels, he thought that Italy and Britain would ‘do nothing’.24 So the Führer simply informed Mussolini on 11 March in a letter that was delivered in person by his go-between Philipp of Hesse that it was his ‘irrevocable decision’ to ‘restore peace and order in my native land’; one of the concerns cited was fear of a Habsburg restoration.25 He did not wait for the reply. Nor did the Austrian Nazis, who staged demonstrations throughout the country on 11 March. There was also increasing pressure from Berlin on Schuschnigg to call off the referendum and resign, which he did later that day. The Austrian Army was ordered not to resist a German entry, and at midnight, Seyss-Inquart was appointed as the new chancellor. Despite these developments, Hitler gave the order to invade.

In the early hours of 12 March 1938, the first Wehrmacht and German police units crossed the Austrian border. Later that afternoon, Hitler followed suit, via his birthplace Braunau am Inn, pressing on without stopping to Linz. While in the city, he asked Hofrat Adolf Eigl about Dr Bloch, of whom he retained a good memory. Hitler also visited the graves of his parents at Leonding. He signed the Anschluss into law, adding 6.7 million inhabitants to the Reich at a stroke. The next day, Hitler entered Vienna to a tumultuous welcome. On the following day, with Unity Mitford at his side, he proclaimed the Anschluss from the balcony of the Hofburg. The confirmation of the Anschluss law by plebiscite (in Austria as well as the old Reich) on 10 April was just a formality.

South of the Brenner nothing stirred. Mussolini gave the Führer a finger, and he took the whole hand. Hitler had read the Duce correctly. His relief was palpable. ‘’I will never never forget this,’ he assured Mussolini, a message conveyed by Prince Philipp of Hesse over the phone. The great powers did not retaliate either, even though the Anschluss was another direct violation of the Treaty of Versailles; Great Britain and France merely lodged lukewarm protests against German pressure on Austria on 11 March. ‘They said England would be there to stop me,’ Hitler later remarked, ‘but the only English person I saw there [Unity Mitford] was on my side.’26 The Führer had got away with it again. Whatever the input of other Nazi leaders, and Göring seems to have been particularly hawkish, the decision to risk the Anschluss was Hitler’s alone to take.27 Fewer than six weeks after the Blomberg-Fritsch crisis, he had once again gripped a dangerous situation, and turned it to his own advantage. Hitler had not intentionally made, but had seized, exactly the sort of ‘opportunity’ he had envisaged five months earlier in the Imperial Chancellery.

If the west had not reacted to the Anschluss, it had not gone unnoticed. Relations with London and Washington declined sharply. The treatment of the Austrian Jews, in particular, caused renewed horror. The first outrages had already started on 11 March, before the arrival of German troops, and by far surpassed anything the Jews had had to endure in Germany thus far. Roosevelt became active in the cause of Jewish refugees from Nazi Germany, combining the immigration quotas for Germany and Austria, to help those escaping from the latter.28 He also tried to explore the possibility of getting ‘all the democracies to share the burden’ of distributing Jewish migrants. Four months later, this led to the international refugee conference at Evian. The German ambassador, Dieckhoff, warned that the United States would not remain neutral in the event of a world war, but would come in on Britain’s side.29 Roosevelt’s Naval Expansion Bill of the month following the Anschluss was a clear sign of how the wind was blowing. Hitler made some efforts to reach out to the US. He granted an audience to the former US president Herbert Hoover during his European tour. At around this time, the Führer also met with the founder of the American telecommunications giant ITT, Sosthenes Behn.30 Behn, whose paternal ancestry was German, had served in the US army in France in the war and was thus the epitome of the kind of emigrant Hitler was so sorry to lose.

The Führer refused, however, to meet Fritz Kuhn, the Bundesführer of the Amerika-Deutschen Volksbund, who visited Germany in April 1938.31 This was because he wished to avoid antagonizing the US government and public opinion, which were already strongly suspicious of Nazi machinations in the western hemisphere, the extent of which they greatly exaggerated. The US security services kept a close watch on German-American organizations, especially the Bund, as did Samuel Dickstein and Martin Dies’s committee in the House of Representatives, which had recently been renamed the House Committee to Investigate Un-American Activities, or HUAC.32 In fact, Hitler’s main interest in America was not to establish a fifth column on the far side of the Atlantic but quietly to encourage German citizens resident in the United States to return to the Reich.

It was in this context that the regime made a pitch to lure back German emigrants to the Reich. The Four Year Plan and the demands of rearmament revealed a severe shortage of qualified engineers and other skilled workers. Efforts to find these among German nationals in the United States found an echo among those who had failed to find work, who were suffering from increasing levels of anti-German sentiment on the far side of the Atlantic, who still felt the emotional pull of the Fatherland or who sympathized with the Third Reich. The target audience here, in the first instance, was Reich citizens, not German-Americans, but the plan was to extend the scheme to include Volksdeutsche (ethnic Germans) in due course. The exercise failed to bring back more than a small number of people, largely because most of those who wished to avail themselves of the opportunity could not afford the transatlantic passage, even after a fire-sale of their assets, and the regime lacked the foreign currency (Devisen) to pay for their passages en masse. Inevitably, some emigrants hoping to leave the United States suggested that they exchange their property with German Jews trying to get to America.33

To this effect, the Kameradschaft USA was established in 1938 under the general auspices of the Auslandsorganization; US citizens were supposed to be strictly off-limits, although in practice the rule was not always observed. There were no fewer than eight offices across the country to welcome back the ‘USA returnees’, as they were known. Part of the plan was to use their skills to make up shortfalls in German industry, but there was also the hope that they could be used to colonize new living space beyond the existing borders of the Reich. The scheme was a failure, with fewer than a thousand returning to the Reich before the outbreak of war. Many of them were discontented, and some quickly made their way back across the Atlantic.34 All this merely confirmed Hitler’s view that while the Germans who settled in the east remained German, the young men and women who went west were lost to the Reich for ever.

After the Anschluss, Hitler moved quickly to consolidate his authority in Austria, and to exploit his triumph in the Reich itself.35 Among the first ‘transport of prominent people’ to Dachau were the two sons of the murdered Archduke Franz Ferdinand; both were very badly treated there. The Anschluss, which brought another 6 million or so Catholics into the Reich, made a rapprochement with the church hierarchy more urgent. One of the very first things Hitler did on entering Vienna in triumph was to meet with Cardinal Innitzer, at the latter’s request. In a piece of pure theatre, he approached the cardinal, bowed deeply and offered to kiss his hand. Innitzer raised the cross and chain around his neck and symbolically made the sign of the cross. After the cardinal had left, Hitler expressed his strong satisfaction with the meeting, and expressed his confidence that, by contrast with the Reich, ‘he would be able to get on well with the church in Austria’. There, Hitler explained, Catholicism was ‘a state church and had a very different relationship with the state’. He had no objection to that. ‘Churches should only get involved in politics,’ Hitler elaborated, ‘if they were also ideologically instruments’ of the state authorities. But if anyone tried to make ‘the cross the cloak of opposition’, he continued, then they would be ‘annihilated’. In return for Innitzer’s profession of loyalty (he signed off a letter to the Führer with ‘Heil Hitler’), Hitler promised that Catholics would be allowed to practise their religion freely.36

Control of Austria enabled Hitler to lay exclusive claim to the German imperial tradition, whose ‘imperial regalia and imperial insignia’ had been moved from Nuremberg during the French Revolutionary Wars and stored in Vienna since the collapse of the Holy Roman Empire.37 In mid June 1938, the mayor of Nuremberg, referring to Hitler’s own numerous past statements on the matter, requested their return to ‘the city of the Reich party rallies’. Hitler readily agreed, and when the Reichsstatthalter in Austria, Seyss-Inquart, demanded that they remain in Vienna, the Führer gave him short shrift.38 The return of the insignia to Nuremberg, with its strong party affiliations, symbolized the continuity which Hitler wished to suggest between his Third Reich and the First Reich of Charlemagne. It was also intended, as he explained in mid September, to show ‘the whole world’ that a ‘mighty’ German Reich had existed ‘a half millennium before the discovery of the New World’,39 evidence, if more was needed, of Hitler’s continuing preoccupation with the United States.

Despite this, Hitler remained anxious about the Habsburgist threat. When in the summer of 1938 the members of the ‘German Association of Nobles’ protested against an article in Julius Streicher’s Der Stürmer which suggested that the Habsburgs had Jewish blood, Hitler was furious. The Führer was angry with his Gauleiter for precipitating the row, but he was also aghast at the way in which the association had sprung to the defence of the Habsburgs at a time when ‘a decisive and coherent front of the entire German people against the House of Habsburg’ was required. Hitler decreed that there should be no discussion of the incident in the press or in public. He also declared that he wanted the members of the House of Habsburg to be expelled from Austria, and all compensation payments for the sequestration of their property to be stopped. The matter was still being discussed towards the end of the summer, and the question was ultimately left for Hitler to decide.40 Early in the following year, the necessary laws came into force, and all Habsburg property was seized by the Third Reich. The whole episode testified to the importance which Hitler attached to the Habsburg question and control of the German imperial tradition.

The occupation of Austria was not intended to provide Hitler with a staging ground for further expansion to the south or the south-east. The new name of the province – Ostmark – made clear that he saw it as a ‘bulwark’ on the southern flank of the Reich,41 not a sally-port. Hitler’s view of south-eastern Europe, at least at this point, was largely uncoloured by pan-German sympathies. He continued to tread carefully with regard to the German minorities across Europe. When Hess protested that a circular by Imperial Organization leader Ley, implying ambitions on South Tyrol, Switzerland, Alsace-Lorraine and western Poland, might cause diplomatic complications Hitler agreed that it should be withdrawn.42 Relations with Yugoslavia and other Balkan countries were intensified, not so as to render them ripe for annexation but in order to support the economic needs of rearmament. Germany did not run up a large imbalance of payments in the expectation of escaping it through conquest, but rather because there was lower demand for her products than she had hoped.43

Hitler also moved to reassure Mussolini, who had been presented with a fait accompli during the Anschluss. Hitler’s letter of 11 March 1938 had promised to respect the Brenner border, and was instantly published by the Italian press, but there had been an uptick in South Tyrolean agitation after the annexation of Austria just the same.44 Luckily for the Führer, his return visit to Italy was scheduled for early May 1938, giving him the opportunity to settle the issue once and for all. Local Nazis protested vigorously, and the huge German delegation heading south by train was struck by the grimness with which they were received when traversing South Tyrol, which contrasted with the adulation in the Reich and the rest of Italy.45 Hitler remained unmoved. Thanks to the ‘experience of two millennia’, the Führer publicly told the Duce at the Palazzo Venezia in Rome, both parties now wanted to ‘recognize that natural border which providence and history had evidently drawn for our two peoples’. This, he explained, would establish a ‘clear demarcation of the Lebensraum of both nations’.46

Mussolini sought to impress Hitler with a triumphant welcoming display which would exceed that put on by the German dictator for him the previous autumn.47 The Christian heritage of Rome was largely left out of the fascist itinerary for him, while the Vatican demonstratively ignored Hitler’s presence on account of the tensions produced by the papal encyclical a year before. Pius XI condemned the swastika plastered all over the city as ‘a cross inimical to the cross of Christ’. The Vatican museums were shut as a sign of disrespect and the darkness of the papal city contrasted markedly with the fireworks and illuminations put on by the regime.48 Hitler does not seem to have minded. He enthused about the artistic heritage: the Pantheon, the Borghese Museum, the Museo delle Terme and much else. He explored these with the help of an Italian guide, Ranuccio Bandinelli. Hitler was confirmed in his view that the country was a major cultural power, which he hoped to rival with an artistic collection to match that of the Uffizi or the Louvre. This was the genesis of his idea for a Führermuseum at Linz. Even in Italy, though, Hitler was plagued by anxiety about the hostility of the United States. He remarked in the Villa Borghese that he had been asked to support an exhibition of German art in America, but had declined on the grounds that ‘there was a danger that the paintings would be defaced by the Bolsheviks, and in any case why should one be polite to a people [the Americans] which constantly subjected us to vicious attacks’.49

Hitler’s next target was Czechoslovakia, which was in his sights not for demographic or territorial, but for strategic reasons. It was a bone in the throat of the Reich, a potential launchpad for an invasion of Germany by another great power. Neutralizing the Czechs was vital if the Reich was to strike out eastwards to secure Lebensraum. Hitler opposed the simplest solution, which was a ‘strategic assault without any provocation or justification’. Instead, Hitler envisaged either ‘action after a time of diplomatic confrontation which gradually escalates into war’ or ‘lightning action in response to an incident’, for example the ‘murder of the German envoy after an anti-German demonstration’. Here the Führer may have been thinking back to the murder of Wilhelm Gustloff, but it is also possible that he planned to provoke an incident. If the Czechs were not beaten quickly, he warned, ‘then a European crisis would certainly result’. This meant that other powers must be persuaded of the ‘futility’ of military intervention through a fait accompli. Politically, this would involve the acquisition of allies – ‘division of the spoils’ – and the ‘demoralization’ and ‘intimidation’ of the victim.50

The playbook was clear, but Hitler did not plan immediate action. ‘The Führer remarked after the incorporation of Austria,’ Jodl recorded, ‘that he is in no hurry to sort out the Czech question. One first wants to digest Austria.’51 ‘It is not my intention,’ Hitler himself explained privately to his generals, ‘to crush Czechoslovakia without provocation in the immediate future’ unless required to do so by a major shift in Czech internal politics or political developments in Europe provided a particularly favourable and perhaps unique opportunity. Instead, Hitler planned to boil Czechoslovakia in the pot, and to achieve a ‘chemical dissolution’ of that country through disinformation and intimidation. To this end, Goebbels unleashed a ferocious propaganda assault on the country. The Führer instrumentalized the concept of ‘self-determination’.52 This, he argued, was being denied to the 3 million or so Sudeten Germans who lived around the periphery of Bohemia and Moravia; this was of course the same principle that he had himself surrendered with regard to the Germans of South Tyrol.

On 28 March 1938, Hitler held his first meeting with the Sudeten German leader Konrad Henlein. He let it be known that he ‘intended to solve the Czech problem in the not-too-distant future’. The Führer instructed him to raise tensions with Prague, by making ‘demands which were unacceptable for the Czech government’.53 He gave no more detailed indication of his timeline for action. On 2 April, Hitler offered Hungary the return of her former lands (including the Slovak capital Bratislava) in the event of a partition of Czechoslovakia. Three weeks later Henlein set out his stiff and intentionally unacceptable demands to Prague. By early May 1938, the temperature had risen substantially, but there was still no sign that the Führer intended to attack in the near future. In fact, Ribbentrop and Weizäcker told Henlein to avoid escalating the situation too far because ‘we want to make the final decision ourselves’.54

Despite this, the Czech situation did get out of hand in late May and nearly completely escaped Hitler’s control. What exactly happened is still shrouded in mystery, but the rough outlines are known. An anti-appeasement faction in the British Foreign Office and in MI6, aided by the Czechs and German social democrat exiles, probably unwittingly, triggered a crisis in order to torpedo Chamberlain’s policy of conciliation towards Germany, and to mobilize resistance to Hitler. It was claimed – plausibly but falsely – that the Führer had mobilized and was planning an imminent attack on Czechoslovakia. No such German military activity actually took place or was even planned at that moment. Prague, however, did mobilize, and Britain warned Hitler off. Europe appeared on the verge of a major war. For the second time in two months, the Führer was caught unawares, but this time there was no way of taking advantage of the crisis without risking a major conflict for which he was totally unprepared. Hitler was forced to back down in a humiliation not experienced since the failure in Austria four years earlier. When two Sudeten German dispatch riders were killed in controversial circumstances, and the pressure for intervention grew, Hitler merely sent his military attaché in Prague to place a wreath on their graves.55

London had, in effect, framed a guilty man before he committed his (next) crime. The Führer’s personal adjutant Wiedemann, who observed the crisis first in London and then in Berlin, later remarked that ‘Hitler adopted the pose of a man who has committed many transgressions, but who is always particularly outraged if he is ever unjustly accused of something.’56 Instead of deterring Hitler, however, as it was believed then and since, the British intervention electrified him. The events of May 1938 vindicated Hitler’s narrative that the Czechs were the pawns of the great powers.57 Now his aim was not merely to neutralize but to smash Czechoslovakia. ‘It is my irrevocable will,’ he proclaimed, ‘that Czechoslovakia must disappear from the map.’58

Military and diplomatic opinion was convinced that this would lead to war with the western powers. While most confined themselves to private complaints, or secret plans to depose Hitler, the chief of the general staff, General Ludwig Beck, penned a lengthy memorandum setting out his objections in early June 1938.59 He rejected all of the assumptions underlying Hitler’s strategy, beginning with the alleged weakness of Czech defences, and culminating in a warning against assuming the passivity of Britain and France. Beck, however, over-egged the pudding. Even sceptical officers thought that Czechoslovakia could be beaten easily, and doubted whether the west would in fact intervene. The Führer, in any case, was unmoved. He issued new instructions to crush the Czechs. This was the paradox of the May crisis. It was not Britain’s subsequent abandonment which sealed the fate of the Czechs, but the previous expression of British support.

The consequences of the May crisis reverberated throughout 1938, and in many ways until the outbreak of war the following year. What Hitler had for some time suspected now seemed irrefutable. It was the difference between sensing British hostility during the November 1937 meeting in the Reich Chancellery and knowing it after May 1938. London had thrown off the mask. Britain was prepared to go to war to stop Hitler’s planned continental expansion before it had even begun. Moreover, British rearmament was now well underway and, taken together with military expenditure in the Dominions, the Empire already had the largest defence budget in the world.60 Together with that of France, its potential would soon dwarf that of the German Reich in its current borders. To make matters worse, the enmity of the United States at some point in the future was not only certain, as his ambassador in Washington constantly warned, but would be preceded by the gradual increase in her military power. The American plans ‘are clear on one thing’, Hitler’s usually optimistic military attaché in the United States reported in late May 1938 in the context of the May crisis, ‘that the winning of time in an industrial mobilization is a basic factor’.61 The question was always ‘time’, not whether but when the German Reich would again confront the United States.62

For Hitler, too, time was the crucial variable. If it had speeded up markedly since the autumn of 1937, late May 1938 saw another step change. This was reflected in his rhetoric throughout the summer: ‘there must be no problem’, he announced on 22 May 1938, ‘that we do not solve ourselves’.63 ‘It is not the National Socialist way,’ Hitler remarked three weeks later, ‘to leave to posterity the execution of tasks which are already foreseeable.’64 Where Hitler had once said that he was merely starting a long process, he was now unmistakably indicating his determination to finish it.

The Führer no longer believed in an understanding with Britain. He became increasingly sceptical about the value of ‘go-betweens’ and tried personally to regulate the political interaction of Germans with the outside world more generally. He decreed that he did not want German bureaucrats to make ‘official visits’ to ‘the missions of foreign states’ in the Reich, because this would give them a ‘source of information’ independent of the Foreign Office. Hitler also wanted closer superintendence of ‘personal relations’ between German officials and foreigners, the content of which should be reported in writing. Two months later, he laid down that the ‘invitations of important foreign personalities by state and party authorities’ required his permission in ‘every case’. As the year drew to a close, Hitler would go several steps further. He told Lammers that he wanted laws to ensure that ‘marriages between German citizens and those who did not possess German citizenship’ were to be ‘forbidden in principle’.65 Exceptions could only be made by the Führer himself in special cases. This was not a racially motivated measure, because the necessary legislation already existed, but a security-driven one. Across the board, Hitler was pulling down the shutters on the Third Reich.

The Führer now began to prepare Germany for a showdown with Britain. He shifted his rhetoric from admiration of the British to condemnation of their decadence. The Nazi press increasingly portrayed the British as degenerate, effeminate, technologically backward, superannuated and susceptible to Jewish manipulation. Hitler echoed these sentiments.66 ‘Don’t talk to me about the English [sic],’ he told Wiedemann, ‘that is a decadent nation, which won’t fight any more.’67 Such statements have often been misunderstood, confusing cause and effect. Hitler’s growing antipathy to Britain was genuine, as was his anxiety about Jewish influence there, but it was driven not by his belief in her weakness and pliability, but rather by his fear of British power and intentions. Hitler was whistling in the wind, to keep up the spirits of his collaborators and perhaps his own as well. The more frightened he was, the louder he whistled.

A clear sign of Hitler’s concern about the western powers was his decision to strengthen the western defences of the Reich so that he would have his flanks free to strike south-east and then east. The Führer had long planned some sort of barrier, but the May crisis injected a completely new sense of urgency. At the meeting with the military leadership on 28 May 1938, he gave verbal instructions that the German border from Aachen to Basel should be fortified with the help of the Labour Service and Todt’s men by October in time for the planned assault on Czechoslovakia. Further details followed three weeks later.68 Not long after, on the first day of July 1938, Hitler penned a long memorandum on the state of Germany’s fortifications, east and west. His fascination with detail, much of it drawn from his First World War experience, was a portent of his behaviour in the coming conflict. So was concern with psychological factors, especially his fear that fortifications might serve as ‘protection’ for those who ‘did not [want] to fight’ and his belief that victory could never be won through the ‘purely passive means of protection’, but only through the ‘offensive use of weapons’. Finally, it was clear that the main threat now came from the west. ‘If four or five years ago the political situation made it advisable to concentrate the then available defensive capacity primarily against Poland,’ Hitler wrote, ‘the current political considerations and necessities require the strongest concentration of all defensive capacity towards the west.’69

The May crisis also led Hitler to reconsider his armaments policy.70 He now wanted more of everything, and he wanted it even faster than before. The army was to be ready for action by April 1939, a full year earlier than the original target date. It was to store ammunition for three months of fighting. More than half of the workforce devoted to aircraft was allocated to the construction of the Junkers 88, a medium-range bomber, whose main intended function was operations against the Western Allies.71 Hitler instructed his naval adjutant, Captain von Puttkamer, to tell Raeder to speed up the enlargement of the Kriegsmarine. He wanted the navy to bring forward the construction of two battleships to spring 1940; to speed up that of another two; to prepare more dry docks for capital ships; to build all the submarines allowed under the London agreement as soon as the order was given; to build a large number of smaller craft; and to sort out the resulting labour requirements with Göring. The reason for these measures, as Raeder told a hastily convened meeting in the Oberkommando der Kriegsmarine on 25 May 1938, was the foreign political situation, according to which the Führer had to reckon on France and Britain being on the side of the enemies.72 The following month, the navy operations staff was tasked with working out a strategy against Britain. One way or the other, Hitler now thought that war with Britain was not only possible, but likely and perhaps close.

This meant that Hitler urgently needed to strengthen his global alliances, with a view to raising the costs for Anglo-America around the world. In particular, the Führer wanted to end the Russo-Japanese antagonism, which had already exploded into open warfare, and was to escalate still further. He met with the German ambassador to Tokyo, Eugen Ott, in early June 1938. ‘Hitler expanded on the possibility of a war with England,’ Ott recalls. ‘In spite of his conciliation in the question of naval restriction the British would oppose stubbornly the necessary expansion of the German Lebensraum to the east.’ The Führer therefore looked to Rome and Tokyo for help. ‘Then he asked,’ the ambassador continues, ‘whether I thought it possible that Japan could be induced to slacken her tense relations with Russia and to turn against the British Empire.’73 For the first time, Hitler also began to give serious consideration to encouraging anti-colonial movements within the British Empire, something which the left of the party, and many others within the Nazi hierarchy, had been advocating for some time. Criticism of Nazi repression was countered with attacks on British imperial crimes, past and present. German and international audiences were reminded of the incarceration of Boer civilians in concentration camps, an old chestnut of Hitler’s from the 1920s.74 It is striking that the Nazis justified their own measures not with reference to the Soviet Union – the Gulag was not much on their radar – but to the British Empire.

Another priority was sorting out the widening gulf with the armed forces since the start of the year. Here Hitler had two main concerns and they were closely connected in his mind. First, as a result of the Blomberg–Fritsch crisis, he believed that the army leadership was politically at odds with Nazism, defeatist, socially and culturally detached from social realities, and in some cases morally depraved. Hitler frequently described them as a ‘caste of particularly snotty Junker blockheads … full of sterile unfruitfulness, bereft of ideas and cowardly’.75 Secondly, the events of the May crisis, especially military resistance to the planned attack on Czechoslovakia, which many expected would lead to war with the west, made Hitler doubt the robustness of his generals. This impression was confirmed by Beck’s continued criticism of the decision to attack Czechoslovakia. In mid July 1938, he demanded the collective resignation of the generals to force Hitler to change course. When this did not happen, Beck himself resigned a month later. Hitler – who was kept informed of Beck’s opposition76 – increasingly saw the Wehrmacht leadership as cowardly and obstructive, and looked around for alternative military providers. SS units had already participated in the Austrian operation in March, and in August 1938 Hitler decreed that the SS-Verfügungstruppe was ‘a standing armed force’, separate from both the army and the police, and to be used as part of the Wehrmacht in times of war. Later (in April 1940) the various SS military formations became the ‘Waffen-SS’.77

The shift to confrontation also had a profound effect on Hitler’s racial policy. Eliminating the supposedly negative and accentuating the allegedly positive became more urgent, but there was less time to achieve it. Racial cohesion would be needed to fight the war, but the war would kill the ‘best’, and spare the worst. So racial time had to be speeded up, and corners cut. The task facing Hitler was now the racial equivalent of Stalin’s forced industrialization. Unlike Britain, which had industrialized over many decades, the Soviet Union sought to do so in the space of a few years. Likewise, unlike the British Empire, National Socialism could not afford the luxury of the evolutionary racial development and toughening over the centuries.78 Over the next five years, therefore, slow extrusion gave way to rapid extermination. This had paradoxical effects. On the one hand, negative eugenics could be pursued quickly and brutally through exclusion and ultimately annihilation. On the other hand, because the slow ‘elevation’ of racial quality over time was no longer possible, positive eugenics became more inclusive as Hitler had to make do with what he had.

In the summer of 1938, therefore, Hitler escalated the war against the Jews still further. This was primarily a reaction to his sense of external threat, which had been further heightened by the May crisis. Right at the end of that month, Goebbels revived his idea of an ‘anti-Jewish’ operation for Berlin, originally slated to begin after the Führer’s return from Italy. Hitler agreed, and the police chief, Count Helldorf, was instructed to turn up the pressure on the Jewish community.79 He specifically requested, and here the connection to the Czech crisis was evident, that ‘anti-social and criminal Jews’ should be conscripted for ‘important movements of earth’, that is, the construction of the Westwall.80 Two weeks later, with Hitler’s express approval, the police launched a series of raids on the Jewish community in Berlin, provoking widespread protests from foreign embassies and consulates, especially the American and British ones, as their nationals were caught up in the arrests. After four days, they suddenly stopped. ‘The decision to end the operation,’ Franz Alfred Six of the ‘Security Service’ wrote in his final report on the operation, ‘is said to have been taken on the personal intervention of the Führer.’ Hitler appears to have done so for foreign political reasons.81 He had made his point. The outside world, especially Anglo-America, should be in no doubt of his determination to retaliate against German Jewry.

To Hitler, Anglo-American humanitarian outrage about his treatment of the Jews was simply further evidence of their power in Britain and the United States. There were plenty of people who reinforced him in this view. In the summer of 1938, the SS officer Rolf Mühlinghaus was permitted to report in person to the Führer on his experiences at Oxford (Exeter College). The drift of his remarks was that the complete ‘Jewification’ of the British establishment prevented an objective view of developments in Germany.82 In the autumn of 1938, the German military attaché in Washington, Boetticher, who was passing through Berlin, briefed Hitler on the way in which Nazi policies towards the Jews were antagonizing US opinion, even among those who would otherwise be sympathetic. The Führer professed to agree, and promised to show restraint.83 On the one hand, he wanted to signal to the United States that he would hold the Jews hostage for American behaviour. On the other hand, he wanted to avoid precipitating a showdown with the US, at least until he was ready. Tragically, Roosevelt’s hostility to Hitler and his defence of the Jews, however limited the help he gave in practice, endangered them even more than they already were at that stage.

At the same time, Hitler inferred from the unwillingness of other countries to take in the Jews an endorsement of his own position. This each way bet was epitomized by Hitler’s attitude to the Evian conference in July 1938, which Roosevelt called in order to discuss how the democracies might distribute the burden of Jewish refugees more fairly.84 Hitler refused to participate, and when the conference broke up without any British, American or western European offers to take in more Jewish immigrants (only a few Latin American countries opened their doors), his derision knew no bounds. ‘They expect,’ Hitler remarked, ‘that Germany with 140 people per square kilometre should retain its Jews without further ado’, but that ‘the democratic world empires with only a few inhabitants per square kilometre cannot take such a burden on themselves under any circumstances. So no help, but moral [lectures]!’85 There was another, more sinister implication of Evian: there was now a question-mark over large-scale emigration as a solution to the ‘Jewish Problem’.

In this context, Hitler sought to prevent German Jews from acting as a fifth column for the enemy, and to make them hostages for the – supposed – behaviour of international Jewry. In late July 1938, he told Goebbels that he wanted the Jews out, but would keep back a few rich ones as a bargaining counter.86 He now regarded the Nuremberg laws as ‘actually still far too humane’. Jews, he remarked in mid August 1938, might have been removed ‘from the life of the state’, but they remained strong ‘in the economy’. Historically, Hitler argued – repeating a longstanding theme – the Jews had been ‘agents of trade and finance’. On a recent trip through Munich he had asked to see the remaining Jewish shops, and had been horrified to notice that ‘they were all practically still there’. The gradual extrusion of the Jews, in other words, had not worked, or at least was not working quickly enough. Hitler announced privately that he would consider actions ‘to worsen the conditions of Jewish life through additional legislation to such an extent that the bulk of the Jewish population of Germany simply no longer wanted to stay. That was the best way of getting rid of them.’87

Meanwhile, Hitler kept up the pressure to cleanse German art of ‘noisy Dadaists, Cubist plaster-moulders and Futurist canvas-colourers’, and at the opening of the Second Great German Art Exhibition in mid July 1938 praised the nineteenth century as a model instead. This posed a problem for Nazi art, because, unlike Italian fascism, it never really developed a ‘modernistic’ style of its own. Hitler managed to generate a lively market in contemporary art, keeping prices up through his own purchases and making his preferences known.88 Few of its products, with the exception perhaps of the sculptures of Arno Breker, were later judged to be of much lasting value. Hitler seems to have sensed this, but he thought contemporary mediocrity a price worth paying to eliminate the excrescences of modernism and ensure the pre-eminence of ‘timeless’ artistic worth. That said, Hitler was clear that in the field of culture the ‘warm-up time always had to be greater’.89 It was the old problem: eliminating the negative could be done relatively quickly, but accentuating the positive took time.

Sometimes, the two could be done simultaneously. In August 1938, for example, Hitler swopped ‘degenerate art’ for Italian old masters via the international art market. This strategy was of a piece with his broader vision. Demographically, Hitler wanted to reverse what he regarded as the disadvantageous trend of the past century, when Germany had sent high-value emigrants to the United States and received supposedly inferior immigrants from eastern Europe. In the same way, Hitler wanted to cleanse German Art of degenerate elements which could be exchanged for pieces of genuinely high artistic merit. His concern, in short, was political as much as aesthetic. ‘Painting and sculpture,’ Hitler explained, ‘often reflected political circumstances.’ Roman and Greek art, he continued, had long reflected the grandeur of these civilizations, while even the better pieces produced during their decline had been transparently homosexual. Hitler averred that he would never tolerate such degeneracy in Germany.90

The international comparison was also to the fore in Hitler’s insistence on the rapid completion of the new Imperial Chancellery. He wanted a grand building which would represent the might of the Third Reich in time for the New Year’s reception of foreign diplomats. At the topping-out ceremony in early August 1938, Hitler looked back at the speed with which the work was progressing and remarked that ‘this is no longer an American tempo, this is already the German tempo. This is the first time we have shown the world how to do it and that is good.’ Once again, the American tempo was the one to beat, and Hitler meant this more generally as well. His very next sentence referred to the crucial Lebensraum question. ‘We are an overpopulated state,’ he explained, ‘our viability requires greater efforts.’ This meant, Hitler concluded, ‘that we must also increase the pace politically’.91

Time and space, in short, remained at the centre of Hitler’s thinking. While time was running out, there was still a window of opportunity. ‘In politics,’ he told an audience of generals at the Artillery School in Jüterborg in mid August 1938, ‘one must believe in the Goddess of Fortune who only passes once and one must grasp her then! She will never return’.92 Hitler was about to roll the dice again.

Throughout the late summer and early autumn of 1938, Hitler psychologically and militarily prepared Germany for action against Czechoslovakia.93 On 2 September 1938, Hitler met with Henlein, and instructed him to subvert any attempt at a negotiated solution. Goebbels, encouraged by the Führer,94 turned the propagandistic heat back up again. Tension rose across Europe. Hitler warned Unity Mitford to go home for her own safety.95 War was already in the air when the party faithful gathered for the annual rally at Nuremberg.96 There Hitler was handed a memorandum by General Thomas, the head of the War Economics Office, the body which oversaw the economic side of German rearmament. It stated that while Germany would begin any contest with an economic advantage over Britain, this would soon be eroded, and in any case the conflict would soon widen into an unwinnable war with the United States, whose resources were inexhaustible.97 Hitler was furious, and gave Thomas a dressing-down; Dieckhoff, who made similar points about America in a brief private encounter at Nuremberg, received equally short shrift.98 But both his rhetoric and his policies showed that Hitler had got the message. For those worried about conflict with the west, the Führer had reassuring words at the Nuremberg rally about Germany’s ability ‘already now’ to survive a blockade, adding somewhat contradictorily that true security could only be achieved ‘on the basis of our own living space’,99 which by implication had not yet been achieved. In the meantime, Hitler put on a massive military display designed to maintain German morale, to deter the Western Allies and intimidate the Czechs.

These efforts were flanked by a carefully coordinated series of moves. On 20 September 1938, Hitler met with the Hungarians, and suggested that they demand a plebiscite in the Magyar districts of Czechoslovakia.100 That same day, he met with the Polish ambassador and agreed that Warsaw could demand the district of Teschen. Propagandistically, Hitler redoubled his attacks on the Jews. In early September 1938, he once again attacked ‘the greatest enemy which threatened to destroy our people, the international Jewish world enemy’,101 warning them – and their putative creatures in Washington and London – off intervening in support of Prague. But when all was said and done, Hitler was pursuing a high-risk strategy, in which war with the Czechs was virtually certain, and conflict with the west perfectly possible. The strain was visible even to outsiders. The American journalist William Shirer, who observed Hitler during this period, wrote that ‘he seemed to have a peculiar tic. Every few steps he cocked his right shoulder nervously, his left leg snapping up as he did so. He had ugly black patches under his eyes. He seemed to be … on the edge of a nervous breakdown’.

Throughout late September, the tension mounted yet further. In a series of meetings with the British prime minister, Neville Chamberlain, at Berchtesgaden, Bad Godesberg and finally in Munich, Hitler threatened war unless his demands were met. There were times when it appeared that Britain and France would intervene. On 26 September, President Roosevelt sent Hitler, and the other main protagonists, a telegram calling for a negotiated solution and hinting, albeit very obliquely, that the United States would otherwise intervene by ‘recognizing’ its ‘responsibilities as a part of a world of neighbors’. This démarche was obviously directed against Nazi Germany, the first such open move, albeit a circumspect one, by the US administration.102 Brauchitsch warned that the army was still not ready.103 Hitler, who was well informed by Göring’s surveillance teams about the negotiating positions of the other side,104 and tensions between Prague and London, held firm. He paraded an infantry division through Berlin en route to its deployment on the Czech border to show that he meant business. At the very end of September 1938, Chamberlain buckled at Munich. He eventually agreed to the more or less instantaneous German occupation of the Sudetenland. Not long after, Poland seized Teschen and the Hungarians helped themselves to a large slice of southern Slovakia.

War had been averted. The collective sigh of relief was audible across Europe, and in Germany it was palpable. Hitler had been vindicated once again, just as Goebbels and Ribbentrop had said he would be. He had forced a militarily superior coalition to back down.105 The naysayers in the army and Foreign Office had been confounded. The Führer, General von Reichenau marvelled, had played for ‘high stakes’. ‘If he had been a poker player,’ Reichenau continued, ‘he could win hundreds of thousands of marks every night.’106 The German public, which had dreaded the prospect of war, rejoiced.

Hitler himself felt no sense of relief or satisfaction. On the contrary, he was frustrated and dispirited. Time was running out. He had hoped to overrun the whole of Czechoslovakia before the end of the year. Now he would have to sort out the rump Czech state in the spring. Hitler was also unsettled by Roosevelt’s intervention, as evidenced by his detailed reply to the president, which was more than twice the length of the original, in the midst of the crisis. In it, he rehearsed his outrage at the way in which Wilson had turned Germany into a ‘pariah’ after the war, lamented the plight of the Sudeten Germans and voiced various other grievances.107 Most worryingly of all for someone who placed such importance on intangibles such as will and national coherence, Hitler was shocked by the evident reluctance of the German people to embark on another conflict. He watched in appalled silence from a window of the Imperial Chancellery as the infantry division parading through Berlin was greeted with fear and averted faces. Goebbels warned Hitler that the people were not ready for war.108 Hitler was a victim of his own rhetoric here. The German people, like so much of Europe, had believed his constant promises of peace.109 For all these reasons, Hitler never reckoned the Munich settlement a famous victory but rather a massive concession on his part.110

No sooner had he prevailed at Munich, therefore, than Hitler was planning the next move. He told his generals that he was ‘determined to solve the question of [the rest of] Czechoslovakia’.111 This, however, was only to be the first step. The real objective was to gain a launchpad to attack the Soviet Union and, as Halder told the American chargé d’affaires in Berlin, Raymond H. Geist, at some length, to seize the Ukraine.112 On 21 October, Hitler ordered the OKW to prepare for the destruction of the rump Czech state and the occupation of the Memelland, a small Lithuanian-held former Prussian territory. Two days later, he asked Fritz Todt to investigate the possibility of an extra-territorial railway across the Polish Corridor. Ideally, he wanted to ally with Poland against Russia, or to use eastern Poland as a staging ground. If that was not possible, Hitler hoped to secure ‘runways’ from which to launch his attack against the Soviet Union.113 The Lebensraum he sought in late 1938 was emphatically not in Poland, but much further east.114 In late October 1938, Hitler set out his demands of Poland to Ribbentrop: Danzig, an extra-territorial railway, the emigration of Jews from Poland, her accession to the Anti-Comintern Pact and a common policy towards the Soviet Union (which was code for a joint war of aggression). To be sure, granting these requests would have put Poland firmly in the German orbit, but unlike those presented to the Czechs they were not designed to be unacceptable. On the contrary, Hitler fervently hoped for Polish cooperation.

As he prepared his next moves abroad, Hitler was haunted by his continuing sense of German weakness at home. In early November 1938, he once again attacked the ‘fragmentation of the national community into classes’. Hitler blamed both the Bürgertum and the ‘international-Jewish parasites who had penetrated into the German people’ for the resulting ‘false selection’ in the German people. A ‘leadership selection’ was needed.115 This, however, would take time. Meanwhile, the home front needed to be secured, and the popular enthusiasm for confrontation so obviously lacking during the Czech crisis needed to be rekindled. Hitler also wanted to take action against the alleged ‘parasites’ at home and their puppetmasters abroad. He sought to encourage Jews to emigrate more quickly, and the outside world to accept them. The Juni-Aktion had plainly not sufficed. Another shot across the bows of international Jewry was required. In late October 1938, the SS expelled about 17,000 Polish Jews, many of whom ended up in the no man’s land between the borders of Poland and the Reich.

On 7 November 1938, the Pole Herschel Grynszpan shot and mortally wounded the German diplomat Ernst vom Rath in the Paris embassy. His motivation is not entirely clear, but it seems likely that he was protesting against the deportation of his Jewish parents from Germany back to Poland. One way or the other, his deed was interpreted by the Nazis as another blow by international Jewry against the Third Reich.116 Hitler, who was kept informed of Rath’s condition, seized the opportunity to retaliate. On receipt of the news of the diplomat’s death, the Führer – perhaps at Goebbels’s suggestion – ordered a demonstration of ‘spontaneous’ popular fury against the Jews. The resulting orgy of vandalism, broken glass, harassment, incarceration and murder directed at Jews and Jewish property such as synagogues and shops on 9 November 1938 has gone down in history as the Reichskristallnacht.117

Normally, Hitler strongly disapproved of pogroms, which he regarded as inefficient, unscientific and unconducive to public order, but on this occasion – perhaps impressed by their recent effectiveness in Austria – he made an exception. His aim was to whip the German people into a frenzy against their supposed enemies at home and abroad, to send the strongest possible signal to international Jewry that any further interference in German affairs would not be tolerated, to speed up Jewish emigration, and to ensure that – if war with the west could not be averted – German Jews would be removed before the outbreak of hostilities.118 Unlike after the Night of the Long Knives, Hitler made no public speech justifying these measures. Kristallnacht was still primarily his work, launched by the Führer for strategic purposes defined by him.119 His intent seems to have been well understood by some of the wider public. ‘The Jews are the enemies of the new Germany [and] last night they had a taste of what this means,’ wrote Melitta Maschmann, who worked for the Bund Deutscher Mädel, the day after Kristallnacht. ‘Let us hope that western Jewry, which has resolved to hinder Germany’s “new steps to greatness”, will take the events of last night as a warning. If the Jews sow hatred against us all over the world, they must learn that we have hostages for them in our hands.’120

The weeks following the violence of 9 November saw an escalation of the legal restrictions against Jews. They were now to be completely shut out of the German economy. Three days later, his ‘Decree for the elimination of Jews from the economic life of Germany’ laid down that no Jews should be employed in trade or retail by the end of the year.121 Kristallnacht did not yet resolve the tension at the heart of the war on the Jews between the desire to force out the Jews and the desire to keep them as hostages. Emigration was still a priority for the regime. The same day as the Decree was issued, Hitler told Göring that he planned to launch a diplomatic initiative to shame other states into accepting the Jews.122 A month later, he suggested that the outside world should pay for this solution; Schacht was instructed to investigate the raising of the necessary international loan.123 Hitler’s hope at this stage was that he would cooperate with the Polish government, and perhaps other European authorities, in assisting the departure of as many Jews as possible. The Jewish question, Hitler told the visiting South African defence minister, Oswald Pirow, the child of German immigrants, was ‘not only a German but a European problem’. ‘The problem,’ he reassured his interlocutor, ‘would be solved in the near future.’ Hitler even went so far as to predict that ‘the Jews would one day disappear from Europe’.124

These events, and the general sense that Hitler was repressive at home and heading towards war abroad, damaged his previously substantial international appeal. Kristallnacht caused particular outrage in Anglo-America, especially in the United States. The press was almost uniformly critical, confirming Hitler in his view that they were agents of international Jewry.125 The US ambassador, Hugh Wilson, was recalled for ‘consultations’. From now until the end of the Third Reich, all matters were handled by more junior staff. Hitler retaliated by recalling his own ambassador. Britain’s diplomatic response was more muted, but the general sense that Hitler was heading for war was palpable in press and politics. Global opinion more generally was shocked. 1938 saw ‘peak Hitler’ in what was then regarded as the civilized world. By then 1333 street and squares outside Germany were named for him.126 Hitler was named ‘man of the Year’, by Time Magazine, admittedly a two-edged compliment. Thereafter, approval of Hitler began to slide, at least in western democracies.

To the Führer, therefore, the battle lines were clear by November 1938. Anglo-America and world Jewry had ‘thrown off the mask’ and were arrayed against him. This was a political, diplomatic, economic and racial struggle. It pitted the Germans against not only the Jews, but British and Americans as well. Increasingly, Hitler’s rhetoric spoke of the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ as a group.127 Hitler saw all these fronts as interconnected. If war broke out over the ‘Jewish question’, he claimed, then ‘that would prove that England was governed by a mentality which wanted no peace with Germany’. Indeed, Hitler said that he had formed the impression that Chamberlain and Halifax were merely ‘dancing on a rope, behind them stood the real string-pullers, the press and the opposition’, that is the Jews.128 The man the Führer really feared, next to Roosevelt, was Winston Churchill, whose fire-breathing speeches against the Third Reich he had been following closely, and whom he accused of wanting to ‘destroy’ not merely the regime but Germany itself.129 Hitler pointed out with astonishing prescience that as a result of the British political system ‘tomorrow or the day after tomorrow Mr Churchill could well become prime minister’.130 The duel between Hitler and Churchill, which was to explode onto the world stage eighteen months later, had already begun.

Hitler’s concern was not just the supposed power of the Jewish lobby in London, Washington and New York, but the sheer size and quality of the Nordic element in Anglo-America. He knew that anxiety about the power of the British Empire and the United States, which had vanquished the Reich in the Great War, was widely shared in Germany. For this reason, Hitler decided to take the press into his confidence, to brief them on the struggle which lay ahead, and to reassure them that the contest was winnable. Circumstances, he explained at a private meeting of senior press figures, ‘have forced me to speak for decades almost only of peace’. Only by constantly emphasizing the German ‘desire for peace’, Hitler continued, had it been possible to ‘win back the freedom of the German people bit by bit and to give it the armaments which were always necessary for the next step’. The problem was, he said, no doubt referring to the lack of martial spirit during the Czech crisis, that ‘many people’ had therefore come to the erroneous conclusion that the ‘regime’ (sic) ‘wanted to maintain peace under all circumstances’. The result of this, Hitler warned, would be ‘defeatism’ at the very moment when the Reich needed to steel itself for the next challenge.

For this reason, the Führer explained, it was ‘now necessary to reorient the German people psychologically’ and to show it that there were aims which could only be secured by force. The purpose of this careful work was to ensure that the Volk was ready ‘to stand up even when it starts to thunder and lightning’. The key to this was ‘self-confidence’. The task of propaganda was to instil the German people with ‘the self-confident conviction that, first of all, the Volk itself represented an asset in Germany, and, secondly, that the leadership of the Volk was sound’. Germans would ‘have to learn to believe so fanatically in final victory that even if there were defeats, the Nation would persevere, just as Blücher had done in the face of multiple setbacks’. It is clear from these passages that the great transformation of the German people begun in 1933 was by no means complete. Many Germans, Hitler feared, were mere fair-weather friends of Nazism, who would desert when the going got tough.

Right at the end of his remarks, Hitler turned to the elephant in the room: the might of Anglo-America, Germany’s likely enemy in the coming contest. He sought to persuade his audience that all Germans needed to fear was fear itself, that the imbalance was nowhere as great as they thought. Concealing his well-established reservations about the German people, reiterated only minutes earlier, Hitler now sought to boost national self-confidence, and to persuade the listening journalists to do so. ‘The value of the German people,’ he said, ‘is incomparable.’ ‘I will never allow anybody to tell me,’ Hitler continued in blatant contradiction of his previous adverse comparisons with Anglo-America, ‘that any other people can have greater value.’ He insisted that ‘our people, particularly today, represents in its gradual racial improvement [sic!] the highest value which exists on earth today’. This was still a very aspirational superiority. From what we know about the Führer’s impatience with the progress of this ‘gradual improvement’ and his general sense of Anglo-Saxon superiority, this huffing and puffing was just more racial whistling in the wind.

Hitler now did some very elementary and idiosyncratic maths. The United States, he averred, might have ‘126 or 127 million inhabitants’, but if you stripped out the ‘Germans, Irish, Italians, blacks, Jews’ and so on, that would leave ‘not even 60 million Anglo-Saxons’. Likewise, ‘the British Empire had hardly 46 million Englishmen and women in the motherland’. By contrast, Germany would have about ‘80 million people of one race by 1940’.131 ‘Whoever does not believe in the future of this great bloc,’ he concluded, ‘is himself a weakling.’ What was striking about this peroration was not merely its innumeracy – even according to Hitler’s own best-case scenario Anglo-America would have 106 million Anglo-Saxons to pit against 80 million Germans – but also the fact that it subtracted German America from the US total. It was, after all, the spectre of millions of German emigrants fighting on the American side which had driven Hitler to seek land in the east.

In this context, Hitler made a last attempt to reverse the tide of demography. His calculation was simple. He wanted German Jews to emigrate and to confiscate their property, but few states were prepared to take penniless immigrants. Hitler also wanted German emigrants, and ultimately German-Americans, to return to the Reich, but lacked the funds to pay for their passage and resettlement, even if they wanted to return.132 The ‘logical’ solution was to exchange German Jews and their property for Germans in America and their assets. For Hitler this was the ultimate ‘win-win’, where ‘negative’ met ‘positive’ eugenics. On 16 December 1938, Göring rang Weizäcker, the state secretary in the Foreign Office. He wanted ‘a large-scale operation … to bring back those of German origin from America (including those who were already American citizens)’ to provide workers for the Four Year Plan. Hitler not only approved the plan, but he seems to have been the inspiration behind the idea that ‘one could perhaps even organize an exchange of returning Americans of German origin and Jews to be sent there’.133 The Foreign Office was deeply sceptical about the practicality of the scheme, and warned that any attempt to lure American citizens back would infuriate Washington.134 In the end, the outbreak of war put an end to these plans.

As the breach with Anglo-America loomed, Hitler globalized his policy and rhetoric. The Japanese alliance became ever more important. Whereas he had previously welcomed the prospect of a Russo-Japanese war, which would give him the opportunity to seize Lebensraum in the east, he now sought to prevent one. His entire policy was henceforth geared to enlisting Tokyo against London and Washington. Part of this strategy was reducing the German footprint in China. In the autumn of 1938, General Falkenhausen’s military mission was withdrawn in order to please the Japanese. Some generals resisted this strongly, much to Hitler’s fury.135 Another important plank was reducing Russo-Japanese tensions, which had resulted in a stinging defeat for Tokyo at Changkufeng on the Soviet border with China and Korea in July–August 1938; German propaganda was instructed to discredit any resulting suggestion that the Japanese were not valuable allies.136 These moves were accompanied by a number of peppery assertions about the quality of the Japanese army, and the degeneracy of the Americans: ‘a comprehensively weakened and decadent people’.137 Hitler genuinely admired Japan, and its ambassador in Berlin, Oshima, but such statements should be primarily read as yet more racial whistling in the wind to keep up German spirits.

Hitler’s confrontation with the British Empire also caused him to rethink his attitude towards anti-imperialist movements in Asia and the Middle East. This was partly a question of propaganda as British imperial policies were traduced in order to illustrate the ‘hypocrisy’ of London’s concern for human rights within Germany. ‘Enquiries from British politicians about the fate of Germans or members of the Reich inside the borders of the Reich,’ he said, ‘are misplaced. After all, we don’t concern ourselves with similar matters in England, for example events in Palestine,’ a reference to the British suppression of the ‘Arab Revolt’. The main purpose of Hitler’s new global rhetoric, however, was to show Germans the dangers of being colonized themselves, and to caution the west that they would refuse to be so subjected again. ‘I am by no means inclined,’ Hitler warned at the height of the Sudeten crisis, ‘to allow the establishment of a second Palestine here in the centre of Germany. The poor Arabs may be defenceless and abandoned but the Germans in Czechoslovakia are neither defenceless nor abandoned. That needs to be realized.’ Hitler of course equated the Arabs with the oppressed Germans, not the Czechs; he in fact received thirty Iraqi nationalists at the Nuremberg rally.138 Before 1933, Hitler had criticized those who saw Germans as the wretched of the earth, but he was now closer to that argument than he cared to admit.

In the autumn of 1938, the Third Reich began to prepare a propaganda offensive against the British Empire, which was specifically designed as retaliation against the German-language broadcasts of the BBC. The driving force here was Goebbels, in concert with the Führer.139 The first programmes in English and Arabic were broadcast in the following spring and disseminated anti-colonialism, anti-Semitism and anti-Zionism.140 How much of this message was actually heard and accepted by the target audience is not clear. Some of it, of course, was redundant. Exporting anti-Semitism to the Middle East was like transporting oranges to Jaffa. It is clear, though, that German propaganda struck a chord with many Third World nationalists. For example, Joseph Said Abu Durra, the leader of the resistance in northern Palestine, wrote to Hitler in late December 1938. He praised ‘the great Führer of Germany who has secured his nation undying honour and fame’. He excoriated the ‘crimes’ committed by ‘England, that state which claims to be just, civilized and humane’. The author then went on to attack the Jews, and to suggest that the Arab struggle in Palestine was worthy of German support.141

The rapid deterioration of relations with Anglo-America had a profound impact on Hitler’s military thinking and armaments policy. He was clearly not planning a large-scale land war in the west, at least not if he could help it. Nor was he planning to attack Poland. He was hoping to despoil the Soviet Union, but he had such a low opinion of the chaos and violence of Stalin’s rule that he did not expect to need his entire force or a long time to do that. Hitler’s priorities were to produce a naval and aerial capability sufficient to deter or contain the west with one hand, while he secured Lebensraum in the east with the other. In December 1938, Hitler authorized a vast naval construction programme to build no fewer than six battleships, various cruisers and nearly 250 U-boats.142 That same month, he launched the aircraft carrier Graf Zeppelin, and the Germaniawerft at Kiel was commissioned to build another.143

Hitler was particularly anxious about western air power, especially the ability of French and British bombers to strike the Ruhr. He specifically highlighted the threats of Westminster parliamentarians to do just that. Unlike the Americans, who had panicked at the radio broadcast of H. G. Wells’ War of the Worlds, which featured an invasion from outer space, Hitler claimed he was not ‘in fear of bombs from Mars or the Moon’.144 He was, however, worried by the terrestrial variety. In the late autumn of 1938, Hitler demanded a fivefold increase in the Luftwaffe – ‘a gigantic programme compared to which previous achievements are insignificant’ – involving a fleet of heavy bombers, long-range fighter escorts, and interceptor aircraft designed to protect the Reich. Hitler also invested a huge proportion of his industrial capacity in anti-aircraft artillery.145 Fear of Franco-British air attacks was one reason why he was so determined to crush what remained of Czechoslovakia, which he continued to describe as a giant ‘aircraft carrier’ for the Western Allies. The aggregate cost of these measures was huge, and coming on top of the vast amounts already spent on, or committed to, rearmament completely unrealizable under peacetime conditions. Civilian construction all but ceased. Only Hitler’s personal monumental projects were to continue.

By the end of 1938, in short, the contours of the coming struggle were becoming clearer. Unsurprisingly and necessarily, from Hitler’s point of view, it would pit the Germans against world Jewry, in its communist and capitalist incarnations, primarily the latter. Unfortunately from Hitler’s point of view, it would also range the Reich against the British Empire and the United States. Hitler would have greatly preferred to remain at peace with both, and had had high hopes of allying with at least one of them. The somewhat surprising consequence of the new situation was not just a formal alliance with Japan, long regarded as the rising star in the east, but also a growing rapprochement with the anti-imperialist forces in the British Empire. This was not the place that Hitler wanted to be in, or ever anticipated being in, and by his own lights he had done his best to avoid such an outcome, but it was where he was.

In the New Year, relations with Anglo-America, already very poor, deteriorated still further.

In his annual message to Congress on 4 January 1939, Roosevelt announced that he would use all means ‘short of war’ to contain the aggressors. ‘God-fearing democracies of the world’, he explained, ‘cannot safely be indifferent to international lawlessness anywhere.’ This came a day after a huge leap in US defence expenditure to by far the highest level ever seen in peacetime. A week later, the German military attaché in Washington warned against the ‘president and his Jewish friends [and] their boundless armament plans and their attempts to paint a German spectre on the wall’; even if the immediate capacity of the United States to wage war was limited, its potential was massive. Hitler was acutely aware of all this. He told Boetticher that he would destroy Roosevelt by proving to the world that the president was of Jewish descent. Hitler now asked the Washington embassy and other experts to establish the date by which the United States could practically intervene if war broke out in Europe in 1939.146 It was no longer a question of whether war with America would come, but of when.

Hitler’s determination to match the United States was reflected in his architectural visions. In January 1939, he met with Todt and Speer in the Imperial Chancellery for further discussions about the planned remodelling of Hamburg and its huge San-Francisco-style bridge over the Elbe. He noted with satisfaction that the architect, Konstanty Gutschow, ‘has also made studies in America’.147 Hitler explained his thinking to the German High Command. Such monumental construction projects were part of his plan to show the German people ‘that it is not second-rate, but the equal of any other people on earth, even America’. ‘This,’ Hitler continued, ‘is why I have ordered this great bridge to be built in Hamburg’. Its purpose was to ensure ‘that any German coming from abroad or going abroad or who has had the opportunity to compare Germany with other countries must say to himself: “What is so extraordinary about America and its bridges? We can do the same.”’ This, Hitler concluded, ‘is why I am having skyscrapers built [in Hamburg] which will be just as “impressive” as the American ones’.148 Here, Hitler was trying to implement in stone and concrete what he was telling the German newspapers to do in print.

Hitler had also still not completely given up on the consumption front. In mid February 1939, he opened the International Car and Motorcycle Exhibition in Berlin. The car industry, he claimed, was important not only in Germany but in ‘in large parts of the world’. Hitler stressed that ‘The motor car is not a luxury item but an article of consumption’, thus reaffirming his commitment to raise German standards of living. This required, he continued, an appropriate pricing structure ‘for all classes of potential buyers’. The extent to which Hitler saw all this in the context of international competition was demonstrated by his emphasis on the need to increase the ‘confidence of the German people in their own motor cars’ and to secure ‘a raw materials base independent of the rest of the world’.149 The ‘Motorisierung’ of Germany was to be achieved not as part of a general western process but independently and in parallel; separate, but equal, as it were. An advance model of the Volkswagen was displayed at the exhibition with the announcement that mass production would begin as soon as possible. The challenge resonated across the Atlantic loud and clear. ‘Hitler declares Auto War,’ the Pittsburgh Press headlined, ‘$400 car actually on view’.150

Diplomatically, the rising enmity with Anglo-America drove Hitler to deepen his ties to Japan. The main function of Japan in his strategic concept was to pin down the United States in the Pacific, rather than to distract the Soviet Union in the Far East. Ribbentrop explained this, with Hitler’s agreement, to a group of senior military figures towards the end of January 1939.151 In February 1939, he attended the Japanese Art Exhibition in Berlin as a token of his respect. Despite Hitler’s urgings, however, Tokyo was slow to commit itself.152

Militarily, Hitler reacted by giving the navy priority in arms procurement and resource allocation.153 In January 1939, he secretly authorized the ‘Z-Plan’, a massive programme of construction designed to culminate in the mid 1940s, the moment by which Hitler expected the confrontation with the United States to be unavoidable. It involved the building of 10 battleships, 10 battle cruisers, 4 aircraft carriers, 5 heavy cruisers, 18 light cruisers, 20 smaller cruisers, 64 destroyers, 78 torpedo boats and 249 submarines of various sizes.154 The total tonnage proposed came to 2 million, and some 200,000 sailors would be required to man these ships. Some 20,000 new machines to make tools would be required to support the effort. All this, of course, was incompatible with the 1935 Naval Agreement with Britain. It was also potentially disastrous for the army and especially for the Luftwaffe, at whose expense the new production was to take place; Göring complained bitterly.155

The cumulative strain of past and planned military expenditure on the German economy was now too great to ignore, or to trump with declarations of political ‘will’. On 7 January 1939, the Reichsbank directorate warned Hitler that the sums simply did not add up. There was no foreign exchange left to buy vital raw materials. Schacht finally put his foot down.156 He was promptly sacked as Reichsbank president.

Hitler’s mounting anxieties found expression in his landmark speech on 30 January 1939, the sixth anniversary of the takeover of power.157 The Führer’s continuing lack of confidence in German unity, however, especially in the face of external threats, was evident throughout the speech. It was, in fact, his main reason for giving it. The principal challenge came from the west, in particular the United States, and it was words as much as weapons that Hitler feared. He inveighed against ‘certain newspapers and politicians in the rest of the world’ – meaning Roosevelt and the American press – who claimed that Germany was threatening European peace. Explicitly referring to the president’s intervention over Munich, and implicitly to his new year’s address to Congress, Hitler vowed that Germany would ‘not accept that western states interfered in certain matters’ which were the Reich’s business and hers alone.158

Worst of all the western threats was the idea of democracy, whose political and social divisiveness Hitler blamed for Germany’s weakness in times past. Democracy was the enemy, not just internally but externally as well. ‘In certain democracies,’ Hitler claimed, ‘it is apparently a particular privilege artificially to cultivate hatred against the so-called totalitarian states.’ Hitler attacked his main enemies in the democratic world, namely the ‘war apostles such as Mr Duff Cooper, Mr Eden, Churchill or Mr Ickes’.159 Hitler’s bracketing of Roosevelt’s confidant and long-serving secretary of the interior, Harold Ickes, with the British anti-appeasers reflected the Führer’s belief that Anglo-America was leaguing against him. He said that while one might be inclined to laugh off the claim ‘that Germany planned to attack America’, one had to remember that ‘one is dealing in these democracies with states whose political construction makes it possible that within a few months these terrible war-hawks might take over the leadership of the government’. Hitler thus once again anticipated Churchill’s premiership, something, of course, which he would do more than anybody else to bring about.

The main target of the speech now came into view, ‘world Jewry’ and its supposed instrument, the administration of Franklin D. Roosevelt. Just as the president had warned Hitler in his New Year’s speech to Congress, so Hitler replied in his parliament, the Reichstag. Hitler’s intention here was twofold. On the one hand, he wanted to prepare the German people for this contest because otherwise the outbreak of a war provoked by these enemies would put the Germans in a situation for which they were ‘psychologically completely unprepared’, which would seem ‘inexplicable’ to them. ‘The German people,’ he continued, ‘must know who the men are who are trying to provoke a war at all costs’ and for this reason all propaganda should be focused on the ‘Jewish world enemy’. On the other hand, Hitler wanted not merely to expose, but to warn off the enemy, by threatening retaliation so dire that they would desist from plunging the peoples of Europe back into war.

He then issued a coded, but clear warning to Roosevelt and ‘world Jewry’. ‘If Jewish international finance in and outside Europe should succeed in plunging the peoples into another war,’ Hitler announced, ‘then the result will not be the Bolshevization of the earth and thus the victory of Jewry, but the destruction of the Jewish race in Europe.’ Hitler could not have been more explicit: European Jewry would be held responsible for the behaviour of ‘international finance Jewry’ not just in Europe, by which London and Paris, rather than Moscow, was meant, but also outside Europe, that is in New York and in Roosevelt’s America generally.160

Hitler’s speech heralded a further intensification of anti-Jewish measures. In late February 1939, Jews were banished from the sleeping and dining cars of the Reichsbahn at Hitler’s request.161 Over the next few months Jews were also deprived of tenancy protection in order to force them to live together in separate accommodation.162 They also found their access to public swimming pools and other establishments limited.163 The aim was still to force Jews to leave Germany, and in late January 1939 Reinhard Heydrich was made head of the Reich Centre for Jewish Emigration. There was disagreement among the SS leaders in charge of the policy about where they should be sent. Some saw Palestine as the obvious destination; others warned that this would simply create a ‘Vatican of World Jewry’, which would in any case not be large enough to accommodate all the Jews to be deported. Truly, as Heydrich put it, Palestine had become a ‘World Question’. Emil Schumburg, the official in the Foreign Office charged with coordinating policy with the SS, suggested that Jews be sent to as many different countries as possible, at least initially, in order to increase anti-Semitism to a sufficient degree to make an agreed international solution possible.164 All this reflected Hitler’s continued view that the ‘Jewish question’ was to be resolved through international action.

The suppression of world Jewry was one way of protecting the Reich in Hitler’s eyes, but it was not enough. He would also have to implement his programme of territorial expansion in order to give the German people the living space required for its racial elevation. ‘What is the root of all our economic difficulties’, he asked during his 30 January speech, before answering that it lay in the ‘overpopulation of our Lebensraum’. He rehearsed once again the advantage which the ‘Gentlemen critics’ in Europe (meaning Britain) and ‘outside Europe’ (meaning the United States) enjoyed through their copious living space, while the Germans were jammed together in central Europe.165 Unlike the Anglo-Americans, he continued, the Germans were not born with bananas growing into their mouths but had to struggle for every crust. Hitler’s plans to attack the Soviet Union in 1939 were therefore mainly driven by positive eugenics, to provide the economic and territorial basis for the gradual elevation of the German people, rather than the desire to eliminate the Jews in Russia. The Wehrmacht was told to prepare for an assault on the Soviet Union, if possible with Polish cooperation, but if not then using Danzig and Memel as jumping-off points to enter Russia through the Baltic states.166 He also seems to have envisaged a southern front erupting from Slovakia. Hitler’s plans were so ambitious, and had been so extensively heralded in Mein Kampf and elsewhere, that they were impossible to keep secret. Talk of invading the Ukraine was so ubiquitous in the Anglo-American press that the Völkischer Beobachter was constrained to issue a rebuttal in mid February 1939 against the ‘Anglo-Saxon warmongers’.167

Hitler now took two concrete steps to prepare for the attack on the Soviet Union. First, he made one last attempt to win over Poland.168 In the first week of January 1939, Hitler met with the Polish foreign minister, Beck, at the Berghof. His request for help against the Soviet Union was rejected, but Hitler did not give up yet. Ribbentrop was dispatched to the Polish capital with a plan for a ‘global solution’ by which Poland would be compensated for any losses with territory further east. Though this overture achieved nothing, Hitler’s 30 January speech contained some flattering references to the Poles and his idol Piłsudski.169 In mid February Himmler, who enjoyed a good working relationship with his Polish counterparts, was sent to Warsaw with Hitler’s offer to guarantee all of Poland’s territory minus Danzig, which was under League of Nations administration; he too, drew a blank. A month later, Hitler was still hopeful of wooing Warsaw. ‘The Führer is brooding over the solution of the Danzig question,’ Goebbels wrote in his diary. ‘He wants to apply some pressure to the Poles and hopes that they will respond to it, but we must bite the bullet and guarantee Poland’s borders.’170

Secondly, Hitler moved to settle what he had been forced to leave unresolved at Munich: the fate of the ‘rump Czechoslovakia’. This was a strategic bone in Germany’s throat. On 21 January 1939, he met with the Czech foreign minister, František Chvalkovský, to stress his need for closer economic cooperation. Hitler’s tactic was brutally simple. He had already deprived Prague of its powerful border fortresses through the annexation of the Sudetenland. Now he intended to browbeat and intimidate the Czechs, to destroy their ‘nerves’, until their entire state ‘dissolved’. Hitler was able to monitor the effectiveness of his measures through the detailed intelligence reports on Czech intercepts he received from Göring’s Forschungsamt. This approach was what we would today call ‘hybrid warfare’. Hitler received Professor Vojtech Tuka, a Slovak separatist from the Slovak People’s Party, and Franz Karmasin, leader of the German minority in Slovakia. The Führer told Tuka that he was resolved to sort out the Czechs and urged him to declare a separate Slovak state, which Tuka agreed to do.

Prague fell into the trap Hitler had set. When the Slovaks, emboldened by Berlin, brought their separatist agitation to the boil, the government declared martial law on 10 March 1939. Hitler now dispatched his two ‘annexation specialists’, Gauleiter Bürckel and Wilhelm Keppler, to the Slovaks to ensure that they declared independence. He also received the deposed Slovak leader Monsignor Tiso in Berlin.171 The Führer offered them the choice between an independent state and annexation by Hungary. Tiso eventually agreed to a text prepared by Ribbentrop. Hitler summoned the Czech president, Emil Hácha, and his foreign minister to Berlin. Both men were kept waiting for hours in order to increase the pressure on them. Finally, Hitler appeared at 1 a.m. in the morning and browbeat his visitors, threatening to bomb Prague immediately unless his demands were met. Hácha fainted under the strain. He was revived with injections from Hitler’s personal doctor, Theodor Morell. After three hours of pummelling, Hácha signed a prepared statement that he ‘confidently placed the fate of the Czech people in the hands of the Führer’. Czechoslovakia had ceased to exist. Shortly after, German troops moved in. That night, Hitler slept in the castle overlooking Prague. Slovakia became a notionally independent state, but in reality a satellite of the Third Reich. France and Britain made no move, as Göring’s surveillance teams had correctly predicted. Hitler had done it again.

The Führer had no plans at this stage to remove the local population to make way for Germans. On the contrary, he cast himself as the guarantor of Czech national rights in a German-dominated Europe. The appellation ‘Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia’ stemmed from the language of Hitler’s proclamation on 15 March 1939 of the ‘assumption of the protection of the Czech people through the Reich’. It mimicked that of the British ‘protectorates’ throughout the world. Six weeks after the annexation, he let it be known that there was no serious historical enmity between Germans and Czechs and that he thought that the latter were adjusting well to their new role within the Reich.172 The intervening period had seen the start neither of a massive Germanization process, nor of a colonization programme, and that was the way Hitler wanted it.

Hitler’s preoccupation with Lebensraum, always intense, became an increasing obsession in the spring of 1939. In late March he ruminated that history was really a story of ‘migration of the people’ and that the same principles which had set the peoples in motion during pre-history and antiquity applied today. A ‘technologically highly developed society or a purely industrial state,’ Hitler argued, could not survive without its own ‘dedicated space’. If this space was not already available, he explained, it would have to be ‘fought for … that was a natural law’. Failure to realize this would make one ‘the booty of those who did not exercise restraint’. The most ‘brutal’ practitioners here, Hitler argued, were the Americans. Unlike them, or the British, however, Hitler did not favour overseas settlement. He returned to his old trauma, the loss of generations of Germans to emigration. ‘Every German who emigrated to America,’ Hitler lamented, ‘would be lost to the motherland.’ This was because ‘he would become an American, lose his connection to the homeland and, from our perspective [sic] he would degenerate, because he would put down roots in alien soil’. Hitler readily conceded that the colonization of the US, Canada and Australia had created states of ‘material importance and power’, but he regarded them as lacking in culture. Hitler expressed himself surprised, and perhaps also pained, that Germans had taken so readily to these new structures. ‘It is strange,’ Hitler mused, ‘that it was those of German origin who were the first to put down roots in new soil and sought to identify with it more strongly than others.’173

Shortly after the dismemberment of Czechoslovakia, Hitler suffered three blows which were to change the course of events. Warsaw dug in its heels. On 26 March 1939, Ribbentrop reported to Hitler that the Polish foreign minister, Beck, had announced that he would consider the seizure of Danzig a casus belli. Five days later, on the very last day of the month, Hitler learned that Britain and France had guaranteed Poland and Romania. Six days after that, the British-Polish treaty was signed. Stunned by Hitler’s bad faith over Czechoslovakia, London had finally decided to make a stand. The European balance of power would be defended. Roosevelt responded to the destruction of Czechoslovakia by immediately imposing punitive tariffs on German goods. A fortnight later, he sent a personal message to Hitler demanding that he undertake not to infringe the sovereignty of a long list of European states, Poland among them. It was, in effect, a complement to the British guarantee of Poland. Anglo-America was drawing the line. The path to Lebensraum no longer ran just through Warsaw, but also through London. The day after the Franco-British guarantee to Poland he launched a ferocious attack on British encirclement plans at the launch of the new battleship Tirpitz. ‘We know from historical documents today,’ he claimed, referring to studies of the origins of the First World War, ‘how the encirclement policy of those times was systematically pursued by Britain.’ ‘England,’ he stated simply in late May 1939, ‘is the motor of opposition to us.’174

The breach with Britain represented a massive blow to Hitler’s grand strategy, and was also a matter of deep personal distress for him. On Hitler’s side, the relationship had been characterized by respect for British racial quality, admiration for the Empire and fear of British military capabilities, which he had himself experienced during four long years in France and Flanders. ‘To imagine,’ he fulminated in mid April 1939, ‘that I of all people am forced to contemplate such a conflict, I who am accused in Germany of being an incorrigible admirer of the British Empire, I who have so often tried to effect a lasting understanding between the Reich and England, an understanding which even today I consider as necessary for the preservation of European culture.’ ‘The sole blame for this,’ he concluded, ‘lies with the tenacious blindness of Britain’s leaders.’175

The prospect of war with Britain compelled Hitler to change his racial rhetoric in public as in private. ‘The Briton is proud, brave, tough, resilient and organizationally gifted,’ he conceded, ‘he has the adventurousness and courage of the Nordic race.’ That was no reason to despair, however. As the British were ‘diffused’ across the world, he continued, ‘the quality [of the Briton] drops. The German average is better.’ This was a new line for Hitler, and he probably did not really believe it himself, but the Führer now needed to give the German people the confidence in themselves they – and he – so badly lacked, much in the same way as had been demanded of the press back in November 1938. Sensitive to the (completely justified) charge that he had an inferiority complex towards Britain, Hitler pushed back vigorously. ‘I don’t suffer in the least from a sense of inferiority,’ he protested two weeks later.176 Anybody familiar with Hitler’s writings and speeches over the previous twenty years, however, would have known that the Führer was protesting too much.

Likewise, Hitler now played down the power of the United States, even in private. When told of US technological superiority, which he had freely admitted in the past, the Führer now liked to contrast American ‘quantity’ with German ‘quality’. Doubters were told that everything else was ‘typical American exaggeration and bluff’. It was clear, however, that Hitler knew better. When a film of New York shot from the air was shown in the Imperial Chancellery in the late summer of 1939, the Führer was obviously shaken. He was ‘visibly impressed,’ his foreign press chief Otto Dietrich wrote, ‘by the enormous vitality and the powerful progressive impulses radiating from this, for European sensibilities, immense spatial entity of human coexistence.’177

Hitler was preparing for conflict not just with Britain, but with the United States as well. Anglo-America, always closely linked in his mind, was fusing into one. The Führer’s original hopes of separating London and Washington had been dashed. On 28 April 1939, a full fortnight after Roosevelt’s letter, Hitler responded with a coruscating speech in the Reichstag which not merely rebutted the president’s charges and attacked the United States more generally, but also lambasted Britain, as well as signalling his hostility towards Poland.178 In the Führer’s mind, all of these questions were closely related. The culmination of the speech was Hitler’s denial that he planned to attack any of the twenty-odd states whose integrity Roosevelt had demanded he guarantee. As the Führer read out this list its length and apparent absurdity caused a moment of levity in the Reichstag as the assembled deputies roared with laughter. Hitler, in fact, genuinely did not at this point intend to attack most of the states on that list, but he was to do so almost without exception within two years.

The real issue, as always, was space. Anglo-America had it; Germany wanted it. There was, Hitler argued, more than enough to go around. What was required was that the United States and the British Empire should not intrude on German spheres just as the Third Reich respected theirs. Hitler demanded that the United States should recognize his sphere of influence in Europe while he would recognize Washington’s in the Americas. If Roosevelt, the president of a geographically remote country, required guarantees of German behaviour in Europe, then surely the Reich ‘would have the same right’ to ask the same question about US policy in Central and Latin America. If Roosevelt appealed to the Monroe Doctrine, and rejected any German demands as ‘an intervention in the internal affairs of the American continent’, then surely Germany could make the same argument. ‘We espouse exactly the same doctrine,’ the Führer went on, ‘for Europe, and in all events for the area and interest of the Greater German Reich.’ Hitler’s idea of a German Monroe Doctrine – which he had first mentioned more than a decade earlier – was picked up by the lawyer Carl Schmitt, who elaborated it into an entire theory of ‘large spaces’.179

The consequence of the looming conflict with Britain, and ultimately the United States, was twofold. First, in Hitler’s mind Poland had replaced Czechoslovakia as the cat’s paw of the western powers and was to be crushed. ‘I will brew them a devil’s potion,’ he exclaimed on hearing the news of the Franco-British guarantee.180 Secondly, the acquisition of the territory necessary to match Anglo-America would have to be speeded up. ‘Securing living space,’ he told an audience of German workers, using a phrase he repeated over and over that summer, ‘is our highest commandment.’181 If Poland could not be co-opted to this project, she would have to be brushed aside or even eliminated. The demand for Danzig and an extra-territorial railway was not driven by traditional Versailles revisionism but by the logistics of war against the Soviet Union.

On 11 April 1939, five days after the conclusion of the Polish-British treaty, Hitler issued his instructions for Fall Weiss, the attack on Poland. The instruction specified not Warsaw, but the ‘western democracies’ as the main enemy. Six weeks later, Hitler explained that ‘The problem of Poland cannot be separated from the confrontation with the west.’ Poland would see a German victory in the west as a threat and act to prevent one. His conclusion was that it was therefore pointless ‘to spare Poland’ and that he was left with the ‘decision to attack Poland at the next available opportunity’.182 In short, Hitler would go to war with Poland as part of his conflict with the western powers, not vice versa. The British guarantee, designed to protect the country, in fact precipitated her destruction.

Throughout the summer of 1939, Hitler hoped for the best. He tried to cajole or bully the Poles, failing which he would have preferred to fight a limited war to secure Danzig and the Corridor. Hitler also held the door open for London. He remained theoretically open to a ‘permanent friendship between the German and the Anglo-Saxon people’, but stated that this could only be achieved if the ‘other side also recognized that there were not only British but German interests’ to be defended.183 Hitler also prepared for the worst case. What really worried him was that the Royal Air Force would use bases in the Low Countries to attack the heart of German industry in the Ruhr. He was already planning to attack in the west, not so much to occupy France, though the French field army would have to be beaten, but to establish bases from which to continue the war against England. ‘The army is to seize positions,’ he decreed to the generals, ‘which are important for the navy and the Luftwaffe.’ ‘If we succeed in occupying and securing Holland and Belgium, and defeating France,’ Hitler continued, ‘then we can create the basis for a successful war against Britain. The Luftwaffe can then maintain the inner blockade of Britain from western France, and the navy’s submarines can take over the broader blockade.’184

The prospect of war with Anglo-America drove Hitler to seek closer relations with his allies. On 22 May 1939, he concluded the ‘Pact of Steel’ with Italy.185 Its immediate value was somewhat unclear. A week later, Mussolini warned Hitler that he could not fight before the end of 1942 at the earliest. The Führer, for his part, sought to bind the Duce closer to him. In June 1939, he instructed Himmler to organize the resettlement of the South Tyroleans. Agreement was reached towards the end of the month. South Tyroleans were given the ‘option’ of emigration to the Reich, and staying in Italy but subjecting themselves to Italianization. Only a minority decided to stay: about 80 per cent ‘opted’ for the Reich, though only about a third of them actually moved. It was the start of a much broader strategy to ‘bring home’ somewhere between 700,000 and 900,000 Germans from Italy, the Soviet Union, the Baltic States, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria and Yugoslavia.186

If Hitler expected war with Poland, Britain, France, the United States and the Soviet Union, the sequencing of these conflicts depended on the reactions of Warsaw, London, Paris, Moscow and Washington. He did not know, and could not know, in the summer of 1939, whether a major war would begin with the invasion of Poland, or at some later date; he could not even be sure that he would not start with an attack on the western powers, or on all three simultaneously. All he knew was that there would be war; that it would soon involve the major powers, including eventually America; and that it would not be short. The Führer was confident that Poland could be beaten quickly, but beyond that he had no expectation of a Blitzkrieg; indeed the concept had yet to be invented. ‘A rapid victory in the west,’ he admitted privately, ‘is doubtful.’ As a veteran of the Great War, and admirer of Britain, the Führer could hardly believe otherwise. Hitler had therefore rearmed in depth as well as breadth, just as the number and quality of the opposition warranted.187 ‘Every army or state leadership,’ he warned the generals, ‘must aim for a short war.’ That said, Hitler stressed that one should ‘also prepare for a war lasting ten to fifteen years’. He would try to prevail through a ‘surprise attack’, but it would be ‘criminal’ to rely on surprise alone.188

The Führer’s expectation of a long war was reflected in two interrelated anxieties. Firstly, he was acutely conscious of the dire state of the German economy, which slowed rearmament and raised domestic tensions. This drove him to war, not because he wished to head off domestic unrest, but because he could see that he was losing the battle of production with the western powers.189 Secondly, Hitler feared that the vulnerability of Germany’s food supply would bring down the home front as it had done in the First World War. He fretted about the effects of a new British wartime blockade,190 and even about Roosevelt’s peacetime economic sanctions. Hitler lamented the propensity of ‘so-called democratic statesmen’ to cut off a people from its markets ‘for example through boycotts’, though he obviously also had wartime blockades in mind, in order to ‘starve’ it.191 Clearly, Hitler believed that the economic war with the United States had already begun.

By the summer of 1939, in short, the enemy which Hitler had identified at the start of his political career twenty years earlier, was in full view again: the western capitalist powers, democracy, plutocracy and the supposed world Jewish conspiracy. Strikingly, Hitler had dropped all reference to the communist threat. In early June 1939, he declined an invitation to publish a collection of his previous pronouncements on ‘Jewry and Bolshevism’, either out of regard for the Soviet Union, or to avoid diluting his anti-capitalist message, or (as he claimed) because he did not like his thoughts being ‘chopped up’.192 Even his Spanish intervention was redefined from a rescue of Europe from Bolshevism to a blow against plutocracy. He now spoke of ‘Spain’s struggle against the internationally organized destruction of its country’, by which he meant the depredations of the ‘international plutocracy’ of the west, and their ‘encirclement politicians, war hawks and war profiteers’.193

In mid June 1939, the machinery of the Third Reich swung into action against Poland. Operational orders for Fall Weiss were issued to the troops. Only now was an intense propaganda campaign unleashed against Warsaw.194 Hitler was using the same modus operandi which he had deployed to such devastating effect against Czechoslovakia: demoralizing and isolating the victim, while deterring Britain and France from intervening. This time it did not work. It was clear that, whatever happened, Poland would fight, and that it was likely that the west would deliver on its guarantee, however reluctantly.

The imminence of war drove Hitler to try to weld German society closer together, to stiffen it for the fight and to forestall the kind of fragmentation which he believed had so bedevilled it in the past. Depending on the context and the likelihood of success, this sometimes meant taking radical action or attacking established structures. The approach of conflict affected Hitler’s sense of racial time. The gradual elevation of the German Volk would not be completed before the outbreak of hostilities. This accentuated Hitler’s ambivalence about war. On the one hand, he saw it as a purifying phenomenon, which toughened the fittest and weeded out the unfit; on the other hand he feared that, paradoxically, it would kill the best and spare the weak or cowardly by a process of negative selection. Hitler therefore stepped up the attack on those ‘unworthy of life’, immediately before and during war. In late July 1939, his doctor Karl Brandt killed a deformed child in a Leipzig hospital, at the request of the parents and as ordered by Hitler himself. The Führer also sought to prepare the German people for a euthanasia programme. In early August 1939, his entourage screened Unworthy Life, a film about the life of the incurably mentally ill.195

Hitler also continued his campaign against the conservatism of the officer corps. In mid July 1939, he was once again caught up in a sex scandal. His naval liaison officer, Captain Alvin Albrecht, married a woman who had previously enjoyed the favours of several men. When Admiral Raeder, who had acted as witness at the wedding, tried to have Albrecht disciplined for entering into a ‘socially inappropriate’ union, citing the Blomberg affair, a shouting-match with Hitler ensued. The Führer condemned the ‘typical officer-style intrigue’, expressed his contempt for the gossip of officers wives, and demanded to meet the woman himself so that he could form a judgement. They spoke for about ninety minutes on the following day. Afterwards, the new Mrs Albrecht announced in a state of some emotion that the Führer had shown ‘complete understanding for her as a woman’. Hitler himself expressed indifference to ‘private matters between man and woman’, which ‘were no business of anyone else so long as they did not affect the public’.196 It transpired that while the new Mrs Albrecht was extremely affectionate and highly sexed, she was in no sense promiscuous. There the matter rested, though to spare Raeder’s feelings her husband was discharged from the service and made the Führer’s personal adjutant. What was remarkable here was that Hitler did not run for cover, even after the Blomberg crisis, but stood his ground against what he regarded as the outdated norms of the armed services.

Underlying Hitler’s attitude over the Albrecht affair was his contempt for the ‘lying nature of the officer corps, for [their] hypocritical moralizing’, in judging others on matters which had nothing to do with behaviour, attitude and performance. In his opinion, the real threat to the armed services came from ‘cowards and defeatists’, a swipe at military opposition to his plans.197 A month later, Hitler erupted again, this time against the army, which he claimed had privileged traditional military flags over those of the Nazi movement on parade. His own preference was very much for a single national flag with a small corner or a ribbon to indicate the formation in question. The French, he claimed, had done this since the Revolution. ‘Unfortunately,’ he concluded, ‘his army was anything but a revolutionary army.’198 Hitler’s quarrel with the Wehrmacht thus already encompassed a whole range of issues: its alleged cowardice, its partiality to the traditions which had divided Germans for so long and its obsession with the sexual lives of its members at the expense of professionalism.

Meanwhile, Hitler continued the cultural mobilization and elevation of the German people. He pronounced ‘the first objective for a new German artistic production’ as ‘achieved’.199 German ‘architecture’ and ‘the perhaps even more devastated fields of sculpture and painting’ had been ‘healed’. At around the same time, Hitler gave Hans Posse, the director of the gallery at Dresden, the task of putting together a collection of pictures for a special ‘Führer Museum’ at Linz. He followed the progress of the ‘Sonderauftrag Linz’ and the various purchases associated with it very closely. The Führer Museum was to be embedded in a larger remodelling of the city, including eventually a planned Führerpfalz, a Gauforum with a massive tower in the shape of the Lighthouse of Alexandria, and a bridge over the Danube. The city was also gifted thousands of new residential buildings to house the workers in the mammoth ‘Hermann-Göring Werke’.200 These were known as Hitlerbauten, and, unlike most of the planned monumental structures, many of them were actually erected (by slave labour) in his lifetime.

In late July 1939 Hitler headed to Bayreuth for what would turn out to be the last peacetime festival. He spent a week there, taking a day off to inspect the Westwall, evidence that the approaching war was much on his mind. Hitler spoke with the Mitford sisters, who were also attending the festival, about the deteriorating international situation. He told Diana that he believed that Britain wanted war, which was therefore inevitable. On 27 July, Hitler met with the British press baron Lord Kemsley at Wahnfried and reiterated his view that Germany must have ‘colonies’, by which he meant space in the east.201 A day later, Hitler sought solace in the assurances of Diana Mosley, who claimed that ‘anti-Semitism in England was steadily increasing’, and of her sister Unity Mitford, who dismissed Britain’s military readiness.202

In the first week of August 1939, Hitler repaired to the Berghof to make the last preparations for war. Three related forces were driving Hitler forward. Firstly, he feared that he was nearly out of time. Much better, Hitler told Ciano, to go to war with the west while he and the Duce were still young.203 Later in the month, the Führer warned his generals that the current favourable constellation would not last more than two or three years. ‘Nobody knows,’ he added, ‘how long I will live.’ ‘An assassination attempt on Mussolini or myself,’ Hitler explained, ‘can change the situation to our disadvantage.’ For this reason, he continued, the sooner war broke out the better. Secondly, the Führer was conscious that the existing very high level of economic, military and psychological mobilization could not be sustained for long. ‘One cannot confront one another with cocked rifles for ever,’ he explained.204 Soon, Germany would either have to strike at Britain’s eastern ally Poland, and perhaps take on the western powers, or back down. Thirdly, Hitler was determined to resolve the Lebensraum question in the near future, an issue to which he returned repeatedly in the course of the month. But while the Führer was acutely aware of the bottlenecks in the German economy, and the threat to standards of living, there is no evidence at all that his decision for war was driven by immediate considerations of domestic politics.205

Frustrated by the attitude of Poland and the west, Hitler summoned Carl Jakob Burckhardt, the Swiss League of Nations high commissioner for Danzig, to the Obersalzberg. ‘There is something in the Anglo-Saxons (and the Americans) which profoundly divides them and us. What is it?’ he asked Burckhardt.206 Hitler swore that he wanted nothing from the west. ‘I don’t need anything from the most densely inhabited regions of the world,’ he explained. Rather, he demanded ‘a free hand in the east’. ‘Everything I do,’ Hitler continued, ‘is directed against Russia.’ If the west was ‘too stupid and too blind to understand that,’ the Führer went on, then he would be ‘forced to come to terms with the Russians, to attack the west and then after its defeat turn back with all his forces against the Soviet Union’.207 A fortnight later, he returned to the space argument in an exchange with the British ambassador, Henderson. ‘The claim that Germany wishes to conquer the world,’ Hitler argued, ‘is ridiculous. The British Empire comprises 40 million square kilometres, Russia 19 million, America 9.5 million, whereas Germany does not even stretch to 600,000 square kilometres.’208

The key variable throughout August 1939 was Britain. Hitler was under no illusion about her power, nor about her hostility. His only hope was that Britain could be persuaded or bullied into remaining neutral, at least for now. For this reason he huffed and puffed about Germany’s ability, unlike in 1914–18, to outlast the enemy, rhetoric which was less a sign of hubris than of his continuing acute sense of vulnerability. ‘If there is no more butter,’ he assured the Swedish mediator Birger Dahlerus, ‘then I will be the first to stop eating butter. My German people will happily and loyally do the same.’209 Contrary to his confident predictions to some German interlocutors, which were designed to keep spirits up at home, Hitler did not believe that he could call Britain’s bluff again, as he had done at Munich. The Führer let it be known to Chamberlain that he knew ‘that if war should break out between Germany and Poland Great Britain will be in it’. Hitler threatened London with a ‘fight to the finish’ if it intervened, but offered a partnership if it was prepared to cooperate.210 London, however, left Berlin in no doubt that it would defend Poland, and to Hitler’s distress, was engaged in military discussion with Stalin on how best to deal with the Nazi threat. He attributed British false consciousness to the machinations of the Jews and their allies. ‘The attitude towards Germany was not the will of British people,’ he complained to Henderson with reference to the Jewishness of the minister of war, Leslie Hore-Belisha, but ‘should be traced back to Jews and anti-Nazis’.211

Faced with a united Polish and Franco-British front, Hitler had no option but to turn to Moscow, as he had indicated to Burckhardt.212 His motivation was partly tactical, in that he wanted to isolate Poland and to derail the Anglo-Russian negotiations. It was also strategic, in that he needed to mitigate the effect of a blockade in the event of a prolonged war with the west.213 Fear of Soviet military power, which he estimated to be low, played no part in the Führer’s calculations.214 Like most anti-communist observers in the west, Hitler thought of the USSR as a country of shoddy goods, low morale and chaotic violence and purges. On 19 August, he concluded an economic agreement by which the Soviet Union would supply Germany with vital raw materials. The day after, the Führer sent a telegram to Stalin offering him an immediate non-aggression pact. Stalin replied positively on 21 August, and two days later, Molotov and Ribbentrop signed a ten-year non-aggression treaty in the Kremlin.215 A secret annex delineated the respective spheres of influence: Hitler was granted Lithuania and the western part of Poland, Stalin received Finland, Estonia and Latvia, as well as Poland east of the Rivers Narew, Vistula and San. Hitler received the news on the Obersalzberg and reacted by jumping up from his meal and shouting ‘[I have] won!’216 Some Nazis felt a revolutionary affinity with the Soviet Union – Ribbentrop remarked that he had felt as if among old comrades in Moscow – but at this stage Hitler’s interest in the pact was purely strategic. His antagonism with the west had made a temporary accommodation with Stalin necessary.217

On 22 August 1939, as the pact was being negotiated, Hitler convened his generals on the Obersalzberg for a carefully choreographed meeting.218 The fifty-odd senior military men were ordered to appear in civilian clothes, probably in order not to attract attention on the journey, while Hitler wore the brown uniform of the party. Göring was resplendent in ‘fantastic hunting gear, baggy trousers, blouse-style white shirt and an open green waistcoat’.219 The meeting was held in Hitler’s study, whose enormous picture window provided impressive views over the mountains. The venue was intended to make an impression, and the Führer himself had told an earlier meeting that he had called them here so that they could see ‘in what surroundings I like to make my decisions’.220 That morning, news had broken of the imminent conclusion of a non-aggression pact between Russia and Germany. Hitler used the resulting relief among the military to reassure them about the planned attack on Poland. The Führer told them that he did not expect Britain or France to intervene. Hitherto, he claimed, the two powers had been relying on the Soviet Union, ‘but I have now knocked that card out of their hands’. As we have seen, Hitler was expressing more of a hope than an expectation here, but what is striking is that he continued to conceive of the Soviet Union largely in terms of his relationship with the west.

The whole event was as much a performance as a briefing, and Hitler was far from feeling the confidence he simulated. His reference to 1918 and the lack of the ‘psychological basis’ to fight on showed the continuing concern with German weakness.221 He was deeply anxious about how his audience would respond. The Führer asked his adjutant, Rudolf Schmundt, ‘to find out what the reaction’ to his words had been. Hitler fancied himself as something of a ‘really good popular psychologist’, who could read the mood of any crowd, but he freely admitted that senior military were something of a closed book to him. ‘They put on a stiff mask-like demeanour,’ he complained, ‘from which one could deduce nothing.’222 Hitler was right to be worried. There were profound reservations among the military, who expected Britain and France to intervene in some way, but there was no doubt that they would do as they were told.

It was Hitler who wobbled, albeit briefly. On 22 August 1939, with a Russo-German pact obviously imminent, Chamberlain wrote to emphasize that the British guarantee to Poland still stood; Henderson delivered it a day later. On the 24th, President Roosevelt sent Hitler a telegram warning that the ‘catastrophe’ of a general war was ‘very near at hand indeed’. He made clear that ‘the people of the United States are as one in their opposition to policies of military conquest and domination’. The import of these words was clear. Washington would not stand idly by for long. Meissner, the head of the Führer’s Chancellery, recalls the impact of Roosevelt’s intervention. ‘In verbal remarks during those days,’ he writes, ‘Hitler called this sudden interest of America in central European matters a superfluous interference which he would have to reject sharply.’223 The following morning brought more bad news. Mussolini announced his intention to stay neutral, at least for now. Italy, he said, was simply not ready for a war which had come much earlier than envisaged.224 Hitler was visibly ‘very cast down’, and one observer recalled that he seemed ‘stumped’.225 The attack on Poland, which had been scheduled for 26 August, was postponed. The next few days were unbearably tense, as tempers frayed in Berlin, especially Hitler’s, as he lashed out against the army, the Foreign Office, Italy and anyone else who crossed his path.

Over the next seventy-two hours the Führer struggled to regain his nerve. He sought to persuade his entourage, and himself, that the western powers would not intervene and that even if they did, the outcome would be very different than in 1918. There were frantic last-minute overtures to Britain, reviving the idea of a grand bargain between Berlin and London, but only after the Polish question had been resolved.226 These went nowhere. In the end, Hitler turned almost helplessly to Göring’s confidant Birger Dahlerus, who had been acting as an intermediary. ‘You know Britain so well,’ he said to the Swede, ‘can you explain the origin of my constant failure to come to an agreement with her?’227 It was the same question he had asked Burckhardt, and which was to haunt him for the rest of his life. On 28 August, Hitler set a new date for the attack on Poland: 1 September 1939.228

Hitler was under no illusions about the struggle ahead. He told the senior military on 28 August 1939, before the war had even started, that it would be ‘difficult and perhaps hopeless’. Halder remarked that the Führer looked in very bad shape: ‘bleary-eyed, frail, his voice breaking, [and] muddled’. ‘Hitler,’ another witness recorded ‘made a nervous, tired impression’, with ‘distracted glances and movements’. When he explained the situation to the Reichstag, he received only weak ‘dutiful applause’. The more Britain seemed likely to intervene, the shriller Hitler became. ‘So long as I live,’ he vowed, ‘there will be no talk of capitulation.’ ‘If push comes to shove,’ he told Brauchitsch, ‘I will wage a two-front war.’229 On 30 August, he received Gauleiter Förster of Danzig to give him the last instructions for the capture of the city. Tension with Warsaw was whipped up in a final crescendo. An incident was manufactured by the SS on the border with Poland, in which an attack on the German radio station at Gleiwitz was faked.230 Hitler was going to roll the dice again.
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The ‘Haves’ and the ‘Have-Nots’

On 1 September 1939, the Wehrmacht invaded Poland. That same day, Hitler spoke in the Reichstag in a carefully choreographed appearance. He was addressing two audiences. One was the German people. To them, the Führer sought to justify the decision for war, and to shore up morale. For this reason, Hitler promised ‘no privations for Germans which I will not immediately share’. He underlined his new role as ‘the first soldier of the German Reich’1 by donning a simple grey jacket. The other addressee was the western powers, whose intervention he was anxious to avert. To them, Hitler signalled that he had ‘no claims in the west’ and that ‘our Westwall’ was ‘the border of the Reich for all times’. He also stressed that there would be no ‘capitulation’. ‘I would like to reassure the world at large,’ he averred, that ‘there will never be another November 1918 in German history.’2 It was the first of several wartime speeches, which Hitler used carefully for messaging purposes over the next six years. ‘In wartime I must weigh every word as if it were gold,’ he said, ‘because the world is attentive and sensitive.’ Hitler now rationed his appearances. ‘It was dangerous,’ he remarked, ‘to make speeches without having a plausible reason for doing so.’3

The Polish campaign was a resounding success.4 Danzig was captured in a coup de main. German tanks quickly overran the border defences, and advanced rapidly into the heart of the country. The plan of attack had been drawn up by the military leadership, but with considerable input from Hitler.5 He had disguised the offensive preparations as defensive measures. Hitler himself planned the commando operation against the bridge at Dirschau down to the smallest detail. More importantly, he had also insisted the pincer movement from East Prussia would not merely be a limited push to secure the Corridor but a much larger ‘great pincer’ designed to trap as many Polish forces as possible.6 Hitler did not, however, interfere in the operational conduct of the campaign, though he insisted on being briefed twice daily by telephone. Instead, shortly after the start of hostilities, Hitler set off on the first of several much-heralded ‘frontline travels’ to underline his commitment to his men. These journeys were not entirely without risk, as they exposed the Führer to air attack and even friendly fire, but they were essentially propaganda stunts.7 Hitler popped up at bridges and fords, or in field hospitals, with each photo opportunity calculated to give an impression of dynamism and ubiquity. The Poles proved no push-over, inflicting nearly 50,000 casualties, about a quarter of them dead, and they even launched a serious counter-attack on the Bzura against the forces advancing on Warsaw from the south-west.8 A fortnight into the campaign Hitler was sufficiently worried to urge the Soviet Union to hasten its intervention. On 17 September, Stalin invaded Poland from the east, taking a lot of pressure off the Wehrmacht. Nazi and Soviet forces met at Brest-Litovsk. Soon Polish resistance collapsed. Ribbentrop set off to Moscow to sort out the final details of the respective zones of occupation. The Führer returned to Berlin in triumph.

Hitler had been vindicated yet again, crowning two years of masterly manoeuvring in central and eastern Europe. Throughout the 1930s he prevented the Sudeten Germans from rebelling prematurely. Hitler had not responded to the Anglo-Czech ‘provocation’ in May 1938. Then he turned the Poles and the Hungarians against Prague in September of that year. Subsequently Hitler let loose the Slovaks on the Czechs, facilitating the seizure of Bohemia and Moravia in March 1939. During all this time, he had also kept the great powers at arm’s length. In September 1939, he isolated Warsaw, securing the collaboration of Slovakia and the Soviet Union for his attack. Each of these moves had been a gamble and required strong nerves, and each time Hitler’s audacity had paid off.

His hope that the war could be localized, however, was quickly dashed. On 3 September 1939, Britain and France declared war. Hitler was not surprised, but he was deeply shaken. That same day, Unity Mitford attempted suicide in the Englischer Garten in Munich. It is not clear whether the outbreak of war was the immediate motivation, but the date and symbolism of her act makes it highly likely. Despite his many other commitments, Hitler arranged and paid for the necessary medical care.9 Unity’s despair epitomized the failure of Hitler’s British policy, with its assumption of common racial ground and reliance on go-betweens. As for the United States she remained neutral for now, but her fundamental antipathy to the Third Reich was not in doubt. Roosevelt’s public strictures were on record; in private he was beginning to talk about concrete ways in which he could prevent Hitler from breaking through to the Atlantic.10 The United States was already waging a cold war against largely imaginary Nazi subversion in Latin America, and indeed against the generally blameless German population there.11

If Hitler had succeeded militarily by late September 1939, the position was more ambivalent politically. He had frequently predicted, despite knowing better, that the western powers would not intervene, and he had promised that there would be no ‘two-front war’. Now he had one. The conflict was not popular at home.12 Most Germans wanted the Poles to be taught a lesson, and to see the return of territories lost to Poland at Versailles, but they had no appetite whatsoever for another war against Britain and France. They greeted the attack on Poland with reserve and the Allied declaration of war with alarm. There was no trace of the enthusiasm which greeted mobilization in 1914. The streets were dark and empty. Hitler was well aware of these sentiments, which he had first noted during the Sudeten crisis, had inveighed against on many occasions since, and which were being monitored in detail by the surveillance apparatus of the Sicherheitsdienst.13 Victory over Poland brought some relief, but popular anxiety about the threat from Britain and France persisted.

Hitler was therefore determined to take ownership of the Polish victory, which he used to buttress his domestic position and to inspire confidence in his future direction of the conflict against the western powers. His proprietorial feelings were exposed when Fritsch was killed on the front line near Warsaw. Hitler was infuriated by Jodl’s remark that ‘the Wehrmacht [had] lost its best soldier’, which he seems to have read as a challenge to his own status as ‘the first soldier’ of the Reich. Brauchitsch made matters worse by referring to Fritsch as the ‘creator of the new army’, another accolade that Hitler felt were rightfully his. The Führer’s insecurity and jealousy in these matters was revealed by his decision to keep the news of Fritsch’s death under wraps for some time, to deny him the trappings of martyrdom, and then by his absence at the memorial service. Throughout the next seven months, in fact, Hitler carefully curated his image as the victor in Poland, personally selecting photographs for publication and suppressing rival narratives from the army propaganda machine and other sources.14

The Führer was in no doubt who the main enemy was: Britain and the Jews. His speech to the Reichstag responding to the declaration of war by the western powers hardly mentioned France or the Poles. Instead, Hitler emphasized the continuity of Britain’s policy of a ‘balance of power’ in Europe in order to make the continent ‘defenceless’ in the face of the ‘ideology of British world domination’. After Spain, the Dutch and France, he continued, it was now Germany’s turn to suffer ‘the encirclement strategy pursued by Britain’, of which Warsaw had merely been an instrument. In his second proclamation to the eastern army serving in Poland, issued the same day that Chamberlain declared war, he listed Britain’s alleged pre-First World War ‘encirclement strategy’, well ahead of Polish treatment of the German minority as the casus belli.15

Hitler also stressed the ideological dimension of the war, which pitted Germany against the ‘Jewish-democratic world enemy’, and the ‘capitalist war mongers of England and her satellites’.16 The Jews, Hitler claimed, had manipulated the ‘British people’ into war with Germany in order to maintain the international capitalist order – run by a ‘plutocratic and democratic ruling class’ – against the social aspirations of the Third Reich.17 Hitler would have been confirmed in this view by the fact that Chaim Weizmann, the president of the World Jewish Congress and head of the Jewish Agency for Palestine, had written to Chamberlain on the eve of war – 29 August 1939 – to tell him that ‘the Jews stand by Great Britain and will fight on the side of the democracies’, and ‘place ourselves, in matters big and small, under the co-ordinating direction of his Majesty’s Government’; this letter was published in The Times three days after Britain declared war. Of course, Weizmann was only responding to Hitler’s own repeated declarations of war on the Jews and in any case did not represent all Jews.18

For all these reasons, Hitler waged war against the Jews from the very start of hostilities. This was partly because the outbreak of war meant that, from his point of view, the removal of the remaining 300,000 Jews in the Reich had to be accelerated; partly because the defeat of Poland brought several million additional Jews under his control; but mainly because he saw international Jewry as the directing mind behind the enemy coalition. Such was Hitler’s fear that Jews constituted a fifth column in Germany that he ordered the confiscation of all Jewish telephones. In late September 1939, he instructed Heydrich that any territories taken from Poland were to be cleared of Jews, all of whom were to be concentrated in a reservation near Lublin. A week later, Hitler said that German Jews should be resettled ‘between Bug and Vistula’,19 and during the following month some were indeed transported there. Hitler did not necessarily watch over every stage of the implementation of anti-Jewish policy, but he was certainly responsible for its broad outlines. Towards the end of the year, Bormann stated clearly that all such measures undertaken by Himmler’s SS were to be agreed with the Führer.20

Equally important to Hitler as the armed campaign against Britain and the Jews was the international propaganda struggle to discredit enemy narratives and to promote those of the Third Reich. The Führer was determined here not to repeat the failures of the First World War. On 8 September, he issued a decree giving Ribbentrop control of external propaganda.21 It was an important victory for the Foreign Office over Goebbels and it reflected Hitler’s desire for coordination between the foreign messaging of the regime and its foreign policy, especially with regard to neutrals. ‘Propaganda,’ Hitler stated, ‘is an important instrument with which the leadership can promote and strengthen one’s own will to win and to destroy the will to win and morale of the enemy.’ He attached so much importance to this work that he compared the possible destruction of the propaganda machine to the loss of ‘certain parts of the Wehrmacht’.22 Central to this endeavour was the ‘enlightenment’ of the outside world about the nefarious nature of international Jewry, to which end the anti-Semitic ‘World Service’ was translated into eight languages.23 At the same time, at Hitler’s express request, Nazi broadcasts in Arabic targeted alleged British imperial atrocities in Palestine in September 1939.24

Even at this early stage, therefore, the nature of the war was becoming clear. It was Hitler’s response to the German predicament at the heart of Europe, an attempt to escape what he saw as her historic encirclement and subjugation. Now that he had given up all hopes of a British alliance, and of accommodation with Anglo-America, his language shifted from that of Nordic solidarity to that of a global class conflict in which he substituted nations for the classic Marxist social categories. The United States and the British Empire, on this reading, were the ‘haves’, the lords of all they surveyed. The Germans, by contrast, were firmly among the ‘have-nots’, ground down by the forces of ‘plutocracy’, which were determined to extirpate the contagious social model of the Nazi Volksstaat. They would have to redress the unjust global distribution of living space by force. The Führer also emphasized the ideological conflict between democracy and dictatorship. Finally, Hitler saw the struggle as a cosmic racial conflict, not just – most obviously – between Germans and Jews, but also an inter-Aryan civil war, between Teutons and Anglo-Saxons.

Allied strategy against the Third Reich in 1939 rested on blockading Germany and bringing the full weight of the combined British, French and (in effect) American economies to bear on the Reich. There was no immediate ground offensive, and instead of massive air-raids on German cities and factories, British and French aircraft dropped leaflets in what was still a largely political and ‘phoney’ war. The war at sea, by contrast, was waged with vigour from the start as the Allies sought to strangle Germany, and Hitler tried to keep their fingers off his throat. Considerable thought was given to the task of choking off German supplies of oil and iron ore.25 Time was to expose the British and French strategy as complacent, but at the time it appeared compelling. The figures seemed to tell a clear story. Taken together, the economies of the British and French empires were easily twice the size of that of Germany, even before the United States was taken into account.26 Their demographic potential, particularly if colonial possessions were taken into account, was also considerably larger.27 It was only a matter of time before this huge potential was converted into raw military power and hurled against the Reich. On the face of it, the war with the west – even without the blockade – was a contest Germany simply could not win.

Hitler was painfully aware of all this, as his constant rhetoric about the ability of the Reich to outlast another blockade showed. Moreover, for all his public bluster about the decadence of the British, he retained a healthy respect for their spirit and racial quality. The Führer’s sense of Germany’s weakness was widely shared not only by the population at large but also by the military leadership. It was particularly marked in the Kriegsmarine, whose inferiority was so crushing that Admiral Raeder reacted to the outbreak of war by suggesting that it could only hope ‘to die with decency’ so as ‘to provide the basis for a later rebuilding’ of German naval power.28 Later that month, he warned Hitler that he did not yet have enough submarines to starve out Britain. The army was in better shape, but its superiority over the combined French and British forces, once fully mobilized and deployed, was by no means clear. Likewise, the Luftwaffe enjoyed only a slight and eroding advantage over the RAF in quantity and quality of pilots and aircraft. Indeed, Hitler remained obsessed with the threat of allied air attack on German cities and especially on his exposed western industrial heartlands in the Ruhr. The Luftwaffe, by contrast, did not yet have the range to strike at England; it was still a purely tactical air force.29

The Führer’s options in 1939 were limited. German society was already very highly mobilized.30 The Allies would soon catch up as the outbreak of war ended the comparative advantage of dictatorship, namely the higher level of peacetime military and psychological mobilization. Besides, the blockade not merely restricted Germany’s access to raw materials and foodstuffs, but also unplugged her from the world economy, which now became an instrument of the Allied war effort. One way or the other, as Keitel told the head of the War Economics Office, General Thomas, ‘The Führer himself has recognized that we cannot last out a war of long duration. The war must be finished rapidly.’31

Faced with these realities, Hitler took some radical decisions with respect to the economy. All pretence of competing with the west in terms of consumption was abandoned. ‘One cannot win the war against England with cookers and washing machines,’ he told General Karl Becker, the head of army procurement in early November 1939.32 Plans for social housing were largely deferred until the end of the war. Plan Z, the attempt to challenge the ‘big ships’ of the Royal Navy and the United States, was shelved at the start of the war. Hitler decided to concentrate on submarines instead. In late September, Hitler queried the need to continue construction of Germany’s first aircraft carrier, the Graf Zeppelin, though he was dissuaded from halting it by Raeder.33 With the army, the emphasis was not so much on tanks as on artillery and ammunition production, which suggests that Hitler was not expecting a Blitzkrieg but a long hard slog in the west.

Strategically, Hitler’s was concerned to mitigate the effects of encirclement and the blockade. He stepped up efforts to bring Italy into the war as soon as possible. Hitler also pursued closer relations with Japan, principally with a view to keeping the US fleet tied up in the Pacific.34 In late September 1939, as the Polish campaign was drawing to a close, Hitler received a delegation of visiting Japanese military. He told them that their two countries were the only two great powers in the world which had no clashing interests. The primary basis of German-Japanese collaboration, in other words, was not their mutual antagonism to the Soviet Union and communism, but their shared hostility to the Anglo-American world order.

Hitler’s most useful partner, in fact, proved to be Stalin.35 The Molotov–Ribbentrop Pact provided the Third Reich with the strategic depth and access to grain and oil with which to defy the blockade. Raeder even wanted to ask the Russians for bases from which to harass British shipping, and Hitler agreed to send the request to Moscow via Ribbentrop.36 That said, Hitler did not regard the agreement as more than an expedient. He never denied his ideological differences with the Soviet Union, or took back anything that he had said, but he did stress the geopolitical common ground against London.37 The confrontation with the west left him with little choice.

In this emerging global conflict Hitler’s alignment with the Soviet Union chimed with the anti-plutocratic thrust of his global rhetoric. He appears to have been half-convinced that Moscow had turned away from Jewish Bolshevism towards a more authentically national Russian orientation, a development he had predicted during the early 1920s. ‘At the moment [Soviet] internationalism seems to have receded,’ he told the OKW privately later in the year, adding that this probably meant that she would go over to ‘Panslavism’. ‘It is hard to look into the future [on Russia],’ Hitler concluded.38 For this reason, the Nazi propaganda machine ceased all criticism of the Soviet Union and carefully began to extol the virtues of cooperation. The Wochenschau newsreels particularly praised the Russian supplies of foodstuffs and raw materials.39

The other way in which Hitler sought to escape the Allied chokehold was by avoiding direct military engagement with the western powers, especially Britain. On the eve of the invasion of Poland, he decreed that while vigorous action was to be undertaken in the east, in the west it was necessary ‘to leave the responsibility for the start of hostilities clearly to Britain and France’. Likewise, the Luftwaffe was instructed, ‘for now’, to restrict operations to the ‘repulsion of enemy air attacks across the borders of the Reich’. Hitler was particularly concerned not to provoke the Royal Navy at sea, where the danger of an unexpected clash was much greater. He had decreed at the start of the war that the main thrust of the war at sea should be against British commerce, but it was not until the end of September that Hitler actually authorized the Kriegsmarine ships at large in the Atlantic – in particular the Graf Spee and the Deutschland – to commence operations. This was followed shortly after by an instruction telling captains to avoid risky engagements as far as possible in order to deny the British cheap propaganda victories. The Führer’s sense of naval inferiority was thus palpable. Towards the close of the year, his concerns were vindicated by the fate of the pocket battleship Graf Spee. It enjoyed a short career attacking British shipping but was eventually cornered by the Royal Navy off Montevideo and forced to scuttle, to Hitler’s great embarrassment.40 Within weeks, therefore, it was clear that Germany was in practice primarily a regional actor in a world of global powers.

The Führer was also determined to keep the United States out of the war for as long as possible; he wanted to capture Warsaw quickly in order to present the American Congress with a fait accompli when it met after the summer recess.41 Hitler was well aware, and his diplomats and intelligence services reminded him on many occasions, that much of the New World’s immense potential would soon be at the service of the Allies. These fears were realized when the Roosevelt administration put in place a ‘cash and carry’ system which in practice meant that only the Western Allies could buy American arms. The American embassy in Berlin was formally correct in its behaviour towards the Reich, but largely hostile in practice.42 Hitler was equally aware, however, that it would take some time for the Americans to be militarily and psychologically ready for war with the Reich.43 One way or the other, propagandistic bluster aside, there was hardly anyone in the leadership of the Third Reich, least of all Hitler, who seriously believed that a war with Britain and the United States would be easy or even winnable.

For all these reasons, Hitler’s diplomacy after September 1939 was dominated by the desire to maintain American neutrality and a genuine wish to reach a negotiated solution with Britain, albeit on his own terms.44 The Führer was, as he told Halder four days into the war with the west, ‘ready to negotiate’,45 hoping at the very least to drive a wedge between Britain and France. Over the next eighteen months or so, Hitler made repeated diplomatic, rhetorical and back-channel overtures to London. On 19 September he used his first wartime radio speech to inaugurate a veritable peace offensive. Hitler spoke in Danzig, no doubt to emphasize his military success, blamed Poland’s predicament on the western powers and held out an olive branch.46 A week later, as the Polish campaign was drawing to a close, he received the intermediary Birger Dahlerus with a view to restarting talks.

Hitler’s hope for a peaceful solution with Britain drove his policy towards Poland. To be sure, his attitude towards that country had hardened considerably since the spring of 1939 and it deteriorated further in the course of the campaign. His visits to the front had left him with a highly unfavourable impression. The Poles had only a ‘thin Germanic layer’ below which the ‘material’ was ‘terrible’, he told Rosenberg in late September 1939, adding that the ‘Jews’ were the ‘most awful thing one could image’ and that the ‘cities were bristling with dirt’.47 This was not just rhetoric. Shortly after the fighting started, Hitler instructed the army not to interfere with the murderous activities of the SS. So while the Wehrmacht fought the Poles largely according to the rules of war, the treatment meted out to them by the SS and other formations was extraordinarily brutal from the start.48 When all is said and done, however, it is possible that it was the approach of war, and the conflict itself, which irrevocably turned Hitler into an extreme anti-Polish racist rather than the other way around.49 In his mind, the Poles had forced him to treat them badly, and he never forgave them for it.

That said, Hitler kept his options open in Poland for at least six weeks after the invasion began, partly in the residual hope of securing its assistance against the Soviet Union, but mainly in order to facilitate an agreement with London. In his remarks to Halder shortly after the British declaration of war, he held out the possibility that ‘rump Poland’ would be ‘recognized’, adding that while Germany would control the Narew and the Warsaw industrial area, ‘Krakau, Polen’ and ‘Ukraine’ [sic] would be ‘independent’.50 A month into the invasion, Hitler was still considering options for Poland, one of which was a ‘rump state’.51 This suggests that Hitler had not given up his idea of a modus vivendi with Poland based on joint expansion eastwards. A certain residual respect for Poland, even after the invasion, was evident in the fact that Hitler praised Marshal Piłsudski as ‘a man of indisputable realist understanding and energy’ in his Danzig speech of 19 September, blaming his death for the renewed hostility between Germany and Poland.52 The Führer also ordered an honour guard to be placed outside Marshal Piłsudski’s final resting place in Cracow, where it remained throughout the entire German occupation.53

These moves culminated in a dramatic Reichstag address on 6 October 1939, in which Hitler announced victory in Poland and offered Britain a peace settlement which would include an ill-defined rump Polish statehood.54 This offer was not merely tactically motivated but – by his own lights – sincerely meant.55 Failure to accept the proffered hand, he warned, would lead to the destruction of the British Empire. ‘This annihilatory struggle,’ Hitler proclaimed, ‘will not be limited to the mainland [of Europe]. No. It will spread far across the sea. There are no more islands today.’56

The war increasingly absorbed most of Hitler’s attention after September 1939, but that does not mean that he completely neglected domestic politics. On the contrary, the conflict drove a renewed engagement with internal affairs. Hitler was determined to avoid the repetition of the events of 1918, and therefore stressed the need to build the national solidarity he felt had been missing during the world war.57 He paid close attention to the summaries of the surveillance services on the state of popular opinion. Following some particularly critical reports in the autumn of 1939, for example, Hitler authorized an increased fat ration for children.58 To keep up morale at home, the Führer tried to maintain the – albeit restricted – supply of consumer goods. He symbolically insisted on sharing the privations of the home front, for instance by supposedly running his household on ration coupons.59 The ‘Winter Relief Organization’, which supplied coal and clothing to poorer Germans, also helped spread the burdens of war, at least psychologically, and to convince Britain of Germany’s will to resist. The Führer’s speech introducing the initiative stressed that he was looking for the ‘self-help of the people’ through the ‘willingness to sacrifice’ rather than ordaining it through an ‘appeal to the tax-payer’.60

Hitler also recognized the need to maintain cultural life even during wartime, partly to keep up the spirits of the population and partly to continue the process of gradual racial elevation of the German people through the appreciation of true art. For his own part, he largely ceased to watch films or to attend concerts and the opera, but he was concerned that the German people would not want for either entertainment or improvement, even and especially during the war. The plans for a huge art museum in Linz, for which Hans Posse presented detailed ideas in October 1939, continued to command Hitler’s attention,61 as did his various other projects, despite the demands of conflict.

On the negative side, Hitler further stepped up the suppression of internal dissent and the establishment of ideological coherence, especially in the Wehrmacht. In late September 1939, he set up the Reich Security Main Office (RSHA), which brought all the main German police and security agencies under the direct control of Heinrich Himmler. At around the same time, Hitler agreed ‘in principle’ to Rosenberg’s plan for the ‘securing of the National Socialist ideology’ in the army.62 He was determined to prevent a repetition of the protests by some commanders, such as General Blaskowitz, against the behaviour of the SS in Poland, and to steel the army for the long war ahead. A visible sign of Hitler’s displeasure with the Wehrmacht and the rising importance of the SS was the creation of new SS military formations. On 18 September 1939, he instructed that the SS Death’s Head units, who were tasked with guarding the concentration camps, should detach the younger cohorts for military service in SS regiments and if possible divisions. For now, these formations were to remain under the operational control of the army.63 The trend, though, was already clear.

The war also accelerated Hitler’s plans for the racial transformation of Germany. He expected heavy casualties among the ‘best’ elements fighting at the front, and decreasing conceptions due to long separations of husbands and wives. One way of compensating for this was through a positive eugenics of increasing the numbers of ‘higher-value’ births. Some of this could be achieved through traditional methods, such as celebrating Mother’s Day or awarding particularly fecund women the Mutterkreuz. More controversially, the concept of illegitimacy came under increasing attack, as men – especially those in the SS – were urged to defy convention and produce as many children as possible.64 Hitler does not at this point seem to have taken much interest in this idea. The problem with supposed positive eugenics, in any case, was that it was a slow process of improvement, bringing change over the longer term. It was a viable strategy in a country at peace but the advent of war meant that this approach had run out of time.

Several factors conspired to drive a radicalization of Hitler’s already extreme racial policies from September 1939. War put a new premium on negative eugenics, which could be implemented quickly, albeit at a high domestic and diplomatic price. In October 1939, Hitler ordered Brandt and Bouhler to go ahead secretly with the euthanasia programme, in defiance of the known objections of the Catholic Church and other groupings.65 The measure was retrospectively dated to the start of the war on 1 September, showing the link Hitler made between the two.66 Finally, the conquest of Poland had brought with it the unplanned and unwanted acquisition of millions of Polish Jews. According to Hitler’s logic, these would have to be deported or otherwise dealt with, partly because they represented ‘useless’ mouths to be fed, and partly because they constituted a threat behind German lines.67 In all of these cases, the war did not so much provide cover for long-planned measures, though this was a consideration, as necessitate in Hitler’s mind the speeding-up of what had originally been envisaged as a longer-term and thus more evolutionary process.

The outbreak of war did not fundamentally change Hitler’s role in the German political system.68 Despite this, the polycratic nature of the Third Reich was aggravated by the proliferation of new institutions related to the running of the war economy and military operations. The supreme command typified this phenomenon, as well as reflecting the primacy of the struggle against the west. It was divided between the High Command of the Army (OKH), the army leadership, which later ran the war in the east, and the High Command of the Wehrmacht (OKW), which coordinated the three services, ran all other theatres and had general superintendence over the conflict as a whole. There was also no fundamental shift in the character of Nazi high politics. Bitter feuding persisted at all levels, despite the fact that Hitler gave it no encouragement whatsoever.69 He gave strict instructions that ministers should try to resolve their differences without involving him first.70 Politics continued to revolve around Hitler himself, the only difference being that the Führer’s Headquarters was added to the list of existing centres of power. Perhaps surprisingly, he had not prepared a large central bunker complex from which to direct the war, but rather operated from a series of bespoke regional ones.71 The Führer’s Headquarters was thus an institution, not a place; it was where the Führer was at any given time.

What changed after the outbreak of war was not the extent of Hitler’s authority, which was never directly challenged, but its focus. He began to withdraw from day-to-day domestic politics and became inaccessible. Face-to-face meetings with members of the civilian administration, which had been quite common in the 1930s, were increasingly replaced by the dispatch of documents for approval. Likewise, the Führer basically no longer attended the meetings of the Gauleiter, but received them afterwards.72 That said, Hitler remained the ultimate arbiter, and in full control of those areas which mattered most to him, namely ideology, foreign policy and the overall conduct of the war. His immediate supervision of domestic policy was more and more reduced over time, to be sure, but he remained engaged there to the end. As we shall see, he retained tight control over matters affecting popular morale such as rations, prices and the conscription of women. The Führer determined the main lines of development and it was not possible to achieve anything against his will or to change a course he had embarked upon without his express permission. The men around him, including the increasingly ubiquitous Martin Bormann, were executive organs, not controlling ones.73 Hitler was still in charge, the uncontested master in the Third Reich.

On 12 October 1939, Chamberlain finally rejected German overtures for a negotiated settlement. Despite the fact that this had been on the cards for some time, Hitler was disappointed and furious.74 London’s refusal to compromise had two far-reaching consequences. First, it settled Poland’s fate; Stalin’s relentless hostility to any form of independent existence for the Poles also influenced the Führer’s position.75 Hitler dropped the idea of a rump Polish state and all restraint towards the population. The treatment of Poles, already very grim, became even harsher. On 17 October 1939, he reprimanded German officers who were conducting discussions with Polish grandees about a possible collaborationist regime.76 Parts of pre-war Poland were directly annexed to Germany. Towards the end of October, Hitler corralled the remaining Poles under his control into the ‘General Government’ under the direction of Hans Frank.77 He had already begun in early October to deport Jews from Germany into reservations there. Concrete instructions were now issued to suppress the entire Polish intelligentsia.78 All this was done ‘on the hoof’, not in accordance with any longstanding plan.79 Hitler’s original hope and expectation had been that he would conduct the attack on Russia with the cooperation, or at least the toleration, of Poland. Instead, he now found himself in alliance with the Soviet Union and in occupation of large swathes of Polish territory with millions of Poles, many of them Jews.

The short- to medium-term future of this space, and those who lived in it, was unclear. Hitler still planned to use it as a staging ground for an invasion of the Soviet Union,80 but the continuing war with Britain complicated this. Time, so short in August 1939, now seemed to expand again. Lebensraum in the east remained very much on Hitler’s mind, but it would have to wait until the western flank was secure. In the meantime, Hitler announced a joint ‘redevelopment project’ with the Soviet Union to remove at least part of the European ‘causes of conflict’. This involved extensive ‘resettlements’, not just of Poles but also of Germans.81 It was driven by a very simple and unexpected fact. From the start, Hitler’s policy had been to secure, for the cooped-up German people, the necessary living space in the east to counter-balance Anglo-America. Now he found himself in control of a large territory with nobody to put in it. Hitler faced the same problem in Bohemia and Moravia, albeit in a less extreme form. With full employment in Germany, and little economic migration to the United States or elsewhere, there was no incentive for Reich Germans to settle in Poland or for that matter in the Protectorate. Hitler had no actual demographic surplus to distribute. Instead of a ‘people without space’, it was now a case of a ‘space without people’.

Hitler responded to this problem in three ways. First, he cast around for alternative sources of Germans. Some of these were to come from South Tyrol, where the transfer of the those who had ‘opted’ for Germany was finalized in October 1939,82 but most of them were sourced in the Baltic States and the Soviet Union. German populations there were to be repatriated in a huge ‘Home to the Reich’ operation. Hitler seems to have hit on this solution, which featured in none of his earlier writings or pre-war plans, largely by accident. Originally, he had only intended to absorb those Germans who had shown strong Nazi or nationalist inclinations, but he was prevailed upon by the leader of the German minority in Latvia to save all Baltic Germans from Stalin’s clutches. One way or the other, the German-Soviet ‘Border and Friendship Treaty’ of 28 September created facts on the ground by formalizing the new territorial arrangements.83

The new policy was laid out in Hitler’s ‘Decree for the Strengthening of the German Volk’ of 7 October 1939. Good racial fences, he suggested, made good neighbours. With this in mind, Hitler undertook to retrieve ‘German people who have previously been compelled to live abroad’, to achieve ‘better demarcations’ with the other groups in ‘its’ – that is Germany’s – ‘space’.84 Himmler was tasked with job of ‘bringing back’ to the Reich the relevant Germans from abroad to facilitate the ‘establishment of a new German farmer class’, especially through the cultivation of ‘new German areas of settlement’ by returnees. Over the next fifteen months or so, a series of treaties was concluded with Estonia, Latvia, Romania, Hungary and the Soviet Union in order to facilitate the ‘return’ of their German populations.85 Their extent suggests that Hitler had pushed plans for an immediate attack on Russia to a more distant date, because it made no sense to withdraw Germans from thence only to return them a year later (unless he feared they might be used as hostages, but that concern was never mentioned, or even alluded to).86

Hitler’s remarks to Rosenberg around this time show that his timeframe had indeed expanded again. Immediate war with Russia was not on the agenda; the main concern was wrapping up the Polish campaign and dealing with Britain and France. More to the point, Hitler’s vision for Poland itself suggests that he did not necessarily expect to move east again in the near future. For a short period, the locus of Lebensraum, which had been firmly in Russia since the 1920s, moved west to Poland. The Führer announced his intention to build ‘an impregnable Ostwall on the Vistula, even stronger than in the west’. He also wanted to establish a ‘broad belt of Germanization and colonization’ at that border. This would be ‘an enormous task’, namely to create ‘a German granary’ with ‘a strong German farming class’ drawn from ‘good Germans from across the world’. The phrasing hints that Hitler may even have hoped to lure Germans back from overseas, including the United States. He concluded by remarking that only ‘the future’ would show whether it would be possible ‘to advance the settlement belt after several decades had passed’.87 In other words, Hitler was now thinking of a war with the Soviet Union only at some future moment, perhaps decades away.

The Führer’s second method of filling the space suddenly available to him was to take a closer look at the racial composition of the Polish people. Having lurched from friendship towards extreme hostility within a few months, he swung back a little in the other direction. Hitler had long rejected traditional Germanization programmes with their emphasis on language, and claimed that one could only ‘Germanize’ the land and not the people. Now, however, he spoke of assimilating as many Poles as possible.88 ‘Those elements which are considered racially valuable,’ Hitler stated, could be ‘Germanized’; this placed him closer to the more ‘moderate’ Gauleiter Förster of Danzig than to Gauleiter Greiser of the Wartheland, who relied on killings and deportations.89 ‘The basis’ on which the selection was made, he continued, must be ‘racial appearance and heredity.’ Hitler argued that the tribes originally inhabiting these areas had ‘in any case been half shot-through with Slavic and German blood’, because the German farmers who settled there hundreds of years ago had been short of women and therefore mated with ‘hot-blooded Slavic women’. The solution, Hitler proclaimed, lay in ‘language’, demanding that ‘children must forget Polish and only learn German’. Children thus became a particular focus of the occupation policy. Much could be made of a Pole, the Führer believed, if he were caught young.90

It was the start of the greatest assimilation project in modern German history, paradoxically carried out by the man who had condemned similar efforts by the Second Reich.91 This was less of a volte face than it appeared, however, because Hitler viewed the process of assimilation not as the cultural and linguistic Germanization of racial Slavs, but as the discovery and filtering-out of Germanic elements within the Polish and Czech peoples. In practice, though, the result was the same. Hitler had originally wanted to retrieve and retain the racial cream that had been skimmed off for generations by the Anglo-Americans. Now he found himself picking over what many in his entourage thought of as the central and eastern European dregs. He had little choice. In the absence of high-value colonists from the Reich, or better still returnees from Anglo-America, Hitler had to make do with what was available. These measures pointed to a trend which was to become ever more apparent as the war dragged on. While conflict initially put an end to positive eugenics, and privileged the instant gratification of negative eugenics through deportation, sterilization or murder, the longer it lasted, the lower Hitler’s own racial ‘standards’ fell.

Finally, the Führer sought to remedy the shortage of colonists by reforming German agriculture, especially in the west. This had long been characterized by subdivision and inefficiency. Hitler let it be known that he wanted families whose small holdings in western Germany had been rationalized and the younger sons of farmers to be settled in the east.92 The slogan for the east would be ‘settlement’ and in the west it would be ‘reallocation’, meaning rationalization; the two were closely connected in Hitler’s mind. Here the Führer ruled against Walther Darré, who wanted large numbers of smaller holdings, and in favour of Himmler, who desired larger ‘defensive farms’. In effect, he was attempting to replicate the primogeniture of the large British estates, the extensive farming of the United States, and perhaps also ancient Rome’s land grants to former legionaries. This was not an agrarian utopia, but an American-style vision. To Hitler, therefore, the modernization of German agriculture and the colonization of the east went hand in hand.

The second consequence of Chamberlain’s rejection of Hitler’s peace overtures, which he feared long before the final response became known, was that the Führer took off the gloves against Britain. ‘If the British don’t want peace,’ the Führer told Rosenberg in late September 1939, he ‘would fall upon them with every means at his disposal and destroy them.’93 He now wanted to do so without further delay. Despite the fact that Germany’s preparations were incomplete, Hitler believed that the ‘relative balance’ would ‘not shift to our advantage’, but rather that the ‘defensive power of the enemy’ would ‘gradually increase’. If the west was badly equipped with tanks, then this would probably ‘no longer be the case’ in ‘6–8 months’ time’.94 Besides, the Führer warned, as the war dragged on the British would be more likely to browbeat the Dutch, Belgians and other neutrals into taking their side. While Germany’s social and national cohesion waned as Allied propaganda took effect, Allied aircraft would attack the industry of the Ruhr, enabling Britain to bring the weight of the international economy on the Reich. ‘In this sense,’ the Führer concluded, ‘every further month’s delay’ in attacking the Anglo-French armies would make the Wehrmacht’s job more difficult. If Hitler could now wait in the east, time was running out in the west.95

Whatever Hitler may have said about British decadence before the outbreak of war, most of which was designed to disarm objections to his confrontational course, he continued to entertain a strong sense of Britain’s innate strength and racial value. The real danger, he told the senior military, was that increasing British mobilization would provide France with ‘additional military capacity of high psychological and material value’. Unlike much of the High Command, which was worried about the French army, the Führer saw the upcoming campaign primarily as a contest with Britain. Hitler therefore earnestly warned against the ‘under-estimation of British units’, particularly in a defensive role, because the ‘internal constitution of the Briton’ made him a tenacious fighter. This was an allusion to his experience of British toughness during the First World War. Six weeks later, Hitler returned to this theme. ‘I am worried by the ever greater presence of the British,’ he told the generals. ‘The Briton is a tough enemy, especially in defence,’ he warned.96

The only sphere in which Hitler felt superior to Britain was culture. ‘The cultural creativity of Britain,’ he remarked, ‘is a chapter in itself.’ ‘We Germans,’ he continued, ‘certainly do not need any lectures from the British in the field of culture.’ ‘Our music, our poetry, our architecture, our painting, our sculpture,’ he claimed in an enumeration reminiscent of the second verse of the ‘Deutschlandlied’, did not need to fear comparison with those of Britain. ‘I believe that a single German, let us say Beethoven,’ Hitler went on, ‘has achieved more musically than all Englishmen past and present put together.’ This was, of course, a familiar trope from German nationalist rhetoric of the nineteenth century, when patriots had sought to compensate for their manifest political weakness through claims of cultural supremacy.97 Ironically, Hitler was reprising these themes at a time when he had long since driven many of Germany’s most important cultural figures into exile in Anglo-America.

Politically, Hitler’s aim was the reversal of the Treaty of Westphalia, in his view the root of all evil in modern German history. The very first line of his memorandum on the forthcoming campaign in the west claimed that ‘the dissolution of the first Reich caused by the peace of Münster in 1648’ had led to the system of the European ‘balance of power’. This had enabled the emergence of the French but ‘especially’ of the British Empire. The ‘decisive characteristic’ of this settlement, which had also been desired by Britain, had been the ‘fragmentation of the German people’. Hitler thus transferred the primary responsibility for the maintenance of the Westphalian system from its originator, France, to its supposed principal current protagonist, Britain. This was a theme to which Hitler returned again and again over the next eight months or so.98 Hitler’s objection to Westphalia was partly territorial, in that he grieved over the loss of western lands to other countries, but his main concern was conceptual. To him, the treaties epitomized the internal fragmentation and external subordination of the Reich.99

The Führer was determined to attack in the west at the earliest possible opportunity. Despite the fact that the vast majority of enemy ground forces there were French, his main target was Britain.100 Failure to attack, he warned a fortnight later, would allow Britain to box in the German U-boats in the North Sea. To this end, Hitler repeated his demand for the ‘destruction of the Franco-British army’, which was ‘the precondition’ for a ‘brutal operation against the heart of the British will to resist’ in due course.101 The purpose of the offensive in the west was thus not so much the delivery of military force against the Allied field armies, as the delivery of political effect in London.

Hitler put his stamp on the planned western offensive from the start, both strategically and operationally. He was adamant that one would not simply repeat the ‘hackneyed’ Schlieffen Plan of 1914. He was already confident that tanks could be sent through the Ardennes, and planned to separate British and French forces.102 Hitler gave instructions for the capture of the bridges over the Meuse through a coup de main and for the use of airborne forces.103 He ordered that the operation should have no ‘established centre of gravity’ to begin with, but that it should acquire one in accordance with the ‘early successes’ to exploit any breakthroughs.104 Hitler also had a clear vision of the nature of the conflict to come. He demanded that the advancing German armoured spearheads should avoid being caught up in the ‘warren of endless terraces of Belgian towns’. The key thing was for them to maintain their ‘mobility’ and to prevent the enemy front from stabilizing. Hitler called for ‘improvisations’ and the ‘massing’ of tanks and guns. He predicted that the ‘effect of such a mass deployment, especially of the 8.8 mm [guns]’ would be ‘devastating’ for the enemy. Bombing was to be used not only to destroy enemy positions but also to ‘demoralize’ them.105 This was in fact almost exactly how the campaign unfolded.

The planning was accompanied by a renewed propagandistic bombardment of Britain, which was singled out for particular treatment; the French were criticized, if at all, more in sorrow than in anger. Hitler attacked the British Empire on two fronts. On the one hand, he argued that Germany was simply behaving in Europe as Britain had always done across the world, only with greater justification and effectiveness. He contrasted the mayhem in the British mandates over the Arabs of the Middle East with the order the Third Reich had swiftly established among the Slavs of central Europe.106 A month later, he elaborated on this theme. ‘If an Englishman argues today that he is responsible for the fate of peoples of central and eastern Europe,’ he argued, ‘then I can only answer that we are equally responsible for the fate of the peoples in Palestine, in Arabia, in Egypt, and even in India.’ The symmetry here was clear: if there were to be British mandates in the rest of the world, then why not German protectorates in Europe?

If Hitler wanted to hunt with the imperialist hounds, he was also increasingly running with the colonized hares. The idea that Germany had been enslaved by the British Empire and international high finance, which had been so prominent in his rhetoric throughout the 1920s, and had always been close to the surface after 1933, now returned with a vengeance. Even the simple pleasures of life, he complained, were at the mercy of the empire. Why should the British decide, Hitler asked, whether the Germans drank coffee? He condemned the British for ‘oppressing’ 350 million Indians, in ‘exactly the same way’ as millions of Germans were trodden underfoot.107 Hitler’s empathy extended to the other wretched of the earth. He lampooned British claims to be fighting for ‘the right to self-determination of the peoples’, for where were these rights more denied than in the British Empire, where the principle apparently did not apply? Remarkably, Hitler also rebutted British claims to defend ‘civilization’, given conditions in ‘British mining areas, slums in Whitechapel and in other areas of mass poverty and social degeneration’. For Hitler, the battle against the British Empire was an international class struggle, in which nations took the place of classes. The conflict was framed not just as a German war of national liberation against British domination of the continent, but as a global insurrection against Anglo-American capitalism and imperialism.

The Jews were central to this rhetoric, though they were by no means the Führer’s only target. He inveighed against the ‘money magnates’, the ‘Jewish and non-Jewish international bank barons’ who were trying to destroy the Germany of the ‘welfare laws for workers’ which had ‘removed class distinctions’ in the Reich and eliminated unemployment.108 So fearful were Germany’s enemies of this model of ‘welfare and social compromise’, he claimed, that they feared ‘that their own people might be infected by it’. In this respect, apparently, Nazism was for export after all. The regime attached such importance to this passage in Hitler’s speech that it was reprinted in the official journal of the Reich Labour Ministry shortly afterwards.109 Hitler was still trying to ‘internationalize’ the Jewish question. It was in this spirit that he described his ‘peace’ speech to the Reichstag as ‘an attempt to order and regulate the Jewish problem’.110

Hitler saw this campaign as an exercise in self-defence, retaliation against the fearsome British propaganda machine and its supposed Jewish allies in the world, especially the American press. He repeatedly referred throughout the conflict, as he had throughout his career, to ‘Jewish-international [capitalism and] journalism’ and ‘certain international press organs’.111 Hitler kept a close eye on what British and American magazines were saying from the start of the war, requesting to see the original copies.112 There were representatives of the Deutscher Nachrichtendienstbüro (DNB) stationed in the Führer’s Headquarters to supply the Führermaterialdienst with foreign news, military communiqués and press announcements at Dietrich’s request. One way or the other, Hitler’s enmity towards Britain had become all-embracing by late 1939. ‘I want to beat Britain, whatever it costs,’ he told Goebbels, ‘and all my thoughts and actions are geared towards that end.’113

British enmity was also the framework within which Hitler interpreted the attempt on his life by Georg Elser. The would-be assassin had concealed a bomb in a pillar of the Munich Bürgerbräukeller, timed to explode as Hitler gave the traditional annual address to commemorate the failed putsch of 1923. That evening, however, the Führer left early in order to visit Unity Mitford in hospital. The change of plan saved his life, because the bomb went off as planned, causing extensive damage and loss of life. Despite the fact that Elser was a communist sympathizer, who was carrying an emblem of the Rotfrontkämpferbund when he was arrested, Hitler was convinced that British Intelligence was behind the plot. Goebbels claimed in the Völkischer Beobachter of 15 November 1939 that ‘the assassin is called Britain’. Later Hitler thought it might have been Bavarian monarchists, and for a while Goebbels even privately blamed Otto Strasser.114 In truth, there is no evidence of a link between British Intelligence and Elser, who appears to have acted completely alone.

Hitler was still relatively unconcerned by the Soviet Union. Elser’s manifest communist connections do not seem to have weighed heavily with him. Nor did he fear an immediate Russian attack. ‘Russia,’ he told the generals in late November 1939, ‘is currently no threat’, on account of its internal divisions and the weakness of the Red Army. Besides, Hitler added, ‘there was the treaty’. This might well change in the future, but he was not expecting any trouble at least for ‘the next one or two years’. Hitler was also unworried by Stalin’s ambitions in Scandinavia, which the Molotov–Ribbentrop Pact greatly facilitated. As conflict between Finland and the Soviet Union loomed, the visiting Swedish explorer Sven Hedin found him obsessed with Britain.115 Hitler even described Stalin’s demands as ‘moderate’. He certainly showed no sense of racial solidarity with the ‘Nordic’ peoples or any interest in Scandinavia outside of his struggle with Britain.116 No significance should be attached to his very occasional loose use of the phrase ‘Greater German Reich’, which almost certainly referred to the Greater Germany of the nineteenth century rather than any ambitions in Northern Europe.117 Unlike Himmler, in fact, the Führer did not take Scandinavians – whom he considered harmless and dozy fishermen118 – very seriously.

This did not change after Russia invaded Finland on 30 November 1939. True to the spirit of the pact with Stalin, Hitler imposed an arms embargo on the Finns. His only concern was that trouble in Scandinavia might give Britain a pretext to intervene there and cut Germany off from her source of Swedish raw materials.119 The Kriegsmarine, which wanted bases in Norway to attack Britain, brought Hitler to a meeting with the former Norwegian defence minister and extreme right-wing politician Vidkun Quisling on 12 December in Berlin. Soon after, Hitler gave orders to plan the invasion of Norway. The operation was conceived not as an extension of German Lebensraum or the recovery of a Nordic ‘fraternal people’, but rather as a pre-emptive strike against any British attempt to interfere with his supplies of iron ore.

Hitler was much more concerned about the United States, at least in the medium and long term. The naval leadership warned him not long after Chamberlain finally rejected the peace overtures that the American position would be decisive. They also argued, and Hitler agreed, that it was vital to pursue the ‘siege of Britain’ with all possible vigour even at the risk of bringing the United States into the war. The sooner radical measures were taken at sea, the argument went, the shorter the war.120 It was clear to both the navy and Hitler that American belligerency was not merely possible but likely; it was not a question of whether, but of when. He let it be known that he believed that the war would be over before the Americans were ready to enter it.121 In late 1939, Hitler was mildly reassured by the reports from his Washington military attaché, Boetticher, that the United States needed another year or so for its military preparations to be complete.122 Time, however, was not Germany’s friend, and the Führer knew it. ‘Thanks to her neutrality laws,’ Hitler told his generals, America was ‘not yet a threat. The strengthening of the enemy through America was not yet substantial.’123 There was a lot in that double ‘not yet’.

The Führer’s anxiety about the United States went beyond just military considerations. He continued to be exercised about the American cultural challenge. Hitler knew that the Germans still hankered after Hollywood, even or especially after the outbreak of war. ‘I understand you didn’t like the movie last night,’ he teased Eva Braun on the terrace of the Berghof, ‘I know what you want. You want Gone with the Wind.’124 This reference to a film released in December 1939 shows Hitler’s consciousness of the enduring power of American popular culture. Yet his preoccupation with the United States went deeper still. In mid December 1939, despite all the pressures of war, Hitler received the American racial theorist Lothrop Stoddard in the Imperial Chancellery. Stoddard’s book The Rising Tide of Color Against White World-Supremacy had been published in 1920 with a preface by none other than Madison Grant; the German translation appeared five years later. By prior agreement, the content of their discussion was kept completely confidential, but Stoddard spoke freely of his other exchanges. He registered with astonishment that many German racial theorists, like Hitler, did not consider the German people as ‘Nordic’ but as a mixture of races.125 The task of creating an actual Nordic race in Germany, therefore, still lay ahead.

Hitler’s preoccupation with Anglo-America dominated his Lebensraum rhetoric during this period, no less than it had in the past. ‘I am stepping for the first time on soil,’ he announced in his speech on 19 September 1939 in Danzig, ‘which German settlers took possession of half a millennium before the first whites settled in today’s state of New York.’126 Two months later, Hitler lamented to his generals that German history was characterized by ‘the adjustment of the number of inhabitants to the lack of space through emigration’. The trauma of losing so many millions of Germans to Anglo-America clearly persisted. Failure to address the lack of space, Hitler argued, would lead to ‘national death’ through further ‘haemorrhaging’. ‘I have decided to take a different path,’ he concluded, which was ‘the adjustment of living space to the number of inhabitants.’ This, he averred, could only be done ‘by the sword’. Unlike earlier contests this would be a ‘racial struggle’ for ‘oilfields, rubber, minerals, etc.’ The ultimate enemy here – ‘Britain has been against us since 1870’ – was not Jewry or Slavdom, but the rival Nordics who controlled these resources. The racial struggle he was referring to, in other words, was an inter-Nordic civil war, the second titanic clash of the Aryans in two decades.

Hitler’s planned western offensive was hugely controversial among the Wehrmacht High Command. Most of them had experienced the British and French during the First World War. They had doubts about the quality of the new army and also about the resilience of the home front. An all-or-nothing attack would be a huge gamble. Despite the authoritarian nature of the Third Reich, Hitler’s growing authority, and their ingrained sense of obedience, many generals protested vocally. Not long after Hitler’s intentions became known, Brauchitsch was given the task of ‘talking the Führer out of his plans’.127 Several generals wrote to express their reservations. Halder, Oster and Stülpnagel even began to plot Hitler’s removal, at least if he ordered a disastrous attack in the west. Mutiny was in the air.128

The Führer was incensed. He inveighed against the ‘spirit of Zossen’, an allusion to the supreme headquarters of the army, and accused the generals, especially Brauchitsch, of cowardice.129 Nevertheless, he showed willingness to compromise on some important issues. The operational plan remained a subject of furious debate throughout the winter, with constant interference from the Führer, and was by no means finalized.130 Hitler was also prepared to yield on the date. He had originally wanted to attack by 12 November 1939, which would have given the Wehrmacht only three weeks to prepare. Brauchitsch succeeded in persuading him to delay. Early in the following month, Hitler decreed a further postponement of a week, finally agreeing to wait until the following year. In the end, the date of the attack was to be postponed twenty-nine times.

On the main issue, however, Hitler was absolutely unyielding. He would launch a decisive attack in the west, come what may. The Führer concluded his speech to the generals in late November with a vow. ‘I will stand or fall in this battle,’ he proclaimed. ‘I will not survive the defeat of my people. No capitulation towards the outside and no revolution from within.’131 The generals had their answer. Hitler would grapple with Britain, which he defined a few days later as ‘bearer of the fighting spirit and the leading enemy power’. ‘Beating Britain,’ he insisted, ‘is the precondition for final victory.’132 The question was no longer whether Hitler would attack in the west, but how and when.

In his 1940 New Year’s Day address Hitler asserted that the aim of the ‘Jewish-capitalist world enemy’ was to ‘destroy Germany’ and ‘the German people’. This was because the Third Reich represented a youthful, dynamic and popular challenge to the international ruling elite, which he understood in national and generational rather than in class terms. The Germans, Hitler claimed in late January 1940, were one of the ‘young peoples’ of the world. They were challenging the ‘so-called propertied classes among the people’ who had ‘robbed’ Germany and were simply sitting on their ill-gotten gains. On this reading, the Germans were, so to speak, at best the poor whites of the international system. In this spirit, Hitler professed sympathy with the other wretched of the earth who groaned under the weight of imperialism and capitalism, particularly that of the British Empire. His empathy extended to not merely the Nordic Boers, but also the decidedly non-Aryan Arabs. Hitler reminded his listeners again that it was the British who ‘invented the concentration camp’,133 and argued that the blockade of Germany was simply the latest version of age-old method of waging war against women and children. Once again, Hitler was far more exercised about the earlier British than the current Soviet camps.

The Führer was also worried by Allied propaganda. The Allies hit back, trying to fragment Germans. Instead of bombing the Ruhr as Hitler had feared, British and French aircraft dropped millions of leaflets on Germany, calling on the population to rise up against the Nazis. This strategy has been much derided since, but it struck fear into Hitler’s heart. He had seen the colossal effect of Allied propaganda on German morale during the First World War. Hitler claimed that the success of National Socialism over the previous six years had inoculated German society against the Franco-British poison. Never again, he vowed, would Germans be gulled by Allied disinformation into launching an internal revolution like in 1918.134 Hitler was in fact very far from believing German unity to be beyond question, which explains the frequency and vehemence with which he asserted the opposite.

If the war seemed becalmed on the surface, there was frenetic activity behind the scenes in Berlin. By now, the generals had accepted the need to attack in the west, and internalized the Führer’s view that the main thrust should be against Britain.135 On 10 January 1940, Hitler set an attack date for a week later. That same day, however, a German aircraft with the plans for Fall Gelb on board crash-landed near Mechelen on the Belgian side of the border. The weather was in any case too inclement to permit an attack. On 16 January, Hitler postponed the attack to the spring and went back to the drawing board. A month later, Erich von Manstein presented an audacious plan to send German armour through the rugged Ardennes to divide the British and French armies and force them back to the sea. Hitler was enthusiastic. On 24 February 1940, what has become known to history as the Sichelschnitt plan was formally adopted.

More or less the entire Wehrmacht was deployed to the west; only small screening units remained in the east. Hitler took a keen interest in details, such as the airborne operation against the Belgian fort Eben-Emael, which covered the approaches to Liège, and in the passage of the panzers through the difficult terrain of the Ardennes.136 He generally favoured the most audacious solution. His confidence in the plan was absolute, promising the architect Hermann Giesler that he would soon be able to show him Paris.137 All the same, neither Hitler nor the German High Command was envisaging a quick end to the war, but at best a devastating blow against the Allies in Belgium, followed by an aerial campaign against Britain, and a war of attrition against the remaining French forces either somewhere around the Somme or further south.

The expectation of a longer war and concern about the growing British presence in France were reflected in the renewed stress on greater armaments production; Hitler was in no sense expecting a ‘lightning victory’.138 ‘The increasing strength of the enemy forces, especially of the British Army,’ Hitler proclaimed in a directive on 17 January 1940, ‘requires that the German Wehrmacht, especially the army and Luftwaffe, be strengthened both numerically and in terms of the quality of its equipment.’139 His priorities were also revealing. Hitler’s emphasis was on artillery, ammunition, barbed wire and machine tools rather than tank production, which consumed only 5 per cent of the steel allocation. This put a premium on the increased mobilization of the German economy, which was already seriously overstretched. In mid March 1940, Hitler appointed Fritz Todt as the new munitions minister. He oversaw the biggest increase in German armaments production yet: it doubled between January and July 1940.140 The demands of the war economy had important consequences for domestic, occupation and foreign policy. At home, the retreat from consumption continued. Instead of civilian Volkswagen for the Volksgenossen, the factory at Fallersleben began from 1940 to mass-produce vehicles for the Wehrmacht. The promise of universal motorization was delayed until after the war.141

The need of the German war economy for raw materials and foodstuffs greatly increased Hitler’s reliance on the Soviet Union. On 11 February 1940, he concluded a comprehensive economic agreement with Moscow.142 Stalin supplied him with grain, animal feed and metals, such as phosphates, asbestos, chrome and nickel.143 Many of the bullets later fired at the British at Dunkirk were coated with Russian-mined cupro-nickel. Hitler bragged that he was safe from the British blockade. To that extent, the Hitler–Stalin Pact gave him the defence in depth and the fruits of Lebensraum without actually having to fight for it.144 His view of the pact remained largely instrumental, but there was genuine strategic and ideological common ground between the Third Reich and Stalin’s Soviet Union. The Kremlin cleaved to the pact not merely out of false consciousness or as a desperate expedient in the absence of a common front against Nazism but because it regarded the British Empire as its main enemy.145 So did Hitler. Stalin saw global capitalism as a mortal threat. So did Hitler.

The other strategic consequence of the needs of the German war economy was Hitler’s increased determination to pre-empt any British strike against his supply of Swedish iron ore through Norway.146 On 27 January, moving beyond hypothetical ruminations about Scandinavia, he requested that the OKW draw up a detailed plan for the occupation of Norway and Denmark. In late February 1940, Hitler appointed General von Falkenhorst to command the operation. This was followed on 1 March 1940 by a directive under the codename Weserübung. As with Fall Gelb, the planned Norwegian operation was hugely controversial both strategically and tactically. Raeder warned that it ‘violated all laws of naval warfare’, because the operation was theoretically only feasible with control of the sea.147 Hitler sought to mitigate the risk through surprise, speed and audacity. He told the assembled commanders that the operation would be ‘one of the “cheekiest” enterprises in modern military history’.148 There were also furious disagreements about individual ship deployments, in particular with regard to that of the destroyers, which he insisted should stay in the exposed waters off Narvik in order to maintain the morale of the landing parties.149 A week later, Hitler set the date for the attack on Norway as 9 April 1940.

As the showdown with the Western Allies approached, Hitler was anxious to avoid both confrontation with the United States and any American diplomatic intervention. When Roosevelt made another speech critical of the Third Reich on 3 January 1940, the Führer instructed that it should be given only brief mention in the German press.150 Towards the end of March, the head of the War Economics Office, General Thomas, recorded that ‘the Führer has again emphasized energetically that everything is to be done so that the war can be ended in 1940 with a great military victory. From 1941 onwards, time works against us (USA-Potential).’151 It was surely with this in mind, that the Propaganda Ministry – at Hitler’s request – was shortly afterwards given explicit instructions not to attack either Roosevelt or the US government directly.152

The most pressing issue for Hitler with regard to America, however, was the question of how to respond to the visit of the US undersecretary of state, Sumner Welles. Though contemporaries and subsequent historians have often referred to a ‘peace mission’, there is no doubt that it was effectively an intervention on the Allied side driven by the president’s hostility to the Axis, designed to divide the Führer and the Duce and even to promote regime change in Germany.153 While Hitler may not have known the detail of Roosevelt’s intentions he certainly intuited them.154 Hitler instructed German diplomats to tell Welles that just as the United States rejected European interference in the western hemisphere in accordance with the Monroe Doctrine, so did ‘Germany regard the eastern European space as its sphere of interest’. His own encounter with Welles was not a success. He unleashed a torrent of complaints against the Franco-British intention to ‘destroy’ Germany, the American boycott of German goods and the Monroe Doctrine.155 The only good thing about the visit, the Führer subsequently remarked, was that Roosevelt ‘would certainly hear from his emissary that America would have to pay dearly for any entry into the war’.156

On 9 April 1940, Hitler struck at Denmark and Norway.157 The Danes folded as quickly as expected. Norway, by contrast, was no walkover. The Norwegians put up a much stronger fight than Hitler had foreseen. Oslo and most of the main ports in the south of the country were occupied quickly, but then the fight started in earnest. Over the next three weeks or so, a confused and often desperate battle raged across central and northern Norway. Its outcome was long in the balance. The Allies drove the Germans out of Narvik, the port whose capture had been the main purpose of the operation. Hitler briefly lost his nerve and drafted a radio order instructing the local commander, Dietl, to withdraw, and he also seems to have considered telling him to retreat to Sweden, preferring internment to capture. After a short flap, Jodl succeeded in having the order changed. Dietl was to stand fast, which he did. Hitler let out a sigh of relief; ‘the Führer has calmed down again,’ Jodl recorded.158 It took until the middle of the following month before the Wehrmacht had the situation completely under control. Hitler’s gamble had paid off. He had defied the principles of naval warfare, against the Royal Navy of all enemies. He coordinated not just the political but all the military moving parts as a combined operation through the OKW. Norway, in short, was Hitler’s first military Gesamtkunstwerk.

The Führer had prevailed in his first serious encounter with the dreaded Engländer, whisking an invasion fleet across the North Sea beneath their very noses. He had waged a brutal campaign against the British, demanding the complete destruction of villages and towns occupied by them. Britain, as the new propaganda magazine Signal proclaimed in April 1940, was ‘the main enemy of the Reich in this war’.159 It had extracted a high price, however. The army’s losses had been relatively small and those of the Luftwaffe, though not trivial, had been manageable.160 The Kriegsmarine, by contrast, had been crucified. It had lost one heavy and two light cruisers, ten destroyers, a torpedo boat, six submarines and fifteen smaller vessels. Many other ships were damaged, some very seriously. This was close to a third of the entire fighting strength of the German navy. Raeder’s warnings had been vindicated, because nearly all of these vessels were lost not en route on the high seas, but immediately off the Norwegian coast or in the fjords. To be sure, the Royal Navy had also suffered heavily, about the same number of ships, but it was much larger and therefore better able to absorb losses. The Kriegsmarine could not afford another such victory. Its missing destroyers, in particular, were seriously to hamper Hitler’s prospects later in the summer.

Well before the campaign in Norway was finished, Hitler turned his attention back to the west. On 1 May 1940, he set the date for the attack as 5 May. On 2 May, he held last-minute discussions on the airborne operations. The date of the attack was delayed yet again, so that on 7 May, Hitler announced 9 May as the new date, followed shortly after by 10 May. On that day, the Führer set off for his field headquarters at the Felsennest in the Eifel region of western Germany. Now the real war would begin, a contest which Hitler did not expect to be either quick or easy. The main target of the offensive remained Britain. In his ‘Proclamation’ to the attacking Wehrmacht units, the Führer singled out the ‘British rulers of the world’ in particular for their alleged determination to ‘prevent Germany at all costs from achieving unity’, and to deny the Reich ‘the necessities of life which are necessary to ensure the survival of an 80-million strong people’.161

The attack in the west unfolded pretty much as Hitler had envisaged. Key fortresses and bridges were secured by coup de main or airborne assault. The German army advanced into Belgium and Holland, sweeping aside local resistance. French and British forces advanced to meet them.162 The German armour punched through lightly held Allied defences in the Ardennes. Attempts to establish a defensible line were disrupted by incessant attacks from the air, and flanking movements by the panzers; a mixture of adrenaline and narcotics kept the German columns moving. The whole phenomenon became known as ‘Blitzkrieg’ – ‘lightning war’. Within a fortnight, Belgium and Holland had been completely overrun, and the British and French were falling back to the Channel ports.

Once again, Hitler’s hand was visible not merely in the planning of the campaign,163 but in its execution. The Führer spent most of the first three weeks of the campaign in his Felsennest headquarters, closely watching and intervening in operations.164 He was also, however, prone to even greater panic and hesitation than during the fighting in Norway. After seven days of advancing at breakneck speed, Hitler suddenly became worried about Allied counter-attacks, especially from the south.165 That afternoon, Hitler went to the army group commander, Rundstedt, to warn of the ‘importance which the southern flank had not only for the operations of the entire army’ but ‘politically’ and psychologically. He feared that any ‘setback’ would boost not merely the military but also the ‘political leadership of our enemies’. For this reason, Hitler concluded, the requirement was not for a ‘rapid advance to the Channel coast but rather for the quickest establishment of a dependable defence’ along the rivers to the south.166 ‘The Führer is incredibly nervous,’ Halder added that evening, ‘he is afraid of his own success, wants to risk nothing and would therefore ideally like to halt’ the advance; again, his fear was for his ‘left’ (southern) flank.167 Hitler wanted to wait until the infantry divisions had come up before authorizing further thrusts by the armoured and motorized formations.

On the same day as Hitler launched his western offensive, the Chamberlain government fell over its mismanagement of the Norway campaign. Winston Churchill became prime minister of an all-party government. This was extremely bad news for the Führer, as the new British leader represented everything that he hated and feared. Three days after his appointment, Churchill delivered his first address to parliament as prime minister. He vowed to pursue ‘victory, victory at all costs, victory in spite of all terror, victory, however long and hard the road may be’. He promised the British people only ‘blood, toil, tears and sweat’. Like Roosevelt, and his rival Hitler, Churchill proved to be master of the set-piece oration. The US president had long been in the Führer’s sights, but now the prime minister moved centre stage. The rhetorical duel between the Führer and the British leader had begun.

The stunning victories over Britain and France in Norway and Flanders took Mussolini by surprise. He now scrambled to enter the war before Germany had completed her triumph. Hitler’s response was revealing of his strategic priorities. He had little interest in seeing the Italians pile in against France, but very much welcomed anything Mussolini might undertake against the British in the western and central Mediterranean, particularly Malta and Gibraltar, or the eastern end, especially the Suez Canal.168 On the very last day of May, Mussolini sent a letter announcing that Italy would declare war on 5 June; she actually did so five days later. The Italian scavenging operation in southern France was quickly bogged down, and to Hitler’s fury not much was done in the Mediterranean either.169

Meanwhile, some 300,000 British soldiers were encircled on the Channel coast in a rapidly shrinking pocket. London began to organize their hasty evacuation, but there was no chance of taking more than a fraction of them out if the panzers overran the perimeter defences. For several crucial days, no such attack came.170 Hitler hesitated, not for political but for military reasons. The original decision to halt the panzers on 24 May was taken by the army group commander, Rundstedt, against the wishes of the High Command; the Führer merely upheld it.171 This may have been partly motivated by the desire to assert his authority over the OKW, but it is more likely that Hitler was simply showing the same caution he had manifested on several occasions throughout the previous three weeks. His tanks had outrun their supply lines, and, like the rest of the Wehrmacht, he had a healthy – and at this point probably exaggerated – respect for British abilities. The order to halt the attack on Dunkirk was accompanied by an instruction not to move beyond a line to the north and east of the pocket.172

Hitler had good reason to be careful. The retreat to Dunkirk is rightly remembered as a British disaster, and there were certainly scenes of panic and cowardice. In general, however, the advancing Germans did not believe they were witnessing a rout. The bulk of the BEF fell back in reasonable order, fighting all the way. German sources all attest to the resistance they encountered: ‘the encircled enemy has defended himself tenaciously’; ‘the enemy is fighting tenaciously and bravely to gain time for the embarkation of his troops’; ‘the battle is hard, the British are as tough as leather’; despite the fact that the cordon around Dunkirk is getting ever smaller, the enemy is defending himself with the courage of despair’.173 These statements mirror Hitler’s own long-established rhetoric about British ‘tenacity’ and ‘toughness’. They somewhat contradict the equally frequent claims by German generals at the time and since that Hitler should have ordered the Wehrmacht to crush the British forces in Dunkirk without mercy. Even if Dunkirk lacked any sort of perimeter line when the tanks were ordered to stop, taking the town might not have been as easy as it looks today.

The Führer did not think that a full-scale ground attack on Dunkirk was either feasible or necessary. He claimed that the ‘terrain in Flanders’ – which he knew well from the First World War – ‘was unsuitable for tanks on account of being waterlogged’,174 obviously fearing that his armoured units would get bogged down among the canals and waterways. He also told Army Group A that it was ‘necessary to spare the armoured forces for coming operations’, and that ‘a further narrowing of the pocket would only result in an undesirable reduction in the activity of the Luftwaffe’.175 Besides, the day before the tanks were halted, Göring told an enthusiastic Hitler that the Luftwaffe could complete the destruction of the BEF. Shortly afterwards, the Führer remarked on the ‘ideological reliability of the Luftwaffe compared to the army’, and this may have been an additional reason to deny the coup de grâce to the army and grant it to the airforce.176

On 24 May 1940, the same day as he confirmed Rundstedt’s halt order, Hitler issued a new directive to the Wehrmacht. It fell into three parts. First, he defined the ‘next aim of the operation’ as the ‘destruction of the encircled Anglo-French-Belgian forces through a concentric attack of our northern wing as well as the rapid capture and securing of the Channel coast there’. The Luftwaffe was tasked with ‘breaking all enemy resistance’ in the pocket, and ‘preventing the escape of British forces across the English Channel’, and securing the southern flank of Army Group A (Hitler’s perpetual concern). Only once this had been done, Hitler decreed, should the Wehrmacht ‘proceed to the destruction of [the remaining] enemy forces in France’. The Luftwaffe, for its part, was instructed to begin ‘large-scale operations against the British homeland’, right away once sufficient aircraft were available. Significantly, the Führer ordered that this be done ‘independently’ of the operations at Dunkirk and should be continued ‘even after’ the subsequent push south against the rest of the French army had begun.177

Hitler’s thinking at Dunkirk is thus clear enough. He halted the tanks for military reasons within an overall political-strategic concept. His main focus was on the delivery of political and psychological effect against Britain. This was to be done, first, through the destruction of the BEF’s will to resist at Dunkirk, not its physical annihilation. Secondly, he was already thinking of the next stage of his campaign, which was a devastating aerial and naval assault on the home islands from his new bases. There is no evidence whatsoever that Hitler offered the BEF a ‘golden bridge’ to retreat across in order to facilitate a negotiated settlement.178

Göring’s aircraft duly pummelled Dunkirk, but they did not stop the evacuation. Senior Wehrmacht figures, who could see that the British were getting away, demanded an immediate attack. The Führer effectively left the decision to Rundstedt.179 The offensive was eventually resumed, but the British and French troops holding the perimeter put up a ferocious fight, making good use of the canals and waterways to delay the advance, just as the Führer had feared they would do. On 1–2 June 1940 Hitler went to Brussels to be close to the final showdown in Artois and Flanders. But it was too late. Most of the BEF were long gone. The British rearguard was evacuated on the night of 2–3 June.

Hitler now turned south to finish off the French. On 6 June 1940, he moved his headquarters to Brûly-de-Pesche near Charleville close to the Franco-Belgian frontier. It was christened ‘The Wolf’s Gorge’, an appellation which probably alluded to Hitler’s codename – ‘Wolf’ – during the 1920s, but which may also have been a nod to the gorge of the same name in Carl Maria von Weber’s popular opera Der Freischütz. If Hitler had set ambitious goals for the offensive, he had still not lost his innate operational caution, rejecting some of the Army High Command’s more ambitious suggestions as ‘too risky’.180 Be that as it may, the German advance was relentless. On 14 June, Paris was abandoned to the Germans. Three days later, France sued for peace. Hitler’s triumph was complete.

The scale of the German victory was totally unexpected. France and Britain were both highly developed western societies. The French deployed millions of men, and between them the Allies could command as many or more aircraft, tanks, and artillery, of roughly similar quality, than the Germans. In terms of transport, the British and French were well ahead. Most of the German army marched on foot and much of its artillery and supplies was moved by horse-drawn wagons. The divide was epitomized by the reaction of the commander of Army Group B, Fedor von Bock, to the sight of the British equipment left behind at Dunkirk: ‘immeasurable amounts of vehicles, guns, tanks and army equipment’, which suggested a ‘plenitude of kit which we poor devils admired with envy’.181 The only slight advantage Hitler had enjoyed was in fighter aircraft; everything else was down to superior German tactics and élan. Hitler’s triumph was thus, in the grand scheme of things, a monumental fluke.182 It was a strange defeat for France and Britain; for Hitler, an even stranger victory.183

Like many Germans, Hitler was deeply conscious that the Wehrmacht had beaten an enemy which had bested them twenty years earlier, and that towns and villages which they had fought over for years had fallen within days and sometimes even hours. Following in the wake of his advancing armies, the Führer took several trips down memory lane. At the height of the Dunkirk crisis on 29 May 1940, he went to Ypres immediately after it was captured. The Führer went through the Menin Gate, whose lion represented both Flanders and Britannia. In June, Hitler undertook further trips. On one of them he encountered the already legendary Erwin Rommel of the 7th Panzer Division, who demonstratively signalled his loyalty by rushing towards the Führer with his right arm in salute.184 Hitler sought to make these journeys more than just a triumphal progress. By visiting not merely the German memorial at Langemarck but also the Canadian one at Vimy Ridge and the French one at Loretto in Artois, he tried to suggest a common fate now transcended. Hitler had refought the Great War and in so doing had finally ended it, or so he believed. In retrospect, though, these trips can also be read as a tacit admission that the war of movement was over, and that the war of attrition was about to begin. Just as the German armies’ sweep into Belgium in 1914 was followed by four years of hard slog, Hitler’s victory of 1940 was simply the prelude to a much longer struggle.

The interplay between past and present was most evident in Hitler’s handling of the armistice discussions with the French.185 He insisted these take place at Compiègne, in the same heavily symbolic railway carriage in which the Germans had accepted the Allied terms in 1918. In the month between the first time he mentioned the notion to Jodl on 20 May 1940186 and his arrival at Compiègne on 20 June 1940, Hitler thought carefully about the choreography of the event. ‘He even held a dry run beforehand’, as witnessed by an astonished German diplomat. Observing the solitary Führer saluting and greeting a void, Erich Kordt remarked, ‘He is rehearsing his piece.’187 When the French arrived, Hitler put on a well-prepared performance. He simply dictated his terms, sitting in the same seat that Foch had spoken from when setting out his conditions in 1918. Hitler did not wait for the details, but left hurriedly while the French plenipotentiaries communicated with the government in Bordeaux. There were no negotiations, as such. It was all for show, for the benefit of the huge array of global media and the Wochenschau cameras capturing the whole event.

A few days after Compiègne, Hitler visited Paris.188 He stole into the city in the early hours of 24 June 1940 more as an architectural tourist than as a conqueror. Hitler brought with him Hermann Giesler, delivering on the boast he had made towards the end of the previous year, Speer, the sculptor Arno Breker and the increasingly ubiquitous Bormann.189 His first destination was the Paris Opera, where he astonished the usher with his detailed knowledge of the original ground plan. Then he was driven via the Madeleine, the Place de la Concorde, the Louvre and down the Champs-Elysées. He paused for longer at the Arc de Triomphe to study the inscriptions, all of which he already knew off by heart. The high point of the visit, however, was Hitler’s homage at Les Invalides, where he stood silently beside Napoleon’s sarcophagus with lowered head. This was a conscious echo of the famous scene in Potsdam in 1806, when Bonaparte had made a similar pilgrimage to the tomb of Frederick the Great. On leaving the building he told Bormann that he wanted the remains of the Duke of Reichstadt, Napoleon’s son by the Austrian princess Marie Louise, transferred from Vienna to Paris.190 The symbolism could not have been clearer: Hitler saw himself as continuing the Frederician and Napoleonic traditions, resolving in his person the Franco-German antagonism.

In early July 1940, Hitler returned in triumph to Berlin, standing upright in his chauffeured car as he moved through the multitudes. His entrance, which the Führer planned in detail, has been compared to that of a conquering Roman emperor.191 The city was a sea of flowers and chanting crowds. Hitler was at the zenith of his power. Führer and ‘people’, the vast majority of whom exulted in the conquests, were closer than ever before; Hitler was dictator by ‘approbation’, at least for now.192 The dominance of most of continental Europe had fallen into his lap. Germany now held the seaboard from the Arctic to the Bay of Biscay. Hitler dominated a ring of allied and satellite states to the south and east. No trouble was to be expected from neutral Portugal or Switzerland, a country he despised.193 Spain and Finland very much leaned to his side. The relationship with the Soviet Union, it seemed, was stable. Hitler now not only directly controlled most of the mainland European economy – with a pre-war GDP larger than that of either the United States or the British Empire and a substantially greater population194 – he also had access to raw materials and foodstuffs well beyond its borders. Europe had been unified under Nazi leadership.195

Hitler wasted no time in ordering the integration of western Europe into the German war economy. On 16 June 1940, even before France had sued for peace, he called for ‘coordinated planning for the occupied Belgian, French and Luxembourgeois territories’ within the framework of the Four Year Plan.196 A new order was in the offing.

Hitler hoped to rule this space with as light a touch as possible. In his decree on the administration of the occupied territories in the west, he laid down that ‘conduct of the military administration’ should be such as to avoid the impression of ‘an intended annexation of the occupied territories’. The Hague Convention was to be observed. ‘The population is to be spared,’ Hitler added, ‘economic life is to be kept going.’ Hostile action by the population, on the other hand, would be ‘suppressed harshly’. In Norway, the Führer promised to release all Norwegian conscripts, holding on to the professionals only so long as the exiled government continued the war, or until they individually swore an oath not to take part in any further hostilities against Germany. In France, he gave members of the Wehrmacht strict instructions to show ‘restraint’ in their relations with the population, ‘as is appropriate for a German soldier’.197 The Führer also held back with annexations, which were for now limited to the small German-speaking province of Eupen-Malmedy.198 The purpose of all these moves was the same: to impress on non-Jewish Europeans that the war was over and that the benevolent rule of the Führer was the new normal. He had some success in this regard, at least initially.199

In Germany itself, too, Hitler hoped for a return to normality. The hundreds of thousands of Germans who had been temporarily evacuated from western territories after the Allied declaration of war were permitted to reclaim their homes. ‘Now the moment of return has come,’ he proclaimed with much fanfare in late June 1940.200 Hitler also used the victory to bind the Wehrmacht leadership more closely to himself, by lavishing honours and gifts – in cash or kind – on them as a reward for service.201 The Führer was particularly forthcoming towards commanders who were not yet enthusiastic National Socialists.202 His aim seems to have been to create a military aristocracy, similar to the imperial nobility established by Napoleon: a meritocracy personally loyal to and complicit with the Führer. These men could be trusted to support him in his next adventure. The rewards scheme also militated against the Hohenzollern threat – which resurfaced after the fall of France when the former Kaiser Wilhelm II requested to return home. Hitler refused angrily, exclaiming ‘that might just suit reactionary circles’.203 Wilhelm remained in his Dutch exile at Doorn, where he died a year later. The generals showed little interest in his case. They now had a new more successful and more generous monarch.

If the summer of 1940 saw widespread rejoicing in Germany, there was one man not celebrating, and that was Hitler himself. During his imperial procession through Berlin there was no slave whispering warnings about the passing nature of glory in his ear, but none was needed. Hitler knew better than anyone else, not only his own mortality – which had long obsessed him – but also the enduring strength of Anglo-American power, which had dominated his political thinking from the start. What was striking about his rhetoric and demeanour during this period, surface bluster notwithstanding, was its caution and hesitation. In early June 1940, with victory in the west clear, the Italian ambassador had expected to find Hitler ‘light-hearted, contented, exhilarated’; instead, he was ‘tired and abstracted’ with a ‘confused expression’ and a ‘careworn, anxious, preoccupied look’.204 Far from devoting his attention to domestic matters now that peace was imminent, the Führer decreed that all domestic initiatives which were ‘not connected to the defence of the Reich’ should be paused.205 Much as he would have liked to have distributed one, there was to be no peace dividend. Hitler’s mood did not lift in the course of the month. When he came back to Berlin so triumphantly in early July 1940 he insisted that there be no suggestion that he had returned for good.206

The reason for Hitler’s concern was threefold. Firstly, despite her drubbing in northern France, Britain showed no signs of coming to terms. Churchill rallied the population in a series of dramatic speeches. Like Hitler, the prime minister was a word warrior; the American reporter Ed Murrow said that he ‘mobilized the English language and sent it into battle’. In June 1940, Churchill famously vowed not just to ‘go on to the end’, not merely to fight on the beaches, in the cities and the hills, but also to carry on the fight overseas if the home island fell to invasion.207 All this was very much not what Hitler, who was paying close attention, wanted to hear. ‘He read Churchill’s passionate wartime speeches against Germany,’ his press chief Otto Dietrich recalled, ‘which I supplied him with not merely in extracts but verbatim.’ Dietrich opined that, ‘measured by his outwardly irrational reaction … he secretly admired them’.208 On 3 July, the British determination to fight on was underlined by its ruthless destruction of the French squadron at Oran in Northern Africa, reluctantly carried out to ensure that these ships did not fall into Nazi hands.

Secondly, Hitler feared the ‘racial’ cost of continued war. ‘It is always the best, the bravest and those most willing to sacrifice themselves who fall,’ he lamented to Giesler during their trip to Paris, costing the Reich men ‘whose job it would be to embody and to lead the nation’.209 While Britain posed no immediate challenge on the ground, Hitler was profoundly anxious about the threat from the air. It had been one of the main considerations behind the entire French campaign. Now, if the Führer was to pursue that strategy to its logical conclusion, the British refusal to negotiate would have to be followed by a massive air campaign against the home islands. Hitler hesitated, because he feared Britain’s capacity to retaliate. ‘My tactics,’ he told the Italian ambassador, ‘have always been to throw the responsibility on the shoulders of my enemies’. The problem was, Hitler went on, that ‘[t]otal air warfare is an extremely bloody business, and for that reason it is necessary to make the civilian population believe that everything possible has been done to avoid it’. In other words, Hitler wanted to spare the German population any British retaliatory action. Besides, he concluded, the Luftwaffe had suffered considerable ‘wear and tear’ in France. It would take time to refit units and to bring the reinforcements necessary to attack Britain.210 An immediate assault on Britain after Dunkirk, in short, would not have been possible anyway.

Hitler’s worry about British air attacks was fuelled by Royal Air Force activity in the summer of 1940.211 Western German towns and cities were beginning to hear the sirens more and more frequently. Even if many of these were false alarms, there were some fatalities, and the cost to civilian nerves was considerable. In mid June 1940, for example, Fritz Weitzel, the Höherer SS- und Polizeiführer West, was killed in a British raid on Düsseldorf; a week later, Hitler himself issued an order that the SS unit in that town be renamed in the dead man’s honour.212 Hamm in Westphalia, a vital railway junction and marshalling yards, was hit particularly badly. Children were breaking down crying and shouting or were convulsed by epileptic fits for days afterwards. Men suffered heart failure due to shock. Hysterical women who had hitherto been silenced by fear of sterilization relapsed, or so it was reported.213 These attacks were of very little military importance, but their psychological impact was significant.214 They subverted Hitler’s domestic narrative that the war was under control and victory or a negotiated peace with Britain was imminent.

Thirdly, Hitler was anxious about American intentions.215 The French defeat had struck the Roosevelt administration like a thunderbolt. Public opinion polls suggested a widespread expectation that if Hitler defeated Britain he would strike next across the Atlantic. The same month as Hitler entered Paris, Roosevelt both appointed the pro-Allied Republican Henry Stimson as secretary of war and introduced a bill for the first peacetime draft in American history to Congress. US spending on the air force and navy, already substantial, surged even higher. To make matters worse, the Nazi advance fundamentally changed Republican Party politics. At its dramatic convention in Philadelphia in late June 1940, the strongly pro-British Wendell Willkie prevailed over the (then) isolationists Tom Dewey, Robert Taft and Arthur Vandenberg. Willkie had the backing not only of Time publisher Henry Luce, but also of Wall Street, especially Thomas Lamont of J. P. Morgan. It did not greatly matter to Hitler, therefore, who prevailed in the November 1940 presidential election. Both options across the water were bad.

If the Führer saw London and Washington as increasingly aligned, this was because in his eyes malevolent Jewish and other German-hating forces had manipulated the elites and public opinion in that direction. Hitler’s plan since the 1920s had been to divide Britain and the United States and triangulate between them. In the early 1930s, he had looked forward to an 1866 moment in which a defeated Britain entered into an alliance with Germany just as Austria had done after the Battle of Sadowa. The fall of France was potentially such a moment, when Britain could accept her extrusion from Europe, in the same way as Austria had yielded to Prussia in Germany, with Britain then becoming a junior partner in a new dual alliance directed against the United States, and possibly the Soviet Union as well. When Britain continued to resist, Hitler was faced with a dilemma. ‘If I crush Britain militarily,’ he told Halder, ‘the British Empire will collapse – that will be of no benefit to Germany.’ ‘We would achieve something with German blood,’ he continued, ‘which would profit only America and others.’216 Hitler was again thinking ahead to the new multi-polar world he had conceived some twenty years earlier.

On 19 July, Hitler finally gave his much-heralded and frequently postponed ‘peace’ speech to the German Reichstag. This was framed as a riposte to Churchill and a ‘last appeal to general reason’. ‘I see no cause,’ Hitler said, which required ‘the continuation of the struggle.’ He warned that it would lead to the ‘destruction’ of the British Empire, something he had never intended. Hitler also expressed the desire to spare not only Britain but also Germany the resulting casualties, and the pain it would cause ‘many women and mothers at home’.217 Hitler flanked these overtures with other confidence-building measures. The British monarchy was exempted from the vitriolic attacks on other members of the British elite. In the Channel Islands, occupied on 30 June 1940, prayers were said for the Royal Family, ‘God save the King’ could be sung by prior permission and the unchanged local administration issued German instructions in the name of His Majesty George VI.218 The islands were thus a laboratory of Anglo-German cooperation under the new order.

Hitler also made serious attempts to head off American intervention. His hope, albeit a dwindling one, was that the United States would recognize its true interest in accepting German domination of Europe in return for the unchallenged American hegemony in the western hemisphere. In an interview with the prominent German-American journalist Karl von Wiegand, Hitler returned to his old notion of a Monroe Doctrine-style division of spheres. He repeated his lack of interest not only in North America but also in South America. In return he asked only that ‘America would not interfere in European matters’, appealing to none other than George Washington’s remarks (in his 1796 ‘Farewell Address’) on the subject. ‘America for the Americans,’ he demanded, ‘Europe for the Europeans.’219

The fall of France gave Hitler an opportunity to ‘solve’ the Jewish question and deter the United States at the same time. In the summer of 1940, he seriously considered deporting the Jews under his control to the French colony of Madagascar off the East African coast. This plan, which Himmler first suggested to Hitler in late May 1940,220 was discussed by the Führer with Ciano on 17–18 June, and two days later with Admiral Raeder, whose cooperation would obviously be essential. In the middle of July, Hitler ordered that Jews should no longer be deported eastwards, as they would now be sent to Africa. There they would not only be quarantined in Madagascar and pose no threat to Nazi Germany, but serve as hostages for the good behaviour of the United States. After the war, they could then be sent to the United States.221 Britain’s decision to fight on, which closed the sea lanes to Madagascar, made the whole plan impracticable and it was eventually dropped later in the year.222

However chimerical the scheme may seem in retrospect, Hitler does not seem to have conceived the Madagascar Plan as a cover for extermination.223 On the contrary, when Himmler first suggested it, he did so as an alternative to ‘physical extirpation’, which the Reichsführer-SS rejected ‘out of an inner conviction’ as ‘un-German and impossible’. Hitler regarded this view as ‘very good and correct’.224 Besides, if Jews were to serve as hostages against Roosevelt, then it was necessary to keep them alive. For this reason, Hitler stuck with the spirit of the plan, if not the letter, for the moment. In early August 1940, he told Otto Abetz that there would be an evacuation of ‘all Jews from Europe’ but only ‘after the war’.225 This was because there was no prospect of transporting anyone anywhere without the permission of the Royal Navy. At this point, therefore, ‘deportation’ was not just code for murder, and ‘destruction’ was still largely a metaphor which denoted something short of physical extermination. Soon, however, the reverse would be true as a more anodyne rhetoric became the cloak for a much darker reality.

Hitler’s obsession with Jewry is thrown into stark relief by the relatively mild treatment of the approximately 120,000 black French soldiers captured in May and June 1940; it was an issue in which he showed virtually no interest. To be sure a large number were massacred out of hand during and immediately after the French campaign, but not at the Führer’s behest.226 Thereafter, treatment was better not least because the Germans hoped to use some of them as auxiliary forces in their future colonial empire. African prisoners were held in POW, not concentration, camps. The only recorded intervention by Hitler in this question was an OKW directive requiring the transfer of non-white French captives to the unoccupied zone.227 His concern, which dated from the occupation of the Rhineland in the 1920s, was to prevent any ‘contamination’ of the German population.228 The general trend was that while conditions for blacks in the camps generally improved over time, those of Jews radically worsened. Hitler’s racial war was not primarily one of white against black, but of Aryan against Jew.

In the light of Britain’s continuing belligerence and escalating American hostility, Hitler revisited the question of an attack on the Soviet Union. This was driven not by the expectation of a rapid peace or victory over Britain, but rather by its absence. On 21 July 1940, Hitler told Brauchitsch to begin planning for the invasion of Russia, or authorized him to continue doing so; it is unclear from whom the initiative stemmed. Most likely, the plans from 1939 were dusted off.229 Hitler was motivated here by the demands of the war with Britain, still very much the immediate enemy. Britain’s ‘hope’, he told the generals, was ‘Russia’ and ‘America.’ For this reason, the Führer concluded, ‘Russia must be dealt with,’ and ‘intellectual preparations’ to do so must begin.230 One way or the other, two things are clear. Firstly, the decision to attack Russia was driven primarily by the dictates of the confrontation with Anglo-America; ideological antipathy to the Soviet regime played no role at this stage. Secondly, there was as yet no firm date for the operation or even a formal directive. War on Russia was no done deal, at least not in the immediate future.231

In the course of July 1940, Hitler increasingly realized that Britain would not come to terms, and would have to be coerced militarily.232 He had always hoped that this could be done by the Luftwaffe and the Kriegsmarine, but he was also realistic about the limitations of air power.233 No doubt, with this in mind, Hitler issued Directive 16 for the invasion of Britain, which was to be a combined army and navy operation. Its language was entirely conditional. There was none of the usual bombast, or talk of an ‘irrevocable decision’.234

On 22 July, the British rejected Hitler’s ‘appeal’. There was nothing for it. The Luftwaffe would have to be unleashed on Britain, and if that did not work, a landing would be attempted or at least threatened. On 1 August 1940, Hitler issued a directive for a full-scale air assault on Britain.235 The Luftwaffe was given the task of crushing the RAF, which was to involve the destruction of not merely British planes in the air and on the ground, but also their airfields and supply systems, as well as the aviation and anti-aircraft artillery industries. Once a ‘temporary or local air superiority’ had been achieved, attention should shift to attacks on Britain’s ports to cut off the supply of foodstuffs. ‘Retaliatory terror attacks,’ Hitler stressed, ‘can only be authorized by me.’ A week later he agreed with Raeder that a landing could only be ‘a last resort’ if Britain could not be forced to make peace ‘through other means’, for example through air attacks. He added that a ‘failure’ would mean a ‘large prestige victory’ for Britain.236 In late August, Hitler declared ‘Sealion’ the priority for equipment, but only for a ‘limited period of time’.237 A motley invasion fleet of ships and modified barges was assembled in the Channel ports.238 Infantry and tanks practised opposed landings.

Hitler was under no illusion about the magnitude of the task ahead. Unlike in Poland or western Europe, he now faced an enemy which was by his own reckoning racially superior, and economically more advanced. British war production was growing by the day. Britain had the immense resources not only of the Empire, but also of the United States at its back. The Royal Navy had easily absorbed its losses in Norway, and was many multiples stronger than the Kriegsmarine. By contrast, the Wehrmacht, whose infantry casualties had been relatively low so far, had lost many ships and aircraft in Norway and France, precisely the assets needed to combat Britain. Above all, Britain’s will to resist was completely unbroken. The Luftwaffe’s prospects against the Royal Air Force were doubtful, but if even air superiority could be attained, translating that into dominance over the vastly superior Royal Navy in the Narrow Sea, engaged on the most important mission in its history, would not be straightforward. The Luftwaffe and Kriegsmarine planners doubted that it could be done.239 Even if somehow a force could be got across the Channel, it was not clear that it would be able to do so in sufficient strength to defeat the much larger and increasingly well-equipped British field army.

As it turned out, Hitler fell at the first hurdle. The Luftwaffe pounded RAF bases in the south and east of the country. Honours were at first even, and for a moment it seemed as if the Germans might be gaining the upper hand. On the very last day of August, the Luftwaffe succeeded in inflicting heavy losses on the RAF, but suffered grievously itself in turn. Soon, however, technology and the metrics began to tell. Britain could replace aircraft, and – with more difficulty – pilots, more quickly than Göring. Valuable momentum was lost when the Luftwaffe was instructed to attack London in retaliation for RAF raids on Berlin. Throughout all this the British, military and civilian, were probably less united than they claimed at the time or fondly imagined afterwards. Be that as it may, Hitler was deeply impressed and depressed by their unbroken spirit. His original plan to destroy Britain’s will to resist had failed. Tempers frayed in the Führer’s Headquarters. Hitler exploded at the failure of the Luftwaffe. Witnesses recorded ‘heavy diatribes’ and ‘temper-tantrums’.240

On 3 September, Hitler postponed the date of the invasion until 21 September. A fortnight later, he delayed the invasion again, and on 12 October it was put off until spring of the following year. Hitler ordered that preparations continue as a bluff and distraction, but it was clear that the operation was off. This was almost certainly the right decision. A high-level war game conducted at the Army Staff College at Sandhurst in 1974, involving former senior figures from both sides and based on the then known British and Germans plans, concluded that any invasion would have been a complete disaster.241 The Führer, one of the greatest risk-takers in history, decided not to roll the dice on ‘Sealion’. It was too chancy even for such an inveterate gambler as Hitler.

The British would have to be coerced another way. Hitler now experimented with two strategies simultaneously. The first was to put pressure on Britain’s position in the Mediterranean, in particular, and to invite other powers to join in the partition of the British Empire more generally. Hitler was also determined to keep the United States out of the area, so as to deny Roosevelt a launchpad against the Reich in any future conflict. In this context, Hitler took a brief interest in Africa and toyed, though not very seriously, with the idea of a German sub-Saharan empire.242 He preferred, however, to co-opt regional powers to do the job for him: Italy, of course, but also Spain, Vichy France and even Portugal. Throughout the autumn and early winter of 1940, he courted all three powers, especially Franco. This fitted with Raeder’s preference for a ‘Mediterranean strategy’, its sights firmly on British bases in Gibraltar, Malta and (ultimately) Egypt and the Suez Canal.243

In October 1940, Hitler redoubled his efforts. The aim of this strategy was, as the Führer put it, ‘to bring France and Spain to agree a common line and in this way to establish a continental coalition against Britain’.244 He hoped that Vichy could be persuaded to surrender some territory to Franco and Mussolini, compensating herself elsewhere in Africa at Britain’s expense. This was a delicate question, and the Führer knew that it had to be handled sensitively in order to avoid outraged French colonial administrations declaring for de Gaulle. On 4 October, he met with Mussolini at the Brenner Pass. Three weeks after, the Führer received Pierre Laval, the acting head of the collaborationist French Vichy government. A day later he met Franco at Hendaye and the day after that he met the Vichy leader, Marshal Pétain. Towards the end of the month there was another encounter with Mussolini in Florence, who was worried that France would steal a march on him.245 Hitler accompanied these moves with some fraternalist mood music about the value of allies. When the Spanish foreign minister Serrano Süner visited, he personally requested that crowds be mobilized to welcome him.246 The Führer also ordered the distribution of German decorations ‘in order to demonstrate the comradeship of the German people and its Wehrmacht with allied nations’ supporting her struggle for freedom.247

The second of Hitler’s anti-British, and ultimately anti-American, strategies was to turn Moscow and Tokyo against London. This was very much the brainchild of his foreign minister, Ribbentrop. In the Far East, Hitler’s concern was to prevent a renewed Russo-Japanese war and to ensure that Tokyo remained focused on the British, and especially the American, threat. On 27 September 1940, he concluded the Tripartite Pact with Italy and Japan.248 Unlike its predecessor, the Anti-Comintern Pact, this treaty was not even nominally directed against the Soviet Union. In fact this possibility was explicitly excluded in the text. Its target was clearly the western powers. On 13 October 1940, the Führer invited the Soviet foreign minister, Molotov, to come to Berlin in November. There he tried to persuade the Soviet Union to join in the partition of the British Empire, which he characterized as a ‘giant bankrupt’s estate’ of 40 million square kilometres.249 Hitler urged the Soviet Union to take advantage of this opportunity and to strike towards ‘ice-free ports’ and the oceans, by which he probably meant the creation of Russian bases in Baluchistan, an old Tsarist fantasy. Hitler’s pitch here was well calculated, because Stalin’s main concern at this time was still the British Empire, which he perceived as a threat in the Balkans and Central Asia.

If the Führer’s most immediate concern was Britain, his continental bloc was also very much directed against the United States. American hostility only increased throughout the summer and autumn of 1940 as the population instinctively identified with ‘the few’ battling it out in the skies, and the many sheltering in the basements and tube stations during the ‘Blitz’. Journalists extolled the defence of democracy, American volunteer pilots served in the RAF, and American war material poured across the Atlantic. The administration, too, ratcheted up the pressure. On 19 July, the same day that Hitler gave his ‘peace speech’, Roosevelt signed the ‘two-ocean navy’ bill into law. On 2 September 1940 he exchanged fifty old destroyers for leases on British bases, a move more important for its symbolism than for its military implications. German diplomats in the United States differed in their assessment of US capabilities, and on the timing of its likely belligerency, but they were all agreed on its hostile intent and collusion with, or manipulation by, the forces of international Jewry.250

Hitler watched all this closely. He worried not only about US supplies to Britain, but also America’s potential help to the Soviet Union.251 Hitler was uncertain how to respond. On the one hand, Goebbels was pressing him to prepare the German people for the inevitable showdown with the United States. On the other hand he did not want to alarm them, and his allies, prematurely. Hitler hesitated. ‘The decision of the Führer on how to handle the British-American agreement,’ he let it be known in early September 1940, ‘is still awaited.’252 Hitler also resisted the temptation to interfere in American domestic politics, which Roosevelt would have exploited, and forbade the press from intervening in the election campaign.253 The Führer was also anxious not to repeat the mistake of the First World War, which was accidentally to provoke the United States into declaring war, or to provide it with a pretext for doing so, through the prosecution of unrestricted submarine warfare. Hitler limited himself to pre-emptive measures, in particular securing his western flank. On 26 September 1940, he decreed that ‘England-USA must be thrown out of North-West Africa’ and that the ‘Canaries, possibly also Azores and Cape Verdes, must be secured previously through the air force’.254

In his meeting with Molotov in mid November 1940, Hitler openly confessed not just that he feared that the United States would help itself to the ‘bankrupt’ British Empire, but also that he wanted greater Russian involvement in Europe to keep out the Americans. This was Hitler restating his belief in a Monroe Doctrine for Germany, which sought to banish the United States to the western hemisphere. He was calling on his old Bolshevik foe to redress the imbalance created by the New World. His aim was to create a global coalition against Anglo-America spanning Eurasia from Spain to Vladivostok and Yokohama. ‘Germany wants to create a world coalition of interested parties,’ he told Molotov, stretching from ‘North Africa as far as East Asia’, and consisting of ‘Spain, France, Italy, Germany the Soviet Union, and Japan’, which would divide up the ‘bankrupt’ British Empire.255 Hitler was also anxious to reassure the German population that they were part of a global coalition against an increasingly isolated British Empire. ‘Germany and its allies are certainly strong enough,’ he told the party faithful in his annual oration on 8 November 1940, ‘to counter any combination in this world.’ The period September to November 1940 thus marks the high point of Hitler’s diplomacy. It was a time of frenetic activity, when all options were still on the table and the future – what he called ‘worldwide perspectives’256 – appeared open.

Nazi moves to create a ‘continental bloc’ were flanked with another dose of anti-Anglo-American, anti-capitalist, anti-Semitic and anti-imperialist rhetoric. If the British Empire and the United States were the ‘haves’ of the world order, Hitler argued, the German Reich was the leader of the ‘have-nots’. It is not clear whether Hitler lifted this resonant phrase from Ernest Hemingway’s eponymous novel, which was published in 1937, but he certainly used it repeatedly long before the appearance of the famous film version with Humphrey Bogart in 1944. ‘I have been a have-not all my life,’ he claimed, ‘I consider myself a have-not and have always fought for them.’ For this reason, Hitler announced, he ‘acted in the world as a representative of the “have-nots”’.257 The Führer, in short, was claiming to express not just a German but a global resentment at the unjust distribution of the earth’s resources.

In Hitler’s reading, inequality was manifested at both the national and the class level, and the two were connected. Germany as a whole was subject to an international ruling class, which had divided Germans from each other. In late 1940, Hitler reprised his old critique of the Westphalian treaties which had led to the fragmentation of the Reich. This meant that Germany had been left behind in the global distribution of territory, being left with less space per head of population than any other major European state. Here the Führer once again rehearsed the facts of Lebensraum with the usual statistics.258 The Reich’s main rival, as ever, was Britain, which had walked off with the lion’s share. Given that Hitler made no suggestion that the lands occupied in Scandinavia and western Europe were destined for settlement or that gains in central Europe and Poland represented a solution to the perennial German problem of space, the implication was clear. Germany might ‘own’ large tracts of Europe, but in global terms she was still poor. She did not yet ‘have’ enough.

The breaking-down of class barriers within Germany, divisions the Führer believed to have been carefully cultivated by the external enemy, was part and parcel of national liberation. Hitler wanted to transcend, as he said in early September 1940, the ‘legacies of the past, of origin, of estate, and of profession’. For obvious reasons, the Führer argued, this grand social project was a threat to the established order, especially the British, who would stop at nothing to frustrate it. This, Hitler told an audience of German armament workers in mid November 1940, was why ‘plutocratic-capitalist Britain’ had gone to war against the German ‘welfare state’.259 The British, Hitler repeated right at the end of the year, ‘hate us for our social convictions and our plans and actions [in the social field] seem dangerous to them’.260

This was why Hitler was determined to maintain as much as possible of his transformative socio-economic programme and to promise the German people a better life, at least after the war. In early 1940, even before the western campaign, he gave Robert Ley the task of looking into the idea of ‘a comprehensive and generous old-age provision for the German people’. Later in the year, after much deliberation, he issued his ‘Decree for the Preparation of German Residential Construction after the War’. Victory, he explained, would confront the Reich with tasks ‘which it could only fulfil through an increase in population’. The purpose of the decree, therefore, was to promote the ‘healthy life of child-rich families’ and thereby bring about a larger birth rate.261

In Hitler’s rhetoric, the Reich was the vanguard of a global war of liberation to free Germany, the European continent and ultimately the entire world from the clutches of international capitalist plutocracy.262 This message was directed not only at Germans, Europeans and Americans but also to the colonized peoples. The Nazi Arab language broadcasting service, for example, announced that Hitler’s speeches heralded ‘the day upon which the world will be freed of Churchill, Eden, [and] the Jews’.263 Towards the end of the year, Hitler even looked forward privately to a black ‘awakening’ as part of his anti-imperialist turn.264 To be sure, this trend in Hitler’s thinking was part opportunism and part rationalization of the final breach with Britain, but it also reflected his sense of wider historical processes sweeping the world. Anti-Semitism was integral to this vision, as reflected not only in Hitler’s reflexive coupling of capitalism with the Jews, but also in the regime’s broader narrative. For example, the iconic anti-Semitic propaganda film Der ewige Jude, which was screened in German cinemas from late 1940, made great play of the Rothschilds.265 Anti-communism, by contrast, played little role, at least for now. Significantly, the Propaganda Ministry ordered the press to identify each and every ‘Jew’ they mentioned except in the case of those working for Hitler’s ally the Soviet Union.266

The Führer never managed to weld together a coherent ‘continental bloc’. In the Mediterranean, there were just too many moving parts. Coordination with Italy was poor, on both the political and the military fronts.267 The two powers effectively conducted separate wars, not only failing to assist each other, but actually cutting across one another. What began as an advance on parallel lines soon became diverging axes.268 Mussolini not only made a complete hash of the campaign against Britain in western Egypt, but also launched a catastrophic invasion of Greece in October 1940, giving the Führer virtually no warning. This antagonized Athens, with whom Hitler had no quarrel. In fact he rather admired the Greeks, and expected them to resist successfully. Italian bungling also gave Churchill a pretext to do what Hitler feared most, which was to intervene in the Balkans and set up air bases there.269 In early November the first British troops duly appeared in Salonica to cover the deployment of the RAF there. The Führer was livid, probably unsettled by memories of the First World War, when the British and French armies in Salonica had suddenly surged forwards in 1918 and rolled up the entire south-eastern flank of the Central Powers. Hitler had not driven the British out of Scandinavia just in order for them to reappear on his southern flank. This was to become a major worry for him over the next nine months or so.

Hitler had no more luck in the western Mediterranean. There was no lack of appetite to despoil Britain, but the pre-emptive destruction of the Vichy French squadron at Oran, the Luftwaffe’s failure over England, Italy’s fiasco in the Cyrenaica, and the Fleet Air Arm’s destruction of much of the Italian fleet at Taranto in mid November 1940 showed that the lion still had the capacity to maul any scavengers. If various jackals had popped their heads over the parapet from Lisbon to Kabul after the fall of France in June 1940, they were beginning to scurry back behind cover in the autumn.270 Another problem was that the demands of Spain, France and Italy in North Africa were mutually contradictory, and Hitler was simply not strong enough to force his view on them in the way he had adjudicated the claims of Hungary and Romania. What really did for the Führer’s strategy, however, was Franco’s territorial greed in demanding large swathes of (Vichy) French north-west Africa, where Hitler wanted bases to deter the United States.271 The meeting between the two at Hendaye was so fraught that Hitler later said that he would rather have all his teeth pulled than consent to another encounter with the Spaniard.272 If Hitler was going to deprive Britain of Gibraltar, Malta and the Suez Canal, he would have to do so himself.

Worse still, Hitler made no headway with the Soviet Union. There was little meeting of minds with Molotov during his two-day visit.273 The Soviet delegation listened politely to the Führer’s monologue on the world situation, and his claim that Britain was already defeated and on the verge of annihilation from the air. Instead of engaging with his invitation to partition the British Empire, however, they asked some pointed questions about German intentions in the Balkans and the Baltic. What, they wanted to know, were the German military missions doing in Romania and Finland, and why had the Soviet Union not been consulted about them as required by the treaty? These questions struck Hitler like a ‘cold shower’, and he appeared to shrink into himself.274 The Soviet visitors showed no interest in the Führer’s attempts to restart discussion of the division of the British Empire. Hitler did not appear at the subsequent reception, perhaps because he was unhappy with how the talks had gone. No sooner had the first toasts been made than the air-raid sirens announced the approach of RAF bombers. The global reach of the British Empire could not have been more graphically illustrated.

One way or the other, Hitler’s attempt to set off another feeding frenzy among the powers of the south and east failed. They were greedy enough, to be sure, but an obstinate sense of fear restrained them. 1940 was not 1938 or 1939. The British Empire was not the Czechoslovak Republic, which was occupied without firing a shot, or Poland, whose territory could be partitioned over toasts in the Kremlin. Whoever wanted a share would have to fight for it.

It is therefore unsurprising that Hitler remained more obsessed with British power than ever. His most immediate anxiety was the threat from the air. The first RAF raid on Berlin took place on 25 August 1940, followed by another seven alarms over the next fortnight. These raids – which the regime dubbed ‘terror-bombing’ – did little material damage in the big scheme of things but their psychological impact was substantial.275 Hitler was profoundly concerned about their effects. He took a personal interest in precautionary measures in the capital, such as the construction of shelters and air-raid warnings. He gave strict instructions that the population must go to the shelters when the sirens sounded.276 In Berlin, Speer was given the necessary building materials and workers, including slave labour, as well as the authority to confiscate all public and private property as necessary.277 That said, Hitler believed that the best defence lay in deterrence and retaliation. If the British threatened to drop two, three or four thousand kilogrammes of bombs on Germany in one night, he announced in early September 1940, then he would drop hundreds of thousands, perhaps even a million kilogrammes of bombs. He vowed to ‘rub out’ Britain’s cities and to stop the activities of their ‘night-pirates’.278

As the year drew to a close, the skies were darkening for Hitler. His attempts to rally Europe against Anglo-America had failed. Relations with Russia were deteriorating; he left a letter from Stalin unanswered. The British were getting stronger by the day. On 5 November 1940, Roosevelt won re-election to a third term as president. Time seemed to contract again. Hitler therefore redoubled his efforts against Britain. He committed German forces to the Balkans and the Mediterranean to bail out Mussolini.279 On 12 November 1940, he issued Directive no. 18, the planned attack on Gibraltar and the Suez Canal.280 If his immediate target in the western Mediterranean was Britain, its ultimate purpose was to prepare for the confrontation with the United States.281 Relations between Washington and Vichy were good, and Hitler did not trust Pétain to hold the line against the Americans in northern or western Africa. The military plans for Gibraltar saw the rock not as the final destination, but a stepping stone across the Straits.282 Nothing came of the plan because when Serrano Süner arrived in Berchtesgaden to discuss it in mid November, he brought with him unacceptably extensive Spanish demands for French colonies, in particular Morocco. Hitler refused, fearing that this would precipitate a defection to de Gaulle. On 7 December 1940, Franco rejected any idea that he would join the war. Operation Felix was put on hold. For now, the Führer’s plan to pre-empt the United States in the western Mediterranean and North Africa had failed.

It was in the context of the failure to mobilize Europe against Anglo-America that Hitler finally turned east.283 His July directive on Russia had not been followed by concrete preparations, but the idea of attacking the Soviet Union resurfaced with a vengeance immediately after the disastrous Molotov visit in mid November. On 15 November 1940, Hitler demanded the construction of an eastern headquarters, the subsequent Wolf’s Lair.284 On 27 November 1940, Raeder failed to dissuade Hitler from attacking Russia before Britain had been beaten. During the first week of December, Hitler admitted that the attempts to bring Franco into the war had failed, and that Sealion was on the back burner. It would be left to the navy and the Luftwaffe to subdue Britain. He announced that he had intelligence of secret agreements in the making between Britain, America and the Soviet Union. For this reason, Hitler argued, it was necessary to deal with Russia first, which would deprive Britain of all hope. He expected that US intervention would be ‘made more difficult’ by Japan, which ‘had Germany’s back’.285 On 17 December Roosevelt announced a plan for a ‘Lend-Lease’ programme to supply Britain with more war material. That same day, Hitler told the OKW that the United States would have to be sorted out during 1941, because it would be capable of intervening in Europe from 1942. The day after, on 18 December 1940, Hitler issued his fateful directive for Operation Barbarossa, the attack on the Soviet Union.286 On 28 December, Hitler headed to the Berghof for Christmas. He had made his decision. He would roll the dice again in the year to come.
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Part Six



ANNIHILATION

In 1941, Hitler embarked on two wars of annihilation. The first, in June 1941, was against the Soviet Union, and was primarily intended to secure the resources and living space Germany ‘needed’ to balance the power of Anglo-America. The second was the conflict with the United States and ‘world Jewry’, which had begun much earlier but erupted into open warfare with the Americans at the end of the year. In Russia, Hitler began with plans for the wholescale murder of tens of millions of Slavs, from which he soon retreated. By contrast, Hitler’s initially limited and calibrated campaign against ‘the Jews’ escalated into full-scale genocide, beginning with the mass killings at the start of the invasion of the Soviet Union and culminating in the ‘final solution’ across Nazi-occupied Europe. Hitler understood both wars as pre-emptive acts of self-defence forced upon him by a circling coalition. The result is well known. Hitler famously failed to overrun the Soviet Union, and he was vastly outproduced by the United States. The ‘annihilation’ he had planned for his enemies was visited – albeit in a milder but still extremely painful form – on German cities, the German economy, the Wehrmacht, the refugees from the eastern territories, and ultimately on the Third Reich itself.
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Facing West, Striking East

In early 1941, Hitler appeared to be at the zenith of his power. He dominated the European mainland. Most of the pre-war European economy was now at his disposal, at least in theory. The two neutral powers of the Iberian Peninsula leaned to his side, even if they showed little inclination to become belligerents themselves. Above all, by virtue of the Hitler–Stalin Pact, the Third Reich enjoyed economic defence in depth, enabling her to mitigate the effects of the British blockade. This crucial reliance on the immense resources of Russia masked the essential weakness of the economy of German-occupied Europe. Relations with Moscow were consolidated by the signing of a big economic treaty on 10 January 1941, which increased the supply of Soviet grain, oil, cotton and other raw materials to Germany.1 Whatever Stalin’s actual intentions,2 and German worries about his ambitions in the Balkans, Hitler did not fear an imminent Russian attack. Even though Moscow was deeply unhappy with the great German successes, the Führer told the Seekriegsleitung, ‘it does not itself desire to enter into the war against Germany’.3

At home, Hitler’s standing was high. His bombastic set-piece speeches on 30 January 1941, the anniversary of the takeover of power, and 24 February, the anniversary of the original party programme, were generally well received.4 Though the demands of the war meant that Hitler was less ubiquitous than before, he still cut a very dynamic figure, who looked younger than his fifty-one years. The Wochenschau newsreels at the start of 1941 show a man completely in control, with no visible signs of wear and tear compared to the 1930s.5 To be sure, he suffered from some persistent ailments, especially toothache and flatulence, and his doctor, Theo Morell, was already treating him with a large number of questionable substances.6 But to the world at large, the German public and even his entourage, Hitler’s health was reasonably robust and would remain so until the middle of the year.

Despite all this, Hitler remained an anxious man. His most immediate concern in early 1941 was still the British Empire. ‘Britain,’ he remarked to his generals, ‘continues to remain intractable’; all talk of a landing there had ceased.7 Politically, with the total ascendancy of Churchill, hopes of a compromise peace were fading. Militarily, the Reich was locked in a desperate struggle with the British Empire, at sea and in the air. In the Atlantic, the U-boats sought with some success in the first months of the year to cut the home islands off from the foodstuffs and raw materials they needed to continue the war. Casualty rates there varied throughout the conflict, but the German submariners would lose about 75 per cent of their number by its end, the highest rate of any force on any side.8 Likewise, the war in the air was already perceived as an existential struggle; by its close the highest level of casualties of any British service had been suffered by Bomber Command. On 1 January 1941, a good year before it actually became British policy, Hitler claimed that Churchill was a promoter of an ‘unlimited air war’.9 At the end of the following month, he was so worried about this that he ordered state and party dignitaries to visit the affected areas after major attacks in order to reassure the population.10 The Führer refused to undertake this task himself, perhaps in order to avoid angry scenes. Throughout the first four months of the year, in any case, he observed the attacks of Bomber Command with increasing anxiety, issuing instructions for air defence and damage limitation.11

The British also posed a direct military threat to Hitler’s position in Europe. In early 1941, he observed the advance of the 8th Army in North Africa with alarm. The fall of the Libyan port of Bardia on 5 January forced him to concede that ‘the whole of North Africa will be lost without German help’.12 The Italians were also being clobbered in Greece, where British forces had already landed on Crete and Lemnos and whose large-scale deployment on the mainland was only a matter of time. Hitler feared that a total collapse would bring down Mussolini and open a new front to the south. The Führer was afraid that the British would use their new bases in Greece to attack the Romanian oil fields, whose production was vital for the German war economy, and that the British would link up with the Vichy French in North Africa.13 Hitler was also worried about his northern flanks. In early March 1941, Royal Navy commandos raided the Lofoten Islands off Norway, exposing the weakness of German defences there. Hitler ordered the dispatch of coastal artillery and reinforcements, the start of a debilitating obsession with the British threat to Norway which lasted until the end of the war.14

Meanwhile, the American challenge loomed ever larger. On 3 January 1941, President Roosevelt spoke of a ‘world at war’, and eight weeks later he referred to ‘the Second World War’ beginning ‘a year and a half ago’.15 On 11 March 1941, Roosevelt finally signed the Lend-Lease Act into law. There were also more and more signs of a forthcoming direct American intervention. Towards the end of the month the British and Americans secretly agreed that in the event of a world war involving Japan they would nonetheless pursue a ‘Germany first’ strategy. If Hitler was unaware of this meeting, he could not mistake the meaning of the seizure of all German and Italian ships in US harbours ordered by Roosevelt three days later.

Worse still, London and Washington were articulating more and more openly the idea of a joint management of the world, based on their Anglo-Saxon kinship and commitment to democratic values. ‘Tyrannies may require a large amount of living space,’ Henry Luce, the legendary publisher of Life magazine, wrote in a much-discussed February 1941 article, ‘[b]ut Freedom requires and will require far greater living space than Tyranny.’ ‘Peace cannot endure,’ he continued, ‘unless it prevails over a very large part of the world.’16 A clash of two ordering concepts, Nazi Lebensraum and Anglo-American liberty, the one even more limitless than the other, was inevitable. The message from Roosevelt and his supporters in the American public sphere could not have been clearer. There was no room in their universe for the Third Reich, and Hitler knew it. If the Americans were securing the western hemisphere today, tomorrow it would be the world.17

Hitler was under no illusions about the magnitude of the danger. In early 1941, the German war economy was already geared towards the expected confrontation with Anglo-America. Hitler saw himself in a battle of production not only with the formidable British Empire, but also with the United States. It was a war that he expected to fight, in the first instance, at sea and in the air. The main emphasis in early 1941 was thus not on immediate output for the planned attack on Russia, but greater investment to enable subsequent increases in aerial and naval production to fight Britain and America.18 There would be temporary priorities awarded to armoured fighting vehicles in the two years ahead, but the general emphasis on the navy, air force and anti-aircraft artillery was to remain unchanged until the end of the war.19 Given the immense potential of the United States, despite her nominal non-belligerence, Hitler was at pains to stress, as he told a public audience in the first half of 1941, that he was ‘in a position today to deploy more than half of the European labour force in this struggle’.20

In fact, the combined economies of the British Empire and America – now mobilized against Hitler through Lend-Lease – considerably exceeded that of the German area of control. Besides, pre-war figures were inflated, because the British blockade unplugged the continental economies not merely from many of their traditional markets but also from their supply of raw materials. Worse still, Hitler’s victories in 1940 had brought him no substantial new sources of energy or foodstuffs, just millions of new mouths to feed. He was also desperately short of energy supplies, as stocks were running dangerously low.21 The Reich of 1940–41 was full of people, but desperately short of resources. Starvation was not the answer here, as the workers employed in factories producing for Germany, and their families, would have to be nourished. Hitler had broken Europe. Now he owned it.

Despite the fact that the continent was still generally quiescent, Hitler was already anxious about the first signs of organized resistance to his rule.22 Hitler saw these acts as the work of British Intelligence and world Jewry. He was unhappy about the Wehrmacht’s response, and demanded sterner action. More generally, Hitler attributed the continued hostility of Britain to Jewish manipulation. On the very first day of 1941, his ‘Order of the Day’ to the Wehrmacht stated that the war was being carried on at the behest of the ‘democratic warmongers and their Jewish-capitalist backers’.23 Four weeks later, he inveighed once more against ‘a certain Jewish-capitalist clique’.24 Towards the end of the following month, Hitler claimed ‘that in Britain a certain clique, led by Jewry’, was always acting like a ‘bellows’ supporting war.25

The external challenges to the Reich were aggravated by the persistence of domestic weakness and division. Despite the best efforts of the regime, the racial profile of the German people left considerable room for improvement. Hitler’s own misgivings, which had been ventilated more or less openly over the previous two decades, were reflected in an official racial primer for distribution to schools in 1941. By means of a comparison with a bottle of milk, this categorized only 20 per cent of the German people as ‘particularly valuable’, that is, the ‘cream’ and ‘leadership’ layer. 56.4 per cent were classified as ‘average’, that is, ‘skimmed’ or ordinary milk. The bottom quarter was made up of 20 per cent ‘anti-socials’ and 3.6 per cent ‘hereditary ill’, that is, ‘the dregs’ and ‘inferior’.26 This rather bleak view of the German Volk can be explained partly by the supposed failure to filter out the supposed dregs of society, but mostly by the success of Anglo-America in ‘creaming off’ the best of the German people through hundreds of years of emigration. Colin Ross, one of Hitler’s advisers on America, elaborated on this theme, which formed such a staple of the Führer’s own rhetoric, at length in his book Our America: The German Role in the Creation of the United States, which was also published in 1941.27

As if all this were not bad enough, the natural propensity of German bureaucrats to fight each other rather than the common enemy remained unchanged eighteen months into the war. To his frustration, Hitler was still repeatedly called upon to arbitrate turf wars between the various parts of the Nazi hierarchy. As so often, far from encouraging these divides in order to reinforce his authority, the Führer urged the parties to resolve their differences through compromise and then present him with an agreed solution.28 He may have welcomed the emergence of a gatekeeper who could keep these problems at arm’s length. The man who exercised this function throughout the 1930s and the early war years was the chief of the Imperial Chancellery, Hans-Heinrich Lammers, but Hess’s deputy Martin Bormann was already beginning to dominate the antechamber of power around Hitler and thus access to the man himself. One of the first to notice this, several months before Hess’s abrupt departure, was Arthur Rosenberg, who remarked, looking back on the previous year, that Bormann had ‘gradually become the central point person’ through whom everything passed.29

Taken together, all these challenges meant that Hitler was feeling not triumphant but increasingly embattled, and besieged, even at what appeared to be the height of his power.30 Strategically, he believed himself to be on the defensive. He sought not world domination, but world power status, that is parity, or at least a recognized sphere of influence. The Führer did not really expect to defeat Anglo-America, only to outlast it: militarily, economically and mentally. In early 1941, Hitler therefore sought to do two things. Firstly, to deliver sufficient military, diplomatic and psychological effect in order to persuade London to fold its hand before the arrival of the Americans. Secondly, to prepare militarily, diplomatically, economically and emotionally for a long war against Anglo-America in case that strategy failed.

Hitler began with sorting out the mess created by Mussolini, and convened a meeting of military leaders at the Berghof in early January 1941. Treating the Italians as equals was ruled out by the Führer because he did not trust them not to leak confidential information to the British. That said, Hitler was anxious to spare Mussolini’s feelings and urged that military assistance be presented in such a way as to avoid doing anything which would ‘hurt the Duce’s feelings’ and damage the relationship between the two dictators.31 German forces, he stressed, should avoid ‘all hurtful displays of arrogance’.32 Hitler put considerable effort and subtlety into the management of the Italian alliance, far more than his generals and admirals.33 This was primarily a political decision in support of Mussolini and the fascist regime rather than a judgement based on the military value of the Italians, a subject on which he was under no illusions. On 11 January, he issued Directive 22, covering the deployment of forces to the Mediterranean, which – contrary to Wehrmacht wishes – were to be under at least nominal Italian command.34 Hitler wanted them to shore up Italy’s position, and to prevent the establishment of a British springboard on the far side of the Mediterranean and in Greece. There was no mention of Yugoslavia at this point. Hitler was delighted when Rommel’s Afrika Korps, ignoring strict instructions to stay on the defensive, promptly went over to the offensive and drove the British back in disorder.

Next, Hitler took aim at the British war economy in Directive 23 on 6 February 1941.35 The submarine warfare against the British supply lines in the Atlantic was to be intensified. Just over two weeks later, in a speech to mark the anniversary of the founding of the party, he announced a new phase in the U-boat war, partly to boost morale at home and partly to depress the British.36 At this point sinkings were running at about 260,000 tons a month, a respectable figure but not enough to starve out the home islands. The problem was that there were far too few U-boats operational, and while construction had grown to thirteen per month (from a mere two a year earlier), the training of crews took time. The productive capacity devoted to the task was considerable: the Reich could have built about thirty medium tanks for every submarine launched.37 Hitler also stipulated that attacks should be concentrated on ports handling imports. The general purpose of all these operations was to wear down Britain and to prevent her from launching offensives in North Africa and ultimately mainland Europe.

The Führer had no inhibitions, however, about exploring closer cooperation with Japan, which could put pressure on the British Empire in the Far East and prevent the United States from bringing its full force to bear on Europe.38 In early March 1941, he issued Directive 24.39 ‘The aim of the collaboration under the Tripartite Pact,’ Hitler announced, ‘must be to persuade Japan to act in the Far East as quickly as possible.’ ‘This would tie down substantial British forces,’ he continued, ‘and divert the attention of the United States of America to the Pacific.’ The ‘common aim of [Axis] strategy,’ Hitler elaborated, was ‘to subdue Britain quickly and thereby keep the United States out of the war.’ Attacks on America should be undertaken only if war with that power ‘cannot be avoided’. To this end, he instructed that Japan should be strengthened in every way, for example through the exchange of information, even if the benefits were one-sided. Hitler made no mention of any Japanese action against the Soviet Union; the pact was primarily conceived as an instrument against Britain and a deterrent against the United States.40

The other major plank of Hitler’s containment strategy against Anglo-America was the persecution of the Jews. Privately, he let it be known in January 1941 that it was his ‘will’ that there should be a ‘final solution’ of the Jewish question in Germany and German-dominated Europe;41 at this point, this did not necessarily mean mass murder. Publicly, Hitler announced that he regarded the Jews under German occupation as hostages for the good behaviour of the supposedly Jewish-controlled United States. On the anniversary of the seizure of power in late January 1941, Hitler reminded his listeners of the remarks ‘which I already gave once before on 1 September 1939 in the German Reichstag’, that is, the prediction that ‘if the other world [sic] was plunged into a general war by Jewry’, then ‘all Jewry’ would have ‘played out its role in Europe’. ‘They may still be laughing about this [prediction] today,’ he continued, ‘just as they previously laughed about my domestic prophecies,’ but he promised that ‘the coming months and years’ would vindicate his remarks.42 There is no evidence that this shot across the bows of Anglo-America, or any other such ‘warning’, was understood in its enormity by its addressees in London, Washington and New York.

The open struggle against Britain and the cold war against America were flanked by a massive propaganda campaign. At home, the regime sought complete domination of the media in order to put out a carefully controlled message. Before the war, Hitler had taken a keen interest in film censorship, but after September 1939 he left that task largely to his propaganda minister. In the course of 1941, as relations with Washington plummeted, Goebbels banned the import of American films.43 Hitler took an increased interest, by contrast, in the official newsreels. Goebbels closely supervised the production of the weekly Wochenschau before showing it to Hitler in the Imperial Chancellery or Führer’s Headquarters for final approval.44 He would often demand changes – sometimes fairly minor ones to subject, text, tone and music, and he was particularly concerned with any programmes which featured him.45 Newspapers, magazines and other media were also subject to close supervision.

Abroad, the Third Reich sought to engage world opinion through a variety of media. In mid January 1941, the Führer ordered a gradual shift from the cumbersome Gothic font, which he considered archaic and which tended to deter foreign readers, to typefaces which would make it easier for German-speaking foreigners to read regime texts; another motivation was to save time in schools.46 Front and centre in the whole campaign, was the attempt to ‘educate’ the world about the Jewish threat. In late January, Hitler approved Rosenberg’s plan to establish an ‘institute to research the Jewish question’, to which foreign experts were to be invited.47 The Führer was thus still hopeful that Anglo-America would see the light. Six weeks later, the ‘World Service’ announced that Rosenberg had assembled ‘the greatest library on the Jewish question’ ever in Frankfurt.48

In order to mobilize the German people for the challenge ahead, Hitler continued his programme of domestic transformation. On the social front, he sought to open careers to talent. His main target here was the officer corps. In the spring of 1941, Hitler made a fresh attempt to push through promotion on merit alone, primarily on the basis of combat performance, without any social restrictions or privileging of the general staff, which he described as ‘an order, which closes itself off and lives according to its own laws’. He let it be known that ‘only thus could the principle of performance, which the Führer supported in the most emphatic manner, be implemented and thus the rejuvenation of the officer corps at all levels for which he was striving be achieved’.49 For now, however, he made little headway against the entrenched conservatism or, depending on one’s viewpoint, professionalism of the officer corps.

In his bid to increase production, Hitler was prepared to countenance increased participation of women in the workforce. In his speech on the occasion of Memorial Day on 16 March 1941, he announced that it was ‘not only the man who had shown the capacity to resist but especially also the woman’. Six weeks later, Hitler explained that while ‘millions’ of German women were in the fields and the factories releasing men for service at the front, many more were required. In the autumn of that year, he returned to this theme, praising ‘the German woman, [and] the German girl’, for ‘replacing millions of men who are at the front today’. ‘We can truly say,’ Hitler exulted, ‘that for the first time in history the entire people is engaged in the struggle, partly at the front, and partly at home.’50

On the ‘racial’ front, Hitler continued his twin-track approach. Efforts to purify the body politic through the murder – ‘euthanasia’ – of the disabled or those with hereditary illnesses were speeded up in the course of early 1941, despite mounting concern in some sectors of the population. At the same time, the regime redoubled its efforts to encourage the ‘racially valuable’ elements. The SS Lebensborn project began to comb Nazi-controlled Europe for children of ‘Nordic’ origin, either the offspring of liaisons between German security forces and non-German ‘Nordic’ women, particularly in Scandinavia, or the supposed descendants of German settlers, especially in eastern Europe.51 These measures went hand in hand with ambitious settlement plans, initially in Poland. The problem was that Germany – ironically from the point of view of Hitler’s Lebensraum ideology – suffered from a shortage of people to ‘settle’ in the new lands; there was now full employment at home, indeed a labour shortage. Most of the effort here was directed at ‘resettling’ ethnic Germans from the Soviet Union and areas under Soviet occupation. Further treaties were concluded with Moscow in January 1941 to facilitate the ‘repatriation’ of Germans from the three Baltic States.52

The regime had still not given up hope of bringing back German emigrants from overseas. A report to the German Institute for the Outside World in February 1941 from Alexander Dolezalek, an official in the Planning Sections of the Settlement Staff for Litzmannstadt and Posen in Poland, showed just how much Hitler’s thinking on this subject informed the settlements plans for the east. The author pointed out that the inflow from ethnic Germans in other parts of eastern Europe was insufficient to colonize the new lands, and because they were mostly farmers, they in any case lacked the industrial and managerial skills necessary to build up the new society. If more were not found then the regime might have to fall back on Polish settlers. ‘It appears to me,’ the report argued, ‘that the only hope is a resettlement from the United States proper. There one finds skilled German workers of all kinds who, in one generation, can develop a united people.’ They would be critical to welding the disparate newcomers together. Dolezalek was under no illusions about the difficulty of such an undertaking. Most Germans were too integrated into the United States, with its high standard of living and wide-open spaces. He was therefore resigned to the fact that the best hope of luring Germans ‘back’ would be after a victorious war which would make them proud to identify with the Third Reich.53

The answer to these problems, Hitler believed, lay in invading the Soviet Union, Operation Barbarossa. Its immediate purpose was to strike at Britain, and to deter the United States, psychologically, diplomatically, militarily and economically. Hitler remained convinced that one of the reasons the British were holding out, was the prospect of Russian intervention. This was the main reason given in the directive to launch Barbarossa, and Hitler repeated it on several occasions during the first half of 1941. It was ‘the hope that Russia [and the] USA’ would intervene ‘that keeps Britain going’, Hitler told the assembled Wehrmacht leadership at the Berghof on 8 January 1941.54 For this reason it was necessary to ‘smash’ the ‘last continental hope’ of the British, namely ‘Russia’. This would also, Hitler added, ‘permit Japan to turn with all her strength against the United States’ and thus ‘prevent [her] from entering the war’.55 The immediate purpose of the invasion of Russia in 1941, in short, was the delivery of effect against Anglo-America.

Hitler also saw Barbarossa as the solution to the Reich’s chronic shortage of foodstuffs and raw materials. The seizure of the Ukraine and the Caucasus would prevent Germany from being strangled by the British blockade or held to ransom by Stalin. His plan was to carry off the grain harvest to the Reich, and to ship oil from the Caucasus by tanker across the Black Sea and up the Danube.56 The experts were sceptical about the entire strategy. The War Economics Office pointed out that the Reich already enjoyed access to the resources of the Soviet Union by virtue of the Pact, and that an invasion would end that arrangement, cutting Germany off from the supply of vital metals such as manganese.57 With regard to energy, Hitler was told that even if the oil-fields of the Caucasus were captured more or less intact, Germany simply did not yet have the capacity to transport it back to the Reich, or indeed the steel to build a huge new tanker fleet. As for foodstuffs, there were two equally impractical options: taking the grain crop before it was harvested, in which case the task of gathering it would fall to the administration, or attacking at a later date with the risk that it would be much easier for the enemy to destroy it. The list of objections was almost endless. Hitler thought the risk of inaction was greater. Fortified with the immense natural resources of the Soviet Union, he hoped, Germany might deter the US from entering the war, or at least contain Anglo-America if she did.

Finally, Barbarossa would enable Hitler to achieve his medium- to long-term objective of securing the Lebensraum for the German people, in his view, so desperately needed. He had articulated this aim at length for almost twenty years. The looming conflict with the United States made it more urgent. Only by ‘solving the questions of land thoroughly and finally’, Hitler argued, ‘will we be in a position in terms of material and personnel to master the problems we will face within two years’, by which he meant the belligerency of the United States.58 Barbarossa, in short, was the panacea for each and every one of Hitler’s major ills. It would solve all of his problems in one fell liberating blow.

In all of this, anti-Bolshevism and fear of the Soviet Union itself, though important, were second-order considerations.59 Barbarossa was predicated on the assumption that the Soviet Union was not a major threat, but rather a largely helpless victim (though, as we shall see below, there were also times when he talked up Soviet capabilities). ‘I will fight,’ he told the generals in early February 1941, and professed himself ‘convinced that our attack will pass over them like a hailstorm’.60 In so far as he was worried about Soviet military power it was as a threat against the oil needed to contain Anglo-America. ‘Now, in the era of air power,’ he told his generals in late January 1941, ‘Russia can turn the Rumanian oil-fields into an expanse of smoking debris … and the very life of the Axis depends on those fields.’61 Hitler’s relative insouciance about the Soviet communist threat was reflected in the fact that his aims, though grandiose and ultimately delusional, were limited. It is obvious with hindsight that Hitler greatly underestimated the military task ahead, and catastrophically misjudged the capacity of the Soviet war economy, but that does not mean that he was completely insouciant about the challenge posed by the Red Army. To be sure, he repeatedly ran down the Soviet Union in order to justify his expectation of a swift campaign, but when it came to detailed discussion the Führer showed some awareness of what lay on the other side of the hill. Hitler judged the Russian tank force ‘respectable’, being very large with some good models, but that ‘the majority were obsolete’. Similarly, he rated the Soviet Air Force as ‘very large numerically but with very many obsolete types’. Even so, Hitler did not believe that the Luftwaffe could ‘knock it out’ on account of their own ‘losses in the west’ and the sheer immensity of the Russian ‘space’. Overall, despite various weaknesses, he judged the Russians a ‘tough enemy’.62 In short, Hitler seems to have believed that the invasion of the Soviet Union would be no cakewalk, but a gamble, justified only by the even greater risk of standing still and awaiting strangulation at the hands of Anglo-America. Hitler’s evident anxiety about Soviet power and the natural obstacles was also reflected in his concern to refute the comparison with Napoleon Bonaparte’s disastrous invasion of Russia in 1812.63

The planned invasion of Russia required Hitler to seek allies. On 14 January, he received Romania’s Marshal Antonescu at Berchtesgaden, who offered to join the war on the German side if Stalin intervened against Hitler’s planned measures in the Balkans.64 Hitler therefore put considerable effort into mediating disputes between Hungary and Romania, who would otherwise have fought each other with even greater gusto than they would Stalin.65 Hitler needed Finland, Romania and Hungary for largely strategic reasons, to give Germany additional attack frontage. The northern and southern thrusts, in particular, depended on their cooperation.66 Hitler also tried to win over, or at least to reassure, the Turks, whose neutrality was vital for the security of the southern flank.67 With the exception of Romania’s Marshal Antonescu, he did not really trust or value any of his allies; some, such as the Hungarians, he actively despised. There was no real coordination.68 Hitler feared that involving other powers would lead them to make awkward territorial demands, but the main concern was reliability. ‘Be under no illusions about the allies,’ he warned the generals at the end of March 1941. ‘You can’t do much with Romanians,’ Hitler continued crushingly, ‘perhaps they will be able to secure an area which is not under attack with the help of a very large barrier (like a river)’. The conclusion Hitler drew with odd prescience was that ‘the fate of large German units should not be made dependent on the steadfastness of a Romanian unit’.69

In the course of the first half of 1941, the character of the impending war against the Soviet Union was contested in the Reich leadership. Some German planners, especially Alfred Rosenberg, regarded Operation Barbarossa essentially as a European war of liberation against Bolshevism. They expected a brutal reckoning with Soviet Jewry and the Bolshevik apparatus, to be sure, but for the rest they envisaged recasting the region into a system of friendly and subservient nation states. At first, Hitler seemed to go along with this vision, not least because it fitted his idea of the endgame in Russia. In his instructions for occupation policy in the east of 3 March 1941, he explained that in order to ‘end the war’ it was ‘by no means enough to defeat the enemy army’. Rather, Hitler continued, ‘the whole area must be divided up into states with governments with whom we can make peace’. Intriguingly, but entirely consistently with his previous rhetoric and policy, Hitler had no plans entirely to reverse the transformations of the past twenty-five years of Soviet rule. ‘Every great revolution,’ he stated, ‘creates facts which cannot simply be swept away.’ The ‘socialist idea’, Hitler continued, ‘can no longer be wished away from today’s Russia’. It would have to form the basis of a new state once the ‘Jewish-Bolshevik tendency’ had been ‘eliminated’. What Hitler wanted to ‘avoid under all circumstances’ was the emergence of a new ‘national Russia’. For this reason, Hitler concluded, the solution was to create ‘socialist state entities which depend on us’.70

The general trend of the debate and the planning, however, was moving in the opposite direction. Barbarossa was to be a campaign of conquest and annihilation, for reasons more to do with Anglo-America than the Soviet Union itself. The planners of the German war economy began to think about how to manage the food question. Their conclusion was bleak. While the Ukraine produced a surplus of grain, most other regions of the Soviet Union which would fall under German control did not.71 Victory alone would bring no relief, but rather additional useless mouths to feed. In order to ensure that the Reich could survive the British blockade, they argued, about 30 million inhabitants of European Russia would have to be starved to death. Hitler accepted this assessment in January–February 1941.72 According to this conception, the Germans would have to immediately starve the Russians, so that they would not themselves eventually be starved by the British, as they had been in the First World War.

The ‘Hunger Plan’ also fitted into Hitler’s long-term strategic concept, which was the capture of Lebensraum to balance Anglo-America. By clearing the original population off the land, it would make way for German settlers to hold and develop it. This in turn would give the Reich the spatial heft necessary to survive in the world of huge global powers such as the British Empire, and the United States. It would also enable him to provide Germans with the living standard which he had promised but not delivered in the 1930s. If the twentieth-century American dream involved the distribution of plenty, his dystopia required the control of scarcity.73 Here the history of the United States was not merely in some respects similar,74 but an inspiration, as was that of the British Empire. The question now was whether German-occupied Russia would be based on the colonial British ‘Raj’ model of client states, or the annihilatory American model. Would the fate of the Slavs resemble (in Hitler’s mind) that of the Indians of the subcontinent or of the ‘Red’ Indians? The answer was not yet clear, but it was becoming clearer.

All this shows that the Soviet Union was primarily attacked not because it was communist, but because Hitler believed that it could be (relatively) easily despoiled to support the short- and long-term struggle against Anglo-America. Once the invasion was decided, however, the ideological antagonism to the Soviet Union gained greater prominence. Front and centre here, of course, was Hitler’s preoccupation with the Jews, whom he saw as the directing mind behind both the Soviet Union and the emerging Anglo-American coalition. Soviet Jews, he believed, would drive resistance to the invasion and constitute a fifth column behind German lines. Hitler resolved to eliminate them in the course of, or immediately after, the invasion. At this point, he seems to have targeted only adult male Jews, whom he regarded as enemy combatants. There was, as yet, no expectation that all Soviet Jews would be murdered, regardless of age or sex, still less any operational plan to achieve this.75 There was also no direct spatial connection in Hitler’s mind between the planned murder of the Jews and the clearing of Lebensraum in the east, which was to be at the expense of the Slav population.

In mid March 1941, the broad outline of Hitler’s plans for the murder of adult male Soviet Jews was clear. He instructed Himmler to establish four Einsatzgruppen of the Sicherheitspolizei and SD, totalling about 3,000 men, to carry out ‘special tasks’ behind the front lines.76 Over the next three months, these ‘tasks’ were more closely defined, and the cooperation of the Wehrmacht and other organizations was secured. Hitler was not merely the initiator of the planned mass executions, but was kept abreast of the preparations, not least because he had to arbitrate any resulting competency disputes.77 These killings were not the purpose of Operation Barbarossa, but consequent upon it. Hitler did not need to invade the Soviet Union to murder Jews, or to take them hostage; he already had millions of central and western European Jews under his control.

The campaign against the Soviet Jews was not just a front in the struggle against Anglo-America, of course. It was also part of a much broader ideological war against Bolshevism. In late March 1941, Hitler pronounced the conflict to come not merely a war for resources, such as land and raw materials, but also a ‘contest between two world views’. He damned ‘Bolshevism’ as ‘synonymous with anti-social criminality’. For this reason, the Führer demanded, German soldiers should abandon the customary rules of war. ‘The communist is no comrade,’ he claimed, especially the ‘commissars’ and secret policemen deployed with the Red Army.78 On 12 May, he issued the notorious ‘Commissar Order’, according to which these ‘political leaders’ were to be ‘eliminated’ by the Wehrmacht immediately after capture. This measure was accompanied by a much more far-reaching directive the following day, which laid down the framework for military justice during Barbarossa. Partisans, he decreed, were ‘to be dispatched without mercy’, all other opposition was to be ‘crushed’, and where German units were attacked behind the lines ‘measures of collective violence’ were to be undertaken against the local population. Beyond that, Hitler determined, with reference to the ‘specificity of the enemy’ and the fact that Germany’s collapse in 1918 and subsequent travails were attributable to ‘Bolshevik influence’, that actions by Wehrmacht and rear-area forces against civilians should not be prosecuted, even if they would normally be considered military crimes.79

Hitler, to sum up, planned two massive murder programmes in the course of or immediately after Barbarossa. Firstly, the killing of hundreds of thousands of communist cadres and millions of male Jews, in order to decapitate the Soviet leadership and to secure the rear areas. Secondly, the death by starvation of about 30 million Soviet citizens in order to use the grain saved to feed the Reich and – though this was implicit rather than explicit at this stage – to clear the land for later settlement by Germans.

In late March 1941, Hitler was suddenly distracted by a crisis in the Balkans. In order to keep the British out and stabilize the Italian position in the Balkans he had long planned to bring Yugoslavia into the Axis orbit. On 14 February, Hitler received the Yugoslav prime minister, Dragiša Cvetković, at the Berghof, followed by a visit from Prince Paul of Yugoslavia on 4 March 1941. Hitler made both men the same offer, which was protection and possible territorial gains, such as Salonica, in return for a general alignment with the Third Reich; both prevaricated, with Paul warning Hitler that such an agreement would cost him his regency. On 25 March, Yugoslavia finally caved in under huge pressure. The pact was extremely unpopular, at least in Serbia, where pro-British feeling ran high. Hitler joked at the signing ceremony that the Yugoslavs looked as if they were at a funeral.80 An invasion of their country was, at this point, very far from Hitler’s mind.

Two days later, the Führer was stunned by news of a coup by Serbian officers in Belgrade.81 He had long been deeply concerned about British penetration of the country, and must have been further unsettled by the signature of a treaty of friendship and non-aggression between the new regime and the Soviet Union a week later, and the news that Roosevelt was planning to offer Belgrade assistance under the Lend-Lease programme.82 Hitler issued Directive 25, which authorized the invasion of Yugoslavia and its destruction as an independent state.83 All Yugoslav professions of friendship were to be ignored. The attack was also conceived as a shaping operation in advance of the long-planned attack on Greece. Hitler now scrambled to make contact with Yugoslavia’s internal enemies; Rosenberg was instructed to find Croatian collaborators.84

The driving force behind the invasion of Yugoslavia and Greece was not an interest in either country per se, or an established enmity towards the local population, still less the quest for Lebensraum.85 In the directive setting out his plans for the region after the invasion, Hitler envisaged German gains to be relatively modest – some former Habsburg parts of Slovenia adjoining Carinthia and Styria were to be annexed to the Reich.86 There was no mention of any plans to settle Germans south of those areas. Hitler had shown no previous interest in any of the Yugoslav peoples, and the codename he gave the operation against their state – ‘Punishment’ – expressed a purely spontaneous rage. He was actually sympathetic to the Greeks, not least because of their classical heritage, and regretted that he ‘had’ to attack them. ‘The Führer says,’ Rosenberg noted in his diary, ‘that he is very sorry that he has to fight with the Greeks.’87 Hitler’s principal purpose in both operations was to prop up Italy, to exclude Britain from the Balkans, and secure his flanks for the attack on the Soviet Union. The Führer’s ‘Proclamation’ to the German people at the start of the Balkan campaign duly framed the attack as part of the struggle against ‘British imperialism’ and ‘Jewish high finance’. ‘We have swept [our] northern flank clear of the British,’ he continued, and ‘we are determined not to tolerate such a threat in the south either.’88

On 6 April 1941, Hitler struck at Yugoslavia, beginning with a massive air attack on Belgrade. That same day, German forces poured into Greece from Bulgaria; other units raced through the Vardar Valley in Yugoslav Macedonia to outflank the Greek defences on the Metaxas Line with Bulgaria from the west. Yugoslavia surrendered in mid April 1941. By then Hitler had already turned his attention south. On 13 April 1941, he issued Directive 27 to complete the destruction of Greece and to drive Britain completely out of the Balkans.89 The Greeks and the British offered furious resistance but were soon overcome. German aircraft were careful to spare the major sites of classical significance. ‘There are to be no bombs on Athens,’90 Hitler ordained. Within three weeks, mainland Greece had been completely overrun. Most of the British expeditionary force escaped south across the Mediterranean.

By late April and early May 1941, Hitler’s position appeared to have improved, but the overall situation had not changed much. In Latin America, for example, particularly in Argentina, the British secret service and propaganda spread misinformation about Hitler’s alleged plans to subvert the continent.91 This was addressed not merely to local governments and populations but also to the American president, who duly recycled these stories in his own speeches against Nazi Germany. In mid April 1941, Roosevelt extended the US defence perimeter to include the Azores. The Romanian oil-fields at Ploesti remained within range of RAF bombers on Crete. Hitler also fretted about British invasion plans against the Iberian Peninsula.92 In Iraq, British troops landed at Basra in defiance of the new nationalist and pro-Nazi Baghdad government, which turned to Hitler for help.

On 11 April 1941, Hitler let it be known that he had read of the ‘national struggle of the Arabs with great interest and sympathy’. The Führer stressed that the Arabs, as an ‘old people of culture’, had shown themselves eminently capable of ruling themselves. For this reason, Hitler announced that he would recognize ‘the complete independence of the Arab states’ where it existed or was desired, a clear tilt at the British Empire.93 Privately, though, he was as scathing of the Arabs as he had been in the 1920s. ‘Unfortunately,’ Hitler remarked, ‘Arabs [are] unreliable and can be bribed,’ something which the British and French ‘understood’ very well.94 Later that month, Hitler authorized Ribbentrop to receive the Indian nationalist leader Subhas Chandra Bose: the Führer refused a meeting with him himself, at least for now.95 Bose explained that although British and communist propaganda suggested that Nazism supported the subjugation of other races, the Hitler–Stalin Pact had revealed Hitler’s true ‘social’ and ‘anti-imperialist’ instincts to many Indians. These exchanges showed the hopes which some of the ‘global south’ invested in Nazism, but Hitler remained hesitant. Bose and Husseini were much more interested in him than he in them.

Hitler had greater hopes of Japan. In late March and early April he had two meetings with the Japanese foreign minister, Matsuoka, who reached Germany by an adventurous and circuitous route via the Soviet Union. Hitler explained that his aim was to ‘break’ the ‘British hegemony’ in Europe and to exclude any ‘American intervention in Europe’. In this context the Tripartite Pact had the great merit that it deterred the US from ‘entering into the war officially’. Hitler concluded that while there would always be a ‘certain risk’, now was the best chance Japan would ever have of attacking the British Empire. Hitler promised to intervene ‘immediately in the event of conflict between Japan and America’ if the latter intervened to protect the British Empire against a Japanese attack.96 He did not encourage the Japanese to fight the Soviet Union, no doubt partly because he thought he did not need their help and partly because he wanted them to remain focused on Anglo-America. For this reason, Hitler was entirely unperturbed by the Japanese-Russian Non-Aggression Pact of 13 April 1941.

Even now, Hitler had not yet completely given up hope of conciliating Britain. Informal contacts were maintained throughout early 1941, though it is not clear whether the Führer personally encouraged them or was even aware that they were taking place.97 The most important of these lines of communication, which may have been opened with Hitler’s approval, ran from Britain directly to the office of the deputy Führer, Rudolf Hess. He had been planning a mission to England, undertaking various dry runs, and drawing up documents, since the end of the previous year. British Intelligence indulged the dialogue, perhaps in order to find out more about Hitler’s intentions, especially towards the Soviet Union.

Hess met with Hitler on 5 May 1941. There is no evidence that he discussed his plans with the Führer on that occasion, but nor did anything that was said then deter him from taking a truly momentous step. On 10 May 1941, Hess, a skilled pilot, took off from Haunstetten airfield near Augsburg and flew more than 1,700 kilometres, some of it over territory closely patrolled by the RAF, to the east coast of Scotland. There he parachuted safely. Hess requested to see the Duke of Hamilton, whom he believed to be sympathetic to a negotiated solution, and presented him with his personal plan for a peace between Germany and Britain.98 It was one of the war’s most dramatic stories, a Shakespearean excursion into the enemy camp. Though it is unlikely that Hitler knew of his deputy’s general intention, still less the precise date of the mission, there can be no doubt that Hess believed he was acting in accordance with his wishes.99 The timing of the mission, immediately after the British humiliation in Greece and before the start of Barbarossa, was certainly propitious, and the use of an aristocratic ‘go-between’ was something of which Hitler – who greatly overestimated the power of the court and the nobility in Britain – would probably have approved. The drift of Hess’s statements to his British interlocutors – that talks would depend on the resignation of the Churchill government, that the U-boats would soon starve out Britain, that Germany had no aggressive intent towards the United States and that British hopes of American support were illusory – was very much the sort of message that the Führer wanted to convey.

The next morning, Hess’s adjutant handed Hitler a long letter, which Hess had written before his departure. No copy of the original exists. The gist of it was that Hess had tried to reach Britain in order to promote a compromise peace; it was clear, by inference, since the Führer had not heard directly from him, that the mission had failed. Hitler was deeply shocked and alarmed – ‘crushed’ in Rosenberg’s phrase.100 Witnesses said that he had not been so upset since the death of Geli Raubal.101 All the same, the Führer seems to have decided to give the British some more time to respond; he appears to have made no attempt to issue an immediate pre-emptive statement. Hitler waited nearly two days for news of his deputy, not knowing whether he was dead or alive. In Britain, Hess tried hard to convince his interlocutors, and his final (unsent) letter to Hitler, written in captivity, was full of regret for the failure of his mission, but in no sense apologetic for having tried.102 By then, however, it was long clear that the British would not negotiate.

Now the risks of the Hess mission could no longer be ignored. Firstly, there was the danger that he would reveal the plan to attack Russia, of which Hess was aware in general terms. Secondly, there was the irritation of the Axis allies Japan and Italy, both of which stood to lose from a German rapprochement with Britain.103 Thirdly, there was the general embarrassment of the deputy Führer, the third-highest-ranking figure in the Third Reich, suddenly going absent without leave. On the evening of 12 May, German radio announced that Hess, who had been suffering for years from a ‘worsening illness’, had gone missing with his aircraft and was the victim of ‘delusions’, and blamed his flight on his adjutants.104 It was not a moment too soon, because the BBC broadcast Hess’s arrival in Britain very shortly afterwards. Hitler continued his damage-limitation exercise the following day. On 13 May 1941, he summoned the Gauleiter for an emergency meeting at the Berghof; the Führer tended to gather his old guard around him in times of crisis.105 Hitler’s task was not easy: to discredit Hess, whom everybody there knew very well, without further damaging himself. His remarks made clear that Hess had some peculiar notions, which most of his audience would have been familiar with in any case, but there was no suggestion that the deputy Führer was insane. Hitler did not excoriate Hess’s motives, which he described as well-meant and idealistic, but rather his refusal to submit to discipline.106

The regime moved quickly to close ranks. On the same day as the radio broadcast disavowing Hess, Hitler abolished the office of the deputy Führer and replaced it with the Party Chancellery under the leadership of Martin Bormann. There was also an immediate Gestapo investigation into Hess’s connections,107 the main purpose of which was not so much to prove traitorous intent on his part or that of his collaborators, but to establish the extent of his knowledge about Barbarossa, and thus what he might divulge to the British. Hess’s removal from the line of succession moved at a rather more leisurely pace. The matter was put on the agenda in early June 1941,108 but it was only settled right at the end of the month, a week after the start of Barbarossa.109

On 17 May 1941, just a week after his deputy had parachuted into Britain, Hitler issued Directive 29, giving the go-ahead for a sea and airborne assault on Crete, codenamed ‘Operation Mercury’.110 This was intended to complete the expulsion of the British from the Balkans, to secure the southern flank for Barbarossa and deprive the RAF of the last base from which it could attack the Romanian oil-fields.111 Despite the fact that Rommel was simultaneously surging eastwards across North Africa, Hitler was not planning a new Mediterranean strategy to drive Britain from Egypt and the Middle East. He complained to his military leaders that ‘one cannot be and help everywhere’. ‘In and of itself,’ the Führer continued, ‘the Orient would not be a problem, were it not for the fact that other plans [Barbarossa] were irrevocable.’ ‘Once those had succeeded,’ he went on, ‘then the gate to the Orient could be opened from there.’112 In other words, Hitler was expecting to break into the Middle East not through the heavily defended front door in Egypt, but by the (allegedly) more lightly guarded back door of the Soviet Caucasus.

These measures were flanked by a political offensive in the Middle East. On 23 May, Hitler issued Directive 30.113 This proclaimed the ‘Arab freedom movement in the Middle East our natural ally against Britain’. In particular, Hitler stressed the importance of developments in Iraq, which threatened Britain’s position in the Middle East, and tied down forces there at the expense of other theatres. He ordered that ‘everything possible’ be done to support the rising by military means.114 Weapons, a military mission and about twenty aircraft were hurriedly sent to Iraq to help the government there. Hitler classified the personnel deployed as ‘volunteers’ according to the ‘model’ of the Condor Legion. They were to wear Iraqi uniforms, while Luftwaffe planes were to sport Iraqi insignia. Hitler also laid down the ‘basic principle’ of the accompanying propaganda, which was to be conducted by the Foreign Office in consultation with the OKW. ‘The victory of the Axis,’ he wanted the Arabs to be told, ‘will bring the countries of the Middle East freedom from the British yoke and thus self-determination.’115

Around the same time, Hitler authorized two of Germany’s most powerful ships, the heavy cruiser Prinz Eugen and the battleship Bismarck, to set sail from the Norwegian port of Bergen to strike at Allied shipping in the Atlantic. The initiative here had come from the Kriegsmarine; Hitler, who was well aware of their vulnerability to air attack and feared the propaganda effect of the loss of these vessels, only agreed with reluctance. He and the commander of the task force, Admiral Lütjens, were both of the opinion that the greatest threat came from the torpedo-bombers of the British Fleet Air Arm. Hitler was also anxious about the increased likelihood of a confrontation with the United States. Relations were already bad enough on account of the U-boat war, but the appearance of German surface ships in the Atlantic might precipitate a crisis. For all these reasons, Hitler asked whether the Bismarck could be recalled even after the mission had begun, though he did not press the point.116 As ever, anxiety and audacity coexisted in Hitler’s mind.

On 20 May, Hitler launched the attack on Crete. General Student’s airborne force ran into heavy resistance from the garrison, which included a large Australian and New Zealand contingent. The British theatre commander, General Bernard Freyberg, was (as his name suggested) of partial German-Austrian descent. His divisional commander, Howard Karl [sic] Kippenberger, was descended from a German couple who emigrated to New Zealand in 1862. The Royal Navy intercepted and largely scattered the seaborne force, but within a few days Student’s men prevailed and the British withdrew. Despite the uncertainty of the opening phase, Hitler hardly interfered in the direction of operations. He was aghast, however, at the cost of the victory, which claimed nearly 20 per cent of the force and nearly 50 per cent of the transport fleet, including irreplaceable pilot instructors. Hitler resolved never again to undertake a large-scale airborne landing. The enemy, he explained, were now on their guard. If Hitler’s willingness to gamble had once more paid off, the British had again extracted a high price for their defeat.117

In retrospect, we can see that Crete marked the German imperial meridian, the last ‘easy’ success. Britain had once again been humiliated. The Nazi Wochenschau, perhaps using music suggested by Hitler, choreographed the arrival of the airborne forces over the water to the strains of Wagner’s ‘Ride of the Valkyries’. German public opinion exulted in yet another spectacular victory. That said, neither Hitler nor the Nazi leadership shared this euphoria, which they regarded as not merely premature but potentially dangerous. The Wehrmacht, too, was under no illusions. On 26 May, Goebbels passed on complaints from frontline soldiers about stories suggesting British cowardice. ‘The British,’ he reported them as saying, were ‘fighting very bravely.’118

There was every reason for caution. Hitler’s other initiatives ended in abject failure. Britain crushed the Iraqi government and swept aside the German military mission. The Luftwaffe planes there were destroyed. A British occupation of Vichy Syria was only a matter of time. Negotiations with Vichy over the use of the Tunisian port of Bizerta to supply the Afrika Korps collapsed. Hitler feared that if he put too much pressure on Pétain, French North Africa would defect to de Gaulle (French central Africa had already done so the previous summer),119 blowing his southern flank wide open. German diplomacy also made little headway in Iran. Despite the Shah’s personal admiration for Hitler, close trading connections and hope that the Third Reich would provide a third way between Anglo-American capitalist imperialism and Soviet communism, he refused, for example, to support the pro-German putschists in Iraq.120 Too much of the world was now too far away. The Middle East, as Hitler had always said, would have to wait for Barbarossa. Things were no better at sea. Towards the end of May, the Bismarck, the pride of the German surface fleet, was crippled by Fleet Air Arm torpedo-bombers and eventually sunk by the Royal Navy after a dramatic pursuit.

Above all, the fundamental imbalance between the Reich and Anglo-America and the malevolence of the Roosevelt administration had not changed. Right at the start of June 1941, the US navy established a ‘South Greenland Patrol’ to protect convoys, thus virtually ensuring clashes with German submarines. At his meeting with Mussolini and Ciano at the Brenner Pass on 2 June, Hitler discussed whether to respond and thought better of it for fear of escalating matters. Roosevelt, the Führer remarked, was just jealous: he ‘hated’ the two dictators because they had ‘solved problems which had defeated him’. Despite all the deficits run up, and Roosevelt’s vaunted ‘brain trust’, Hitler claimed, there were still 11–12 million unemployed and mass poverty in cities like New York. American claims about their productive power and capacity to aid Britain were not so easily ignored and absorbed much of Hitler’s attention during the encounter. He affected to disbelieve the statistics, but thanks to Bötticher’s reports from Washington, the Führer was aware that the British were already receiving an extraordinary 300–400 planes a month from the United States.121 He may also have known of the Empire Air Training Scheme, his ultimate nightmare of large numbers of ‘high-value’ whites being trained in the invulnerable spaces of Canada, Australasia and South Africa, in order to carry the war to the Reich.

Hitler’s reaction to the growing American threat continued to follow the long-established pattern. Nazi propaganda pushed back vigorously throughout the spring and early summer of 1941. The magazine Signal, which was directed at an international audience, accused Roosevelt in April of preparing to attack the Reich by sending arms to Britain under Lend-Lease.122 Nazi media tried to divide Anglo-America. In late May 1941 the Propaganda Ministry announced at one of its press conferences ‘that the warmongers were not the Anglo-Saxons [sic] but the government of the United States and the Jews which stood behind it’.123 Behind the scenes, Hitler reinforced this message in his meetings with Americans. He told John Cudahy, a strong isolationist and former ambassador to Belgium, that the US drift to war was driven by a false ‘business interest’ and mendacious claims of German hostile intent. ‘To declare that Europe wanted to conquer America,’ Hitler explained, ‘was tantamount to asserting that America wanted to conquer the moon.’124

The other tactic Hitler used was to avoid direct confrontation for as long as possible. As the US navy stepped up its activities in the North Atlantic this became ever more difficult. Clashes between the U-boats and American escorts were inevitable; the key was to prevent these from escalating out of control and give Roosevelt the pretext he needed to enter the war. With Barbarossa imminent, Hitler gave strict orders to avoid US warships and to disengage when attacked by the Americans. On 20 June 1941, for example, a U-boat came close to launching its torpedoes at the battleship USS Texas, but was stood down. The next day, which was the eve of the invasion of Russia, Hitler repeated his instructions to the Kriegsmarine. ‘The Führer absolutely wishes to avoid any incidents with the United States,’ Raeder noted, ‘at least until the effects of Barbarossa have become clear,’ that is, ‘for several weeks’.125 The message was clear: the confrontation with America would have to wait until Russia had been sorted out.

The extent to which Hitler was already thinking ahead, to the confrontation with Anglo-America, was demonstrated by his Draft Directive 32, entitled ‘Preparations for the Time after Barbarossa’, issued eleven days before the attack.126 Following the defeat of the Soviet Union, he claimed, the Axis would dominate all of mainland Europe outside of the Iberian Peninsula. It could then shift the focus of armaments production from the army to the air force and navy (which were already absorbing the preponderance of the German war economy),127 that is, against Britain and the United States. There would have to be closer cooperation with France. Iran, Turkey and Spain would have to be brought into the Axis orbit, again with a view to intimidating Britain. There would be an intensive economic exploitation of the new territories in the east, watched over by a large holding force of about sixty divisions. The next military steps would be the capture of Gibraltar, Tobruk and Malta, and an attack on the Suez Canal. Meanwhile Iraq would be approached from the Caucasus. The Arab freedom movement would be exploited ‘at the right moment’. Then the siege of the British islands would be resumed and an invasion planned.

A few days after the Yugoslav capitulation, Hitler appointed Rosenberg his ‘envoy for the central treatment of questions concerning the eastern European space’.128 The latter, who had already been briefed in detail on the Führer’s vision for the east,129 could now get to work in earnest. In late May 1941, Himmler was formally charged with ensuring security behind the front.130 Preparations for the next stage of the war against the Jews also proceeded apace. They were flanked with the usual public anti-Semitic rhetoric. Hitler spoke of western opposition to the Axis as the product of the ‘purely capitalist-oriented brains of our Jewish democracies’.131 On 7 June 1941, responding to suggestions for new regulations concerning the status of Jews, he let it be known ‘that there would be no more Jews in Germany after the war’.132 A week or so later, Hitler told a visitor ‘that all Jews would have to leave Europe completely after the war’, including the ‘eastern territories’.133 The male Soviet Jews would – in practice – be killed on the spot by the Einsatzgruppen.134 Hitler’s decision to do so was primarily driven not by his hostility to Bolshevism, important though this was, but by his fear of Britain and the United States.135

On 17 June 1941, Hitler issued the final instruction to launch Barbarossa. Millions of men, and thousands of aircraft and vehicles, had been assembled in secrecy, though fewer aircraft than he had fielded against the Western Allies a year earlier due to losses.136 He had corralled a fractious and leaky coalition of the willing into supporting the attack and holding its tongue. Above all, Hitler had gulled Stalin, the most paranoid man in the world,137 despite having advertised his intentions for twenty years, and despite the fact that the German mobilization was known to the Russians in broad outline from their aerial reconnaissance and other intelligence sources, and despite specific and credible warnings from his master spy Richard Sorge in Tokyo. Stalin had studied Hitler’s modus operandi, and believed that he would have ample warning of an attack because it would be preceded by the usual barrage of press obloquy. But Hitler was constantly changing his modus. He had begun with sudden ‘weekend coups’ such as the announcement of German rearmament in 1935, the occupation of the Rhineland in 1936 and the annexation of Austria in 1938. Then he had moved on to choreographed crises, as over the Sudetenland in 1938, Poland in 1939 and in the Balkans in early 1941. The lightning strikes against Scandinavia in 1940, and Yugoslavia and Greece in 1941, which had come completely out of the blue, had been outliers. It was one of those which was about to hit Stalin. ‘The procedure will be as follows,’ Hitler explained, ‘we will take a completely different path from before’ by ‘putting a new barrel in the organ’. ‘We will not polemicize in the press,’ he continued, but rather ‘stay completely quiet and then simply attack’ when the time was right.138

A few days before the start of the invasion, Goebbels slipped into the Imperial Chancellery through the back door to avoid the foreign journalists loitering at the front.139 Hitler told him that he hoped to seize the Ukrainian harvest largely intact, that the elimination of Russia would free Japan to take on the United States, and that he would then turn to settle accounts with Britain. He professed optimism, and predicted that the campaign would take about four months. That said, Hitler’s insistence that the example of Napoleon would not be repeated – a theme which featured regularly in his discourse – suggested a certain anxiety. Hitler was genuinely confident, much more so than he had been about the projected Operation Sealion, but he also knew that what he was attempting was still a huge gamble based on imperfect intelligence, with an uncertain outcome. ‘I feel,’ the Führer is said to have remarked at 3 a.m. on the morning of 22 June, hours before the attack, ‘as if I am about to push open a door to a dark, unfamiliar room – without knowing what is to be found behind the door.’140

On 22 June 1941, the Wehrmacht kicked in the front entrance to the Soviet Union in the most ferocious act of breaking and entering the world has ever seen.141 The victim was completely dumbstruck; consignments of Soviet oil and grain were still heading west by rail as the Germans invaded. ‘We did not deserve this,’ Molotov remarked to the German ambassador when he took his leave immediately after the attack had begun.142 After some bitter border battles, the Soviet front quickly buckled. In the northern and central sectors, German spearheads drove deep into the Baltic lands and White Russia. Much of the Soviet air force was destroyed on the ground. Sometimes, as at the citadel of Brest-Litovsk, the Red Army put up an effective if futile resistance. More often, it was encircled in large numbers. Hundreds of thousands and then millions of Soviet prisoners of war were herded westwards.

Throughout the first weeks of the campaign, Hitler followed events on the ground closely.143 Three days after the attack started, he became worried that the pockets were too large, with the consequent difficulty of sealing off the enemy, crushing him or forcing him to surrender. Much to his annoyance, the commander of Army Group Centre, Bock, was told to close the pincers earlier than he had intended.144 This set a pattern, with Hitler generally taking a more cautious view than the hawkish generals. The Führer also tended towards scepticism at reports of victories. ‘Where are the prisoners?’ he asked three weeks into the campaign.145 Hitler’s anxiety reflected the limited instruments available to him. He invaded Russia with two armies: one a relatively small modern motorized and armoured force, the other a much larger traditional infantry force, which had to cover vast distances on foot and was supplied from horse-drawn wagons.146 No matter how far the former advanced, it still had to wait for the latter to come up to consolidate the ground seized and guard the haul of prisoners and materiel.

As instructed by Hitler, the struggle in the east was waged as a war of annihilation from the very beginning.147 Thousands of commissars were shot on capture or immediately after. So were tens of thousands of other Red Army troops. Millions of Soviet POWs were starved or worked to death.148 Behind the lines, the Einsatzgruppen moved in to murder all male Jews of military age they could find. Women and children were mostly spared, for now.149 They also executed all Comintern functionaries, all Communist Party functionaries, Jews in party and state posts and various other categories such as ‘agitators’, ‘saboteurs’ and ‘assassins’.150 The Wehrmacht was often complicit in these killings. Hitler sought to head off protests from the army through thinly concealed bribes in the form of bonuses and endowments of land for senior officers.151

Barbarossa was conceived as both an anti-colonial and a colonizing enterprise.152 Hitler claimed he was liberating Germany and the world from Anglo-American capitalist imperialism and Jewish manipulation, be it in the guise of plutocracy or of Bolshevism. The resources of the world, so unjustly hoarded by the ‘haves’, would now be redistributed to the ‘have-nots’. Hitler therefore began his proclamation at the start of Barbarossa not by speaking of the Soviet Union, or even the Jews, but by attacking Britain and the balance of power with which it had oppressed Germany and continental Europe for generations. When London had entered the war, he argued, it marked a repeat of the British attempt to ‘prevent’ the ‘consolidation of Europe’ by the strongest European power of the time.153 Hitler inveighed once again against the ‘new, hate-filled encirclement policy’ of the ‘well-known conspiracy between Jews, democracies, Bolsheviks and reactionaries’. It took him ten paragraphs before he actually began to speak about the Soviet Union, listing his gravamina, before circling back to lambast Britain once again.

Barbarossa was clearly a colonial enterprise, because it involved the despoliation and expropriation of the native population. Following close behind the frontline forces, the German administration implemented the long-planned seizure of foodstuffs; this proved to be a far more complicated operation than expected.154 As the Wehrmacht drove ever deeper into Russia, Hitler moved forward on the settlement of the new Lebensraum. Three weeks into the campaign, he summoned Rosenberg to discuss the ‘partition of the eastern European space’. Hitler demanded that Crimea and its northern hinterland should be ‘cleared of all aliens and settled by Germans’; he also laid down that all of the Baltic lands should become ‘German’. The area around Baku, with its vital oil-fields, should become a German ‘concession’. ‘We must make a Garden of Eden out of our new eastern territories,’ Hitler said, ‘they are essential to us.’ The key thing, he concluded, was to ‘divide up the enormous cake’ in such a way that we can ‘dominate it, administer it, and exploit it’.155 During this discussion, in which the major stakeholders in the east from the party, economy and Wehrmacht – Bormann, Göring and Keitel – participated, Hitler stressed that ‘the task in the east was not a matter for a generation but one for centuries’.156 Time, which had contracted so quickly over the previous few years, seemed briefly to expand again.

The Führer increasingly argued that he was acting not only for Germany but also on behalf of Europe as a whole. Just as Napoleon had attacked Russia in 1812 with a multinational army of French, Dutch, Italians and Germans from the Confederation of the Rhine, flanked by his uneasy allies Austria and Prussia, so did Hitler invade at the head of a large coalition, which by the end of the year included Finland, Slovakia, Hungary, Romania and Italy, as well volunteer contingents from Spain and many parts of occupied Europe.157 He went to considerable trouble to manage these allies, many of whom hated each other far more than they did Stalin.158 When a newsreel reference to Italian troops as ‘fast’ provoked widespread merriment on account of the implied cowardice, he immediately ordered the offending passages to be cut so as not to jeopardize relations within the Axis.159 The Führer was particularly solicitous of Antonescu, of whom he spoke with genuine respect.160 When Odessa was about to fall, Hitler disregarded the heavy weather his allies had made of the siege and instructed that the Romanians be allowed to claim the credit.161

Beneath the surface, however, Hitler remained deeply ambivalent about the value of his alliances. The only coalition troops for whom he had untrammelled regard were the Finns and Spaniards. ‘These are the bravest of men,’ Hitler remarked privately, and ‘he did not see them as mere hangers-on but as real allies’.162 The Spaniards of the ‘Blue Division’, who arrived later in the autumn, also gained his admiration during the subsequent winter battles.163 Hitler had a low regard for the Slovak, Italian, Hungarian and (most of) the Romanian forces. He did not think much of his various political allies either. Hitler was particularly scathing about the White Russian émigrés whom he had known well in the 1920s and who were now queuing up to return. He considered them lazy, feckless and generally far inferior to their womenfolk.164 The Führer’s main worry, however, was that he might be forced to share some of his plunder with the rest of Europe. He was infuriated by the suggestion of a ‘cheeky’ Vichy newspaper165 that the war against the Soviet Union was a European war from which not only Germany but the whole of the continent should benefit. This made Hitler more determined to ensure that the Reich, which had paid the largest blood price, should also be the primary beneficiary of the campaign.

The tension between the emancipationist and exploitative character of Barbarossa was particularly evident in the discussion over settlement plans. Hitler began his remarks on the future of the east with the claim that ‘final decisions’, especially on states and borders, should not be proclaimed in advance, but that it would be enough to ‘appear as liberators from Bolshevism’. In this sense, Hitler argued, echoing his public statements, ‘Germany’s struggle was also in Europe’s interest’.166 Somewhat in contradiction to the general tenor of his plans, Hitler agreed with Rosenberg that national sentiment should be encouraged among Ukrainians by giving them a university at Kiev. This shows that in July 1941 Hitler’s mind was still open on the future relationship with the planned successor states. He appears to have envisaged a combination of the American and the British forms of colonialism. In some areas, such as the Crimea and other parts of the Ukraine, the local population would be simply replaced by German settlers in the style of the settlement of the American West. In others, such as the remaining areas of the Ukraine, Hitler planned to set up disarmed semi-independent statelets in the style of the Raj. ‘Here too,’ he remarked, ‘the behaviour of the British in India towards the Indian princes is a model.’167

That said, Hitler left no doubt that the relationship between the Germans and the Slav population would be a profoundly unequal one, nor did he disguise the fact that his ‘European’ rhetoric was largely designed to gull world opinion while he created facts on the ground. ‘Our steps,’ Hitler explained, ‘must be driven by tactical considerations,’ just as had been done with regard to the occupations in the west. Germany, he continued, should stress that it had been ‘forced’ to occupy and order a territory and was now obliged to care for its population. ‘We should simply pretend,’ he said, ‘that we are carrying out a [League of Nations-style] mandate,’ so that it was ‘not clear’ that a final settlement was intended. Hitler’s caution was driven by the need, as he put it, ‘not to make enemies of certain people unnecessarily and prematurely’. Whatever ‘needed’ to be done – ‘shooting, deporting, etc.’ – should continue to be done, of course. The recent Soviet call for partisan warfare was a boon in this regard, Hitler argued, because it provided a pretext to ‘exterminate everything opposing us’. The key point was ‘we will never leave these territories’.168 The Germans were in the east to stay.

Despite his investment of time and effort in running the Russian campaign and planning for its aftermath in the summer of 1941, Hitler never lost sight of the broader struggle against Anglo-America. The structure of military decision-making reflected these priorities. Hitler headed the High Command of the Wehrmacht (OKW), which was responsible for the war as a whole and all the individual theatres, with the exception of the Russian front, which was run by the High Command of the Army (OKH). The main enemy for the Kriegsmarine, the Luftwaffe and the Wehrmacht as a whole remained Britain, and ultimately America; the concentration on Russia was regarded as purely temporary.

If things were still going well against the Soviet Union, the same could not be said of the hot war against the British Empire and the cold war with the United States. Both London and Washington announced their intention to supply Stalin with war material. Two days after the start of the invasion, Roosevelt unfroze Soviet accounts in the US and a few months later extended Lend-Lease to Stalin. His confidant, Harry Hopkins, was sent to Moscow. Two weeks after the start of Barbarossa, on 7 July 1941, the United States took over the occupations of Iceland and Greenland, not only releasing British troops for service elsewhere but also taking the Americans much closer to the fighting in Europe; the Führer registered this with profound alarm.169 On 12 July, Britain signed a formal pact with the Soviet Union. Hitler had himself brought about the encirclement he so feared.

Moreover, despite the early successes, Russian resistance was stiffer than Hitler had expected. German infantry and tank losses in the first weeks of the invasion were much heavier than in any previous campaign. Ralph Ross, the Chicago-raised son of Hitler’s ‘America adviser’ Colin Ross, was killed in the Ukraine in early July 1941, six days short of his eighteenth birthday.170 Not long after, the Führer conceded that while the Soviet officer corps was weak, the commissars were ‘hard’ and ‘the Russian was individually as fanatic as he had been in the [First] World War’, that is, ‘obstinate and determined’.171 Hitler admitted privately to Rosenberg that ‘the Soviets had many more and better tanks than had been assumed’.172 A week after that, he remarked with exasperation that the Russians always seemed to have men left over. By mid July 1941, however, Hitler was reasonably confident that the collapse of the Soviet Union was only a matter of time. He did not think, he remarked privately, ‘that the resistance in European Russia will last longer than six weeks’.173

The Führer now turned back to face the main enemy, Anglo-America. On 13 July 1941, Hitler decreed that strong tank forces would be left to secure Russia, but new formations – such as ‘tropical armoured divisions’ – were to be established for use against Britain.174 A day later, he issued Directive 32b, his first after the start of the invasion.175 Its title referred back to the original Directive 32 concerning the time after Barbarossa. That moment, Hitler believed, had now come. ‘The military domination of the European space after the defeat of Russia,’ he predicted, ‘will soon allow us to reduce the size of the army’; only the armoured forces were to be increased. Naval armaments were to be limited to the level necessary for the immediate prosecution of the war ‘against Britain, and, in the event, against America’. ‘The centre of gravity of armaments,’ Hitler decreed, ‘will be transferred to the Luftwaffe,’ which was to be ‘greatly enlarged’. There was no sign of euphoria, or sense of imminent victory. On the contrary, he decreed that all construction ‘which did not serve the immediate needs of the Wehrmacht and the war economy’ was to cease. As Barbarossa appeared to draw to a close, Hitler’s war was not over; it had hardly begun.

That same day Hitler met with Oshima in order to maintain Japanese pressure on the US, to guard against his nightmare scenario, which was the possibility of a rapprochement between Tokyo and Washington, and to assure his interlocutor that he was in no sense intimidated by American industrial potential. ‘Europe,’ he claimed, was a ‘much greater armoury than the USA,’ citing the superiority of Krupp, Rheinmetall, Skoda and even Schneider-Creusot. ‘As far as soldiers were concerned,’ Hitler continued, ‘he was not worried at all,’ because ‘what was the American soldier anyway – he had got to know him in the [First] World War’. The Führer was, of course, protesting too much, especially if one recalls his earlier respectful remarks about the quality of the US troops he had encountered in July 1918, and his bluster revealed the extent of his anxiety about the looming struggle with the overwhelming might of the United States.176 One way or the other, it was clear that the confrontation could not be ducked. ‘If one had to fight against the United States,’ he concluded, ‘then that should happen on his watch,’ because he ‘considered the idea of delaying that sort of thing cowardly’. Hitler would not shy away from his ‘generational’ task. In this respect, time which was lengthening in the east, was shortening again in the west.

Hitler’s next two directives, issued on 19 and 23 July 1941, entitled ‘Continuation of the War in the East’, essentially envisaged a mopping-up operation within the framework of the original plan for Barbarossa.177 Hitler demanded that Soviet forces be prevented from withdrawing into the depths of Russia, followed by advances to the Dnieper, Leningrad and towards Moscow. The Romanians were to cover the southern flanks. No new forces would be sent to fight partisans, who should be dealt with through terror rather than legal means. In late July, over protests from commanders such as Bock, he ordered the sealing of smaller and tighter pockets to prevent the Red Army from escaping eastwards.178 Around this time, however, Hitler’s optimism in Russia was dented by stiffening Soviet resistance on the central front. He remarked to Halder on 26 July 1941 that ‘the Russians could not be beaten operationally’.179 A quick decision there now seemed unlikely.

In response to this, Hitler abandoned the original Barbarossa conception. This had involved both military-political and economic objectives, with the main thrust being made in the north and centre against the Red Army and the principal loci of Soviet power, to be followed by the occupation of the Ukraine. Now Hitler had to make a choice; he had neither the resources nor the time to achieve both objectives. He confessed to his adjutant on 28 July 1941 that he was having difficulty sleeping because he was struggling with the two ‘souls in his breast’. In political-ideological terms, Hitler believed that the main task was to eliminate the ‘main abscesses’ of Leningrad and Moscow, but the economic objectives all lay to the south, a land where milk and honey flowed, and where he would find ‘oil, grain and everything that was necessary to secure the Lebensraum’.180 That same day, Hitler let it be known to the generals that his main aim was the elimination of Soviet forces around Leningrad and the capture of the raw materials of the Donets basin in the south; he was less interested in Moscow.181 Two days later, Hitler instructed that Army Group Centre should go over to the defensive.182 He would strike south, partly to encircle large bodies of Soviet troops, partly to deprive the Soviet regime of the industrial and agrarian resources of the Ukraine, but mainly in order to secure these for the Reich to support the struggle against Anglo-America.

Over the next fortnight, there was a perceptible grinding and clashing of gears as the Wehrmacht regrouped. On 12 August 1941, Hitler issued a fresh directive in which the primacy of economic objectives was spelled out.183 The Wehrmacht was ordered to capture not only the Donets but also the ‘industrial area of Kharkov’. Crimea was to be taken and future operations against Baku prepared. Army Group Centre would remain on the defensive until the time had come to renew the offensive on Moscow.

Late July and early August 1941 also marked a discernible shift in policy towards Soviet Jewry.184 The timing and motivation of this change, and whether it originated in a specific order from Hitler, are not clear. What is certain, however, is that at Hitler’s behest Göring issued an order to Heydrich on 31 July 1941 to present in the near future ‘an overall plan for the organizational, technical and material preparations necessary for the implementation of the desired final solution of the Jewish question’.185 Subsequently, the Einsatzgruppen gradually moved from murdering ‘only’ or principally male Jews to slaughtering whole communities, including women and children. The Wehrmacht was often complicit in these killings, especially when they overlapped with the campaign against Soviet partisans.186 Whether or not he actually ordered them in writing, Hitler was the ultimate driving force behind these actions. In late July, he explained to a visiting foreign dignitary that ‘if just one state tolerates a single Jewish family’, then this would become the ‘germ-centre’ for a new ‘wave of decomposition’. ‘If there were no more Jews in Europe’, Hitler continued, ‘then the unity of European states would no longer be disturbed’.187

The Führer does not seem to have followed the activities of the Einsatzgruppen in detail. There is no evidence that he was sent or read their reports. It is true that on 1 August 1941, Gestapo Chief Müller asked the Einsatzgruppen commanders to provide him with material with which he could brief Hitler. The order referred explicitly only to ‘particularly interesting visual material, such as photographs, posters, leaflets, and other documents’, in other words objects which could be used for propagandistic purposes; the Führer does not seem to have been sent or studied detailed lists of executions.188 One way or the other, the escalation of late July and early August 1941 affected primarily Soviet and Baltic Jews under German occupation, most of whom were killed by the end of the year.189 The vast majority of Polish, Balkan, German and western European Jews were still alive, though their deportation east was already being planned. Deportation was not (yet) a euphemism for murder; the decision to kill all European Jews under Nazi control had not yet been taken.

In early August 1941, the cumulative stresses of the Russian campaign and other worries were beginning to take their toll on Hitler’s health. On 8 August, he was confined to bed with shivering and diarrhoea. His personal doctor, Dr Morell, tried to revive him, but failed to do so in time for the military briefing that day. It was the first meeting that Hitler had missed. He took out his frustration on Morell; ‘Führer very irritable,’ the latter wrote in his diary, ‘have never experienced such hostility towards myself.’ In order to prevent a recurrence, Morell stepped up his treatment. Hitler was daily pumped full of stimulants and other drugs; the list exceeded eighty medicines, more than a dozen of them consciousness altering. Though nominally a vegetarian, Hitler had more and more animal substances coursing in his blood from the autumn of 1941, including derivatives of bulls’ testicles and Homoseran, which is a by-product of uterine blood.190 There was no disguising, however, that Hitler’s health was in decline. He began to complain of dizziness, tinnitus and headaches; there were also the first signs of a tremor.191

Hitler’s sense of anxiety, especially with regard to Anglo-America, was greatly increased by news of the signing of the Atlantic Charter on 14 August 1941. Churchill and Roosevelt had met on board a British battle cruiser in Placentia Bay off Newfoundland and issued a joint declaration. It set out a sunny vision for a new global order based on international cooperation, social justice, free trade and equal access to the world’s resources.192 The Charter also committed the United States and the United Kingdom to ‘certain common principles’, such as a rejection of territorial change without the ‘freely expressed wishes of the peoples concerned’ and support for ‘self-government’, which were plainly directed against the Axis. If this was not bad enough, article six of the Charter explicitly looked forward to ‘the final destruction of the Nazi tyranny’. The preamble signalled that the United States would investigate further measures to support ‘those countries actively engaged in resisting aggression’, including the Soviet Union, by ‘the Hitlerite Government of Germany’. For Churchill, the Charter was something of a disappointment, because it did not bring an immediate American entry into the war,193 but for Hitler it was still a considerable shock. He was particularly infuriated by its reference to the ‘final destruction of the Nazi tyranny’.194 Roosevelt was much closer now to finally throwing off the mask. The impact of the Charter on Hitler is attested by the fact that he continued to engage with it on many occasions over the next three years.195

In mid and late August 1941, the Führer pondered his response. The Charter was partly a propaganda challenge, with its eight points echoing the Fourteen Points of President Wilson. Hitler was torn between wanting to ignore it and the urgent need to refute it. He and Goebbels feared that Germans and Europe as a whole might be led astray by the siren voices of Roosevelt and Churchill, just as Germans had believed Wilson only to be betrayed at Versailles. The ‘dynamite contained in the eight-point declaration’ would have to be defused.196 Just as Churchill had issued a joint statement with Roosevelt, Hitler wanted to respond after consulting with Mussolini, his main ally, which he did on 25 August 1941. Their joint communiqué was published towards the end of the month. Mimicking the language of their Anglo-Saxon rivals, it stressed that the two men had discussed all political and military matters which affected the development and length of the war in great detail and in the spirit of close comradeship and a sense of common destiny. Then followed the substantive reply. ‘The new European order which will emerge from this war,’ Hitler and Mussolini announced, ‘must remove the causes of past European wars’; here the Jews were meant. ‘The elimination of the Bolshevik threat and of plutocratic exploitation,’ they continued, ‘will enable a peaceful, harmonious and fruitful cooperation of all peoples of the European continent both on political as well as on the economic and cultural levels’.197

The Charter accelerated rather than caused the shift in Hitler’s strategy.198 He was now even more determined to finish the war in the east and refocus his efforts against the west. Significantly, Hitler’s first talk of a separate peace with Russia came on 18 August 1941,199 shortly after news of the Charter reached him. On that day Hitler once again spoke of completing the aircraft carrier Graf Zeppelin, further evidence of his plans to take on Britain and the United States. Two days later he was briefed by scientists from the experimental station at Peenemünde on their work, and the possibility of bombarding America, or at least US forces on Iceland, with rockets. Hitler was excited by their potential, and remarked ‘that this development was of revolutionary importance for the conduct of war in the whole world’.200

The approach of war with the United States, and the continued grip of the British blockade, much aggravated by the invasion of Russia, injected new urgency into operations in Russia, and vindicated the existing shift from military and ideological objectives towards the pursuit of economic aims. Hitler inveighed in one of his nightly monologues against the British stranglehold over the life of the continent, and looked forward to the time when Europe could be supplied from the granaries and mines of the Ukraine and Volga basin.201 Two days later, Hitler explained the strategic and economic motivations for these measures at some length in a separate memorandum for the OKW. His very first line reminded the military leadership why they were in the Soviet Union in the first place. ‘The aim of this campaign,’ he explained, ‘is to eliminate Russia as a continental ally of Britain’ (it was of course only an ally of Britain because of Hitler’s invasion) and thus ‘deprive [her] of any hope of escaping [her] fate with the help of the remaining great power’.202 Hitler then went on to stress the importance of securing the resources of Russia for the German war economy.

Over the next fortnight, Hitler intervened repeatedly to ensure that his instructions were being followed.203 There was heavy opposition from the generals, some of whom were loath to release units under their command, and others of whom objected that the main enemy force in the central front was still unbroken,204 but the Führer would brook no argument. The doubters were soon silenced by a string of spectacular victories, when the Wehrmacht encircled Soviet armies at Uman and west of Kiev, taking hundreds of thousands of prisoners.205 The city of Kiev itself fell towards the end of the following month, to Hitler’s immense delight.206 Once again, the Führer had been vindicated.

In the meantime, Hitler was preparing his next move against the Jews, whom he held responsible not merely for the Atlantic Charter but for the whole thrust of American policy. On 19 August 1941, the Führer reminded Goebbels of his ‘prophecy in the Reichstag, that if Jewry succeeded in provoking another world war’, the conflict would ‘end with the destruction of Jewry’. Hitler noted that his prediction was now ‘coming true in these weeks and months with an almost eerie certainty’. Here he distinguished between what was happening ‘in the east’ where ‘the Jews must foot the bill’, and what had taken in place in Germany, where they ‘had already paid it in part and would have to pay even more in future’. ‘Their last refuge,’ Hitler concluded, ‘remains North America, and there they will sooner or later have to pay as well.’207 There was a marked increase in the number of Jews murdered around this time, but although some Einsatzgruppen commanders recalled after the war that there had been ‘an order for the comprehensive liquidation of the Jews from the Führer himself’ in mid August,208 no documentary evidence survives, nor can we be sure what might have triggered such an order. Part of the intensification may have been down to the self-radicalization of the SS apparatus. One way or the other, from 15 August at least one of the Einsatzgruppen began to shoot women and children as well as men.209 The first documented annihilation of an entire Jewish community took place early the following month.210 On 1 September 1941, all Jews in Germany and Nazi-occupied Europe were ordered to wear a yellow star. This was intended partly to make their identification as a potential enemy agent easier,211 and partly to signal to the outside world that the Reich had millions of hostages under its control.

Throughout the autumn following the Atlantic Charter, Anglo-America steadily increased the pressure on Hitler. The RAF struck repeatedly at German cities, culminating in a series of raids on Berlin, Cologne and Mannheim in early November. British bombers hammered the Scharnhorst and Prinz Eugen almost nightly in harbour at Brest.212 In the Atlantic, there were only twenty-two submarines operational by mid November, which was far too few to make an impact. Sinkings dropped still further. In North Africa, the supply situation was dire, and in late September 1941 Raeder warned Hitler in the strongest terms that the Afrika Korps could not be maintained unless there was an additional large-scale deployment of Luftwaffe units to the theatre. Throughout October, German and Italian ships were attacked so successfully by units based on Malta that supplies to Rommel all but ceased. On 8 November 1941, a vital convoy was completely destroyed; the Italians were too short of fuel oil to intervene. Ten days later, the British went on the offensive in North Africa.

Despite the demands of the Russian campaign, Hitler followed all these developments with alarm. They made clear that the destruction of the British will to resist, which had been a key objective of Barbarossa, was some way off. He also fretted that the British might launch a desperate relief offensive somewhere on behalf of Stalin, catching the Axis unawares. One area of vulnerability was Norway, where the Führer never ceased to fear commando operations, and even a full-scale landing, which would endanger his access to Swedish iron ore. Another worry was the Channel Islands. Hitler’s main concern, however, was the Mediterranean, where there was the danger of a British return to the continent via North Africa, Sicily, Sardinia, the Aegean and the Balkans. His fear was that a collapse in the Mediterranean would be followed by the disintegration of the fascist regime in Italy, which is of course exactly what happened in the summer and autumn of 1943. ‘The domestic political situation in Italy,’ he told the SKL, ‘has been put under severe strain by the food shortages and the British bombing attacks.’ Hitler went on to warn that the fascist regime was by no means ‘as secure as the German government’ and that its replacement by another would put Italy ‘inevitably into the camp of our enemies’.213 The Führer blamed Britain’s continued refusal to compromise on the manipulation of Churchill by the Jews.214

These anxieties were aggravated by signs of restiveness within Hitler’s European empire. He worried about the loyalty of the subject peoples, especially the apparently passive Czechs, whose armaments production he deemed insufficient, and the Ukrainians, who he feared might become ‘the rallying point of a pan-Russian resistance’.215 Hitler’s main concern, though, was sabotage and guerrilla warfare. The invasion of the Soviet Union ranged communists across the continent against the Third Reich. Resistance movements in western Europe stirred. In Russia the partisan movement slowly gathered momentum and in the autumn of 1941 a nationalist rising broke out in Serbia. On 16 September 1941, Hitler ordered a series of military and diplomatic measures to pacify the Balkans.216 He was convinced that London (and ‘the Jews’) were behind all these endeavours, and that they were designed to link up with British landing forces.

Meanwhile, the American threat loomed ever larger. On 11 September 1941, Roosevelt gave a dramatic ‘Fireside Chat’ to the nation, in which he announced that ‘when you see a rattlesnake poised to strike, you do not wait until he has struck before you crush him’. At around the same time, he gave instructions to the US navy to shoot at German raiders on sight (this followed an encounter between USS Green and a German submarine).217 Towards the end of the month, Roosevelt spoke in a crowded ballroom at the symbolically named Mayflower Hotel in Washington, DC. In his short remarks, he mentioned Hitler no fewer than twenty-one times. Roosevelt claimed that the ‘shooting’ with Germany had already started, that ‘history has recorded who fired the first shot’, and that ‘all that will matter is who fired the last shot’. He also produced a map forged, or at least distorted beyond recognition, by British Intelligence to allege Nazi designs not merely on Latin America ‘but against the United States as well’.218 Much more so than the Atlantic Charter, the president’s speeches in September and October 1941 were effectively declarations of war. All this was accompanied by frequent condemnations of Hitler’s anti-Semitism, despotism and plans to suppress Christianity.

Hitler registered the growing enmity of the United States with alarm. The German embassy there kept him well informed, and warned him that American diplomats around the world were sharing intelligence with the British.219 Hitler was particularly preoccupied by the size of the American armaments industry, and well aware that Roosevelt was supplying Stalin with war material and (from 6 November) with billions of dollars’ worth of loans. He therefore repeatedly sought to reassure his interlocutors that American capacity was much exaggerated.220 Publicly, Hitler responded to taunts about American ‘numbers’ with claims that the number of Europeans working for him far exceeded the number of Americans making weapons for Roosevelt.221 The threat was not perceived merely as military and economic, however, but also as racial. In a meeting with Italy’s Ciano in late October 1941, Hitler acknowledged the challenge of the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ to the Axis, but added with characteristic bluster that there were not only 500 million Europeans facing 230 million Americans, but that ‘only 60 million Anglo-Saxons lived in America, while the rest was made up of Italians, Germans and other races’.222 This was ironic, given his repeatedly stated scepticism since the 1920s about the alliance-value of most Europeans.

To make matters worse, the state of the German war economy as it faced the combined might of Anglo-America, which had so exercised Hitler at the start of 1941, had not improved by the autumn. On the contrary, in mid September 1941, the Führer was forced to admit that the armaments industry was already ‘running at more than full capacity’.223 Nor was the supply of raw materials or foodstuffs any more secure. The British blockade still stood. Germany’s principal source of oil at Ploesti was threatened by Soviet aircraft based in the Crimea. ‘The Führer,’ it was reported in early September 1941, was ‘very anxious to end the threat from there to the oil-producing areas of Ploesti.’224 The message was clear: unless Hitler could secure additional raw materials and radically increase production, Germany would lose the war of attrition with Anglo-America.

As if all this were not bad enough, Hitler was plunged into a serious domestic crisis in the autumn of 1941. There was considerable popular disquiet about the euthanasia programme and open opposition from the Roman Catholic Church. In August 1941, the Bishop of Münster, Clemens von Galen, denounced the killings from the pulpit.225 Whatever Galen’s motivation, he had mounted a direct challenge to the regime, because the Führer’s ignorance of the unpopular killings could no longer be pleaded or assumed. Hitler’s outrage was increased by the fact that the BBC broadcast the text of the sermon and the RAF dropped it in pamphlet form over Germany and the front lines.226 This spat reflected a much broader tension between the Third Reich and Christianity, which the Führer expatiated on privately at length throughout the autumn. He inveighed against ‘Jewish Christianity’227 and celebrated the fact that the obscurantist church was no longer strong enough ‘to counter the insights of science with burnings at the stake’. All the same, Hitler lamented that it was still possible for a child to be told the true scientific story about the creation of the earth in one lesson, and then to be subjected to the ‘creation story of the Bible’ in religion class.228

These conflicts aggravated the already poor relations between the regime and the Catholic Church, not least because of the continuing attempts by some local leaders to remove religious imagery from the classroom, known loosely as the ‘crucifix decrees’. Worse still, a related high political crisis was brewing in the party around the figure of Josef Wagner, the Gauleiter of Westphalia South (which adjoined Münster) and imperial commissar for price control. A strict Catholic, he was already under suspicion, but the pot boiled over when his pregnant daughter announced her intention to marry her lover, an SS man who had broken with the church. Wagner’s wife denounced and cursed her daughter in a letter which eventually found its way to Hitler, who was outraged.229

The growing number of air attacks also sapped confidence in the regime. They were justified by Allied propaganda as retaliation for German actions in Russia,230 and were understood by many in the population as a western front established by the Anglo-Americans and the Jews to punish them.231 Westphalian Catholics, for example, saw a connection between the sin of the euthanasia programme and the particularly heavy RAF raids on Münster and environs. The Führer himself took a keen interest in the resulting evacuation of the civilians from urban areas into the countryside.

Hitler responded to all these challenges with a mixture of evasion and confrontation, both at home and abroad. He rejected calls that Galen be executed, as Bormann argued, or sent to a concentration camp, as the Justice Ministry desired. Instead, Hitler compromised.232 He would defer the punishment of Galen and the confrontation with the church as a whole until after the war. ‘After the war,’ he remarked, ‘I will also tackle this problem decisively.’233 In the meantime, Hitler ordered an end to attacks on monasteries on 31 July. He ordered the end to adult and child euthanasia on 24 August 1941, again on the assumption that it would be resumed after the conflict was over; ‘wild’ (unofficial) euthanasia continued, however, and killed perhaps another 100,000 people. Four days later, the crucifix decree was rescinded. In early September, Hitler demanded an end to any actions ‘which might adversely affect the feeling of unity among the populace’.234 Josef Wagner, by contrast, was crushed. At a carefully choreographed meeting of the Gauleiter in Munich on 9 November 1941, he was publicly excoriated and expelled from the room and the party.235

With regard to America, Hitler continued to tread very warily. He refused to let the Kriegsmarine off the leash in the Atlantic. Instead, Hitler continued the long rhetorical duel with the United States, culminating in a climactic set-piece attack on Roosevelt on 8 November 1941, to mark the anniversary of the beer hall putsch. Despite the battle raging in Russia, its main emphasis was the struggle with Anglo-America, especially the looming contest with the United States. Despite the battle against Bolshevism raging in the east, Hitler spent far more time attacking western capitalism, and the supposed connection between the stock market and the armaments industry and the belligerent policies of the western democracies.236 Both Stalin and Churchill were mentioned, but the principal addressee of Hitler’s remarks was Roosevelt. The Führer was anxious to discredit the faked map that the president had referred to at the Mayflower Hotel. ‘I am not a secondary schoolboy who draws maps in a school atlas,’ he averred, pointing out that ‘South America [was] as far away as the moon’ for him. Surprisingly, Hitler did not make an issue of Roosevelt’s disability, though he was well aware of it. In early November 1941, the Führer remarked privately that the otherwise unrestrained American press never mentioned the fact that the president was in a wheelchair, and that his condition was ‘very cleverly’ concealed at events and in photographs.237

Hitler could not, of course, escape the conflict with Britain, which was still his most immediate adversary in the autumn of 1941. Firstly, he sought to shore up his defences in Europe, especially in the west, where he believed a British diversionary attack to be imminent. In late October 1941, during the height of the fighting on the eastern front, he ordered that the Channel Islands be turned into an ‘impregnable fortress’, which was done with great effort and pointless expense over the next two years.238 Secondly, Hitler bolstered the Italian position in the Mediterranean, partly by diverting resources from the already faltering effort in the Atlantic, but especially at the expense of the eastern front. In mid September 1941, six submarines and a Fliegerkorps were sent to help cover convoy operations; more submarines followed.239 Towards the end of October, Hitler ordered preparations to be made for the dispatch of a whole air fleet under Albert Kesselring to the Mediterranean. Another Fliegerkorps was to be detached from Army Group Centre in support, over the objections of the OKH. Though the purpose of these deployments was to make good Italian deficiencies, Hitler made clear that whatever leading role the Germans might take in practice in that theatre, Italian sensitivities were to be respected.240

The purpose of all these measures was political as well as military. Unlike the naval leadership, which believed that the defence of the ‘new order’ in Europe required the ‘defeat’ of Britain, Hitler himself stated privately in late October 1941 ‘that he was even now prepared to make peace with Britain at any time’, because the ‘European space’ already secured was ‘sufficient’ to guarantee ‘the future of the German people’. Germany had its Lebensraum, if it could keep it.241 That said, Hitler did not believe peace was possible so long as the current, allegedly Jewish-dominated, administration was in power in Britain, which is why he increased the military and diplomatic pressure to unseat Churchill.

On 17 September 1941, Hitler met with Ribbentrop to discuss the role of the German Foreign Office in the deportation of Jews in central, southern and western Europe, where the diplomatic ramifications were potentially large.242 These measures were generally justified as retaliation for resistance activities.243 A day later, on 18 September 1941, Himmler informed Arthur Greiser, the Gauleiter of the Wartheland, that ‘the Führer wishes that the old [that is pre-war] Reich and the Protectorate [of Bohemia and Moravia] should be emptied [of Jews] from west to east as soon as possible’, and be sent to the ghetto at Lodz.244 On 7 October, Hitler instructed that ‘all Jews must be removed from the Protectorate’, sending them not to the General Government in the first instance, but ‘further east right away’. These deportations were delayed by the ‘large need of the military for transport capacity’;245 the priorities suggest that the struggle against the Jews was perceived as only one front in the overall war, albeit a very important one. The deportations of Jews from Bohemia and Moravia and the German Reich began a week later, on 15 October 1941. On 23 October, Himmler banned all Jewish emigration; now there was no escape.

These measures were not just designed to eliminate the supposed danger of Jewish subversion within, but also to deter the United States. It was for this reason that the Jews of central and western Europe were to be deported, but not as yet systematically murdered. They were explicitly conceived of as hostages held against the eventuality of an American entry into the war.246 When Rosenberg demanded retaliation against German Jews for Stalin’s deportation of the Volga Germans,247 Hitler refused. The Foreign Office informed him that the Führer was ‘holding back this measure for the event of an American entry into the war’.248 Hitler made the alleged connection between the war, and especially the possibility of open conflict with the United States, and the Jews on several occasions. On 24 October 1941, he privately repeated the ‘prophecy’ he had made in January 1939.249 Three weeks later, Goebbels made the same connection publicly, in a leading article in the journal Das Reich under the headline of ‘the Jews are to blame’. He added that ‘[w]e are now experiencing the fulfilment of this prophecy and Jewry is experiencing a fate that, although hard, is still more than deserved’, namely a ‘gradual process of extermination’.250 Two days after that Rosenberg rehearsed the same argument at a press conference. The message could not have been clearer.

Meanwhile, Hitler did not neglect his long-term strategy against Anglo-America. With the advance into Russia, the establishment of a vast autarchic German empire in the Ukraine and Caucasus, settled by soldier-farmers in the first instance, seemed to him on the verge of realization.251 Hitler now had the space to further his longstanding settlement plans, designed to create a US-style settler colony which would absorb Germany’s demographic surplus, rather than allowing it to emigrate, as had been the case in the past. Indeed, he hoped over time to bring back some of those emigrants as well as attract high-value colonists from across Europe. ‘In ten years,’ Hitler predicted in mid October 1941, 4 million Germans would settle there and in twenty years it would be ‘at least 10 million’, coming ‘not just from the Reich, but especially from America, but also from Scandinavia, Holland and Flanders’. ‘Here in the east,’ he explained, ‘there will be a repeat of the process of the conquest of America.’252

What Hitler was planning here was by no means a reactionary agrarian utopia. He looked forward to a modern American-style German east, not back to a traditional rural idyll. Hitler specifically ruled out settling German city-dwellers in the Ukrainian countryside. To be sure, a sturdy grain-producing German peasantry was central to his vision for Lebensraum, but so were roads and railways linking the new lands with the metropolitan centres of industry. Henceforth, railways would be used only to move goods; most other travel would be by car. Hitler envisaged the Reich as being criss-crossed by two huge motorway arteries, one leading to the new Germanized city of Trondheim in Norway, the other to the Crimea. After the war, the German Volksgenosse would be able to use his Volkswagen to see the conquered territories, which might better dispose him to defend them. Hitler saw motorways as an instrument not merely of transportation but also of integration. Just as the original Autobahnen had been the ‘best surmounter of the smaller German states’, so ‘the new motorways’ would bind the ‘smaller states of Europe to the German Reich’.253 ‘The railways bypass a space,’ he pronounced, ‘but roads open it up.’

Hitler’s thinking on the fate of the native population fluctuated between the softer British and the more brutal American solutions. On the one hand, he was rapidly moving away from the idea of any sort of statehood for the Ukrainians and other peoples. In a revealing phrase, Hitler spoke of the Slav population privately as Indians, by which he meant a comparison with those ‘Indians’ of America rather than the subcontinent.254 Rosenberg’s man at the Führer’s Headquarters realized and resented this, warning that there was a danger that the Ostministerium would be left to encourage ‘the Slavs crowded into reservations [sic] to emigrate or to die out as soon as possible’. Those who were in the way of German settlement plans, such as the Crimean Tartars, Hitler explained in early October 1941, were to be expelled. The rest should be left to vegetate in their cities, without the benefit of education or any other services.255 For them, the Führer explained, ‘British rule in India’ was ‘the desired aim of our administration in the east’.256

In late September 1941, Hitler approved guidelines for policy towards Ukraine, which were largely driven by the desire to ensure that sowing and reaping for the next harvest proceeded smoothly.257 So long as the non-Jewish Ukrainians collaborated in agricultural matters the German administration would maintain ‘a benevolent attitude’. The ‘long-term economic goal’ was the ‘natural development of the Ukraine into the granary of Europe’, while ‘the entire eastern space’ should become ‘the principal market for west European industry’, to be paid for by the sale of foodstuffs and raw materials. What Hitler ultimately envisaged, in other words, was not simply a system of violent extraction, but rather an unequal system of exchange in which he set the terms of trade. While Nazi planners drew on many inspirations from European colonialism when conceiving the new ‘east’,258 Hitler himself remained resolutely focused on the Anglo-American example. His treatment of the Slav population was inspired not by the German, or any other European, colonial experience in Africa, but by British India, the mandate system and the Anglo-American extermination of the Indians in North America. Even in autumn 1941, therefore, the British ‘Indian’ solution for the post-Soviet space remained in tension with the ‘American’ one.

‘Operation Typhoon’, the attack on the central front preparatory to a drive on Moscow, began on 2 October 1941. Hitler’s accompanying proclamation reminded the Wehrmacht of the nature and purpose of the campaign. They were fighting a horde of ‘beasts’ who were defending a Soviet regime which had turned the riches of Russia into poverty and hunger.259 ‘This is the result,’ he claimed, ‘of a now twenty-five-year Jewish rule, which as Bolshevism is really just the general form of capitalism.’ ‘The bearers of this system,’ Hitler continued, were in fact ‘the same in both cases’, namely ‘Jews and only Jews’.260 It was not so much communism that Hitler was fighting in Russia, in other words, as the bestial puppets of capitalism and world Jewry. Above all, the Führer continued, the offensive was a ‘decisive battle’ designed ‘to strike a fatal blow against the instigator of the war, Britain itself’. ‘Because in smashing this enemy,’ he explained to the troops, ‘we will eliminate Britain’s last ally on the continent.’261 Here Hitler was simply rehearsing the original rationale of Barbarossa, which was primarily directed not against the Soviet Union, but against the British Empire.

At first, all went well. German units smashed through the Soviet defences on the central front.262 Hundreds of thousands of prisoners were taken in great battles of encirclement at Briansk and Vyasma. In the south, the Wehrmacht surged forward once more. All of the Crimea was overrun, with the exception of Sebastopol; SS units soon reached Mariupol on the Sea of Azov. German troops crossed the Mius river, and towards the end of the following month, they took Rostov, the gateway to the Caucasus. A week into the offensive, Hitler moved to claim victory. The Führer hoped, as he remarked privately, to capitalize on the ‘effect of this news on world public opinion’.263 On 8 October 1941, he summoned his press secretary, Otto Dietrich, and told him to announce the following day to the world press that the Soviet Union had been beaten.264 Hitler’s move did not reflect any delusions on his part, but rather a determination to depress Britain, deter the United States265 and encourage Japan.266 This message was intended not for domestic but for external consumption, which is why it was communicated via Dietrich rather than Josef Goebbels. Its success depended not so much on the actual conduct of military operations as on the achievement – however temporary – of narratival ascendancy.

For a few weeks in October and early November it seemed as if Hitler’s strategy might succeed. The Wehrmacht advanced closer to Moscow in apparent vindication of Dietrich’s announcement. There was consternation in London and Washington, which was widely registered by Germany. In mid October, Hitler predicted that ‘the rapid collapse of Russia will have a devastating effect on Britain’.267

But in the course of November, it became clear that things were not going to plan. Churchill showed no sign of giving way. In early November, the RAF attacked Cologne, Mannheim and Berlin in strength, while the British 8th Army surged forward in North Africa. The Italian position looked more rickety than ever. Far from being intimidated by the German successes in Russia, Roosevelt used them to warn Americans that they would be next. Meanwhile, Soviet resistance stiffened. Hitler remarked that the Red Army was fighting with ‘animalistic fanatical madness’.268 Snow and rain turned the primitive Russian roads into swamps; then the cold and ice immobilized armoured and mechanized units. Resupply became increasingly difficult. The advance slowed. In late November, the Red Army recaptured Rostov and shut the gate to the Caucasus. The day after, there was more bad news. Hitler met with his armaments minister Fritz Todt and Walter Rohland, the head of tank production. The latter told him that the war could not be won; Todt agreed that military victory was now impossible and that the war needed to be ended ‘politically’.269 On 5 December 1941, the Russians launched a large-scale counter-attack before the gates of Moscow. Army Group Centre began to fall back, although it was to be about a week until Hitler became fully aware of the severity of the situation.270

Hitler was already convinced that he was stalemated, not just in Russia but globally. With his mechanized forces largely bogged down, the Führer began to lose faith in armoured warfare. ‘I have never used the word Blitzkrieg,’ he insisted on 8 November 1941, ‘because it is a completely stupid word.’271 In the headquarters at Rastenburg, the recriminations flew fast and thick. On 16 November, Hitler vented his frustration at the dire supply situation and railway bottlenecks with a tirade against the quartermaster general, Eduard Wagner, whom he dubbed a ‘ridiculous theoretician’. As the attack stalled, he also accused the generals, especially Bock, of talking him into an assault on Moscow that he had never wanted.272 On 19 November 1941, two days after the start of the British offensive in North Africa, and against the background of the increasingly deadlocked situation in Russia, Hitler had conceded that Britain and the Reich could not defeat each other.273 A week later, Hitler went a big step further when he remarked to a visitor that ‘if the German people should ever be no longer strong and sacrificial enough to commit its own blood for its existence, then it should pass away and be destroyed by a stronger power’.274 For the first time in the war, a good week before the great Russian counter-offensive in front of Moscow, and at least a fortnight before the US entry into the war, Hitler was contemplating Germany’s defeat and annihilation.

Hitler responded to the worsening situation with a combination of military, economic, racial and diplomatic measures. In Russia, Hitler was depressed about the sluggish progress towards Moscow but he reacted violently only to the stagnation of the southern offensive, which was tasked with breaking into the Caucasus. His agitation contrasted with the attitude of the – as yet – relatively relaxed Wehrmacht leadership.275 On 2 December the Führer flew to Army Group South to see the situation for himself. When Rundstedt ordered a retreat in the face of the Soviet counter-attack at Rostov, he was summarily sacked by Hitler. It was the first major crisis in the east, and the first ever to result in a public removal from command. For a few days Hitler maintained the illusion that the advance could be resumed quickly,276 but in fact there would be no further southern offensive that year. The strategic implications of this for Hitler were colossal, much greater than the failure to take Moscow, because all hopes of sweeping down to the very northern oil-fields of the Caucasus had to be abandoned. There would be no energy security for the Reich before Christmas. Barbarossa had failed all along the line: it had not forced the British to sue for peace, it was not deterring Roosevelt, and it had not secured all the resources necessary to face the expected entry of the United States into the war the following year.

The renewed salience of economic considerations, briefly overlain by the military and political priorities of the attack on Moscow, became increasingly obvious from late November 1941. On 22 November, Hitler remarked that ‘all wars’ were initially driven not by ‘racial’ factors but by ‘economic’ ones. They were decided by the ‘production of guns, tanks and ammunition’. For this reason, he would have to boost German ‘armaments’ in such a way as to ‘take away the breath’ of the enemy.277 This is what prompted Hitler’s decree of 3 December 1941 for the ‘Simplification and Increased Output of our Armaments Production’,278 a direct response to the perceived global deadlock. It placed greater emphasis on ‘mass production’, and ‘rationalization’ at the expense of the ‘technically and aesthetically more accomplished equipment of best artisanal quality’. A more direct repudiation of the German Mittelstand and the values of German apprenticeship across the ages, and a more wholehearted embrace of the Fordist model, is hard to imagine. Hitler had finally realized that the war would be won not by German quality but through American quantity.

At around this time, Hitler also escalated his racial policies, though it is not clear whether he did so in response to immediate events or as part of a long-term plan. On 28 November 1941, Hitler received the grand mufti of Jerusalem, a major step directed both against the British Empire and the common enemy of world Jewry.279 The mufti thanked the Führer for his ‘Sympathy for the Arab and especially the Palestinian cause’, and commiserated with him on the sufferings they had both experienced at the hands of ‘Britons and Jews’. Hitler promised not only to pursue an ‘uncompromising battle against the Jews’ but also not to tolerate their presence in Palestine, where they constituted a ‘state central point for the destructive influence of Jewish interests’ in the world more generally. In due course, the mufti would become an enthusiastic supporter of murdering Jews in Palestine and Europe, wherever they were to be found.280 A day later, in a move unrelated to the mufti’s visit, the Rei[image: ]h Security Main Office sent a summons for a conference of state secretaries to sort out the bureaucratic detail of the ‘comprehensive solution of the Jewish question’.

Diplomatically Hitler responded to the stalemate by trying to bind Japan more closely to him; he was terrified that Tokyo would leave him in the lurch.281 Hitler did not know that the Japanese carrier strike force had already left to attack Pearl Harbor on 26 November 1941. Tokyo asked that German support in the event of hostilities with the United States, which had already been promised, should be formalized in a treaty. Determined not to allow Japan to face America alone, and convinced that Roosevelt was on the verge of entering the war anyway, the Führer agreed. A treaty was hastily drafted in which Hitler promised that ‘in the case of war between Japan and the United States’ he would himself ‘immediately’ consider himself at war with America; the same would apply for Japan if Germany or Italy found themselves at war with the US.282 The wording of the text made clear that this was not just a defensive but also primarily an offensive treaty.

On 7 December 1941, the Japanese launched a devastating surprise attack on the American Pacific fleet at Pearl Harbor.283 Hitler reacted to the news with surprise, but also relief.284 Despite the steadily mounting tension with the United States, no serious German operational military measures had been prepared in advance. U-boats were concentrated not on the east coast of America, but in the Mediterranean; the rest were spread across the Atlantic. This reflected partly the exigencies of the war against Britain, and partly the desire not to give Roosevelt a pretext to enter the war before Hitler was ready. That said, Hitler was relieved that Japan would tie down substantial British and American resources in the Far East, and he accepted not merely that he would have to deliver on his treaty commitments to Tokyo, but that it was in his vital interest to prevent his ally from going down to defeat on its own. In any case, the Führer was convinced that he was effectively already at war with America.285 One way or the other, Hitler was determined to anticipate Roosevelt. This time, unlike 1917, the Reich would not wait until attacked by the United States, but would be the first to strike openly. The Führer now scrambled to get from his headquarters in East Prussia to Berlin, to complete the negotiations over the treaty with Japan, to prepare his own declaration of war and to work out an overall strategy to deal with the new situation.

Militarily, Hitler’s response was swift. On 8 December, the day after Pearl Harbor, he issued Directive 39, which ordered the ‘immediate end to all major offensive operations’ in the east and instructed the Wehrmacht to ‘go over to the defensive’.286 He justified this with reference to the ‘unexpectedly early and harsh onset of winter’ and the resulting ‘supply problems’, but that was only part of the story. The directive was primarily a reaction not to the Soviet counter-offensive before Moscow, but to the general sense of stalemate building in the course of the previous month and the new global context created by Japan’s entry into the war. It was Hitler’s free decision, not one forced upon him by Stalin. The winter crisis before Moscow – which was already raging on the front line – had still not registered with him. Hitler was looking west, even before Pearl Harbor, not east.287

On 11 December 1941, Hitler presented the Reichstag with his declaration of war on the United States.288 The mood was sombre, and his speech was prefaced by a remarkably downbeat introduction by Göring. Hitler’s tone was measured and grim, even funereal. He stressed the losses of the Russian campaign, which – he told the Reichstag – had so far cost the Wehrmacht 162,314 dead, 571,767 wounded and 33,334 missing. Hitler cast the new war as a generational struggle which had been forced upon him by the perfidy of Roosevelt and the manipulation of the Jews. Hitler then moved to attack his main target, Roosevelt. On the basis of the reports of the Polish ambassador to Washington, Count Potocki, he accused the American president of having encouraged Warsaw to resist justified German demands in 1939. The Führer explained this perfidy with reference to the workings of US capitalism, which, he claimed, the Nye Commission had blamed for the American entry into the First World War. All this, according to Hitler, was happening at the behest of ‘the eternal Jew’, the ‘power’ behind Roosevelt, which sought to reduce Germany to the same chaos and subjection as the Soviet Union. Reprising themes which had formed part of his stock rhetoric over the past couple of years, the Führer framed the struggle as a ‘liberation struggle’ of Japan and the German Reich against Roosevelt’s ambition to establish an ‘unlimited economic dictatorship’ across the world in conjunction with Britain. It was the revolt of the ‘have-nots’ against the ‘American president and his plutocratic clique’.

Hitler also framed the war as a racial struggle between two ‘slivers’ of the ‘Germanic people’. ‘Britain did not cultivate the continent,’, he asserted, ‘but rather slivers of the Germanic peoples of our continent moved as Anglo-Saxons [sic] and Normans to that Island and enabled a development there which is certainly unique.’ This was yet another instance of the Führer’s admiration for British exceptionalism. ‘In the same way,’ Hitler continued, ‘America did not discover Europe, but the other way around,’ and whatever value it possessed it had drawn from the old continent, even if the United States had since been corrupted by ‘Jewish’ and ‘black African’ influences. Indeed, the Führer stressed, Germany had ‘helped to defend the United States with the blood of many of its sons’. In that sense, though Hitler did not quite put it that way, the new conflict was also a Germanic civil war. Summarizing towards the end of his speech, therefore, Hitler spoke of the clash between the Reich and an ‘Anglo-Saxon-Jewish-capitalist world’ which was trying to ‘exterminate’ Germany. These were the same themes that had driven Hitler since the 1920s. Now they were leading him to their logical conclusion: a war of annihilation against Anglo-Saxons, the Jews and their Bolshevik puppets.

The declaration of war on the United States was the moment to which Hitler’s entire career had been building up and also the one which, as we have seen, he had by his own lights tried so hard to avoid or delay.289 Neither ignorance nor insouciance led him into war with the most powerful state on earth, but rather the conviction that a confrontation was inevitable sooner or later. It was the only formal declaration of war which Hitler made. The speech marked a caesura in Hitler’s long rhetorical duel with Roosevelt. The long cold war had turned hot. From now on, the Reich would not merely talk back but shoot back.

Over the next weeks and months, the consequences of Hitler’s shift to global war became clear. The first casualties were the Jews, the hostages who were now held responsible of the behaviour of the United States. On 12 December, the day after the declaration of war on the United States, Hitler met with the Gauleiter in a hastily convened conference.290 He reminded them of his threat in 1939 to retaliate against Jewry in the event of their ‘plunging’ Europe into war. ‘The world war is here,’ Hitler continued, ‘[and] the extermination of the Jews must be the necessary consequence.’291 Likewise, he instructed Rosenberg, whose major speech on world Jewry had been delayed by the American entry into the war, to delete references to ‘the New York Jews’. These had evidently been intended as a threat, which was now redundant. Rosenberg suggested that he should now not speak of ‘the extermination of the Jews’. ‘The Führer,’ he records, ‘approved this approach and said that they had burdened us with the war’ with all its ‘destruction’, so that ‘it was no wonder if the consequences should strike them first’.292 In Russia, Jews of both sexes and all ages, in or out of uniform, had long been treated as illegal combatants and killed out of hand.293 Now the Jews of Germany, central and western Europe were to be murdered as well. Whether the entry of the United States into the war was the decisive factor here, or merely an accelerant,294 one thing is clear: the principal motivation for and context to Hitler’s war of annihilation against European Jewry was his relationship with the United States, which was now entering a new and more deadly phase. The murder of the Jews was now a settled matter; what remained open were questions of definition and implementation.

Hitler’s global war also required a global strategy. With the Japanese attack on Britain’s position in East Asia, the breach with the British Empire – another confrontation which Hitler had tried so hard to avoid – was complete. On 9 December 1941, the secret meeting with the mufti was publicized. Hitler was now irrevocably aligned with anti-colonial forces in the Middle East. For all his private ambivalence about the fate of the white race in the Far East, he exulted in Japanese victories.295 On 13 December, Hitler met with Oshima to discuss the new situation.296 In the New Year, he said, major operations in Russia would be resumed. Hitler stated that his ‘principal aim’ was ‘first the destruction of Russia’, then an ‘advance across the Caucasus towards the south’, and the ‘torpedoing of the Anglo-Saxon [sic] navies and merchant marine’. His first blow in Russia would be in the south, partly ‘because of the oil’, to be followed by the strike into Iraq and Iran against the British Empire. Only then would he turn his attention back to the central sector. Capturing Moscow was of ‘less importance for him’. On several occasions, Oshima suggested that Japan and the Reich coordinate their operations, but Hitler showed little interest in that. The only thing he specifically asked of the Japanese was that they cut off the supply of American war material to the Soviet Union via Vladivostok, which they never did.

The new military situation also drove Hitler to consolidate his authority within the Wehrmacht. In mid December 1941, he became aware of the magnitude of the crisis on the central front.297 Many commanders, whose troops were exhausted, outnumbered and often threatened with encirclement, wanted to retreat. Hitler gave permission for some withdrawals, but in general he demanded that the army stand fast. He argued that it was as dangerous to fall back, thus abandoning fixed positions, as it was to hold the line. It would also, the Führer argued, require ‘leaving behind artillery and materiel’. The commander of Army Group Centre, Bock, agreed with this assessment, saying that the decision whether or not to fall back was a matter of very fine judgement, and could sometimes only be made by tossing a coin.298 Over the course of the next few days he was bombarded by telephone calls and orders from Hitler demanding that he ‘not retreat a single step’ and ‘stick it out at all costs’.299 On 17 December, Bock – who had already offered to step down on health grounds – was invited to submit his resignation and was relieved of his command of Army Group Centre. Two days later, on 19 December 1941, Hitler sacked Brauchitsch and took over supreme command of the army himself.

Hitler saw the new conflict as one of attrition. The key to victory lay in production and destruction. One front was shipping. Hitler saw the ‘tonnage problem’ as ‘the decisive question of the current conduct of the war’. Whoever solved it would ‘probably win the war’.300 Either the U-boats would destroy enough shipping to cut Britain off from its ‘lifelines’ or they themselves would be destroyed in sufficient number to render the destruction of the Reich inevitable. The same logic applied on the air and on the ground, and to all theatres. The fronts were closely connected in Hitler’s mind, not least because of the vast quantities of materiel now being supplied to the Russians by Anglo-America, which he was well aware of.301 Right at the end of December 1941, the Führer remarked to Raeder that he would rather see the sinking in the Arctic of ‘four ships bringing tanks to the Russian front’ than the destruction of a much larger tonnage in the South Atlantic.302 If in the 1930s, Hitler had been engaged in a battle for consumption against the American dream, he was now embarked on a battle of production against the Soviet Union and – especially – Anglo-America.

For this, the Reich needed millions more workers. ‘We are not short of soldiers,’ Hitler lamented in early December 1941, ‘but of workers.’303 He proposed to make up the shortfall by drafting Russian prisoners. On Christmas Eve, he issued a formal decree determining that the ‘decisive’ issue for the German war economy was now the question of how to integrate the Soviet prisoners of war into the system of production. This required, he continued, ‘the provision of adequate rations and banishing the danger of a typhus epidemic’.304 The racial hierarchy at the start of Barbarossa had thus been reversed. Then, Hitler had planned to starve the Slavs to death, but keep the Jews of central and western Europe alive as hostages. Now the Slavs would live, if only to work, and the Jews would die.
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The Struggle against the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ and ‘Plutocracy’

As the new year unfolded, Hitler perceived himself as fighting a global war of annihilation. Germany would either completely destroy her enemies or be completely destroyed by them. ‘If the German people has lost its faith,’ Hitler told Himmler over a private luncheon on 27 January, ‘if the German people was no longer inclined to give itself body and soul in order to survive – then the German people would have nothing to do but disappear.’1 In Russia, he was locked in a desperate struggle with the Red Army along the entire central front. Globally, Hitler believed he faced a Jewish plutocratic plot to crush the Reich, and subject it to enslavement by the forces of international capitalism. Indeed, the war with the Jews was about to escalate into the greatest crime in European history, which he regarded as an act of pre-emptive destruction.

The most important military and political contest, however, remained the confrontation with Anglo-America, or – as Hitler almost invariably called them, using the common German parlance – the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ (Angelsachsen). The American entry into the war brought this ‘racial’ struggle even more into the open. Until the end, whether privately or in formal documents, Hitler spoke of ‘Anglo-Saxon powers’,2 ‘Anglo-Saxon statesmen’,3 ‘Anglo-Saxon units’ or simply ‘the Anglo-Saxons’.4 They were words which expressed hatred, fear – and respect. When Kesselring praised the abilities of British soldiers, Hitler looked at him sharply and replied ‘Yes, they too are Germanic’;5 in fact he considered them, and Americans of Anglo-Saxon descent, the better Germans. The Führer’s notion of racial kinship and nagging sense of inferiority resurfaced again when he remarked in a speech that ‘in reality we colonized the Britons and not the Britons us’.6 He continued to enthuse privately about the British.7 Conscious of the dangers of this particular discourse, Goebbels instructed the Propaganda Ministry on 13 January 1942 that the word ‘Anglo-Saxon’, which suggested a tribal kinship, should be replaced with the phrase ‘Anglo-American plutocracy’.8 It was no use, almost everybody, from the Führer down, continued to refer to them as ‘Anglo-Saxons’. To the outside world, this might have seemed the Nazism of small difference, but for Hitler the distinction was crucial. The war pitted Teutons – Germanen – against Anglo-Saxons. It had become a clash of the Aryans.

Worse still, from Hitler’s point of view, like Britain, the new enemy had been built up by Germans. In the Führer’s mind, it was the best and brightest of Germans who had made their way there in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, and had consequently been lost to the Fatherland. The racially valuable part of the United States was not just Germany’s alter ego, but its better self. Returning to the theme which had driven the whole Lebensraum conception, he told an audience of officer cadets in mid February 1942 that there were ‘continents’ – by which he principally meant North America – which had been ‘elevated to their height by the infusion of German blood’. This, Hitler continued, was the result of the historic mismatch between German population growth and the space available to feed it. The steady decline in German ‘living standards’ had forced them ‘to emigrate to other territories and thus become disloyal to their own homeland and people’. Hitler spelled out the terrifying meaning of this for the cadets, who would soon find themselves fighting their own kin. ‘We supplied the cultural fertilizer for all the states who stand against us today,’ he lamented. If someone admired ‘America and its technology’ today, Hitler continued, then he could only point out that ‘the engineers of America today’ were ‘mostly second- or third-generation German emigrants’. ‘We supplied them with this material,’ Hitler went on, adding that ‘all the good soldier material they have came from our German homeland’.9 In Hitler’s conception, the war with the United States was thus also a Germanic civil war.

Nothing epitomizes the ambivalence of the relationship between Nazi Germany, the United States and the British Empire better than the continuing, now clandestine, exchange of photographs between the two sides even after the outbreak of war. There was a daily flight between Lisbon and Berlin from the spring of 1942 until the end of the war, bringing photos to and from the Western Allies (about 40,000 in all).10 Hitler was on the distribution list, receiving his daily copies in person from Ribbentrop’s envoy Walter Hewel, though what use he made of the photographs is not known. The purpose was not simply to gain military or political intelligence, but to engage in a form of covert messaging. Nazi propagandists used pictures supplied by Associated Press to make anti-Semitic and anti-capitalist propaganda points against the USA.11 Carefully selected pictures of the Führer were sent in the other direction to shape Hitler’s image across the Atlantic; they were published in hundreds of American outlets. Even in war, the two sides remained entangled with each other.

The need to counteract Allied narratives increased with the ‘United Nations Declaration’ of 1 January 1942, which amounted to a declaration of war by most of the world against the German Reich. Recalling the Atlantic Charter, each signatory committed itself to ‘employ its full resources, military or economic’ against those members of the Axis with which it was already at war, to cooperate with the other Allied powers and not to make a separate peace. The contractants were, to list them in the order in which they appeared in the ‘Declaration’, the United States, the United Kingdom, the Soviet Union, China, Australia, Belgium, Canada, Costa Rica, Cuba, Czechoslovakia, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Greece, Guatemala, Haiti, Honduras, India, Luxembourg, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Norway, Panama, Poland, South Africa and Yugoslavia. Others, such as the Free French, signed up subsequently. They all expressed their hope that their declaration ‘may be adhered to by other nations which are, or which may be, rendering material assistance and contributions in the struggle for victory over Hitlerism’.12 The Führer may not have been aware of the Allied ‘Germany first’ policy,13 but from the specific reference to his defeat – the German leader was the only one singled out by name – he could work it out for himself.

For all the kinship and ambivalence, therefore, the deadliness of the antagonism between the Third Reich and Anglo-America was not in doubt. This was most clearly demonstrated by the bombing war, which entered into a new phase in early 1942. Churchill had spoken on earlier occasions of the need to attack civilian targets. ‘There is one thing that will bring [Hitler] down,’ he said, ‘and that is an absolutely devastating exterminating attack by heavy bombers from this country upon the Nazi homeland.’ It was only now, however, that ‘area bombing’ became the official strategy. On 14 February 1942, the Air Staff issued a directive that bombing should concentrate on the ‘morale of the enemy civilian population and in particular the industrial workers’.14 The purpose of the exercise was not military, in the narrow sense, but political: to punish and to coerce. Shortly after, Air Marshal Arthur Harris was appointed head of Bomber Command to carry it out. The reason for striking the urban working class was that their densely populated inner city or inner suburban residential areas were much more easily hit from the air than industrial or military installations, which required ‘precision-bombing’.15

In the spring of 1942, the new strategy was first put into effect with devastating raids on Lübeck in late March, and on Rostock in late April. Four weeks later, the first of a number of ‘1,000 bomber’ raids struck Cologne.16 Hitherto, the impact of RAF operations had not been trivial, but these attacks were of a completely different order of magnitude. The number of civilian dead was still relatively small, usually in the hundreds, but the physical damage and psychological impact were immense; the total number of at least temporary refugees and homeless ran into the hundreds of thousands. The nights of fire had begun, starting a conflagration which would spread until it consumed the entire Reich.17 Allied bombing claimed both the innocent and the guilty. German cities were changed for ever. Life would never be the same again. In the course of this campaign some 2.5 million tons of bombs were dropped on continental Europe, most of them on Germany. The RAF lost 22,000 aircraft and nearly 80,000 aircrew, mainly to German fighters and flak; the Americans about 18,000 planes and about the same number of men as the RAF. These were figures comparable to French military losses at Verdun. There were 500,000 German civilian casualties. A second front, the western front, was taking shape not in France but in the skies above the Reich.18 The war had finally come to Germany.

Hitler was deeply affected by the attacks on German cities, and was under no illusion about what they meant for their inhabitants, his own credibility and his ability to prosecute the war. Though he himself was not directly endangered by the raids, which went nowhere near any of his military headquarters, and from which he was protected by a system of bunkers in Berlin, the Führer was personally affected by the threat to his loved ones, especially Eva Braun. She lived in Munich, which was not only home to crucial industrial plants, including BMW, Krauss-Maffei and Dornier, but was also the ‘capital of the movement’, and Germany’s third-largest residential centre. The city had already been struck in September and December 1941; it was attacked twice in 1942 and at increasingly regular intervals until the end of the war.19 ‘After every air-raid on Munich,’ Karl von Eberstein, the SS commander responsible for the city recalls, ‘Hitler called her [Eva] in person to see if she was safe.’20 He wanted Eva to move to the Berghof, but she refused on the grounds that life there was too boring. It was the big attacks on Lübeck, Rostock, Cologne and Bremen which worried Hitler most, however.21 These not only caused considerable economic damage and dislocation, but also undermined the standing of the regime. The Luftwaffe was failing to defend the Reich; Göring’s star, already falling after the failure over England, fell further. The NSDAP, which was tasked with the civilian response, was clearly not up to the job either. Hitler was so appalled by the destruction, and his own impotence, that in April 1942, he refused to allow newsreel footage of the aftermath of the raid on Rostock to be shown.22

In the face of the circling coalition, now led by the most powerful state in the world, Hitler was ever more conscious of Germany’s weakness in terms of industrial capacity and mineral resources. America and Britain, he explained in a speech on 30 January 1942, ‘have the world at their disposal’, with everything needed for their war effort.23 This plenitude, he lamented, was ranged against the ‘three great have-nots’, that is, Italy, Japan and the Reich. Hitler knew that Germany’s chances of prevailing in this war of global redistribution were slim, unless he acted quickly. The Allies were already outproducing Germany in every major armaments category – aircraft, tanks and shipping – and they were increasingly able through bombing and the blockade to prevent Germany and German-occupied Europe from realizing their own economic potential.24 Sooner or later, the Reich would simply be overwhelmed.

In view of all this, it is hardly surprising that Hitler struggled to develop a coherent strategy in early 1942. As Walter Warlimont, the deputy head of the OKW from December 1941, recalls, no thought had been given to the likely American strategy either.25 Hitler did not even issue a fresh directive addressing the new situation. Unlike the Anglo-Americans, the Third Reich never developed a worked-out strategy with its Axis partners. No summits, no hymn-singing, hardly any statements, no staff talks worth the name, none of the whole panoply of ‘grand alliance’. The Japanese, via Oshima, constantly pressed for closer coordination, but Hitler showed little interest. The reasons for this were simple. Hitler hesitated to support Oshima’s demand for an all-out attack on British India, even politically, because he still hoped for a negotiated settlement with London;26 the Führer dragged his feet about meeting the Indian nationalist leader Subhas Chandra Bose, who was kicking his heels in Berlin. He did not want, he later told Mussolini, any such declaration to complicate a German-British separate peace in the same way as Berlin’s Polish policy had scuppered a rapprochement with the Tsarist Empire during the First World War.27 These exchanges illustrate how much Hitler was still preoccupied with British power, even at this stage of the war. For the rest, Hitler had no strategy for defeating the United States, because there obviously wasn’t one. The Führer knew that Germany, like Japan, had no technology, even at a realistic research stage, which could threaten the American mainland. He was quite simply stumped. ‘I am not yet sure,’ Hitler admitted to Oshima with disarming honesty on 3 January 1942, ‘how to defeat the United States.’28

To be sure, Hitler concluded a military agreement with Italy and Japan on 18 January 1942, but it was largely for show.29 There was a rough division of the spheres of operation, with the Germans and Italians keeping west and the Japanese east of 70 degrees longitude east, but that was about it.30 In mid February 1942, the Führer did not respond to the demands of the Japanese military attachés, Vice Admiral Nomura and Lieutenant General Ichiro Banzai, and indeed of his own naval leadership, to link up the two strategies.31 Hitler never intended to join hands with the Japanese in the Indian Ocean,32 primarily because he didn’t think he had the capacity to do so in the near future. He also believed that he didn’t know enough about Japanese capabilities to make useful suggestions to their High Command.33 This may well have been the right decision, because, unlike Britain and the United States, who had in many respects a shared strategic culture, Germany and Japan had no experience of military cooperation or joint values to fall back on.

Hitler now had to put out various fires across the continent. Right at the top of his list was the crisis on the central front in Russia, which raged throughout the first three months of 1942. From the beginning, Hitler insisted that withdrawals should only be undertaken in exceptional cases, and only with his express permission.34 Hitler was convinced that retreats would simply leave the troops facing the same threats in more exposed positions, and, by exposing the flanks, risk a precipitate collapse along the whole front. He attributed the crisis to military, physical and ideological weaknesses in the Wehrmacht. He did not hide his view that the army suffered from poor leadership, that the troops had gone soft, and that the Wehrmacht as a whole lacked the National Socialist spirit which would have enabled them to master the crisis more comfortably. On 8 January 1942, Hitler issued an order which claimed that the attacking Russians were not ‘first-class formations’, but ‘for the most part badly trained forces’, which were – ‘contrary to frequent initial reports’ from the German troops – ‘also often numerically inferior’.35 It was, Hitler stated, a question of ‘strength of nerves’, ‘especially of the leadership’; ‘the Russian,’ he added cruelly, ‘has demonstrated this strength of nerves.’ In other words, the Führer suggested, the whole Wehrmacht, especially its leadership, was in a funk and needed to get a grip.

Hitler took a number of steps to help his embattled troops. Some, such as the call to the civilian population to donate items of winter clothing to reinforcements departing for the eastern front, were as much propagandistic as practical, as reflected in the fact that Goebbels was put in charge of the effort.36 Others, such as his emphasis on the use of air power, had an important effect on operations. When large numbers of German troops found themselves cut off in early 1942, such as at Demyansk, he ordered that they be resupplied by the Luftwaffe. This was done with success, though at considerable cost. Hitler also demanded that tactical air power be used to compensate for the local weakness of the ground forces. If the Luftwaffe was not ready, or prevented from flying by weather conditions, the Führer recommended that counter-attacks be called off. This order caused serious difficulties on the ground, partly because of the problem of synchronizing operations between the air force and the army units, and partly because, as Bock complained, ‘apprehensive and hesitant leaders’ could hide behind the Führer’s will.37 In this case, at any rate, Hitler was on the more cautious side of the argument.

The winter crisis also posed a major narratival challenge to the Führer. He was sensitive to the charge that his invasion, which had begun on the same June day as Napoleon’s about 130 years earlier, might end in the same way. Hitler desperately wanted to avoid scenes of chaotic retreat, with frozen German corpses strewn across the newspapers of the world.38 When issuing his order to withdraw, for example, Hitler stressed that it was ‘the first time that I have given orders for the retreat of a large section of the front’, and that he expected that this ‘withdrawal will take place in a manner worthy of the German army’.39 In the middle of January, Hitler announced that the ‘operational danger’ in the south had been ‘dealt with’,40 but elsewhere the danger persisted another two months. By late March 1942, the last Soviet attacks had been seen off. It had been a harrowing experience, as Hitler freely admitted both privately and publicly.41

Meanwhile, Hitler moved to tighten his grip on occupied Europe. He issued a ferocious decree against Soviet partisans which determined that they should ‘in principle’ be subject to the ‘death penalty’.42 Six weeks later, in late January 1942, he appointed a higher SS and police commander in Serbia in order to deal with the guerrilla movement there, which at that point was largely made up of royalist Chetniks.43 Hitler was also grappling with communist partisans under Tito, who were for the most part based in Croatia and Bosnia. In Bohemia and Moravia, Reinhard Heydrich governed with a mixture of carrot and (a very big) stick. Despite his constant recourse to the language of annihilation, Hitler decided not to use poison gas against partisans, at least for now, probably because Churchill threatened in a radio broadcast that if it were deployed on the eastern front, Britain would retaliate with gas against German cities.44 This shows that although all of Hitler’s attempts to signal to the Anglo-Americans were unsuccessful, messages going in the other direction were received by Berlin and acted upon. A result of this was that the Führer was conscious of the connection between the war against Anglo-America, the eastern front and the battle in the skies of Germany.

The Führer, no doubt aware of calls for a ‘Second Front’,45 was also profoundly concerned about the threat of a British invasion, or at least of raids. In late January 1942, naval intelligence highlighted the threat of an Allied landing in Norway, one of many in the course of the war.46 This worried Hitler, not just because of the threat to the supply of iron ore, but also because of the danger that the Allies would use Scandinavia as a springboard from which to attack northern Germany. The following month, Hitler sent two battleships, sometimes also described as battle cruisers, the Scharnhorst and the Gneisenau, and the heavy cruiser Prinz Eugen from Brest in an audacious ‘Channel dash’ through the Straits of Dover to new berths in Norway.47 The main purpose of the mission was to deter any British landing in Scandinavia in the first instance, not to attack British convoys to Russia. In addition, Hitler invested huge resources in the construction of fortifications in Norway. These included pillboxes, gun emplacements, winter-proof highways, airfields, rail connections, U-boat bases and various industrial facilities.48

Within Germany itself, Hitler moved to improve the aerial defences of the Reich. He was appalled by the fact that when the RAF had struck Lübeck over a weekend in late March 1942, there was nobody in the relevant Berlin offices to respond. ‘The Führer,’ Lammers reported a few days later, ‘has strongly condemned this situation’ and instructed that all supreme Reich authorities and agencies of the Wehrmacht should be contactable ‘on all days, including Sundays and holidays’.49 Hitler removed control of the relief effort for Lübeck, which had hitherto been chaotic, from the Ministry of the Interior, and entrusted it to Goebbels.50 This reflected a recognition on the Führer’s part that combating Allied ‘terror-bombing’ was as much a matter of propaganda as practicality. It was the start of an ever-growing involvement of the propaganda minister not only in civil defence but in the Nazi war effort more generally.51 Goebbels became a ubiquitous presence after bombing raids, whereas the Führer refused point blank to visit the shattered cities as Churchill had done, or – with one exception – to allow himself to be photographed among the ruins.

Hitler also explored ways of striking back at the Western Allies. He authorized a series of retaliatory raids on British towns in mid April 1942, though not on London.52 This resulted in the ‘Baedeker raids’ – called after the famous guidebook because they targeted sites of cultural importance – in Exeter, Bristol, Bath, Norwich and York.53 They were so ineffective and the losses were so great that the attacks had to be called off by the summer. Hitler now sought alternative methods of delivering terror to Britain, and to build new weapons of mass destruction. In early June 1942, Wilhelm Ohnesorge, the minister for posts and telegraphs, who was also responsible for one strand of the German atomic research programme, tried to interest Hitler in the possibility of building an atomic bomb. The Führer refused to listen, remarking to the military men in attendance that ‘of all people’, his ‘minister of post’ was the one to ‘offer him the wonder-weapon which we need’.54 If Germany was to strike back at her enemies in the near future, other methods would have to be used. Right at the end of June, he instructed his scientists to prepare for the deployment of chemical weapons by the spring of 1943.55 Time, clearly, was of the essence. It would appear that Hitler disregarded the atomic option, not because of any ethical or scientific reservations, but because it seemed unlikely that it would be available in time to make any difference to the course of the war.

Hitler also struck against Anglo-American economic and military targets. On the high seas, he redoubled his efforts against Allied shipping. The U-boats caught the Americans unawares in the Caribbean and off the east coast, sinking a large number of oil tankers.56 In the North Atlantic, the ‘wolf packs’ gathered to attack the convoys feeding the home islands and the entire war machine. In the course of the spring and early summer sinkings steadily mounted to the horror of the Churchill government. The main theatre, however, in which Hitler sought to deliver a decisive blow against Britain was the Mediterranean. In early 1942, the Führer took a personal interest in the fate of every individual Axis ship bringing supplies to Rommel, for example following the progress of a convoy which left Naples for Libya on 5 January 1942 and advising Mussolini on how individual vessels were to be loaded. A fortnight later, Rommel counter-attacked on his own initiative. He pushed the British before him, halting just west of Gazala in early February due to a shortage of supplies. An exultant Hitler told General Nehring, who was on the way from the eastern front to take up the position of chief of staff to the Afrika Korps, that he hoped that the threat to Egypt, combined with their immense and humiliating losses in the Far East, would make Britain more amenable to peace talks.57

Hitler now concentrated on the reduction of Malta, which remained a bone in the Axis throat and whose fall would seriously damage Churchill’s standing at home. In February 1942, the Luftwaffe began a massive assault on the island, which was intensified from 20 March 1942. By April 1942 Rommel’s supply position was greatly eased, while the situation on the island was desperate. In this context, the German and Italian High Commands discussed whether to mount a coup de main against the island. In mid April 1942, Hitler agreed to the operation and to a new offensive by Rommel, but failed to send more than a fraction of the reinforcements requested. Soon the Italians got cold feet and demanded not only a huge allocation of fuel oil to enable a landing, but also much greater German military participation. At first, it seemed as if Hitler would concur. His meeting with Mussolini in late April 1942 went very well, and the Führer agreed to deploy a large number of paratroops and other assets against the island. The planned sequencing, though, was crucial, as Hitler did not have the resources to begin with Malta or to carry out the Egypt and Malta operations simultaneously. In the end, it was decided that Rommel’s offensive in Libya would come first, in late May or early June, followed by the landing on Malta, ‘Operation Hercules’, in mid July or at the latest by mid August.58

The struggle against the Western Allies was accompanied by an escalation in the war against the Jews. In Hitler’s conception, ‘they’ were responsible for leading the Anglo-Saxons astray. In January 1942, he repeated his prophecy of three years earlier ‘that the war will not take the course that the Jews imagine, which is that the European-Aryan peoples will be exterminated’, but rather that ‘the result of this war will be the destruction of Jewry’.59 On 20 January 1942, Heydrich finally managed to hold his long-planned conference in a villa at Wannsee. The assembled bureaucrats discussed definitions of who was a Jew – something that continued to concern Hitler throughout the year60 – and the modalities of ‘deportation’, which by this stage was coming to mean mass murder. The lists included numbers of Jews in the areas under German control and countries presumably still to be conquered or coerced, such as Sweden. Hitler was determined to banish the Jewish presence in Europe – the whole of Europe – for ever. A Rubicon had clearly been crossed. Despite the slaughter of Soviet and Serbian Jewry in 1941, most European Jews were still alive at the start of 1942; by the end of the year, most of them were dead.61 Hitler may not have followed every detail of what even Goebbels described as a ‘pretty barbaric procedure’, but he was certainly, as the propaganda minister went on to say, ‘the constant protagonist and advocate of a radical solution’.62

Meanwhile, Hitler escalated his foreign propaganda, which was largely directed against Bolshevism, international capitalism and the Jews within Europe, and against the British Empire, the United States, international capitalism and the Jews in the rest of the world. As the Germans prepared to attack the Middle East, the Caucasus and Persia, and even Afghanistan seemed in contention, much of the focus was on the area east of Libya and west of India. Now that the United States had entered the war, Nazi propagandists bombarded Arab audiences throughout the summer of 1942 with stories about the ‘Jewish’ White House of President Roosevelt.63 There was also a ‘Muslim Moment’ in Hitler’s strategy.64 German propagandists cast the Führer as a Koranic figure, a new ‘mahdi’ or – for the Iranian Shiites – the twelfth Imam.’ Hitler regarded these efforts with amusement, but also with approval. Though Hitler believed the Arabs to be racially inferior, of course, he was much more positive about Islam, which he considered a martial religion far superior to Christianity.65

It is hard to say exactly how successful Hitler’s efforts in the Middle East were. By no means everybody who heard, or may have heard, the Nazi broadcasts to the Middle East was sympathetic. The later Ayatollah Khomeini, for example, published an anti-Hitler tract in 1942.66 The Arabs employed by the propaganda apparatus in Berlin were instruments rather than equal allies of the regime.67 Where Nazi propaganda went beyond local traditions was in its international focus, and in providing a conspiratorial view not merely of the Middle East but of the entire world system. The ‘General Standard Guidelines for Foreign Propaganda’ of the Foreign Ministry targeted ‘Jews, Bolsheviks and plutocrats’ as well as that ‘exponent of Jewry’, Roosevelt.68 One way or the other, the political programme of radical pan-Arabism, especially its anti-Semitism, chimed with Hitler’s.

At home, Hitler threw himself into the production battle in earnest. Despite the nasty shock he had received in 1941 regarding the quantity and quality of Russian equipment, his main focus was on matching not Soviet output, but that of Anglo-America, especially the United States. On 10 January 1942, as the winter crisis raged in the east, Hitler set out his long-term priorities. These had not shifted since 1940–41. ‘The long-term aim,’ he decreed, ‘remains the expansion of the Luftwaffe and the navy to fight the Anglo-Saxon powers’.69 What had changed was merely the timing. Now, in a concession to the unexpectedly strong resistance put up by the Red Army, and the need to capture the Soviet resources necessary to outlast Anglo-America, Hitler ordered that production should concentrate ‘initially’ on the ‘increased needs’ of the army; the other two services were to take a step back, for now.70 Particular attention was paid to the production of ammunition, which was deemed more urgent than tanks.71 Naval construction was to focus on submarines, escort vessels and the defence of Norway. Despite the temporary salience of the Russian front, the decree stressed the continued importance of coastal defence (against the British).72

In early February 1942, Hitler summoned his armaments minister, Fritz Todt, to discuss how to increase production. He was killed when the plane taking him back from Rastenburg crashed. Hitler now appointed Albert Speer armaments minister. He was in no doubt that despite the short-term emphasis on weapons to defeat the Soviet Union, the main production battle was against Anglo-America. ‘The Führer,’ the OKW reported in late March 1942, ‘has ordered Speer to run up ammunition production on a really big scale, so that two-front trench war can be fought for years.’73 Hitler was preparing not for one last Blitzkrieg against the Soviet Union, but for a long war of attrition against the global coalition. The Führer now issued a spate of orders emphasizing the centrality of production. ‘Every additional weapon and bullet,’ he announced in April 1942, ‘spares German blood.’74 He also demanded that the Reich follow the US example in production, avoiding artisanal refinements and the endless proliferation of models in favour of mass output.75 This was a subject to which he would return on many occasions as Germany was more and more crushingly outproduced by the American colossus.

Hitler backed his new minister to the hilt. Speer gradually imposed his authority on the many institutions and individuals running, or claiming to run, the German war economy. The new watchword was ‘rationalization’. Hitler issued decrees restricting the use of vehicles for all but the most essential tasks.76 In late March 1942, he appointed Fritz Sauckel general plenipotentiary for the supply of labour. The slave workers Hitler demanded were brought to the Reich in ever-larger numbers; they were accompanied by ‘voluntary’ labourers lured by the promise of high wages or driven by conditions at home. German output increased, and Speer’s self-promoting propaganda made sure everyone was aware of the fact. The extent to which the surge was a product of the minister’s initiatives or reflected decisions that had been taken much earlier is disputed. Large sections of the German armaments industry, such as aircraft and naval production, which made up the bulk of output even in 1942, were not yet under Speer’s control.77 What was clear even at the time, in any case, was that whoever was in charge in Berlin, the chances of matching the production of the enemy coalition, especially that of the United States, were slim. The problem was not the level of mobilization, which was already very high, but the imbalance in resources and industrial capacity.78

Nobody was more aware of this than Hitler himself. As we have seen, the immense American industrial potential had been a staple of his thinking in the 1920s, and had dominated his strategy since the late 1930s. He did not know the extent of Allied deliveries to the Soviet Union, which were substantial,79 but he was well aware they were taking place. The basic problem, which Hitler identified quite clearly, was that whereas Germany controlled most of Europe, it was at war with most of (the rest of) the world, or at least with its resources. The enemy coalition controlled the global commons: the sea lanes and the financial system. The mines, factories and farms of the world were mobilized by Anglo-American capital, transported in Allied shipping and directed against the Reich. By contrast, the Third Reich was confined to a European reservation, whose economies were cut off from the world markets and raw materials they had depended on. Hitler’s New European Order was – economically – much less than the sum of its pre-war parts. It was no match for the Anglo-American global cartel.80 Hitler admitted as much privately to the Gauleiter at a meeting in late May 1942.81

The Führer also struggled to counter the Anglo-American narrative, of whose negative and positive power he had no doubt. He continued to stress the mortal ideological challenge posed by ‘democratic capitalism’.82 Hitler’s critique was embodied by the German propaganda film Around the Statue of Liberty. A Stroll through the USA, which was made in 1941 but shown to him in early 1942. Its main purpose was to contrast the glitter of the American Dream with the brutal reality of life in the United States. There was footage of National Guard and police attacking strikers and demonstrators with tear gas. Workers, viewers were informed, had to slave for ‘gigantic capital trusts’. The important role played by Jews, such as the Rothschilds, Warburgs and others, was stressed. There were pictures of famous gangsters such as John Dillinger, of blacks dancing to swing music, of women wrestlers, and to crown the grotesquery a man jumping out of the seventh floor of a building in front of a crowd.83 Decadence, degeneracy and capitalist exploitation – this was the image of the United States which the Führer promoted in order to quell German concerns about fighting their much more prosperous cousins across the Atlantic. ‘The Führer has seen the film we made on American cultural life and expressed himself very positively about it,’ Goebbels noted on 15 February 1942, adding that Hitler had ‘given instructions to show this film to as much of the German public as possible’.84

The stress of total war took its toll on Hitler. He became more irritable and withdrawn.85 His zest was gone. Hitler remained in close contact with events, and was soon to move his headquarters close to the front line in the Ukraine, but the kind of propagandistic expeditions he had undertaken in Poland and France were a thing of the past.86 Above all, Hitler’s physical condition was deteriorating rapidly. This was visible even in the carefully edited newsreels.87 To those who saw him close up the decline was unmistakable. Goebbels noted after his visit on 20 March that Hitler had ‘already gone very grey’ and that he ‘looked much older’ when speaking of the winter crisis. The Führer struck him as ‘sick and frail’. Ciano, who saw him a few days later,88 also thought he had aged considerably.

In early April 1942, Hitler was finally able to turn his attention towards preparing the summer offensive against the Soviet Union. Like Barbarossa, this was ultimately directed against the Western Allies. Unlike Barbarossa, which had both political and economic objectives at the outset, the purpose of ‘Operation Blue’, as it was codenamed, was primarily economic and military; political considerations played hardly any role in its original conception. Hitler aimed to complete the unfinished business of 1941, which was the capture of the resources necessary to continue the struggle against Anglo-America, and the denial of these resources to the enemy. He set out his objectives in Directive 41 on 5 April 1942.89 The Wehrmacht was to crush the Soviet Union and cut her off from her principal industrial centres. Sebastopol, which had been under siege since late October 1941, was finally to be taken. Then, Russian forces were to be destroyed west of the Don. After that, the main motorized and armoured forces would wheel south to break into the Caucasus and seize the passes and the oil-fields there; their flanks were to be secured through the capture of Voronezh and Stalingrad to the north and east. Only once this had been done should the Wehrmacht proceed to the next objective, which was the final strangulation of Leningrad and a link-up with the Finns nearby.

The centrality of the economic objectives was emphasized by Hitler on many occasions. ‘If I don’t get the oil of Maykop and Grozny,’ he warned the commander of the 6th Army, Friedrich Paulus, ‘then I must end this war.’90 Contrary to later legend, Operation Blue did not envisage three diverging axes of advance towards Voronezh, Stalingrad and the Caucasus. The two cities were merely to be secured in order to defend the northern flank of the operation. Hitler did not even insist on the capture of Stalingrad, saying only that it should ‘at least be subjected to heavy artillery fire in order to knock it out as an armaments and communications centre’; no mention was made of any symbolic or political importance attached to the city. The main thrust was to be directed south, towards the oil-fields.91 It was a war for oil.92

Conscious that he was asking ever more of his soldiers and the German people, the Führer reminded them of what they were fighting for, and why young men were being sent thousands of miles away from their homes. In February 1942, he already let slip that they might have to fight their way to the Caucasus.93 Now, as the final touches were being put to the plan, he returned to his primary war aims in two speeches in April and May 1942. The Germans, Hitler argued, were a ‘subjugated’ people who had been put in ‘chains’ by ‘democracy’, the ‘Jewish brain trusts’ and ‘stock exchanges and banks’, supported by Bolshevism. In order to secure their ‘daily bread in order to live’ as ‘have-nots’, they would have to confront the international ‘propertied’ class. This was a global enemy, but Hitler announced that it would be beaten in Russia. ‘The east is the battlefield,’ he explained, ‘in which the outcome will be decided.’94 It was there, Hitler told another audience of officer cadets in late May 1942, that Germany would find the resources and the living space to prevent itself from disappearing off the face of the earth.95 The exploiters might be mainly in the west, but the redistribution would take place primarily in the east.

It was in this spirit that the Nazi regime stepped up plans for the colonization of Russia. Hitler had plenty of space, with more in prospect; what he lacked was the right sort of people to settle it. On 23 April 1942, the Reichsführer-SS, Himmler, penned a memorandum in Hitler’s headquarters on ‘The retrieval of Volksdeutsche from America and Africa after the war’. ‘It is our task,’ the Reichsführer announced, ‘to bring back every person of German blood who has any value at all, in order to settle the captured acres.’ This could not be done by the Nazi Party because the main target group of albeit ‘politically unquestionably contaminated Volksdeutsche’ lay in ‘America’, beyond the political control of the Reich. Instead, Himmler called for ‘personal recruitment’ through family ties. Himmler was acknowledging the deep entanglement of Germany with America in one breath and demanding their disentanglement in the next.96

The fluidity of the American-German racial relationship, which had so preoccupied Hitler since the 1920s, was personified by the case of Hitler’s former close associate Ernst Hanfstaengl, a man who had crossed and recrossed the Atlantic. Since fleeing Germany in 1937, he had been resident in Britain. On 30 June 1942, following President Roosevelt’s direct request, he arrived in the United States to pursue psychological warfare against the Third Reich. He advised the president on the Führer’s mindset. Hanfstaengl was thus the only man who worked directly for both Hitler and Roosevelt; he personified the two degrees of separation between the German Reich and the United States.97 His son, Egon, whose godfather was Hitler, joined the US army. The Hanfstaengls were thus an example of the very thing that Hitler feared most: Germans in American uniform fighting other Germans.

Perhaps surprisingly, Hitler did not pay much attention to the Dutch or the Scandinavians, about whom Himmler and his SS leaders enthused at length.98 The discourse around the ‘Greater Germanic Reich’ was largely generated by them, not the Führer himself. He remained focused on extracting troops from these areas. Hitler’s ambivalence was reflected in his jaundiced view of marriages between locals and the German occupiers. He suggested that these relationships were based largely on ‘sexual urges which could not be satisfied elsewhere’, and hoped that the sight of German women would bring returning soldiers ‘to their senses’, not least because many of them had effectively lost their chances of finding a man through war deaths. After Himmler remonstrated, Hitler relented a little, but added that ‘in his experience’ – which was based on looking at marriage applications – German men tended in 90 per cent of cases to ‘marry the most unworthy [Scandinavian or Dutch] women and girls’ one could possibly imagine.99

Perhaps even more surprisingly, Hitler began to take a more positive view of the Slavs. Rosenberg, who had been given such short shrift by his leader in 1941, saw his chance in early May 1942. He showed Hitler pictures of male and female Ukrainian workers in the Heinkel Werke. ‘The Führer,’ he noted, ‘expressed his astonishment about [their] extraordinary good looks’ and even their ‘beauty’.100 The Nazi regime now began to look with more favour on the Ukrainians, Czechs and Poles, among whom Hitler assumed there to be about a million of those capable of being ‘re-Germanized’. Through the instrument of the Deutsche Volkslisten, Nazi bureaucrats commenced the laborious process of ‘retrieving’ the ‘high-value’ Germans from the Slavic ‘mass’, which in practice meant the Germanization of large numbers of people Hitler had previously wanted to eliminate. It was a huge exercise in racial hydrogenation, the derivation of an ersatz Volk from an ‘inferior’ base. The man who had started his career criticizing the notion of ‘Germanization’ of peoples, rather than territory, now superintended the greatest attempted assimilation project in German history.101

By contrast, the fate of the Jews was fixed. Nothing could stop the machinery of destruction, which was in full throttle by the middle of the year.102 The rate of deportation was slowed briefly and slightly in mid June 1942 by the preparations for Operation Blue. These were given priority over what were classified as ‘non-essential’ transports to the camps, which only involved a tiny proportion of the available rolling stock.103 Hitler himself seems to have taken relatively little interest in the details of the killings he had ordered,104 but he was deeply concerned with the intellectual battle against Jewry. He declared the ‘systematic intellectual struggle’ against ‘Jews, freemasons’ and their allies to be a vital task. To this end, he wanted all libraries and archives to be examined for material which might be used for the ‘ideological tasks of the NSDAP’ and ‘later scholarly research in institutions of higher education’.105

Hitler thought carefully about the execution of Operation Blue.106 He instructed the Wehrmacht to conduct tighter envelopment operations than in the previous year, to prevent the Red Army from slipping through the net.107 Hitler envisaged extensive use of the Luftwaffe to deal with the challenges posed by the numerical superiority of the enemy and the vastness of the space. He devoted a great deal of attention to the complex logistics of the whole operation. The Führer also put a lot of effort into coordinating the allied contribution, which was much more important this time around because the Wehrmacht lacked the manpower to complete the tasks on its own.108 Hitler supplied his partners with precious raw materials and military equipment, often at the expense of German needs. He also embarked on a diplomatic charm offensive. The Führer went to see the future Finnish president, Marshal Mannerheim, in person. The tape of part of that exchange – the only recording we have of Hitler speaking in private – has survived. It shows him to have been calm and measured in discussion, very far from the ranter of myth.109 More important than the Finns were the Hungarians and Romanians, especially the latter, to whom much of the protection of the flanks was entrusted.110

The attack in Russia was to be accompanied by an offensive in the Mediterranean. Originally, Hitler had hoped to begin with the conquest of Malta, which would have helped Rommel’s subsequent operations in North Africa. The Führer soon got cold feet, however. It was during the delayed meeting with Mussolini at Schloss Klessheim and Berchtesgaden on 29/30 April 1942 that it was agreed to delay the assault on the island until after Rommel’s attack. Three weeks later, following a sceptical briefing by General Student on plans for the landing, Hitler erupted against the Italians. He did not trust them to keep the operation a secret; he was sceptical of their ability to carry it out; and he feared that in the case of disaster the Luftwaffe would have to bail the Italians out.111 The Führer said that ‘intellectual’ preparations should continue, but in practical terms Operation Hercules was off the table. Hitler had flunked another landing operation against the British. The failure to eliminate Malta – Britain’s unsinkable aircraft carrier in the Mediterranean – was to become one of the main reasons for the Axis defeat in North Africa.

These moves were part of a broader Axis strategy of loosely coordinated blows against the Soviet Union and the British Empire. The Germans would undertake a giant pincer movement against the Middle East by Rommel’s Afrika Korps and the armies pushing down through the Caucasus. In late March and early April 1942, a Japanese strike force had already thrust deep into the Indian Ocean, launching a devastating raid on British bases on Ceylon, and sinking an aircraft carrier. By late May and early June 1942, Japan had taken Burma. With a bit of imagination, India itself was in play. In this spirit, Hitler finally met with the Indian nationalist leader Subhas Chandra Bose in Berlin on 27 May 1942.112 The encounter, which was the only one the two men ever had, did not go well. Hitler refused to repudiate his wounding comments about Indian nationalism in Mein Kampf. The Führer, who was still pining for the British Empire, also told his visitor that it would take 150 years before the Indians were ready for self-government. Hitler therefore refused to issue any declaration on Indian independence. Not being able to find a use for the man himself, he suggested that Bose head for Japan, from whence he could attack British India from the east.

Hitler’s strategy for the summer of 1942 was a huge gamble. He assumed that the Russians would stand and fight to defend the vital Donbas industrial region, and therefore allow themselves to be encircled and destroyed. Hitler, like the general staff, was also under the impression that the Soviet Union had been fatally weakened by the losses of 1941 and the winter battles.113 The biggest problem of all, however, was that both operations depended very heavily on the performance of allies. The Mediterranean strategy required full Italian cooperation. Operation Blue hinged on the ability of the Hungarians and Romanians to secure the northern flank of the Wehrmacht while the mobile units raced south into the Caucasus. Given that Hitler had been warning against reliance on allies since the 1920s, and more recently on the eve of Barbarossa and of Rommel’s forthcoming offensive, this was exactly the position that he did not want to be in.

On 26 May 1942, Rommel opened his offensive in North Africa. The Panzerarmee Afrika punched through the British lines and raced towards the Egyptian border. By 11 June, Rommel had taken Bir Hakim, followed by Tobruk on 21 June 1942. That same day, he sent his adjutant, Oberleutnant Brandt, to Hitler to report and to sound him out about future moves. The logistical situation was dire, because once the pressure on Malta had been relaxed, the British were able to resume attacks on German and Italian shipping from the island. In June 1942, only about 50 per cent of Axis cargoes got through. Hitler responded by making Rommel a field marshal, but he sent no new forces and did nothing to address the problem of Malta by deploying Luftwaffe units against the island. Priority was given to the eastern front. The Führer’s hope was that the Panzerarmee Afrika could be resupplied via Crete and Tobruk. For now, this did not matter, because Hitler was confident that the fall of Tobruk, after its earlier stout defence, signalled the imminent demise of the British Empire, which would be followed by a negotiated peace.114

A few days later, on 28 June, Hitler launched Operation Blue. The Wehrmacht achieved total surprise and made rapid progress. Germany’s allies marched behind and sometimes beside the German advance. On 3 July 1942, Hitler flew to the region of Voronezh to see for himself. He did not share the general optimism, agreeing with Bock that the Red Army was not beaten but engaging in flexible defence.115 He insisted that the encirclement rings not be drawn too wide, so that the Russians would not have the chance to escape.116 The Luftwaffe was deployed extensively to make up for the shortage of ground forces, and to overcome the challenges of operating over huge spaces.117 For now, this approach worked well. On 4 July, Sebastopol finally surrendered, clearing the way for a push into the Caucasus across the Straits of Kertsch. Voronezh was captured on 11 July 1942, amidst heavy Soviet losses. Rostov on Don was taken on 23 July. In order to be closer to the action, Hitler moved his headquarters to Vinnytsia in the Ukraine.118 Victory in the east, or at least the attainment of the objectives set for Operation Blue, seemed within his grasp.

Determined to burnish his credentials as a military genius, Hitler sought to shape the history of the campaign as it unfolded. During the planning stages, he issued a decree containing the ‘basic instructions for the military-historical treatment of the Greater German liberation struggle’. Three weeks before the offensive began, he put Colonel Scherff in charge of the ‘military-historical section of the army’, which would have the task of recording the army’s contribution.119 Hitler also prepared to secure the economic resources so vital to the German war effort. On the very first day of the offensive, he issued a decree stressing that ‘the rapid restoration of coal extraction in the Donets area is one of the most important preconditions for the continuation of the operations in the east and the exploitation of the Russian space by the German war economy’.120 Army Group South was instructed to support this endeavour, which was one of the principal objectives of the offensive, with all the means at its disposal. After the capture of Sebastopol, a new directive, number 43, called for the dropping of paratroops on the oil installations at Maykop, now only a few hundred miles away.121

In mid July 1942, Hitler speeded up the murder of the Jews still further, whether in response to the early successes of Operation Blue, or simply because rolling stock had now become available again for the deportations or for some other reason.122 What is beyond doubt is that both Hitler and Himmler had become impatient with the rate of killing, and that after a meeting on 16 July at the Führer’s Headquarters it was resolved to break the various transportation deadlocks. The following day, Himmler went to Auschwitz to witness the gassing of a transport of Jews. He then ordered the camp commandant to accelerate the expansion of the killing facilities. This was done either at Hitler’s direct behest, or in response to some more general instruction from the Führer. ‘The occupied eastern territories will be free of Jews,’ Himmler wrote a fortnight later. ‘The carrying-out of this very difficult order has been laid on my shoulders by the Führer.’ The escalation was so dramatic that it was noticed on the ground and relayed to the World Jewish Congress and thus to the Allies through intermediaries.123

As the Wehrmacht sped through southern Russia, Hitler’s settlement plans moved further up the agenda. On 12 July 1942, immediately after the fall of Sebastopol, Hitler ordered that the Crimea be emptied of all ‘Russians and Ukrainians living there’.124 In late July 1942, Himmler presented Hitler with the revised version of the Generalplan Ost, with detailed maps and plans for the construction of settler villages. An important part of these plans was the resettlement of German-American returnees, who were deemed to have the right qualities of hardiness and initiative to colonize the steppes as their forefathers had once settled the plains. Some of the planned settlements were thus to be called ‘USA-Colonies’.125 ‘The Führer not only listened to me,’ Himmler said shortly afterwards, ‘he even refrained from constant interruptions, as is his usual habit.’126 Hitler approved the plan. This vision was by no means purely agrarian. On the contrary, Hitler envisaged not merely the Germanization of some existing cities, but also the construction of a whole new set of urban centres.127 The modernity of Hitler’s vision was also demonstrated by his plans for a huge broad-gauge railway which would connect the population centres of the new territories with the Reich.128

At around the same time, the Führer set out how he envisaged the treatment of the native population (or at least of the Slavic residue, once the ‘Nordic’ elements had been filtered out). Abortions in the occupied eastern territories were to be encouraged, indeed it would be desirable to have a ‘vigorous trade in contraception there’ to prevent ‘the non-German population from multiplying’. The non-German population was not to have any access to the ‘German medical welfare system’; they should not, for example, be inoculated or offered any form of preventative medicine. The non-German population should not be taught more than how to read or write. They should certainly not be given any ‘higher education’, for fear of encouraging ‘future resistance’. The German settler population, he stressed, should be kept strictly apart, if necessary at first in temporary barracks. The Slav cities were to be kept run down, so that the native population would not have a ‘higher standard of living’ than the German settlers would achieve in their planned separate ‘newly built cities and villages’.129 It was a bleak prospect for the Slavs, but still a more promising one than the future Hitler had originally had in store for them under the ‘Hunger Plan’. He would not strive to keep them alive, but nor would he now actively set out to kill them. The Slav ‘problem’ would be solved by evolutionary neglect, rather than radical violence.

The most important part of Hitler’s programme, at least in the immediate term, was the war against Anglo-America. As Operation Blue waxed, Hitler turned his attention back to the British Empire and the United States. Rather than attacking Malta, as Kesselring wanted, Hitler backed Rommel’s plan to continue the offensive in Libya. This was partly because he was seduced by Rommel’s razzmatazz,130 but his main thinking was strategic and political. He was worried, as he told Mussolini, that if Britain were not ejected soon from North Africa then ‘American long-range bombers’ would appear there ‘within weeks’ and begin the bombardment of southern Italy. For this reason, the fall of Tobruk should be taken as an opportunity to finish off the 8th Army. ‘It is possible that on this occasion Egypt can be seized from the British,’ Hitler remarked cautiously. It might even be possible to combine that offensive with the thrust through the Caucasus in order to ‘collapse’ Britain’s whole position in the ‘Orient’.131 That same day, Rommel attacked again, once more driving the British back, this time across the Egyptian border. On 27 June 1942, he took Marsa Matruh. The instruments used were military, but Hitler’s real strategy remained political, namely the destruction of the Churchill government, followed by a negotiated peace.

Hitler now ramped up the military, diplomatic and psychological pressure. Right at the start of July, he issued a joint declaration with Mussolini on Egypt. A day later, he authorized a huge allocation of resources and workers to speed up naval repairs and construction, including the building and conversion of no fewer than five aircraft carriers.132 Shortly after, the Luftwaffe and Kriegsmarine completed the evisceration of PQ 17, one of the British Arctic convoys carrying supplies to the Soviet Union via Murmansk. The Battle of the Atlantic was also going well, with steadily increasing sinkings of Allied merchantmen. Hitler was delighted with these successes. ‘The Führer was deeply moved by the successes in the Arctic and about the activities of our U-boats,’ Rosenberg noted, ‘he kept on coming back to this event.’133 In the middle of the month, Hitler received the ousted Iraqi prime minister, Rashid Ali. ‘The conversation was conducted in the spirit of trusting friendship,’ the subsequent communiqué announced, ‘which the German people feel towards the Arab peoples.’134 The strangulation of Britain and the collapse of her empire, assaulted by the Germans in the west and the Japanese in the east, now seemed a realistic possibility.

On 23 July 1942, Hitler issued Directive 45 on the continuation of the offensive in southern Russia.135 He declared the Russian forces west of the Don defeated, though he did note the ‘assembly of further enemy forces in the area around Stalingrad which the enemy will probably defend with vigour’. Hitler decreed that Russian forces south of the Don were to be eliminated. Thereafter, the advance would divide, and the sub-divisions of Army Group South reflected this. The main thrust, by Army Group A, with most of the armoured and mobile forces, was to push south to secure the Black Sea coast and the oil-fields. Meanwhile, Army Group B was to ‘build up a defensive line on the Don’ and to advance against the ‘enemy forces’ at Stalingrad, to ‘occupy the city itself’ (a new objective), and to ‘block’ the land bridge between Don and Volga; there was no talk yet of any symbolic or political significance attached to its capture. Once this had been done, ‘fast units’ were to be sent to Astrakhan to cut the ‘main tributary of the Volga’. The Luftwaffe was to support the move on Stalingrad, and to destroy the city, but the ‘main centre of gravity of the air war’ was to be the capture of the Black Sea ports. His plan here was to resupply the Army Group in the Caucasus by sea.136

Given that the region, with its majority Muslim population, now appeared on the verge of falling into his lap, Hitler gave its future some serious thought.137 This was part of a broader ‘Muslim Moment’ in the summer of 1942, in which the Third Reich sought, and often found, allies among the Muslims of the Balkans, the Soviet Union and the Middle East.138 ‘The Führer confirmed to me,’ one German diplomat wrote in mid August 1942, ‘that Germany follows with great interest the fight of the Islamic world against its oppressors and does not intend to enslave or suppress any Islamic country’.139 In early September 1942, the Führer even got as far as drafting a directive on occupation policy in the Caucasus which held out the prospect of subsequent independence for the peoples of the area. Hitler’s motivation here was strategic.140 Managing the Caucasian oil-fields would be difficult without the support or at least the quiescence of the population. In the Führer’s view, this required close supervision to prevent them from indulging in their traditional blood feuds.141 Hitler wanted to extract oil, and for that he needed order.

In late July 1942, the Wehrmacht surged forward again. The Soviet forces south of the Don were quickly overcome. Army Group B dug in to secure the flanks; the 6th Army pressed on to Stalingrad. Army Group A – the main thrust – advanced towards the Caucasus. Krasnodar was taken on 3 August with its oil refineries, and Maykop, with the first oil-fields, was captured on 9/10 August. Nearly all the facilities, however, had been wrecked by the retreating Red Army. Not long after, the mountains of the Caucasus were reached and German mountain troops scaled Mount Elbrus to plant the swastika to great media acclaim back home and internationally. Hot on the heels of the advance came specialist units – the Mineralölbrigade – tasked with securing the oil-fields and making them operational again. Hitler was given an immediate report on the situation and was briefed on progress at regular intervals.142 The capture of the Donets mines and some of the first Caucasian oil-fields came at an opportune moment, because the shortage of energy was becoming acute back in the Reich. Very shortly after the capture of Maykop, Hitler attended an emergency meeting with Speer, Sauckel, Kehrl and various industrial magnates on the ‘coal crisis’. ‘If due to the shortage of coking coal the output of the steel industry cannot be raised as planned,’ he warned his stunned interlocutors, ‘then the war is lost.’143

Despite these concerns, Hitler’s spirits rose as the advance continued in mid August 1942. The Lebensraum and resource objectives of the Russian campaign appeared on the verge of realization. Africa and much of Asia appeared within his grasp; the world seemed to open up before him.144 He was thinking hard about ways to strike at the United States itself. Hitler had not originally planned to expand this far, but the global nature of the hostile coalition meant that for a brief moment in the midsummer of 1942, only the world was enough to give him the security he craved. Yet even at this pinnacle of his power, as autumn loomed, and the decisive blow eluded him, the Führer was beginning to draw back. His strategy, he explained to Raeder on 26 August 1942, was to crush Russia and thereby secure a ‘blockade-proof and defensible Lebensraum from which the war could be waged [against the Anglo-Americans] for many more years’. This would enable the Führer to determine the ‘outcome and length’ of the broader war, which he defined as the ‘battle against the Anglo-Saxon seapowers’, in order to make them ‘ready for peace’.145 In other words, victory in Russia would pave the way not for world domination but for a negotiated peace with Anglo-America.

Even at the height of his power, Hitler remained an anxious man, and with good reason. The Japanese advance in the Pacific crashed to a halt after their shattering defeat at Midway in early June. On 16 August 1942, the USAAF launched its first raid on Europe, against the marshalling yards at Rouen. Three days after that, a substantial raiding force of Canadians landed at Dieppe, and although it suffered heavy casualties, the operation shook Hitler.146 Soon after, Rommel’s offensive in North Africa ran out of steam at El Alamein, about 100 kilometres west of Alexandria. The sea routes were now dominated by the British, who had by now sunk a large percentage of the Italian merchant fleet. Hitler simply did not have the supplies, forces or ability to get these across the Mediterranean to help him. The Führer was also unhappy with the recent progress in Russia. He had noticed that most Russian troops had escaped the encirclement south of the Don and melted away south or east to fight another day. Hitler was particularly concerned about the situation in the Caucasus, where the spearhead was too far to the east. He ordered that priority for fuel and resources be given to the right flank attacking the Black Sea ports. This is why he was so infuriated by the scaling of Mount Elbrus by his mountain troops, which he considered a colossal distraction. It was the low-lying coastal strip, not the high ground, which interested him.147 If necessary, the Luftwaffe could temporarily supply the attacking forces. One way or the other, the Wehrmacht would have to secure the Black Sea ports, or else the offensive towards Baku would grind to a halt.

In early September 1942, Hitler’s unease turned to alarm.148 On 7 September, he sent Jodl to meet the commanders in the Caucasus. They agreed that the forces in the mountains should not swing towards the sea, as Hitler wanted, but hold the passes and release troops for the force advancing from the north down the coast towards the Black Sea port of Tuapse. The Führer’s attempts to get his way proved fruitless. Hitler’s reaction was stark. He went into a prolonged ‘sulk’, refusing to take meals with the army leadership for about a month; he also insisted that all future discussion be recorded in full to prevent a recurrence.149 The commander of Army Group A was summarily sacked on 10 September.

Hitler took over direct command, temporarily, the only time Hitler exercised formal direct operational command during the war. In practice, he intervened little in the day-to-day operations of the Army Group, or at least no more than he would have done anyway;150 his main aim was to ensure the strategic compliance of the Wehrmacht. The same day as Hitler deprived List of his command, he issued a formal order to Army Group A. Firstly, 17 Army was instructed ‘to press on immediately to Tuapse in order to capture the Black Sea coast’ and to pave the way for a further attack as far south as Suchumi. Secondly, Hitler announced his intention – ‘depending on developments at Stalingrad’ – to switch ‘fast units’ from there at the end of the month to support 1st Panzer Army in its push on Grozny.151 The advance continued, but at a steadily diminishing speed. On 18 September, Hitler erupted in a long diatribe at Vinnytsia.152 He considered sacking Jodl, but then changed his mind. Not long after, on 24 September 1942, the chief of the general staff, Franz Halder, was given his marching orders. ‘He told me when I took my leave,’ Halder later recalled, ‘that my constant know-all attitude had used up half of his nerves.’153 He was replaced by Kurt Zeitzler. One way or the other, whoever was to blame, it was clear that the oil-fields at Baku would not be reached that year.

In consequence, sometime between the beginning of September and mid October, Hitler decided to go over to the strategic defensive in Russia. On 8 September 1942, Army Groups Centre and North were told to hold their positions at all costs, partly to avoid the loss of ‘irreplaceable equipment’ and partly to avoid jeopardizing ‘neighbouring sectors’.154 Explicitly making a comparison with the ‘great defensive battles of the [First] World War’, which he deemed much tougher than those of the eastern front, Hitler issued his ‘slogan’, which was ‘dig and dig again, especially while the soil is still soft’. On 14 October, Hitler also in effect called time on Operation Blue in the south. He declared the current campaign to be largely ‘completed’. Hitler promised to resume operations in the following year. In the meantime, he demanded that there should be no ‘retreats or operational withdrawals’ in the face of enemy attacks. Detailed instructions were provided on the construction of trenches and fortifications.155 The language was unmistakable. The war in the east would no longer be one of manoeuvre but of attrition.

The September crisis was the operational turning point of the war, and also Hitler’s final breach with the military leadership. He accused the commanders of not merely misunderstanding the operational plan from the beginning – ‘failure to recognize the centre of gravity’156 – but defying his direct orders. Hitler was also convinced that elements within the headquarters were betraying secrets to the enemy.157 There was in fact an MI6 agent in or close to the OKW, codenamed ‘Knopf’, originally recruited by the Poles, who was providing London with detailed accounts of Hitler’s thinking.158 Hitler’s main concern, though, was that the failure to take the ports in time had wrecked the strategic purpose of the operation, which was to supply the spearheads across the Black Sea, and to extract the oil – at least that of Maykop – in tankers from Tuapse to Romania and from there up the Danube to Germany.159 ‘Whoever loses the oil,’ Hitler lamented, ‘loses the war.’160 In effect, he had conceded that if the war was not lost, it certainly could no longer be won.

Hitler now tried to mitigate the damage. He gave orders for the extraction of oil from Maykop, stressing the ‘decisive importance’ of rebuilding the installations there.161 Only a dribble ever reached the Reich. Hitler also instructed the Luftwaffe to destroy the Soviet oil-fields beyond his grasp. On 7 October orders were given to attack the installations at Grozny, which the Luftwaffe executed three days later, and a fortnight afterwards he demanded a raid on faraway Baku.162 Göring simply did not have the resources for that. Hitler’s main response, though, was to switch focus to Stalingrad. Formerly a secondary target, its importance had been steadily growing in Hitler’s mind in the course of the campaign, even before the crisis in the Caucasus. If the city could be captured and the Soviet line of communication north–south could be cut, then Hitler could realize at least some of the campaign’s strategic objectives. The Führer was optimistic. His faith in the commander of the attacking force was such that he had considered him the only replacement for Jodl. Paulus, he remarked, was ‘the only man’ whom ‘he trusted personally’, the first man whom he had ‘noticed’ among senior Wehrmacht officers, someone who was ‘fanatical’ about ‘motorization’ and a man of ‘balanced personality’ who was able to ‘hold his nerve’.163

So from October to mid November 1942, the 6th Army battered its way into Stalingrad.164 The Luftwaffe, at Hitler’s direct request, pounded the city into rubble. Paulus advanced slowly through the ruins; the Russians clung on grimly with their backs to the Volga. Losses were heavy on both sides. Stalingrad’s landmarks – the grain elevator, the factories, the tennis racket railway sidings – acquired global significance; its very name seemed to epitomize the stakes. By early October, many Germans, and indeed world opinion, had come to see the struggle as a battle of wills between Stalin and the Führer.165 Hitler became more and more obsessed with the capture of the city, urging Paulus on. ‘The difficulties of the battle for Stalingrad,’ he told the men of the 6th Army a month later, ‘and the reduced combat strengths are known to me.’ Despite this, Hitler demanded that they should attack once more with the same energy ‘they had so often shown before’ and the ‘élan they had so often demonstrated’ in order to break through at least at the artillery factory and the metal factory, reaching the Volga and capturing these areas of the city.166

That said, Hitler, who intensely personalized his rivalry with Churchill and Roosevelt, was not pursuing a personal vendetta with Stalin, whom he hardly ever mentioned in public. The name of the city was an irrelevance to him. Hitler’s immediate target was the Soviet economy and communications system. ‘I wanted to get to the Volga at a particular place, at a particular city,’ he said, adding that it ‘coincidentally carried the same name as Stalin himself’. ‘But don’t think for a moment,’ he continued, ‘that I marched there for that reason’, but rather because it was ‘a very important place’. No fewer than 30 million tonnes of goods, including 9 million tonnes of oil, large quantities of manganese and the entire grain harvest of the Kuban, Hitler claimed, passed through the city every year.167 His strategic objective was to deliver political effect, not in Moscow but in London. In early October 1942, Hitler brusquely rejected Jodl’s suggestion that troops be withdrawn from Stalingrad ‘and emphasized for the first time that the capture of Stalingrad was important not only for operational reasons, but also urgently necessary for psychological reasons’, that is to impress ‘world opinion’ and to cheer ‘the allies’.168 If the city fell, Hitler remarked to his entourage, then Churchill might fall or at least become more amenable to making peace.169 In short, the push on Stalingrad, like the entire war, was primarily driven by the contest against Anglo-America.

This explains why, in early November 1942, Hitler announced the fall of the city. ‘There was a major transhipment point there,’ he told an audience in the Munich Bürgerbräukeller in his annual address to commemorate the failed putsch, ‘which I wanted to take, and you – we are being modest – we actually have it’.170 The military leadership, who knew better, were aghast at Hitler’s optimism. Senior commanders called from Russia to say that Stalingrad was very far from having been taken.171 In fact, Hitler – who was already resigned to another winter in Russia – was not deluded. He claimed victory prematurely not primarily to cheer the anxious German public, or to depress the Russians, who knew that it was untrue, but rather to influence world opinion, particularly in Britain. A year before, in October 1941, Hitler had for the same reason instructed Dietrich to tell the world press that the Soviet Union was beaten. Now he was doing it again.

In the autumn of 1942, Hitler was engulfed by multiple crises. In the west, the Anglo-Americans launched a series of devastating attacks. On 23 October 1942, Montgomery began his offensive at El Alamein.172 In the face of crushing Allied material superiority, especially in the air, Rommel was forced to retreat by 3 November. Five days later, the Anglo-Americans mounted Operation Torch, a huge landing in French North Africa. This not merely threatened Rommel’s flank, but blew the entire Axis position in the Mediterranean completely open. Not only had the U-boats been unable to stop the invasion, but their sinkings of Allied merchant shipping in the North Atlantic had peaked. Hitler now put his faith in the planned new generation of U-boat, but it would take time to build and deploy these.173 Then the Russians counter-attacked at Stalingrad in Operation Uranus. They broke through the German lines north of the city on 19 November, and a day later to the south. Some of the allied forces guarding the flanks – Romanian, Hungarian and Italian – fought bravely; many bolted.174 On 23 November the two pincers met at Kalach on the Don, well to the west of the city. The 6th Army, more than a quarter of a million men and a colossal quantity of equipment, was in the pocket.

Hitler struggled to respond to this succession of blows. On 22 November, he ordered Paulus to stand fast while he worked out a plan.175 Two days later, immediately after the 6th Army was cut off, Hitler proclaimed Stalingrad a ‘fortress’. He forbade any talk of a break-out, and refused to give Paulus freedom of action.176 Hitler feared that the 6th Army would be caught out on the steppe in the open and annihilated. Much better, he thought, to dig in within the relative shelter of the city, especially in winter, and wait for relief. Perhaps it was with this in mind that Hitler announced the creation of a new decoration, the ‘Hand to Hand Fighting Clasp’, as ‘a visible sign of recognition of soldiers who fought man to man with cold steel and [other] weapons of close combat, but also as an encouragement towards the highest fulfilment of duty’.177 In the meantime, having been given assurances by Göring, Hitler planned to supply Paulus by air, just as he had done at Demyansk and Cholm the previous winter. From the start to the bitter end of the crisis, the Führer took all the main decisions on Stalingrad himself.178

Hitler cast the struggle in Stalingrad as a clash of wills and endurance. In the end, he told the generals, it was a matter of ‘nerves’. The situation of the 6th Army became increasing desperate. Red Army attacks constantly shrank the perimeter. Men froze; equipment seized up. Supplies ran low, as the Luftwaffe could fly in only a small part of the army’s requirements. Hitler was fully aware of this. When told in mid December of the daily total achieved in munitions, fuel and supplies, which was a fraction of what was needed, he remarked simply ‘that is terrible’.179 A relief offensive petered out well short of the city. Still, so long as Paulus held on to the three airfields at Stalingrad, and the 6th Army maintained cohesion, there was a chance of holding out until the spring.

Two considerations were uppermost in Hitler’s mind over Stalingrad. Firstly, any withdrawal of the 6th Army not only would be risky but would inevitably involve the loss of a huge quantity of equipment, which he could not replace. ‘I am afraid,’ he confessed, ‘that if one now retreats, all the materiel will be lost.’180 He was particularly worried about the loss of the heavy artillery pieces, but also of the thousands of horses, many of which were on their last legs. Secondly, Hitler was under no illusion that the ground lost could be regained. ‘We will not recapture it,’ he warned the generals, adding that they should ‘not imagine that they will regain the ground after retreating and leaving all that equipment behind’. The Nazi tide was ebbing, leaving a scum of corpses and wrecked equipment, and it would not rise again.

Though the drama at Stalingrad dominated the German public, and has since gained an ascendancy in the historical memory, the main contest in Hitler’s mind remained the struggle with Anglo-America. The country and name he singled out with particular ferocity in his rhetoric were not the Soviet Union and Stalin, but the United States and Roosevelt.181 In strategic terms, the Allied invasion of North Africa presented a much greater threat, which overshadowed the eastern crisis. The entire Mediterranean front, including Mussolini’s own position, and the future of the Axis itself were suddenly in contention. By late 1942, the brief aerial concentration on the east for Operation Blue was over. Despite the dire situation at Stalingrad, some 70 per cent of the Luftwaffe was deployed in the west, in the Mediterranean or in the Reich itself.182

All this brought home the huge attritional challenge now posed by the Western Allies. Germany was manifestly outmatched in the air. In early September, Hitler lamented with respect to the Dieppe raid that while ‘we have 200 fighters’ the enemy ‘has 2,000’. ‘If the battle lasts for three days,’ he continued, ‘and I lose 37 or 40 machines a day’, then we ‘have had it,’ because the other side might have lost the same numbers of aircraft, but still had plenty to spare.183 The British now were beginning not only to claim strategic mastery of the skies, but to enjoy the tactical air superiority that had once been the hallmark of the Luftwaffe. Henceforth until the end of the war, Wehrmacht operations against the ‘Anglo-Saxon’ powers would be seriously constrained by the RAF and – increasingly – the USAAF. Hitler was shocked at the amount of shipping the Allies had been able to assemble for Operation Torch, which showed that his own calculations of the available levels of tonnage were completely awry.184 Hitler was also furious with the Luftwaffe – one observer reports ‘vicious attacks’ – for failing to produce a viable long-range bomber with which he could have attacked the bridgehead.185

If Hitler was to keep his allies in and the enemy coalition out, he would have to prevent the Anglo-Americans from gaining a foothold in Europe and even on its doorstep. Three days after Torch, he launched Operation Attila, the occupation of Vichy France, designed to pre-empt an Allied landing there. The seizure of the Vichy fleet failed when it was scuttled by the French before German tanks reached Toulon. The last major naval assets potentially available to the Third Reich had slipped from its grasp. The Führer was also determined to hold the line in North Africa. When Rommel descended uninvited on his headquarters in late November 1942 to demand the evacuation of Tunisia, Hitler refused. ‘For foreign political reasons,’ he explained, ‘a larger bridgehead in Africa simply must be held.’186 Despite the needs of the eastern front, and especially the agony at Stalingrad, Hitler dispatched a huge and well-equipped army to Tunisia, much of it by air, using precious transport capacity, in order to prop up Mussolini and to ensure that the area would not be used as a staging post for air-raids or invasions against his southern flank. The airlift was larger than the one staged at Stalingrad. When in early December 1942 the first Tiger tanks appeared, Hitler decided that they were not to be used piecemeal in Russia but in concentrated form in Africa against the British and Americans.187

Hitler was in no doubt about the annihilatory nature of his struggle with the western powers. For him, this was epitomized not merely by the bombing war, but also by the conduct of military operations. The Führer was incensed by the alleged Canadian treatment of German prisoners during the Dieppe raid, after which some were found executed with their hands tied behind their backs. In September 1942, fearing another landing, he ordered the deportation of the Channel Islanders. Two thousand of them were sent to Biberach in Württemberg.188 On 18 October 1942, Hitler instructed that British ‘so-called commandos’, irrespective of how they had been deployed or whether or not they were in uniform, should be ‘killed down to the last man in battle or on the run’.189 In order to explain why he was demanding such drastic action, Hitler referred to the production crisis. ‘I do not know,’ he said, ‘whether every officer is aware that the destruction of a single electricity station can cost the Luftwaffe many thousands of tons of aluminium.’ The many unbuilt aircraft would then be missing at the front or in the defence of the Reich. ‘In the east,’ Hitler explained, ‘the war is a battle of extermination,’ adding that ‘Britain and America’ had ‘joined’ this form of warfare through practices which ‘in essence’ did not differ ‘in any way’ from those of Russian partisans. The general intention behind the instruction, which was the western equivalent of the commissar-order, was to radicalize the war in the west so that it harmonized with practices in the east.190

The annihilatory tendency in Hitler’s thinking about Anglo-America was also evident in his pursuit of weapons of mass retaliation. He was convinced that only a cataclysmic blow against Britain would force the RAF to end the attacks on German cities and Churchill to seek peace. Despairing of the Luftwaffe, the most promising avenue seemed to be rockets. In late June 1942, Speer briefed him about the progress of the experiments at Peenemünde. Hitler was initially sceptical.191 In early October 1942, however, there was the first successful rocket flight. By the middle of the month, Hitler was demanding the ‘mass deployment’ of rockets, at least 5,000 on the first occasion,192 so that ‘one can make a powerful impression with this weapon’.193 This was to involve a huge commitment of fuel, steel and other resources. By the end of the war Hitler had invested the equivalent of 39,000 aircraft in a rocket programme which ultimately proved irrelevant to the course of the war.194 The intended target of these weapons, it is worth repeating, was not the Soviet Union but Britain.

The end of the wars of manoeuvre in Russia and North Africa accentuated the attritional character of the conflict for Hitler. Victory would go to those who could outproduce and outbleed the other side. On 1 October 1942, well before the Soviet counter-offensive at Stalingrad, Hitler told the Gauleiter that there would be no early end to the struggle and that the clash of production was now the main battle front. Increased mobilization would be necessary. A key factor, Hitler knew, was labour and he urged Sauckel to remedy the shortage caused by the increasing demands of the war and the absence of so many men at the front.195 He pushed for greater use of foreign workers, both forced and voluntary. While determined to remove Jews from the armaments factories of the Reich, Hitler agreed to Sauckel’s suggestion that Jewish ‘skilled workers’ be allowed to remain ‘initially’ in the General government; production took precedence over annihilation, at least for the moment.196 The demands of the production war drove Hitler to moderate his policy at least towards the non-Jewish population. He instructed that the Serbian prisoners sent to build fortifications in Norway should be ‘properly fed’ because thereby increasing their productivity was the only way ‘the numbers required could be reduced’, thus easing the pressure on accommodation, clothing and other supplies.197 Likewise, in the autumn of 1942, he ordered that the ‘native labourers and their families deployed to work in the oil industry should be fed in such a way as to safeguard their willingness and ability to work’.198 This was a sentiment which Hitler repeated on many occasions until the end of the war. That said, what actually happened was another matter. In the case of the Serbian prisoners, for example, a large number died on the way to Norway, and well over half of them did not survive the war.199

Hitler also sought to mobilize the home front further. Towards the end of the following month, as the Soviet pincers were snapping shut at Kalach, he appointed a special envoy to investigate how best ‘underemployed or badly employed’ manpower could be released for service at the front or other duties.200 Hitler gave equal attention to the psychological mobilization of the German people, which was becoming increasingly dismayed by the evident stagnation on the battle fronts and the escalating bombing war. The question of how to respond to RAF attacks was not just a practical matter but also one of domestic politics. Hitler expressed his horror at the tendency of the Luftwaffe to play it down. ‘People can bear everything,’ Hitler continued, but they needed to be told ‘the brutal truth’,201 not lies that they knew to be untrue from personal observation. There was also the issue of how to reduce the danger to civilians not required for war production. Baldur von Schirach, who was keen to get children away from their families and indoctrinate them, favoured their mass evacuation in ‘whole school classes’ to safe areas. Fearful of the effects on morale, Hitler agreed to the plan, but only on condition that ‘all compulsion was strictly avoided’, adding that it was ‘the parents alone who should decide whether their children were evacuated’.202

The Führer also tackled the officer corps, whose want of ideological coherence he blamed for the failures in Russia; here the ‘September crisis’ in the Caucasus weighed much more heavily than the situation at Stalingrad. More broadly, Hitler wanted to break the aristocratic and upper-middle-class stranglehold on the military profession, in order – following the more progressive Prussian tradition – to make it a career open to talent.203 On 1 October 1942, very shortly after Hitler’s speech, Rudolf Schmundt was appointed head of the Heerespersonalamt. This marked a big shift in the Führer’s relations with the officer corps, whose social transformation he now pursued with vigour. A flurry of measures followed. The social opening of the officer corps happened not just because of the pressures of war, but because Hitler made it happen.204

These modernizing steps were accompanied by some more feudal stratagems to bind the generals closer to their Führer. He was already in the habit of rewarding them with substantial cash payments. Towards the end of September 1942, almost immediately after his eruption over the Caucasus, he gave Keitel a particularly fat birthday cheque with his ‘sincerest thanks … for the loyalty and devotion with which you have made yourself available to me … [during] a serious crisis’. In October 1942, he made the first land grant to a general, a confiscated Jewish estate in Silesia to Ewald von Kleist, whom he shortly afterwards made commander of Army Group A in the Caucasus. Hitler also made substantial gifts to members of the government, the party and the SS, including Wilhelm Frick, Alfred Rosenberg, Konstantin von Neurath, Robert Ley, Joachim von Ribbentrop, Fritz Sauckel, Chief of Police SS-Obergruppenführer Kurt Daluege and SA-Chief of Staff Wilhelm Schepmann.205

Hitler’s efforts to rally Germans behind the common cause were complicated by the continuing internecine warfare within the regime. He was still spending a lot of time mediating disputes between his paladins: between Goebbels and Rosenberg over how eastern ‘colonial policy’ was to be presented;206 between Rosenberg and Ribbentrop over control of the entire ‘Eastern Question’;207 between Rosenberg and the military commanders over the administration of the captured eastern territories;208 between Baldur von Schirach and the various state authorities over the evacuations of children from the big cities to the countryside;209 between Himmler and Ribbentrop over reporting to Hitler.210 There was also a low-intensity struggle over controlling access to Hitler between Lammers and Bormann, in which the latter was gradually gaining the upper hand.211 None of these disputes enhanced Hitler’s authority in the slightest. On the contrary they were a waste of everyone’s time and energy. Nor did Hitler encourage the party to establish a parallel state. On 2 December 1942, he issued a (futile) instruction forbidding the NSDAP from intervening formally in ‘private legal matters’, which should be left to the courts; at the most, the party might offer its informal mediation for an ‘amicable resolution’.212 With regard to forms of government, Hitler believed, there was no contest; whatever was administered least was best.

One way or the other, Hitler was still determined to outlast the enemy coalition, or at least to give that impression. He told the visiting Dutch fascist leader Anton Mussert on 10 December 1942 that he ‘would not capitulate but fight’, even if he had to recruit fourteen- to sixteen-year-olds.213 In a public speech, he claimed that whereas the Kaiser’s Germany had given up at fifteen minutes to twelve, he ‘only stopped on principle at five minutes past twelve’. Besides, he claimed, his position was much better than that of Frederick the Great, ‘who faced a coalition of 54 million with only 3.9 million [population]’. Today, he continued, Germany still held ‘bastions far from its own borders’. It had space to trade. That said, Hitler was under no illusions. ‘I know very well,’ he said, ‘that the fight is a very difficult one.’214

As the year drew to an end there was no disguising the military predicament of the Reich. More than 100,000 men remained besieged in Stalingrad, with dwindling hopes of resupply or relief. Many more were being rushed to Tunisia in order to bolster the Axis position. The RAF battered the Reich nightly, with increasing effectiveness. More than twice as many U-boats were sunk in 1942 than during the previous twelve months, most of them in the second part of the year. Allied counter-measures, which Hitler had expected, were taking their toll.215 Sinkings of merchant ships, which had peaked in November 1942, dropped markedly in December. To complete this tale of woe, on the very last days of the year the Kriegsmarine spectacularly failed to close with and destroy a poorly defended British Arctic convoy in the Barents Sea. The cause of this fiasco was not the timidity of the commanding admiral, but Hitler’s well-known reluctance to risk the loss of capital ships, which he now described as ‘dead iron’ and a ‘miserable copy of the Royal Navy’. ‘It was now his irrevocable decision,’ he announced to Raeder’s representative at headquarters, ‘to get rid of these useless ships’ and deploy the ‘good crews [and] these good weapons’ more usefully. Hitler was also worried that ‘lying around’ in port with the resulting reduction of ‘fighting keenness’ would turn the navy into a ‘nursery of revolution’, as had happened in 1918.216 He was determined that history should not repeat itself.

In his New Year’s Proclamation for 1943 Hitler lost no time in identifying the cause of the Reich’s present travails, namely its own fragmentation and its nemesis in the shape of the United States of America. Reprising old themes from the 1920s, he reminded his listeners that thanks to the ‘centuries-long decay of the first German Reich’, the German people had become ‘mere cultural fertilizer for the other world’. The ‘other’ world was Anglo-America, especially the United States, which to Hitler represented first and foremost a massive demographic threat to the Reich. ‘Countless millions of Germans,’ he told his audience, ‘were forced to leave their homeland.’ ‘It was they, in particular,’ Hitler went on, ‘who helped to build up that continent [America] which is now trying to plunge Europe into war for a second time.’217

In January 1943, the contest escalated further. Meeting at Casablanca in the middle of the month, Churchill and Roosevelt announced that they would accept nothing less than the ‘unconditional surrender’ of Hitler. Towards the end of January, the USAAF launched its first raid on the Reich, against the port of Wilhelmshaven; Hitler paid close attention to American press claims about the effectiveness of the bombing campaign.218 In North Africa, the first American ground troops were already in action against the Wehrmacht. The greatest threat, however, came from the productive power of the United States, soon to be epitomized by the iconic image of Norman Rockwell’s statuesque ‘Rosie the Riveter’ bestriding a slain copy of Mein Kampf. Hitler conceded as much in his proclamation. ‘What America intends to achieve in the way of production,’ he said, ‘has been communicated to us often enough by the babblings of the principal warmonger Roosevelt,’ adding that ‘what it can really do and has already achieved is not unknown to us’.219 The civil war, which in Hitler’s mind pitted German engineers and soldiers from both sides of the Atlantic against each other, was now in full swing.

With the plan of bringing back German-Americans to settle the new lands in east now on hold, the Third Reich hoped at least to retrieve some of the lost racial value among the US prisoners of war, whose numbers increased as the ground war in Tunisia intensified. The Coordination Centre for Ethnic Germans of the SS, which was given the task of trawling the camps for ‘American and British prisoners of war of German descent’,220 turned up many captives of German origin, but ultimately despaired of converting them. Later, Obersturmbannführer Rimann informed Himmler that ‘the continuing interrogation of American POWs of German descent has shown us the problems associated with our plan’. Most were second or third generation, and were ‘completely Americanized in attitude and behaviour’.221 It was no different in the case of the Canadian Volksdeutsche captured at Dieppe, who all turned out – depressingly – to be volunteers.222

Hitler linked his continuing preoccupation with the fate of German emigrants with his policy towards the Jews. He had often been reproached, the Führer complained to Admiral Horthy, for his rough treatment of the Jews, but what about the ‘250,000 Germans’ who had had to ‘emigrate’ every year from the Reich? They had had to do so under such terrible conditions, Hitler alleged, that 30 per cent of them died en route to Australia.223

Meanwhile, the Reich was being battered by the British Empire. Hitler’s fury at the ascendancy of the Royal Navy on the high seas exploded in a confrontation with Admiral Raeder on 6 January 1943. He was sacked and replaced by Dönitz at the end of the month. The RAF continued to pound German cities, and – with increasing effect – German industry as well. In his New Year’s proclamation, Hitler acknowledged that the ‘homeland’ was facing ‘heavy bombing attacks’.224 The first attack on Berlin for more than a year took place on 16 January.225 This was merely a portent of what was to come. At Casablanca, Churchill and Roosevelt issued a directive for a combined bomber offensive aimed at ‘the progressive destruction of the German military, industrial and economic system, and the undermining of the morale of the German people to a point where their armed resistance is fatally weakened’.226 On 23 January, the 8th Army took Tripoli and advanced on Tunisia, threatening the remaining Axis position in North Africa, and perhaps the fascist regime in Italy with total collapse. Hitler also feared British raids and even full-scale invasions on the Channel Islands, in the Balkans and in Scandinavia, his anxiety stoked by a barrage of false information generated by British Intelligence.

This was the context within which Hitler regarded the crisis in Russia. What was being defended there, he told the soldiers of the eastern front, was the living space and the living standard required to defend Germany against Bolshevism and the ‘Jewish-capitalist hyenas’, by securing the space necessary for ‘a secure food supply’ and ‘those raw materials without which human cultures are no longer imaginable today’.227 His main concern here was not Stalingrad, whose real predicament had still not been revealed to the German people, but the situation on the Don, where the Red Army had broken through in January 1943.228 The whole Donetsk industrial district was in danger, and with it Hitler’s entire industrial strategy for waging the war as a whole. When the generals recommended a retreat to save men, he refused. ‘Without materiel,’ Hitler said, ‘I cannot do it.’ Men without equipment, he added, were no use. The Donetsk region was already a cornerstone of Speer’s plans to raise production. If it were lost, Hitler warned, ‘the entire armaments programme will be redundant’, including ‘the entire tank programme’ as well as the ‘artillery programme’ and the ‘great ammunition programme’.229

The garrison at Stalingrad, left to its fate as resources were diverted to North Africa and the Don, was slowly ground down. On 21 January, Hitler rejected a direct appeal from Manstein to allow the 6th Army to surrender in order to prevent further bloodshed. Once the Red Army had overrun the last airfield and split the pocket in two, the end was only a matter of time. On 30 January 1943, the anniversary of the seizure of power, Hitler sent his last radio message to stiffen the garrison. He appointed Paulus field marshal, observing that no commander of that rank had ever been taken prisoner in German history. The inference was clear: Paulus should commit suicide rather than go into captivity. On 31 January 1943, the southern pocket surrendered. Two days later, the northern garrison also threw in the towel. Paulus was captured along with his entire staff. 110,000 men became prisoners of war; 60,000 had been killed or had starved to death during the siege. Only 5,000 were ever to return from the Soviet camps. It was the greatest defeat of the Wehrmacht so far.

Hitler was devastated by the fall of Stalingrad, not just by the loss of the men and materiel, but by the way in which Paulus had disobeyed orders. He feared that Stalin would make political capital out of his high-ranking captives. ‘You have to imagine it,’ he said: ‘[Paulus] comes to Moscow and [sees] the rat’s cage [in the notorious Lubyanka prison].’ ‘He will sign everything,’ Hitler predicted.230 In fact, it was to take a year and a half, but in the end Hitler was absolutely right: the field marshal did speak against the Nazi regime on a Moscow radio station. Hitler also worried that Paulus’s surrender complicated the narrative within which Hitler wanted to embed the disaster at Stalingrad. His plan had been to transfigure the suffering of the garrison into a European epic, which would stand alongside the winter battles of 1941–2 in the regime’s story-telling. As the news of the surrender came in, Hitler clutched at straws. Perhaps, he suggested, one could argue that even the staffs fought to the last man, and that they ‘only succumbed to overwhelming force when injured and overpowered’.231 His final communiqué on Stalingrad, issued on 3 February 1943 after the pocket had fallen, stated that the 6th Army had fought ‘until the last breath’. ‘They died,’ Hitler claimed, ‘so that Germany should live.’232

Stalingrad severely damaged the regime and Hitler’s own standing. It came at a time when he was under pressure at home for other reasons. In mid February 1943, the racial policy of the regime ran into unexpectedly fierce opposition. So far, Jews in mixed marriages had been exempt from deportation. When the Gestapo locked up about 2,000 of them in the Berlin Jewish Community Office in the Rosenstrasse, prior to sending them east, their wives staged a noisy protest. Hitler supported Goebbels’s decision to back down, but insisted that the Jews had to be removed from the capital one way or the other.233 During the first half of 1943, Hitler was also anxious about the effect of ‘shortages’ and rationing on civilian morale.234 The Third Reich was in the grip of a full-scale political and military crisis.

Hitler scrambled to stabilize the front and shield the economically vital Donetsk basin. Pressure from the generals to withdraw further west mounted.235 Five days after the fall of Stalingrad, Manstein, the commander of the reformed Army Group South, cornered Hitler, demanding not only a more flexible defence but also a chief of staff for all fronts to ensure a more ‘joined-up’ strategy.236 On another visit by Hitler to Army Group at Zaporosje, Manstein was brutally frank. ‘It can’t go on like this, my Führer,’ he exclaimed. Towards the end of the month, Kluge came to Führer Headquarters and berated him about the state of affairs.237 All this took its toll on Hitler. ‘He had suddenly become very old,’ his valet Heinz Linge recalled, ‘his left arm and his left leg have been shaking since the loss of Stalingrad.’ Guderian, who saw him shortly after the disaster on the Volga, had the same impression. Eva Braun, who hadn’t seen Hitler for some time, was shocked by his appearance when they met again in February 1943. Goebbels, whose contact was more regular, was similarly aghast and Hitler himself remarked on the deterioration. The contemporary newsreel footage certainly shows a physical decline in the Führer.238

In early March 1943, the British launched the ‘Battle of the Ruhr’, a four-month sustained aerial assault on the centres of German war production in the west.239 Night after night, the RAF struck at the major industrial towns: no fewer than six raids on Essen, four on Duisburg and Cologne, two on Bochum, Düsseldorf, Gelsenkirchen and Dortmund, and one on Krefeld, Mülheim, Barmen-Wuppertal, Elberfeld-Wuppertal. Midway through the campaign the RAF destroyed the Möhne and Eder dams, causing severe flooding, huge destruction and thousands of civilian deaths. Not only were many factories repeatedly hit, but there was massive disruption to the transportation network, the supply of component parts and the sleep patterns of the labour force. Hitler was forced to order the evacuation of as many industries, workers and their families as possible, fully aware of the resulting short-term loss of output.240 The campaign cost him about six weeks of production in all, a huge figure;241 aircraft output lagged for nine months. Civilian morale, already febrile after the raids in 1942 and the disaster at Stalingrad, plummeted. When Goebbels raised the bombing war with Hitler three days after the start of the offensive, he was cut short. ‘The Führer hardly lets me finish,’ he wrote, ‘and declares immediately that [the bombing] was a worry which preoccupied him deep into the night.’242

Despite all these woes, Hitler staged a remarkable military comeback. In late February, the Afrika Korps badly mauled the Americans at the Kasserine Pass in Tunisia. On the eastern front, Manstein counter-attacked vigorously and recaptured Kharkov.243 The vital Donetsk basin was retained for now. Meanwhile, the German armies in the Caucasus had been withdrawn without further disaster, and a bridgehead at Kerch and the Kuban retained. This not only shielded the Crimea from the Red Army, but gave Hitler a staging post for a fresh offensive in the summer. Where there were no critical strategic or economic interests at stake, Hitler traded space for time in the east. ‘Space,’ he explained in early March, ‘is one of the most important military factors,’ because ‘one can only operate if one has space.’ Had the crisis taken place on the old border of the Reich, Hitler argued, the war would have been lost. ‘Here in the east,’ he reiterated, ‘one can absorb this.’ In this spirit, Hitler ordered the evacuation of the Rzhev salient and other exposed areas in March 1943 in order to free up forces for deployment elsewhere.244

Buoyed by the victory at Kasserine, Hitler mused once more about the nature of his racial struggle with the ‘Anglo-Saxons’. Somewhat contrary to his usual rhetoric, he attributed the poor American performance on the battlefield to the decline of their agriculture as observed in photographs. This he contrasted with the robustness of the British. ‘There is no doubt,’ Hitler opined, ‘that the Briton is the best of the Anglo-Saxons’. He then proceeded to contrast once again the small size of Germany, which could be traversed by an aircraft in an hour and a quarter, with ‘entire continents’ such as ‘America, East Asia, Russia [and] Australia’. From there it was just a small step to speculating on what might have happened had Germans colonized Northern Australia, as the Duke of Windsor had allegedly suggested. Probably, he concluded, the British would simply have rounded them up at the outbreak of war.245 These reflections were embedded in a broader rumination about the importance of the ‘size of the state’s space’, which had enabled China to carry on fighting despite the loss of so much of its territory to the Japanese. The implication was plain: if Germany was to prevail in the clash of the continents, she would have to retain a comparable space to her rivals in Russia, contiguous to the Reich. The logic of Mein Kampf, the Second Book and Barbarossa still applied.

This is the reason why Hitler refused to countenance a separate peace in early 1943, except possibly with Britain, despite the critical military position. A compromise with Roosevelt was never considered, because the Führer regarded him as the guiding spirit of the enemy coalition, but nor did he try to come to terms with the Soviet Union. The main issue here was not Hitler’s antipathy to Bolshevism. He had begun to develop a grudging respect for Stalin.246 Immediately after the defeat at Stalingrad, Hitler told Ribbentrop of his great admiration for the Soviet dictator and the way in which he had revived the Red Army and inspired his people. But when the foreign minister suggested putting out peace feelers to Moscow, the Führer demurred. Six weeks or so later, Hitler also rejected Mussolini and Bormann’s request for negotiations with Stalin.247 In part, this was because he feared that the overture would be interpreted as a sign of weakness; any approach would have to be preceded by a decisive military victory.248 The main problem was that in order to balance the Anglo-Americans – once a long-term programme and now an urgent necessity – Hitler still needed the resources of the Ukraine and the Caucasus. Stalin was unlikely to give him the latter or to allow him to retain the former. The war with Russia, he told Mussolini, was his ‘life’s work’. It was fear of the west which drove his intransigence in the east.

It was this determination to hold on to his territorial spoils which caused Hitler to eschew any serious attempts to seek new allies in Russia. He issued oral guidelines which seemed to discourage Wehrmacht plans to establish a Russian committee and even a ‘Russian Liberation Army’.249 Operational considerations played an important role here. Hitler doubted the reliability and effectiveness of Russian auxiliaries. The main reason for Hitler’s reserve, however, was that he did not want to tie his hands politically. He showed no interest in the ‘Europe Committee’ set up by Ribbentrop in early April 1943 to think about the ‘overall structure of the future Europe’.250 By contrast, Hitler, who had earlier supported some sort of post-war system of friendly and allied states, now expressed his contempt for the ‘small-state clutter which still exists in Europe today’, which should be ‘liquidated as soon as possible’.251

In the spring of 1943, Hitler still had a coherent strategy to win the war, or at least to force a satisfactory draw. He would hold North Africa, to deny the Anglo-Americans a launchpad against southern Europe. He would secure the Balkans, Scandinavia and the west coast of France against an Allied landing. He would retaliate against the bombing of German cities by attacking those of Britain with weapons nearing readiness, and perhaps even those of the United States. He would continue his war against the Jews. He would shore up his many European and global alliances. He would cut Britain off from its overseas lifelines through an intensified submarine campaign. Finally, he would launch a fresh offensive in Russia in order to secure some of the remaining objectives of Barbarossa, to safeguard those already gained, possibly to knock Stalin out of the war, and at the very least to demonstrate that he still held the military initiative.

Throughout the first few months of the year, Hitler prepared his next move in the east.252 In March 1943, he announced plans for an offensive south-east of Kharkov, designed to eliminate a relatively small Soviet bulge there. It was the military leaders, especially Manstein and Zeitzler, who eventually persuaded him to launch a much bigger operation at Kursk.253 Despite this, even complete success merely promised to deliver Stalin a very bloody nose; the purpose of the attack was primarily political rather than military. It was intended, as Hitler said, to act as ‘a clarion call to the world’,254 to show that the Third Reich was still a force to be reckoned with.

It was in this context that Hitler stepped up the production battle. He gave more powers to Fritz Sauckel in order to increase the available labour force.255 In late January 1943, the ‘Adolf Hitler Panzer Programme’ was announced with great fanfare. It determined that, in the first three months of the year, priority should be given to tank production for the eastern front. Hitler told Speer that there should be ‘the highest possible output of tanks’ even if ‘other important war production was temporarily affected thereby’.256 This message was reinforced a few months later, when Hitler demanded detailed figures on tank production and let it be known that ‘because the battles of this summer entirely depend on numerical superiority in tanks’, he expected that ‘everything would be done to maintain these figures and if possible to increase them’.257 Despite this, tanks amounted to no more than 7 per cent of production in this period; the proportion of industrial capacity devoted to aircraft construction was more than five times larger.258

The military and economic mobilization was to be accompanied by a ‘total’ mobilization of the home front. In early January 1943, even before Stalingrad fell, Hitler issued a decree demanding the release of more men to serve at the front.259 Towards the middle of the month he spoke (apparently for the first time) of a ‘total war’, and once again stressed the need to free up more manpower.260 Further decrees demanding the weeding-out of shirkers followed.261 It was also in January 1943 that Hitler introduced compulsory ‘war-related’ labour service for women below the age of forty-five. This measure was intended to bring another 5.5 million women into the workforce. In practice, there were so many exemptions – for example, for mothers with a child under five or two children under eight years of age – and so little enforcement that nobody who did not actually want to work was forced to do so against her will.262

Hitler wanted the mobilization to be not just material, but also emotional and psychological. The military defeat at Stalingrad was to be transformed into a propaganda myth of endurance and renewal.263 Taking his cue from the Führer’s phrase, Goebbels publicly announced ‘total war’ in a thunderous speech at the Berlin Sportpalast in February 1943, shortly after the fall of Stalingrad. In the summer, Hitler ordered work started on a major new war film – Kolberg – about the heroic defence of a fortress during the Napoleonic Wars which was designed not merely to stiffen the spirit of resistance in Germany but to cultivate appreciation for Hitler’s idol Bonaparte – who was to be portrayed as an ‘admirable figure’. Goebbels and the Führer gave instructions that the director – Veit Harlan – should be given access to whatever Wehrmacht extras he needed to create a ‘large canvas’. No expense was to be spared in order to make a film which would put Hollywood in the shade.264 Speer’s armament efforts also came into their own, for whatever the actual increase in production, there is no doubt that he could tell a powerful story about the economy,265 which reassured not merely Hitler but the German people. For example, when discussing the construction of the Atlantic Wall, Hitler demanded ‘an appropriate propaganda’ under the slogan ‘further strengthening of the Atlantic Wall since Dieppe’.266 Here production and propaganda were two sides of the same coin.

The Führer was acutely conscious of fractures within his vaunted Volksgemeinschaft, but his room for manoeuvre was limited. On the one hand, he was reluctant to force middle-class women into menial work, especially if they were of childbearing age. This was not just an ideological issue. Hitler was aware that discontented female munitions workers had been a major source of unrest during the First World War. He was also anxious to preserve the illusion of normality as much as possible in order to keep civilian spirits up. On the other hand, the spectacle of bourgeois women being spared the rigours routinely expected of their proletarian counterparts sat ill with the regime’s ideology. Especially problematic were the privileges claimed by the wives and families of senior party members, which were bad for morale. Hitler repeatedly demanded that these were not to be abused, and that party members and their relations must behave in a way that was ‘exemplary’ for the rest of the population.267 As a token of his determination to break with convention, Hitler awarded the first war medals to women. The British air-attacks, which ground men and women into the dust equally, proved a great leveller.268

Hitler’s answer to the problem of shortages was more immediate. These were to be remedied by pillaging the occupied territories. ‘The Führer urgently points out,’ Speer recorded, ‘that shortages in the Reich should be dealt with in the first instance at the expense of the occupied territories.’269 For example, if there was a dearth of bicycles for armaments workers then those in Holland, Belgium, Denmark and so on should be confiscated. The same applied to trams. In due course, two decrees to that effect followed.270 This was the implicit bargain Hitler now struck with the German people: their European empire would not bring them the plenty that had been promised, but at least it helped to alleviate the want.271

Hitler was clear about the basic problem, which was not only a matter of production but also of transportation and mobility. In mid January 1943, he stressed the need to release more vehicles for the army in the east.272 In early February 1943, he lamented the loss of locomotives and the large casualties among train crew, which he hoped to reduce by the deployment of anti-aircraft weapons.273 A month later, the dire shortage of transport led him to appoint a ‘plenipotentiary for the registration of motor vehicles’.274 ‘The war,’ he remarked, ‘was in its essence a question of transport.’ The Germans’ failure to ‘master’ the ‘problem of mobility’, Hitler went on, had cost them Stalingrad, and was at the root of the crisis in North Africa. The main advantage enjoyed by Germany, he claimed, was that of ‘interior lines’, which reduced the amount of transport needed, but he warned that whoever solved the problem of mobility first would win the war.275

In May 1943, two central planks of Hitler’s strategy collapsed. The Axis forces in Tunisia capitulated. In military terms, it was a much greater disaster than Stalingrad, with well in excess of 130,000 Wehrmacht personnel taken prisoner, many more than had entered captivity with Paulus.276 Characteristically, Hitler intervened in person to demand (unsuccessfully) that the last planes out evacuated not the wounded but vital heavy equipment.277 This move reflected not the Führer’s heartlessness per se, but his prioritizing of materiel over men. Strategically, the end in Africa was even more catastrophic than the disaster on the Don. ‘Tunisgrad’278 – as it became known – blew the Axis position in the Mediterranean wide open, undermined Mussolini’s standing in Italy and provided the Allied air forces with bases to attack fortress Europe from the south.

The Führer’s problem was that he could not be sure where the Anglo-Americans would strike next. British Intelligence mounted an ingenious deception campaign, Operation Mincemeat, to persuade him that the blow would fall in Sardinia and Greece, rather than their next target, Sicily.279 The anxiety about the Balkans remained with Hitler, tying down considerable resources, until he evacuated the region just over a year later.280 Part of the motivation here was economic, to protect the mineral resources of the Balkans. Hitler also felt politically vulnerable. On 20 May 1943, he expressed his fears about the British family connections and sympathies of the Italian High Command. Hitler said that he expected everything he sent to the Duce would be passed on to London. Hitler’s expectation was that the Italians would soon abandon the Axis.281

It was in this context that Hitler issued a decree in May 1943 forbidding leading state, party and military men from maintaining ‘international’ contacts. ‘The experiences of the war,’ he stated with obvious reference to the situation in Italy, ‘have shown me beyond doubt that family relationships between German men and foreign circles can very easily have damaging effects on the common good.’ ‘This applies particularly,’ Hitler continued, ‘for the international family connections of governing and formerly governing princely houses.’ For this reason, he forbade senior figures from being married to women from countries ‘which are at war or in a state of political hostility with us’. The same applied if they had familial, social or business relationships to enemy countries and were thus to be regarded as ‘internationally bound’.282 The Third Reich was turning still further in on itself. In Hitler’s mind, the ‘go-betweens’, once a valuable part of his engagement with the west, were no longer a sally-port, but a weak spot in his own defences.

Hitler also suffered a catastrophic setback at sea. The intensified submarine campaign against the British supply lines across the Atlantic culminated in March, with nearly 630,000 tons of shipping sunk, at the cost of fifteen U-boats lost. If that rate had been maintained, Britain would probably have been starved out, and the Allied war machine on the near side of the Atlantic would have ground to a halt. Allied counter-measures, especially the increased use of radar, soon turned the tide. After an inconclusive April, sinkings dropped to 264,000 tons in May 1943; forty-one submarines were lost. Devastated by this battering, Dönitz temporarily withdrew his U-boats from the Atlantic. Hitler accepted the defeat with resignation and without recrimination. He had long foreseen the development of Allied countermeasures, and had been surprised at the run of good luck enjoyed by the U-boats.283 Right at the end of the month, Hitler ordered a ‘rapid increase in the production of U-boats’. He demanded the production of ‘at least’ forty submarines per month. Speer was put in charge of this effort.284 U-boats were redeployed to the Mediterranean and the Arctic. It was clear, though, that the Kriegsmarine would not be bringing Britain to its knees anytime soon.

Everything now depended on the planned summer offensive in the east. Throughout the late spring and early summer of 1943, a huge strike force was assembled. In late June 1943, Hitler received word of a possible Russian willingness to make a separate peace.285 He did not immediately reject the overture, but nor did he seize on it. That same month, Hitler rejected once again the idea of deploying anti-Soviet prisoners of war under General Vlasov.286 He also refused to countenance Hans Frank’s suggestion that the Third Reich capitalize on the revulsion against Stalin associated with the discovery of the murdered Polish officers at Katyn (April 1943) to pursue a more conciliatory course in Poland, and to recruit Poles into the Wehrmacht.287 The reason for Hitler’s hard line was not primarily racial, but political. He feared that it would complicate any compromise peace with Stalin, supposedly repeating the mistakes of Bethmann-Hollweg’s pro-Polish policy, which had stood in the way of an arrangement with Tsarist Russia.288 Hitler also doubted the military value of such formations, Polish or Russian, and he feared that they would just become the vehicle for Slavic political ambitions. Besides, it would risk repeating the error the German High Command had made of sending Lenin to revolutionize Russia in 1917.289 This was an extraordinary remark for Hitler to make, for it showed that he was perfectly aware that the Bolshevik revolution was not the result of a Jewish-plutocratic plot, but the product of a bold gambit by the German High Command.

On 5 July 1943, Hitler finally launched his attack at Kursk, Operation Zitadelle.290 The contrast with the offensives of the previous four years was striking. Hitler knew that he was no longer capable of a war of large-scale manoeuvre. For all the firepower and armour he concentrated at Kursk, the offensive was a limited and primarily attritional operation designed to eliminate a large Soviet salient. In those terms, it seemed set to succeed. The Wehrmacht lacked the element of surprise, but it managed to batter its way through the first lines of the Red Army defences. Soviet manpower and equipment losses were substantial.291 Those of the Germans were far lower. The legendary tank battle at Prokhorovka on 12 July was particularly costly for the Red Army.292 There was no question of any strategic breakthrough, but a major tactical victory over the Soviet Union, which could be exploited politically and propagandistically, appeared possible.

In fact, Hitler by then had already decided to call off the operation. On 10 July, the Allies landed in Sicily. The Italian defence collapsed within days. On 12 July, the Red Army launched a major offensive against Army Group Centre near Orel, north of Kursk. It is not clear which of these two challenges caused Hitler to halt the attack at Kursk;293 he did not immediately divert forces from the east, and given that Kursk was primarily a political operation designed, among other things, to reassure allies, it would have been counter-productive to do so. There is no doubt, however, that from now on the Anglo-American threat to his southern flank absorbed the greater part of his attention. The Kriegsmarine was instructed to move the bones of the Hohenstaufen emperor Frederick II, one of Hitler’s idols, from Sicily to the mainland.294 The battle for the island dragged on until the middle of the following month, but by then Hitler was already in the middle of the crisis he had long feared. Perhaps bowed down by the stalemate at Kursk, the Allied invasion of Sicily, and the imminent defection of Italy, Hitler suffered a major physical collapse on 18 July. He required substantial medication from Dr Morell before he was able to see the Duce at their meeting the following day.295

On 25 July 1943, Mussolini was deposed in a coup. The new Badoglio government pledged continued allegiance to the Axis, but Hitler was not deceived. He was well aware that the Marshal was his ‘bitterest enemy’. The defection of Italy was now imminent. Hitler’s reaction was swift. Sicily would have to be evacuated – fast. Unusually, Hitler gave priority to saving men rather than equipment. ‘Materiel here, materiel there,’ he remarked, ‘that doesn’t matter, the people are more important.’ The reason for this soon became clear. The Führer assumed that the Hermann Göring Division would be able to overawe the Italians without the use of heavy equipment. ‘We will be able to sort out the Italians with small arms alone,’ he remarked.296 A day later, Hitler ordered the transfer of substantial forces from the east to Italy, and the consequent surrender of the Orel salient to the Red Army. He laid down that these were to be ‘politically sound units, which are above all politically close to fascism’, and nominated the 3rd SS Panzer Division (‘Death’s Head’); it was partly recruited from concentration camp guards.297 Their mission was thus as much political as it was military. These reinforcements were unable to stop the Allies landing at Salerno south of Naples. Determined German counter-attacks were seen off. The Anglo-Americans now had a foothold on the European mainland.

To make matters worse, the collapse of the Mussolini regime was accompanied by the worst Allied bombing raids yet. For three days and three nights between 25 and 27 July 1943, the Americans pounded the port of Hamburg by day, and the RAF bombarded the residential areas by night. The resulting firestorm cost the lives of about 30,000 civilians. Industrial and harbour facilities were wrecked. The emergency services were overwhelmed. Hitler was devastated. Dönitz, who witnessed his reaction, recalled that he was ‘then just a human being full of, and bowed down by, pain’.298 Studying the photographs of incinerated women and children, he attributed a ‘brutal annihilatory will’ to the Anglo-Americans, and vowed that he would show no ‘mercy’ in future.299 His motivation here was also political. The Allied bombing campaign was putting the German home front under unbearable pressure. It would have to be stopped, Hitler warned, ‘otherwise people will eventually go mad’. The Führer was convinced that retaliation alone would force the Allies to back off. ‘The Briton will only stop,’ Hitler insisted, ‘when his cities are destroyed, otherwise not.’ ‘I can only win this war,’ he concluded, ‘by destroying more of the enemy than he can destroy on our side,’ or ‘at least’ by ‘teaching him the horrors of war’.300 In Hitler’s mind, the air war had thus become an attritional war of annihilation with the Anglo-Americans.

The Italian collapse and the cataclysmic turn in the bombing war triggered a severe crisis of the regime in the autumn of 1943. At a popular level, the air-raids were interpreted by many as the retaliation of Jewish plutocrats against Nazi policies. This hardened opinion against the Allies and ‘the Jews’ among segments of the population, but it also damaged the standing of the regime, particularly as the general military situation declined. NSDAP officials were abused and jostled in the street after raids.301 In Nuremberg, the local leadership reported in September 1943 that party members were concealing their badges when out on the street, that the greeting ‘Heil Hitler’ was becoming less common, and that the leadership was not enforcing conformity for fear of a backlash.302 Despite the severity of the attacks, opposition to mass evacuations did not abate. On the contrary, city dwellers were increasingly defying the party. When the Gauleiter of Westphalia South, Albert Hoffmann, tried to withdraw ration cards from people who had returned to the area without permission, there was a mass demonstration by hundreds of women on the Adolf Hitler Platz in the city of Witten. The police refused to intervene.303

These events placed Hitler in a quandary. If he did not respond, there was a risk that the authority of the Nazi regime as a whole would be undermined. If he clamped down too vigorously, there was the danger that unrest would grow, and that it would be exploited by the BBC. As we have seen, the deteriorating situation abroad and at home also took its toll on Hitler’s health. This may be the reason why Hitler was increasingly unwilling to show himself in public. Not only did he refuse to visit the bombed-out cities, but he also made fewer and fewer public speeches. There were only three in the whole of 1943, and just two the following year.304 The charisma of the Führer was waning fast.

The multiple challenges also provoked a high-political crisis in the Third Reich. Rosenberg lamented that there was actually ‘no [proper] government’ in the Third Reich. Its relentless focus on the overworked Führer meant that important matters were not decided or even discussed. The lack of direction was leading to the emergence of ‘warlord-style groups’ in the Nazi elite. This, Rosenberg acknowledged, was a structural problem to do with access to Hitler, which was often impossible to secure. Meanwhile, the usual polycratic squabbles continued. The Führer-state, which was meant to represent the essence of decision, in fact resulted in perpetual tergiversation. Given Hitler’s longstanding critique of the failures of parliamentary democracy to act, this was very ironic, as leading Nazis were well aware. ‘Even in authoritarian states,’ Rosenberg mused ruefully, ‘it is not easy to reach decisions.’305

If this was problematic in civil affairs, it was potentially fatal in military matters. Critics felt that Hitler was neglecting the east, that he was the only man with an overview of the war as a whole, and that he was making the wrong resource allocation between the fronts. For this reason, the commanders of Army Groups South and Centre in Russia, Manstein and Kluge, tried in early September 1943 to persuade Hitler to give up the OKW theatres of conflict and turn the running of the entire war over to Zeitzler. If not, he should at least appoint an overall commander on the eastern front.306 Either way, the request amounted to the removal of Hitler from operational command.

Hitler reacted vigorously to all of these challenges. Within twenty-four hours of hearing of the arrest of Mussolini, he vowed to ‘free [him] immediately through an airborne operation’ once he had identified where he was being held.307 Six weeks later, in a daring operation, a commando force rescued Mussolini from a hotel in the central Italian Apennine mountain range and brought him to see Hitler. A fortnight later, the Führer installed the Duce at the head of the Republic of Salò, an Italian puppet state, which nominally controlled the entire top half of the country. The Allied forces which landed at Salerno were quickly hemmed in, and the relatively narrow front between the Adriatic and the Mediterranean was fortified. Hitler would make the Allies fight their way every step up the Italian boot. He was absolutely in his element here: he would turn, not just the peninsula, but the entire continent into a ‘Fortress Europe’.308

Despite the deteriorating situation, Hitler would not believe that a separate peace with the west was possible, because he believed that Churchill’s enmity towards him was personal.309 He was still very hesitant about the establishment of a Russian liberation army.310 Hitler also rejected the idea of a separate peace with Russia, which was being strongly pushed by Tokyo and Ribbentrop so that Germany could turn its full attention against the Anglo-Americans.311 His objection was not primarily ideological, but territorial. Hitler warned the Japanese ambassador that he could not accept any terms that would require the return of the Ukraine to Stalin. Its retention, he stressed, was essential for the prosecution of the war against the western powers.312 In short, Hitler’s thinking on these subjects had not changed. He was wary of anything that might tend to encourage Slav nationalism, or to weaken his chances of holding on to a slice of Russian Lebensraum large enough to secure the future of the Reich, and to make it a plausible rival to Anglo-America. The war in east was still mainly about the west.

Nor did the decline in his strategic position make the Führer any more inclined to accept the ‘European’ vision of the Foreign Office. In early September 1943, it proposed the establishment of a European ‘confederation’ to keep out the ‘Anglo-Saxons’.313 Once again, Hitler showed no interest in any such arrangement, not even with the more ‘Nordic’ peoples of Europe. Hitler’s scepticism about the value of European allies, especially among the supposedly cognate Scandinavian peoples, was demonstrated by his meeting with the famous Norwegian writer Knut Hamsun in late June 1943, which soon degenerated into a shouting match.314 He told the Dutch fascist leader Anton Mussert towards the end of the year that he had no intention of ‘de-Netherlanding’ the Dutch, that he wanted to preserve the Netherlands as they were, with all their ‘peculiarities and customs’. Hitler also made clear that he had no ‘intention’ of pursuing a one-size-fits-all approach to the ‘small states’. Instead, Hitler planned to conclude treaties with each of these entities ‘individually’.315 In fact, Hitler rejected the idea of a European ‘standard last’ or a ‘unitary constitution’. ‘We must not take from the peoples all the freedom we can,’ he argued, but rather leave them ‘as much freedom as possible’. One should only try to ‘solve in conjunction with the other Germanic peoples’ those matters which ‘must be solved together’.316 Hitler, in other words, favoured a form of European subsidiarity.

Hitler’s European policy was driven not only by political and military considerations but also by the demands of the German war economy. In mid September 1943, he agreed to Speer’s suggestion that there should be overall ‘European production planning’, and perhaps also the establishment of a European ‘production bureau’.317 This was to include France as an ‘equal’ member, whatever that meant. At around the same time, Speer was put in charge of Italian industry.318 Hitler stated that it was ‘self-evident’ that, as ‘the leading power in Europe’, Germany would ‘retain the absolute leadership of production planning’.319 The predominance of the Reich in this new European system was axiomatic. For this reason, the Reichsmark, which was intended to become the leading fully convertible currency on the continent after the war, was occasionally referred to as the ‘Euro-Mark’ in the Third Reich’s internal planning documents.320

These moves were flanked by measures to maintain morale and increase ideological and racial cohesion. In mid September 1943, Stalin had set up the National Committee for a Free Germany, a group of captured officers opposed to Hitler.321 The Führer was sensitive to the threat they posed to his legitimacy, and began to give speeches to the military leadership, and to force them to reaffirm their loyalty to him.322 He also speeded up his efforts to improve the political consciousness of the officer corps more generally. In October 1943, Hitler summoned the commanders of the home military districts and the Reserve Army to the Führer Headquarters. Here he harangued them on the need to transcend pure professionalism in favour of political commitment. He specifically did not want a Soviet-style commissar, however, but someone who could motivate those who ‘spiritually cannot keep up’. The slogan should be ‘Here officer, there politruk [Soviet political officer]’.323 In late December 1943, Hitler decreed that ‘in the fifth year of the war, the political-ideological leadership and education of the armed forces should be intensified’. This was to be done through the establishment of a ‘National Socialist Leadership Staff’ in the OKW itself, whose head was to coordinate with the NSDAP as ‘bearer of the political will’.324

Hitler was also concerned to stiffen the political spine of German society more generally. In August 1943, he appointed Himmler minister of the interior. His job was to prevent a repetition of the Italian fiasco in Germany.325 The racial war was a key theatre, both in the ‘negative’ and in the ‘positive’ sense. On 6 October 1943, the Reichsführer gave a secret speech to the Gauleiter at Posen in which he explained that the Jews had been killed in order to maintain the coherence of the home front. That was ‘negative eugenics’. Four days later, Hitler issued a decree on the treatment of children born to German fathers and local mothers in the occupied eastern territories. ‘Children who are born illegitimately to native women in the occupied eastern territories, and whose fathers are Germans,’ he announced, were to be ‘registered’. ‘The Reich,’ he continued, ‘will take over responsibility for the children if they are racially valuable.’326 That was ‘positive eugenics’.

If Hitler took the most radical measures against the Jews, and the ‘unfit’, and was willing to take on the officer corps ever more directly, he was still very reluctant to confront some of the other structures of German society. For example, while willing to recruit female ‘anti-aircraft crew’, he insisted that there be no public advertisement of the effort. Instead he wanted news of the possibilities to serve to be spread by word of mouth among the party’s women’s organizations. This most likely reflected his fear of resistance in the more conservative parts of the country.327 Hitler was also wary of taking on the Roman Catholic church, partly because of its power domestically and partly because of the possible international repercussions. In early December 1943, he remarked – echoing Frederick the Great – ‘that he was of the opinion that everyone should seek salvation in his own way’, and that ‘he did not want to exercise any compulsion’, and that ‘in the area under his control’ anybody could be a member of the church’. Hitler went on to emphasize that he was open not only to the main Christian denominations, but also to Deists and even non-Christians. ‘We even have Muslims here with us,’ Hitler added,328 and it is perfectly true that he brought more Muslims to Germany than ever before.329

In the autumn and winter of 1943, Hitler was still pursuing a clear military-political strategy. He had always seen the Anglo-Americans as the main enemy; now the Führer saw them as the most immediate operational threat as well. On 3 November 1943, Hitler issued a far-reaching Directive 51 on the conduct of the war.330 Though the ‘danger in the east’ remained unchanged, he warned of ‘a greater one in the west – the Anglo-Saxon landing!’ In the east, Hitler continued, the ‘greater [availability of] space’ allowed ‘the loss of even larger amounts of territory without striking a deadly blow against the vital nerve centres’ of the Reich. ‘Not so in the west!’ he exclaimed. If the enemy secured a breakthrough on a broad front there it would quickly be fatal. He expected that the Allies would attack within the next few months ‘at the latest in the spring, but perhaps also earlier’. If the enemy did manage to land, Hitler went on, they should be counter-attacked immediately before they had a chance to consolidate their position. In many ways this directive simply ratified a shift in the centre of gravity of the German war effort which had been going on for some time.331

On the eastern front, Hitler ordered the Wehrmacht to dig in. Even before the failure of the Kursk offensive, he agreed to the construction of large-scale fortifications.332 In mid August 1943, he accepted the idea of an Ostwall using natural obstacles such as the Dnieper.333 The reason why Hitler, despite his overall strategy of holding in the west, and trading space for time in the east, was reluctant to retreat much further in Russia was economic and diplomatic. He had long since given up hope of another assault on the oil-fields of the Caucasus, but he clung to the Kuban bridgehead, and to what he still controlled of the industrial and mining areas of eastern Ukraine, for as long as possible.334 When that was lost in September 1943, his attention shifted to the defence of the Crimea, which was vital for the protection of the Romanian oil-fields and for ensuring the continued loyalty of his Black Sea allies. Besides, its loss might bring Turkey into the war against him.335

Hitler also sought to take the war to the enemy. In the autumn of 1943, the U-boats returned to the Atlantic. In September 1943, Dönitz presented plans for a new and much more formidable submarine, the type XXI, which could ‘live’ underwater for longer periods and move at such speed as to enable it to shake off escort vessels. Three months later, the Führer authorized mass production of these boats.336 In the air, Hitler’s hopes here rested on the ME 262, a pioneering jet aircraft, whose mass production he authorized in December 1943.337 Contrary to the desire of the Luftwaffe commanders defending the Reich, who wanted the new jet to be deployed as a fighter against Allied bombers, Hitler ordered its use as a bomber to retaliate against British cities. ‘I want bombers, bombers, bombers,’ he told the Luftwaffe leadership, ‘your fighters are completely useless.’338 As a result, the ME 262 arrived too late and in too few numbers to make any difference, and at a time when it could hardly even be fuelled.

The Führer’s main hope of deterring Britain, however, rested with the development of rockets capable of striking at London. These were, he remarked, ‘just as important as tank production’.339 In this spirit, Hitler ordered that the ‘Tank Decree’ be modified in favour of a decree for the production of rockets; the necessary workers were to be taken from other tasks.340 He justified the commitment of scarce resources by describing the rocket programme in July 1943 as a ‘decisive measure to relieve the homeland’ which could be ‘carried out with relatively modest means’.341 Hitler laid down that only German labour was to be used, preferably from areas which had been ‘totally destroyed’ by Allied bombing.342 Speer was given the go-ahead for mass production of these weapons with the explicit aim of prosecuting the war against Britain.343 ‘This will be the retaliation against Britain,’ he claimed on 20 August 1943, which would ‘force her to her knees’.344 In early December 1943, Hitler issued orders to the military commanders in the west for the ‘preparation and conduct of the long-range struggle against Britain with all the relevant special weapons’.345

At the heart of Hitler’s strategy in late 1943, in the air, at sea and on the ground, was not war but politics. He conceded in mid October 1943 that his ideal solution, by which he presumably meant total victory, might not be attainable, but that he intended to stay on his feet so as to exploit fortuitous developments as they arose. ‘So long as one lies in wait like a cat,’ he explained, ‘and takes advantage of every opportunity to put one over on the other side, then nothing is lost’. The enemy, he promised, would show such ‘moments of weakness’; all Germany had to do was to exploit them. The key was to show ‘tenacity’ in the knowledge that a sudden internal crisis in one of the coalition states ranged against the Reich could bring about the collapse of the entire enemy front. Besides, he noted, there was the American presidential election scheduled for 1944, which might well bring political change in the United States.346 The defensive measures in the west were thus also intended to impress the Americans, and if necessary to ensure that they suffered a bloody nose when they landed. He reminded the military leadership again in mid December 1943 that Roosevelt was up for re-election and that he might ‘lose’ if he suffered a military reverse.347 Repelling the invasion would also enable Hitler to drive a wedge between London and Washington. In short, Hitler decreed, ‘when they attack in the west, then this attack will decide the war’.348

In the last two months of the year, the onslaught on Hitler’s ‘Fortress Europe’ intensified. In mid November 1943, the RAF and USAAF commenced a six-month air campaign against the Reich capital.349 Allied bombers also continued to batter other German cities. During the day, the Americans came for the factories and other parts of the German war economy; at night, the British came for the residential areas and for the Germans themselves. ‘What the German homeland has to put up with here,’ Hitler said, ‘is known to all of us, and what I feel personally about the matter, you can imagine.’350 City after city in which Hitler had spoken, which he had dominated with triumphal processions, collapsed under a hail of incendiaries and high explosive. The centre of Munich was struck by hundreds of RAF bombers on 6 September 1943, and again on 2 October. During the night of 22 and 23 October 1943, Kassel was engulfed by a firestorm. All the Führer could do was spit defiance against the ‘aerial terror’, which he claimed would only strengthen German resolve. Erhard Milch, the state secretary of the Air Ministry, argued after the autumn raids ‘that Germany itself is the real front line’.351 Likewise, the ‘situation reports’, Hitler’s daily meetings with the High Command, filed the bombing raids under ‘west’. The ‘Second Front’ already existed, not in France to be sure, but in the skies above Germany.

In short, by the end of 1943, even before the first Allied soldier had set foot in France, the western powers were absorbing the greater part not merely of Hitler’s attention,352 but also of his resources. This was the decisive year in the great attritional battle. The war in the air ate up a huge proportion of the German war economy: in 1943, 41 per cent went on aircraft alone. The next-biggest item that year was ammunition, at 29 per cent. Another 8 per cent or so went on naval vessels, especially submarines, most of which were deployed against the west. Only about 6 per cent of the war economy was devoted to tank production, despite the demands of the eastern front. In autumn 1943, more than 2,000 anti-aircraft guns of 88 mm calibre, or above, were deployed in defence of the Reich, along with about 1,600 day and night fighters, far more than were deployed in the east. At the start of the year, just under 40 per cent of the Luftwaffe was based in the east; by its end, that figure had dropped further to about 35 per cent. One way or the other, most of the German war effort was now geared to fighting the Anglo-Americans, and the proportion increased with every passing month.353

Worse still, the Reich had conclusively lost the battle of production. This was not for want of trying. German output increased substantially in 1943,354 but not nearly enough. This was partly because of the bombing. In mid December 1943, Hitler was informed that production of key weapons, such as assault guns, had been substantially reduced by Allied air-raids.355 He ended the year with fewer machine guns than he had started.356 Hitler’s main problem, though, was that western output grew so much more quickly. The Reich had drawn level with the Soviet Union in 1943, but she was being completely outproduced by the United States and, to a lesser extent, the British Empire. A substantial proportion of that output was going to the Russians, via the Arctic convoys, Iran and Vladivostok, giving them the edge in battlefield mobility. While most of the Wehrmacht was deployed in the east, and it suffered most of its casualties fighting the Red Army,357 its weakness there was largely one of equipment rather than manpower.358 Thanks to the Western Allies, the Soviet Union faced far fewer German tanks in the east (because they were never made) and many fewer fighters (because these were in the west). It was already clear that National Socialist élan and German brain would prove no match for western industrial brawn. Hitler could outproduce Stalin’s Five Year Plan, but not Roosevelt’s New Deal.

Meanwhile, the Nazi leadership continued its internecine warfare. The winners and losers in these struggles were becoming clear by the end of 1943. Goebbels extended his authority well beyond propaganda into large swathes of the civilian sector. Himmler had consolidated his control over the security apparatus. Speer was the undisputed master of the German war economy. Göring, by contrast, had lost all authority. Rosenberg had been largely sidelined some time earlier, and his eastern European fiefdom was steadily shrinking anyway. In Hitler’s immediate vicinity, the main victor was Martin Bormann, whose unstoppable rise was noted. He had almost completely edged out Hans-Heinrich Lammers, the head of the Imperial Chancellery, whose ability to brief Hitler shrank further throughout the year.359 Bormann effectively controlled not only civilian access to Hitler, but also (it was believed) what came from the Führer. ‘Now Bormann was in power,’ Rosenberg wrote in the autumn of 1943, ‘because nobody who received a communication from him could distinguish whether this constituted a personal order of the Führer’s’, or merely reflected ‘Bormann’s own views’.360 Hitler’s authority, in fact, was not challenged, but the net result of all this was to cause the machinery of government to grind, if not to a halt, then ever more slowly.

As the year drew to a close, Hitler remained a man in full command of his faculties and still master if not of his destiny, then of the Third Reich and much of Europe. German forces still stood everywhere on enemy soil: off the North Cape, halfway down the Italian boot, in Greece, at the Pyrenees and deep inside the Soviet Union. Hitler still cut an impressive figure at military briefings, with no signs of any mental breakdown.361 Physically, though, the deterioration was dramatic. Not many people knew that the Führer had required a hefty dose from Dr Morell to cope with the Italian collapse during the autumn, but most could see that he was a sick man. The symptoms of Parkinson’s disease were now manifest.362 His decline was visible even in the Wochenschau newsreels, at least to the Imperial Chancellery doctor Ernst Schenck, who noticed the stoop but attributed it to a spinal problem.363 Werner Best, who met him in person in December 1943 for the first time in more than a year, was ‘shocked’. ‘He gave the impression of a tired, broken [and] old man,’ he recalls, he walked haltingly and was so stooped that he appeared ‘hunched’. ‘His face,’ Best continued, ‘was sunken and lined’, and his ‘eyes were rigid and appeared reproachful’. Even so, Best notes, Hitler dominated the conversation with a wide-ranging review of various topics.364
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The Fall of ‘Fortress Europe’

On New Year’s Day 1944, Hitler issued a proclamation to the German people, and an order to the Wehrmacht. Both showed that the Führer’s war aims and legitimating ideology remained unchanged after more than four years of war. Germany, he claimed, was a ‘socialist people’s state’ embarked on a ‘survival struggle not merely of the German Reich but of the entire European continent’ against the ‘Bolshevik-plutocratic world conspirators and their Jewish wire-pullers’.1 If it did not resist, Hitler warned, the Reich and Europe as a whole risked being enslaved and starved by the forces of international plutocracy and imperialism. ‘Wherever Britain rules today,’ he remarked, alluding to the recent mass famine in Bengal, when the Allies had diverted grain from starving Indians to support the European fronts,2 or at the very least refused to supply the necessary shipping to feed the victims, ‘hunger and misery are a feature of life’.3 Globally, therefore, Hitler saw himself as resisting Anglo-American imperialism. In Europe, by contrast, he was desperately trying to hold on to his colonial gains, especially in the east. ‘After four years of battle,’ he pointed out, ‘Germany, which began the war with 634,000 square kilometres of German Lebensraum,’ now occupied ‘2,650,000 square kilometres of Europe’.4

Hitler conceded that 1943 had been an extremely difficult year. The ‘disgraceful treason against the Duce’ had forced Germany to take ‘very tough decisions’, including large-scale withdrawals of forces not under attack, which had been difficult for individual soldiers to understand. Men had been withdrawn from the east in order to secure ‘the rest of the European Lebensraum’ against the onslaught of the ‘Anglo-Saxon forces’. In the Balkans, the ‘subterranean agitation’ of ‘British-paid traitors’ was threatening the German position. Hitler also admitted, referring to the Battle of the Atlantic, that ‘the scales of technical innovation in the year 1943’ had tilted in the direction of the enemy. Most painful of all, though, had been the Allied air attacks on the Reich, which had reduced many German cities to ‘rubble’.5 The Führer vowed to surmount these challenges. He swore that ‘the hour of reprisal’ for the bombing would come. He would rebuild German cities. Above all, the Führer vowed to repel the expected Allied invasion. He promised ‘the plutocratic western world’ a ‘worthy reception’ wherever they landed.

Over the next five months, Hitler’s confidence was tested by the Allied storm on ‘Fortress Europe’. In late January 1944, the Americans and British Empire forces landed behind the German lines at Anzio and Nettuno, not far south of Rome, achieving complete surprise. Hitler demanded that the Allied bridgehead be swiftly sealed off, hammered with artillery fire and then overrun. This was partly because he knew that, once established, the enemy would not be easily dislodged, partly in order to discourage further landings, partly because he feared the effects of Allied air superiority, and partly to reduce the political fallout.6 Despite determined efforts, however, Kesselring was unable to throw the Allies back into the sea, and after months of heavy fighting around Monte Cassino, he was forced to pull back in mid May. Hitler declared Rome an undefended ‘open city’, and on 5 June 1944 the Italian capital fell to US general Mark Clark. All this before a single Allied soldier had landed in northern France, which was where Hitler was expecting the main Anglo-American effort to take place.

Meanwhile, Stalin had launched three offensives in the east. In the north, he punched through the German lines around Leningrad and lifted the siege of that city, which had lasted nearly two and a half years. The Soviet dictator was now poised to strike at Finland, and break into the Baltic. Stalin also attacked on two fronts in the Ukraine, cutting off the Crimea and pushing westwards towards Romania and central Europe. Soon the Germans were left holding only a small perimeter line around Sebastopol. The Soviet advance was greatly facilitated by the mobility conferred on the Red Army by hundreds of thousands of Lend-Lease trucks, jeeps and other vehicles.7

The cumulative effect of the reverses on Hitler’s European allies was shattering. They had been wavering since Stalingrad; now they were openly eyeing the exits. After the loss of Odessa in April 1944, the Romanians became increasingly anxious. Hitler confronted Marshal Antonescu with evidence that his foreign minister was in secret contact with the western powers.8 Hungary, the furthest away from the Red Army, was also the least dependable, and appeared on the verge of collapsing in early 1944. The Führer also knew that the Finns, who were desperate by the start of the summer, were longing to make a separate peace with Stalin. The war at sea was also going badly. In March 1944, Dönitz withdrew his U-boats from the Atlantic and ordered them to switch from ‘wolf-pack’ tactics to operating individually or perhaps in pairs or groups of three.

In the air the situation, already bad, became steadily worse. On 1 January 1944, the Americans set up the United States Strategic Air Forces in Europe to coordinate the assault on the Reich. That same day saw a heavy RAF raid on the German capital, one of nine in six weeks. On 6 March, the USAAF launched its first daylight raid on Berlin.9 Shortly afterwards, however, the ‘Battle of Berlin’ was called off due to heavy losses and the obstinate refusal of the wide-avenued city to burn.10 The campaign had cost the RAF around 500 bombers, claimed the lives of 10,000 Berliners, left 400,000 of them homeless, and many more without basic services. Other German cities were also hit, some heavily, in particular Augsburg (25/26 February), Essen (26/27 March) and Munich (24/25 April), where a whole suburb was almost entirely obliterated by the RAF. Even when there were no large-scale attacks in progress, Germans were tormented by the incessant buzzing of RAF Mosquitoes, hitting pinpoint targets and those of opportunity. The raids had a substantial impact on domestic morale, which was depressed both by the human and material devastation and by the increasing evidence of Anglo-American daylight air superiority over the Reich. Hitler was well aware of all this, and there is a rare photograph of him inspecting bomb damage in 1944.11

The Führer was also in no doubt about the huge damage being inflicted not merely on German industry, but also on the transportation system and energy supply. In late February, the USAAF launched six devastating raids on German aircraft factories, leading Speer to warn Hitler of a crisis in fighter production.12 In late April 1944, he was briefed on the production losses at Krupp’s, following the renewed attacks on Essen; Hitler was also warned about the reduced fighter output after the attacks on the Dornier plant at Friedrichshafen.13 The Führer was particularly concerned about the damage Allied air attacks inflicted on vehicle production, which was essential to maintain mobility in modern warfare. Hitler fretted about the good Allied intelligence underlying these raids, which he attributed to domestic treason.14 Perhaps most worrying of all were the USAAF attacks on the Reich’s oil production, to which three large-scale raids from bases in Italy were devoted in April–June 1944. In late May 1944, Speer briefed Hitler on the mounting oil supply problems due to systematic American attacks on the Romanian oil refineries; the Führer was also given a list of damaged oil installations in Hungary and the Reich itself, and an assessment of the expected catastrophic reduction in output.15

Finally, there was the horrendous attrition of the Luftwaffe, which was flushed out by the raids, and which was losing hundreds of aircraft a month in German airspace alone.16 This metric considerably understates the extent to which Hitler’s war effort was now geared to fighting the bombing war. More than 800,000 men were permanently deployed to defend the Reich, many of them manning the 14,000 heavy and 40,000 light anti-aircraft guns. Another million men were involved in clearing up or restoring essential services. The Russians noted a growing decline in the quantity and ability of German pilots on the eastern front.17 The production of aircraft, flak artillery and other weaponry for the defence of the Reich absorbed a huge and growing proportion of Nazi industrial capacity. In short, the American entry into the war was already proving decisive, long before a single man set foot in Normandy.

Hitler’s racial anxieties interacted with these politico-military threats. If most European Jews were now dead, he was still worried about the danger posed by the remaining pockets, and of course world Jewry in the Soviet Union and, especially, Anglo-America. Throughout the first few months of 1944, Hitler reiterated his view that the Jews had contaminated Britain18 and the United States, inducing false consciousness there which pitched them against the German Reich. He fretted over the supposed role of Hungarian Jews in turning that country against him. The Führer also continued to take a close interest in the persecution of the remaining elements of German Jewry. In the first months of the year, he issued no fewer than three new decrees on the status of ‘half-castes’ in order to ensure that ‘German blood’ was ‘kept pure’.19

It is therefore ironic that by early 1944 Hitler’s policies had created the very racial dystopia he had wanted to avoid. To be sure, Hitler was well on the way to ‘ridding’ Europe of Jews, but there were more foreigners, especially Slavs, in Germany than ever before, working in the war economy.20 The risk of domestic racial ‘contamination’, reflected in the countless ordinances designed to stop it, was acute. Externally, Hitler was also in exactly the situation he had wanted to avoid. Allied to a coalition of Slavs and Latins, and other global ‘have-nots’, such as imperial Japan, the Germans manned a shrinking perimeter line against the (principally) ‘Anglo-Saxon’ onslaught, on land, at sea and in the air. Moreover, many of those now arrayed against the Reich were the descendants of the best elements of the German people who had left over the previous two centuries. Hitler presided over the greatest single wave of immigration into Germany at the very moment when he was under attack by her own emigrants.

The commander of the US Strategic Air Forces in Europe, the man who was directing the American air campaign against the Reich, was General Spaatz. He was born Carl Spatz of German ancestry in Pennsylvania; he added an ‘a’ to his name in 1937 to suggest Dutch rather than German origin.21 The names of some of the USAAF pilots shot down during the massive raid on Berlin on 6 March 1944 told their own story: Naushalter, Kolb, Griesel, Frantz, Radtke, Handorf, Lautenschlager, Wagner, Schimmel and Stauss.22 The first post-raid reconnaissance pictures were taken by Major Walter Weitner in a Spitfire of the US 7th Photo Group. This struggle should be understood not as a gentlemanly joust in the clouds like the ‘dogfights’ of the First World War, but as a desperate scramble with atrocities on both sides.23 Even so, some of those shot down reported being approached by German civilians for news of their relatives in America.24 The long entanglement with the United States continued even in adversity.

Worse still, on the other side of the English Channel, a whole army of Anglo-Saxons, as both Hitler and the Wehrmacht almost invariably called them, many of them German in origin, waited to mount their invasion. The Führer was aware that the supreme command of the Allied Expeditionary Force had been given to Dwight Eisenhower, though it is not known what he made of the fact that his adversary descended from the Eisenhauers, pacifist Mennonites who left the Saarland for Pennsylvania in the eighteenth century.25 Among the men who would soon take the fight beyond the Rhine were General Clarence Huebner (V Corps), whose Stuttgart-born grandfather Gottfried Hübner had left for America in the early nineteenth century; General William Schmidt (76th Division), whose father was Austrian; General Walter Lauer (99th Division), both of whose parents were German; Emil Reinhardt (69th Division), whose grandfather Heinrich Christian Christoph Reinhardt was born in Brunswick in 1825; Herman Kramer, born to two German immigrants; General Donald Stroh (106th Division), whose great great grandfather was born in Rimsdorf/Saarland, before emigrating to fight in the American revolution; General Paul Baade (35th Division), whose grandfather Wilhelm Baade hailed from Windheim, Prussia in 1830; General Bertram Hoffmeister (Canadian 5th Armoured Division), whose paternal grandfather emigrated from Hamburg as a teenager.

In late January 1944, Himmler sent out a circular to the head of the Security Service, the head of the Coordination Centre for Ethnic Germans, and the head of the SS Main Office. He demanded that those American prisoners who had German parents or grandparents should be separated from their comrades and brought to a ‘special camp’. Himmler’s plan was ‘to influence’ this ‘lost Germanity’ in a clever way in order ‘to gradually win it back again’.26 He was not, of course, interested in German Jews like Henry Kissinger of the US army, who were also preparing to return to the European mainland, but in the Eisenhowers.27 In both cases, the stones the Fatherland had rejected would become capstones in the coalition facing the Reich. In the Eisenhauers, Germany had exported peace, but it re-imported war.

In this context, it is unsurprising that Hitler should have returned to one of his central preoccupations, which was the supposed inherent racial weakness of the German people. In late January 1944, he summoned the senior military leadership to the Wolf’s Lair.28 He told them that in Germany the racial core had been undermined by domestic divisions since the Reformation, unlike in England, which at this time had begun its ascent to ‘later world domination’. ‘Already in those days,’ he claimed, ‘the sun did not go down on the German Reich.’ Instead of world power, however, Germany lost importance and her people so that her population numbered only 85 million rather than the 300 million she would otherwise have had, a clear reference to the demographic losses through war and emigration. Without the Thirty Years War, Hitler continued, the New World would certainly have been German. Even so, and here Hitler echoed an enduring myth in early twentieth-century Germany, the United States nearly became German. The decision to make English the official language of America, he averred, was only taken ‘with a one-vote majority, and this vote was sadly given by a German’. The Führer’s anxiety about the lost Germans and their propensity to turn their back on the Fatherland could not have been more clearly expressed.

This is why Hitler was so exercised about the composition of the German ‘people’ (Volk), which he distinguished from the Nordic race. ‘We know today,’ Hitler explained in his briefing to the military, ‘that the Volk does not really represent a [single] racial unit but a racial conglomerate’, and that the ‘values’ didn’t lie in the conglomerate as a whole but in the ‘racial kernels’. ‘A people,’ he elaborated, ‘is a community of people of the same language [and] history’, which might endow them with ‘similar sentiments’ but this did not mean that they were of the ‘same racial belonging’. ‘We are one people,’ Hitler continued, ‘but we are not one race.’ It was, so to speak, a case of one Volk, and one Führer, but many races. ‘Our people,’ he explained, ‘is composed of a whole series of racial kernels,’ but ‘the decisive racial kernel, which has formed the German people in the purely organizational sense, is the Nordic one’. This ‘Nordic-Germanic’ core had imposed itself out of a ‘subconscious instinct for domination’ and absorbed the others.

Hitler was more ambivalent about this racial mixing than one might imagine. On the one hand, he was determined to distil the Nordic racial core. On the other hand, Hitler saw positive sides to the ‘marriage of the races’ in the German Volk. ‘There is a Slavic race,’ he said, ‘which is musical’, and ‘a Germanic race, whose nature is wholly unmusical’. ‘Both combined,’ Hitler claimed, ‘suddenly produce great composers,’ such as ‘Beethoven Wagner and Bruckner’. The ‘key thing’ was to ‘gradually bring [each] racial kernel to bear on that part of our community where it is most suited to do the necessary work’. In music, that might be a Slavic-Nordic blend, but, for military purposes, the Reich would need the pure Nordic strain. In other words, in Hitler’s vision each racial core would have its function within the German Volk.

The Führer blamed the stunted development of Germany’s Nordic core on capitalism. ‘The process of pure capital formation,’ he claimed, and the growth of a ‘general education’ which had nothing to do with the development of ‘true racial value’ had led to the creation of a wealthy class which took over politics despite lacking the ability to do so. Capitalism and racism, in Hitler’s book, were not compatible. Once again, Hitler illustrated this point with reference to the British. ‘We see here the difference between Germany and Britain,’ he continued, where ‘[we] still [find] a very distinctive pure master race which still controls politics and thus ensures a completely unified leadership over the decades’. More than four years into the war, far from dismissing the British as racially corrupted by the Jews, Hitler still saw them as a racial model. In fact, he coined the very term ‘master race’ to describe their ruling class.

The solution to the racial weakness of the German people, Hitler claimed, lay in the ‘mobilization of racial value’. In so far as this involved giving the Germans the discipline they naturally lacked, this required ‘drill’, by which he meant both ‘square-bashing’ and ‘indoctrination’. Hitler laid more stress, though, on ‘understanding’, the kind of internal confidence and strength which came naturally to the Nordic core (and, one might add, to Anglo-Saxons). ‘That is why discipline and breeding can under no circumstances replace inner conviction,’ he explained, but at best complement it. There were many ways of achieving this. One was through culture, especially music, the appreciation of which would help to establish racial value. ‘When I strike a chord,’ Hitler explained, ‘then the strings which are tuned to that chord react,’ whereas the others did not, or did so only belatedly. This theory explains why Hitler could not accept that Jews understood great German composers such as Wagner. Another method of racial improvement was the creation of ideological coherence, and here the Führer acknowledged the Bolshevik achievement in effecting ‘an immense ideological re-education’ in Russia after 1917. Germans would need ‘uniformity of world view’, ‘nerves and power’ and ‘fanaticism’ to prevail. Most importantly of all, Hitler wanted to establish what he considered racial unity in Germany by overcoming the capitalist order and working for the ‘construction of a new classless society’.

On the military and political front, Hitler continued the strategy he had developed the previous year.29 He increasingly believed that the only way of dealing with the threat from the air was through ‘relocation’, and given the ever-increasing range of the Anglo-American bomber fleets that meant going underground. Hitler demanded that these measures should not just be temporary but part of a ‘large-scale and final relocation of the entire German industrial capacity below the surface’.30 While the Anglo-Saxons ruled the skies above, in other words, the Germans and their slave-dwarves burrowed further and further underground, causing the mountains to resonate with the Wagnerian tinkling of hammers on metal.

Meanwhile, Hitler prepared to repel the imminent Allied invasion; this was his main priority.31 He believed that the best chance he had of doing so was to prevent the Anglo-Americans from getting ashore, or by overrunning the bridgehead before the enemy had time to consolidate. This involved building extensive fortifications, about which Hitler enthused at length. ‘I am the greatest fortress-builder of all time,’ he remarked without obvious irony in January 1944, ‘I built the Westwall [and] I have erected the Atlantic Wall.’32 Most of the Wehrmacht leadership, who favoured manoeuvre over static warfare, frowned on the Führer’s continuing obsession with steel and concrete. In the first few months of the year, a bitter argument raged between Rommel and the commander of the tank forces in the west, the redoubtable Geyr von Schweppenburg, about the deployment of the panzer divisions. Geyr, who still hankered for the great panzer manoeuvres of the early years, wanted to maintain a large operational reserve well behind the coast to strike once the enemy’s main ‘centre of gravity’ had become clear. Rommel, who had extensive experience of Anglo-American air power, knew that his tanks would never reach the beaches unless they were close by.33 Hitler – who was also under no illusions about the mobility of German formations under conditions of Allied air superiority – tended to agree with Rommel. He warned that, once established, the bridgehead would be ‘systematically’ expanded ‘with the massed deployment of the air force and heavy weapons of all types’.34 Hitler compromised to keep the peace, and also to hedge his bets. Some of the panzers were kept close to the coast, the rest were held back.

The thinking behind Hitler’s strategy remained political rather than military. He still wanted to inflict such a bloody defeat on the Allied landing forces in France that Churchill would be confronted with another Gallipoli, and Roosevelt would lose the presidential election in November. ‘A failed landing,’ Hitler predicted to his generals in late March 1944, ‘will prevent the re-election of Roosevelt in America.’ He would probably end up in prison. ‘In Britain too,’ a defeat would increase ‘war-weariness’ and undermine Churchill.35 ‘The British know very well,’ he told the Slovak leader Monsignor Tiso in mid May 1944, ‘that if they launch an invasion today and it failed, they would then have had it.’36 One way or the other, the Führer stressed, reprising the theme of Directive 51, the ‘western front’ was the ‘decisive front’ upon which ‘alone’ the ‘outcome of the war and thus the fate of the Reich depended’.37

In the east, Hitler continued to stand on the defensive, holding positions for as long as possible, and then trading space for time. His strategic objectives there were threefold, all driven by the primacy of the western front. Firstly, Hitler wanted to retain as much Russian Lebensraum and resources as he could in order to support the German war economy against Anglo-America. Secondly, at Dönitz’s request, the Führer was determined to keep the Russians out of the Baltic, because he needed it to train crews for the new generation of U-boats out of range of Allied bombers.38 Thirdly, Hitler wanted to keep Stalin at bay until he had seen off the Anglo-Americans, after which he would settle accounts in the east. His main focus was on the northern and southern sectors.39 Reinforcements were sent to Estonia. General Lindemann, the new commander of Army Group North, was summoned to the Berghof in early April 1944 and lectured by Hitler on the importance of defending the Baltic.40 In the south, Hitler hung on in the Crimea until 5 May 1944, when he finally ordered the evacuation of Sebastopol.

Of all the allies, it was Hungary which gave the most cause for concern. It still lay some way away from the Red Army, but Hitler was convinced that the Kállay administration had been suborned by the Jews and the British. ‘I have known for some time,’ Hitler declared on 12 March 1944, ‘that the Hungarian government has been preparing [to] betray the allied European nations.’ He explained this conduct with reference to the allegedly all-powerful role of ‘Jewry’ in Hungary and the activities of ‘individual reactionaries’ and ‘corrupt elements of the Hungarian aristocracy’. Hitler therefore decided to occupy Hungary and pave the way for a ‘national’ government there.41 He summoned its ruler, Admiral Horthy, to the palace of Klessheim near Salzburg on 18 March 1944 for a meeting which proved particularly stormy. On 19 March 1944, the Wehrmacht and SS occupied Hungary.

This was the context to the next stage in Hitler’s war against the Jews. Thousands were seized within days of the invasion, and more than 800,000 were at risk.42 Under pressure from the recently established War Refugee Board and his Treasury secretary Henry Morgenthau, Roosevelt issued a stern warning to Hitler about their fate and that of European Jewry as a whole. ‘In one of the blackest crimes of all history,’ the president declared in a radio broadcast on 24 March 1944, ‘the wholesale systematic murder of the Jews of Europe goes on unabated every hour.’ It was therefore obvious, he continued, ‘that we should again proclaim our determination that none who participate in these acts of savagery shall go unpunished’. The New York Times reported on this speech under the headline ‘Roosevelt warns Germans on Jews; says all guilty must pay for atrocities’.43 If Hitler received the message, which is likely, he was certainly not swayed by it. In mid May 1944, the mass deportation of Hungarian Jews began, with 430,000 taken to Auschwitz within two months, three-quarters of whom were immediately murdered.44 Hitler personally ordered 10,000 Wehrmacht soldiers returning from the Crimea to help the SS to guard the transports.45

Hitler’s priorities in early 1944 were reflected in his deployment of forces. The vast majority of the Kriegsmarine and the Luftwaffe, and thus a huge proportion of the war economy, were geared towards fighting the Anglo-Americans. It is true that most of the army was still stationed in the east in June 1944, with 164 divisions and 1,900 tanks there, and 111 divisions and 1,900 tanks in France, the Balkans and Italy, but these figures are deceptive. The proper metric here is not ‘man-months’,46 but what one might call ‘machine-months’, that is the amount of time and capacity devoted to production. Taken together, a clear preponderance of the German effort was being directed to fight the war with the western powers, even before the first Allied soldier set foot in Normandy. Moreover, the higher quality and ideological commitment of the forces deployed in the west told their own story. Far from using his feared and trusted SS armoured formations and parachute divisions primarily against the Bolsheviks, Hitler sent most of them to France and Italy,47 to confront the Third Reich’s most dangerous military and ideological enemies.

This was reflected in Hitler’s public and private rhetoric. To be sure, he was anxious about Stalin and his ability to ‘turn’ captured German officers through ‘Bolshevik secret police methods’.48 But whereas he considered the Soviet danger to be a matter of compulsion, Hitler regarded the west as a more insidious and much greater threat. Firstly, he remained anxious that the Anglo-Americans might be seen as more plausible saviours from the perils of Bolshevism. He warned Germans – and Europeans – not to believe in the ‘British promises of help’. Only Germany, Hitler claimed, could ‘save Europe’ from the Soviet Union.49 Secondly, Hitler continued to see the west as a mortal ideological threat. In early 1944, the Heerespersonalamt published, at Hitler’s request, a book entitled What We Are Fighting For. The four enemies of the Third Reich were listed as world Jewry, Bolshevism, Britain and the United States. Neither the Soviet Union nor Slavdom was specifically included in this classification (though the USSR was implicit in the term ‘Bolshevism’). Instead, Hitler particularly stressed the importance of propaganda in the west.50

Amidst all this, Hitler did not neglect the German home front. He continued to try to reduce the effect of the relentless bombing on the civilian population. From early 1944 almost all major urban centres were included in the mass evacuations of children to safer areas, but Hitler remained adamant that this should not involve any compulsion against hesitant parents. Nor did he try to take advantage of the programme to lure these young people away from their families and communities for purposes of political indoctrination.51 Likewise, Hitler remained extremely reluctant to use the ration card system to prevent evacuees – most of them women – from returning to their endangered cities. He preferred them to be educated about the dangers of bombing instead. ‘The [Führer] believes,’ Goebbels recorded in mid January 1944, ‘that the goal we aim for can be reached particularly through propaganda activities that once again bring before parents’ eyes quite graphically the dangers their children face.’52

Worried about the huge losses of young men at the front, and its long-term demographic consequences, Hitler let it be known that the traditional concept of marriage needed to be rethought. After the war, he pointed out, there would be between 3 and 4 million women without husbands and no hope of getting one. They could not, Hitler continued, get their children ‘from the Holy Ghost’, but only from the remaining German men. For this reason, it might be necessary to deploy some of the most valuable surviving men to impregnate these women. Hitler was perfectly aware, of course, that many German women would resist this innovation for emotional reasons, and out of stubbornness, while serving soldiers might be disconcerted to learn that their womenfolk would be redistributed in this way after their violent deaths. For this reason, Hitler decided to tread carefully.53

Hitler was concerned not only with women and reproduction, but also with women and production. The issues this raised were ventilated at length during a meeting at the Berghof in late April 1944, when the question of women’s pay came up.54 Robert Ley, the leader of the German Labour Front, stated that he had been fighting for years for ‘equal pay for equal work for women’. Hitler was not so sure. He explained that pay was determined by two considerations, not only ‘performance’ but also ‘according to the responsibilities which an individual had in the framework of the national community and the state’. One could not pay simply according to performance because in that case one would have to pay twenty-four-year-olds more than fifty-year-olds. ‘The [working] woman,’ he said, ‘only has to look after herself,’ whereas the man had to care for his family. ‘If a woman has children,’ Hitler continued, ‘she must – that is always our ideal – stay at home and not work.’ This was because ‘the work of supporting a family’ had ‘traditionally’ been rated more highly than work done by women, ‘even if women performed the same’. Hitler was also worried that more pay for women without increased production of consumer goods for them to buy would lead to inflation.

Hitler was aware, of course, that many women had to work to feed their families. ‘Only if a woman has children to be fed,’ he said, ‘would one be able to pay her children’s allowances.’ Once again, Hitler was determining pay not by performance, but by social function. ‘In principle,’ he explained, ‘our state must part company with the idea that pay is just compensation for work done.’ ‘We must do everything,’ he exhorted, ‘to preserve our people!’ ‘The one,’ Hitler went on, ‘only works for himself in the framework of the national community’ while another ‘maintains the Volk with family and sustains the future’. Hitler ended the discussion by saying that certain occupations were ‘not jobs for men’, such as teaching, waiter service and hairdressing, and these should be reserved for women. ‘So,’ he said in conclusion, there should be ‘equal pay for women only in exceptional circumstances in order to avoid trouble’.

In June–July 1944, Hitler’s position was rocked by three existential challenges. On 6 June, the Anglo-Americans landed in Normandy, achieving complete surprise. At first, Hitler was unsure whether the landing was the main Allied effort or a diversion to be followed by a descent on the Pas-de-Calais or some other area.55 He constantly spurred his commanders on to greater efforts, to prevent Eisenhower from consolidating his position ashore, and to crush the bridgehead the Allies had established between the Orne and Vire rivers, if necessary through the use of heavy artillery.56 About a week after the landing, Hitler loosed a barrage of V1 missiles against southern England, especially London,57 but the effect was much more modest than he had hoped. That same day, Hitler barred all leave for the Wehrmacht and Waffen-SS.58 On 17 June 1944, he made a rare trip to Soissons to meet Rommel and Rundstedt, and to thank those involved in the rocket deployment. That same day, Hitler rejected calls to evacuate the Channel Islands. Not long after, Hitler ordered the 9th and 10th SS panzer divisions transferred from the east to Normandy.

Hitler’s strategy was clear. He told the military leaders gathered at the Berghof in late June, that due to the ‘crushing aerial superiority of the enemy’ and their ship-borne heavy guns, the chances of a successful counter-attack were low. That said, Hitler warned that they should ‘under no circumstances allow the development of a war of movement in France’, because ‘the enemy enjoys a far greater mobility than we do thanks to his mastery of the air and superior number of motor vehicles’. For this reason, Hitler stressed, ‘everything depends on pinning down the enemy by establishing a ring of containment around the bridgehead, and then wearing him down through the deployment of all means at close quarters’.59 A long stalemate ensued in the woods and hedges of the Normandy bocage. It was a brutal encounter, in which both sides – particularly the Hitler Youth SS Panzer Division and the dreaded Canadians – committed atrocities, although those on the German side were much worse. Operationally, the Wehrmacht may have performed better than the Allies,60 but thanks to the massive application of long-range firepower,61 the Anglo-Americans were winning the battle of attrition. It was only a matter of time before they blasted through the German lines and broke out into the open country beyond.

Then, on 22 June 1944, three years to the day after the start of Barbarossa, Stalin launched ‘Operation Bagration’, a massive offensive directed against Army Group Centre.62 Hitler, who had expected the blow to fall in the Ukraine or the Baltic, was taken completely by surprise. Within a week the German front had given way; more than 350,000 men were lost before the offensive had run its course. On 27 June, Lindemann, the commander of Army Group North, warned that his force was in danger of being cut off.63 Hitler replaced him with General Friesner, the first of a series of rapid command changes in that strategically vital area. For the Army High Command, the Russian offensive quickly became the most pressing problem.64 The Führer was also profoundly worried by the Soviet advance, but his main concern in the east was not the central sector, where he could continue to trade space for time, but Romania and, especially, the Baltic. At a crisis meeting a fortnight after the start of the offensive, Dönitz – ‘at the Führer’s request’ – pointed out the importance of holding on to the area in order to safeguard the import of Swedish iron ore and preserve the training grounds for submarine crews.65

While all this was going on, the Anglo-American air fleets pummelled the Third Reich’s transportation system, communications networks and energy supply. These attacks had begun before the invasion, and escalated thereafter into an unprecedented aerial battering. In the four months from June 1944, more bombs were dropped on the Reich than during the entire war until that point.66 Allied bombing was also growing more accurate, not least because of the collapse of the Luftwaffe, which allowed Anglo-American fighter-bombers to roam at will. Railways were blown up; canals mined. On 2 June, Hitler lamented the shortages of oil.67 In late June, he was presented by Speer with a list of the systematic Allied attacks on refineries and hydrogenation plants, and warned of the inevitable ‘catastrophic consequences’.68 Shortly after that, his armaments minister handed over a detailed memorandum on the effects of the Anglo-American bombing on the fuel situation. On 2 June 1944, on the eve of the invasion, Hitler was forced to cut the number of motor vehicles available to the Wehrmacht and SS by ‘on average 30 per cent’ to save fuel.69 At the very moment when he most needed mobility and energy, it was being sapped by enemy action.

In late June 1944, Hitler reflected on the challenges facing the Third Reich in two secret landmark speeches at Berchtesgaden. His starting point was Germany’s central location. The Reich, he warned, was encircled, just as it had been before 1918. ‘We are built into this Europe,’ Hitler argued, and therefore have ‘enemies in all corners’ of the map, the ‘same ones’ as in the World War. This meant that Germany either would have to be ‘a state of Spartan toughness with an outlook held by the entire nation and an army which was always ready to strike’ or else ‘we shall always be the cultural fertilizer or the butt of others’. The German people, he reiterated, risked extinction if it failed to prevail in war, which ensured ‘the natural selection of the strong’ and ‘the elimination of the weak’. To ensure this, Hitler continued, he would have to do two things. First, to achieve his original aim of ‘liberating the German people from international capitalist influences’, that is the Jews. This he had achieved. ‘The Jew,’ Hitler said simply, ‘is gone.’70

Secondly, Hitler would also have to strengthen the German people racially. He began this section of his speech by reminding his audience that ‘race is something different from Volk’ and that the German people was ‘made up of a whole series of racial kernels’. His usual biological determinism was tempered by a sense of uncertainty, when he referred to the ‘Mendelian laws of selection’ by which a child could supposedly inherit the characteristic of either the father or the mother. The conception of race he now expounded was in many ways voluntarist and inclusive. Hitler stressed that for him external appearance was less decisive than internal character. It was quite possible, he claimed, that there might be ‘a person who looked absolutely un-Nordic, but who was in their inner core [and] in their behaviour completely Nordic’. The Führer also stressed that the Germans needed discipline – he used the word Drill, which means the same in English as in German – to make up for their lack of inherent and instinctive racial coherence. ‘Thanks to our racial fragmentation as a result of the lack of a herd-instinct’, he argued, a ‘barbaric education’ was required to ‘make good what nature has unfortunately denied us’ by ‘overcoming’ the ‘different racial kernels’ in the German people.71 It was his old theme: the Germans required discipline to provide the coherence which came naturally to the British.

The Führer’s second speech, to the leaders of the German war economy,72 was very different. It addressed the problem of production, and was given in the shadow not only of the Allied bombing but also of the ‘Morgenthau Plan’. Speer seems to have seen, or got wind of, an early version of the plan of US Treasury Secretary Henry Morgenthau to deindustrialize Germany after her defeat. ‘Should the war be lost,’ Speer wrote in his notes for Hitler, the result would be ‘merciless extirpation of German industry, to eliminate competition in world markets. The enemy has concrete economic plans, which confirm this.’73 The Führer’s speech also emphasized the dangers of defeat, though he warned the industrialists that the only choice they would have then would be whether to commit suicide or to allow them themselves to be ‘strung up’ or be sent to work in Siberia by the Soviet security forces.74 Typically, Hitler had geared his speech to his audience, who were in practice far more worried about the terrors of Bolshevism than Anglo-American capitalism.

Just the same, the Führer’s main focus in his remarks to these leading industrialists was on the contest with the western powers, both as a battle of production and as an ideological struggle. He contrasted the ‘liberal state’ of capitalism, in which ‘the economy’ was ‘in the end a servant of capital’, and the Volk was ‘the servant of the economy’, with the National Socialist state, in which the Volk was ‘dominant’, ‘the economy’ was ‘an instrument to preserve the Volk’ and ‘capital’ was merely ‘a means to lead the economy’. These remarks were intended to put his audience in their places, and to remind them of the Nazi primacy of politics over the economy. The basis of national survival, Hitler continued, was the availability of ‘living space’ with all the precious natural resources to feed the population and supply the factories with raw materials. That was what the war was about, the Führer reiterated, and everything had to be geared to winning it. ‘War is the mobilization of all the forces of the people,’ he said, ‘and everything has to be subordinated to that.’

Hitler spelled out what this meant for German industry. ‘This is not just a war of soldiers,’ he explained, ‘but especially of engineers’. By this Hitler meant not only inventors, but also the machine tool engineers needed for mass production. He expressed some admiration for the quality and quantity of Soviet output, particularly with regard to the legendary T-34 tank, but his principal concern was the Anglo-Americans. Their technological advances in the field of detection had basically neutralized the U-boat arm. They had also achieved a ‘mass production of aircraft’, which threatened to ‘crush’ the Reich. He now called upon German industry to support the mass production of new weapons, such as the Panther tank, the upgraded Tiger tanks and especially the new U-boats. For this reason, Hitler wanted a move away from ‘quality work’ – what he also called ‘German workmanship’ – towards ‘mass production’ for war purposes. This was another explicit rejection of Germany’s artisanal past, and any sense of a Mittelstand future.

What both speeches had in common was an underlying anxiety about the challenge of Anglo-America, both racially and economically. By referring to the danger of Germans becoming mere ‘cultural fertilizer’ for other peoples, his first set of remarks hinted at one of his enduring preoccupations, namely the way in which German emigration had invigorated the United States. This obsession was made explicit in his second speech, when he came to the question of engineers. ‘The engineers of the Americans,’ he claimed, ‘are for the most part of German origin,’ especially of ‘Swabian-Alemannic blood’. Astonishingly, Hitler sought to counter this threat by insisting that he had German engineers as well. ‘And I have the same group of Alemannic,’ he continued, ‘they are working for us today.’ ‘Superiority of the enemy,’ Hitler scoffed, ‘there you can see how little they are superior.’75 As so often, the Führer was protesting too much. One was once again left with the overwhelming impression that in Hitler’s mind the best Germans were fighting and producing for the other side.

These were the last major speeches Hitler made at Berchtesgaden. He had not had much joy there of late. For years it had been a building site; lately much of the complex had been draped in camouflage netting and shrouded in artificial fog to confuse potential Allied bombers. The magnificent views onto the Untersberg were often obscured. On 14 July Hitler left the Berghof for Rastenburg, never to return.

Though there was considerable war weariness in Germany by mid 1944, there was neither elite nor popular appetite for a revolution against their Führer. Active resistance was confined to a relatively small number of people, driven by a variety of motives including fear of losing the war, patriotism, fear of a Soviet victory, opportunism and genuine revulsion at the crimes being perpetrated in Germany’s name. In the course of 1943, they had become increasingly organized, working out a rough plan for the post-war order, and – in a stroke of genius – had subverted the existing regime contingency plans for civil unrest – code-named ‘Valkyrie’ – into their own blueprint for a coup. Such was the centrality of Hitler, rather than the regime as a whole, that the conspirators were agreed that any action must begin with his removal, and preferably death. Various attempts to kill Hitler in the course of 1943 were unsuccessful, and the leader of the conspiracy, Count Stauffenberg, had already brought explosives into Hitler’s presence on three occasions in July without going through with the attempt, but later in the month, the conspirators were ready to move again.

On 20 July 1944, Stauffenberg arrived at Führer Headquarters in Rastenburg with two bombs in his briefcase.76 Almost immediately things began to go wrong. Hitler’s schedule was changed at short notice. Stauffenberg only had time to prime one of the charges. The meeting was moved from the usual bunker to another location. Despite this, the plot nearly worked. Stauffenberg succeeded in placing his briefcase close to Hitler under a stout oak table. He then left the barracks. The bomb went off as planned, but Hitler was shielded from the worst of the blast by the table. Fortunately for him, the explosion took place in a wooden barracks, so that much of the force was dissipated outwards, and not in the bunker, where everybody inside would have been cremated. Though his injuries were far from trivial, Hitler got away with perforated ear-drums and some heavy bruising. He had been very lucky: the blast was large and four of the people in the building were so seriously injured that they soon died of their wounds.

Stauffenberg, who had observed the detonation from a safe distance, assumed that Hitler had been killed. Now a central flaw in the conspiracy became apparent. Stauffenberg had to return to Berlin to tell the conspirators that Hitler was dead, and lead the coup. Valuable time was lost, and although Valkyrie did unfold in many places, especially in Paris, a major nerve-centre of the conspiracy, where the army placed more than 1,000 SS and SD men under arrest, the regime soon regained the initiative. Symbolically, the turning point came when the commander of the Grossdeutschland Wachbatallion, Major Otto Ernst Remer, sent to apprehend Goebbels, who believed that Hitler was dead and that he was suppressing a coup, was put on a direct telephone to Hitler in Rastenburg. The sound of the Führer’s voice was enough to persuade Remer. Goebbels was released and began to direct counter-measures. In the evening a radio broadcast announced that the Führer was alive and would soon address the German people. Stauffenberg and several of his co-conspirators were shot out of hand by the commander of the Reserve Army, General Fromm, who was trying to cover up his own involvement in the failed plot. The coup was over.

The 20 July plot and its background epitomized the weakness and strength of Hitler’s governing style. Far from being paranoid, at least until this point, Hitler had thrived on giving his military and administrative elites sufficient room to explore their lethal creativity. This made him extraordinarily vulnerable to enemies within the walls. Until this point, more than eleven years into the regime, and four years into the war, those attending the daily briefings were neither searched nor disarmed. Stauffenberg was able to bring explosives into Hitler’s presence on at least four separate occasions. It took the Führer six weeks after the coup to get around to forbidding the bearing of arms in his presence, and to ordering the guard detail to search all strangers for concealed weapons.77

Here we must not mistake the Führer’s trust for mere laziness or gullibility. For it was this very flexibility which also made Hitler’s power so resilient. What blunted the coup was the decision of the communications centre in Berlin to pass on the messages from the Wolf’s Lair, rather than those from Olbricht’s office in the Reserve Army Headquarters. What killed it was the quick-wittedness of the commander of the standby battalion, the ardent National Socialist Otto Ernst Remer, who disobeyed the order to arrest Goebbels once he had spoken to Hitler in person. The regime was saved not because the troops followed orders – thanks to the thoroughness of the plotters these remained ambiguous – but because key personnel acted on their own initiative.

Though Hitler’s injuries were not life threatening, and he was active again the same day, the explosion inflicted much more damage than it first appeared. Visitors to the headquarters remarked on how stooped and worn out Hitler looked.78 His ears bled for several weeks afterwards, and he was unable to travel by air. The only upside, Hitler noted, was that the blast seemed to have cured the severe shaking in his left leg, although he ‘wouldn’t recommend such a cure’.79

Hitler was shocked by the attempt on his life, but not surprised. He had long suspected elements of the officer corps of treachery. Now Hitler felt vindicated. His radio speech the day after the explosion painted the conspirators as a ‘small clique’, of reactionary nobles, who had been trying to repeat the ‘stab in the back’ of 1918.80 In his subsequent address to the Gauleiter, the Führer claimed that ‘these traitors’ had been engaged in ‘sabotage’ not just since ‘1941’, but since the ‘seizure of power’.81 Hitler also saw his survival as a sign of ‘providence’, of his triumph in adversity. In the immediate aftermath of the explosion, he told the visiting Mussolini that he had experienced a ‘miraculous deliverance, especially because it is not the first time that I have escaped death in this way’. This made him ‘more than ever convinced’ that he was destined to ‘bring our great cause’, that is the war, to ‘a happy conclusion’.82 Physically, therefore, Hitler was seriously affected by the plot. Politically, he was re-energized. Now he would press ahead with the implementation of National Socialist principles, especially in the army.

Despite his desire for vengeance, and determination to stamp out ‘treachery’, Hitler moved cautiously. The extent of it, which became increasingly clear as the Gestapo unmasked more and more high-ranking military men and civil servants, was sobering. Dealing with the plot was thus both an opportunity and a threat. He could make an example of the conspirators and showcase the resilience of his regime, but there was also a risk that he would showcase the resistance and turn them into martyrs, just as he had been after the beer hall putsch. For this reason, Hitler was anxious to avoid long show trials.83 About a fortnight after the attempted coup, he established an Ehrenhof – supposedly at the request of the army itself – to investigate military complicity in the events. Hitler promised a ‘ruthless purge’.84 Those who made it to trial were sentenced by Roland Freisler, the brutal head of the Volksgerichtshof, who took his instructions from Hitler. It was at the Führer’s express request that death sentences were to be carried out through ignominious hanging, and not by the more honourable method of a firing-squad. He also insisted that the executions be filmed, though there is no hard evidence that he actually watched the recordings.85

Hitler did not have much time to dwell on the events of 20 July, in any case. The military situation, already precarious, deteriorated dramatically. After an unsuccessful attempt on 18 July – Operation Goodwood – the Western Allies launched Operation Cobra on 25 July. On 31 July, the Anglo-Americans broke through at Avranches. Hitler’s counter-attack at Mortain never got off the ground, and all his attempts to stabilize the front failed.86 What Hitler had feared was now reality. The Allies were in open country and with their mobility and command of the air, there was nothing to stop them. Most of the German troops trapped in the pocket at St Lo-Falaise escaped, but the human and especially the material cost was horrendous. The 120–140, 000 killed and wounded could perhaps be replaced, albeit with great difficulty and with inferior recruits,87 but the 1,300 tanks, 500 assault guns, and 5,500 artillery pieces, not to mention all the lorries and jeeps, could not possibly be.

Throughout August–September the Allies surged eastwards across France. On 15 August, they landed in southern France. Hitler was powerless. His attempts to establish a front along the Seine quickly collapsed. Paris was liberated on 19 August; the Führer’s order for the destruction of the city was disobeyed by the German commander. On 11 September, the Americans crossed the Reich border west of Bitburg. On 17 September, the British and Americans launched an airborne operation to capture the Rhine bridges at Nijmegen and Arnhem. They hoped to punch through the German lines and push for Berlin. Around the same time, the Americans thrust in the direction of Cologne. They were the first Allies to capture a major Germany city, Aachen, on 21 October 1944.88 It was an immensely symbolic moment, because the Holy Roman Emperors had traditionally been crowned there and the cathedral still contained the bones of Charlemagne. The garrison there surrendered to men of the US 1st Infantry Division, commanded by General Clarence Huebner, whose grandfather had been born in Stuttgart.

In the east, first the central and then the southern fronts gave way, the lines massively weakened by the transfer of powerful units to the west. Army Group North temporarily lost contact with Army Group Centre when Soviet forces reached Tukums on the Baltic on 30 July. Communication was re-established after a vigorous counter-attack. During August 1944, the Red Army surged through White Russia, crossing a few kilometres into East Prussia in the middle of the month. The Polish Home Army rose in revolt, taking control of Warsaw from the German occupiers. On 14 September, Stalin launched an offensive against Riga. A fortnight later, Soviet forces reached the Baltic Sea just north of Memel, cutting off Army Group North once again, this time for good. In the south, Stalin launched an offensive against Romania on 20 August, capturing Bucharest by the end of the month. Army Group Ukraine was shattered, with the loss of about 400,000 men, though the materiel losses were less grievous than in the west. On 29 August, a major revolt broke out in Slovakia. The entire German eastern front hung in the balance.

The immediate result of the disasters was the collapse of Hitler’s remaining alliance system. In Romania, Marshal Antonescu was sacked on 22 August 1944 and King Michael took his country first out of the war and then over to the other side. On 7 September 1944, Marshal Mannerheim’s Finland signed an armistice with the Soviet Union. A day later, Bulgaria jumped ship. On 15 October, Admiral Horthy announced that Hungary was leaving the war. Hitler immediately launched a special forces operation which took his son hostage. Horthy abdicated, and a puppet Hungarian fascist grouping took power, but all pretence of a coalition of European states fighting the United Nations had now collapsed. Hitler’s allied admirals, marshals and kings had all departed. Only Japan remained true. Once again, Germany stood almost alone against a world of enemies.

As if all this were not bad enough, the Allied breakout from Normandy enabled an escalation of the strategic air campaign, which targeted German industry, energy supply and communication system with renewed ferocity. Speer gave Hitler detailed accounts of the effects of Allied raids with the help of photographs and diagrams.89 He warned his Führer of the resulting loss of steel, tank engine and motor vehicle production.90 Even where raw materials were being mined, or goods produced, they often could not be completed or moved due to damage to road, rail and canal networks.91 Krupp’s Gusstahlfabrik in Essen was not completely destroyed physically, despite repeated attacks, but from October 1944 it ceased production after the bombers ended its source of electrical power. By the middle of November, Speer was warning Hitler that the vital Ruhr industrial area was effectively cut off from the rest of the Reich.92

Worse still, these attacks were accompanied by devastating raids against civilian targets: Darmstadt, Freiburg and Heilbronn, as well as familiar targets such as Munich and Berlin. The Führer was deeply shaken by the bombing, not least because he feared for Eva Braun’s safety in Munich.93 Allied raids took a steady toll on his health and nerves.94 Hitler saw these attacks as evidence of the annihilatory intent of the Western Allies. ‘The will of the enemy,’ he warned in mid September 1944, ‘is clearly directed towards the destruction of the German people.’ In order to achieve this, Hitler continued, the enemy ‘considers every means legitimate’ including ‘bloody terror through bombing attacks against women and children’.95 ‘He is mobilizing his strength in order to smash our Reich,’ he claimed a month later, and to destroy ‘the German people and its social order.’ ‘His final aim,’ Hitler reiterated, ‘is the extermination of the German person.’96 The (in his mind) pre-emptive war of annihilation which Hitler had himself launched on the world enemy was now coming home to Germany.

Unsurprisingly, the disasters of the late summer and autumn of 1944 led to renewed calls for a separate peace within the military and civil leadership of the Third Reich, and offers from Japan to mediate with the Russians.97 Hitler refused, on the grounds that any overtures would be understood as a sign of weakness, and would be rejected in any case.98 He refused point-blank to approach the west, telling Papen, who had offered himself as a conduit, that ‘this war must be fought through to the end without compromise’.99 As for trying to find out what the Russians thought, he remarked, that would be as pointless as ‘touching a red-hot oven simply in order to establish whether it was hot’.100 Significantly, Hitler laid down that he would only agree to a settlement which guaranteed the survival of future generations. This was code for his determination to hold on to as much ‘living space’ as he possibly could in any final settlement. ‘The world knows no empty spaces,’ he reminded a party audience, adding that ‘peoples which are numerically or biologically too weak and cannot fill their Lebensraum will at best receive a reservation [sic]’.101 The language was chosen with care. If the Germans did not act like Americans, Hitler warned, they would end up as Red Indians.

In the face of all these challenges, Hitler mounted an astonishing rally in the late autumn of 1944. Despite all the rhetoric, his strategy was not simply a strategy of perseverance, of clinging grimly to each and every part of his shrinking empire. On the contrary, Hitler set clear priorities in accordance with an overall strategy which was largely unchanged since the end of 1943. He would hold not simply where he could, but where he needed to. He would withdraw where he had to, and where he could give way without fatal results. The purpose of this strategy was to retain as much of the economic potential of Europe as possible, and thus a credible military capability. This would allow him, he hoped, to outlast the enemy, and to exploit any splits that might have emerged in the coalition. ‘We must carry on the fight until this moment arrives,’ he remarked, adding that ‘it may be closer than anybody imagines’.102 He repeated these sentiments on the very last day of August 1944. ‘There will be moments,’ Hitler predicted, in which the tensions between the Allies become so great that there is a breach.’ In the meantime, his job was to ‘keep his nerve under all circumstances’.103

Hitler was clear about the resulting strategic priorities. The most pressing issue, he explained to the generals, might appear to be ‘the stabilization of the eastern front’, but because the Wehrmacht enjoyed the advantage of interior lines, that should be perfectly doable. The western front, by contrast, was much more problematic and was in fact the ‘decisive’ theatre, because defeat there risked losing the ‘points of departure for the U-boat war’. Unlike most of the Wehrmacht leadership, especially the army chief of staff, Guderian, who were exercised by the Soviet onslaught on the Reich,104 therefore, Hitler’s strategy remained firmly western-centric.

In accordance with this approach, Hitler withdrew from southern and western France to more defensible positions.105 He managed to get most of his men, though not their equipment, out by September 1944.106 Hitler also ordered the Wehrmacht to pull out of the Balkans, taking with it all the equipment, raw materials and foodstuffs it could manage.107 The main reason for the withdrawal was fear of being cut off by the Red Army offensive into Hungary, but Hitler also calculated that the resulting vacuum would cause tensions between the west and Stalin; the fighting between British forces and Greek leftists later that year vindicated his hopes. In a policy of ‘scorched earth’, Hitler ordered the destruction of anything – east, west and in the Reich itself – that could not be moved and might be of use to the advancing enemy.108 At the same time, the Führer held his ground in key areas. He insisted that as many of the French ports be retained as possible, partly to deny the Anglo-Americans the facilities to land more men and equipment, partly to tie down Allied forces, and partly to support a resumption of the U-boat campaign once the new submarines went into mass production. In the south of France, the key cities of Toulon and Marseille were soon lost, much to Hitler’s chagrin, but the Wehrmacht continued to hold Brest, Lorient, St Nazaire for some time, and in a few cases until the end of the war, long after the Allies had overrun the surrounding hinterland.109 He also held on to Holland, and thus the bases from which to maintain the missile offensive against Britain.

Hitler then turned his attention to stabilizing the fronts. In the late summer and autumn of 1944, he issued a flurry of decrees demanding the fortification of ‘Germany’s western emplacement’, a line from the German north coast, along the Dutch coast and back across France and Germany to Belfort. Hitler also called for defensive positions in Italy and along the Adriatic.110 Once safely out of France, the Wehrmacht resisted stubbornly. The British airborne forces at Arnhem were crushed, and while the Germans were unable to hold on to Aachen, they managed to get the Americans bogged down in bloody fighting in the Hürtgen Forest amid scenes comparable to the First World War. By November 1944, the western front had been stabilized, at least for the time being.

In the east, Hitler gave priority to holding Kurland, in order to protect the U-boat training areas and the Estonian shale oil reserves, and Hungary, on account of the oil and bauxite reserves there.111 He ordered the suppression of the Warsaw Rising, which was completed with great bloodshed in early October 1944.112 The Slovak rebellion was also crushed, and the Jews of that country were deported and murdered. For the rest, Hitler relied on the Ostwall, a defensive system which was more psychological than military, whose main purpose was to reassure the civilian population and prevent large refugee flows. It was far inferior in fortifications and firepower to anything that Hitler had created, or was still planning, to keep out the Anglo-Americans. In late November 1944, Hitler left the ‘Wolf’s Lair’ for good. Thereafter the defence of East Prussia, and – until early 1945 – the whole of eastern Germany, was a low priority for Hitler.113

Instead, Hitler’s main aim in the autumn and winter of 1944 was the delivery of a crushing blow against the Western Allies. His motivation for doing so was unchanged: to undermine Churchill and Roosevelt, and if possible to split the Allied coalition. He increasingly cited the case of Frederick the Great as an example of how a great leader could survive an encircling coalition through ‘steadfastness’, which eventually enabled him to exploit divisions among his foes.114 One method of delivering such a blow was the missile offensive. The V1 barrage had caused extensive damage and disquiet in southern England, but had not made much impact on the political leadership in London. Hitler had higher hopes for the more sophisticated V2 rocket, for which reason he was determined to hold on to bases to continue the ‘long-range struggle’ against Britain. Another weapon deployed against the west was new, more advanced aircraft. The development of the Me 262 was speeded up, and in September 1944, the Führer tasked the designer and manufacturer Ernst Heinkel with building a smaller and more easily mass-produceable jet fighter.115 Hitler also looked to the new U-boats, and was given optimistic briefings about the success of the ‘snorkel’ submarines.116

The Führer’s best hope of changing the dynamic, however, was a devastating counter-attack against the Anglo-American field armies. It was for this reason that he decided in late August 1944 to launch a major offensive in the west at the earliest possible opportunity.117 ‘It was his intention,’ he told Oshima shortly afterwards, ‘to take the offensive in the west on a large scale.’ Hitler hoped to take advantage of the rainy weather in September and October to conceal his preparations, negating Allied air superiority, and launching his attack ‘after the beginning of November’.118 His objective, he explained on 16 September 1944, was to thrust through the Ardennes, capture Antwerp and thus force the Allies to withdraw to Britain. Hitler expected that the Luftwaffe would provide about 1,500 fighter aircraft in support. The projected start date was now late November, and it was to be delayed still further.119 Throughout the autumn there was a furious debate in the OKW. Few shared Hitler’s belief that the spearheads would ever reach Antwerp, and most would have been more than satisfied with getting to the Meuse. On 11 November, Hitler issued his guidelines for the operations plan, which stressed the importance of tactical and strategic surprise, as well as exploiting the adverse weather conditions. He alone would decide the timing of the attack.120

Over the course of ten weeks, Hitler quietly assembled a huge force in the west, including a whole new panzer army. His plan, as he told Oshima, was to deploy more than ‘one million’ men, ‘to combine them with units to be withdrawn from the front in every area’, and to wait for ‘the replenishment of the air forces’.121 Hitler ordered the systematic starving of other theatres of forces, and the avoiding of defensive battles which might suck in and consume reserves needed for the offensive.122 This applied to the eastern front in general, where the Red Army continued to mount attacks. One of these thrusts, towards Gumbinnen in late October 1944, led to a massacre among the civilian population in the East Prussian village of Nemmersdorf.123 Hitler remained insistent that spare forces were not to be sent there, but preserved for the planned offensive in the west. He was more interested in what was happening in Kurland, where the Wehrmacht was hit with three separate offensives between late October and December 1944. For the sake of clarity, Hitler laid down his priorities in detail in late November 1944. ‘Unperturbed by even the greatest crises and loss of territory,’ the OKW war diarist records, the Führer determined ‘that the west[ern] and east [ern fronts] should have priority over the other theatres of war’, but that the west should have ‘priority’ over the east, and ‘within the west[ern front]’, priority should be given to the army groups involved in the forthcoming offensive.124 Hitler completed his preparations at the new Führer Headquarters – Adlerhorst – in the Taunus mountains just north of Frankfurt, not far from Germany’s western border.

In order to support his strategy, Hitler launched one last great mobilization effort in the second half of 1944. His first task was psychological, to restore public confidence in the regime after the military defeats of the summer and the attempt on his life. The latter had shaken the German public, and the Führer himself saw it as evidence of an ‘internal circulatory disruption’, something that Germans of all ages and all times have taken very seriously.125 On 25 July 1944, five days after the attempt on his life, Hitler appointed Goebbels ‘imperial plenipotentiary for total war’. This was a largely symbolic move,126 in which the propaganda minister was empowered to mobilize energies and lift the spirits of the population; the actual running of the war economy remained in Speer’s hands. Hitler also sought to maintain morale by holding out the prospect of relief from the relentless Allied bombing. In early July 1944, he gave Speer permission to show colour footage of the rocket programme and, if possible, of the new jet fighter, to the Gauleiter in closed session, taking care not to reveal any technical secrets.127 A little later, Hitler also authorized the release of films of the V2 rocket for the Wochenschau and thus for public viewing, although these were not actually shown until much later.128 These were supposed to reassure the public that the hour of ‘reprisal’ against the Anglo-American attacks – which the Führer was constantly announcing – was soon at hand.

In the racial theatre, Hitler continued his relentless campaign against ‘world Jewry’ and other elements. By the winter of 1944, the deportation and murder of most of the Hungarian and Slovak Jews had been completed. In the field of ‘positive’ eugenics, Hitler remained preoccupied with the racial qualities of the British and the lost Germans on the other side of the Atlantic. A few days before the start of his great offensive in the west, he expressed his respect for the ‘toughness and tenacity’ of the British, and lamented once again to the generals that the ‘American continent’ had ‘become British rather than German’.129

One of the most pressing tasks facing Hitler was the recruitment of more manpower to replace the huge losses of the summer and autumn of 1944. By September 1944, it was clear that the traditional methods were not enough to meet the shortfall. The Wehrmacht proposed to fill the gaps through the establishment of regional militias based on the old Prussian Landsturm model. Hitler was extremely reluctant to countenance such a step, partly because he feared the establishment of regional – and perhaps separatist – armies behind the lines.130 The fear of another ‘stab in the back’ loomed large. On 16 August Bormann sent a copy of the original Landsturm Ordinance of April 1813 to the Nazi Party leadership with Hitler’s request that they read it. Not long after, the Führer gave various Gauleiter permission to run the local defence efforts. Over the next few weeks Bormann then persuaded him to establish a new militia on a national basis.131 This Volkssturm would be made up of ‘all men fit to bear arms’ between the ages of sixteen and sixty to defend the ‘soil of the homeland’. It was to be under the control of the NSDAP, rather than the Wehrmacht, and it was to be deployed according to the orders of Himmler as the commander of the Reserve Army. The very name of the new organization – a Volkssturm, rather than a regional Landsturm – reflected Hitler’s continuing preoccupation with the threat of regionalism.

The main mobilization front, though, remained production. Hitler was desperate to replace the equipment lost in Normandy and – to a lesser extent – in Belorussia and south-eastern Europe during the summer. The Wehrmacht was also extremely short of fuel.132 Hitler was determined to equip the armies in the west for the forthcoming offensive. His main competitor had always been Anglo-America, and the proportion of the war effort – between 70 and 80 per cent by late 1944133 – devoted to fighting the Western Allies increased with every passing month. In mid October Hitler conferred with Speer about British (including Canadian and Australian) and American aircraft production. The armaments minister could report steep increases on the German side, but though his statistics on the comparative picture were hopelessly optimistic, even Speer had to concede that Germany was playing catch-up, since with the exception of the automobile industry it had possessed, unlike the United States, ‘no mass production’ before the war.134

There were still shortages of every kind of weapon in the Wehrmacht itself, making the equipment of the new Volkssturm formations highly problematic. Hitler stressed that the militia would be useless without weapons, and ordered that they be equipped with the redundant defensive weapons of obsolete and grounded Luftwaffe bombers. The unwitting symbolism of this move was exceeded only by the bathos of the Volkssturm initiation ceremony on 19 November 1944 when the borrowed small arms carried by the new levies had to be returned after the parade. Hitler was entirely clear that the Waffen-SS and regular army should receive priority for deliveries. His general view of the military quality of the Volkssturm units was low, and he intervened on a number of occasions to remove weapons from them in order to equip Wehrmacht troops. He also insisted that armaments production took priority over recruitment, and approved Speer’s exemptions for Volkssturm draftees doing important factory work.135 For Hitler, National Socialist élan was good, but firepower was better.

All these measures meant that Hitler acquired a whole slew of new disputes to adjudicate. Bormann battled Himmler for control of the Volkssturm, Speer over the recruitment of armament workers and Ley over the construction of fortifications.136 Rosenberg continued his steady descent.137 In each case, Hitler – be it the Volkssturm or the establishment of a Generalkommissar for the west138 – took the main decisions, even if he sometimes admitted that the logically right choice could not be made for reasons of personnel. The apparent winner of these battles was Bormann, who continued his yeast-like ascent in the antechamber of power around Hitler. In political terms, however, the real rising star was Karl Dönitz, to whose advice Hitler increasingly deferred, and whose standing had increased exponentially in the course of the year.139 This partly resulted from the fact that after the missile offensive had fizzled out, the expected new U-boats represented Hitler’s only credible hope of delivering a powerful blow against the Anglo-Americans. It also reflected Hitler’s sense that Dönitz was a sincere National Socialist, whose Kriegsmarine – unlike the imperial fleet during the First World War – was imbued with a fanatical fighting spirit.

Moreover, despite all the stress of military leadership and government, Hitler was still in full command of his senses and physically robust enough to rule decisively. To be sure, he frequently bewailed his poor health in front of the generals and spoke of his desire for release, even through death.140 On the very last day of August 1944, Hitler complained that he had he not been to the theatre, or a concert or a film, for five years on account of the war, and said that his death would be ‘for [him] personally a liberation from worries’, sleepless nights and ‘severe nervous problems’. In December 1944, he told his personal doctor, Theo Morell, of pains brought on by the military and political situation; interestingly, it was the July plot, the air war over the Reich and the forthcoming offensive in the west which most exercised him, rather than the eastern front.141 It is also true that Hitler was forced to issue an order forbidding participants at discussions from carrying out ‘individual discussions’,142 which he found deeply distracting. We should not read into this measure any implication that he was losing control over his audience. It was simply an overdue response to the age-old German habit of conducting loud and lengthy parallel private conversations during meetings in full view and hearing of the principal speaker.

One way or the other, by early December 1944, Hitler had pulled off an astonishing rally. Unlike the autumn of 1943, there was no sustained internal crisis of the regime. Hitler’s standing was largely unchallenged, among both the elite and the population as a whole, despite his virtual public absence. The Führer’s charisma had become routinized, and the basis of his legitimacy almost traditional. Some of those who had engaged in treasonable activities, such as Field Marshal von Kluge, found themselves unable, even in the face of death, entirely to let go of their faith. Militarily, all the fronts had been stabilized, at least for now, partly because of increased German resistance, and partly because the Allied advance in the autumn had been so rapid that it had outrun their supply lines.143

On 16 December 1944, Hitler launched his major offensive in the Ardennes, the same wooded and rugged terrain in which he had achieved his great breakthrough over four years earlier. He achieved complete strategic and tactical surprise. Thanks to the bad weather, on which the German planners relied, the Allied aircraft were initially unable to react effectively. German tanks pushed deep into the American lines, creating a huge ‘bulge’, creating consternation in Washington and London. Hitler followed progress closely, frequently intervening in the course of operations.144 Thousands of Americans were taken prisoner. There was never much likelihood, though, of Hitler reaching his objective of Antwerp, or of splitting the US from the British forces. Even had he got there, the German spearheads would have been dependent on a long and vulnerable supply line. The lunge for Antwerp was a poorly thought-out parody of the original race to the sea in 1940. As it was, Hitler’s armoured formations were plagued from the start by a shortage of fuel, and while his men captured many American vehicles, too few were able to drive them, a poignant reflection of the continuing relative backwardness of the Third Reich. The lack of trucks forced Hitler to rely on some 50,000 horses for his mobility, yet another example of the technological gulf that separated him from the Anglo-Americans.145

Soon, the offensive became bogged down. The Americans put up a fierce resistance at Bastogne. When the skies cleared, Allied aircraft soon devastated the German columns. Hitler’s soldiers, who had been told to salute each other with the ‘German greeting’, wagged that they were more likely to use the ‘German glance’, looking out for enemy aeroplanes. Short of fuel, the panzer spearheads were reduced to scavenging for petrol in the desolate landscape. The Germans never even reached the Meuse, let alone Antwerp. In late December 1944, Hitler switched focus to northern Alsace in Operation Nordwind.146 The Führer spoke of his determination to ‘smash [the Americans] piece for piece, to exterminate them division by division’.147 Once again, his motive was primarily political. Hitler told the generals that he hoped to show ‘Aryan’ Americans the futility of continuing the war. ‘The criticism [of the war] at home,’ he claimed, ‘is huge.’148 It was no use. The Alsatian offensive too ran aground. Early in the New Year, it was clear that Hitler’s entire western strategy had failed.149

The Führer was in no doubt as to the cause of his defeat in the Ardennes. It was the same crushing Allied material superiority which was costing him the war as a whole. This was why, he explained to the generals, Germany could not stand on the defensive. With every passing day, Hitler continued, especially as they made the French and Belgian ports operational, the ‘deployment of material’ by the Western Allies would increase. They would bring to bear their superiority in ‘ammunition and equipment’, enabling them to implement a ‘tactic which we got to know at Aachen’. This involved the tanks ‘shooting individual bunkers to bits’ and then the occupation of a completely devastated terrain by relatively small infantry forces. ‘The human losses,’ he continued, ‘will not be as large for him as they will be over time for us.’ Meanwhile, Hitler went on, the Anglo-Americans ‘will demolish slowly but surely all of our rail connections’ and deprive the Wehrmacht of more and more ‘transport capacity’. The ‘effects on the front,’ he predicted, would be seen in ‘a reduction in the supply of ammunition, fuel, weapons, equipment, motor vehicles and so on.’150 It was a playbook he, and the Wehrmacht, now knew only too well.

In mid January 1945, Hitler left Adlerhorst and returned to Berlin. He did not install himself, as originally planned, in the army headquarters at Zossen. Hitler feared that the barrack complex there was too vulnerable to Allied air attack. Instead, Hitler took up residence again in the Wilhelmstrasse at the heart of Berlin, where he spent most of the rest of the war. His position was much worse than it had been at the end of the previous summer. Militarily, much of the conflict was already being waged on German territory. Economically, Allied bombing and the loss of raw materials and factories in the former Nazi empire had created a dire situation. In early January 1945, Speer gave Hitler a detailed briefing with graphs and tables on the disastrous state of the transport system, which was running at about 50 per cent of capacity with severe consequences for the armaments industry. Not long after, he warned Hitler that munitions production had fallen so catastrophically that he could not promise to keep the many fronts supplied.151 Politically, the Führer was completely isolated. More and more countries were joining the United Nations coalition against him. Hitler’s allies – as he claimed once again in his New Year address152 – had all left the Reich in the lurch. For this reason, he did not see his translator, Paul Schmidt, again.153 There was nobody left to lie to except the Germans themselves, and for them no translation was needed.

Despite these setbacks, the main outlines of Hitler’s strategy remained unchanged. He still hoped to turn the tide militarily, or at least force a negotiated peace through a tenacious defence. He insisted on the construction of extensive fortifications, at least in the west;154 the Ostwall remained largely on paper and the christening of more than a dozen towns there as ‘fortresses’ was largely symbolic. In both cases, Hitler generally refused to allow withdrawals. This was not because he lacked imagination for a flexible defence, but because he was under no illusions about the superiority of Allied equipment. Once they left the relative security of their bunkers, Hitler feared, German troops risked being caught in the open and would soon lose heart.155 Hitler also retained his belief in the ‘new weapons’ which would enable him to deliver devastating effect against the Western Allies. In early January 1945, he reiterated his belief that the ME 262 should be used as a bomber, alongside its deployment as a fighter against the Anglo-American air fleets. These moves were accompanied by the usual measures, which were now more like exhortations, for increased human mobilization.156 So far, so familiar.

There was, however, a new note in Hitler’s rhetoric which reflected a fundamental change in strategy. He still had a concrete plan for victory, but he realized that defeat was now more likely.157 In fact, Hitler had often believed that success was doubtful, but that without the attempt, failure was certain. He had also long been convinced that defeat could be the spur to national renewal. Hitler frequently quoted Clausewitz’s remarks on the subject. In order to live on, however, a nation would have to go down fighting in a struggle which through heroism and sacrifice bore within it the seeds of its rebirth. A disgraced people, by contrast, would never rise again. Hitler was therefore determined to ‘choreograph’ his own defeat.158 This also marked a decisive moment in his temporal vision. He had begun as a mere drummer, convinced that he was paving the way for the messiah. Then he became the Führer, increasingly convinced that he could not merely seize power in Germany, but also roll out his programme within his own lifetime. Now he reverted to his earlier timeframe, in which the exemplary end of the Third Reich, and his own death, would serve as the inspiration for the renewal of the German people. As Hitler’s time on earth ran out, racial time expanded once more.

Hitler’s defiance in the last months of the Third Reich should therefore not be understood as mere nihilism or a narcissistic desire to build his funeral pyre ever higher for some kind of Wagnerian Götterdämmerung. Hitler despised macho posturing and he never endorsed a death wish, or pointless bravado in the face of danger. This emerged quite clearly in a somewhat comic exchange with his military leadership in January 1945. When Hermann Fegelein praised SS General Paul Hausser as a man who said that ‘the highest service that I can deliver is to die in the front line before the enemy’, Hitler was brusque. ‘I don’t want that at all,’ he responded, ‘that is no kind of wisdom.’ Fegelein retorted that Hausser was in the habit of walking tall through artillery fire and upbraiding his adjutants for taking cover and ‘being so sensitive’. Hitler wasn’t having this either. ‘I would also take cover [in that situation],’ he replied. ‘I only ever knew one general [in the First World War] who did not take cover,’ Hitler added, ‘but he couldn’t hear [the artillery fire].’159 Hitler, in other words, was not interested in gallant deaths per se, but in the delivery of military or political effect.

In the course of January 1945, the storm on Germany itself began in earnest. There was a brief lull in the west after the Americans had cleared the Wehrmacht and SS out of the Ardennes by the middle of the month. There was no let-up, though, in the air. New Year’s Day was marked by massive bombing raids on German industry, airfields and the transport network.160 The following night brought huge RAF attacks on Ludwigshafen and Nuremberg, with nearly 1,800 people killed there. A day after that, USAAF hit installations at Aschaffenburg in western Germany. Then the RAF struck at Hanover in strength, and again at Munich. The USAAF raided Rastatt and Hamm, where some of the largest marshalling yards in the Reich were located. The Luftwaffe was increasingly unable to intervene, despite a huge paper strength in personnel and machines. Hitler was outraged by what was now an Allied aerial safari. ‘He has no losses at all,’ he stormed to his generals on 10 January, ‘it is as if he were just on parade, in bright sunshine!’ Soon, Hitler continued bitterly, the enemy ‘won’t need any fighters any more’. Luftwaffe interceptors were being swarmed by Allied escorts before they had a chance to reach the bombers. ‘This a rabbit [hare] shoot,’ he lamented.161

On 12 January, the Red Army attacked at Baranow, a day later in East Prussia, and the following day it launched a huge offensive on the Vistula.162 Within twenty-four hours a bridgehead was established on the river north of Warsaw; the OKW reported a deep ‘breach’.163 Shortly after, the Wehrmacht evacuated Warsaw, and a day later Cracow, the seat of Hans Frank’s General Government. Hitler sought to shore up the line by putting Himmler in charge of a new Heeresgruppe Weichsel. He defined this task as ‘organizing national defence behind the entire eastern front’.164 The main purpose behind this exercise was probably motivational and narratival: to stiffen the ranks ideologically, and to place the SS at the heart of the final resistance effort for the sake of posterity. Militarily, the decision made no difference. The Red Army was now breaking through all along the front. On 22 January, it reached the Oder to the north and south of Breslau. Bromberg fell on 23 January, and Posen was encircled on 27 January. That same day, Soviet troops liberated Auschwitz; most of the extermination camps had now been abandoned. By late January the Russians had captured the ruins of the Wolf’s Lair, Hitler’s longtime headquarters at Rastenburg. Hitler, who had denuded the eastern front to support the offensive in the Ardennes, was powerless to stop the rout.

The Russian surge was not just a military disaster, but also a political nightmare. The evacuation of the civilian population, which Hitler had been avoiding since the autumn of the previous year, could no longer be put off. On 23 January 1945, mass evacuations from East Prussia began, apparently without a direct order from the Führer. Hitler, in fact, insisted on priority still being given to the prosecution of the war and the needs of the war economy. He told Dönitz, who was organizing the shipping to embark refugees from East Prussia, that ‘the remaining coal reserves must be kept back for military purposes and may not be used for the evacuation of refugees’. When Memel was abandoned, Hitler’s main concern was the removal of the ‘heavy equipment’ and the destruction of the harbour facilities, rather than rescue of the civilian population.165 A week later, Hitler gave instruction that refugees should be decanted to Denmark in order to ease the situation in the Reich, but stressed again that this should only happen ‘without affecting the current troop and supply transports’.166

Instead, Hitler put the Russian advance – and the associated stories of murder and rape, many of them true – to propagandistic use. In his last radio speech, given on the occasion of the twelfth anniversary of the takeover of power on 30 January 1933, Hitler promised to master the ‘terrible fate which is currently taking place in the east’, which was ‘exterminating people in their tens and hundreds of thousands’ in the cities and the countryside.167 The spectre of annihilation, long threatened from the air, was now visible on the ground as well. He implored Germans to rely on their own strength to repel the Bolshevik hordes, and not to depend on the west to save them, because it would itself fall victim to the Judaeo-communist virus. In a passage which revealed his enduring belief in the manipulative relationship between western plutocracy and the Soviet regime, Hitler claimed that the west was now ‘unable to banish the demons they have called from the steppes of Asia’. That said, there was a palpable sense that the Russian threat was now, for the first time in almost two years, moving to the top of Hitler’s agenda. From now on, Hitler paid more attention to the eastern front. ‘The Führer ordered,’ the war diary of the OKW recorded on 29 January 1945, ‘in view of the situation in the east, to go over to the defensive in the west.’168 Armoured forces were transferred to the east.169

In late January 1945 and early February, faced with overwhelming odds on all fronts, Hitler was forced to recognize the failure of his mobilization project. Despite the pressures of war, he was unable to overcome the deep-seated resistance within German society to the prosecution of total war. This became clear during an interminable and increasingly bizarre exchange with some generals on 27 January, when Hitler attempted to persuade them that officers of a certain age, who were no longer capable of discharging the duties associated with their existing or former rank, be recruited to serve in a more junior capacity. This idea met with furious resistance from the generals, who insisted that no man should be required to serve below a man who held a rank inferior to that at which he had retired. It violated their sense of professional honour. The Führer pointed out the absurdity of the situation. ‘At the same moment in which I am summoning the Volkssturm and recruit God knows what kind of people into the Wehrmacht by disregarding the question of age,’ he said, ‘I am sending completely fit people, who are actually soldiers, home to man redundant posts in the bureaucracy.’170 Hitler’s logic was impeccable, but he was unable to make any headway. Twelve years into the Third Reich, which had so transformed Germany and Europe, the whole episode showed how little Hitler had changed the Germans themselves.

The real problem, though, was not men but materiel. In early 1945, Germany was awash with adult males, foreign and local. The Luftwaffe, for example, comprised 2 million men, hundreds of thousands of whom no longer had meaningful functions.171 Hitler did not have enough weapons to give them. The war economy, already in a parlous state, was further battered by the capture of the Upper Silesian industrial area by the Red Army. Hitler also lamented the lack of nickel, and worried about the effect of the ‘decline of material’ on jet aircraft production. ‘The worst thing that can happen to us,’ though, was ‘the destruction of the German transport system.’ ‘We have enough coal,’ he explained, ‘there is so much being produced in the mines that we can cannot carry it all off.’ In fact, Hitler continued, ‘we have more than 80,000 wagons [of coal] more, but we cannot transport them’. On 30 January 1945, the normally optimistic Speer sent the Führer a memorandum warning him that without Upper Silesia production would collapse.

Hitler reacted the next day with the demand for an ‘Emergency Programme’ to produce more weapons. This was proclaimed a ‘currently more important task’ than ‘recruitment [of those workers] into the Wehrmacht, the Volkssturm or other purposes’.172 It was no use. The deteriorating levels of equipment provision amounted to a steady ‘de-motorization’ of the Wehrmacht. The OKH conceded in early February 1945 that ‘the active conduct of operations is no longer possible’.173 Even where vehicles were available, there was often not enough petrol to drive them, because Hitler issued strict instructions that fuel should only be provided for the artillery and panzers.174 In what can only be described as desperation, Hitler demanded the established of cyclist units led by lieutenants with ‘tank-busting weapons’ (probably bazookas) which would take on enemy armoured formations.175 All this was the result of the systematic destruction of the Nazi war economy and transportation system by Anglo-American air fleets, which were now steadily bombing the Reich back into the early nineteenth century. There was really no need for Morgenthau to de-industrialize Germany; those Swabian-American engineers were doing that already.

Despite the shift in military gravity towards the eastern front, Hitler’s overall strategy had not changed. He still hoped to make the Anglo-Americans sicken of the fight and to split the enemy coalition.176 In order to profit from any such development, Hitler needed to ensure the survival of the Reich and maintain a capacity to strike at the Anglo-Americans. To that end, his military dispositions were not driven by classic strategic considerations, but by economic ones. ‘Modern war,’ he told Dönitz on 5 February 1945, ‘was principally an economic war whose needs must be given priority.’177 Hitler laid down as the priorities on the eastern front not the Vistula or East Prussia, where the Soviet military threat was greatest, but first the industrial Vienna basin and the Hungarian oil-fields (which now provided 80 per cent of Germany’s requirements), and then the Upper Silesian industrial area and the Bay of Danzig, which was vital for the submarine war.178 He refused Dönitz’s offer to send 1,500 naval ratings from Gdynia to fight in Danzig as infantry because they were irreplaceable specialists.179 Substantial forces still remained in Kurland – more than 630 tanks in mid February 1945, despite withdrawals – for the same reason.180 There were also still some 400,000 men in Norway to safeguard the iron-ore supply and support the submarine campaign.

The new element in February 1945 was diplomacy. Despite Hitler’s hopes and stratagems, three-power unity between Roosevelt, Churchill and Stalin was reaffirmed at the Yalta conference between 4 and 12 February 1945. Either in reaction to this, or following some other logic, Hitler finally authorized, or at least tolerated, negotiations for a separate peace. On 6 February, he was briefed by the supreme SS commander in Italy, SS-Obergruppenführer Karl Wolff, on apparent Allied overtures in that theatre via Switzerland and the Catholic Church.181 Hitler apparently received the information without comment. On 19 February Himmler began a dialogue with Count Bernadotte about a possible separate peace with the Western Allies, seemingly without Hitler’s knowledge.182 The Führer did, however, reluctantly bless Ribbentrop’s overtures to the western powers at around the same time, which were conducted by the Foreign Office diplomat Fritz Hesse in Stockholm.

Hesse’s instructions bore Hitler’s imprint, much more than that of Ribbentrop. They stressed the ‘biological’ strength of some 200 million Russians who were about to be reinforced by another 100 million or so mainly Slav eastern Europeans. In this context, the Western Allies were told, they could ill afford to lose the Germans, who were the ‘only biological factor’ which could provide a ‘counterweight to the immense Bolshevik mass of Slavs in the east’.183 Persisting with the ‘Morgenthau Plan’, the argument continued, would simply do Stalin’s work in Germany for him. The Soviet dictator would also be able to rely on the ‘20 million bombed-out’, desperate people who were now tending towards communism. The main addressee of the document was Britain. It was in her ‘own deepest interest’ to establish a front in Germany against the Soviet Union on the first day after the ‘possible’ defeat of the Third Reich, especially as the United States would probably lapse back into ‘isolationism’. London would therefore need to abandon ‘the old British idea of a balance inside Europe’, and accept that ‘every further weakening of Germany through the Anglo-American air force and through the advance of the British and Americans would in the long term be a policy of self-destruction from the British point of view’. The pitch was no different from those which Hitler had been making for a decade, except that he was now threatening London not with German strength but the spectre of a complete German collapse. Hesse’s cover was soon exposed, the Allies showed no interest, and Hitler’s plan came to nothing.

Instead of negotiating, the Allies surged forward again. The eastern front buckled under repeated Soviet blows. The much-vaunted Ostwall gave way within a few days; the Wehrmacht was forced to admit shamefacedly in February 1945 that all the digging had been in vain.184 On 11 February the last defenders of Buda Hill in Budapest surrendered after a six-week siege. Four days later, Breslau was surrounded; supplies had to be flown in by air. In East Prussia, the Red Army pinned the Wehrmacht ever more against the Baltic coast as the main thrust pushed westward. Hitler rolled with the punch, determined to hold on to as much of the province as possible, and especially Königsberg.185

In the west, the Canadians advanced through the Reichswald near Kleve in early February, where there was bitter fighting, closely watched by Hitler, as the town was completely destroyed.186 Towards the end of the month, their spearheads met with the Americans at Geldern. The Americans also advanced in the Palatinate in western Germany. Hitler told the defenders there to show the same ‘fanatical toughness with which the Americans defended Bastogne’.187 In the air, the Allies kept up a relentless pressure. On 3 February, the USAAF launched a large-scale attack on Berlin which killed the head of the ‘People’s Court’, Roland Freisler. The bombers also damaged much of the government district, including the new Imperial Chancellery and Hitler’s own apartment. On the night of 13/14 February 1945 came the most terrible blow of all. A massive Anglo-American strike on Dresden devastated one of Europe’s most beautiful cities and killed about 35,000 civilians. Hitler was particularly affected by the destruction. In the immediate aftermath, he seriously considered shooting a British or American prisoner of war for every dead civilian in Dresden.188 He also discussed repudiating the Geneva Convention with regard to the Anglo-Americans (Stalin was not a signatory).189 It was only after hearing strenuous objections from Ribbentrop and the Wehrmacht leadership that Hitler desisted. His sense that the Western Allies were fighting a war of annihilation against the German people remained strong.190

The strain under which Hitler was operating became apparent on 24 February 1945, when he hastily convened his Gauleiter for a meeting. They were shocked by his appearance, especially the fact that not merely his hands but his entire body was trembling. Hitler’s message was stark, and reflected his narratival strategy. ‘Should the German people give up,’ he warned, ‘then it would be demonstrated that they had no moral worth, and in that case they would deserve destruction. That would be the rightful judgement of history and Providence.’ Hitler then announced that he would stay on the defensive in the west and counter-attack in the east. He also promised new submarines and jet fighters, but was not specific. Towards the end Hitler ‘predicted that, if Germany held firm during the crisis, a day would come’ when the Allies were riven by ‘serious conflicts’. Hitler’s ninety-minute speech was a disappointment to his audience, who had been expecting concrete information about the deployment of new weapons. ‘For the first time,’ the Gauleiter of Swabia, Karl Wahl, recalls, ‘the impression upon his listeners was not convincing’ because the ‘sensational news which all anticipated was not forthcoming’.191

That same day, Hermann Esser read out a statement by Hitler in Munich at a meeting to mark the anniversary of the drawing-up of the NSDAP programme. Hitler repeated the message given to the Gauleiter about the ‘unnatural alliance between exploitative capitalism and human-destroying Bolshevism’, though in fact he had spent most of his career claiming that this alliance was anything but unnatural. Hitler then reiterated the perils posed by the Red Army advance to German women and children, but referred to the ‘Jewish-Bolshevik destruction of peoples and their west European [he meant British] and American pimps’, phrasing which suggests that Hitler still saw the Soviet Union primarily as the instrument of the Anglo-Americans. The Führer also stressed the example of Frederick the Great, though more as the man who had made the second Reich possible than as the great survivor of the Seven Years War. ‘When the greatest king of our history, Frederick II, was in danger of being defeated in his seven-year war against a world coalition [sic],’ Hitler claimed, ‘it was solely down to his heroic soul that the germ cell and core of a future Reich came out victorious in the end.’192 Once again, the narratival strategy was clear: an exhortation to resist now as the precondition not for victory but for rebirth.

Despite widespread concerns about the military situation, Hitler’s authority remained unchallenged, among the Nazi leadership, the Wehrmacht and the population at large. At the meal with his Gauleiter after the meeting on 24 February, he once again dominated the room and revived many of them with his visions of splitting the Allied coalition.193 They all still accepted his mediation of their disputes, as did all other members of the Nazi hierarchy. The Führer sided with Goebbels against Speer on the recruitment of armament workers, with Speer against Bormann on the same issue with regard to the Volkssturm.194 Despite the steady crumbling of the ‘Hitler Myth’ more generally, as the military situation deteriorated,195 loyalty to Hitler still inspired a large proportion of the army rank and file.196 There was thus no prospect of Hitler being toppled, by either a palace revolt or a popular revolution.

In March 1945, Hitler made one last attempt to change the strategic dynamic. He launched two offensives on the eastern front, both of them driven by economic rather than narrowly military considerations. In early March, the Wehrmacht counter-attacked at Lauban in Lower Silesia as part of an operation designed to recover the vital industrial area there. At around the same time, a larger thrust, long in the preparation,197 was mounted in Hungary with a view to protecting Germany’s last remaining oil reserves around Lake Balaton. On the night of 3 March 1945, the Luftwaffe conducted its first bombing raids on Britain for a long time, striking targets in the midlands, the north and the east of England. The firing of V2 rockets against Britain continued, the last one being launched on 27 March 1945. That same day, the now redundant commander of the rocket programme, Hans Kammler, was appointed the ‘general plenipotentiary for jet aircraft’ with all powers necessary to develop and produce jet aircraft.198 Above all, Hitler still put his faith in the new submarines and in the U-boat war more generally, on whose progress he was briefed by the navy throughout the month. According to Dönitz, the two first boats of type XXIII had performed well on operations and mass production could begin soon. The first type XXI, he claimed, would go on patrol within a few days.199

Despite the dire military situation, Hitler remained reluctant to draw on another human resource, though for very different reasons. He had long puzzled over how best to use the various potentially pro-Axis flotsam and jetsam which had ended up in Germany either as prisoners of war or as refugees. ‘One does not know,’ he remarked to his generals in late March 1945, ‘what else is ambling around here,’ adding that he had ‘just heard to my astonishment of the sudden appearance of a Ukrainian SS division’. The Führer reserved particular contempt for Bose’s Indians. ‘The Indian Legion,’ he pronounced, ‘is a joke.’ ‘There are Indians,’ he continued, ‘who cannot kill a louse, they would rather allow themselves to be eaten.’ ‘They would not kill any British,’ he predicted. Hitler argued that because the Indians deployed by the Japanese in Burma, who were after all fighting to liberate their homeland, had performed badly – ‘they ran away like stampeding sheep’ – they would be highly unlikely to do better in Europe. It would be more sensible, he concluded, to put them to work on prayer mills.200

These discussions were, in any case, somewhat academic. Throughout March 1945, the enemy coalition tightened its grip on Germany still further. The Western Allies, who had moved slowly in January and February, made spectacular gains. On 7 March, the Americans took Cologne; more importantly, they seized the bridge over the Rhine at Remagen intact. Men and tanks poured across. Further north, Hitler vainly hoped to hold on to a bridgehead around Duisburg to enable the transport of coal out of the Ruhr via the Dortmund–Ems canal.201 The British – again closely watched by Hitler202 – prepared to mount a massive airborne and amphibious assault across the Rhine. Churchill came to Venlo on 25 March to watch the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ – the British 2nd Army, the 1 Canadian and the 9 US Army – crossing the last great natural obstacle in western Germany. A day later, the Americans took Darmstadt. Despite all Hitler’s exhortations, resistance in the west was crumbling fast. The entire left bank of the Rhine was now in Allied hands, the crossings of the river were secure, and the way to Berlin for eighty-five Allied divisions from the west lay open. March 1945 also saw the heaviest bombing of the entire war against both industrial and civilian targets.203

Hitler was powerless to do anything against the succession of Anglo-American blows, both on the ground and in the air. He reshuffled the military leadership in the west, replacing Rundstedt (for ‘age reasons’) with Kesselring, who in turn was replaced in Italy by General von Vietinghoff,204 but these were largely cosmetic moves. Hitler was pleased with the excellent performance of the Me 262 against Allied bombers,205 but there were too few of them to make much difference. He was aghast at the dismal performance of the rest of the Luftwaffe, which had largely disappeared from the skies over Germany. ‘What particularly worries me about the Luftwaffe,’ Hitler complained in late March 1945, ‘are the so-called missing figures for aircraft.’206 Clearly, many pilots were treating discretion as the better part of valour. By contrast, Hitler was increasingly impressed with the attitude of Dönitz’s Kriegsmarine. In late March 1945, he ordered that command of fortresses in the west should be given in the first instance to naval officers because, though many fortresses had surrendered in the course of the war, no ship had been lost without fighting to the last.207 This sentiment was strengthened by Hitler’s increasing reliance on the navy as the one branch of the Wehrmacht which could still plausibly deliver, if not victory, then at least a painful blow against the Western Allies. The extent of his belief in the new submarines is demonstrated by the fact that he allocated for their production a quantity of steel equivalent to 5,100 tanks, not to mention the man hours and other opportunity costs.208

In the east, despite initial losses, the Red Army soon contained the German counter-offensive at Lauban and at Lake Balaton. Within ten days, the Russians were on the advance again. On 25 March 1945, Hitler ordered the withdrawal from the bulge around Sarajevo. Five days later, the German front in Hungary had completely collapsed, though Hitler refused to authorize any retreat.209 On the central sector, the Red Army thrust deeper and deeper into Germany. Hitler continued to insist that the Baltic coastline – especially Danzig, Pillau and Gdynia – be held, ordering the Kriegsmarine to resupply the Baltic ports by sea. Most of Pomerania and the rest of Silesia were overrun. Danzig fell on 30 March 1945, and with it vital shipyards. Königsberg, though surrounded, still held out. Millions of refugees were now on the move, desperately trying to escape the Red Army.

Despite his blood-curdling warnings of the fate that awaited them at the hands of the hordes in the east, Hitler still gave the war effort priority over evacuation. ‘Our strongly reduced transport capacity,’ he decreed in mid March 1945, ‘must under all circumstances be used efficiently.’ ‘Given the current crisis, the order of priority for the transports,’ Hitler continued, ‘must solely be determined by their immediate importance for the conduct of the war.’ Hitler therefore laid down that during withdrawals, priority should be given first to the operational forces of the Wehrmacht, then to the transport of coal, then to foodstuffs. ‘Even refugee transports can only be authorized after all these needs have been completely satisfied,’ he warned, ‘if genuinely empty space is available.’210 Hitler also announced that he expected the military, civil and party authorities to act accordingly, which was also a signal that he did not want them to be the first to take flight.211 He was well aware of the misery of the refugees, many of whom fled on wagon trains; his decree of 23 March 1945 noted the ‘lack of fodder’ in the Reich caused by the number of ‘trek-horses from the eastern territories’.212 Towards the end of the month, Hitler relented a little, and gave permission for the priority evacuation of the wounded and refugees from Danzig and Gotenhafen, rather than of the equipment from Pillau.213

The net result of the Allied advances and the Anglo-American bombing in March 1945 was the final collapse of the German war economy. With Upper Silesia lost, even Speer threw in the towel. On 15 March 1945, he sent Hitler a memorandum in which he warned that ‘the final collapse of the German economy was to be expected with certainty within 4–8 weeks’, after which ‘the war could no longer be continued militarily’.214 A few days later, at his last Führerkonferenz, Speer warned Hitler of the effect of Allied attacks on production, especially of steel, which had dropped to two-thirds of previous output.215 The fall of Danzig knocked out one of three U-boat assembly sites. The Ruhr was about to fall into Allied hands, and it was already effectively cut off from the rest of Germany by the destruction of railways and canals; Hitler was told in late March 1945 that no coal had been received from there for eight days.216 The Führer was now in the strange situation of having plenty of men, but too few weapons; this was another reason why he baulked at arming the Ukrainians and Indians.217 He also had more workers than factories to employ them.

Speer’s memorandum seems to have induced something close to panic in Hitler. Three days later, he ordered the evacuation of the civilian population of all western territories threatened by the Anglo-American advance, by foot if necessary.218 This would have involved the flight of millions of people, far more than from East Prussia, Silesia and Pomerania. Here the boot was on the other foot than in the east, where Hitler did his best to discourage people from taking to the road. Most people either welcomed the Anglo-American advance, or simply looked forward to an end to the bombing and shelling. Goebbels, for once, disagreed with Hitler. ‘The Führer has now decided,’ he recorded in mid March 1945, ‘that one should continue to evacuate in the west, despite the extraordinary difficulties that are associated with it.’ This was just not practical, Goebbels continued, ‘because the population simply refuses to leave their villages and towns’.219 One would have to use force, and that might backfire. Most people stayed put. After a few days, Speer persuaded Hitler not to proceed with the idea.

A day after ordering the evacuation in the west, Hitler issued his notorious ‘Nero Order’ (19 March 1945). It demanded that all ‘transport, communications, industrial and supply installations’ in danger of being overrun by the enemy should be destroyed.220 One should no longer assume that they could be recaptured intact, because any installations would be wrecked by the Allies before they withdrew. This task was to be carried out by the military authorities. Hitler’s decree on industry struck a new and much bleaker tone, because it was effectively an admission that the war was lost. The practical effect was minimal. Speer protested energetically against the measure, which was then qualified by two further decrees. On 30 March 1945, Hitler laid down that ‘on no account must the measures taken weaken [our] own fighting capacity’. He also conceded that ‘production should be maintained [until the last possible moment]’, even at the risk of losing intact plants to ‘rapid movements of the enemy’. Factories and other installations were to be destroyed only when they were ‘immediately’ threatened by the enemy. Wherever possible they were to be ‘immobilized’ with a view to their later recapture rather than completely destroyed.221 Clearly, Hitler had overcome his initial panic.

The ‘Nero Order’ can be interpreted as evidence of Hitler’s disenchantment with the German people. According to Speer’s account, he believed that, having lost the war, they did not need any economy to sustain them. This view assumes that Hitler moved from an exalted view of the German people to a feeling that they had ‘failed’ him. In fact, the Führer had always had a very ambivalent attitude towards the German Volk. His whole programme, after all, was designed to address its alleged weaknesses. Moreover, we only have Speer’s word for it.222 Neither the Nero Order itself, nor any of Hitler’s own correspondence, nor anything he said subsequently suggests that Hitler had given up on the German people. No doubt he became frustrated and even petulant, and he may well have let off steam with Speer, but the intent of his policy was not condemnatory and destructive, but exhortatory and regenerative. The more heroically the German people fell, the Führer believed, the more quickly and completely they would rise again.

Hitler was now preparing for the end. Sometime in the course of March, the air attacks on the Reich capital became so intense that the military briefings were moved underground permanently.223 On 7 March, despite his request that she remain at Berchtesgaden, Eva Braun joined him in Berlin. The rapid approach of the Allies meant that a siege of the city was imminent. Hitler would now have to decide whether to stay in Berlin or move to some sort of – largely mythical – ‘Alpine Redoubt’ in the south.224 He was still making up his mind. A major consideration in his mind was the threat of Allied air attack. Berchtesgaden was horribly exposed. When he was asked in late March whether it would be permissible to reduce the smokescreen around the Obersalzberg at least in his absence in order to conserve stocks, Hitler reminded his interlocutor that ‘that is one of the last bolt-holes we have’. One serious air attack, he predicted, and ‘the entire installation will be gone’. For this reason, Hitler seems already to have been tending towards staying in Berlin. A surreal conversation in late March 1945, during which he discussed the question of knocking down the street lights on each side of the ‘east–west axis’ to enable the creation of a runway to fly in supplies, also suggests that Hitler was disinclined to leave the city.225

April 1945 proved to be the last month of Hitler’s life. On its first day, the British and Americans surrounded Model’s Army Group B in the ‘Ruhr Pocket’.226 Many of his men lacked basic firearms, such was the lack of equipment, or at least of transport to bring it to the front, despite the fact that they were fighting in what had been the industrial heart of the Reich. Hitler rejected a request for aerial resupply out of hand. In northern Germany, the British reached the Elbe. Hitler, who was anxious to prevent the northern half of the Reich being cut off, stressed that the river ‘should be seen not as a defensive line but as lifeline for the north German space’ which had to be kept open.227 Just over a week later, the British attacked on the eastern side of the Italian peninsula, and five days after that the Americans began their own offensive on the western side. Five days later again, the Allies secured a breakthrough on the entire Italian front. On 14 April 1945, the Anglo-Americans split the Ruhr Pocket in two. The eastern half surrendered on 16 April 1945, followed by the western half a day later. An entire army group of nineteen divisions – 350,000 men – went into Anglo-American captivity. It was by far the largest single German surrender of the war. Their commander, Field Marshal Model, committed suicide a few days later. The Allied forces now fanned out in all directions. On 19/20 April, the Americans captured Leipzig. Eisenhower held back, however, from a direct attack on Berlin.

In the air, the assault on German infrastructure and cities continued, at a slightly slower pace than the previous month. These were now blows upon bruises. Most of the targets had already been attacked many times before. The attacks were not, however, random or sadistic, but followed a clear military or political rationale.228 On 9/10 April, the RAF sank the Admiral Scheer in Kiel harbour. The following afternoon, Dönitz reported to Hitler that no fewer than twenty-four U-boats had been destroyed in shipyards and harbours since the start of the month, and another twelve damaged.229 Six days later, the RAF sent the Lützow to the bottom at Swinemünde. On 10 April the RAF, which had already launched thirteen raids on Plauen in Saxony, completed the destruction of that unfortunate city. The USAAF hit Dresden again on 17 April. On 18 April 1945, the RAF launched a massive air-raid on the tiny island of Heligoland in the North Sea, mainly in order to destroy the U-boat installations there. That same night, the British launched their last attack on Berlin. Hitler followed these raids closely and wordlessly in his bunker. There was very little he could do about them. In desperation, the Luftwaffe mounted ‘Operation Werewolf’ over the Steinhuder Meer, which involved the sacrificial deployment of ‘ramming fighters’ to crash directly into the Allied bombers. That same day, the Japanese kamikaze pilots launched themselves against the American fleet off Okinawa.

Meanwhile, the Russians progressively eliminated the German pockets of resistance along the Baltic, which were being resupplied by the Kriegsmarine, and moved ever closer to Berlin. Hitler upbraided the Wehrmacht for being unwilling, by contrast with the ‘Anglo-Saxons’, to fight with their backs against the sea.230 On 9 April 1945, Königsberg surrendered. Hitler ordered its commander, General Lasch, to be condemned to death in absentia and gave orders for the arrest of his family. At Hitler’s insistence, in keeping with his submarine strategy, the Wehrmacht still clung to Kurland and indeed remained there until the end of the war. These highly trained divisions, some of them armoured, were missing on the central front, where the next Soviet blow was to be expected. By 9 April, the Red Army was advancing into central Vienna and the city surrendered four days later. Hitler followed all these developments closely, frequently intervening in decisions, but there was now an increasing air of unreality as he engaged in pointless command reshuffles, reorganized non-existent units, and brooded for hours over Giesler and Speer’s architectural models.

In mid April 1945, Hitler was still hoping against hope that he could split the Allied coalition, either by delivering a devastating blow with the new weaponry, through exploiting the internal contradictions of the Grand Alliance or through some other miracle.231 He was determined to maintain his military capability, refusing, for example, to guarantee no first use of his substantial remaining stocks of chemical weapons.232 On 12 April, his spirits soared when he heard of the sudden death of President Roosevelt.233 Hitler’s euphoria reflected the extent to which he had long regarded the American president as the linchpin of a global coalition against him. It proved infectious, at least for a few moments. That evening, Bormann rang his Gauleiter to tell them that Roosevelt’s death was ‘the best news we have had for years’ and that they should announce to ‘all men that the most dangerous man of this war is dead’.234 Three days later, Wolff came to report on the progress of negotiations with the Allies in northern Italy, though it is doubtful that he told Hitler the truth about how far they had developed.235

The physical and mental pressure on Hitler was now immense. Dönitz speaks of his ‘great spiritual strain’ and ‘extraordinary inner suffering’. Hitler was also increasingly prone to choleric eruptions against all and sundry, principally the Wehrmacht leadership. ‘Though generally controlled and stoic,’ Dönitz testified, ‘he could very easily become agitated to the extent of erupting in powerful rages.’ Despite this, most accounts agree that Hitler remained lucid until shortly before the end, and perhaps to the very end. Kesselring, the commander in the west, who last saw him on 12 April 1945, spoke of his continuing ‘intellectual vigour’, which stood ‘in conspicuous contradiction to his bodily feeling’.236 Dönitz, whose final meeting with Hitler was nine days later, states that ‘there can be no question of any kind of reduction in his intellectual powers’. Hitler, he insisted, remained in full control of his senses and retained his astonishing technical knowledge.237

Far from closing his eyes to the military realities, Hitler was now preparing for the inevitable moment when the Reich would be split in half, either by the British advance on the Elbe, or a meeting between the American and Soviet forces east of Leipzig.238 On 15 April, he issued an instruction for a revised command structure for the eventuality of ‘interruption of the land connection in central Germany’. Hitler left open which part of the Reich he would choose, stating only that he would retain supreme command there. If he found himself in the southern half of the Reich, then command in the north should pass to Admiral Dönitz. In the event of Hitler ending up in the northern half, the command of the southern part of the Reich would pass to Kesselring. ‘For the rest,’ he added, there would be ‘no change’ in the current ‘unified conduct of operations by myself’, at least so long as the communications situation permitted.239

On 16 April, the Red Army launched a massive attack on the Seelow Heights above the Oder.240 That same day, Hitler issued his last Tagesbefehl, addressing the ‘soldiers of the eastern front’. It was a blood-curdling warning that the ‘Jewish Bolshevik mortal enemy’ planned ‘to smash Germany and to exterminate our people’. If they did their duty, he promised, then ‘this last assault of Asia’ would be repulsed, just as the ‘breach’ made by the ‘enemies in the west’ would be dealt with.241 ‘In this moment, in which fate has removed the greatest war criminal of all times [Roosevelt] from the face of the earth,’ he concluded, ‘the turning point of this war will be decided.’ He also sent reinforcements, mainly Volkssturm and Hitler Youth anti-tank teams.242 To the north, Rokossovsky’s Second White Russian Front advanced into Mecklenburg, covering Zhukov’s drive on Berlin. To the south, Koniev’s Ukrainian Front pushed back Schörner’s Army Group Centre and swung north towards the capital. Within a few days, the Wehrmacht was forced to fall back to Berlin. Hitler was now relying on Gruppe Steiner, north of Berlin, Busse’s 9th Army to the south-east and Walther Wenck’s 12th Army to the south-west of the capital to come to his rescue.

In the midst of the confusion, Hitler celebrated his fifty-sixth birthday. On 20 April 1945, virtually the entire Nazi political and military leadership assembled to congratulate their Führer one last time. The mood, unsurprisingly, was subdued, not helped by the final Allied air raid on the city.243 Many of those present urged Hitler to leave the city for Berchtesgaden before it was too late. Hitler seems to have seriously considered doing so, because on the same day he issued Dönitz with instructions to prepare for the ‘immediate’ defence of the ‘north’, which suggest that he himself was intending to head south.244 That afternoon, Hitler was filmed in the Chancellery garden decorating a delegation of Hitler Youth who had distinguished themselves against the Russians; it is the last known footage of the Führer. His hand was visibly shaking. The next day, Hitler was woken up by Russian gunfire; the first Soviet long-range artillery shells landed in the city. Zhukov was moving much more quickly than expected. Thanks to the huge forces still deployed in Kurland, Scandinavia and elsewhere, Hitler only had about 100,000 men to defend the capital, many fewer than in the Baltic, most of them of doubtful value. On 22 April 1945, Hitler was again woken by the sound of Russian artillery,245 now closer. That same day, a relief offensive by Steiner, in which the Führer had vested all his hopes, never materialized. Hitler reacted with an eruption in front of a small number of generals which has gone down in legend. Contemporaries speak of him having some kind of ‘breakdown’.

That same day, Hitler pulled himself together and announced his decision to stay in Berlin. His motivation for doing so was clear. Hitler had given up all hope of winning the war or securing an acceptable negotiated peace. Flying to Berchtesgaden would only prolong the agony, and he had already said that he would be vulnerable to Allied air attack there. Hitler’s main consideration, though, was narratival. Posterity would never forgive him for an ignominious flight from the Reich capital and a chase across the Alps. In his own mind, at least, he had not fled Rastenburg before the advancing Red Army, but had moved his headquarters west to supervise the offensive in the Ardennes. He told Jodl and Keitel that he should not have left the Wolf’s Lair after all, but should have fallen at his post there. Now he said that he would stay to motivate the defenders of Berlin.246 The war diary of the OKW for that day records that Hitler had decided ‘as far as his person was concerned not to take evasive action towards the south, but to lead the battle in Berlin in person and remain in the Reich Chancellery’.247 His aim was to die heroically as an inspiration to the remaining forces of the Third Reich under his successor, but above all to future generations. Hitler had often spoken of the ‘ruin value’ of buildings,248 and he now proposed to maximize the Ruinenwert of his own body.

On 23 April, Hitler let it be known through Goebbels that he had taken over personal command of the defence of Berlin. ‘The Führer,’ as the war diary of the OKW put it in accordance with the approved narrative, ‘resides in the Reich capital [and] this fact gives the battle for Berlin the character of a battle of European importance.’249 Privately, in Hitler’s presence, Goebbels spelled out the thinking behind the decision to remain in Berlin. ‘If things go well,’ he said, ‘then everything is fine anyway.’ ‘If it doesn’t go well,’ Goebbels continued, ‘and if the Führer were to find an honourable death in Berlin and Europe were to become Bolshevik,’ then ‘in five years at latest, the Führer would be a legendary personality’. ‘National Socialism’, he went on, would become ‘a myth’ and the Führer would be ‘hallowed by his last great action’, so that ‘everything human that they criticize in him today would be swept away with one blow.’250

This strategy shaped Hitler’s ambivalent attitude to his entourage in the last week or so of his life. On the one hand, he had made a number of references to making a final stand surrounded by his generals and trusted party comrades. On the other hand, he wanted the struggle to continue, which required at least some of them to escape Berlin and carry on the fight. What Hitler seems to have had in mind was not a move to partisan warfare – the guerilla force Werwolf was originally an SS initiative in which he showed little interest251 – but a longer conventional defence to inspire future generations. The Führer actually ordered Keitel, Jodl and Bormann to head south in order to conduct the ‘overall operations’ from there.252 This explains why Hitler was both personally disappointed at the number of party leaders scrambling to leave the city253 and content to let them depart. He had no intention of taking either them or any of his other followers hostage. On the contrary, Hitler urged those with no useful function – secretaries, cooks and ministers alike – to leave the city.254 He told Morell to go home, get rid of his uniform and ‘act as if you had never known me’.255 Some needed no encouragement. Speer, who was summoned to say goodbye when Hitler heard that he was in the vicinity, did not even get a handshake in a cool parting.256 Others, including Eva Braun and some of the secretaries, refused to leave. So did Keitel, Jodl and Bormann.

Despite his blood-curdling rhetoric, it was not the Führer’s expectation or desire that the defeat of the Third Reich would result in the annihilation of the German people. He fully expected that negotiations would take place after his death,257 told his foreign minister to make sure that the embassies abroad remained in good working order, and gave him permission to go to Nauen, where the last remaining communications centre with contact to the outside world was located;258 he never got there. In his last meeting with Ribbentrop on or shortly after 20 April 1945 Hitler conceded for the first time, at least to him, that the war was lost. He then gave Ribbentrop a list of four points to guide his future discussions with the British. Firstly, that the maintenance of German unity was in Britain’s interest in order to balance the Soviet Union. Secondly, to maintain the European national states if necessary under the mutual guarantee of the great powers. Thirdly, the establishment of a close Anglo-German understanding up to and including a union with the British Empire, if necessary with its capital in London. Fourthly, the preservation of the national elements in Germany because it was on these that Britain and the United States would have to depend to preserve the European balance of power.259 The echoes of Hitler’s earlier rhetoric towards Britain, and indeed Hess’s recent abortive mission, are unmistakable.

The Führer now prepared to defend not merely Berlin, but the Chancellery to the last. He appointed SS-Brigadeführer Wilhelm Mohnke the Kampfkommandant. He gave instructions for his papers to be burned. Walther Wenck’s 12th Army was tasked with the relief of Berlin, and immediately began a forlorn attempt to reach the city.260 Hitler also ordered the entire front against the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ to turn and face the Russians.261 For the first time, the whole German war effort was to be directed against the Bolsheviks. Late on 23 April he radioed Dönitz to send all possible help to Berlin; all other fronts, he stressed, were secondary.262 A day later, he subordinated the OKH under OKW with a view to the ‘continuation of the overall operations’.263 He also gave permission for the backlog of railway wagons to be unloaded where they stood and the equipment distributed to the local army groups.264 He continued to express his hope that the Bolsheviks and the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ would fall out among themselves ‘within the hour’.265 Over the next few days, he fired off a string of further orders, such as a demand for a ‘concentric relief attack on Berlin’, and issued increasingly fantastical instructions for other fronts.266 By now, as some wags pointed out, it was possible to travel between the eastern and western fronts by S-Bahn; truly Hitler was operating on interior lines. The purpose of all these activities and exhortations, which seem delusional in retrospect, was not military, however, but political.

The military situation continued to deteriorate. 25 April 1945 was particularly bad. Koniev’s spearheads met with those of Zhukov. Berlin was surrounded. It was also on that day that the American and Soviet forces met at Torgau, cutting the Reich in half, and that the delegates of the anti-Hitler United Nations coalition assembled at San Francisco to establish a permanent organization. Finally, 25 April 1945 saw the last major RAF operation in Europe when 350 Lancasters – manned by crews from Britain, Australia, Canada, Rhodesia and Poland – appeared over the Obersalzberg. The Berghof itself took three direct hits and was seriously damaged, though not destroyed.267 The bombers missed the Kehlsteinhaus altogether. Göring, who was in residence, was unhurt. Still, the RAF had made an important political and psychological point. Hitler was not safe anywhere. He had now been ‘bombed out’ of two homes.

In the last week of April, Hitler’s hopes for a carefully choreographed death began to unravel.268 On 23 April, he received a telegram from Göring stating that if he received no reply by a certain time, he would assume that Hitler was dead and take over the succession as chancellor in accordance with the decree of 1941. This was almost certainly not a coup, but rather an attempt by Göring to jump the gun in starting negotiations. Hitler seems to have ignored the message and reacted only later on that evening when Göring – who had heard nothing and must have assumed that the Führer was dead or incapacitated – sent Ribbentrop a telegram to the same effect. The Führer responded with a radio message to Göring rescinding his right to the succession and declaring his behaviour ‘a betrayal of my person and of the National Socialist cause’. ‘I enjoy,’ he insisted, ‘full freedom of action,’ adding that he ‘forbade’ Göring from undertaking any ‘further measures’.269 Hitler ordered that Göring be placed under arrest at Berchtesgaden, which was done immediately, but he did not order him shot out of hand. Two days later, Hermann Fegelein went absent without leave from the bunker, though nobody seems to have noticed at first. Soon after, however, Hitler received news that Himmler had been in unauthorized communication with the Western Allies. This was a serious blow both to the Führer personally and to his heroic narrative of a nation and party fighting to the last. Himmler was sacked.270 It was in this context that Fegelein, who appears to have been involved in the Reichsführer’s activities, was hauled back to the bunker and executed, not for desertion but for treason.

Matters came to a head on 28 April 1945. Hitler heard that Mussolini had not only been captured and executed with his mistress Clara Petacci by Italian partisans, but that his body had been desecrated by a mob. One of his secretaries recalls that the news distressed him deeply.271 There was a shortlived rising against the Nazis in Munich.272 The Russians were closing in on the Chancellery. Hitler sent out a series of frantic messages calling for help before it was too late.273 He was now cut off from the outside world, literally, because the communications team in the bunker had left. A breakout was not feasible, at least not for Hitler, given his physical condition. Nor could he, with his shaking arms and legs, hope to go down fighting with a gun in his hands, as he would ideally liked to have done. There was now a real risk that he would be captured alive below ground, or on the run in the ruins or forests. The Führer might then meet the same fate as the Duce, which would have substantially reduced his ‘ruin value’.

Hitler resolved to make an end of it.274 He announced his intention to commit suicide. First he married Eva Braun in a low-key ceremony just before midnight on 28 April, though in the thirty-six hours or so of their marriage he still seems to have referred to her as Fräulein. Then he took his leave of his entourage. Hitler did not insist or even suggest that they follow his example. Instead, Hitler dictated two testaments, a personal and a political one. He was expecting the struggle to continue without him and gave detailed instructions for the fortification of the ‘core fortress Alps’.275 On 29 April, the military position worsened. The British crossed the Elbe at Lauenburg. The Russians inched closer to the Chancellery. Mohnke, the military commander of the Chancellery compound, warned Hitler that he could only hold another day, perhaps two. On 30 April, the US 7th Army occupied Munich. Hitler also received news that Wenck’s offensive had finally petered out.276 There would be no relief force. The Russians were now a few hundred metres from the bunker. That afternoon, between 15.15 and 15.30 Hitler and Mrs Hitler retired to his tiny living room in the bunker. Exactly what happened is not known for sure. It appears that Eva Hitler took poison and that Hitler shot himself immediately after. The two bodies were then taken out and burned in the garden of the Chancellery.277

Late on 1 May, German radio announced his death. ‘The Führer has fallen at the head of the valiant defenders of the imperial capital,’ the report went. ‘Driven by the will to save his people and Europe from Bolshevism,’ it continued, ‘he sacrificed his life.’ ‘This example of “loyalty unto death”,’ the report concluded, ‘is obligatory for all soldiers.’278 As far as the circumstances of his demise were concerned, the statement was figuratively if not literally true. Its real distortion lay in the claim that Hitler had died resisting Bolshevism. Not only had his main enemy throughout been western plutocratic international capitalism, not only had Hitler been more responsible than any other person for bringing the communist juggernaut into the heart of Europe, but his entire strategy, right to the end, was predicated on using the spectre of Bolshevism, even encouraging its growth, to deliver political effect in Germany, Europe and above all Anglo-America.

When Hitler’s testaments were opened they contained some surprises with regard to his personal life, and choices of personnel.279 He distributed his worldly goods to various relatives and friends and explained why he had married Eva Braun. Hitler separated the offices of chancellor, which went to Goebbels, and the presidency, which went to Dönitz. Himmler and Göring were expelled from the party. Karl Hanke was made the new Reichsführer-SS. Bormann became party minister. Schörner was made supreme commander of the army. Saur was made armaments minister, a sure sign that Speer had departed in bad odour.

Their policy content, by contrast, was entirely predictable. Hitler bound the new government over to ‘the strict observance of the racial laws’ and to maintain ‘a merciless resistance against the world-poisoners of the peoples, international Jewry’. He claimed that ‘the sacrifice of our soldiers and my own connection with them into death’ would ‘one day’ provide the ‘seed for the achievement of a true People’s Community’. The choice of Dönitz as president reflected not only the admiral’s strategic salience in the last six months of the war, and his own fanatical National Socialism, but also Hitler’s conviction that he was best placed to inspire the revival of Germany after his own death. This is clear from the praise for which he singled out the navy. ‘May it once again be part of the German officer’s sense of honour,’ he wrote, ‘as is already the case with the navy, that the surrender of a city or a territory is impossible and that the leaders, in particular, must lead from the front in this manner in the loyal fulfilment of duty until death.’

The rest of the document would also have been no surprise to anyone who had followed Hitler’s rhetoric and policy since 1919. He reiterated his view that the war was ‘desired and provoked solely by those international statesmen who were either of Jewish origin or who worked for Jewish interests’. ‘I never wanted,’ Hitler continued, ‘that the first unholy world war’ should have been followed by ‘a second one against Britain or even America.’ He lamented that German cities and cultural treasures had been reduced to ‘ruins’, that millions of adult males had died at the front, and that hundreds of thousands of women and children had been burned in their cities, but reminded his readers that he had ‘left no one in any doubt’ that the ‘real guilty party’ – the Jews – ‘would have to pay for their guilt’, if ‘by more humane means’. This was an oblique, but unmistakable reference to his mass murder of the Jews in the gas chambers, the guillotine of genocide. Strikingly, this Last Will and Testament made no mention of either communism or the Soviet Union, but inveighed instead against the real villains: ‘international money and finance conspirators’, who treated the ‘peoples of Europe’ like ‘blocks of shares’. He was referring, of course, to the same international capitalists, most of them Jewish, that he had targeted in his first political statements back in 1919. As in the beginning, so at the end.




Conclusion

The life of Adolf Hitler remains perhaps the most extraordinary story in modern history. Coming from a relatively humble background, he rose to dominate much of continental Europe. On the way, Hitler mastered a series of challenges, each of which could have ended his ascent there and then. Periods of disappointment and destitution in Vienna were followed by extremely hazardous service in the First World War. Hitler not only threaded his way through the post-war turbulences, but carved out a niche for the NSDAP in the thicket of competing right-wing nationalist organizations in Munich. He rallied the movement after a disastrous coup attempt, trial and subsequent imprisonment. Hitler then persuaded more and more Germans to vote for him, and manipulated or bullied the coterie around President von Hindenburg into making him chancellor. He revived the German economy, or appeared to do so, eliminated all domestic dissent, and embarked on an unprecedented programme of rearmament. Hitler then greatly enlarged German territory without firing a shot, and in the first two years of war, scored some remarkable military victories. At each stage, things could have gone wrong for him, for example, his personal intervention against Röhm, the remilitarization of the Rhineland, the Munich crisis, the Norway campaign and the audacious attack in the west.

Of course, Hitler benefited from the support, complicity and stupidity of others, and from sheer good luck, at home and abroad. But for the early sponsorship by the Reichswehr, the NSDAP might never have got off the ground. Without the Depression, Hitler might not have gained the electoral traction which brought him to the threshold of power in 1932. If the old elites had not miscalculated, he might never have been made chancellor. Hitler’s first years in power depended on the collaboration of many institutional actors, who shared a partial identity of aims with him. On the international scene, most statesmen and publics did not recognize the threat he posed until very late in the day. Some regarded Hitler as the best hope against the spread of Bolshevism, others had a sneaking and often very open regard for the way in which he challenged the established order. During the early stages of the Second World War, his enemies were weak or incompetent, or both.

That said, it would be wrong to think that Hitler could have been deterred. His Germany was always sooner or later going to seek Lebensraum, which for him was not a matter of greed but of necessity, though the precise timing remained open for a long time. He was always going to fight the Jews, though not necessarily to exterminate them. Resistance only infuriated him. The May crisis of 1938 doomed the Czechs, the Franco-British guarantee doomed Poland, and the war, or at least the US entry into it, doomed European Jewry. Hitler could certainly have been pre-empted or stopped, if the western powers had been prepared to go to war with him earlier, before he occupied so much of Europe, but we would then never have known what he was capable of.

Hitler’s career was, of course, ultimately a catastrophic failure. None of his objectives were met, and although he appeared to come close to triumph on a number of occasions, in reality the dice were too heavily loaded against him. Hitler knew this very well, but he also believed that even if the chances of success were no more than a few per cent, it was worth the attempt. Refusal even to try to escape the German predicament at the heart of Europe, he argued, would mean guaranteed death without any hope of renewal. A bold strike against the global hegemon, by contrast, might just come off, Hitler hoped, and if it did not, then a glorious choreographed defeat would provide the basis for national regeneration at a later date.

The Anglo-American capitalist world order against which Hitler revolted structured his entire political career. Sometime before he ever began to speak about the Jews, Hitler experienced the might of the British Empire in Flanders, the demographic and industrial power of the United States at the second Battle of the Marne and the economic stranglehold of global capitalism after the imposition of the Versailles Treaty. Shortly after, he became convinced that the Jews – whose relationship with Anglo-America was in his view essentially symbiotic – were the driving force behind international capitalism and the coalition which had brought down the Reich. Among the instruments used to undermine Germany from within, Hitler believed, was the virus of Bolshevism, which he regarded as a much greater threat than the Soviet Union itself. The root of his Jew-hatred, therefore, was primarily to be found in his hostility to global high finance rather than his hatred of the radical left. Those who do not want to speak about Hitler’s anti-capitalism should remain silent on his anti-Semitism.

Hitler’s solution to the perceived German predicament fell into two parts. First of all, he called for a programme of racial transformation within Germany, which eliminated ‘harmful’ elements, especially the Jews, and encouraged the ‘elevation’ of the racial ‘high value’ strands in the German Volk. Secondly, Hitler demanded the acquisition of Lebensraum in the east, which would provide the land and resources to offer a comparable living standard to the United States, and thus end the debilitating emigration of the nation’s best and brightest, who might return as enemy soldiers at some future date. It would also make Germany ‘blockade-proof’ in the event of a renewed round of warfare with Anglo-America.

If Hitler’s relationship with the British Empire and the United States was ultimately antagonistic, it was also admiring and entangled. He long hoped for a British alliance and he never ceased to exalt the supposed racial qualities of the ‘Anglo-Saxons’ on both sides of the Atlantic, and to believe that they represented Germany’s ‘better’ racial half. Anglo-America was Hitler’s model, much more so than Stalin’s Russia or even Mussolini’s Italy. The original for the Lebensraum project was the British Empire, and especially the American colonization of the west. Hitler and the Third Reich were thus a reaction not to the Russian Revolution but to the dominance of Anglo-America and global capitalism. The Holocaust was not a distorted copy of Stalin’s Great Terror, but a pre-emptive strike against Roosevelt’s America.

After he came to power, the British Empire and the United States remained the focal point of Hitler’s policies. His entire domestic programme was designed to match the ‘living standards’ offered by the ‘American Dream’. His true nemesis was the British Empire and especially the United States, against whom he battled for control of the ‘trophy’ of the ‘world’. It was Roosevelt’s hostility which caused Hitler to speed up his programme from late 1937, British resistance during the May crisis of 1938 which led him to bring forward the dismemberment of Czechoslovakia. The struggle against Britain and America eventually ‘forced’ Hitler to go to war against them both, and then to extend the theatre of operations ever more widely. The quest for Lebensraum led to conflict with Britain over Poland, which in turn ‘required’ him to occupy much of Scandinavia, France, the Low Countries, the Balkans and North Africa. It drove the attack on Russia. Hitler had originally set out to make Germany a world power, not to achieve global domination, but each gain seemed to require another. By 1941–2, when he was directing operations on three continents, and across the seven seas, it seemed as if only the world would be enough for Hitler. But the prize eluded him: the trophy was lifted once more by the Anglo-Americans, with substantial help from their Soviet allies, of course.

Hitler thus proved no more successful against the ‘world of enemies’ than the Reich had been during the First World War. On this occasion, though, death and destruction were visited on the civilian population long before the front line reached Germany, not through a blockade, but by means of a relentless campaign of aerial terror. For all the Führer’s great architectural visions, the face of German cities after 1945 owed much more to Arthur Harris of RAF Bomber Command than Adolf Hitler. In 1938, Hitler joked that the building work at the new Imperial Chancellery made the area look like the forest of Houthulst in Flanders after four years of British bombardment during the last war. Seven years later, three years of bombing by the RAF and USAAF had reduced not only the Chancellery but huge stretches of urban Germany to a similar condition. In the first war, and immediately afterwards, the British Empire and the United States had starved and pauperized the Reich; in the second war, they pulverized it. The mills of the Anglo-Americans ground slowly, but they ground exceeding small.

Hitler made five key judgements throughout his career. Firstly, he was preoccupied by the power of ‘the Jews’. This he wildly exaggerated, to the extent that the centrality of anti-Semitism in his world view can only be described as paranoid. Secondly, Hitler largely discounted the Soviet Union, whose strength he massively underestimated. This was a miscalculation which came back to haunt him. Thirdly, Hitler was convinced of the overwhelming power of Anglo-America. This, as we have seen, he got exactly right. Fourthly and relatedly, Hitler believed that the Germans he actually ruled – as opposed to the people he planned to breed – were too weak and fragmented to prevail against the ‘Anglo-Saxons’, the global ‘master race’. This also turned out to be entirely accurate, although of course it is unlikely that he would have secured a better outcome for himself, even if he had had the ‘time’ to ‘elevate’ the German people at his leisure. Fifthly and finally, Hitler had predicted that the Reich would be a ‘world power’ or ‘nothing’, and here too he was vindicated, even if this was something of a self-fulfilling prophecy.

It is therefore a terrible irony that Hitler made the very same mistakes that he was determined to avoid after his searching inquest into the causes of the German defeat in 1918. He vowed never to fight a two-front war, but he did. He promised to find better allies than the Kaiser had, preferably the British, and dismissed the ‘Pan-Europa’ project of the 1920s, yet ended up facing much of the world with a rabble of mostly minor European statelets, and global non-state actors. The formidable Japanese aside, this was truly the ‘coalition of cripples’ he had lampooned in Mein Kampf. He wanted more than anything else to avoid another struggle with the children of German emigrants, or a production battle with the ‘German engineers’ on the far side of the Atlantic, and yet his Reich faced Carl Spaatz’s bombers in the air and Dwight Eisenhower’s armies on the ground. Thanks to Hitler’s policies, the sons of Germany returned once more to confront the Fatherland. If in 1917–18, they chastised the Reich with whips, in 1941–5 they scourged it with scorpions. Hitler’s second war was thus even more catastrophic than his first. History repeated itself, the first time as defeat, the second time as annihilation.
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